
  

 
Meeting of the  

 

CABINET 
__________________________________ 

 
Wednesday, 30 July 2008 at 5.30 p.m. 

_______________________________________ 
 

AGENDA – SECTION ONE 
______________________________________ 

 
VENUE 

Committee Room, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 
Crescent, London, E14 2BG 

 
 
 

Members: 
 

 
Councillor Lutfur Rahman (Chair) – (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Ohid Ahmed – (Lead Member, Regeneration, Localisation and 

Community Partnerships) 
Councillor Rofique U Ahmed – (Lead Member, Culture and Leisure) 
Councillor Anwara Ali – (Lead Member, Health & Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury – (Lead Member, Employment and Skills) 
Councillor Marc Francis – (Lead Member, Housing and Development) 
Councillor Clair Hawkins – (Lead Member, Children's Services) 
Councillor Joshua Peck – (Lead Member, Resources and Performance) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah – (Lead Member, Cleaner, Safer, Greener) 

 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: 
Angus Taylor, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 4333, E-mail: angus.taylor@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 



 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

CABINET  
 

WEDNESDAY, 30 JULY 2008 
 

5.30 p.m. 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

1 - 2  

 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 
including those restricting Members from voting on the 
questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Chief 
Executive. 
 

  

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

3 - 20  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 2nd July 2008. 
 

  

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 

  

 To receive any deputations or petitions. 
 

  

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

5 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Unrestricted Business to be considered   

 
  

 To receive any advice of key issues or questions in relation 
to the unrestricted business of the Cabinet, arising from the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
29th July 2008. 
 
 

  



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

5 .2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 
  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
The following item has been “called in” for further 
consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
its meeting to be held on 29th July 2008. Should the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, upon consideration, 
refer the reports back to the Cabinet for further 
consideration Members will receive a copy of each report 
and the decision/ recommendations of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at the Cabinet meeting. 
 
(i) London Thames Gateway Development 

Corporation, Draft Bromley-by-Bow Land Use 
Design Brief (CAB 014/089)  

 
 

  

 UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

6. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

6 .1 Recycling Improvement Plan For Tower Hamlets (CAB 
018/089)   

 
21 - 36 All Wards 

6 .2 Review of Public Footway Trading Fees and Charges 
2008/2009 (CAB 019/089)   

 
37 - 48 All Wards 

6 .3 Compulsory Purchase Action for 4 Long-Term Vacant 
Properties (CAB 020/089)   

 
49 - 56 Limehouse; 

Spitalfields 
& 

Banglatown; 
Weavers; 

6 .4 Housing Priority Areas 2008/10 (CAB 021/089)   
 

57 - 62 All Wards 

7. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

7 .1 Building Schools for the Future - Recommendation for 
the Appointment of a Preferred Bidder (CAB 022/089) - 
To Follow   

 

 All Wards 

7 .2 Proposal to Establish the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form 
through a Prescribed Alteration under the School 
Organisation Regulations 2007 (CAB 023/089)   

 

63 - 94 All Wards 

7 .3 Constitution of the Schools Forum (CAB 024/089)   
 

95 - 108 All Wards 

8. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

8 .1 Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 - 2013 
(CAB 025/089)   

 
109 - 160 All Wards 



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

8 .2 Strategic Review of Supporting People Floating 
Support Services (CAB 026/089)   

 
161 - 172 All Wards 

8 .3 The Future of Telecare in Tower Hamlets (CAB 
027/089)   

 
173 - 182 All Wards 

9. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

9 .1 Extension to Lifeline Contract for Substance Misuse 
Services for Children and Young People (CAB 028/089)   

 
183 - 202 All Wards 

9 .2 Responses to the Recommendations of the Health 
Scrutiny Panel - Tobacco Cessation (CAB 029/089)   

 
203 - 238 All Wards 

10. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

10 .1 Tower Hamlets Partnership Governance Refresh (CAB 
030/089)   

 
239 - 254 All Wards 

10 .2 Working Neighbourhoods Fund (CAB 031/089)   
 

255 - 272 All Wards 
10 .3 Resource Allocation and Budget Review 2009/10 - 

2010/11  (CAB 033/089)   
 

273 - 312 All Wards 

10 .4 Financial Review 2011/12 - 2013/14 (CAB 032/089)   
 

313 - 320 All Wards 
10 .5 Use of Consultants - Responses to the 

Recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group 
(CAB 034/089)   

 

321 - 350 All Wards 

10 .6 Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09 (CAB 
035/089)   

 
351 - 434 All Wards 

10 .7 Award of the Corporate Catering Contract (CAB 
036/089)   

 
435 - 440 All Wards 

11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

  

 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda, the Committee is recommended to adopt the 
following motion: 
 
“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act, 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act, 1985, the Press 
and Public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government, Act 
1972”. 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (PINK) 
The Exempt / Confidential (Pink) Committee papers in the Agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be 
divulged to third parties.  If you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, 
please hand them to the Committee Officer present. 
 
 

  

14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

15 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Exempt / Confidential Business to be considered.   

 
  

 Nil items. 
 
 

  

15 .2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 
  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
Nil items. 
 
 

  

 EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

16. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

16 .1 Compulsory Purchase Action for 4 Long-Term Vacant 
Properties -  Exempt Confidential Appendices to 
Unrestricted Report (CAB 037/089)   

 

441 - 466 Limehouse; 
Spitalfields 

& 
Banglatown; 
Weavers; 



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

17. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

18. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

19. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

20. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  
 SCRUTINY PROCESS 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on Tuesday 9th September 2008 
may scrutinise provisional decisions made in respect of any of the reports attached, if it is 
“called in” by five or more Councillors except where the decision involves a 
recommendation to full Council. 
 
The deadline for “Call-in” is: Friday 8th August 2008  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
The deadline for Deputations is: Wednesday 3rd September 2008  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
Councillors wishing to “call-in” a provisional decision, or members of the public wishing to 
submit a deputation request, should contact: John Williams 
 Service Head Democratic Services: 
 020 7364 4205 

 
 
 
 



1 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\8\AI00015816\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  

 
ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 

not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\8\AI00015816\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE CABINET 
 

HELD AT 5.30 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 2 JULY 2008 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Lutfur Rahman (Chair) (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Ohid Ahmed (Lead Member, Regeneration, 

Localisation and Community 
Partnerships) 

Councillor Rofique U Ahmed (Lead Member, Culture and Leisure) 
Councillor Anwara Ali (Lead Member, Health & Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury (Lead Member, Employment and Skills) 
Councillor Marc Francis (Lead Member, Housing and 

Development) 
Councillor Clair Hawkins (Lead Member, Children's Services) 
Councillor Sirajul Islam (Vice-Chair) (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Joshua Peck (Lead Member, Resources and 

Performance) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah (Lead Member, Cleaner, Safer, Greener) 
  

 
Other Councillors Present: 
Councillor Abdul Asad (Chair, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee) 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton (Leader Liberal Democrat Group and 

Scrutiny Lead Member: A Healthy 
Community) 

Councillor Fazlul Haque  
Councillor Ahmed Hussain  

 
Others Present: 
  

 
Officers Present: 
Ashraf Ali – (Scrutiny Policy Officer, Equalities and Scrutiny, 

Chief Executive's) 
Mohammed Choudhury – (Executive Support Officer, Democratic Services, 

Chief Executive's) 
Kevan Collins – (Corporate Director, Children's Services) 
Luke Cully – (Finance Manager, Communities, Localities & 

Culture) 
Barbara Disney – (Service Manager Commissioning, Adults Health 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

& Wellbeing) 
Alan Finch – (Service Head Corporate Finance, Resources) 
Tony Finnegan – (Communications Officer) 
Julian Francis – (Political Adviser to the Conservative Group, 

Democratic Services, Chief Executive's) 
Stephen Halsey – (Corporate Director, Communities, Localities & 

Culture) 
Chris Holme – (Service Head Resources, Development & 

Renewal) 
Afazul Hoque – (Acting Scrutiny Policy Manager, Scrutiny and 

Equalities, Chief Executive's) 
Michael Keating – (Acting Assistant Chief Executive, Chief 

Executive's) 
Paul Leeson – (Finance Manager, Development & Renewal) 
Maureen McEleney – (Director of Housing Management) 
Chris Naylor – (Corporate Director, Resources) 
Charles Skinner – (Service Head Communications, Chief 

Executive's) 
Martin Smith – (Chief Executive) 
Andreas Sussilch – (Interim Political Adviser to the Labour Group, 

Democratic Services, Chief Executive's) 
Helen Taylor – (Service Head, Commissioning & Strategy, Adults 

Health & Wellbeing) 
David Tolley – (Environmental Health Commercial Service 

Manager, Communities Localities and Culture) 
Owen Whalley – (Service Head, Major Project Development, 

Development & Renewal) 
Graham White – (Interim Legal Team Manager, Legal Services, 

Chief Executive's) 
David Williams – (Development Manager, Development & 

Renewal) 
Angus Taylor – (Executive Team Leader, Democratic Services) 

 
 
 

 
 

COUNCILLOR L. RAHMAN (CHAIR) IN THE CHAIR 
 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of 
 
Ms I. Freeman, Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services), for whom Mr G. 
White, Interim Legal Team Manager, Chief Executive’s, was deputising. 
 
Mr J. Goldup, Corporate Director Adults Health and Wellbeing, for whom Ms 
H. Taylor, Service Head Commissioning and Strategy, Adults Health and 
Wellbeing, was deputising. 

Page 4



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

 
Mr P. Evans, Interim Corporate Director Development and Renewal, for whom 
Mr O. Whalley, Service Head Major Project Development, Development and 
Renewal, was deputising. 
 
Apologies for lateness were received on behalf of Councillor A. Ali, Lead 
Member Health and Wellbeing. 
 
Noted 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor O. Ahmed declared a personal interest in Agenda item 8.1 
“London Thames Gateway Development Corporation, Draft Bromley-by-Bow 
Land Use Design Brief”. The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the London Thames 
Gateway Development Corporation and Councillor Ahmed was a 
representative of the Authority on the governing body of the London Thames 
Gateway Development Corporation. 
 
Councillor A. Ali gave notification to the clerk prior to the Cabinet meeting 
that she had a personal interest in Agenda items 6.1 “Food Law Enforcement 
Service Plan 2008/2009” and 7.1 “Recommissioning LinkAge Plus” on the 
basis that the report made reference to the Tower Hamlets Primary Care 
Trust. and Councillor Ali was an employee of the Tower Hamlets Primary 
Care Trust (partner in general practitioner’s practice in Spitalfields). 
 
Councillor Rofique U. Ahmed requested that in the case of Members sharing 
a common family name that future minutes of the Cabinet meeting clearly 
differentiate between these Members, and in particular that his name be 
recorded as Rofique U. Ahmed.  
 
Noted 
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
Councillor Francis, Lead Member Housing and Development, in referring to 
the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 11th June 2008 indicated 
that he had raised three matters of accuracy with the clerk, as set out below, 
prior to the commencement of the meeting; and proposed that the minutes be 
amended accordingly. 
 
• Page 1 - Other Councillors Present: amendment of designated titles to 

reflect appointment of Scrutiny Lead Members in the Municipal Year 
2008/9. 

 
• Page 5 - Agenda item 4 “Declarations of Interest” paragraph 2: deletion 

of “Councillor Francis was a representative of the Authority on the 
governing body of Old Ford Housing Association” and insertion of 

Page 5



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

“Councillor Francis was an independent member of the governing body 
of Old Ford Housing Association”. 

 
• Page 7 - Agenda item 7.1 “Chairs advice of Key Issues or Questions in 

relation to Unrestricted Business to be considered” penultimate 
paragraph: deletion of “Councillor Francis” and insertion of “Councillor 
Asad”. 

 
Councillor Hawkins, Lead Member Children’s Services, in referring to  
Page 14 - Agenda item 11.2 “Children’s and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) 
Review and 2007 Update” paragraph 4 observed that there was a reference 
to “Primary Strategy for Change“ and this should be a reference to “Children’s 
and Young People’s Plan”, and proposed that the minutes be amended 
accordingly. 
 
Councillor Peck, Lead Member Resources and Performance, in referring to  
Page 9 - Agenda item 9.1 “Housing Investment Programme 2008/09 to 
2012/13” final bullet: observed that Malmesbury Estate was spelled incorrectly 
and required the insertion of the letter e, and proposed that the minutes be 
amended accordingly. 
 
The Chair Moved (taking account of the proposed amendments from 
Councillors Francis, Hawkins and Peck); and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That subject to the amendments set out below the unrestricted minutes of the 
ordinary meeting of the Cabinet held on 11th June 2008 be approved and 
signed by the Chair, as a correct record of the proceedings:- 
 
Page 1 - Other Councillors Present: amendment of designated titles to reflect 
appointment of Scrutiny Lead Members in the Municipal Year 2008/9. 
 
Page 5 - Agenda item 4 “Declarations of Interest” paragraph 2: deletion of 
“Councillor Francis was a representative of the Authority on the governing 
body of Old Ford Housing Association” and insertion of “Councillor Francis 
was an independent member of the governing body of Old Ford Housing 
Association”. 
 
Page 7 - Agenda item 7.1 “Chairs advice of Key Issues or Questions in 
relation to Unrestricted Business to be considered” penultimate paragraph: 
deletion of “Councillor Francis” and insertion of “Councillor Asad”. 
 
Page 9 - Agenda item 9.1 “Housing Investment Programme 2008/09 to 
2012/13” final bullet: correction of typographical error: Malmsbury Estate to 
Malmesbury Estate. 
 
Page 14 - Agenda item 11.2 “Children’s and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) 
Review and 2007 Update” paragraph 4: deletion of “Primary Strategy for 
Change“ and insertion of “Children’s and Young People’s Plan”. 
 

Page 6



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 
The clerk advised that the Acting Assistant Chief Executive had received no 
requests for deputations or petitions in respect of the business contained in 
the agenda. 
 
 

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

5.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Unrestricted 
Business to be considered  
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that Councillor Asad, Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, had Tabled a sheet of questions/ 
comments arising from the deliberations of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 1st July 2008, in respect of the unrestricted business 
contained in the agenda for consideration, a copy of which would be 
interleaved with the minutes. 
 
Councillor Asad, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 
• Thanked Councillor Choudhury, Lead Member Employment and Skills 

for attending the Overview and Scrutiny Committee the previous 
evening for the “Scrutiny Spotlight”; outlined the key issues on which 
this discussion focused and noted that the Lead Member had indicated 
that he would take forward the suggestions arising. 

• Also thanked Councillor Peck, Lead Member Resources and 
Performance for attending the Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 
previous evening to present the Corporate Complaints and Social Care 
Complaints Annual Report. Councillor Asad outlined the key issues on 
which this discussion focused including a disproportionate  number of 
complaints from BME Communities and a high number of complaints in 
relation to assessment decisions by adult services and housing 
technical services, and informed members of the Cabinet that the 
Committee considered an action plan was needed to mitigate this 
phenomena. 
 

• Informed members of the Cabinet that he had nothing to add to the 
questions/ comments raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
as set out in the tabled paper regarding: - 

 
o Agenda item 6.1 “Food Law Enforcement Plan” (CAB 012/089)  
o Agenda item 7.1 “Recommissioning Linkage Plus” (CAB 

013/089) 
o Agenda item 8.1 “London Thames Gateway Development 

Corporation Draft Bromley by Bow Land Use Design Brief” (CAB 
014/089) 

o Agenda item 12.1 “Housing Revenue Account Provisional 
Outturn Report 2007/08” (CAB 016/089)  

 

Page 7



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

The Chair thanked Councillor Asad for presenting the contribution of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and then Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
  
That the questions and comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
be noted, and that these be given consideration during the Cabinet 
deliberation of the items of business to which the questions and comments 
related. 
 
 

5.2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
The Clerk advised that no provisional decisions made by the Cabinet, at its 
meeting held on 11th June 2008, had been “called in” for further consideration 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting held on 1st July 2008, 
and accordingly none had been referred back to Cabinet for further 
consideration. 
 
 

6. A BETTER PLACE FOR LIVING SAFELY  
 
 

6.1 Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 2008/2009 (CAB 012/089)  
 
Councillor A. Ali gave notification to the clerk prior to the Cabinet meeting 
that she had a personal interest in Agenda items 6.1 “Food Law Enforcement 
Service Plan 2008/2009” on the basis that the report made reference to the 
Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust. and Councillor Ali was an employee of 
the Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust (partner in general practitioner’s 
practice in Spitalfields). 
 
 
Mr Halsey, Corporate Director Communities, Localities and Culture, at the 
request of the Chair in introducing the report: 
• Briefly summarised the salient points contained therein: 

o Drawing particular attention to paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 which 
outlined the Authority’s responsibilities in relation to food law 
and the commercial premises in relation to which this regime 
was applied. 

o Highlighting in particular that National Indicator 184 measured 
the compliance of establishments with food hygiene law and 
57% of Tower Hamlets premises were currently compliant and it 
was intended that this would be increased by 5% in the coming 
year. 

• Addressed the matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 1st July 2008, in relation to the report; as set out in 
the tabled sheet of questions and comments presented by the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee earlier in the proceedings. 

 

Page 8



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

Mr Tolley, Enviornmental Health Commercial Service Manager – 
Communities, Localities and Culture, at the request of the Chair, responded to 
requests for clarification/ assurance, in relation to a number or matters 
including:-  
• With reference to Appendix 1, paragraph 4.1.3 and Table 5 contained 

therein: the budget available to staff for call allowances, in the context 
of the Authority’s policies promoting low car usage, and steps being 
taken to reduce this. 

• With reference to Appendix 1, paragraph 6.15.1: the usage of agency 
staff and if due to shortage of adequately qualified staff, the steps 
being taken to mitigate reliance on these. 

• With reference to Appendix 1, paragraph 2.1.2 inclusion of Mile End 
Park and Weavers Fields in community events detailed. 

• With reference to the take up of training referred to in the report: 
nature, availability, promotion of training. 

• With reference to Appendix 1 page 54: specification of young workers 
in relation to which data being collected. 

• With reference to paragraph 12.1 “Sustainable Action for a Greener 
Environment”, and the context of the importance of recycling and waste 
management to the recently adopted Local Area Agreement, the ways 
in which the Authority was currently promoting the reduction of food 
waste and how this could be taken forward. 

 
Councillor Ullah, Lead Member Cleaner, Safer, Greener, in welcoming the 
report and thanking the officer team for their contribution to its production:-  
• Commented upon the prevalence of fast food outlets in High Street 

2012, expressed concern that this encouraged an unhealthy lifestyle, 
primarily amongst young people, and requested that officers explore 
the options for limiting an expansion in their numbers and instead 
maintaining an appropriate mix of commercial premises. 

• Considered that the availability of food and refreshments was needed 
at large and lengthy events, but emphasised the need for proper 
licensing and enforcement of the food law regime at these events. 

• Informed those present that he had observed what appeared to be 
illegal food trading and certainly insanitary arrangements for dealing 
with associated utensils at the market in Truman’s Brewery, Brick Lane 
and requested that officers ensure that these activities were subject to 
the Authority’s food law enforcement regime.  

 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 

 
Resolved: 
 
That the Tower Hamlets Food Law Enforcement Plan 2008/2009 attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report (CAB 012/09) be approved.  
 
 

7. A BETTER PLACE FOR LIVING WELL  
 
 

Page 9



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

8 

7.1 Recommissioning LinkAge Plus (CAB 013/089)  
 
Councillor A. Ali gave notification to the clerk prior to the Cabinet meeting 
that she had a personal interest in Agenda items 7.1 “Recommissioning 
LinkAge Plus” on the basis that the report made reference to the Tower 
Hamlets Primary Care Trust. and Councillor Ali was an employee of the 
Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust (partner in general practitioner’s practice 
in Spitalfields). 
 
 
Ms Taylor, Service Head Commissioning & Strategy, Adults Health and 
Wellbeing, at the request of the Chair in introducing the report:- 
• Briefly summarised the salient points contained therein highlighting in 

particular: 
o The Authority’s success as one of eight local authorities 

nationally piloting the Link Age Plus Programme. 
o The proposal that the Authority and the Tower Hamlets Primary 

Care Trust mainstream the funding for the project after the pilot 
phase, funded from other sources, completed. 

o Efficiency savings expected from the new governance and 
management model for the contract re-commissioning the 
service. 

• Addressed the matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 1st July 2008, in relation to the report; as set out in 
the tabled sheet of questions and comments presented by the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee earlier in the proceedings. Ms 
Taylor undertook to provide Members with written details of contract 
monitoring arrangements. 

 
Ms Taylor, Service Head Commissioning & Strategy, Adults Health and 
Wellbeing,  at the request of the Chair, responded to requests for clarification/ 
assurance, in relation to a number or matters including:-  
• Whether client side arrangements for the verification and assessment 

of the performance of the contractor side in relation to the provision of 
this service had been robust. 

• The outcome of a tender exercise, in relation to the future contract for 
this service provision, limited to the current five contractor side 
organisations, would be their delivery of the same service as currently 
provided. 

• Whether the four organisations which did not win the contract for 
coordination of the contract would have sufficient funding under the 
consortia arrangements to operate a project of the same capacity. 

• Whether each of the five organisations currently operating the scheme 
would be in place after the tender exercise was complete. 

• Whether the other seven pilot local authorities were allocating their 
resources to mainstream the project. 

 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved: 

Page 10



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

9 

 
1. That a limited tender process be conducted for the coordination of the 

LinkAge Plus organisation; 
 
2. That the Corporate Director Adults Health and Wellbeing be authorised 

to agree the contract with the successful organisation; and 
 
3. That authorisation be given pursuant to Procurement Procedures 

paragraph 2.1.1 (b) for an exception to the general provisions of 
paragraphs 2.5.1 (requirement for 6  tenders) and 2.5.2 (requirement 
for public notice) of the Procedures in respect of the procurement 
process for this contract. 

 
 

8. A BETTER PLACE FOR CREATING AND SHARING PROSPERITY  
 
 

8.1 London Thames Gateway Development Corporation, Draft Bromley-by-
Bow Land Use Design Brief (CAB 014/089)  
 
Councillor O. Ahmed declared a personal interest in Agenda item 8.1 
“London Thames Gateway Development Corporation, Draft Bromley-by-Bow 
Land Use Design Brief”. The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the London Thames 
Gateway Development Corporation and Councillor Ahmed was a 
representative of the Authority on the governing body of the London Thames 
Gateway Development Corporation. 
 
 
Mr Whalley, Service Head Major Project Development - Development and 
Renewal, at the request of the Chair, in introducing the report; briefly 
summarised salient points contained therein, and addressed the matters 
raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, held on 1st July 2008, in 
relation to the report; as set out in the tabled sheet of questions and 
comments presented by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
earlier in the proceedings. 
 
A detailed discussion followed, during which the proposals were broadly 
welcomed for their potential to bring forward a good neighbourhood in an area 
of disuse, and which focused on the following issues:- 
• Consideration that in the context of the large number of people on the 

Authority’s housing waiting list and the acknowledged levels of 
overcrowding in the Borough that targets for affordable housing and 
family housing should be as ambitious as possible and all necessary 
steps be taken to encourage property developers to maximise the 
potential for this mix of accommodation. It was also considered that this 
message should be conveyed to the relevant planning authority in 
relation to proposed level of single and luxury housing units for the 
Olympic Village. 

• Noted that the draft land use design brief was congruent with the 
sensitivity required in terms of development parameters, such as height 

Page 11



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

10 

density and good design, in areas sensitive to development such as the 
historic Three Mills Conservation Area; particularly in the context of 
current poor design in the vicinity of Twelve Trees and Bow Flyover.  

• Considered that It was important to emphasise the Borough’s Interim 
Planning Guidance required any new development to include: 
o Between 35 to 50% affordable housing 
o 25% of private housing for larger units larger units and 45% of 

social rented and intermediate housing for larger units (3+ beds) 
and the proposals were in accord with these requirements. 

• Considered that it was important to emphasise that developments 
should be consistent with the Brief and not comprise more than eight 
storeys. 

• Noted that the draft land use design brief was consistent with the 
Authority’s Bromley by Bow Masterplan. 

• Considered that although the objectives of the draft land use design 
brief were laudable these were not sufficiently connected and there 
was a lack of synergy and community focus. 

• Concern that the new primary school provision to be secured from 
redevelopment of the site, which was located to the east of the A12, 
was the designated provision for any residential development to take 
place on the St Andrew’s Hospital Site, located to the west of the A12. 
Concern also that the only firm proposals in the brief for pedestrian 
connections between east and west involved enhancing the subways 
under the A12 and consideration that it was essential that other options 
be developed for pedestrians involving surface crossings . Mr Williams, 
Development Manager, Development and Renewal, undertook to 
provide Councillor Hawkins, Lead Member Children’s Services, with a 
breakdown of the projected figures for attendees of the primary school 
from each side of the A12.  Mr Williams also suggested that the 
consultation period was a good opportunity for further ideas on 
connectivity to come forward. 

• Concern that whilst substantial open space in the area around the new 
primary school was welcome, there should not be a substitution of 
open space to the east of the A12 for that to the west, unless the 
inadequate connectivity was mitigated. 

• Consideration of inclusive consultation was required given the strong 
views of stakeholders in the surrounding area; and that further clarity 
was required in relation to the implementation of consultation with 
religious and faith groups. Clarification was also sought as to the 
methodology and timetable for statutory consultation on the draft land 
use design brief and how the recent work of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee around this area could contribute to the consultation. Mr 
Whalley confirmed that there would be a detailed Consultation Plan 
worked up with the LTGDC and the good practice consultation of the 
masterplan process would be continued. Officers would play a key role 
in the Consultation ensuring that the Corporate Consultation team was 
closely involved. 

• Mr.Whalley confirmed that the feasibility for providing a multi-faith 
burial facility in the borough was being considered as part of the 
emerging Local Development Framework.  

Page 12



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

11 

 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 
 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the Draft Bromley-by-Bow Land Use and Design Brief, attached at 

Appendix 2 to the report (CAB 014/089) be approved for a 12 week 
period of statutory consultation to be carried out jointly between the 
Council and London Thames Gateway Development Corporation prior 
to its approval by the Authority as ‘Interim Planning Guidance’; and 

 
2. That the Corporate Director Development and Renewal be authorised, 

after consultation with the Lead Member Housing and Development, to 
make any appropriate and necessary minor amendments to the 
Bromley-by-Bow Land Use and Design Brief prior to statutory 
consultation from August 2008.   

 
9. A BETTER PLACE FOR LEARNING, ACHIEVEMENT AND LEISURE  

 
The Clerk advised that there were no business to be considered under this 
section of the agenda. 
 
 

10. A BETTER PLACE FOR EXCELLENT PUBLIC SERVICES  
 
 

10.1 General Fund Service Outturn and Strategic Plan Performance 
Information for 2007/2008 -  (CAB 015/089)  
 
Mr Finch, Service Head Corporate Finance – Resources, at the request of the 
Chair, in introducing the report summarised the salient points contained 
therein, and also advising members of the Cabinet that:- 
• A further report would be submitted to the next meeting of the Cabinet, 

due to be held on 30th July 2008, regarding the annual financial review 
process which would comprise figures set out in the report contained in 
the agenda before them together with an assessment of the financial 
risks and pressures facing the Authority. Mr Finch also commented that 
the Authority’s Budgetary performance to date placed it in a positive 
position to deal with these. 

• Paragraph 7.2 of the report contained a typographical error and the 
figure should read £504,000 not £514,000 and therefore that in 
2008/09 £10,000 less was available to the Authority for Child Care 
Court Costs than indicated. 

 
Councillor Peck, Lead Member Resources and Performance, with reference 
to paragraph 5.1 of the report and the tabled contained therein setting out 
directorate requests for carry forward of 2007/08 funding to 2008/09, 
commented that he required clarification as to: 

Page 13



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

12 

• Why it was necessary to carry forward funding in the Childrens 
Services Budget relating to the revaluation on school properties 
resulting in National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) rebate. 

• The capacity to deliver the Corporate PC Refresh programme for the 
sum indicated. 

Accordingly Councillor Peck proposed an amendment to the recommendation 
set out in paragraph 2.4 of the report, for the consideration of members of the 
Cabinet, as follows:- 
 

“That the following carry forwards set out in the table contained within 
paragraph 5.1 of the report not be agreed, and that these be the 
subject of a further report submitted for the consideration of the Cabinet 
at its next meeting: 
o Childrens Services - Re valuation on school properties resulting 

in National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) rebate carried forward 
£134, 000. 

o Corporate – PC Refresh £224,000.” 
 

Councillor Peck, Lead Member Resources and Performance: 
• With reference to paragraph 10.1 of the report and the table relating to 

data collection contained therein, expressed concern regarding the 
indicated percentage collection rate for 2007/08 debt relating to major 
works and service charges.  

• With reference to Appendix D “Efficiency Return – Backward Look 
2007/08” to the report, commented that of the 2007/08 efficiency 
savings, agreed by the Cabinet, approximately £350,000 had not been 
delivered.  These savings could be technically offset by under spends 
in directorate budgets elsewhere; however, had the agreed efficiency 
savings also been delivered the Authority’s financial position would be 
that much stronger.  Councillor Peck further commented that 
examination and agreement of budget savings was a long, detailed and 
difficult process for all concerned, and expressed, on behalf of 
members of the Cabinet, their expectation that should the agreed 
2007/08 efficiency savings not be delivered that they be rolled forward 
to 2008/09. 

 
Ms McEleney, Director of Housing Management, undertook to examine the 
2007/08 service charge debt collection rate indicated in the report as this 
appeared incorrect, and to inform members of the Cabinet and Leaders of the 
political groups of her conclusions, in writing.  
 
The Chair Moved the recommendations contained in the report (taking 
account of the amendment proposed by Councillor Peck), and it was:- 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the outturn position for 2007/2008 and the underspend of £6.2m 

against approved service budgets be noted; 
 
2. That the technical target adjustment as detailed in Appendix A and 
 explained in Section 6 of the report (CAB 015/089) be agreed; 

Page 14



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

13 

 
3. That the Directorates’ outturn and explanation for variances as detailed 

in Appendices B1-7 to the report (CAB 015/089) be noted; 
 
4. That subject to (a) below the requests for carry forwards detailed in 

paragraph 5.1 of the report (CAB 015/089) be agreed; 
 

(a) That the following carry forwards set out in the table contained 
within paragraph 5.1 of the report not be agreed and that these be 
the subject of a further report submitted for the consideration of 
the Cabinet at its next meeting: 
• Childrens Services - Re valuation on school properties 

resulting in National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) rebate 
carried forward £134, 000. 

• Corporate – PC Refresh £224,000 
 
5. That the transfers to earmarked reserves detailed in the Directorate 

reports and summarised at paragraph 5.2 of the report (CAB 015/089) 
be agreed; 

 
6. That the efficiency statement for 2007/08 at paragraph 8.1 and 

Appendix D of the report (CAB 015/089) be noted; 
 
7. That, in respect of the 2008/09 budget, £390,000 be allocated from the 

contingency established for the purpose of providing an increase in the 
budget for Child Care Court Costs, as set out in Section 7 of the report 
(CAB 015/089); 

 
8. That the performance information for the year to 31st March 2008 [as 

set out in Section 9 of the report (CAB 015/089)] be noted; and 
 
9. That the Revenue Collection data for the year to 31st March 2008 [as 

set out in Section 10 of the report (CAB 015/089)] be noted. 
 

11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  
 
The Clerk advised that there were no business to be considered under this 
section of the agenda. 
 
 

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  
 
 

12.1 Housing Revenue Account Provisional Out turn Report 2007/08 (CAB 
016/089)  
 
Mr Holme, Service Head Resources - Development and Renewal, at the 
request of the Chair, in introducing the report; summarised salient points 
contained therein, and addressed the matters raised by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, held on 1st July 2008, in relation to the report; as set out 

Page 15



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

14 

in the tabled sheet of questions and comments presented by the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee earlier in the proceedings. 
 
Councillor Francis, Lead Member Housing and Development: 
• Commented that the outturn in the 2007/08 Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA), an under spend in excess of £4 million, was a reflection of the 
achievement of value for money and containing expenditure within the 
allocated budget by the Authority’s Housing department, but also 
indicated a need to work harder to identify and mitigate, at an earlier 
juncture, any such future under spend. 

• Informed members of the Cabinet that there were two options with 
regard to the identified under spend in the 2007/08 HRA. Firstly to add 
these resources to the HRA balances making further provision for 
unforeseen risks in future years; to “bank now and invest later”. 
Secondly to recognise that the resources had been derived from tenant 
rents and leaseholder service charges and that these be invested for 
their benefit at the earliest opportunity “invest now”.   

• Considered the latter option to be preferable, and accordingly proposed 
the following additional recommendation, to that contained in 
paragraph 2.1 of the report, for the consideration of members of the 
Cabinet:- 

 
“That in the context of the identified increase in the level of Housing 
Revenue Account reserves, by in excess of £4 million, the Interim 
Corporate Director Development and Renewal after consultation with 
the Lead Member Housing and Development submit a further report to 
Cabinet, at the earliest opportunity, bringing forward costed proposals 
that accord with the priorities of the Cabinet to deliver early 
improvements in frontline housing services.” 

 
• Outlined the priorities of the Cabinet for early improvement in frontline 

housing services as follows:- 
o Developing the Estate Improvement Programme to deliver 

transformational change to local environments including painting, 
cleaning and landscaping.  

o A programme to achieve improved block and estate security. 
o Relieving overcrowding through small scale adaptions to flats and 

ancillary spaces, such as knock-throughs. Also through further 
incentivisation of tenants to take up smaller units or home 
ownership (enhanced resourcing of the Cash Incentive Grant) 
thereby freeing up more family accommodation. 

o Adaption of homes to better meet the needs of disabled residents. 
o Additional work be undertaken to achieve value for money in 

relation to leaseholder service charges and an additional rebate 
be brought forward in relation to the level of service provided to 
leaseholders in 2007/08 

• Concluded by informing members of the Cabinet that he was pleased 
to report that the Department of Communities and Local Government 
had now given consent for the Arms Length Management Organisation 
(ALMO), also known as Tower Hamlets Homes, to go live on 7th July 
2008; adding that much work had been undertaken by members of the 

Page 16



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

15 

Shadow Tower Hamlet Homes Board and staff in Housing Services to 
improve the quality of the housing service and Government consent to 
progress the ALMO should be taken as an indication of their 
confidence that its objectives would be achieved. 

 
Members of the Cabinet welcomed the proposal made by Councillor Francis.  
 
Councillor Rofique U. Ahmed, Lead Member Culture and Leisure, in referring 
to paragraph 5.2 of the report containing a reference to the appointment of a 
Strategic Partner on the Ocean Estate in the near future, reported, on behalf 
of constituents who had expressed concerns to him, regarding the capacity of 
the Interim Board of the Ocean Regeneration Trust to deliver the programme 
of works proposed for the Estate. 
 
Ms McEleney, Director of Housing Management, at the request of the Chair, 
responded to requests for clarification/ assurance, in relation to the following:- 
• The contribution to the under spend in the 2007/08 Housing Revenue 

Account arising from renegotiated contracts for energy supply, and the 
linkage of reduced energy costs/ energy related savings to a reduction 
in income accruing to the Authority from leaseholders.  Ms McEleney 
undertook to provide further written clarification to Councillor Peck, 
Lead Member Resources and Performance. 

• With reference to Appendix 1 “HRA Outturn Report 2007/08” and the 
increased expenditure detailed therein relating to provision for bad or 
doubtful debt.  

 
The Chair in Moving the recommendations contained in the report (taking 
account of the amendment proposed by Councillor Francis) requested that Mr 
Evans, Interim Corporate Director Development and Renewal, and the officer 
team in Development and Renewal, liaise with himself, Councillor Ohid 
Ahmed, Lead Member Regeneration Localisation and Community 
Partnerships, Councillor Rofique U. Ahmed, Lead Member Culture and 
Leisure, appropriate Ward Councillors to address the concerns raised by local 
people in relation to the Interim Board of the Ocean Regeneration Trust. 
 
and it was:- 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the 2007/8 provisional outturn for the Housing Revenue Account 

be noted; and 
 
2. That in the context of the identified increase in the level of Housing 

Revenue Account reserves, by in excess of £4 million, the Interim 
Corporate Director Development and Renewal after consultation with 
the Lead Member Housing and Development submit a further report to 
Cabinet, at the earliest opportunity, bringing forward costed proposals 
that accord with the priorities of the Cabinet to deliver early 
improvements in frontline housing services. 

 
 

Page 17



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

16 

12.2 Exercise of Corporate Director Discretions (CAB 017/089)  
 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the exercise of Corporate Directors’ discretions, as set out in Appendix 1 
to the report (CAB 016/089), be noted. 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
The agenda circulated contained no Section Two business (business 
containing information defined as exempt or confidential in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government, Act 1972. There was therefore no requirement 
to exclude the press and public, under the provisions of Section 100A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act 1985, to allow for consideration of such business prior to 
the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
 

 
 

SUMMARY OF EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS 
 
 
 

14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
 
Nil Items.  
 

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

15.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Exempt / 
Confidential Business to be considered.  
 
Nil Items.  
 

15.2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  
 
Nil Items.  

16. A BETTER PLACE FOR LIVING SAFELY  
 
Nil Items.  
 

17. A BETTER PLACE FOR LIVING WELL  
 
Nil Items.  
 

18. A BETTER PLACE FOR CREATING AND SHARING PROSPERITY  

Page 18



CABINET, 02/07/2008 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

17 

 
Nil Items.  
 

19. A BETTER PLACE FOR LEARNING, ACHIEVEMENT AND LEISURE  
 
Nil Items.  
 

20. A BETTER PLACE FOR EXCELLENT PUBLIC SERVICES  
 
Nil Items.  
 

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE 
URGENT  
 
Nil Items.  
 

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  
 
Nil Items.  
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 6.50 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Lutfur Rahman 
Cabinet 

 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 

Date: 
30th July 2008 

Classification: 
 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No: Agenda Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Communities, 

Localities and Culture 
 
Originating officer(s) Fiona Heyland, 

Head of Waste Management 
 
 

Title:  
 
 Recycling  Improvement Plan 2008 to 

2011  
 
Wards Affected: Borough-wide 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Historically the borough has suffered from low levels of recycling and in 

2005/06 Tower Hamlets recorded the lowest recycling level in England 
and Wales. Overall there have been strides in improvement since 2003 
with the authority currently recycling approximately 14% of the 
collected Household Waste. However, Tower Hamlets recycling target 
for 2007/08 is 20% and so current performance still falls short of 
achieving the Government target.  

 
1.2 This report outlines the current recycling services in operation for 

residents and businesses within the borough and what level of 
performance is being achieved. The report goes on to analyse the gap 
between current performance and the required Government target and 
how that gap can be closed during 2008/09 financial year through the 
introduction of new services funded from service improvement growth. 

 
1.3 To take the Council’s recycling performance beyond the 20% target, 

with a view to achieving the Government’s national target of 40% 
recycling and composting, additional recycling and composting 
initiatives will be required in subsequent years.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet are recommended to: - 
 
2.1 Cabinet is requested to endorse the actions set out in the Recycling 

Improvement Plan summarised at section 4 of the report.   
 
 
 
________________________________________________________ 
 

Agenda Item 6.1

Page 21



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
List of  “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report

 Recycling Improvement Plan   
 
To be completed by author     Fiona Heyland 

ext. 6838 

Page 22



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

3. BACKGROUND TO CURRENT RECYCLING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
3.1 Tower Hamlets currently provides a weekly recycling service to collect 

co-mingled dry materials such as paper & card, glass bottles and jars, 
food and drink cans. 19,000 low rise properties and 55,000 high rise 
properties are on a door step collection basis and 18,600 high rise 
properties have communal collection facilities. The Communal systems 
use a variety of 360s / 660s / 770s / 1280s litre bins dependant on the 
physical infrastructure of the site. 
 

3.2 The Authority provides 51 bring bank locations across the Borough for 
the collection of co-mingled paper, card, cans, aerosols, plastic bottles, 
beverage cartons and mixed glass. A total number of 232 bins are 
spread across these sites. All the communal bring banks in the 
authority are 1280 litre Continental design recycling banks. The Council 
has recently installed Commuter Recycling banks at Tower Hill, and 
Bethnal Green tube stations. 

 
3.3 Residents are encouraged to recycle bulky and electrical materials at 

the Northumberland Wharf Civic Amenity Site such as Mixed Scrap 
Metal, Engine Oil, Car Batteries, Mobile Phones, Aluminium Foil, 
Textiles, White Goods, Cardboard. 

 
3.4  In addition to the residential properties, the Council estimates that 

there are over 1000 non domestic properties producing Household 
Waste such as schools, colleges, charities and places of worship that 
could also receive a collection service. Approximately 320 of these 
properties have been provided with a collection service and work is 
ongoing to identify the remaining properties and roll out the recycling 
service to each one.  

 
3.5 The activities outlined above have delivered a recycling performance 

that has been improving steadily since 2005 but this growth has 
predominantly been as a result of the roll out of dry recycling collection 
services across the borough. However despite this improvement 
current performance of 14% (March 2008) continues to fall short of the 
Council’s statutory Household Waste recycling and composting target 
for 2007/08 of 20%. Figure 1 below shows the recycling performance, 
month by month, since April 2005.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

Figure 1 – Growth in recycling performance since April 2005   

6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Ap
r

Ma
y

Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p Oc
t

No
v

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

Ma
r

Ap
r

Ma
y

Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p Oc
t

No
v

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

Ma
r

Ap
r

Ma
y

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st
Se

pte
mb

er
Oc

tob
er

No
ve

mb
er

De
ce

mb
er

Ja
nu

ary
Fe

bru
ary

Ma
rch

2005 2006 2007 2008

%

  
3.6 In order to achieve the Council’s statutory recycling target more 

tonnage of recyclable and compostable material needs to be collected 
each month, either through current services or by providing additional 
services. Figure 2 below shows the extent of this “recycling gap”. 

 
Figure 2 – The Recycling Gap (tonnes) 

600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800

Ap
ril

Ma
y

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st
Se

pte
mb

er
Oc

tob
er

No
ve

mb
er

De
ce

mb
er

Ja
nu

ary
Fe

bru
ary

Ma
rch

To
nn

es

22% 20% Actual

  
 
 
 
 

 363 
tonnes 

Page 24



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

3.7 In 2007 the Council engaged MEL Research to undertake a Waste 
Analysis. This identified that Tower Hamlets’ waste can be broken 
down into 4 main fractions.  

• Dry Recyclable Material (paper, cans, bottles, glass) 40% 
• Food Waste 42% 
• Garden Waste 5% 
• Residual Waste (not recyclable or compostable) 13% 

 
3.8 Not only did the Waste Analysis identify that Tower Hamlets had a high 

proportion of food waste in its Household Waste stream, it also 
identified that many residents, who were taking part in the dry materials 
recycling service, were only recycling a small percentage of the 
potential recyclable materials in their rubbish (in some cases this was 
as low as 14% of what could have been recycled). 

 
3.9 From this Analysis it can be concluded that the best opportunities to 

increase recycling performance in the future is to get more residents to 
recycle more of the dry materials, through a series of initiatives and to 
implement the collection of food waste and garden waste. The 
following section of this report sets out the specific actions to be 
implemented in each year and the predicted increase in recycling 
performance.   

 
4.0 The Next Steps for Recycling  
4.1 Table 1 below lists the specific initiatives that formulate the Recycling 

Improvement Plan for 2008 to 2011. For each initiative the anticipated 
implementation date is given in the table. 

 
Table 1  
2008/09 
Initiative Details Implementation 

Date 
Garden Waste 
Collection 
Service 
 

Residents living in low rise 
properties with gardens will be 
provided with green re-usable 
garden waste sacks for their grass 
clippings and other green garden 
waste. This pilot service will be 
implemented in July 2008 with 
collections being made on a 
fortnightly basis.    
 

7th July 2008 

Separation of 
Street Cleansing 
Arisings for 
Recycling 
 

In August the Council’s Street 
Cleansing Contractor Veolia will 
implement the separation of street 
litter for recycling on all daytime 
main route sweeping beats. Bags of 
recyclable litter will be deposited into 
the recycling bring banks and 

1st August 2008 

Page 25



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

collected as part of the dry 
recyclable collection service. 
 

Recycling Bulky 
Waste 

Improvements to the recycling of 
bulky waste through Northumberland 
Wharf Waste Transfer Station will be 
achieved through additional waste 
segregation processes and an 
alteration to collection 
methodologies.  
 
 
 

1st August 2008 

Food Waste 
Collections  
• 19,000 low 
rise 
properties 

• 5,000 – 7,000 
high rise 
properties 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• 10,000 high 
rise 
properties 

 
 
Residents in low rise properties will 
be provided with a kitchen caddy 
and starch liners to contain their 
food waste on a daily basis and a 
larger bin from which the waste will 
be collected on a weekly kerbside 
collection. 
 
The Council in association with 
major RSL’s will also implement a 
pilot food waste collection service for 
5,000 – 7,000 high rise properties. 
Both door step and communal 
collection systems will be 
implemented as part of the trial in 
order to assess the costs and 
benefits of each collection 
methodology in advance of rolling 
out a high rise scheme borough 
wide.  
 
 
Subject to additional funding 
being secured from the London 
Waste and Recycling Fund a 
further 10,000 high rise properties 
will be included in the food waste 
recycling service.   
 
 

 
 
September 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
January 2009 

Recycling 
Champions 
 

To boost participation in recycling, a 
network of resident “Recycling 
Champions” will be recruited 
throughout the borough to help the 
Council with its drive to improve 

September 2008 

Page 26



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

recycling performance. It is 
anticipated that the Champions will 
predominantly be from the high rise 
properties within the borough where 
individual contact with residents is 
often harder to achieve on a regular 
basis. The Champions will be 
supported in their work by the 
Monitoring and Outreach staff and 
will be rewarded on the basis of 
increased recycling performance 
achieved.  
 
 

2009/10 
Initiative Details Implementation 

Date 
Food Waste 
Collections  
• 40,000 high 
rise 
properties 

 

 
 
Subject to additional funding 
being secured from the London 
Waste and Recycling Fund a 
further 40,000 high rise properties 
will be included in the food waste 
recycling service.   
 

 
 
Phased from 
April 2009 

Recycling 
Electrical 
Equipment 
(WEEE) 

Install micro-collection points for 
Waste Electrical and Electronic 
Equipment (WEEE). For example at 
One Stop Shops, Ideas Stores and 
other public buildings. Additional 
funding will be required to 
implement this initiative. 
 

Phased from 
April 2009 

Ban Garden 
Waste from 
residual waste 
stream 

Garden waste would no longer be 
accepted as part of the residual 
waste. Households would be 
required to use the garden waste 
service only to dispose of this waste 

April 2009 

2010/11 
Initiative Details Implementation 

Date 
Food Waste 
Collections  
• 25,000 high 
rise 
properties 

 

 
 
Subject to additional funding 
being secured from the London 
Waste and Recycling Fund a 
further 25,000 high rise properties 
will be included in the food waste 

Phased from 
April 2010 

Page 27



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

recycling service from January 2009.  
 

Kerbside 
collection service 
for textiles 

Through a partnership with a 3rd 
sector service provider the council 
would offer a regular (potentially 
monthly) collection service for 
textiles. Additional funding will be 
required to implement this 
initiative  
 

1st April 2010 

 
 
 
Predicted Recycling Performance 2008/09  
 
4.2 Based on the anticipated additional recycling and composting tonnage 

collected from the activities outlined above the Council will achieve a 
cumulative recycling rate of just over 19% by the end of March 2009. 
The tonnage contribution from each of the planned activities is shown 
in table 2 below;  

 
Table 2 
Initiative Percentage Contribution 
Existing Services + growth 16% 
Garden Waste 0.5% 
Street Cleansing 0.3% 
Food waste – low-rise 1.3% 
Food waste – high-rise trial 0.3% 
Food waste – high-rise (second 
phase) 

0.2% 
Bulky waste separation 0.4% 
Other minor initiatives including 
waste minimisation 

0.4% 
TOTAL 19.4% 
 
 
 
Predicted Recycling Performance for 2009/10  
 
4.3 Based on the anticipated additional recycling and composting tonnage 

collected from the activities outlined above which are subject to 
additional funding being secured from the London Waste and 
Recycling Fund, the Council will achieve a cumulative recycling rate of 
26% by the end of March 2010. The tonnage contribution from each of 
the planned activities is shown in table 3 below;   

 
Table 3 
Initiative Percentage Contribution 
Existing Services + growth 21% 
Food waste – high-rise 4% 

Page 28



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

additional 40,000 high rise 
properties 
WEEE 0.25% 
Other minor initiatives including 
banning garden waste 

0.75% 
TOTAL 26% 
 
Predicted Recycling Performance for 2010/11  
 
4.4 Based on the anticipated additional recycling and composting tonnage 

collected from the activities outlined above the Council could achieve a 
cumulative recycling rate of 32% by the end of March 2011 (if 
additional funding is allocated). The tonnage contribution from each of 
the planned activities is shown in table 4 below; 

 
Table 4 
Initiative Percentage Contribution 
Existing Services + growth 28% 
Food waste – high-rise 
additional 25,000 high rise 
properties 

3% 

Kerbside textiles 0.3% 
Other minor initiatives 0.7% 
TOTAL 32% 
   
 
Frequently Asked Questions 
 
4.5 A list of Frequently Asked Questions covering the food waste collection 

service is attached as Appendix A   
 
5 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 The cost of the proposals as outlined above equates to approximately 

£1.85m in 2008/09 reflecting the staggered start date for a number of 
the initiatives and the one off purchase of food waste containers/bins, 
reducing to £1.4m for the following 2 years.  
These costs will mainly be met from Service Improvement Growth 
allocated for a Recycling Improvement Programme as part of the 
Budget process in 2008/09, savings accruing from reduced waste 
disposal costs, additional funding available to the Directorate in 08/09 
via Area Based Grant and the base budget provision available for 
recycling activity. 

5.2 If the Council is unsuccessful in its bid to the London Waste and 
Recycling Fund to further extend high rise food waste recycling 
consideration would need to be given to a further Service Improvement 
Growth bid in 2009/2010 the costs of which are still to be finalised, but 
which would be offset by reductions to waste disposal costs.  

Page 29



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

5.3 A financial summary of the Recycling Improvement Action Plan is 
attached to this report as Appendix B. 

  
6 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
6.1 The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government is 

empowered by Sections 4(1) and (2) and 28(1)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 to set annually recycling targets for local 
authorities. 

 
7.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Recycling services are provided borough wide. Every effort is made to 

ensure that all parts of the community have access to effective and 
efficient recycling services. 

 
7.2 Current and ongoing outreach work with schools, community and faith 

groups, RSL’s and Housing will ensure that the new recycling services 
are promoted to the hard to reach groups and these groups are not 
disadvantaged through the implementation of the compulsory scheme. 

 
8.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no anti-poverty implications. 
 
9.0 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
9.1 Reducing our use of natural resources, recycling materials and 

recovering energy from resources are key actions for achieving one 
planet living and combating Climate Change. 

 
9.2 Waste managed safely reduces risk to public health, damage to the 

environment as well as safeguarding social amenity. 
 
9.3 The Recycling Improvement Plan, together with re-use and recycling 

activities that are already being undertaken will encourage waste 
prevention, waste minimisation and resource recovery on a borough 
wide basis.  

 
9.4 Whilst previous education and publicity activities have helped to 

increase the amount of waste that is re-used or recycled but these 
activities alone have not achieved the levels of recycling performance 
required by the Government target. The implementation of compulsory 
recycling will drive up levels of participation and capture rates, ensuring 
that Tower Hamlets achieves the national recycling targets and 
reduces its carbon footprint.   

 
10.0 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 30



 
Recycling Improvement Plan – Draft Cabinet   

10.1 The predicted performance levels given in section 4 of this report are 
predicated on the initiatives being implemented according to the 
planned timetable for implementation. Any slippage of implementation 
dates would result in the stated recycling levels not being achieved.   

 
10.2 The predicted performance levels given in section 4 of this report are 

also predicated on additional funding being made available in 2009/10 
and 2010/11 from the London Waste and Recycling Fund. Should 
funding not be awarded the Council would need fund these additional 
activities from the General Fund in order that the predicted levels of 
recycling performance could be achieved. 

 
 
11 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 
11.1 The Government’s fiscal and legislative policies in relation to waste 

management are driving up the cost per tonne for waste disposal, 
particularly in respect of final disposal to landfill. In view of these 
environmental drivers, increasing diversion of waste for re-use and 
recycling will in future years reduce the Council’s overall waste 
management costs.   

 
12.  Appendices 
 
12.1 Appendix A – Frequently Asked Questions 

Appendix B -  Financial Summary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 Re
cy

clin
g I

mp
rov

em
en

t P
lan

 – 
Dr

aft
 C

ab
ine

t   

 

Page 32



Appendix A 
 

Frequently Asked Questions – New Recycling Initiatives 
 
 
FOOD WASTE COLLECTIONS 
 
Q. Why is the Council introducing separate food waste collections? 
A. Analysis of rubbish in Tower Hamlets has shown that food waste makes up 
40-50% by weight of everything thrown into dustbins by residents. It is 
extremely expensive to send all this food waste to landfill and it can represent 
a significant cause of air and water pollution as it rots down. In particular it 
produces methane which is a potent Greenhouse Gas, contributing to Global 
Warming. The Council has the lowest recycling rate in the country and 
collecting food waste will help lead to a major increase in recycling levels. 
 
Q. Do other Councils collect food waste for composting? 
A. Many London Boroughs provide a separate collection of food waste. For 
example Bexley, City of London, Greenwich, Hackney, Islington, Southwark 
and Waltham Forest. 
 
Q. How often will the food waste be collected? 
A. Collections will take place every week. For flats with a communal food 
waste collection container collections will be made more frequently. 
 
Q. What types of food waste can be collected? 
A. The scheme is for raw and cooked fruit and vegetables; raw and cooked 
meat and fish; bones; bread, rice and pasta; plate scrapings; tea bags; coffee 
grounds; egg shells as well as used kitchen paper towels. 
We cannot collect plastic bags, glass, cans, paper or any packaging marked 
‘compostable’ as this takes too long to break down. 
 
Q. What will happen to the food waste? 
A. It will be taken to a composting facility, mixed with woody waste and turned 
into a useable compost. 
 
Q. What containers will be provided for the food waste? 
A. All residents on the scheme will receive a small kitchen caddy and a 
regular supply of starch liners. Residents will also receive a larger 20 litre 
container in which to place the full bags. This bin has a locking handle and is 
placed out for collection. 
 
Q. Where and when should containers be placed out for collection? 
A. Containers should be placed close to the front boundary of your property 
by 7.00am on your collection day. 
 

Page 33



Q. Can I line the containers with carrier bags? 
A. Only the biodegradable starch liners provided by the Council can be used 
in the bins. Other plastic bags will not rot down with the food. Collection crews 
will not empty bins that have food waste contained in any sort of plastic bags 
apart from those supplied. 
 
Q. Which properties will be provided with food waste collections? 
A. Initially, all street level houses will receive the service in September 2008 
as well as 5,000 – 7,000 high-rise properties which will trial food waste 
collections. The Council is planning to bid for external funding from a new 
London Recycling Fund to extend food waste collections to all high-rise 
properties over the next couple of years. 
 
Q. Won’t the bins smell and attract rats? 
A. The larger containers for storing the food waste outside have a locking lid 
to keep smells in and vermin out. To lock the bins simply lift the handle over to 
the front of the container and to unlock it, lift it over to the back of the bin. 
 
Q. Will the containers need regular washing out? 
A. The Council will supply the starch liners free of charge to residents using 
the service. Use of these will keep the containers clean. They may just need 
an occasional wipe using a kitchen disinfectant spray. 
 

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (AS AMENDED) SECTION 100D 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

 

Brief description of background paper Name and telephone number 
• Financial management reports of holder and address where 

 open to inspection: 
       David Saunders Ext 1708 

 

1 

Committee: 
Cabinet 

Date: 
30 July 2008 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Report No. Agenda Item 
No. 

 

Report of: 
Corporate Director – Communities, Localities &  
Culture – Steven Halsey 
 
Originating Officer(s):  
Head of Markets – David Saunders 

Title: 
Review of Public Footway Trading 
Fees and Charges 2008/2009 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

 
1 SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report proposes some changes to the fees and charges relating licensing 

of the public footway.   
 
1.2 Market Services have always been responsible for issuing street trading 

licences with regards to street trading on the footway (for example, shop 
front projections).  The only exemption being the operation of facilities for 
recreation or refreshment under Part VIIA of the Highways Act 1980 
(essentially tables and chairs where refreshments were offered) as this was 
previously defined as not amounting to street trading although the activities 
would have amounted to such.  This exemption has now been removed and 
persons who wish to have tables and chairs must now apply for a street 
trading licence. 

 
1.3 Following this Cabinet decision reviewing Fees and Charges, public notice of 

the approved fees and charges for Footway Licensing will be made in the 
East End Life for a period of 28 days, after which all the representations 
received will be duly considered.  It is only after this further procedure that the 
new charges come into effect from September 2008. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to: - 
 
2.1 Approve the levels of fees and charges for Footway Licensing in Tower 

Hamlets as set out in Appendix 1, to be effective from 1st September 2008, 
subject to a 28 day period of consultation with footway licensees following 
publication of a Notice of Variation of Charges to be issued by the Corporate 
Director, Communities, Localities & Culture. 

 
2.2 Agree that the Corporate Director, Communities, Localities & Culture 

undertake further consultation with the Footway Licensees on the fees and 
charges as set out in Appendix 1. 

Agenda Item 6.2

Page 37



 2 

 
 
2.3 Authorise the Corporate Director Communities, Localities & Culture to set the 

final level of fees and charges for footway licensing following the outcome of 
consultation. 

 
 
3       INTRODUCTION 
 
3.1      The use of the public footway (that is the pavement not the road) by a person 

or business to display, offer or provide a service is illegal unless licensed by 
the Local Authority. No right exists to a footway licence, and the use will only 
be permitted under licence when the objectives as set out at 4.1 below are 
met. The footway licence will not alter, modify or conflict with any permission 
that is imposed or withheld by the Council in relation to planning and licensing 
of the associated business or premise. A person requesting a licence will not 
be liable for any fee or charge until such time, and if, the Council agrees to 
permit an application on mutually agreed conditions with that person.  

  
4      BACKGROUND  
 
4.1   The primary purpose in activating this regulation is not to raise revenue. With 

an increasing number of pedestrians and visitors in the Borough, including 
many with physical disabilities or of limited mobility, there is a duty of care to 
provide a process of control and regulation in respect of the public footway 
that safeguards public safety and allows adequate pedestrian movement. At 
the same time it is intended to support enterprise, particularly small 
businesses, where there is sufficient space to safely permit an increase in the 
display of goods or provision of service. However no licence will be granted 
that does not leave 1.8m of footway free for pedestrians.   

 
4.2   Tables and chairs outside premises are increasingly common in the street 

scene.  There has been a significant increase in demand arising from the 
influence of a more Continental Street Culture and the ban on smoking in 
premises.  Whilst the Council previously adopted a policy note for managing 
tables and chairs over 5 years ago, with respect to tables and chairs, A 
Boards and other items on the footway, there are very few, if any licenses in 
place and no regulation. 

 
4.3   The Market Service already license shop front projections for the display of 

goods on the footway, in our designated street markets. This licensing activity 
has been subject to restriction and currently just 20 licenses exist.  However, 
apart from responding to complaints from the public there has not been 
regulation of the footway outside market areas.  This inconsistent application 
of regulation is unfair, and it does not address a potential risk to public safety.  

 
4.4    At present a licensed shop front projection is limited to a single standard size 

and a fixed sum for a full week is charged regardless of the number of days 
that a display is put out. Where tables and chairs are concerned currently it is 
their number and not their size or the space taken up that forms the basis of 
the charge. It is proposed to draw on the best practice of other London 

Page 38



 3 

Boroughs to enable there to be a logical relationship between the size of the 
existing footway, the space licensed, and frequency of use. It is therefore 
intended in all circumstances to licence in multiples of square metre ground 
space used. The charge will be the product of the charge per square metre 
and the number of days that it is used.   

 
4.5   As this Report facilitates a step change in footway licensing and across the 

Borough the level of regulation of items or goods on the footway will rise, a 
public and business information and advice brochure is being produced. It will 
also be placed on the Council website. It will have the following content 

 
• Why the Council would want or not want to grant you a licence 
• How to start a licence request  
• How to work out what a licence will cost you 
• What general conditions apply to all footway licences 
• What specific conditions might apply in your individual case 
• How to make an application and what a site visit involves 
• How to appeal a decision 
 

4.6     The table at Appendix 2 shows a comparative table of Public Footway Fees 
and Charges with some other London Boroughs.  The proposed fees and 
charges compare favourably with our bench mark Authorities and it is 
intended on their introduction that they be among the lowest in London. 

 
5     PROPOSED CHANGES 
 

5.1 The proposed changes for 2008 are recommended as they will: 
• Improve safe pedestrian access to places of high footfall in particular 

and in the Borough in general 
• Support small business enterprise 
• Generate necessary revenue for regulation and enforcement activity. 

 
5.2 A charge for the use of 1 square metre of footway a day to be set at £1. 

In common with many other London Boroughs, it is planned to issue only 
temporary footway licenses of six months duration, which are renewable.  
Temporary licenses issued by the Council on being withdrawn have no right of 
appeal.  This encourages adherence to licence conditions and enables the 
Council to act decisively and effectively if the need arises.  To meet the 
differing dimensions of space and the uses therein that a licensee might 
propose, it is intended to licence by square metre of public footway.  It is 
recommended that the charge for the use of the public footway is the same for 
all forms of use and introduced at a rate comparable to other London 
Boroughs, at £1 per square metre each day.  The charge is to be paid in 
advance for a period of at least 4 weeks.  The temporary licence will 
automatically lapse when the period paid for is completed. 
 

5.3 A fee for the licensing of footway space for the display of goods that 
covers a period of 3 years be £60 (recovered proportionately monthly) 
and for uses other than the display of goods that covers a period of six 
months be at £120 (on application). 
A fee for licensing the footway for the display of goods is already in place under 

Page 39



 4 

the Street Markets Fees and Charges and therefore it is proposed the new 
licence for the display of goods will be £60 for 3 years until the expiry of the 
current 3 year period on 31 March 2009. It should be noted that it is intended to 
increase this charge thereafter as at 5.7 below. The larger fee for the use of the 
footway to increase a business’s floor space and customer capacity reflects the 
greater service costs associated with the administrative processes, site visits 
and the analysis of applications of this nature. For uses other than the display 
of goods therefore a fee of £120 for six months is proposed.  
 

5.4 A fee for licensing trading on a private forecourt that covers a period of 3 
years be at £60 and a charge for trading on a forecourt will be £25 per 
week. 
A private forecourt may involve car lots, public house car parks and private 
gardens.  Where the use of forecourt relates to the main business there is no 
fee or charge.  However, if the use differs it is proposed that a fee for a licence 
or £60 valid for 3 years and a weekly charge of £25 will be made.  The trader 
will be allowed to place on the forecourt at no extra charge such equipment and 
furniture as is associated with the trade to the extent acceptable to the 
forecourt owner. 

  
5.5 The charge for removing items from the public footway to be £200 and 

every 24 hours in subsequent storage from midnight will be subject to an 
additional charge of £110. 
To enforce the regulation of the public footway, the Council will sometimes 
need to remove items left out overnight or outside the period of licensed hours.  
It is proposed that each lift will result in a charge of £200 and every 24 hours in 
subsequent storage from the midnight following the lift there will be an 
additional charge of £110.  This last charge arrangement is to encourage the 
prompt recovery of the items by the owner. 
 

5.6 The fee for a permanent three year licence to be £75 with effect from 1 
April 2009. 
For the convenience of Cabinet and to economise in time and associated costs 
of process, from 2009 it is intended to combine the separate Fees and Charge 
Reports for Footways and Street Trading into a single report to Cabinet. 
 
Before this happens as the governing legislation requires the Council to issue a 
permanent licence that is valid during a period of three years the permanent 
footway (shop front projection) licenses now in place will expire on 31 March 
2009 as will those for street trading. Anticipating this and to remove the need 
for a further report to Cabinet in this year this report contains a proposal to 
change the fees for permanent licences that relate to both footway and 
carriageway.  
 
The fee is intended to cover the administration of licence provision, costs that 
are subject to inflation. The current fee of £60 was last increased in 2006 and 
to meet the current costs of licensing it is therefore proposed to increase the 
charge to £75 with effect 1 March 2009 and for it to stand unchanged for all 
those licenses issued in the three years following until 31 March 2012. It should 
be noted that this level of fee is considerably less than all but one of those 
levelled in the comparator boroughs at Appendix 2.  

Page 40



 5 

 
5.7 A public notice detailing the proposed charges will be placed in East End Life in 

May 2008, providing an opportunity for objections to be made before the final 
fees and charges are endorsed.  In order to promptly implement the proposals 
effectively at the end of the consultation process and after all representations 
have been considered, Cabinet is asked to authorise the Corporate Director of 
Communities, Localities & Culture to apply the increases once she/he is 
satisfied that due legal process has been followed. 

 
6 

 
COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

6.1 This report sets out proposals for licensing the use of the public footway and an 
amended set of proposed fees and charges, which differ from those currently 
adopted by the Council. The proposed fees and charges will be subject to 
consultation with footway licensees, and the report seeks authorisation for the 
Corporate Director, Communities, Localities and Culture to set the first level of 
fees and charges for footway licensing following the outcome of the 
consultation.  
 

6.2  In determining the charges, comparisons have been made with a 
number of other London Boroughs and the proposals put forward are 
amongst the lowest in the comparator group. Income arising from the 
proposal would accrue to the Street Trading Account. 

 
7 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL 

SERVICES) 
 

7.1 Section 32(1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1990 (as amended) permits a 
Borough Council to charge such fees for the grant or renewal of a street trading 
licence under this Part of this Act, the grant of a temporary licence or for the 
variation at the request of the licence holder of the conditions of a street trading 
licence as they may determine and as may be sufficient in the aggregate to 
cover in whole or in part the reasonable administrative or other costs in 
connection with their functions under Part II of the 1990 Act (that is functions 
relating to Street Trading), not otherwise recovered. 
 

7.2 Further, section 32(2) of the 1990 Act permits a Borough Council to recover 
from licence holders such charges as may be sufficient in the aggregate taking 
one year with another to cover the reasonable costs, not otherwise recovered, 
of the collection, removal and disposal of refuse or other services rendered by 
them to such holders; the cleansing of streets in which street trading takes 
place in so far as that cleansing is attributable to such trading; any reasonable 
administrative or other costs incurred in connection with the administration of 
this Part of this Act; and the cost of enforcing the provisions of Part III of this 
Act. 
 

 
7.3 Section 32(6) of the 1990 Act also permits a Borough Council to determine the 

fees to be charged on the grant of a temporary licence and in doing so the 
Council shall have regard to the matters specified in section 32(2) above. 
 

Page 41



 6 

7.4 These fees and charges are collected in two (2) ways.  Firstly, a fee is charged 
on the application for, renewal of or variation of a street trading licence.  This 
covers the administration costs in respect of the consideration of such 
application and the issue of any subsequent licence.  A person who wishes to 
trade by way of a temporary licence will also pay a fee in respect of his/her 
application to be registered as a casual trader.  Secondly, licensed traders will 
then pay a four-weekly charge for their licence and such charge dependent 
upon the numbers of days, days of week etc. that the trader trades.  Traders 
who trade on a temporary licence pay a fee dependent upon the day etc. that 
they trade. 
 

7.5 Prior to making such charges, the 1990 Act provides that the Council shall give 
notice of the proposed charges to licence holders or to a body or bodies 
representative of them; and shall also publish notice of the proposed charges in 
a newspaper circulating in the area in which the licence street or streets in 
respect of which the charges will be applied is situated.  The notice of the 
proposed charges to licence holders or to a body or bodies representative of 
them shall be accompanied by a statement showing how the proposed charges 
have been computed; and any body representative of licence holders may 
request the Borough Council to supply such further information or explanation 
with regard to the proposed charges as the body may reasonably require in 
order to ascertain whether the proposed charges are reasonable and have 
been computed in accordance with the provisions of this section.  The Council 
are under a duty to comply with any such request. 
 

7.6 The notice shall specify a reasonable period being not less than twenty-eight 
(28) days from the date of publication of the newspaper in which the notice is 
also published within which written representations concerning the proposed 
charges may be made to the Borough Council and it shall be the duty of a 
borough council to consider any such representations which are made to them 
within the period specified in the notice; and to comply with any request for 
further information from the body representative of licence holders.  Where any 
such request is made the period for representations is extended by the number 
of days beginning with the day on which the request is made and ending with 
that on which it is complied with.  So, for example, if a request is made on day 
twenty (20) of the period for representation and takes seven (7) days to comply 
with it then that will extend the twenty-eight (28) consultation by seven (7) days 
to thirty-five (35) days. 
 

7.7 As to charges for the removal of items left on the public footway, Part III of the 
1990 Act permits the removal of receptacles that are left out on the public 
highway and the Council may fix the cost of removal and storage.  This power 
does not extend to other items that may be left outside on the footway and 
these will be required to be dealt with by Council officers using other statutory 
powers. 
 

 
8.1 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND ANTI POVERTY 

 
 a) The introduction of more consistent regulations and consideration of all 

such applications in a process including published criterion will lead to a 

Page 42



 7 

more fair and equitable procedure that will in turn lead to increased 
levels of public safety, especially for those with mobility problems.  The 
control of any potential obstructions on the footway is an important factor 
for all pedestrians, particularly parents with young children or those with 
disabilities. 

b) All the changes will be of benefit to some degree to the majority of traders 
and help regenerate the street markets as a source of employment and 
as a community asset. 

 
9.1 ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS  
 None arising 
 
10.1  SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 None applicable  
 
11.1 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 None  
 
Attached: Appendix 1 – Proposed charges for footway trading in LBTH 
  Appendix 2 – Comparative table of fees and charges     

Page 43



I: M
ark

et 
Se

rvi
ces

. D
S F

oo
tw

ay
 Li

cen
sin

g R
ep

ort
 v6

 fo
r 3

0 J
uly

 20
08

  

  
  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

AP
PE

ND
IX

 1
 

 PR
O

PO
SE

D 
FE

ES
 A

ND
 C

HA
RG

ES
 F

O
R 

FO
O

TW
AY

 T
RA

DI
NG

 IN
 T

O
W

ER
 H

AM
LE

TS
 2

00
8/

9 
  

 
Fe
es
 fo
r a
 Li
ce
nc
e 

Cu
rre
nt 

Pr
op
os
ed
 

£6
0 (

for
 3 

ye
ars

 to
 31

 M
arc

h 
20

09
) 

Lic
en

ce
 ap

pli
ca

tio
n a

nd
 re

ne
wa

l fe
e –

 Al
l S

tre
et,

 
Dis

pla
y o

f G
oo

ds
 an

d F
ore

co
urt

 Li
ce

nc
es

 
£6

0 (
for

 3 
ye

ars
) 

£7
5 (

for
 3 

ye
ars

 to
 31

 M
arc

h 
20

12
) 

Lic
en

ce
 ap

pli
ca

tio
n a

nd
 re

ne
wa

l fe
e f

or 
us

e o
f p

ub
lic 

sp
ac

e o
r fo

otw
ay

 fo
r o

the
r th

an
 di

sp
lay

 of
 go

od
s (

e.g
. 

Ta
ble

s a
nd

 C
ha

irs
) 

£1
20

 (fo
r 6

 m
on

ths
) 

£1
20

 (fo
r 6

 m
on

ths
) 

Ad
mi

n c
ha

rge
 fo

r d
up

lica
te 

do
cu

me
nta

tio
n 

£2
5  

 
 

Ch
arg

es
  fo

r U
se
  

Lo
ca
tio
n 

Cu
rre
nt 

Pr
op
os
ed
 

Dis
pla

y o
f g

oo
ds

 & 
oth

er 
us

e o
f p

ub
lic 

foo
tw

ay
 an

d 
sp

ac
e  

An
yw

he
re 

in 
the

 Bo
rou

gh
 

£2
5 a

 w
ee

k 
£1

 a 
sq

ua
re 

me
tre

 a 
da

y  

Fo
rec

ou
rt T

rad
ing

  
 

An
yw

he
re 

in 
the

 Bo
rou

gh
 

£2
5 a

 w
ee

k 
 

£2
5 a

 w
ee

k  
 

           
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 44



I: M
ark

et 
Se

rvi
ces

. D
S F

oo
tw

ay
 Li

cen
sin

g R
ep

ort
 v6

 fo
r 3

0 J
uly

 20
08

  

CO
MP

AR
ISO

N 
OF
 FO

OT
W
AY
 A
ND

 PU
BL
IC
 SP

AC
E L

IC
EN
CE
 FE

ES
 A
ND

 C
HA
RG

ES
 

 
 

 
   A

PP
EN
DI
X 2

 
 FE
ES
 

BO
RO

UG
H 
 
LB
TH
 

ISL
IN
GT
ON

 
KE
NS
IN
GT
ON

 &
 C
HE
LS
EA
 

HA
CK

NE
Y 

HA
RI
NG

EY
  

NE
WH

AM
 

Sh
op

 D
isp

lay
  

£6
0  

(fo
r 3

 ye
ars

)  
Fo

otw
ay

  
£1

20
 (6

 m
on

ths
) 

 £3
50

 a 
ye

ar 
 £7

00
 a 

ye
ar 

 £1
5 a

 ye
ar 

 £6
6 a

 ye
ar 

£1
25

 (6
 

mo
nth

s) 
 CH

AR
GE

S 
BO

RO
UG

H 
LB
TH
 

ISL
IN
GT
ON

 
KE
NS
IN
GT
ON

 &
 

CH
EL
SE
A 

HA
CK

NE
Y 

HA
RI
NG

EY
  

NE
WH

AM
 

All
 Fo

otw
ay

 
Us

es
  

£1
 a 

sq
 m

etr
e a

 da
y  

£2
0- 

£2
8 a

 
se

at 
a y

ea
r 

£5
85

 ta
ble

 & 
ch

air
s a

 
ye

ar 
£3

90
 sp

ac
e n

ot 
sp

ec
ifie

d f
or 

Dis
pla

y 
an

d T
ab

les
 & 

Ch
air

s 
A s

qu
are

 m
etr

e a
 da

y 
£1

.43
 Ta

ble
s &

 C
ha

irs
 

£1
.71

 D
isp

lay
  

£0
.21

 a 
sq

 
me

tre
 a 

da
y  

 EX
AM

PL
ES
 O
F L

BT
H 
PR
OP

OS
ED
 FE

ES
 A
ND

 C
HA

RG
ES
 A
PP
LIE

D 
an

d t
ota

l w
ee

kly
 co

st 
co

mp
are

d w
ith

 H
ari

ng
ey

 [  
] a

nd
 N

ew
ha

m 
in 

(  )
. 

Th
e f

orm
ula

 us
ed

 is
 (L

en
gth

 x 
De

pth
) x

 sq
ua

re 
me

tre
 ch

arg
e r

ate
, m

ult
ipl

ied
 by

 nu
mb

er 
of 

da
ys

, +
 an

nu
al 

fee
 ra

te 
div

ide
d b

y 5
2 =

 w
ee

kly
 co

st.
 

 A.
 

Th
e P

ig 
an
d W

his
tle
 Pu

bli
c H

ou
se
 (F
oo
tw
ay
 us

ed
 as
 an
 ex
ten

sio
n o

f p
rem

ise
 flo

or
 sp

ac
e) 

Fo
otw

ay
 m

ea
su

rin
g 2

 m
etr

es
 by

 8 
me

tre
s (

to 
tak

e 4
 ta

ble
s a

nd
 16

 ch
air

s) 
se

ve
n d

ay
s a

 w
ee

k. 
=  

    
   

 
 £1
16
.62

 [£
16

1.4
2] 

 (£
28

.32
) 

B.
 

Th
e C

olu
mb

ia 
Ch
ari
ty 
Ca
fé 
(Fo

otw
ay
 us

ed
 as
 an

 ex
ten

sio
n o

f p
rem

ise
 flo

or
 sp

ac
e) 

Fo
otw

ay
 m

ea
su

rin
g 2

 m
etr

es
 by

 8 
me

tre
s (

to 
tak

e 4
 ta

ble
s a

nd
 16

 ch
air

s) 
on

e d
ay

 a 
we

ek
. =

    
    

    
    

 
 £2
0.6
2  

[£1
2.7

0] 
   (

£8
.16

)  
C.
 

Th
e B

es
t B
uy
 Fr
uit
 an

d V
eg
eta

ble
s (
Fo
otw

ay
 us

ed
 to
 di
sp
lay
) 

Fo
otw

ay
 m

ea
su

rin
g 2

 m
etr

es
 by

 5 
me

tre
s (

Fru
it a

nd
 ve

ge
tab

le 
dis

pla
y) 

six
 da

ys
 a 

we
ek

.  =
    

    
    

    
  

 
 £6
0.3
8  

[£1
03

.86
]  (

£1
7.4

0) 
D.
  

Th
e J
oll
y G

oo
d R

ea
d B

oo
ks
ho
p (
Fo
otw

ay
 us

ed
 to
 di
sp
lay
) 

Fo
otw

ay
 m

ea
su

rin
g .

5 m
etr

e b
y 5

 m
etr

es
 (to

 pl
ac

e o
ld 

bo
ok

s u
nd

er 
win

do
w)

 si
x d

ay
s a

 w
ee

k. 
 = 

    
    

   
 £1
5.3
8  

[£5
2.5

6] 
  (£

11
.10

) 
E 

Th
e L

igh
tly
 Ta

nn
ed
 (F
oo
tw
ay
 us

ed
 to
 ad

ve
rti
se
 a 
se
rvi
ce
) 

Fo
otw

ay
 m

ea
su

rin
g 1

 m
etr

e s
qu

are
 (fo

r A
 bo

ard
) fi

ve
 da

ys
 a 

we
ek

.= 
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

 £5
.38

   [
£9

.90
]   

(£5
.85

) 
     
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 45



I: M
ark

et 
Se

rvi
ces

. D
S L

AB
 Re

po
rt L

ice
nsi

ng
 of

 Pu
bli

c F
oo

tw
ay 

Ma
y 0

8  

 
     

Page 46



I: Market Services. DS LAB Report Licensing of Public Footway May 08  

 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



    

Committee: 
Cabinet 
 
 
 

Date: 
30th July 2008 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Report No: 
 
 

Agenda  
Item No:  

Report of :  
Interim Corporate Director Development and 
Renewal: 

 
Originating Officer(s):  
Charlotte Ward & Jill Embleton      
Empty Property & Compulsory Purchase Officers  
 
 

Title:  
Compulsory Purchase Action 
for 4 long-term vacant 
properties. 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
1) Spitalfields and 
Banglatown,  2) Limehouse, 
and 3) Weavers 

 
SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval to initiate formal compulsory purchase 

action on 4 privately owned vacant properties as part of Tower Hamlets 
Private Sector Housing Renewal and Empty Properties Policy Framework 
2004 –2007.  These 4 properties have all been vacant for several years and 
are derelict. 

1.2 Consent is also sought to subsequently dispose of the properties on the open 
market. 

1.3 The aim of the Private Sector Housing Renewal and Empty Properties Policy 
Framework is to ensure that private sector residents have a safe, decent and 
affordable home suitable to their needs.  One of the objectives is to reduce 
the number of private sector empty properties, and where possible bring them 
up to the decent homes standard and make them available for occupation. 

1.4 Tower Hamlets records show that there are about 400 long-term empty 
properties in the Borough.  These dwellings could provide homes for families, 
key workers and other local residents.  In addition to be being a wasted 
housing resource, many are also local eyesores adversely affecting the local 
environment.  Long term empty properties often attract vandalism, fly tipping 
and squatting.  Empty properties must therefore be regarded as a major factor 
in regeneration and economic stability. 

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 
Brief description of “back ground papers”             Name and telephone number of holder  

           and address where open to inspection. 
None       none 

Agenda Item 6.3

Page 49



    

 

      

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: - 

 
2.1 Agree that the land and buildings at 47 Brick Lane, 805 Commercial Road, 

122 Bethnal Green Road, and 109 Wellington Row, as identified on the plan 
attached at Appendix 5 (Exempt/ confidential appendix – part two of the 
agenda), be made the subject of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) under 
the provisions of Section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 for the purpose of 
providing housing accommodation; 

 
2.2 Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal) to take all necessary steps to:  
 

(a) make and obtain confirmation of the Compulsory Purchase Order 
(b) obtain possession of the properties and land following confirmation 
(c) complete the acquisition of the properties and land and effect immediate 
disposal in line with the Council’s strategic regeneration objectives; 

 
2.3 Adopt a capital estimate of £1,590,000 within the Housing Investment 

Programme 2008/09 and 2009/10 to allow the purchase by the Authority of 
the Freehold interests in the properties referred to in 2.1 above, inclusive of 
legal costs and possible interest payments on fees; 

 
2.4 Authorise the Interim Corporate Director of Development & Renewal to enter 

into negotiations to acquire the four properties by agreement failing which a 
CPO will be made. The properties will then be sold on the open market with 
prospective purchasers entering into a binding legal agreement to renovate 
the properties and bring them back into residential use; 

 
2.5 Agree that the resources generated from the sale of the properties will then 

be used to regenerate the local area by bringing empty properties back into 
circulation.  They will therefore be 100% usable.  The receipts will then be 
earmarked from the Local Priorities Programme to retrospectively fund the 
purchase of the properties cited in Paragraph 2.1 above. 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Cabinet approval was given for CPOs of three privately owned vacant 

properties in 2005.  Following Cabinet approval an application was made to 
the Secretary of State and after a Public Inquiry the Order was confirmed for 
all three properties on 6th March 2007.  Once possession was obtained of 
one of the properties it was sold through an estate agent to the highest 
bidder. The property has now been fully renovated and it is on the market 
again.  The owner of the other two properties decided not to object to the 
CPO and he made an agreement with the Council that if the Order was not 
enforced, he would repair the properties and get them occupied within 9 
months.  The renovations have been completed and the properties are both 
occupied.  These CPOs were successful in bringing back into use difficult to 
deal with long term derelict properties and the environment in these 
otherwise popular residential areas has been greatly improved. 

 
3.2 The Empty Property Policy Framework sets out 3 stages to achieve the aim 

to re-use empty dwellings.  The first is to identify and establish ownership 
Page 50



    

 

      

and prioritise the properties for action.  The second is to enable the owners 
to bring the property back into use by providing advice and offering grants.  
The third is to enforce the refurbishment and reoccupation of the property by 
using CPOs.  This third stage is a last resort and is only triggered after 
exhaustive attempts by the officer to encourage the owner to bring the 
property back into use have failed. 

 
3.3 47 Brick Lane has been vacant for many years. The shop on the ground floor 

has been vacant for about 10 years and the residential floors on the first and 
second floors have been vacant for at least 15 years. The shutters to the 
shop are covered in graffiti, and throughout the property the interior is in a 
very poor condition.  Some of the windows on the upper floors have been 
smashed.  The owner died in 1985 and the executors of his estate were his 
wife and one of his 5 children.  Since then his wife has died and the 5 
children have been in dispute over the handling of the estate.  As a result this 
property has been vacant and left to deteriorate over many years.  There 
have been meetings, letters and telephone calls with the family and with their 
solicitors.  Unfortunately there have been no proposals made by any of the 
beneficiaries and therefore there does not appear to be any reasonable 
prospect that this property will be brought back into use by the owners.   

 
3.4      805 Commercial Road is a Grade II listed building and it has been 

vacant for at least 15 years.  It was at one time a café on the ground 
floor with residential space above.  There is no kitchen for the upper 
floors and there is not an adequate means of escape from the 
premises.  The property is in a bad state of disrepair and there is 
evidence of rain penetration through the roof.  Environmental Health 
has served a Prohibition Order under section 20 of the Housing Act 
2004.  Since 2003 the empty property officer has written to the owner 
and met with him on numerous occasions to encourage him to bring 
the property back into use.   The property remains unimproved and 
vacant.  Unless the Council intervenes, the property is likely to 
deteriorate further and remain vacant.   

 
3.5 122 Bethnal Green Road is a three storey mid-terraced property, situated in 

the Fournier Street Conservation Area. The premises comprises of a 
basement, a disused fast food shop to the ground floor, and three floors 
above the shop. The shutters to the shop are covered in graffiti and the 
interior is in a very poor condition. The basement and floors above the shop 
have been vacant for at least 15 years and the shop has been vacant for over 
8 years. Various Council Officers have met with the owner at the property; 
there have been many telephone calls and letters offering the owner advice, 
guidance and grant assistance, but the property remains derelict and unused.   

 
3.6     109 Wellington Row is a terraced property that has been empty and left to 

deteriorate for over 14 years. The previous occupant died in 1995 and 
probate was granted to her son in 2000.  He removed the kitchen and 
bathroom and all the amenities, and as a result that property is uninhabitable 
so it has been defined as exempt from Council Tax.  There has been much 
correspondence between Council officers and the owner; he has been 
offered advice on grants and schemes that could assist him in bringing the 
property back into use.  The Council’s Empty Property Officers have received 
2 offers from members of the public that wanted to purchase the property, 
which were forwarded to the owner, but not acted upon.  The owner has 

Page 51



    

 

      

spoken of his intentions to renovate the property on many occasions, but no 
works have been carried out.  It is believed that without the Council’s 
intervention the property will remain derelict and unused.               

 
3.7 Further detail on these cases and the property photographs can be found in 

Part B of this agenda.   
   
 
4 BUDGETARY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Costs of Land Assembly: 

The Borough’s Corporate Property Services Department has estimated the 
costs of acquiring the land interests would be approximately £1,525,000. A 
further provision of £65,000 has been made for legal fees, surveyors fees 
(ours and the dispossessed owners’), and stamp duty. 
The proposals are within the Council’s legal powers and they can be funded 
from within the capital programme.  The intention is to sell on any property as 
soon as possible after it is acquired.  They will be sold on the open market via 
an estate agent.  Any prospective purchasers will be required to enter into a 
legal agreement to renovate the properties and return them to residential use.   

 
Specific budgetary provision has not been made for the refurbishment of the 
properties acquired under CPO powers, and it is therefore essential that the 
properties involved be disposed of as soon after acquisition as possible in 
order to minimise costs. 

5.       COMMENTS OF INTERIM HEAD OF ASSET STRATEGY, CAPITAL 
DELIVERY AND  PROPERTY SERVICES  

 
5.1      Given the circumstances the costs indicated can only be best 

estimates at this stage.  If there is an objection to the CPO this could 
result in a public enquiry and delay its confirmation by around 18 
months. Clearly values would have changed by that time. Once the 
CPO has been confirmed the District Valuer will be instructed to 
undertake a full inspection of the premises and provide a 
comprehensive report.  If agreement cannot be reached the final 
arbitrator of value will be the Lands Tribunal. Often the Tribunal 
makes its decision some time after possession has been acquired.     

 
 
6.       CONCURRENT REPORT  OF THE  CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1  Capital resources of £1,590,000 will need to be found to fund the purchase of      

these four properties. 
 
6.2 Paragraph 2.3 of the report requests that a capital estimate be adopted in the 

amount of £1,590,000, this amount to be inclusive of any costs of sale 
involved in marketing the properties again on the open market.   

 
6.3The purchase value of the properties (estimated at £1,525,000) should be 

recovered upon resale although this will be subject to market conditions.  The 
resources generated from the sale of the properties will then be used to 

Page 52



    

 

      

regenerate the local area by bringing empty properties back into circulation.  
They will therefore be 100% usable.   
 

6.4 Paragraph 2.5 of the report requests that the subsequent receipts be 
earmarked retrospectively from the Local Priorities Programme to fund the 
purchase of the properties.  Any balance of expenditure not recovered 
through the sale of the property will need to be funded by additional capital 
resources to be found from other Housing capital resources. 

 
6.5 There are no ongoing revenue costs associated with this report.  
 
7.      CONCURRENT REPORT  OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Legal) 
 
7.1 Statutory powers exist to acquire land in which the Council has no legal title 

for Housing purposes under section 17 Housing Act 1985. If contested the 
case might take 18 months and a Public Inquiry may be needed.  It will 
always be possible for the Council and an owner to enter into a negotiated 
agreement to bring a property back into use at any stage of the compulsory 
purchase procedure prior to notice to treat or vesting under a general vesting 
order. 

 
7.2      There is a risk that the price of the properties could fluctuate during the 

acquisition process.  The statutory date of valuation is the date of entry onto 
the land after having served a notice of entry or on vesting at the end of the 
acquisition process. 

 
7.3      The Planning and Compensation Act 2004 has added a supplemental 

payment  of 7.5% “basic loss payment” in addition to the market value 
(subject to a maximum of £75,000) payable to persons who have a qualifying 
interest.  Whether such a person has a qualifying interest would be 
determined on an individual basis. Legal and surveyors professional fees of 
the owner are also paid. 

 
7.4      If the CPOs are authorised by the Council, the Council through its Officers are 

authorised to enter into a written agreement, if appropriate, whereby if the 
land owner does not object to the CPO and they undertake to get the property 
repaired and occupied within an agreed time, the Council will agree not to 
take action to take steps to obtain the property by compulsory purchase order 
within the period specified in such agreement. 

 
7.5      A compulsory purchase order of a dwelling interferes with the Human Rights 

of the property owner under Article 8 of the European Convention (right to a 
home) (if they live there) and also breaches the right to property under Article 
1 of the First Protocol to the Convention. It is necessary to judge if these 
breaches are justifiable. 

 
7.6      The Human Rights Act and the Convention makes clear that such breaches 

can be justified if the gain for the public interest is sufficient; the public gain 
must be proportionate to, or exceed the individual loss. European case law 
establishes that the English system of proper regard to objection and fair 
compensation is proportionate and lawful, provided there is a good case for 
the CPO in the public interest. In general if the public interest case is well 
founded the human rights test will be met in English cases. Exceptional 

Page 53



    

 

      

circumstances may need individual consideration. However at present none 
are known.  

 
 
8.   EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The proposed acquisition of the properties and onward disposal will allow 4 

properties to be available for occupation.  It would also contribute to the 
regeneration of the local area.  The renovated housing units will provide good 
quality housing for residents. 

 
 
9.   ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 This is direct action to tackle poor privately owned housing.  Any prospective 

purchaser will have to give a detailed undertaking of their intentions before any 
sale is agreed so that the Council can ensure the properties acquired under 
confirmed CPOs will be refurbished and returned to residential use as quickly 
as possible.  

 
9.2 When the properties are renovated they will include energy efficiency 

measures to reduce heating and lighting bills.  Measures such as double 
glazing and central heating are standard.  The energy efficiency measures are 
seen as active anti-poverty measures. 

 
 

Page 54



    

 

      

10.   SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 All renovation works undertaken by the new owners will have to be carried out 

in accordance with Building Regulations, which promote energy efficiency in 
buildings and ensure the quality of the built environment.  All four properties 
are mid-terrace so the neighbouring properties will benefit from windows being 
fitted (or repaired) and other repairs carried out to the roofs and structure of 
the properties which will improve thermal insulation. 

 
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Members are advised that the risks of taking CPO action are far less than the 

considerable disadvantage to the community by not taking action.      
There are three main risks to the Borough: - 
 
(A) That acquisition of the properties may prove more expensive than 

budgeted. 
 

(B) There is a potential financial risk to the Council if disposal is not effected in 
terms of capital resources being tied up.   

 
(C) That the Compulsory Purchase Order process may take longer than 

anticipated especially if there is a lengthy appeal.  This may lead to a 
further deterioration of the properties. 

 
 Probability Impact Mitigating Action Risk Owner 
A Medium Medium It is essential that the properties 

involved be disposed of as soon 
after acquisition as possible so that 
the value of them has not changed 
due to a change in their condition 
or to a change in the property 
market.  

LBTH,  
Housing 
Development 
Team.  
 

B Medium High It is our intention to identify the 
estate agent that we will use 
before we acquire the properties. 
This enables the Council to make 
the properties available for sale as 
soon as possible after acquisition. 

LBTH,  
Housing 
Development 
Team.  
 

C Medium Medium It will be necessary for the 
Assistant  Chief Executive (Legal)  
to ensure that all the legal 
processes are carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s 
procedure and the requirements of 
the Housing Act 1985.  All 
necessary documents must be 
provided to support the Council’s 
application to the Secretary of 
State to avoid delays.  

LBTH,  
Housing 
Development 
Team. 

 
 

Page 55



    

 

      

Appendices 
 

There are 6 Exempt/ Confidential appendices to the report circulated 
in part two of the agenda. These appendices are considered exempt 
from publication under the provisions of Paragraphs 1 & 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).  

 

Page 56



 1 

Committee 
 
 Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
30th July 2008 
 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 
 

Report of:  
Corporate Director, Development & 
Renewal  
 
Originating officer(s) : 
Jackie Odunoye  
 

Title:  
  
Housing priority areas 2008/10 
 
Wards Affected:     All 

 
 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out proposals to increase Housing Revenue Account 

expenditure in a number of priority areas, in accordance with the request of 
Cabinet on 3rd July 2008. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
2.1 Agree the proposals set out in section 4 of the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
Local Government Act, 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
List of “Background Papers” used in the Preparation of this report 
 
 
Brief description of “background paper” Name and telephone number of holder 
       and address where open to inspection.  

 
 

 

Agenda Item 6.4

Page 57



 2 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Cabinet on 3rd July 2008 considered the Housing Revenue Account 

provisional outturn report for 2007/08.  The report set out a projected increase 
in HRA balances of circa £4 million. 

 
3.2 Cabinet requested that a further report be submitted to Cabinet at the earliest 

opportunity, bringing forward costed proposals that accord with the priorities 
of the Cabinet. 

 
3.3 The housing priorities set by Cabinet were to:  

• relieve overcrowding through small scale adaptations to flats and ancillary 
spaces, and further incentives for tenants to take up smaller units or home 
ownership 

• improve the local environment including landscape and security on 
estates, developing the successful Estate Improvement Programme 

• adapt homes to better meet the needs of disabled residents 
• to recognise the burden on leaseholders of the current level of service 

charges  
3.4 This report seeks to meet this request and sets out headline proposals to 

address each of these priorities below. Some of these are longer term 
projects that will require detailed planning and therefore some of the 
expenditure will be carried into 2009/10. 

 
 
4. Housing Priority areas 2008/10 
 
4.1 Relieve Overcrowding Reduction Initiatives - £1.0M 
 

It is proposed to carry out a range of initiatives to further address 
overcrowding. This issue continues be a long-term blight on the well-being of 
households - particularly with regard to health and educational attainment – 
and will be a major priority for the council to address. The measures proposed 
include:-  
 
Cash Incentive Scheme grants to tenants seeking to buy a home in the 
private sector at the increased rates agreed by Cabinet in June 2008, together 
with a pro active marketing campaign to increase take up. 
 
Targeted knock-throughs to increase the supply of larger homes by 
proactively identifying suitable smaller properties to knock-through and create 
larger homes, including selective decanting of bed-sitter properties where 
appropriate. Decanted tenants would be eligible for home loss and 
disturbance payments. It should be noted that officers intend to submit a 
Targeted Funding Streams bid to the Mayor of London seeking capital 
resources to pay for up to 20 knockthroughs in the 2009/11 financial years.  

   

Page 58



 3 

Increased support for under-occupying tenants looking to move to a smaller 
home, including: 

 
• Increased cash incentive payments for each room given up; 

 
• Smaller council homes accepted by under-occupying households 

containing an OAP to receive decent homes package, including kitchen 
and bathroom improvements and decorations to OAP only households; 

 
• Assistance with removal arrangements for OAPs – including arranging 

and paying for removals;  
 
• Assistance from the Lettings service to help overcrowded families and 

under occupiers make the most of the opportunities available through 
choice based lettings, the mutual exchange system as well as private 
sector opportunities and the provision of rent deposits. 

 
 Current incentive payments to assist under-occupying tenants with the cost of 

moving and settling into a smaller home are set out in Table 1 below:- 
 

Current home: – number of bedrooms 
 1 2 3 4 5 6 

0 £500 £1,000 £1,500 £3,000 £3,500 £4,000 
1  £500 £1,000 £2,500 £3,000 £3,500 
2   £500 £2,000 £2,500 £3,000 
3    £1,500 £2,000 £2,500 
4     £1,500 £2,000 

Moving 
to: – 
number 
of 
bedrooms 5      £1,500 

  Table 1 Current incentive payments to under-occupying tenants* 
 
 *Plus an additional £500 if a tenant gives up a ground floor property with 2 or 

more bedrooms to move to a studio or 1 bedroom home above the ground 
floor. 

  
 It is proposed to increase the payments made to Council tenants who move to 

smaller accommodation as a pilot measure as a means of encouraging more 
council tenants to consider this option. The proposed pilot levels are set out in 
Table 2 below:    

  
Current home: – number of bedrooms 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 
0 £1,000 £3,000 £4,500 £6,000 £7,500 £9,000 
1  £1,500 £3,000 £4,500 £6,000 £7,500 
2   £1,000 £3,000 £4,500 £6,000 
3    £1,000 £2,000 £4,500 
4     £1,000 £3,000 

Moving 
to: – 
number 
of 
bedrooms 5      £1,000 

Page 59



 4 

 Table 2 Proposed pilot levels for incentive payments for under 
occupying Council tenants* 

 
*Plus an additional £1000 if a tenant gives up a ground floor property with 2 or 
more bedrooms to move to a studio or 1 bedroom home above the ground 
floor and a further £500 if the property vacated has a garden.  
 
The effectiveness of these increased payments will be monitored and 
reported back to Cabinet in 12 months time. 

 
 
4.2 Improve Local Environment Initiatives  
 

4.2.1 Estate/Block Security Improvements   £500k 
 

Bring forward up to 15 Door Entry renewal/installation schemes currently 
programmed for later years within the current 5-year Housing Investment 
Programme. Effective door entry systems have the positive effect of reducing 
anti-social behaviour including alcohol and drug consumption on stairwells. All 
schemes will involve resident consultation. 

 
4.2.2 Estate Improvements £1.5M 

 
The Estate Improvement Programme previously agreed by Cabinet has 
generated wide interest and has enabled a programme of estate work to be 
developed. This programme encompasses block cleaning and painting of 
stairwells as well as lighting improvements and environmental works to play 
areas, planting, paving, roads as well as addressing improvements needed to 
bin stores, sheds etc.  

 
The current programme has generated significant additional demand for this 
type of work and additional resources will enable further projects to be 
progressed.  A series of estate action days are planned on estates over the 
summer and these events will be used to identify residents’ priorities for 
improvements.  In addition the resources will enable residents priorities 
identified through routine estate inspections to be addressed. 
 
It should be noted that officers intend to submit a Targeted Funding Streams 
bid to the Mayor of London seeking capital resources to resources ‘green’ 
estate initiatives such as focusing improvement of communal and green 
space areas; improvements to recycling arrangements; better water use; 
overheating reduction. The over-arching objective is to help reduce carbon 
emissions. It is proposed to ring-fence £0.5m of the £1.5m identified above to 
match-fund this bid for resources.  

 
It is also proposed to expand the block cleaning programme in the current 
year to encompass up to a further 30 blocks. 

 
 

4.2.3 Horticulture Improvements  £250k 

Page 60



 5 

 
A range of improvements in the horticultural service are proposed.  This 
includes revised monitoring arrangements to ensure the horticulture 
contractor performs satisfactorily.  Subject to satisfactory performance against 
the current horticulture schedule it is proposed that the current contract will be 
enhanced to increase the frequencies at which grass and shrubs are cut and 
to provide for replacement and upgrading of worn out grass, empty shrub 
beds etc. 

 
 
4.3 Adapt Homes for Disabled Residents  £250k 
 
 Additional financial provision is proposed to fund adaptations to council 

properties for residents with disabilities, including internal decorations for 
disabled/OAP households.   

  
 
4.4 Leaseholder Administration Charge Rebate £500k 
 

At the Cabinet meeting of 3rd July, Cabinet asked that officers look at making 
a rebate to leaseholders in respect of the leasehold administration charge.  
This continues the arrangements made for the 2006/07 financial year.  The 
rebate would be in respect of the administration charge and reflects the need 
for ongoing service improvement in this area to improve timeliness of billing 
and service responsiveness.  Arrangements to secure this are in place for 
2008/09. 

 
To meet the request of Cabinet, it is proposed that a £50 rebate in respect of 
the 2007/08 administration charge be made to all Council leaseholders.  It is 
proposed that this will be processed as part of the actual adjustment which is 
scheduled for September/October 2008. 

 
 
5. Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
5.1 This report outlines potential areas for the application of  HRA balances in 

accordance with the priority areas agreed by Cabinet on 2 July 2008. 
 
5.2 The initiatives proposed in the report will receive one-off funding and there will 

be no on-going commitment in excess of the funds allocated without further 
Cabinet approval. The financing will be from HRA balances and as such, once 
approved and earmarked for the specific purpose, there is no requirement for 
the expenditure to be incurred in a particular year. 

 
5.3 If the proposal to apply a rebate in respect of the leasehold administration 

charge is agreed, any refund will take the form of a credit to the leaseholder’s 
service charge account and will reduce any balances outstanding. Where the 
refund causes a leaseholder’s service charge account to move into credit they 
will be entitled to request a cash reimbursement. 

 

Page 61



 6 

 
6. Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal) 

 
6.1 Whilst there are no immediate legal implications arising from this report, 

implementation of the initiatives will give rise to legal consequences which will 
be considered fully at the appropriate times. 

 
7.  Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
7.1 Overcrowding has well established effects on health and well being.  Children 

are disproportionately affected through lack of space for study.  The measures 
set out in this report will assist in alleviating overcrowding.  Measures to 
further address adaptations directly assist the elderly and disabled. 

 
 
8. Anti Poverty Implications 
 
8.1 The proposals to provide a rebate on service charges will directly assist those 

leaseholders on low incomes. 
 
 
9. Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
 
9.1 The environmental improvement works proposed will take into account the 

need to address sustainability in the materials used and their ongoing 
maintenance. 

 
 
10. Risk Management Implications 
 
10.1 All schemes proposed will be subject to consultation with residents and 

regular monitoring arrangements will be put in place to ensure proposals are 
progressed. 

 
11. Efficiency Statement 
 
11.1. Additional balances have been generated as a result of efficiency measures 

within the housing service.  The proposals within this report will enable these 
balances to be redirected to directly benefit residents. 

Page 62



 

 
1 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
30th July 2008 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Kevan Collins 
 
Originating officer(s)  
 
Carmel Littleton, Service Head, Young 
People & Learning 
 

Title:  
 
Proposal to Establish the Cambridge Heath Sixth 
Form through a Prescribed Alteration under the 
School Organisation Regulations 2007 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper outlines the background to a proposal by Morpeth, Oaklands and 

Swanlea schools to establish a collaborative post-16 offer through the Cambridge 
Heath Sixth Form and the process which must be followed to implement this 
proposal.  The proposal has been published by the governing body of the three 
schools following consultation through the individual schools and the 14-19 
partnership known as The HUB.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Cabinet is recommended to: - 
 
2.1 Approve the prescribed alteration as set out in Appendix 1, in accordance with 

the School Organisation Regulations 2007, to establish the Cambridge Heath 
Sixth Form on the basis set out in the body of the report. 

____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 

Agenda Item 7.2

Page 63



 

 
2 

  
Brief description of “back ground papers” 
 
 
1. Published proposal of the three schools 
to establish a sixth form  
 
2. Report of objections and 
representations 
(to follow, following completion of 
representation period). 
 
 

Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 
Carmel Littleton,  
Children’s Services Directorate  
Tower Hamlets Town Hall 
Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 2BG 
 
 

Carmel Littleton Author ext. 4824 
      
 
 
3.        BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The 2005 14-19 Education and Skills White Paper triggered an ambitious 

programme of reform designed to ensure a system ‘configured even more 
around the needs of young people: making sure that all young people are able to 
stay in learning post-16 and that as they do, more are able to achieve; that 
qualifications and curriculum become a progressively more engaging experience 
and valuable preparation’ 

 
3.2 At the heart of the reform programme are a set of new learning pathways and   

qualification routes that can only be delivered through collaboration between 
schools, colleges and work-based learning providers.  The close involvement of 
employers and of guidance and support agencies is also essential to the success 
of the 14-19 reforms 

 
3.3  In September 2006, Tower Hamlets established a formally constituted 14-19 
 Education Improvement Partnership, since renamed the Hub by the Borough-
 wide Youth Partnership, with the comprehensive participation of all publicly 
 funded agencies providing, supporting or planning 14-19 learning in the 
 borough. 
 
3.4 The partnership has had some success in taking forward the national reform 
 programme.  It will, for example, contribute to the launch of Diplomas in 2008 and 
 will offer seven Diploma lines in 2009. 
 
3.5 The work of the partnership will be critical to an effective local response to more 
 recent reform proposals, in particular the transfer of responsibility for the planning 
 and funding  of 16-18 provision to local authorities from the LSC in 2010/11.  LAs 
 will take local leadership of the 14-19 reforms, responsibility for delivery of the 

Page 64



 

 
3 

 Diploma and  Apprenticeship entitlement in 2013 and for raising the learning 
 participation age to 18 by  2015. 
 
3.6 Extending Choice and Raising Participation to 18 
 14-19 reform aims to secure the participation of all young people in engaging and 
 relevant learning programmes which are an effective preparation for work and 
 adult success.  Locally, this clearly aligns to the NEET reduction and wider 
 worklessness strategy and the acceleration of programmes to raise  attainment, 
 particularly by 19. 
 
3.6.1  In order to engage more young people and keep them in learning we need to 
 extend the choice available to young people – both of what and where they 
 learn – and to tackle drop out at 16 and at 17. 
 
3.6.2 Progression from Tower Hamlets schools into full-time post-16 learning grew 

from 79.1% to 80.5% between 2006 and 2007.  Participation at 17 grew from 
66.9% to 70.4%.  We have some way to go to secure 100% participation to 18 by 
2015.  Improved attainment at 16 is clearly an important factor but is not 
sufficient to encourage all young people to stay in learning. 

 
3.6.3 Of those who currently progress into full time education at 16, there is a fairly 
 well-established pattern to one third going to Tower Hamlets sixth forms, one 
 third to Tower Hamlets College and one third moving out of the borough.  
 Research undertaken by the 14-19 partnership, the Hub, found that learners 
 in LAPS 1 and 2 were more likely to move out of the borough – over half in 
 2007 – and that those dropping out into NEET at 17 was higher than the 
 borough average. 
 
3.6.4  This indicates a need to develop more accessible in-borough provision for 
 learners in LAPs 1 and 2 which has the potential to extend their choices, 
 sustain them in learning and improve outcomes. 
 
3.6.5 The pupil place planning exercise conducted by the 14-19 partnership, the Hub, 

and the Building Schools for the Future programme projects a substantial 
increase in the number of school sixth form places needed to meet future learner 
demands. 

 
4.  BODY OF REPORT 

 
4.1 Cambridge Heath Sixth Form 

Morpeth, Oaklands and Swanlea Schools propose to provide a collaborative 
 post-16 offer which will optimise access to the specialised workforce and 
 facilities in the 11-16 specialist schools and provide continuity and structured 
 pastoral support for  vulnerable young people moving into and through post-16 
 learning 

 

Page 65



 

 
4 

4.1.1  The Curriculum offer will build on the specialisms (Science, Business and Arts) 
 within  the individual schools and will draw on their track record in providing a 
 supportive and challenging learning environment which has enabled Year 11s at 
 each of the schools to achieve beyond well expectation. 
 
4.1.2  The three schools will develop the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form initially as a post 
 -16 federation supported by detailed protocols and agreements signed by each 
 school’s governing body. The schools will retain their individual membership 
 of the 14-19  partnership.  The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form will have a 
 Governing Board drawn from the governors of the schools with delegated 
 oversight of the provision 
 
4.1.3  The proposal to establish a collaborative post-16 offer through the Cambridge 
 Heath  Sixth Form has been discussed through the 14-19 partnership, the Hub, 
 culminating in support for the final proposal at the March 26 meeting of the 
 Board. 
 
4.1.4 The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form users committee must include members of all 

tenants of the Wessex Street site including the youth service, who are expected 
to resume use of the site following completion of works to the building.   

 
4.1.5  Bethnal Green Technology College will be invited to be affiliated to the      

Cambridge Heath Sixth Form.  
 
4.2  Principles underpinning the organisation of 16 to 19 provision 

DCSF advise that the development of any new post-16 provision across the 
 further education (FE) and schools sectors should have regard to five principles: 
 

Quality: all provision for all learners should be high quality, whatever their 
chosen pathway 
Distinct 16-19 provision: there should be clear arrangements to meet the 
particular pastoral, management and learning needs of this age group 
including a 16-19 base to provide the appropriate educational and peer 
environment. 
Diversity to ensure curriculum breadth: provision should contribute to a wide 
curriculum offer and well-managed collaboration is highlighted as a means to 
share and build on the expertise of small, popular providers. 
Learner choice: new provision should offer students a choice of provider 
within reasonable travelling distance. 
Affordability and cost effectiveness 

 
4.2.1  The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form, building on the 11-16 success of two schools 
 recently judged outstanding through inspection and each adding greater than 
 average value across the secondary offer, clearly has the potential to meet 
 the quality requirement. 
 

Page 66



 

 
5 

4.2.2  Co-location of much of the offer in the 14-19 partnership accommodation at the 
 Wessex Centre will provide a distinct and appropriate learning environment 
 where young people will also have the opportunity to mix with others enjoying a 
 wider range of 14-19 activities on site. 
 
4.2.3 The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form will provide for greater curriculum diversity and 
 extend learner choice, particularly in that area of the borough. 
 
4.2.4 The collaborative nature of the offer will not only ensure curriculum breadth and a 

stimulating peer environment but will provide a cost effective and sustainable 
means of extending the contribution of these successful 11-16 schools to the 
2013 entitlement and the raised participation age. 

 
4.3 Ensuring the Match to Local Learning Needs 
4.3.1 The Joint Planning Group of the three schools has completed a thorough 

consultation and assessment of learner need through an analysis of the current 
progression and performance data available on the leavers from the three 
schools 2005 -2007. This confirms that the post-16 progress against KS4 
projections and the post-17 staying on rates of the school leavers from the three 
schools are less than would be predicted. 

 
4.3.2 The schools also completed in April 2008 a consultation on the curriculum 

preferences and preferred destinations of the current year 10 and 11 pupils 
(1,000 pupils in total across the three schools) that consultation has formed the 
basis of the proposed curriculum offer. 

 
4.3.2 The schools have also drawn heavily on the findings of the 2008 research paper 

on the learning needs of 16-18 year olds in North West Tower Hamlets 
commissioned by the Tower Hamlets Hub and on the 2008 DCSF statistics on 
level 2 and level 3 achievement at 19. All the research confirms there a need for 
additional high quality 16 -19 provision across Tower Hamlets and the 
neighbouring boroughs. 

 
4.4 Contributing to Raised Attainment and Improved Standards 
 
 Despite an outstanding record of improved outcomes at 16, over 8% of our 16-

18s are NEET (not in education, employment or training) and Level 2 
achievement at 19 shows  little advance on achievement at 16.  Too few of our 
young people who do not attain good GCSEs at age 16 go on to achieve them by 
age 19. We know that there is a need to make radical changes to the post-16 
offer that builds on the strengths of delivery pre-16. 

 
4.4.1 These issues are particularly sharp in the north of the borough.  Each of the three 

applicant schools is a specialist provider where young people exceed well 
beyond the national expectation at KS4. Each of the three schools is in the top 

Page 67



 

 
6 

5% of all schools.  Two of the schools are high-performing specialist schools and 
one was amongst the 100 most improved secondary schools in 2006. 

 
4.4.2 Improved performance in each of the applicant schools is demonstrated by the 

table  below. Each school is measured on how many young people attained 5 
good GCSEs  (grade A*-C, including English and Maths (E & M)) or the wider 
measure of those young people attaining 5 A*- G grades. The VA measure is an 
indication of added value from the end of key stage 3 (age 14) to the end of key 
stage 4 (age 16), where the average score nationally is 100. 

  
School Measure 2006 2007 
Morpeth 5A*-C incl E&M 

5A*-C 
5A*-G 
VA KS3/4 (upper) 

49% 
76% 
97% 
1053.6 

48% 
75% 
97% 
1052.8 

Oaklands 5A*-C incl E&M 
5A*-C 
5A*-G 
VA KS3/4 (upper) 

40% 
64% 
100% 
1050.1 

56% 
68% 
97% 
1036.4 

Swanlea 5A*-C incl E&M 
5A*-C 
5A*-G 
VA KS3/4 (upper) 

35% 
49% 
94% 
1020.1 

42% 
66% 
96% 
1034.8 

  
 
4.4.3 Despite this considerable success, the three schools still have a relatively high 

proportion of young people who become NEET at 16, rising significantly at 17.  In 
2007, 265 of the 510 Year 11 leavers from these three schools took up post-16 
learning places out of the borough and there are concerns about the suitability or 
sustainability of some of these choices.   

 
4.4.4 The proposal would raise education standards by: 

• extending the contribution of highly effective 11-16 providers into the 
16-18 offer 

• offering continuity of provision for those Year 11s who need high levels 
of personal support 

• increasing choice for those Year 11s who currently travel out of 
borough to access post-16 programmes 

• building on the specialist facilities and expertise of these 11-16 schools 
in preparation for the 2013 diploma entitlement 

• extending the Foundation Learning Tier and the range of well 
structured routes to level 2 and level 3 achievement 

 
4.5 Process for Adding a Sixth Form 

The Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the School Organisation provide for 
a school to add a sixth form through a prescribed alteration. The DCSF have 

Page 68



 

 
7 

advised that this is the appropriate route for a collaborative sixth form, a 
development which is favourably regarded by the Department. 
 

4.5.1 There are five stages to the process: consultation, publication, representation, 
decision and implementation. 
 

4.5.2 Consultation has been undertaken through the 14-19 partnership; the governing 
bodies of the three schools; pupils, parents and staff of the schools; local 
representatives; 14-19 partnerships in neighbouring boroughs and those 
Hackney post-16 most directly affected.   
 

4.5.3 Consultation outcomes were presented to the 14-19 partnership Board on May 
14 enabling progression to publication of the proposal by the governing bodies of 
the three schools. 
 

4.5.4 Following the required one month available for representation, the proposal, 
together with a report of any comments and objections received, is submitted to 
Cabinet for decision. This paper is the culmination of that process.  
 

4.5.5 If the proposal proceeds successfully through to implementation, the Cambridge 
Heath Sixth Form will open in September 2009 with an initial intake of 
approximately 175 learners. 

 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 This paper outlines the background to a proposal by Morpeth, Oaklands and 

 Swanlea schools to establish a collaborative post-16 offer through the Cambridge 
 Heath Sixth Form. 

 
5.2 The cost of establishing the 6th Form provision will be funded by a combination 

of Building Schools for the Future and contributions from the individual secondary 
schools (funded by surplus balances). 

 
5.3 The ongoing revenue costs will be funded by, in the first instance, the Learning 

Skills Council.  From 2010-11 the Local Authority will fund the provision as a 
consequence of the Machinery of Government Changes which  the Department 
for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) and Department for Innovation, 
Universities and Skills are currently consulting on.  It is anticipated that this will 
take the form of a national formula based on learner hours funded by the DCSF. 

 
 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 

Page 69



 

 
8 

6.1     The Education and Inspections Act 2006 (section 19) [“the Act”} and the School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2007 [“the Regulations”} set out the procedure for changing a 
maintained school’s age limit to add a sixth form.  As set out in the body of the 
report there are 5 statutory stages for a statutory proposal which are consultation, 
publication, representation decision and implementation.   The summary of the 
report confirms that consultation with interested parties has taken place and that 
the statutory proposals have been published by the governing bodies of the 3 
schools.  Cabinet should be satisfied that the appropriate procedures have been 
followed. 

 
6.2 Statutory proposals must contain the information specified in the Regulations 

including the name, address and category of the school for which the proposals 
are published, the date on which the proposals are planned, or each stage is 
planned, to be implemented, a statement explaining the procedure for making 
representations including where objections should be sent, a description of the 
alteration proposed, and where as here, the proposals are to provide sixth form 
education, should include a statement of how the proposals will improve the 
educational or training achievements, increase participation in education and 
training, and expand the range of educational of training  opportunities for 16-19 
year olds in the area.  

 
6.3 A statutory notice containing the specified information and explaining how 

complete copies of the proposals can be obtained must be published in a local 
newspaper, and also posted at the main entrances to the schools and some 
other conspicuous place in the area served by the school. 

 
6.4 Section 4 of the report confirms that the 3 schools will develop the Cambridge 

Heath Sixth form as a post -16 federation supported by protocols and 
agreements signed by each school’s Governing Body. It is confirmed that the 
Sixth Form will have a Governing Body drawn from the governors of the schools 
with delegated oversight of the provision.  Sections 24 to 26 of the Education Act 
2002, and School Governance regulations issued pursuant to those sections, set 
out the specific procedures which must be followed depending upon what type of 
federation is being proposed.  

 
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The proposed curriculum offer is inclusive and will provide community and 

structured personal support for young people moving into and through post 16 
learning.  The proposal is intended to support increased participation, 
attainment & progression targets at 16-18.   

 
8. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 70



 

 
9 

8.1 The proposal will support enhanced provision within Tower Hamlets for the     
continuation of post 16 learning opportunities for pupils, which in turn is expected 
to lead to reduced numbers of young people not in education, employment or 
training.   

 
9. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
9.1  The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form will be located in refurbished accommodation 

designed to meet new standards of sustainability.  
 
10.  RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Possible risks include insufficient numbers of pupils enrolling in the new 6th form. 

This is assessed to be low risk following the analysis of the needs of learners in 
the north west of the borough and looking at travel to learn patterns. Other 
possible risks including movement of pupils away from other current local sixth 
form providers will be kept under review by the 14-19 partnership, where all the 
providers are represented. Current projections show this is unlikely to happen 
and that the key group of students likely to stay on to a sixth form at the 
Cambridge Heath Sixth Form are those who formerly would have travelled out of 
borough to study.  
 

11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
  
 The scope of the new sixth form offer will include pupils who previously would 

have travelled out of borough and therefore more likely to have dropped out of 
education at 17 years, before completing their courses. The new offer is 
expected to ensure more students stay on to complete their courses and gain 
appropriate qualifications to further their next steps in the job market or 
continuing education or training. 

   
12.  APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1: Cambridge Heath Sixth From Appendix: Proposal for Prescribed 
Alterations other than Foundation Proposals  

 

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER 
THAN FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be 
included in or provided in relation to proposals  
Insert the information asked for in the expandable box below each section. 

In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details 
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are 

publishing the proposals. 
 

The proposal to develop a collaborative Sixth Form  known as the Cambridge Heath 
Sixth Form  co-located within Morpeth School,  Swanlea School, Oaklands School 
and  at the Wessex Centre, Hadleigh Street, London E2 0LD has been published on 
behalf of the governing bodies of:  
 
Morpeth School, Portman Place, Bethnal Green, London E20PX                    
11-16 Community School  
Swanlea School, 31 Brady Street, Bethnal Green, London E1 5DJ                   
11-16 Community School 
Oaklands School, Old Bethnal Green Road, Bethnal Green, London E2 6PR   
11-16 Community School 
 
 
 

In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details 
1. The name, address and category of the school and a contact address for the local education 

authority who are publishing the proposals. 
N/A 

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation 
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to 

be implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the 
number of stages intended and the dates of each stage. 

 
Morpeth, Oaklands and Swanlea Schools, are building on their shared success by 
coming together as the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form in order to provide a 
collaborative, co-located 16+ offer at the Wessex Centre site and the three school 
sites.  
 
For the first stage the new post-16 provsion is planned to open in September 
2009 for 175 year 12 learners.  That opening will extend choice and considerably 
improve the range and diversity of local learning options in the north of the 
borough.   
 
For the second stage the capacity of the provsion will be increased for September 
2010  to take a second intake of 175 year 12 learners and 175 year 13 learners 
(350 learners in total) 

Page 73



 2 

 
The collaboration will optimise access to the specialised workforce and facilities in 
the 11-16 specialist schools and provide continuity and structured pastoral support 
for vulnerable young people moving into and through post-16 learning.  
 
The capital improvements to the Wessex building will be fully completed by July 
2009.  
 
The capital improvement to the three schools sites to meet the post-16 recruitment 
will be completed  in stages appropriate to the recruited numbers and  developing 
curriculum offer by July 2009, July 2010 and July 2011. 

 

Objections and comments 
3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including— 
(a) the date by which objections or comments should be sent to the local education 

authority; and 
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent. 
 

 
The proposal has been subject of extensive consultation by the three Schools since 
2006 when the schools first applied for the power to innovate. Since then they have 
consulted widely on the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form through a consultation plan 
based on 4 priority sets of stakeholders. 
 
o The Principal stakeholders ; the governing bodies, the current pupils and 

their parents and carers and all teaching and ancillary staff  and trade unions 
in the three schools.  They have been involved in  the planning process 
during 2007 and 2008 through meetings, surveys and open workshops.  

o The Partnership stakeholders; the Tower Hamlets EIP Board (the 14-19 
Hub). Tower Hamlets Local Authority and the Learning and Skills Council 
London East. A task group of the 14-19 Hub initially addressed these issues 
in February 2007 and proposals to meet the post-16 needs of learners in the 
North West have been a regular agenda item culminating in The Cambridge 
Heath proposals being fully endorsed by the 14-19 Hub in March 2008  

o The Community Stakeholders; the representatives of the local communities, 
MPs and local councillors.  All were written to in February- March 2008 and 
invited to comment.  

o The Operational stakeholders; all Primary schools in Tower Hamlets and all  
Local Authorities and their 14-19 Forums in the neighbouring boroughs where 
is significant cross border movement including post-16 institutions in 
Hackney.  These have been visited  over March 2008 – April 2008 and invited 
to comment  

 
There was no opposition to the proposal from any of the sets of stakeholders. 
  
A formal notice has been published by the Chairs of Governors of each of the three 
schools with a deadline for formal objections of end of June 2008  
On that formal notice, objections go to:  
Carmel Littleton Service Head, Young People and Learning, London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets, Tower Hamlets Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London E14 2BG. 

Page 74



 3 

Alteration description 
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, 

a description of the current special needs provision. 
 

 

 
The Wessex Centre  is being completely refurbished by the Local Authority to create 
a Sixth Form Centre of 9 general teaching rooms, a health suite, a presentation suite, 
library, tutorial and ICT resource areas for 200 Learners with extensive social space 
and  independent learning areas. 
 
 
Morpeth school will enhance its facilities by adding 4 general teaching areas and 
make additional space to accommodate  2 tutor groups of  20  in 2009 and 3 groups 
of 20 in 2010 
 
Swanlea will enhance its specialist facilities by adding  2 additional Business 
classrooms, 1 ICT room and 1  general teaching area and additional space to 
accommodate  2 tutor groups of  20  in 2009 and 3 groups of 20 in 2010 
 
Oakland will enhance its specialist facilities by adding  1 additional science  lab, 1 
tutorial/independent study area and make additional space to accommodate  1 tutor 
groups of  20  in 2009 and 2 groups of 20 in 2010 
 

 

 

School capacity 
5.—a) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8, 9 

and 12-14 of Schedule 2 or paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4 to The 
School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2007, the proposals  must also include— 

(a) details of the current capacity of the school and where the proposals will alter the 
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration; 

 
 

 

Morpeth School The current capacity of the school is 1200 and the proposed 
capacity will be 1352. The current admission number for the school is 240 and the 
proposed admission number will remain at 240. 
 
Swanlea School The current capacity of the school is 1050 and the proposed 
capacity will be 1176. The current admission number for the school is 210 and the 
proposed admission number will remain at 210. 
 
Oaklands School. The current capacity of the school is 600 and the proposed 
capacity will be 672. The current admission number for the school is 120 and the 
proposed admission number will remain at120. 
 
 
The table below summarises the capacity projections 

Page 75



 4 

 
 
School 

Current  
Year 7 
Admission 
number 

Current 
Year  
7-11 
capacity 

Proposed 
Year  
7-11  
capacity 

Current 
Year 

12 and 13 
capacity 

Proposed 
Year 

12 and 13 
capacity 

Total school 
capacity 

Year 7 -13 

Morpeth 240 1200 No 
change 

0 152 1352 
Swanlea 210 1050 No 

change 
0 126 1176 

Oaklands 120 600 No 
change 

0 72 672 
 

 
(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant 

age group, and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils 
to be admitted in each relevant age group in the first school year in which the 
proposals will have been implemented;  

 
The current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age group, and 
where this number is to change, the proposed numbers of pupils to be admitted in each 
relevant age group in the first school year in which the proposals will have been 
implemented are set out in the table below.  
 

 
School 

Current 
 Year  12 
intake 

2009   
Year 12 
intake  

Morpeth 0 76 
Swanlea 0 63 
Oaklands 0 36 

 
 

 
(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number 

of pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage 
will have been implemented;  

 
The numbers of pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each 
stage will have been implemented are set out in the table below.  
 
 Current Stage1 Stage 2 
School Current 

Year  12 
intake 

2009   
year 12 
intake 

2010 
Year 12 
intake 

Proposed 
Year 12 and 13 
 intake by 2010 

Morpeth 0 76 76 152 
Swanlea 0 63 63 126 
Oaklands 0 36 36 72 

 
 

 

Page 76



 5 

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated 
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and 
details of the indicated admission number in question. 

 
NA 

 
(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 

13 to 4, and 7 and 8 of Schedule 2 or paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 to 
The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2007 a statement of the number of pupils at the school at the time of the 
publication of the proposals. 

 
The numbers of pupils at the three schools at the time of the publication of the proposals 
are as set out in the table below. 
 

 
 
    School 

Current number of pupils at the 
school at the time of the 
publication of the proposals. 
 

Morpeth 1200 
Swanlea 1050 
Oaklands 600  

Implementation 
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a 

statement as to whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education 
authority or by the governing body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a 
statement as to the extent to which they are to be implemented by each body. 

 
N/A                     All 3 schools are community schools 

Additional Site 
7.—b) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals 

are implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site. 
 

The Wessex Centre at Hadleigh Street London E2 0LD  is being developed as a 
Tower Hamlets’ flagship learning centre for 14-19 with a particular focus on 16-18 
year-olds 
 
(1) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who 

will provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or 
leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a 
lease, details of the proposed lease. 

 
N/A      All 3 schools are community schools 
 The governing bodies of the three schools are also finalising  a 5 Year tenancy 
agreement with the Tower Hamlets Local Authority to authorise their combined  use 
of the Wessex Centre  2009 to 2014. 

Page 77



 6 

Changes in boarding arrangements 
8.—c) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or 

the alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 7  or 14 of 
Schedule 2 or 4 to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained 
Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 — 

(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made 
if the proposals are approved; 

 
NA 
 

 
(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school; 
 

NA 
 
 

 
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a 

description of the boarding provision;  
 

NA 
 
 

 
(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of 

the existing boarding provision. 
 

 
NA 
 

 
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to 

reduce boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 2 or 4 
to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2007 — 

(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the 
proposals are approved;  

 
NA 
 
 

 
(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be 

put if the proposals are approved. 
 

Page 78



 7 

NA 
 

Transfer to new site 
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following 

information— 
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to 

occupy a single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address; 
 

The Cambridge Heath Sixth Form will have post-16 provsion across the three school 
sites and the Wessex Centre. 
  
As indicated above, the Wessex Centre at Hadleigh Street London E2 0LD  is being 
developed as a Tower Hamlets’ flagship learning centre for 14-19 with a particular 
focus on 16-18 year-olds. 
 
The three schools are also allocating elements of their first phase BSF funding to the 
enhancement of additional facilities on their own sites.  
 

• Morpeth School will offer primarily Performing and Visual Arts provision to the 
consortium 

• Swanlea School will offer primarily Business Studies provision to the 
consortium  

• Oaklands will offer primarily Science provision to the consortium  
 
 

The postal addresses of the 4 teaching sites are: 
 

• Morpeth School, Portman Place, Bethnal Green, London E20PX                    
• Swanlea School, 31 Brady Street, Bethnal Green, London E1 5DJ                   
• Oaklands School, Old Bethnal Green Road, Bethnal Green, London E2 6PR   
• Wessex Centre, Hadleigh Street London E2 0LD   

 

 
(b) the distance between the proposed and current site; 
 

The walking distances between the 3 school sites and the Wessex Centre are shown in 
the table below.   
 

 Morpeth Swanlea Oaklands Wessex Centre 
Morpeth 0 1K 1.25K 0.25K 
Swanlea 1.25K 0 1K 0.75K 
Oaklands 1.25K 1K 0 0.1K 

 

The proposals should not have the effect of unreasonably extending learner or staff 
journey times or increasing transport costs or use of car journeys. No learner should be 
required to travel unsustainably due to unsuitable transport requirements. The  routes 
between sites for walking, cycling, etc are all within 10 minutes travel.   

Page 79



 8 

 

 
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site; 
 

 
The Wessex Centre is easily accessible from all the school sites.  The Local 
Authority and the 14-19 Hub have identified a need to extend choice and enhance 
post-16 provision in the North West of the borough  
 

 
(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites; 
 

The Wessex Centre is easily accessible from all the school sites.  All 3 schools are 
within 10 minutes walking distance of each other  
 

 
(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site;  
 

NA 
 
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not 

using transport provided, and how car use in area will be discouraged. 
 

 
The Local Authority’s 14-19 Transport policy and protocols in development will 
actively encourage young people to be independent travellers making good use of 
public transport and sustainable alternatives. 
 

Objectives 
10. The objectives of the proposals. 

 
Tower Hamlets is a Beacon authority for school improvement.  The proportion 
of young people gaining 5 A*-C, to take one key indicator, has more than 
doubled over the last 10 years.  The 5% increase in 2006 alone was more 
than double the national rate of improvement.  Despite this record of 
improvement, 9% of our 16-18s are NEET and Level 2 achievement at 19 
shows little advance on achievement at 16.  We know that there is a need to 
make radical changes to the post-16 offer that builds on the strengths of 
delivery pre-16. 
 
These issues are particularly sharp in the north of the borough.  Each of the 
three applicant schools is a specialist provider where young people exceed 
well beyond the national expectation at KS4. Currently on 2007 results all of 
the three schools are now well above the national average for 5 or more A*-C.   
Two of the schools are High Performing Specialist schools and one was 
amongst the 100 most improved secondaries in 2006.  Value added scores 

Page 80



 9 

across the three schools are consistently high putting them in the top 5% of all 
schools.  Despite the considerable success at KS4, the three schools still 
have a relatively high proportion of young people who become NEET at 16.  
In addition, the percentage of NEETs from the schools rising significantly at 
17.  This suggests that their original post-16 choices may have been 
inappropriate or there may have been insufficient support in the schools and 
colleges they chose.  In 2007, 265 Year 11s (out of 510 leavers) from these 
three schools had to take up post-16 learning places out of the borough and 
there are concerns about sustainability of the transport and support systems. 
 
The proposal would raise education standards by: 
 
1. extending  the contribution of effective 11-16 providers into the 16-18 offer 
2. offering continuity of provision for those Year 11s who need high levels of 

personal support 
3. increasing choice for those Year 11s who currently travel out of borough 

to access post-16 programmes 
4. building on the specialist facilities and expertise of these 11-16 schools in 

preparation for the 2013 diploma entitlement 
5. extending the Foundation Learning Tier and the range of well structured 

routes of level 2 and level 3 achievement 
 

Consultation 
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including— 
(a) a list of persons who were consulted; 
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings; 
(c) the views of the persons consulted; 
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to 

the proposals to consult were complied with; and 
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents 

were made available. 
 

 
As previously outlined in the response to Q 3 above, the proposal has been 
subject of extensive consultation by the three Schools since 2006 when the 
schools first applied for the power to innovate. Since then they have 
consulted widely on the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form through a consultation 
plan based on 4 priority sets of stakeholders.  

 
o The Principal stakeholders ; the governing bodies, the current pupils 

and their parents and carers and all teaching and ancillary staff  and 
trade unions in the three schools.  They have been involved in  the 
planning process during 2007 and 2008 through meetings, surveys 
and open workshops  

o The Partnership stakeholders; the Tower Hamlets EIP Board (the 
14-19 Hub). Tower Hamlets Local Authority and the Learning and 
Skills Council London East. A task group of the 14-19 Hub initially 
addressed these issues in February 2007 and proposals to meet the 
post-16 needs of learners in the North West have been a regular 
agenda item, culminating in the Cambridge Heath proposals being 
fully endorsed by the 14-19 Hub in March 2008  

Page 81



 10

o The Community Stakeholders; the representatives of the local 
communities, MPs and local councillors.  All were written to in 
February- March 2008 and invited to comment  

o The Operational stakeholders; all Primary schools in Tower Hamlets 
and all  Local Authorities and their 14-19 Forums in the neighbouring 
boroughs where is significant cross border movement including post-
16 institutions in Hackney.  These have been visited  over March 2008 
– April 2008 and invited to comment  

 
The Joint Planning Group of the three Schools has completed a thorough 
consultation and assessment of learner need through an analysis of the 
current progression and performance data available on the leavers from the 
three schools from 2005 -2007. This confirms that the post-16 progress 
against KS4 projections and the post-17 staying on rates of the school 
leavers from the three schools are less than would be predicted.  
 
The schools also completed in April 2008 a phase 2 consultation on the 
curriculum preferences and preferred destinations of the current year 10 and 
11 pupils (1,000 pupils in total across the three schools)  That consultation 
has formed the basis of the proposed curriculum offer  
 
The schools have drawn heavily on the findings of the 2008 research paper 
on the learning needs of 16-18 year olds in North West Tower Hamlets 
commissioned by the Tower Hamlets Hub.  The post-16 learning needs of 
pupils of Bethnal Green Technology College (BGTC) were fully included in 
this research and the three schools will maintain an active planning dialogue 
with BGTC to ensure that these needs are addressed  
 
The schools also had regard to the 2008 DCSF statistics on level 2 and level 
3 achievement at 19 of the learners in Tower Hamlets and the neighbouring 
boroughs. ( Statistical First Release DCSF: Level 2 and 3 Attainment by 
Young People in England Measured Using Matched Administrative Data: 
Attainment by Age 19 in 2007.) All the research confirms there is a need for 
additional high quality 16 -19 provsion across Tower Hamlets and the 
neighbouring boroughs  
 
The members of Tower Hamlets 14-19 Hub are: 

• 15 secondary schools (nine 11-16, six 11-19) 
• 4 special schools with secondary pupils  
• Tower Hamlets College 
• Queen Mary University of London 
• University of East London 
• The local WBL partnership: Learning for Growth 
• Tower Hamlets Education Business Partnership 
• The Connexions Partnership 
• Tower Hamlets Local Authority 
• The Learning and Skills Council London East 
 

Partner organisations are represented on the Board at Head Teacher, 
Principal, Chief Executive level and the Board operates under delegated 
powers from its member governing bodies. 
 
It is the view of the Local Authority that all applicable statutory requirements in 
relation to the proposals to consult have been complied with.  The LSC 
London East has also been fully involved at each stage. 

Page 82



 11

Project costs 
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown 

of the costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and 
any other party. 

 
The capital costs of the proposal are those associated with the 2008 -2009 
refurbishment of the Wessex Centre and the enhancements to facilities within the 
three schools 2008-2011 
Those capital costs have already been budgeted for by the Local Authority and the 
schools within local BSF rules so that appropriate works will be complete by the 
summers of 2009, 2010 and 2011 as recruitment numbers build. 
 
The breakdown of the capital costs is as follows 

• Wessex Centre    £2.5 LA,+ £1.5 school governing bodies =  £4 million,  
• An allocation from Morpeth's BSF funding will go towards the cost of 

developing the on-site post-16 learning and social environment in line with the 
school’s 14-19 vision  

• An allocation from Swanlea's BSF funding will go towards the cost of 
developing the on-site post-16 learning and social environment in line with the 
school’s 14-19 vision  

• An allocation from Oakland's BSF funding will go towards the cost of 
developing the on-site post-16 learning and social environment in line with the 
school’s 14-19 vision  

 

 

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the 
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made 
available (including costs to cover any necessary site purchase). 

 
N/A    The Wessex Centre site is owned by  Tower Hamlets LA 

Age range 
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the 

school. 
 

The current age range for the three schools is shown below. 
 

School Current Age range  
Morpeth 11-16 
Swanlea 11-16 
Oaklands 11-16  

Early years provision 
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that 

it provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5— 

Page 83



 12

(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time 
pupils, the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for 
disabled children that will be offered; 

 
NA 
 

 
(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and 

how the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for 
childcare; 

 
NA 
 

 
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision; 
 

NA 
 

 
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in 

establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage 
within 3 miles of the school;  

 
NA 
 

 
(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot 

make provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision. 
 

NA 
 

Changes to sixth form provision 
16. (1)  Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the 

school provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of 
how the proposals will— 

(a) improve the educational or training achievements; 
(b) increase participation in education or training; and 
(c) expand the range of educational or training opportunities 
for 16-19 year olds in the area. 
 

 
The 3 schools have a shared vision and a track record of improvement, added 
value  and high achievement pre-16 which can translate into improved 
educational quality and performance post-16 for the young people in the north of 
the Borough. 

Page 84



 13

 
This collaborative proposal is the culmination of 2 years joint consultation and 
preparation for change and additional delivery.  
 
 An innovative curriculum offer has been developed as the key to the success of 
the project. .  It will expand the range of educational or training opportunities for 
16-19 year olds in the area by delivering approximately 16 AS levels, 5 vocational 
sectors with level 2 or level 3 progression pathways and (subject to Gateway) 3 
Diploma lines.  It will also deliver a support curriculum of Entry and Level 1 
provsion for young people vulnerable to drop out at 16 or 17.  
 
Discussions have begun with the London East LSC on the revenue funding 
required to support this level of post -16 delivery to 350 learners across the four 
sites.  
 
The Curriculum offer will build on specialisms (Science, Business and Visual and 
Performing Arts) within the individual schools.  For the majority of the curriculum 
areas the schools already have a proven record at KS4 as an effective provider 
with above average value added scores. Where “new” subjects such as 
Economics, Sociology and level 3 diplomas are offered the schools will draw on 
their shared success in providing a supportive and challenging learning 
environment which has enabled Year 11s at each of these schools to achieve 
beyond expectation.  

 
     The collaboration between the schools and the innovative curriculum will:  
 

� improve participation post-16 of a) young people progressing from the 
three applicant schools b) all young people progressing from Year 11 in 
Tower Hamlets 

� improve retention at 17 of young people accessing the collaborative 
post-16 offer at the three schools 

� improve achievement at Levels 1, 2 and 3 of young people accessing 
the collaborative post-16 offer at the three schools 

� improve progression to further study or sustainable employment of 
young people accessing the collaborative post-16 offer at the three 
schools 

� enhance creation of 14-19 progression pathways in the School 
specialisms and in the Diplomas and vocational curriculum offer  

� Enhance community perceptions of improved  choice  and progression 
opportunities measured by Learner and parental satisfaction surveys  

� Improve the contribution of the three schools  to collaboration and 
partnership across the Tower Hamlets Hub 

� Pilot a on line common application system which gives automatic 
information to CCIS with early data offers and  on potential NEET young 
people  

 
 

 
 
(2)  Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school 
will provide sixth form education, the proposed number of sixth form places to be 
provided. 

Page 85



 14

 
The proposed numbers of sixth form places to be provided are as shown below. 
 

School Proposed number of sixth form places to be 
provided. 

Morpeth 152 
Swanlea 126 
Oaklands 72 

 
 

 
17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school 

ceases to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19 
places in the area.  
18.    NA 

Special educational needs 
19. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational 

needs— 
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which 

education will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs 
already exists, the current type of provision; 

 
The three schools have been commended by Ofsted for their exemplary provision for 
special needs learners pre-16  within their general delegated schools budget.  The 
proposed Sixth Form provsion will enable them to offer progression opportunities to their 
learners to the same high standard 
The Wessex Centre refurbishment will fully meet all current standards for access and 
support.  
 
Beyond that, no additional funds are being sought for special needs provsion or 
additional LLDD specialist features.  
 

 
(b) any additional specialist features will be provided; 
 

NA 
 
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made; 
 

NA 
 

 
(d) details of how the provision will be funded; 
 

NA 

Page 86



 15

 
 
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special 

educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the 
proposals relate; 

 
NA 
 

 
(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the 

school’s delegated budget; 
 

NA 
 

 
(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the 

school;  
 

NA 
 

 
(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with 

special educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority 
believes that the new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard, 
quality and range of the educational provision for such children;  

 
NA 
 

 
(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and 

where this number is to change, the proposed number of such places. 
 

NA 
 

 
20. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs— 
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made; 
 

NA 
 

 
(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by 

the local education authority as reserved for children with special educational 
needs during each of the 4 school years preceding the current school year; 

 

Page 87



 16

NA 
 

 
(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for 

pupils whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a 
result of the discontinuance of the provision;  

 
NA 
 

 
(d) a statement as to how the authority believe that the proposals are likely to lead to 

improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for 
such children. 

 
NA 
 

 
21. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special 

educational needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of 
existing provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in 
terms of— 

(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum, 
wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the local 
education authority’s Accessibility Strategy; 

(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals, 
including any external support and outreach services; 

(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and 
(d) improved supply of suitable places. 
 

NA 
 

Sex of pupils 
22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was 

an establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which 
admits pupils of both sexes— 

(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the 
provision of single sex education in the area; 

 
NA 

 
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education;  
 

NA 
 

 

Page 88



 17

(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes 
specified in a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of 
the Sex Discrimination Act 1975). 

 
NA 
 

 
23. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school 

which was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an 
establishment which admits pupils of one sex only— 

(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the 
provision of single-sex education in the area;  

 
NA 
 

 
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education. 
 

NA 
 

 

Extended services 
24. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services, 

details of the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed 
change as a result of the alterations. 

 
 
All three schools have current extended school experience and significant expertise 
developed thought their KS3 and K4 teaching and pastoral care programmes.  The 
proposed collaborative  sixth form will enable them to  offer continuity and structured 
pastoral support for vulnerable young people’ 16 -18 
 

 
Need or demand for additional places 
25. If the proposals involve adding places— 
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular 

places in the area; 
 

 
The 3 schools and the Local Authority 14-19 Hub have already completed a detailed  
assessment of need through an analysis  of the current progression and performance 
data across the borough   The schools also looked at data available on the leavers 
from the three schools from 2005 -2007. These studies confirm that there are gaps in 
the expected progress and post-17 staying on rates of the school leavers at all levels.  

Page 89



 18

 
The schools have also consulted on the curriculum preferences and preferred 
destinations of the current year 10 and 11 pupils (1,000 pupils in total) and  
 
The schools have also drawn heavily on the findings of the 2008 research 
paper on the learning needs of 16-18 year olds in North West Tower Hamlets 
commissioned by the Hub and on the 2008 DCSF statistics on level 2 and 
level 3 achievement at 19 which confirms continuing low performance across 
Tower Hamlets and the neighbouring boroughs  
 
The Key Statistics  are as set out below  

 
Destinations post-16 

 
• The number of learners in the north of Tower Hamlets staying on in full-time 

education has risen by 7%  from 2005 to 2007 and is projected to rise to 600 
by 2009 

 
• By 2013 when the planned raising of the learning leaving age is in force there 

will be over 550 learners every year  needing post -16 provsion in the three 
schools forming the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form  

 
• Currently  54% of the Year 11 learners in the North of the Borough go out 

Borough at 16+ compared to 27% of the post-16 learners in the rest of Tower 
Hamlets. 

 
• In Oaklands alone 70% of  the Year 11 learners went out-borough at 16+ in 

2007 
 
 
 
Achievement rates post-16  
 

• DCSF published figures for level 2 and level 3  achievement at 19 show 
Tower Hamlets and the surrounding boroughs to be considerably below  the 
London East, London and National averages.  

 
 

2006-2007 statistics  Level 2 Level 3 
Tower Hamlets  62% 37% 
Hackney 56% 33% 
Newham 65% 44% 
Islington 62% 35% 
London East 70% 40% 
London 74% 50% 
All England  74% 48% 

 
• Retention and achievement rates of those who go out-borough into colleges 

are consistently lower than the college rates for all their learners. 
 

• While the three schools now have a lower than average 16 year old NEET 
ratio their leavers continue to become NEET at 17 and 18 in higher than 
average proportions  

 
 
 
 

Achievement rates at KS4  

Page 90



 19

 
• The KS 4 achievement rates at the three schools have improved rapidly over 

the last 5 years  In 2007, 252 Year 11 pupils (47%) from the three schools 
achieved 5 or more GCSEs at  A*-C with E and M compared to a Tower 
Hamlets average of 38%  The national average was 46.7% 

 
• The level 1( 5 or more A*-G) achievement rates in the three schools are even 

more impressive   In 2007 against a borough average of 91% and a national 
average of 92% the threes schools’ scores are at  97% Morpeth, 97% 
Oaklands and 96% Swanlea  

 
• The value added scores  in the three schools are in the top 10% nationally.  

On the CVA measure based on progress between Key Stage 3 and Key 
Stage 4  Morpeth scores 1045.8 Swanlea 1027 and Oaklands 1026.7  The 
national average is centred on1000 and the Tower Hamlets average is 
1016.7 

 
 

Curriculum needs post-16 
 

• On 2007 KS4 achievement  statistics the Year 11 leavers from the  three 
schools will require curriculum provsion in the following proportions  

 
• Requiring level 3 provsion      332    (63%) 
• Requiring further level 2 provsion  171    (32%) 
• Requiring level 1 support provsion     25    (5%) 

 
• These are the approximate curriculum planning proportions used by the 

Cambridge Heath sixth form in devising its proposed curriculum  for 2009  
 
 

 
 
(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence 

of the demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the 
religion or religious denomination;  

 
NA 
 

 
(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for 

education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated 
change to the admission arrangements for the school. 

 
The proposal involves no change to the current admission arrangements of the 3 
schools involved in the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form. 
 
 

 
26. If the proposals involve removing places— 
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an 

assessment of the impact on parental choice; 

Page 91



 20

 
NA 
 
 

 
(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils. 
 

NA 
 
 
Expansion of successful and popular schools 
 
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the 
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and 
where the governing body consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and 
secondary schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within: 
 

(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 
to Schedule 2 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of Part 2 to Schedule 2; ;  
  
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 to Schedule 
4. 
  
of the Prescribed Alteration regulations.  
 

 
The three schools are by all measures, extremely successful and popular schools. 
 
As a result of their recent Ofsted Inspection Morpeth and Oaklands schools have been 
informed in writing by the DCSF in 2008 that they meet the revised presumption criteria 
for high performing specialist schools.  Swanlea School’s 2008 Inspection results are 
not fully confirmed but the school has achieved outstanding grades in previous 
Inspections and should do so again. 
 
However, the three schools have a long-standing commitment to collaborative 
development of post-16 provision for the north west of the Borough and so have not 
built their strategy on individual presumption.  

 
 
 

(3) Whilst not required by regulations to provide this information for any LA proposals to 
expand a voluntary or foundation school, it is desirable to provide this below. 

 
 

NA 
 

Page 92



 21

Additional information in the case of special schools 
27. Where the proposals relate to a special school the following information must also 

be provided— 
(a) information as to the numbers, age range, sex and special educational needs of 

the pupils (distinguishing boarding and day pupils) for whom provision is made at 
the school; 

 
NA 
 

 
(b) information on the predicted rise or fall (as the case may be) in the number of 

children with particular types of special educational needs requiring specific types 
of special educational provision; 

 
NA 
 
 

 
(c) a statement about the alternative provision for pupils who may be displaced as a 

result of the alteration; 
 

NA 
 
 

 
(d) where the proposals would result in the school being organised to make provision 

for pupils with a different type or types of special educational needs with the 
result that the provision which would be made for pupils currently at the school 
would be inappropriate to their needs, details of the other schools which such 
pupils may attend including any interim arrangements and transport 
arrangements to such schools;  

 
 
NA 
 

 
(e) where the proposals relate to a foundation special school a statement as to 

whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or 
by the governing body, and if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a 
statement as to the extent to which they are to be implemented by each body. 

 
NA 
 
 

 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: 
Cabinet 

Date 
30 July 2008 

Classification 
Unrestricted 

Report No 
 

Agenda Item No 
 
 

Report of 
Corporate Director (Children’s 
Services) 
 
Originating officer 
Hania Franek – Head of Pupil & 
Student Services 

Title 
Constitution of the Schools Forum 
 
 
Wards affected:  all 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides information on the changes in membership of the 

Schools Forum (SF) as required by the Schools Forum (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008. 

 
1.2 A recommendation to amend the Schools Forum Terms of Reference 

to re-align the appointment of members to serve from the start of the 
academic year is also included. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

2.1 Agree the reconstitution of the Schools Forum with the Terms of 
Reference and revised membership, as set out in Appendix 1, with 
effect from 31 August 2008. 

 
2.2 Agree that in future appointments to the Schools Forum are made at 

the start of the academic year (September). 
 
2.3 Approve the terms of reference at Appendix A and the Good Practice 

Guide at Appendix B, which have been drafted in consultation with 
Legal Services to reflect the new membership and requirements of the 
Schools Forum (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 Section 100D (As Amended) 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF 

THIS REPORT 
 

Brief description of "background paper" Tick if copy supplied 
to register 

If not supplied, name and 
telephone number of holder 

- The Schools Forum Regulations 
2002 and Amendment Regulations 
2004, 2005 and 2008 

- Cabinet Report March 2006 

 Hania Franek 
020 7364 4302 

Agenda Item 7.3

Page 95



 
3 Background 
 
3.1 The Schools Forum was established in December 2002 as required by 

Section 47A of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (and as 
amended by the Education Act 2002).  

 
3.2 The purpose of the Schools Forum is to advise on matters relating to 

the authority’s school budget and it must be consulted on:- 
 

• Proposed changes to the school funding formula 
• Proposed contracts for certain supplies and services paid from the 

schools budget 
• Invitations to tender for these contracts 
• Annually on the schools budget 
• Other matters concerning the funding of schools. 
 

3.3 Since September 2006 the SF has had a decision-making role with   
formal powers to approve proposals from the local authority (LA) to 
move away from the requirements of the school funding regulations in 
response to local circumstances. 

 
3.4 The Schools Forum also acts as an advisory body to the Cabinet.  The 

members of the Schools Forum are accountable for the decisions and 
advice they give to the local authority to the groups that they represent: 
schools, governing bodies and trades unions. 

 
3.5 During 2005 a review was undertaken of the membership of the Forum.  

Following a consultation and approval by Cabinet in March 2006 the 
membership was reconstituted from September 2006.  The current 
composition is: 
 
School members:   5 Primary Headteachers 

    3 Secondary Headteachers 
    1 Special School Headteacher 
    1 Nursery School Headteacher 
    5 Primary Governors 
    3 Secondary Governors 
    1 Special School Governor 

1 Nursery School Governor 
Non-school members:     1 Trades Union Rep from the Schools Trades 

Union Forum 
              1 Rep from the RC Diocese 

1 Rep from the CE Diocese 
1 Rep from the Council of Mosques 

                    Total 24 

Page 96



 
4 The  Schools Forum (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 
 
4.1 The 2008 Regulations require changes to be made to the Tower 

Hamlets SF: 
 

a. Representatives of the 14-19 partnership (The Hub) and of the 
private, voluntary and independent early years providers must be 
appointed by 1 September 2008; 

 
b. Headteacher members may be represented by other senior school 

staff. 
 
4.2 The Regulations allow substitutes for school members and offer 

clarification about representation of faith bodies.  These provisions are 
already being complied with. 

 
  
5 Changes to the Membership and Constitution 
 
5.1 The draft Terms of Reference have been amended at Appendix A to 

reflect the new membership and changes to headteacher membership. 
 
5.2 The Hub and Early Years Partnership have been informed to nominate 

representatives and are responsible for the method by which they do 
so.  The Tower Hamlets guidance on the selection and nomination of 
representatives (Appendix B) was issued to both groups to assist them 
through this process.  They have both advised that they are in the 
process of selecting their representatives.  This guidance has been 
amended to reflect the impending changes described in this report.  

 
5.3 At present the Terms of Reference allow for the election of school 

members every two years with representatives taking up office at the 
start of the financial year in April.  The work of the Forum follows the 
academic year cycle and it is preferable that new members join the 
Forum when its annual programme of work begins in September.  It is 
therefore proposed to alter the Terms of Reference accordingly 
(paragraph 12, Appendix A). 

 
5.4 This proposal would affect the governors on the Forum whose terms of 

office were due to expire at the end of March 2009.  They would now 
be asked to continue to serve until the end of August although it should 
be noted that the Forum does not usually meet between June and 
September.  The positions left vacant by governors who prefer to step 
down in March would be filled in the interim. 

 
5.5 The annual election of the Chair and Vice-chair should also be moved 

from April to September. 
 
 

Page 97



6 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
6.1 There are no specific equalities considerations arising from the 

recommendations in the report. 
 
7      Anti Poverty Implications 
 
7.1 There are no specific anti poverty implications arising from the 

recommendations in the report. 
 
8      Risk Management Implications 
 
8.1 The Schools Forum is a statutory body and its Constitution must 

comply with Regulations.  It has an important advisory role and some 
decision making powers.  It is imperative that the Forum is properly 
constituted under law to avoid successful challenge to the legitimacy of 
its decisions. 

 
9     Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment (SAGE) 
 
9.1 There are no SAGE implications. 
 
10      Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
10.1 This report asks Cabinet to approve the constitution of the Tower 

Hamlets Schools Forum.  From 2006-07, the Local Authority  has made 
provision for the costs of the forum (which include direct servicing 
costs, the costs of papers presented and apportioned overheads) 
which is charged to the Dedicated Schools Grant.  Irrespective of this 
provision, there are no specific additional costs associated with the 
proposed reconstitution of the forum and, as such, no resource 
implications arising from this recommendation. 

 

10.2 In conjunction with the reconstitution of the forum, amended terms of 
reference will be required to take account of the new provisions. 

 
 
11 Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal        

Services) 
 
11.1 The Schools Forum (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 make 

changes to the procedural and membership arrangements established 
under Section 47A of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
(as amended by Schedule 16 of the Education Act 2005).  These new 
arrangements must be in place by 31st August 2008. 

 
11.2  Members are asked to consider (i) the reconstitution of the Schools 

Forum by Cabinet in accordance with the amendment regulations and 
(ii) the terms of reference of the reconstituted forum revised in 
consultation with the Senior Lawyer for Education. 

Page 98



 
11.3  The Schools Forum will continue to function as an advisory body to 

Cabinet.  The amendments contained within the new regulations are 
set out at section 4 of this report. 

 
12 Conclusions 

 
12.1 The Schools Forum must be reconstituted to comply with the new 

regulations.   The new members must be appointed by 1 September 
2008 and the provision for headteachers to be represented by senior 
members of their staff needs to be added to the Terms of Reference. 

 
 
13      Appendices 
 

Appendix A:  Draft Terms of Reference 2008 
 
Appendix B:  Guidance on the Selection and Nomination of Schools 
Forum Representatives 
 

Page 99



Appendix A   
TOWER HAMLETS EDUCATION 
 
Draft Schools Forum Terms of Reference 2008 
 
General 
 
1. The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Schools Forum is established 

pursuant to The Education Act 2005 and The Schools Forums (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2005.  

2. The purpose of a Schools Forum has been to advise on matters relating to 
the authority’s schools budget. The Forum will function as (i) an advisory 
body to the cabinet and (ii) a decision making body in relation to budgetary 
arrangements and proposals put forward by the local authority to the 
schools forum. It can not initiate its own proposals. 

 
Specific 
 
School Funding 
 
3. The purpose of the Schools Forum is to advise on matters relating to the 

authority’s school budget and it must be consulted upon; 
(i) Proposed changes to the school funding formula; 
(ii) Proposed contracts for certain supplies and services paid from the 

schools budget; 
(iii) Invitations to tender for these contracts; 
(iv) Annually on the schools budget; 
(v) Other matters concerning the funding of schools. 

 
Contracts 
 
4. i) The forum shall be consulted on the terms of any proposed contracts for 

supplies and services, paid from the schools’ budget, not less than 
£144,459 being the EU Public Procurement threshold for supplies and 
services. 
(ii) LBTH will consult at least one month prior to the invitation of tenders for 
such contracts. 
 

Financial Issues 
 
5. The forum shall have formal powers to approve proposals from the 

local authority to move away from the requirements of the school 
funding regulations in response to local circumstances. In particular: 

(i) To retain expenditure centrally within the Schools Budget on functions 
and activities not prescribed in regulations. 

(ii) Vary or remove any limit or condition imposed on what authorities can 
retain centrally within the Schools Budget by regulations.  

(iii) Vary the operation, method or rules set out in the school funding 
regulations which govern the calculation of school budget shares. 

Page 100



Information 
 
6. The Forum shall inform all governing bodies of the consultations and 

decisions carried out at the LBTH Schools Forum. 
 
Quorum 
 
7. The Forum shall be quorate if at least 40% of the total membership is 

present at a meeting. 
 
Membership 
 
8. School Members:  5 Primary head teachers 
     3 Secondary head teachers 
     1 Special School head teacher 
     1 Special School Governor 
     1 Nursery head teacher 
     1 Nursery Governor 
     5 Primary School Governors 
     3 Secondary School Governors 
Non-School Members:   1 TU Rep appointed by STUF from all unions  

 1 Rep nominated by the RC Diocese 
 1 Rep nominated by the CE Diocese 
 1 Rep from the Council of Mosques 
 1 Rep from the 14-19 Partnership (The Hub) 
 1 Rep from the private, voluntary and independent 
  early years providers 

 
Note 
Elected members who hold an executive role in a local authority (a lead 
member) are barred from being either a schools member or a non-schools 
member. 
Officers employed by the local education authority/Children’s Services 
Department who have a role in the strategic resource management of the 
authority are also barred from the membership of a Schools Forum. 
 
Voting Procedure 
 
9. The forum must determine its own voting procedure within its 

constitution. 
 
Election of Chair and Vice Chair 
 
10.  The Chair and Vice Chair should be elected annually by the Forum at 

the first meeting after the start of the academic year. 
The term of office of the Chair or Vice Chair will be two years.  
The Chair or Vice Chair shall be elected from amongst its own 
members except that any non-executive elected member or eligible 
officer who is a member of a forum may not hold the office of chair. 

 

Page 101



Election of Members 
 
11.  Each representative group will be responsible for the method by which 

they elect and nominate their representatives.  
A member’s term of office will lapse if they fail to attend 3 consecutive 
meetings or 4 meetings in an academic year without acceptable 
reasons agreed by the Forum. 
Headteachers may be represented by senior members of staff 
(meaning a principal, deputy Headteacher, bursar or other person 
responsible for the financial management of a school). 
Members may be substituted by a colleague eligible to serve in the 
same category as the member they are temporarily replacing. The 
Clerk to the Forum must be advised of the name of a substitute in 
advance of a meeting.  In the case of schools members the Forum will 
be consulted annually at the first meeting of the academic year on 
these arrangements. 

 
 
Tenure 
 
12.  Elections and nominations will be held every two years for school 

members.  Members will serve 2 years from 1st September.  Headteachers 
and governors will be appointed in alternate years.  The reconstituted 
Schools Forum will commence from 31 August 2008. Governors will serve 
from 1st September 2008. 

 
Non-schools members will also serve 2 years from 1st September, as 
above.  The CofE and RC Diocesan and Council of Mosques 
Representatives to be re-appointed one year and the Trades Union, 14-19 
Partnership and PVI Early Years Providers  Representatives to be re-
appointed in the following year. 

Page 102



Appendix B 
 

Tower Hamlets Children's 
Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE SCHOOLS FORUM: 
Guidance on the selection and 
nomination of representatives 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
July 2008 

Page 103



CONTENTS 
 
 
        
 Introduction         page 1 

Regulations        page 1 
Membership        page 1 

- Schools members      page 2 
- Election and nomination of schools members  page 2 
- Non-school members     page 3 
Restrictions on membership    page 3 
Nominated substitutes     page 3 

 Meetings and time commitments     page 4 
 

 
 
INTRODUCTION  
 
This guidance is drawn from the Good Practice Guidance for Schools Forums 
issued by the Department for Education and Skills (DfES) in December 2005 
and from advice promulgated by the LBTH Schools Forum. 
 
 
SCHOOLS FORUM REGULATIONS 
 
National regulations govern the composition, constitution and procedures of 
Schools Forums.  A copy of the regulations is available from the Clerk to the 
Schools Forum or they can be accessed at: 

 
http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/management/schoolfunding/quickindex/ 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Schools Forum members have a duty of fairness to all schools.  They are not 
appointed to represent the interests of their own school.  Members are 
normally appointed for 2 years from 1 April, in line with financial 
arrangements.  
 
The local authority recommends that consideration is given by the groups on 
the Schools Forum to reflecting the community of Tower Hamlets in the 
membership. 
 

Page 104



Schools members 
 
The LBTH schools members are: 
 

5 Primary Headteachers   5 Primary Governors 
 3 Secondary Headteachers  3 Secondary Governors 
 1 Special School Headteacher  1 Special School Governor 

1 Nursery School Headteacher  1 Nursery School Governor 
   
Schools members on the LBTH Schools Forum are representatives for their 
phase, not for the type of school, e.g. community, voluntary aided or voluntary 
controlled.    
  
 
Election and nomination of schools members 
 
Each group is responsible for their election or nomination process.  This must 
be determined by all the constituents, who should all have the opportunity to 
stand and vote in an election. 
 
For example, a vacancy amongst a community primary school head teachers’ 
group must be filled by a nominee elected according to a process that has 
been determined by all the community primary school head teachers and in 
which all community primary school head teachers had the opportunity to 
stand for election and/or vote in such an election.  
 
The services of the Clerk to the Forum will be available, if requested, for the 
purposes of organising appointments to the Schools Forum.  This could 
include the provision of advice and administrative support in organising 
elections. 
 
Any scheme for appointing representatives must take these factors into 
account; 
 

a. the process for collecting names of those wishing to stand for 
election.  All constituent members should be asked for 
nominations and allowed 10 working days to respond; 

 
b. the timescale for notifying all constituents of the election and 

those standing.  20 working days are recommended for ballots 
to be returned; 

 
c. the arrangements for dispatching and receiving ballots.  The use 

of numbered ballot papers is recommended; 
 

d. the arrangements for counting and publicising the results.  An 
impartial returning officer should be appointed.  This could be an 
officer provided by the Council, which has resident expertise in 
this area. 

Page 105



e. any arrangements for unusual circumstances, such as 
insufficient nominations being received.  In this circumstance 
further nominations should be invited in 3 months time.  

 
f. whether existing members can stand for re-election.  Providing a 

candidate remains eligible for election, allowing existing 
members to serve a further term on the Schools Forum can 
provide continuity and expertise. 

 
Representation of Headteachers by senior school staff 
 
Headteachers may be represented by senior members of staff (meaning a 
principal, deputy Headteacher, bursar or other person responsible for the 
financial management of the school) on the Schools Forum. 
 
 
Non-schools members 
 
The purpose of non-schools members is to bring greater breadth of discussion 
to Forum meetings and ensure that stakeholders and partners other than 
schools are represented.  
 
The non-school members of the LBTH Schools Forum are: 
 
1 Rep from the Schools Trade Union Forum 
1 Rep from the Council of Mosques 
1 Rep from the RC Diocese 
1 Rep from the CE Diocese 
1 Rep from the 14-19 Partnership (The Hub) 
1 Rep from the Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) providers of the free 
entitlement to early years education. 
 
 
Restrictions on membership 
 
There are two important restrictions placed on who can be a member of a 
Schools Forum. 
 
(i) Firstly, elected members who hold an executive role in a local authority 

(a lead member/portfolio holder) are barred from being either a schools 
member (by virtue of them being a governor) or a non-schools 
member. 

(ii)  Secondly, officers employed by the local education authority/Children’s 
Services Department who have a role in the strategic resource 
management of the authority are also barred from the membership of a 
forum. 

 
However, non-executive elected members and those officers who are 
employed in their capacity as head teachers or teachers or are otherwise 
engaged to provide direct support to pupils are eligible to be members of 
Forums.   

Page 106



 
Nominated substitutes 
 
Members may be substituted by a colleague eligible to serve in the same 
category as the member they are temporarily replacing.  The Clerk to the 
Forum must be advised of the name of a substitute in advance of a meeting.  
It is recommended that the groups on the Schools Forum should formally 
nominate substitutes. 
 
MEETINGS AND TIME COMMITMENTS 
 
Because of the need to align meetings of the Forum with the flow of school 
funding business throughout the year, the scheduling of meetings is decided 
by the Authority, taking account of views expressed by the Forum. 
 
Potential candidates are advised that meetings of one and a half hours may 
occur monthly during term time.  Regular attendance is important to ensure 
that the Forum is quorate to conduct its business and that all groups are fully 
represented. 
 
The agenda and papers, which are at times substantial, are circulated before 
meetings.  Minutes of meetings are sent to all members and will be circulated 
to Chairs of Governing Bodies and through the Headteachers’ Bulletin. 
 
Representatives are responsible for liaising with their colleagues on Schools 
Forum matters.  
 
Further Information 
 
Contact: Hania Franek 

Clerk to the Schools Forum 
Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London, E14 2BG 

  020-7364 4302 
 
  Email:  hania.franek@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\8\AI00015855\TowerHamletsHomelessnessStrategy200813FinalCAB3007080.doc 
 1 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
30th July 2008 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted 
 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Adults Health and Wellbeing 
 
Originating officer(s) David Baker, Strategy 
Manager 

Title:  
 
Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 
2008-13 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council has a statutory duty to conduct a review of homelessness in its 

area every five years and use that review to produce a homelessness strategy.  
The last strategy having been published in 2003, the timetable for the new 
strategy is July 2008.  This report presents for members’ consideration the new 
homelessness strategy at Appendix A and, at Appendix B, its associated action 
plan.  The strategy has been developed through extensive partnership working 
and is the culmination of an extensive review of levels of homelessness and 
service provision.  Appropriately, both the review and the production of the draft 
strategy relied on wide ranging consultation.  This consultation reaffirmed the 
strategy’s key messages that further improvements in the prevention and 
support of homelessness within Tower Hamlets requires commitment and 
involvement across the Council and Partnership; and that delivering 
improvements on homelessness will contribute across all five aims of the new 
draft Community Plan.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 

2.1  Approve the Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008-2013 and associated 
action plan attached at Appendix A and B respectively 

 

2.2    Invite the Partnership Management Group of the Tower Hamlets Partnership to 
endorse the strategy as a homelessness strategy for the Partnership as a 
whole. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  Brief description of “back ground papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

Review of Homelessness and Strategy Consultation 2008 David Baker x7523 
 
     

Agenda Item 8.1

Page 109



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\8\AI00015855\TowerHamletsHomelessnessStrategy200813FinalCAB3007080.doc 
 2 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Homelessness Act (2002) required local authorities to have in a place a 

homelessness strategy by July 31 2003, and then to publish a new strategy 
within 5 years, based on a further review of both levels of homelessness and 
resources and services available locally.   

3.2 Appreciating that the review of homelessness in the area is fundamental to the 
strategy’s development, it is expected that the review must cover: 
o levels and likely future levels of homelessness 
o the activities which are carried out to prevent homelessness; the securing of 

accommodation for those who are homeless; and the support available for 
those at risk of homelessness 

o The resources available for these activities / services 
3.3  A full and comprehensive review was conducted over 2007-08, and is available 

separately.  Extensive consultation on this review document with all relevant 
stakeholder groups, service user groups and wider partners has led to the 
establishment of five key aims for the strategy.  These succeed in reflecting the 
national agenda, but, importantly, they specifically capture key issues and 
challenges for Tower Hamlets.  They are: 

 
o Providing more support for families – preventing homelessness and 
meeting wider needs 

 
o Shaping services locally to support vulnerable people through to settled, 
sustainable options 

 
o Preventing overcrowding and homelessness by providing access to the 
right housing options at the right time 

 
o Delivering homelessness services as part of an integrated approach to 
employment and financial inclusion 

 
o Excellent services for local people, focussed around the needs of 
individuals and families 

 
3.4 Some of these themes have recently been considered by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, in its review of Choice Based Lettings, and this strategy is in 
line with that Committee’s recommendations. 

3.5 It is important to stress that none of these issues can be addressed by the 
Homelessness Service in isolation.  The strategy proposes building on significant 
partnership work already in place, working together to tackle the causes and 
consequences of homelessness. However, the enhancements proposed will 
have significant implications for, among others, the work of Children’s Services, 
including the Youth Service; for lettings policy; for the Supporting People 

Page 110



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\8\AI00015855\TowerHamletsHomelessnessStrategy200813FinalCAB3007080.doc 
 3 

programme and the development and allocation of supported accommodation; 
for adult social care services; for Community Safety Services and the Drug 
Action Team; and for employment services and the potential allocation of the 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund.  

3.6 After initial consideration of the Review of Homelessness at Corporate 
Management Team, a cross Directorate senior officer group was established to 
support the final development of the strategy.  The PCT was involved in this 
group, it having recently strengthened its involvement in homelessness by 
allocating some additional resources to related projects.   

3.7 The statutory responsibility for agreeing a homelessness strategy rests with the 
Council. However, given that further radical improvements in both the prevention 
of homelessness and the support of homeless families and individuals can only 
be achieved through concerted action across the Local Strategic Partnership, it is 
recommended that the Council should seek support and endorsement for the 
strategy through the LSP. The recommendations of this report therefore reflect 
the key principle that it should be the Partnership’s homelessness strategy, not 
just the Council’s. 

 
4. BODY OF REPORT 
 
4.1 The main strategy document is attached as appendix A, and the action plans as 

Appendix B 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 This report requests Cabinet to agree a new Homelessness Strategy together 

with an Action Plan.  
 
5.2 The Strategy and Action Plan includes numerous proposals which include the re-

prioritising of service provision.  
 
5.3 The cost of the proposals will be met from existing budgets, which include the 

Supporting People grant (£15.4 million in 2008/09) and the Homeless Prevention 
grant (£880,000 in 2008/09).  

 
5.4 One of the proposals, however, to redevelop the Daniel Gilbert House (see 3.3.3 

in Action Plan) will be subject to external capital funding being made available. 
 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 
6.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 provides that a local housing authority should 

exercise its powers to ensure that a new homelessness strategy is published 
within 5 years of the last published strategy which was in July 2003. 

 

Page 111



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\8\AI00015855\TowerHamletsHomelessnessStrategy200813FinalCAB3007080.doc 
 4 

6.2     The Homelessness Strategy Action Plan which follows from the strategy includes 
the involvement of voluntary sector agencies that have been consulted during the 
course of the review as required by the Act. 

 
6.3     It is a statutory requirement that approval is given by a body contributing to the 

achievement of the objectives of the strategy. 
 
  
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 An equality impact assessment has been conducted on the ‘Review of 

Homelessness and Strategy Consultation’ document, concluding that the 
recommendations would be likely to have a positive effect across most diversity 
strands and no negative impact on any.  All issues raised through the EqIA 
process have been built into the strategy recommendations and action plan.     

 
8. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 An absolutely fundamental theme of the strategy is about delivering better 

services for some of the borough’s most disadvantaged and vulnerable families 
and individuals.  There are a number of specific recommendations about 
increasing access to employment and promoting financial inclusion, in addition to 
the main themes of supporting people into settled and sustainable housing 
options – a key basis for tackling poverty.   

 
9. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
9.1 There are no specific implications arising from this report. 
 
10. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The strategy and action plan have been developed in wide consultation with all 

relevant partners and service user representatives.  The action plan in particular 
has been finalised by an ‘officers group’ comprising representatives from Adults 
Health and Wellbeing, Development and Renewal, Communities Localities and 
Culture, Children’s Services, Primary Care Trust and East London NHS 
Foundation Trust.  Both strategy and action plan have also been audited by an 
external consultant, with any additional recommendations built into this final draft.   

 
10.2 As stated in the final section of the strategy, while statutory responsibility rests 

with the Council, governance and monitoring will also take place through the 
Tower Hamlets Partnership, to embed the partnership approach described 
throughout the document.  Annual progress updates will be provided both to 
Cabinet and the relevant partnership structures.     

 
 

Page 112



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\5\8\AI00015855\TowerHamletsHomelessnessStrategy200813FinalCAB3007080.doc 
 5 

11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 The Appendices included in this report are :- 
 

Appendix A - Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 [ Pages 6 – 22] 
 
Appendix B - Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 ACTION PLAN   

[Pages 23 – 51] 
 

Page 113



 6 

Appendix A 
 
Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 
 
 
Contents 
 
Introduction and overview       7 
 
Children, young people and families     10 
 
Supporting vulnerable people      13 
 
Access to housing        16 
 
Employment and economic well-being     18 
 
Excellent public services       20 
 
Delivering the strategy and summary of main proposals  22

Page 114



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 7 

Introduction and overview 
 
Finding somewhere to live is the 
basis for so much else – getting a 
job, staying healthy, being part of 
the community.  Without a home, 
life can get put on hold.  In our 
increasingly dynamic, crowded and 
popular borough of Tower Hamlets, 
the challenges of finding the right 
place to live are probably as great 
as anywhere else in the UK.  As a 
local authority and partnership, we 
therefore owe it to all our 
communities and populations to do 
everything possible to make the 
process easier.  Getting it right will 
help get many other important 
things right – improving health, 
helping children and young people 
do well, reducing re-offending and 
building stronger and more 
prosperous communities.   
 
No one sentence can ever capture 
everything that needs to be done in 
this area, but if we had to sum it up we 
might say that we want to: 
 
“Make finding and keeping a home 
easier; and in doing so improve health 
and well-being, education and 
employment, and community and 
family life” 
 
In the following pages, we describe the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ 
approach to tackling homelessness, 
setting the direction and priorities for 
the next 3-5 years.  In the simplest 
terms, this means showing how the 
Council, in partnership with a vast 
range of organisations will: 
o Prevent homelessness 
o Provide accommodation for those 

who are homeless 
o Support those who are homeless 

or at risk of homelessness  
 
We also show how we will meet a 
number of challenging targets set by 
central government: 

o Reducing the number of 
households in temporary 
accommodation by half by 2010 

o Providing supported housing for all 
homeless 16-17 year olds by 2010 

o Keeping rough sleeping below one 
third of 1999 levels, and reducing it 
even further 

 
Progress since 2003 
 
In 2003, the borough’s first 
homelessness strategy set the two 
main aims of preventing 
homelessness and improving services.  
Progress in both areas has been very 
significant.  The Council now has a full 
range of homelessness prevention 
services in place including tenancy 
support, rent deposit schemes, 
housing advice and options, 
mediation, and a sanctuary scheme for 
women at risk of domestic violence.  
As a result the number of statutory 
homeless applications and 
acceptances fell by approximately 
50% between 2003 and 2008.  The 
number of households in temporary 
accommodation continues to fall 
steadily.   
 
There have also been advances in 
service improvement.  The Homeless 
Service has received accreditation, 
and recently re-accreditation, for the 
Charter Mark standard for excellent 
customer service, and the relocation of 
the service to Bethnal Green with a 
brand new reception area has 
dramatically improved customer 
satisfaction levels.  Through the 
Supporting People programme we 
have improved the quality and local 
focus of commissioned services for 
homeless people and related groups.  
Extensive partnership working has 
improved the focus and coordination of 
all services, helping them to meet the 
needs of the borough more effectively 
– much of which is summarised in the 
following chapters.        
 

Page 115



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 8 

The present context and challenges 
 
Despite a record of success, the pace 
of change in the borough and trends in 
the levels of need mean that there 
remains much to be done.  Demand 
on services remains extremely high – 
at the Homeless Service alone, over 
4000 households per year are 
presenting in some form of housing 
need.  Statutory homelessness still 
disproportionately affects BME 
communities, younger families and 
young people, largely reflecting the 
challenges of household formation in 
overcrowded conditions1.  Rapid 
economic development alongside 
persistently high levels of 
worklessness and deprivation mean 
that home ownership or the private 
rented sector is out of reach for many 
local residents.     
 
Demand related to individual 
vulnerability remains high from a range 
of different sources including those 
undergoing transitions from the 
criminal justice system, young people 
leaving home, refugees, and women 
involved in prostitution.  Levels of 
personal vulnerability are generally 
reported to be rising, including higher 
levels of mental health problems and 
complex needs. 
 
As we look forward over the next 5 
years, a number of factors are likely to 
increase the demand on housing and 
homelessness services in general: 
o Significant projected increases in 

local population 
o The continued influx of existing 

and new communities, including 
those who have no direct recourse 
to public funds 

o The borough’s ‘young’ age profile 
and rapidly increasing youth 
population 

o Continued economic development 
in Canary Wharf and the City, as 

                                                 
1 Overcrowding is effectively the main cause of 
statutory homelessness locally – 60% of 
acceptances are due to ejection by family, 
relatives or friends 

well as the Lea Valley Olympic 
site, keeping prices high in the 
private rented sector 

o The Olympics, and the potential for  
problems associated with transient 
workforces 

 
Present trends in the number of 
housing need presentations, and the 
wider number of clients in contact with 
services, support the view that overall 
demand on services is increasing.      
 
 
Direction and priorities for 2008-13 
 
This present and emerging context, 
our in-depth review of levels of 
homelessness and service provision 
(available separately), and extensive 
consultation with people who use 
services and the wider sector, has led 
us to identify 5 central themes to form 
the basis of the 2008-13 strategy:  
 
o Providing more support for 

families – preventing 
homelessness and meeting 
wider needs 

 
o Shaping services locally to 

support vulnerable people 
through to settled, sustainable 
options 

 
o Preventing overcrowding and 

homelessness by providing 
access to the right housing 
options at the right time 

 
o Delivering homelessness 

services as part of an integrated 
approach to employment and 
financial inclusion 

 
o Excellent services for local 

people, focussed around the 
needs of individuals and 
families 

 
While reflecting national goals, these 
priorities specifically capture local 
Tower Hamlets issues and challenges.  
And while it is impossible to address 
each in isolation, we use them as a 

Page 116



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 9 

basis for structuring the rest of this 
document. 
 
Taken together however, and running 
through each, is the view that we have 
now reached a point where we both 
can, and need, to make a step change 
in service delivery.  Much of this is 
about increased partnership working 
and integration to deliver more early 
intervention and prevention, and 
improving the support we provide to 
homeless households – some of the 
most disadvantaged in our community.  
It is also about getting access routes 
to housing right, so that we are able to 
take a more coordinated approach to 
helping people into jobs, tackle social 
exclusion and promote community 
cohesion.          
 
 
The Tower Hamlets Partnership, 
Community Plan and Local Area 
Agreement 
 
As we’ve already said, it is absolutely 
fundamental that success in these 
areas can only be delivered in 
partnership: among statutory agencies 
– Adults Health and Wellbeing, 
Children’s Services, Housing, health 
services and the criminal justice 
system; between public, private and 
third sectors; between service users 
and providers; between local 
communities and local authority.  As 
much as in any area, it will therefore 
be necessary to deliver this strategy 
through the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership structures, with the full 
involvement of all partners.   
 
While based within the Safer and 
Supportive block of the new draft 
Community Plan, this strategy shows 
how making progress on 
homelessness will contribute across all 
5 themes, and to a significant number 
of Local Area Agreement targets.  This 
includes: 
o Increasing employment rates 

among disadvantaged groups 
o Reducing child poverty 

o Keeping young people safe, 
healthy and engaged with services 

o Reducing crime and re-offending 
o Improving health outcomes 
o Tackling inequality, and promoting 

cohesion through a fair and 
transparent allocation of social 
housing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We now turn to the five themes of the 
strategy in more detail. 

Draft Community Plan 2020 aims and 
Homelessness Strategy priorities 

One Tower Hamlets 
 

Preventing overcrowding and 
homelessness by providing 
access to the right housing 

options at the right time  

A Great Place to Live 
 

Excellent services for local 
people, focussed around the 

needs of individuals and families 
 

Prosperous Communities 
 

Delivering homelessness 
services as part of an integrated 

approach to employment and 
financial inclusion 

 

Safe and Supportive 
Communities 

 
Shaping services locally to 
support vulnerable people 

through to settled, sustainable 
options 

 
Healthy Communities 

 
Providing more support for 

families – preventing 
homelessness and meeting 

wider needs 
 

Page 117



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 10 

Children, young people 
and families 
 
Our vision is: providing more 
support for families – preventing 
homelessness and meeting wider 
needs 
 
1 in 12 children in Tower Hamlets 
live in homeless households.  
Young people leaving home feature 
disproportionately highly amongst 
homelessness presentations.  Both 
figures show that families in Tower 
Hamlets face some very 
considerable challenges - 
particularly around transitions to 
new household formation in the 
context of overcrowded housing 
and a lack of affordable options. 
 
Families and young people in housing 
need are also overwhelmingly from the 
more disadvantaged parts of the 
community.  Approximately 60% of 16-
17 year olds in housing need are not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET), compared to 8% in Tower 
Hamlets as a whole, and are also very 
likely to have additional support needs.  
90% of households in temporary 
accommodation are on low income 
means-tested benefits2.  The potential 
risks and further disadvantage caused 
by homelessness are well-
documented – from a lack of contact 
with services, to disrupted schooling, 
to increased debt and worklessness, 
to poorer health.    
 
About 85% of statutory homelessness 
acceptances involve, in some way, 
families – either directly, or through 
pregnancy or 16-17 year olds leaving 
home.  Given local demographic 
trends, investing in children and young 
people is ever more critical for the 
borough’s future prosperity and well-
being.   
                                                 
2 As a general comparison 67% of children in 
Tower Hamlets as a whole are living in income 
deprived households, (2007 IDACI) the most 
deprived borough in England for this indicator.  

 
 
Progress since 2003 
Over the last five years a number of 
important achievements have 
improved the situation for families 
facing housing problems.  We have 
ended the long-term use of B&B 
accommodation.  A range of 
prevention services including housing 
advice, debt advice and rent deposit 
options in the private sector have 
reduced the number of families 
accepted as homeless and driven 
down the numbers in temporary 
accommodation.  The quality of 
temporary accommodation has been 
significantly improved by re-
commissioning within a quality 
assurance framework.  Most homeless 
households are now accommodated in 
the borough, reducing the potential for 
disrupted links with schools, GPs and 
other services. 
 
For young people, mediation services 
enable the majority of 16-17 year olds 
presenting as homeless to return 
home.  There is a range of supported 
accommodation in the borough, 
including a foyer and some specialist 
provision including for teenage parents 
– although overall capacity is much 
smaller than some other comparable 
boroughs.  There is some excellent 
partnership working in place, 
particularly around supporting and 
accommodating care leavers.  We are 
delivering a schools-based peer 
education programme with local young 
people’s agency Step Forward about 
the risks and realities of leaving home.   
 
More widely, the borough’s Children 
and Young People’s plan, developing 
partnership on integrated youth 
support with a diverse third sector, 
encompasses a vast range of services 
for children and young people. 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 11 

Despite these achievements, we 
know that there is a long way to go 
to better meet the needs of children, 
young people and families.  Our 
focus for the next 3-5 years for 
children and families will be: 
 
Getting the right partnerships in 
place at strategic level to shape 
services around the needs of 
families, including: 
 
o Increasingly locating work with 

homeless families and young 
people within the Every Child 
Matters framework to deliver 
improved outcomes across the five 
key areas of: be healthy; stay safe; 
enjoy and achieve; make a positive 
contribution; and achieve 
economic well-being.  More 
specifically, this will involve better 
shaping services around the needs 
of homeless families through the 
Family Support and Parental 
Engagement Strategy and the 
newly established Think Family 
Strategy Group.   

 
o Placing work with young people in 

housing need firmly within the 
framework of integrated and 
targeted youth support, and all 
related best practice and 
development e.g. in the roll out of 
the lead professional role and 
more personalised packages of 
support. 

 
o Exploring options for aligning 

budgets and joint commissioning 
with Children’s Services 
particularly around mediation, 
family and parenting support 
services; and supported housing 
for 16-21 year olds and wider 
youth support.  

 
 
Working within the broad multi-
agency approach of early 
intervention and prevention, 
including:   
 

o Introducing the use of the 
Common Assessment Framework 
and Family Assessment 
Framework in the Homeless 
Service - intervening before 
problems have a chance to 
escalate and making the right links 
to all other services, for both 
families and young people 

 
o Developing our approach to early 

intervention for young people as 
part of an integrated range of 
youth, family, parenting and 
community support; and with an 
additional focus on schools work 
and peer support 

 
o Coordinating work on prevention 

with a review of the allocations 
policy to better meet the needs of 
overcrowded households (see 
section 5) 

 
Providing better and more 
comprehensive support for parents, 
families and young people who are 
homeless: 
 
o For households in temporary 

accommodation, strengthening 
links with all relevant mainstream, 
targeted and specialist services on 
the basis of improved needs 
assessment through the CAF.  In 
line with the Children and Young 
People’s Plan, a particular focus 
will be on families with children 
under 5.  In partnership with the 
PCT we are funding two health 
visitors to be based at Children’s 
Centres and conduct outreach 
work with families in temporary 
accommodation.   

 
o Providing on-going support to the 

parents of young people 
presenting as homeless, to foster 
longer-term resolutions and 
improved outcomes for the whole 
family 

 
o Placing all homeless 16-17 years 

olds in supported housing, and 
developing supported housing 

Page 119



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 12 

services on an assessment centre 
and pathway approach, with 
effective routes onto a range of 
independent living options, 
facilitated by the Housing Options 
and Support Team (HOST).  

 
o Providing targeted and sustained 

support to teenage parents, either 
through placement in supported 
housing, or links to mainstream or 
specialist services (e.g. Family 
Nurse Partnership)  

 
o Exploring options for extending 

mainstream tenancy support 
services to cover households in 
temporary accommodation 

 
Playing a key role in wider strategic 
aims on children, young people and 
families, including   
 
o Being a key part of efforts to 

reduce child poverty, in line with 
the LAA target 

 
o Working within the localisation 

agenda, with geographically based 
information about homelessness 
and homeless households feeding 
into local planning e.g. Extended 
Schools Service planning in LAP 
area clusters.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the next 1-2 years our 
priorities will be to: 
 
Reduce the number of households in 
temporary accommodation by half (of 
2005 levels) by 2010 
 
Link all families, young people and 
teenage parents experiencing 
homelessness to the full range of 
mainstream services across health, 
employment, parenting and tenancy 
support 
 
Place all homeless 16-17 year olds 
(where returns home are not 
possible) in supported 
accommodation by 2010 
 
Work in partnership to reduce levels 
of child poverty in homeless 
households.   
 

Page 120



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 13 

Supporting vulnerable 
people 
 
Our vision is: Shaping services 
locally to support vulnerable people 
through to settled, sustainable 
options. 
 
The East End has a long and 
famous history of providing a 
refuge for those who are homeless 
or destitute.  In Tower Hamlets 
today, demand on services from 
those with various kinds of 
individual vulnerability is extremely 
high.  The range and levels of needs 
are extensive.  The Homeless 
Service alone sees approximately 
1500-2000 single homeless3 people 
per year, about 30% with some form 
of support or more complex need.  
Up to 1000 people per year undergo 
transitions from the criminal justice 
system and return to the local area 
– many of whom have housing and 
support needs.  Over the course of 
a year about 200 different 
individuals are contacted sleeping 
rough, although the numbers on 
any given night are likely to be 
below 10.  The borough has one of 
the most significant street-based 
prostitution areas in London.  The 
number of women presenting as 
homeless with needs relating to 
domestic violence is a key local 
concern.     
 
The range of needs in the borough has 
led to a correspondingly vast array of 
services on offer, many provided by a 
very diverse third sector.  With 
approximately 1000 hostel bed-spaces 
locally, day centres and outreach 
services, prison exit and diversion 
schemes, women’s refuges and 
refugee advice services, and some 
                                                 
3 ‘Single homeless’ is a very general term 
which does not do justice to the complexities of 
many clients’ situations.  Here it is used 
basically to describe people who are presenting 
as homeless not as part of a family or not 
specifically with dependent children    

nationally recognised skills and 
employment services for the 
homeless, Tower Hamlets is a match 
for any other area in its efforts over the 
years to assist those in housing need. 
 
Progress since 2003 
Over the last 5 years, the combined 
impact of the Homelessness Act 
(2002) and Supporting People (from 
2003) has meant the local authority 
taking on a greater strategic 
responsibility in this area.  This has led 
to improved coordination between 
services, improved standards for 
services contract-managed through 
the Supporting People framework, a 
better focus on local needs, and better 
outcomes for groups not previously 
well-served by homelessness 
legislation.  
 
More specifically, some of the positive 
changes have included: 
o The redevelopment of Riverside 

House, Hopetown Hostel and the 
Dellow Centre, producing some of 
the highest quality hostel 
accommodation in London 

o The new Housing Options and 
Support Team (HOST) in the 
Homeless Service providing an 
integrated access point to hostels, 
supported housing and move-on 
accommodation, on the basis of 
individual needs.  Significantly, the 
service is also focussing local 
services on local needs.   

o More focussed and proactive 
partnership working on rough 
sleeping, improving the local 
management of the situation 

o Increased provision for women at 
Hopetown hostel, including specific 
provision for women exiting 
prostitution 

o The development of a sanctuary 
scheme and other specialist 
provision for women at risk of 
domestic violence 

o Targeted advice, support, and 
prison exit schemes for ex-
offenders, which played a key part 
in the borough being awarded 

Page 121



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 14 

Beacon Status for reducing re-
offending. 

o Improved service standards in 
hostels leading to a reduction in 
the number of evictions and 
abandonments   

 
Over the next 3-5 years our 
priorities will be: 
 
Developing services as a targeted 
and accessible resource for those 
with housing and support needs 
from all our local communities and 
populations, including: 
 
o Through coordination and joint-

working between HOST, outreach 
services and day centres, and 
operation of a reconnections 
policy, increasingly focussing 
access to hostel accommodation 
on local needs through an 
integrated access point, with a 
much more structured 
management of remaining cross-
authority provision 

 
o Gaining a greater understanding of 

the culturally specific needs of 
women from local communities 

 
o Increasing our focus on using 

single homeless services for local 
people leaving the criminal justice 
system, including young offenders.  
This will be coordinated by a 
specific criminal justice worker 
within HOST     

 
o Redeveloping services in need of 

physical infrastructure 
improvement, in line with the 
Places of Change agenda 

 
Meeting the needs of the most 
vulnerable, including: 
 
o Placing single homeless people in 

priority need categories in 
supported housing where this 
would be a better option than 
unsupported self-contained 
accommodation, and making 
greater use of longer-term move-

on quotas to provide permanent 
accommodation at the right time.  
This will allow a greater degree of 
integration with Adult Social Care 
and health services around routes 
into housing for those with mental 
health needs. 

 
o Ending rough sleeping as an 

enduring local problem, providing 
targeted, proactive services able to 
engage both with new rough 
sleepers and those with enduring 
and complex needs 

 
o Developing partnership working 

with statutory agencies including 
the DAAT and East London NHS 
Foundation Trust, particularly 
around the provision of outreach 
and co-located services.   

 
o Providing more support for women 

in temporary accommodation, 
particularly where they have needs 
related to Domestic Violence  

 
o Focussing on women with complex 

needs, including those leaving 
prison or involved in prostitution.  
More specifically, this will include, 
in partnership with the PCT, DAAT 
and DV Team, developing a pilot 
project for women with complex 
needs around substance misuse 
and DV   

 
Improving pathways through 
accommodation and increasing 
move-on options 
 
o Developing more of a pathway 

approach through hostels and 
supported housing, including for 
those with mental health needs, 
drug needs and / or exiting the 
criminal justice system; and a 
more flexible approach on moves 
between hostels to better meet 
individual needs, coordinated by 
HOST 

 
o Providing more long-term options 

for women, including through 

Page 122



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 15 

cross-authority protocols and 
move-on facilitated by HOST 

 
o Facilitating more direct transitions 

between prison and supported 
housing, reducing the loss of 
housing for those entering prison 
and focussing on mediation work, 
where appropriate, to facilitate 
moves back home after prison 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the next 1-2 years our 
priorities will be to: 
 
Shape services more specifically on 
local, Tower Hamlets needs. 
 
End rough sleeping as an enduring 
local problem 
 
Place single people in priority need 
categories in supported housing, 
where this would be the best option 
for them 
 
Provide more support for women 
experiencing homelessness 
 
 

Page 123



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 16 

Access to housing 
 
Our vision is: preventing 
overcrowding and homelessness by 
providing access to the right 
housing options at the right time 
 
Over the last 20 years the number 
of homes in Tower Hamlets has 
increased by 50% from 62,000 in 
1985 to 92,000 in 2005, with a huge 
amount of private and public sector 
housing investment in the borough.  
Demand, however, continues to out-
pace supply.  The number of 
households on the Common 
Housing Register is now over 
20,000, but every year only about 
2000 social housing lets become 
available, only 13% of which are 
family size homes (3-beds or more).   
While excellent service provision 
for families and vulnerable people 
has been the theme of the first two 
sections, this strategy would be 
only half complete without talking 
about the obvious - the need for 
more housing, and the right access 
routes into it.    
 
Increasing housing supply locally is 
obviously a key aim for the borough.  
In 2007-08 Tower Hamlets delivered 
over 1000 new affordable homes.   
The borough has the second highest 
annual new homes target in the capital 
– 3,150 per year.  Despite these 
increasing levels of new supply, the 
issues for homeless households 
remain about access to affordable 
housing, and getting the balance right 
with other community needs.  
Overcrowding in particular remains a 
key local issue, despite considerable 
achievements in this area.  Over the 
last ten years the number of 
households lacking 2 bedrooms has 
decreased from 1,496 to 358, and the 
number lacking 1 bedroom from 2,549 
to 1,177.   
 
Work on overcrowding, measures to 
prevent homelessness and the 
potential to review the borough’s 

lettings policy mean that we now have 
the opportunity to develop a more 
integrated and strategic approach to 
social housing, as well as wider 
options and alternatives.   
 
 
Over the next 3-5 years our 
approach will include:      
 
Reviewing and developing access 
routes to social housing, enabling 
integrated and strategic use to 
tackle underlying problems, 
including: 
o Considering whether priority 

should continue to be given to 
homeless families above others 
with a ‘reasonable preference’ and 
whether to increase the priority 
given to overcrowded households.  
Whatever the outcome, a key aim 
will be to increase information and 
transparency on waiting times.   

o Developing a different approach to 
lettings for single person 
households – with potentially a 
greater use of supported housing 
and longer-term move-on quotas 
to meet overall needs in a more 
holistic way than the priority need 
test (as currently applied) allows.   

o Developing proposals for 
increasing the proportion of 1-bed 
lettings to go to homeless / 
vulnerable single people moving 
on from supported housing, on the 
basis that access to supported 
housing will be focussed 
exclusively on local people. 

 
Increasing social housing supply by 
making best use of existing stock, 
further: 
o Increasing mobility, through 

Capital Moves, East London 
Housing Partnership and use of 
Seaside and Country Homes. 

o Reducing under-occupancy 
through further incentives and 
assistance with moves  

Page 124



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 17 

o Bringing empty homes back into 
use in the private sector through 
the continuing use of targeted 
grants and incentives 

o Finalising a temporary to 
permanent scheme4 to contribute 
towards the 2010 target to reduce 
the number of households in 
temporary accommodation by half  

 
Increasing access to the private 
rented sector and making it a more 
attractive option: 
o As a prevention option, through 

increased incentives and choice  
o Developing a more proactive and 

assertive options service for 
households in temporary 
accommodation 

o Facilitating more move-on from 
hostels into the private rented 
sector through a pilot project with 
Look Ahead Housing and Care 
and Westminster City Council 

o Providing more tenancy support for 
households in private rented sector  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                 
4 Cabinet agreed in March 2007 to the 
development of proposals for a ‘temporary to 
permanent’ scheme. This would involve 
entering into a partnership with a social 
housing provider whereby properties would be 
acquired and made available as temporary 
accommodation for homeless families; the 
rents (paid by Housing Benefit) would go to pay 
off the debt incurred through this purchase; and 
the properties would become permanent social 
rented housing once they were debt free. The 
financial modelling also assumes a contribution 
from the Council of up to 200 existing non 
secure tenancy properties to the scheme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the next 1-2 years our priorities 
will be to: 
 
Review the allocations policy to meet 
overall need in a more strategic way, 
recognising that overcrowding and new 
household formation are the main cause 
of homelessness locally 
 
Review our approach to the allocation of 
permanent housing for single people, to 
provide the right housing options at the 
right time, and resolve the move-on 
problem from supported housing  
 
Develop a temporary to permanent 
scheme 
 
Make the private rented sector a better 
option 

Page 125



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 18 

Employment and 
economic well-being 
 
Our vision is: delivering 
homelessness services as part of 
an integrated approach to 
employment and financial inclusion 
 
Homelessness and worklessness 
are heavily correlated.  While 
unemployment or financial 
difficulties can cause 
homelessness, arguably of more 
significance is the long-term 
economic impact on homeless 
households, often in a situation 
where the barriers – either personal 
or financial – of moving into 
employment seem too great.  
People living in temporary 
accommodation or hostels often tell 
us that they want to work.  Most 
have worked at some point in their 
lives and many would like to work 
again.  We want to capitalise on 
these aspirations and closely link 
work with those in housing need to 
measures to increase employment 
and financial inclusion. 
 
The figures on homelessness, 
worklessness and financial exclusion 
in Tower Hamlets are clear: 
o Over 90% of households living in 

temporary accommodation in 
Tower Hamlets are in receipt of 
housing benefit – the vast majority 
are on low incomes or workless 

o In a recent survey 84% of 
households in temporary 
accommodation said they would 
like to receive information about 
employment opportunities  

o Only about 8% of the borough’s 
hostel residents are in full or part-
time employment, although about 
half are involved in some form of 
education, training or personal 
development course5 

 

                                                 
5 Jan 2006 figure 

In Tower Hamlets there are a wide 
range of training and skills 
development, employment and 
financial inclusion services, many with 
a considerable focus on homeless 
people (see review of homelessness 
for full details).  Local centres such as 
Crisis Skylight and Turnaround E1 
provide widely recognised expertise in 
these areas.   
 
Our approach for the next 3-5 years 
will be about taking a more integrated 
approach in the whole area of housing, 
employment and financial inclusion, 
making accommodation solutions a 
good platform for employment and 
inclusion.  This will include: 
 
Targeting and linking mainstream 
employment provision with 
homeless households – both those 
in temporary accommodation and 
hostels 
 
o Providing better and more targeted 

information provision, signposting 
and advice and developing co-
located work with Job Centre Plus 
and Skillsmatch through the City 
Strategy Pilot. 

 
o Through the Single Point of 

Access programme, targeting 
advice and support on homeless 
households according to 
geographical area, through links to 
community hubs, extended 
schools services and Children’s 
Centres. 

 
Developing a financial inclusion 
strategy for households in 
temporary accommodation, both 
around reducing arrears, and 
removing the financial disincentives 
to employment 
 
o Exploring options for extending 

mainstream tenancy support over 
households in temporary 
accommodation to focus on 
reducing rent arrears 

 

Page 126



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 19 

o Providing targeted advice on 
benefits, tax credits etc., and using 
the opportunity of presentation 
around housing need to engage on 
issues such as debt and 
worklessness 

 
o Developing a financial incentives 

scheme / subsidised rent scheme 
in partnership with relevant 
agencies for those moving into 
employment, providing specific 
support and planning where 
required 

 
o Playing a key role in wider 

partnership in the borough to 
reduce levels of child poverty, in 
line with the LAA target 

 
Developing a more integrated 
approach to skills development in 
services for single homeless people 
 
o Establishing a skills development 

forum. 
 
Developing more links between 
employers and homeless people 
 
o Supporting and developing social 

enterprises and work placements 
in partnership with local 
businesses and service providers, 
building on existing placement 
schemes run by Skillsmatch, ELBA 
and others.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the next 1-2 years our 
priorities will be to: 
 
Focus on getting people into 
employment 
 
Reduce the impact of debt, arrears and 
the benefit trap of homelessness  
 
 

Page 127



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 20 

Excellent public 
services 
 
Our vision is: excellent services for 
local people, focussed around the 
needs of individuals and families 
 
Delivering excellent public services 
means delivering services which 
are easy to access, value for 
money, targeted at needs and 
shaped locally.  It also means 
constantly challenging and 
improving the way we do things.  
Significantly, of course, those in 
housing need are some of the 
borough’s most vulnerable and 
disadvantaged people – making it 
all the more essential, and 
sometimes challenging, to deliver 
excellence.  We want the 
homelessness sector’s existing 
strengths to allow it to develop into 
a leading example for all sectors, 
able to meet the increasingly 
complex demands of the next 5-10 
years.   
 
Over the last few years a number of 
developments have taken the 
excellent public services agenda 
forward: 
o The Supporting People 

Commissioning Body provides an 
integrated governance structure, 
and joint commissioning and 
working between Supporting 
People, the Homeless Service and 
Community Safety is leading to 
integrated front-line delivery in the 
Housing Options and Support 
Team (HOST) 

o Recent joint working with the PCT 
has led to a range of short-term 
projects being commissioned to 
benefit children in homeless 
families, women with complex 
need, rough sleepers and 
households with occupational 
therapy needs 

o The development of more 
personalised and flexible packages 
of support for individuals through 
HOST and a multi-agency case 

conference approach for rough 
sleepers with complex needs 

o Service user involvement through 
our Skylight Group for hostel 
residents, and user group for 
residents of temporary 
accommodation.  Skylight Group 
members have joined the strategy 
team on work placements, and 
temporary accommodation 
residents have conducted ‘mystery 
shopping’ exercises. 

o The development of a broader and 
more integrated outcomes 
framework through the Supporting 
People national framework 

o The Homeless Service’s 
accreditation, and recent re-
accreditation for the Charter Mark 
standard for excellent customer 
service 

o The development of a large 
number of partnership meetings 
and forums where homelessness 
is a key interest.   

 
Despite these developments, we know 
that there is a long way to go to deliver 
truly excellent services.  Over the next 
3-5 years we will focus on the 
following four areas: 
 
Developing leadership, integration 
and partnership working: 
 
o Building in interagency working at 

all levels: governance (through the 
right senior level partnerships); 
strategy (through working towards 
broad outcomes as part of the 
LAA); processes (e.g. through use 
of CAF and lead professionals); 
and delivery (e.g. HOST, 
Children’s Centres, integrated 
youth services) 

 
o Developing a stronger and more 

integrated commissioning platform 
for homeless and socially excluded 
people – with a foundation of 
rigorous needs analysis, planning, 
target setting and performance 
information.  This should reflect 
commissioning structures in other 

Page 128



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 21 

areas of Adults Health and Well-
being and Children’s Services.   

 
o Moving towards an integrated 

contract management and review 
framework for all local authority 
funded homelessness and related 
services – hostels and other 
support housing, day centres, 
outreach and additional 
preventative services. This will 
include a fully comprehensive 
approach to diversity monitoring. 

 
o Exploring the integration of 

relevant assessment frameworks, 
potentially allowing health, social 
care and housing support needs to 
be assessed at the same time.   

 
Taking forward the themes of 
personalisation, choice, 
independence and opportunity, 
making services for homeless 
people a leading example 
 
o Based on the existing homeless 

prevention fund administered by 
HOST, consider developing a pilot 
programme to take forward an 
approach to using individual 
budgets in the homelessness 
sector 

 
o Significantly improve approach to 

assessment of children’s and 
families needs through use of 
Common Assessment Framework, 
making links to other services as 
appropriate 

 
o Offer more work placements and 

employment opportunities to 
existing or former service users, 
particularly to lead on consultation 
projects 

 
Producing a workforce 
development strategy  
 
o Improving homelessness services 

across both local authority and 
third sector by developing a 
strategy to reflect the community; 
increase capacity, skills and career 

options; and make the sector a 
great place to work 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



Appendix A – Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 FINAL DRAFT 

 22 

Delivering the strategy and 
summary of main proposals 
 
Resources 
This strategy is based on the assumption 
that all actions and improvements will be 
delivered within existing resources.  Current 
spending on homelessness is about £14m, 
comprising approximately: 
o £3-3.5m – Homeless Service net budget 
o £880,000 – Homelessness Prevention 

Grant 
o £10m – Supporting People spending on 

homeless and related client groups (e.g. 
young people, ex-offenders etc.) 

 
Partnership working will lever in additional 
resources, as has already been the case 
with funding from the PCT and Community 
Safety directed towards homeless clients.  
Re-aligning of budgets and in some cases 
joint commissioning (e.g. potentially with 
Children’s Services) will also bring improved 
efficiencies and outcomes.  The strategy’s 
priorities, particularly around employment, 
are also closely aligned with the focus of the 
new Working Neighbourhoods Fund, 
bringing considerable potential for increased 
partnership working in these areas.     
 
Governance and monitoring 
While statutory responsibility for the 
homelessness strategy rests with the 
Council, governance and monitoring will 
also take place through the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership, to embed the partnership 
approach described throughout the 
document.  Annual progress updates will be 
provided both to Cabinet and the relevant 
partnership structures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

Summary of main proposals 
 
Reduce the number of households in 
temporary accommodation by half (of 
2005 levels) by 2010 
 
Review the allocations policy to stop 
overcrowding and new household 
formation being the main cause of 
homelessness locally 
 
Link all families, young people and 
teenage parents experiencing 
homelessness to the full range of 
mainstream services across health, 
employment, parenting and tenancy 
support 
 
Place all homeless 16-17 year olds 
(where returns home are not possible) in 
supported accommodation by 2010 
 
Shape Tower Hamlets services 
according to Tower Hamlets needs. 
 
End rough sleeping as an enduring local 
problem 
 
Place single people in priority need 
categories in supported housing, where 
this would be the best option for them 
 
Provide more support for women 
experiencing homelessness 
 
Change our approach to the allocation of 
permanent housing for single people, to 
provide the right housing options at the 
right time, and resolve the move-on 
problem from supported housing  
 
Develop a temporary to permanent 
scheme 
 
Make the private rented sector a better 
option 
 
Reduce the impact of debt, arrears and 
the benefit trap of homelessness, getting 
more people into employment 
 
Work in partnership to reduce levels of 
child poverty in homeless households 
 
 

Page 130



Ap
pe
nd

ix 
B 
– T

ow
er 
Ha

ml
ets

 H
om

ele
ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 2

00
8 A

CT
IO
N 
PL

AN
 

 
23

 

To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 St

rat
eg

y 2
00

8-1
3 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 
 Co

nte
nts

 
 Ch

ild
ren

 an
d F

am
ilie

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
24

 
 

 
 

 
 

 Yo
un

g P
eo

ple
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
28

 
 

 
 Sin

gle
 ho

me
les

sn
es

s a
nd

 ro
ug

h s
lee

pin
g 

 
 

 
 

33
 

 
 

 Ex
-of

fen
de

rs 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
38

 
 

 
 W

om
en

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

41
 

 
 

 Em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 ec
on

om
ic 

we
ll-b

ein
g 

 
 

 
 

 
45

 
 

 
 Pr

ev
en

tio
n /

 ho
me

les
sn

es
s g

en
era

l  
 

 
 

 
 

50
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

Page 131



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 1:
 C
hil
dr
en
 an

d F
am

ilie
s 

Pr
ior

ity
 1.
1: 
Im
pr
ov
e a

pp
ro
ac
h w

ith
in 
the

 br
oa
d m

ult
i-a
ge
nc
y a

pp
ro
ac
h o

f e
arl

y i
nte

rve
nti

on
 an

d p
rev

en
tio

n 
  

Ac
tio

n 
Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

24
 

1.1
.1 

Int
rod

uc
e u

se
 of

 th
e C

om
mo

n A
ss

es
sm

en
t F

ram
ew

ork
 an

d 
Fa

mi
ly 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
Fra

me
wo

rk 
for

 fa
mi

lie
s p

res
en

tin
g t

o t
he

 
Ho

me
les

s S
erv

ice
 to

 su
pp

ort
 ea

rly
 in

ter
ve

nti
on

 an
d 

pre
ve

nti
on

, m
ak

ing
 lin

ks
 (w

ha
tev

er 
ho

me
les

sn
es

s d
ec

isio
n) 

to 
co

mm
un

ity
, m

ain
str

ea
m 

or 
mo

re 
sp

ec
ial

ist
 se

rvi
ce

s 
 

HH
AS

, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 

Tra
ini

ng
 on

 us
e o

f C
AF

 to
 be

 
pro

vid
ed

 to
 al

l re
lev

an
t 

HH
AS

 st
aff

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9. 

 Fu
ll u

se
 by

 Se
pt 

20
09

 

 

1.1
.2 

Inv
olv

e m
ore

 co
mm

un
ity

 gr
ou

ps
 w

ork
ing

 w
ith

 fa
mi

lie
s i

n 
ho

me
les

sn
es

s p
rev

en
tio

n, 
po

ten
tia

lly 
de

ve
lop

ing
 th

eir
 ro

le 
in 

me
dia

tio
n a

nd
 co

nfl
ict

 re
so

lut
ion

 
 

HH
AS

  
 

Vo
lun

tar
y 

se
cto

r 
ag

en
cie

s, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

 
pa

ren
tal

 
en

ga
ge

me
nt 

str
ate

gy
 

 

Es
tab

lish
 a 

nu
mb

er 
of 

ke
y 

co
mm

un
ity

 gr
ou

p p
art

ne
rs 

to 
wo

rk 
wit

h b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

 

1.1
.3 

Re
vie

w 
ov

era
ll a

pp
roa

ch
 to

 in
ten

tio
na

lly 
ho

me
les

s 
ho

us
eh

old
s, 

wit
h i

nc
rea

se
d i

nv
olv

em
en

t o
f F

am
ily 

Int
erv

en
tio

n P
roj

ec
t a

nd
 AS

B s
erv

ice
 

 

HH
AS

  
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y 
 

Re
vie

w 
by

 M
arc

h 0
9 

 Im
ple

me
nt 

rec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s b
y M

arc
h 

20
10

 
 

 

1.1
.4 

Ex
plo

re 
op

tio
ns

 fo
r c

rea
tiv

e u
se

 of
 di

sc
ret

ion
ary

 fu
nd

s 
ac

ros
s h

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 / H

B a
nd

 ch
ild

ren
’s 

se
rvi

ce
s t

o 
pre

ve
nt 

ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Via
bil

ity
 of

 op
tio

ns
 

de
ter

mi
ne

d b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

 

Page 132



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 1:
 C
hil
dr
en
 an

d F
am

ilie
s 

Pr
ior

ity
 1.
2: 
Pr
ov
ide

 be
tte

r a
nd
 m
or
e c

om
pr
eh
en
siv

e s
up
po
rt 
for

 pa
ren

ts 
an
d f
am

ilie
s 

  
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

25
 

1.2
.1 

De
ve

lop
 pi

lot
 pr

oje
ct 

to 
fun

d t
wo

 he
alt

h v
isit

ors
 ba

se
d a

t 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Ce

ntr
es

 to
 co

nd
uc

t o
utr

ea
ch

 w
ith

 al
l fa

mi
lie

s i
n 

tem
po

rar
y a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n a

nd
 re

fug
es

 w
ith

 ch
ild

ren
 un

de
r 

5 y
ea

rs,
 pr

eg
na

nt 
wo

me
n a

nd
 te

en
ag

e p
are

nts
 

 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

PC
T 

HH
AS

  
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Ce

ntr
es

 
W

ork
ers

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y O
ct 

20
08

 
 50

0 v
isit

s b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 As
se

ss
me

nt 
of 

ou
tco

me
s b

y 
Ju

ly 
20

09
 

 

 

1.2
.2.

 
Su

pp
ort

 ne
ed

s a
ss

es
sm

en
ts 

/ C
AF

 to
 be

 ca
rrie

d o
ut 

for
 al

l 
ho

us
eh

old
s a

cc
ep

ted
 as

 ho
me

les
s 

 
HH

AS
, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

 

 
Tra

ini
ng

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

1.2
.3 

Ex
plo

rin
g o

pp
ort

un
itie

s t
o e

xte
nd

 m
ain

str
ea

m 
ten

an
cy

 
su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
s t

o h
ou

se
ho

lds
 in

 te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

  
 

SP
, H

HA
S 

 
HH

AS
  

By
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

1.2
.4 

En
su

re 
vu

lne
rab

le 
yo

un
g m

oth
ers

 ar
e l

ink
ed

 to
 th

e F
am

ily 
Nu

rse
 Pa

rtn
ers

hip
, w

he
re 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 or
 to

 ot
he

r ta
rge

ted
 

mi
dw

ife
ry 

se
rvi

ce
s p

rov
ide

d b
y t

he
 PC

T a
nd

 D
AA

T  
 

HH
AS

  
 

PC
T, 

DA
AT

 
Re

fer
ral

 pr
oc

ed
ure

 in
 pl

ac
e 

by
 D

ec
 20

08
 

 

1.2
.5 

En
su

re 
tha

t th
e p

lan
ne

d d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f h
ea

lth
 vi

sit
ing

 
se

rvi
ce

s i
s s

uit
ab

ly 
foc

us
se

d a
nd

 ta
rge

ted
 on

 th
e n

ee
ds

 of
 

ho
me

les
s f

am
ilie

s. 
 Es

tab
lish

 he
alt

h v
isit

or 
ap

po
int

me
nts

 fo
r 

ho
me

les
s f

am
ilie

s w
ith

 ch
ild

ren
 ag

ed
 0-

5 y
ea

rs 
wit

hin
 on

e 
we

ek
 of

 pl
ac

em
en

t 
 

HH
AS

, P
CT

 
 

Su
ita

ble
 re

fer
ral

 
arr

an
ge

me
nts

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y 
Ju

ly 
20

09
, w

ith
 pr

oc
es

s f
or 

on
-go

ing
 m

on
ito

rin
g a

nd
 

rev
iew

 

 

1.2
.6 

En
su

re 
tha

t c
hil

dre
n l

ivin
g i

n h
om

ele
ss

 fa
mi

lie
s a

re 
ab

le 
to 

ac
ce

ss
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 su

pp
ort

 to
 pr

om
ote

 th
eir

 m
en

tal
 an

d 
em

oti
on

al 
he

alt
h, 

eit
he

r th
rou

gh
 co

mm
un

ity
, m

ain
str

ea
m 

or 
mo

re 
sp

ec
ial

ist
 se

rvi
ce

s. 

HH
AS

, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 

Tra
ini

ng
 on

 us
e o

f C
AF

 to
 be

 
pro

vid
ed

 to
 al

l re
lev

an
t 

HH
AS

 st
aff

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9. 

 

 

Page 133



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 1:
 C
hil
dr
en
 an

d F
am

ilie
s 

Pr
ior

ity
 1.
2: 
Pr
ov
ide

 be
tte

r a
nd
 m
or
e c

om
pr
eh
en
siv

e s
up
po
rt 
for

 pa
ren

ts 
an
d f
am

ilie
s 

  
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

26
 

 
Fu

ll u
se

 by
 Se

pt 
20

09
 

  
1.2

.7 
En

su
re 

tha
t c

hil
dre

n i
n f

am
ilie

s a
ffe

cte
d b

y d
om

es
tic

 
vio

len
ce

 ar
e i

de
nti

fie
d, 

as
se

ss
ed

 an
d o

ffe
red

 ap
pro

pri
ate

 
pro

tec
tio

n a
nd

 su
pp

ort
 at

 ea
rlie

st 
op

po
rtu

nit
y. 

 

HH
AS

, D
V 

Te
am

 
 

Sp
ec

ial
ist

 as
se

ss
me

nt 
pro

toc
ol 

de
ve

lop
ed

 by
 D

V 
Te

am
 to

 be
 us

ed
 in

 H
HA

S 
fro

m 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

 

 

1.2
.8 

Ide
nti

fy 
fam

ilie
s w

ith
 m

ult
ipl

e n
ee

ds
 an

d m
ak

e a
pp

rop
ria

te 
lin

ks
 to

 pr
ote

ct 
ch

ild
ren

 fro
m 

ris
k o

f h
arm

 an
d n

eg
lec

t - 
for

 
ex

am
ple

 to
 th

e m
ult

i-a
ge

nc
y C

AM
HS

 se
rvi

ce
 an

d t
o s

oc
ial

 
ca

re 
an

d h
ea

lth
 te

am
s s

up
po

rtin
g t

he
 m

os
t a

t ri
sk

 ch
ild

ren
 

an
d t

he
ir f

am
ilie

s. 
  

 

HH
AS

  
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
Su

ita
ble

 lin
ks

 an
d r

efe
rra

l 
pro

ce
du

res
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 
 

1.2
.9 

Re
vie

w 
sy

ste
m 

for
 id

en
tify

ing
 th

e n
ee

ds
 of

 fa
mi

lie
s p

lac
ed

 
by

 ot
he

r b
oro

ug
hs

 in
 To

we
r H

am
let

s, 
an

d f
or 

To
we

r H
am

let
s 

fam
ilie

s p
lac

ed
 in

 ot
he

r b
oro

ug
hs

 
 

HH
AS

  
 

Re
vie

w 
by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 

1.2
.10

 
De

ve
lop

 sy
ste

m 
to 

fur
the

r re
du

ce
 nu

mb
er 

of 
sc

ho
ol 

mo
ve

s 
for

 ch
ild

ren
 w

he
n f

am
ilie

s m
ov

e i
nto

 te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

, b
y b

ett
er 

pla
ce

me
nts

 ac
co

rdi
ng

 to
 

pre
fer

red
 lo

ca
tio

ns
 w

he
rev

er 
po

ss
ibl

e 
 

HH
AS

 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
Via

bil
ity

 of
 im

pro
ve

d s
ys

tem
 

es
tab

lish
ed

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

1.2
.11

 
Us

e g
eo

gra
ph

ica
l in

for
ma

tio
n a

bo
ut 

loc
al 

co
nc

en
tra

tio
ns

 of
 

fam
ilie

s i
n t

em
po

rar
y a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n t

o f
ee

d i
nto

 lo
ca

l a
rea

 
pla

nn
ing

 of
 ex

ten
de

d s
ch

oo
ls 

se
rvi

ce
s 

 

HH
AS

  
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
Ge

og
rap

hic
al 

inf
orm

ati
on

 a 
pa

rt o
f th

e p
lan

nin
g p

roc
es

s 
by

 O
cto

be
r 2

00
9 

 

 

Page 134



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ch
ild
ren

 an
d F

am
ilie

s 
Ta
rg
ets

 
   

27
 

  
Ch

ild
ren

 an
d f
am

ilie
s –

 H
ea
dli
ne
 Ta

rg
ets

: 2
00
8-0

9 
 

1 
Re

du
ce

 th
e n

um
be

r o
f h

ou
se

ho
lds

 liv
ing

 in
 te

mp
ora

ry 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 by

 ha
lf (

of 
20

05
) le

ve
ls 

by
 20

10
 

2 
En

su
re 

10
0%

 of
 ho

me
les

s t
ee

na
ge

 pa
ren

ts 
are

 ac
co

mm
od

ate
d i

n s
up

po
rte

d h
ou

sin
g, 

or 
in 

co
nta

ct 
wit

h a
t le

as
t o

ne
 re

lat
ed

 su
pp

ort
 

ag
en

cy
 (e

.g.
 fa

mi
ly 

nu
rse

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

.)  
3 

80
% 

of 
ho

us
eh

old
s i

n t
em

po
rar

y a
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n t
o h

av
e h

ea
lth

 vi
sit

or 
ap

po
int

me
nt 

wit
hin

 1 
we

ek
 of

 pl
ac

em
en

t 
4 

50
% 

of 
fam

ilie
s a

pp
roa

ch
ing

 ho
me

les
s s

erv
ice

, a
nd

 90
% 

of 
tho

se
 ac

ce
pte

d, 
to 

be
 as

se
ss

ed
 us

ing
 C

AF
 by

 M
arc

h 2
01

0  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
Ch

ild
ren

 an
d f
am

ilie
s –

 Su
pp
or
tin
g I
nd
ica

tor
s 

1 
10

0%
 of

 ho
us

eh
old

s i
n t

em
po

rar
y a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n w

ith
 ch

ild
ren

 un
de

r 5
 to

 be
 in

 co
nta

ct 
wit

h l
oc

al 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Ce

ntr
e b

y J
uly

 20
10

  
2 

Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
ref

err
als

 to
 Fa

mi
ly 

Nu
rse

 Pa
rtn

ers
hip

  
3 

Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
ref

err
als

 to
 ch

ild
, a

do
les

ce
nt 

or 
ad

ult
 m

en
tal

 he
alt

h s
erv

ice
s f

or 
ho

us
eh

old
s a

pp
roa

ch
ing

 ho
me

les
s s

erv
ice

 [q
ua

nti
fy 

– 
ba

se
lin

e n
ee

de
d] 

4 
Inc

rea
se

 an
nu

al 
tak

e u
p o

f R
en

t D
ep

os
it S

ch
em

e f
rom

 20
06

-07
 ba

se
lin

e (
12

8) 
5 

Re
du

ce
 nu

mb
er 

of 
sc

ho
ol 

mo
ve

s d
ue

 to
 te

mp
ora

ry 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 pl

ac
em

en
ts 

by
 5%

 fro
m 

20
08

-09
 ba

se
lin

e, 
thr

ou
gh

 20
09

-10
 

 

Page 135



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 2:
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 
Pr
ior

ity
 2.
1: 
De

ve
lop

 ea
rly
 in
ter

ve
nti

on
 an

d p
rev

en
tio

n s
erv

ice
s a

s p
art

 of
 an

 in
teg

rat
ed
 ra

ng
e o

f y
ou
th,

 fa
mi
ly,
 pa

ren
tin

g a
nd
 

co
mm

un
ity
 su

pp
or
t 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

28
 

2.1
.1 

Co
nti

nu
e t

o d
ev

elo
p p

ee
r-le

d h
om

ele
ss

 pr
ev

en
tio

n w
ork

 in
 

sc
ho

ols
  

 
Ste

p F
orw

ard
, 

HH
AS

  
 

Yo
uth

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Fu
ll p

rog
ram

me
 de

live
red

 in
 

loc
al 

sc
ho

ols
 by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 

2.1
.2 

De
ve

lop
 / r

e-c
om

mi
ss

ion
 m

ed
iat

ion
 se

rvi
ce

s f
or 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

as
 pa

rt o
f th

e b
roa

de
r F

am
ily 

Su
pp

ort
 an

d P
are

nta
l 

En
ga

ge
me

nt 
ag

en
da

, a
nd

 in
 co

nte
xt 

of 
im

pro
ve

d l
ink

s a
nd

 
joi

nt 
wo

rki
ng

 w
ith

 al
l re

lev
an

t c
om

mu
nit

y o
rga

nis
ati

on
s  

 

HH
AS

, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
org

an
isa

tio
ns

 / 
vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
 

Pr
oc

es
s t

o b
eg

in 
No

v 2
00

8, 
wit

h n
ew

 se
rvi

ce
 st

ruc
tur

e i
n 

pla
ce

 Ju
ly 

20
09

 
 

2.1
.3 

De
ve

lop
 op

tio
ns

, m
ed

iat
ion

 an
d j

oin
t w

ork
ing

 fo
r 1

8-2
5 

ye
ars

 ol
ds

 th
rou

gh
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 be

tw
ee

n H
OS

T, 
Ea

st 
En

d 
Fo

cu
s /

 Ki
pp

er 
Pr

oje
ct 

an
d o

the
r a

ge
nc

ies
, p

ote
nti

all
y 

mo
vin

g t
ow

ard
s a

n i
nd

ivid
ua

l b
ud

ge
t a

pp
roa

ch
 fo

r y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le 
in 

ho
us

ing
 ne

ed
 co

ord
ina

ted
 by

 a 
lea

d p
rof

es
sio

na
l 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Ea
st 

En
d F

oc
us

 
Cr

isis
 

Ini
tia

l d
ev

elo
pm

en
t fr

om
 Ju

l 
20

08
 to

 Ap
r 2

00
9. 

 De
ter

mi
ne

 op
tio

ns
 fo

r fu
rth

er 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

by
 Ap

r 2
00

9 

 

2.1
.4 

Co
ord

ina
te 

an
d l

ink
 ac

ce
ss

 po
int

s t
o h

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 se

rvi
ce

s 
for

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
, a

nd
 lo

ca
lise

d i
nte

gra
ted

 an
d t

arg
ete

d 
yo

uth
 su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
s 

 

Yo
uth

 an
d 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
HH

AS
  

 

 
Fro

m 
Ap

r 2
00

9 
 

2.1
.5 

Co
nd

uc
t a

n a
ud

it o
f p

rot
oc

ols
 an

d i
nfo

rm
ati

on
 sh

ari
ng

 w
ith

 
all

 ke
y s

tat
uto

ry 
ag

en
cie

s –
 YO

T, 
LC

S, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
So

cia
l 

Ca
re,

 C
AM

HS
, C

on
ne

xio
ns

, d
rug

 se
rvi

ce
s e

tc.
, p

ote
nti

all
y 

de
ve

lop
ing

 in
to 

on
e o

ve
ral

l jo
int

 pr
oto

co
l b

etw
ee

n A
du

lts
 

He
alt

h a
nd

 W
ell

be
ing

 an
d C

hil
dre

n’s
 Se

rvi
ce

s o
n p

rov
isio

n 
for

 16
-17

 ye
ar 

old
s 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Re
vie

w 
co

mp
let

e b
y M

arc
h 

09
 

 Fu
ll s

et 
of 

be
st 

pra
cti

ce
 

pro
toc

ols
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y J

uly
 09

 
 

 

Page 136



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 2:
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 
Pr
ior

ity
 2.
2: 
De

ve
lop

 su
pp
or
ted

 ac
co
mm

od
ati
on
 se

rvi
ce
s f
or
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 ag
ed
 16

-21
 ac

co
rd
ing

 to
 lo
ca
l n
ee
ds
, w

ith
 cl
ea
r p

ath
wa

ys
 

on
 to
 in
de
pe
nd
en
t li
vin

g 
   

Ac
tio

n 
Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

29
 

2.2
.1 

De
ve

lop
 tw

o f
irs

t s
tag

e a
ss

es
sm

en
t c

en
tre

s a
t W

hit
e’s

 R
ow

 
(O

ne
 Su

pp
ort

 – 
for

 w
om

en
) a

nd
 M

ile
 En

d R
oa

d (
Kip

pe
r 

Pr
oje

ct 
– f

or 
me

n a
nd

 w
om

en
).  

As
 in

itia
l s

tag
e o

f 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 pa

thw
ay

, s
erv

ice
s w

ill p
rov

ide
 in

ten
siv

e 
me

dia
tio

n a
nd

 fa
mi

ly 
su

pp
ort

 an
d /

 or
 m

ov
es

 on
to 

oth
er 

su
pp

ort
ed

 ho
us

ing
. 

 

Su
pp

ort
ing

 
Pe

op
le,

 H
HA

S  
 

Su
pp

ort
ed

 
ho

us
ing

 
pro

vid
ers

 
Pr

oc
es

s t
o b

eg
in 

Ju
l 2

00
8, 

wit
h n

ew
 se

rvi
ce

s i
n p

lac
e b

y 
Ju

ly 
20

09
 [?

] 
 

2.2
.2 

Su
pp

ort
 th

e d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f a
 ne

w 
foy

er 
se

rvi
ce

, to
 in

cre
as

e 
su

pp
ort

ed
 ho

us
ing

 ca
pa

cit
y i

n t
he

 bo
rou

gh
 an

d t
o m

ee
t 

ne
ed

s o
f lo

ca
l c

om
mu

nit
y i

nc
lud

ing
 16

-17
 ye

ar 
old

s, 
tee

na
ge

 pa
ren

ts 
an

d y
ou

ng
 of

fen
de

rs 
 

Su
pp

ort
ing

 
Pe

op
le,

 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
HH

AS
, 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 

 
On

-go
ing

 lo
ng

-te
rm

 
de

ve
lop

me
nt.

  N
ew

 se
rvi

ce
 

in 
pla

ce
 by

 20
11

?  
 

 

2.2
.3 

By
 pr

ov
idi

ng
 th

e r
igh

t s
up

po
rte

d h
ou

sin
g f

or 
all

 yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

in 
ho

us
ing

 ne
ed

, a
nd

 w
he

re 
ret

urn
s h

om
e a

re 
no

t 
po

ss
ibl

e, 
ch

an
ge

 sy
ste

m 
of 

all
oc

ati
on

 of
 so

cia
l h

ou
sin

g f
rom

 
pri

ori
ty 

ne
ed

 as
se

ss
me

nt 
to 

lon
ge

r-te
rm

 m
ov

e o
n q

uo
ta 

ba
se

d o
n i

nd
ivid

ua
l n

ee
d. 

 

HH
AS

, L
ett

ing
s, 

SP
 

 
Ne

w 
all

oc
ati

on
 sy

ste
m 

in 
pla

ce
 by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 

2.2
.4 

En
su

re 
all

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 re

se
ttle

d f
rom

 th
e h

om
ele

ss
 

pro
ce

ss
 / s

up
po

rte
d h

ou
sin

g i
nto

 pe
rm

an
en

t s
elf

-co
nta

ine
d 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 re
ce

ive
 m

ain
str

ea
m 

or 
sp

ec
ial

ist
 flo

ati
ng

 
su

pp
ort

   

Su
pp

ort
ing

 
Pe

op
le 

 
HH

AS
, R

SL
s /

 
TH

HF
 

SP
 re

vie
w 

pro
ce

ss
 to

 
de

ter
mi

ne
 ne

ed
 fo

r 
ma

ins
tre

am
 an

d /
 or

 
sp

ec
ial

ist
 se

rvi
ce

 to
 ca

ter
 fo

r 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 by
 N

ov
 08

 
 All

 re
se

ttle
d y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
to 

rec
eiv

e f
loa

tin
g s

up
po

rt f
or 

at 
lea

st 
firs

t 6
 m

on
ths

 by
 M

arc
h 

 

Page 137



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 2:
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 
Pr
ior

ity
 2.
2: 
De

ve
lop

 su
pp
or
ted

 ac
co
mm

od
ati
on
 se

rvi
ce
s f
or
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 ag
ed
 16

-21
 ac

co
rd
ing

 to
 lo
ca
l n
ee
ds
, w

ith
 cl
ea
r p

ath
wa

ys
 

on
 to
 in
de
pe
nd
en
t li
vin

g 
   

Ac
tio

n 
Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

30
 

20
09

   
 

2.2
.5 

De
ve

lop
 a 

su
pp

ort
ed

 lo
dg

ing
s s

ch
em

e, 
po

ten
tia

lly 
ba

se
d o

n 
ex

ist
ing

 fo
ste

r c
are

 ar
ran

ge
me

nts
, to

 pr
ov

ide
 an

 al
ter

na
tiv

e 
to 

su
pp

ort
ed

 ho
us

ing
. 

 

SP
, H

HA
S  

 
De

ter
mi

ne
 w

he
the

r lo
dg

ing
 

sc
he

me
 is

 vi
ab

le 
by

 M
arc

h 
20

09
 

 

2.2
.6 

De
ve

lop
 a 

fla
t s

ha
re 

sc
he

me
s i

n p
riv

ate
 re

nte
d s

ec
tor

 to
 

pro
vid

e a
n a

ffo
rda

ble
 m

ov
e-o

n o
pti

on
 in

 ad
dit

ion
 to

 so
cia

l 
ho

us
ing

.   
 

HH
AS

, S
P  

 
De

ter
mi

ne
 w

he
the

r p
riv

ate
 

ren
ted

 sc
he

me
 is

 vi
ab

le 
by

 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

 

 

 

Page 138



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 2:
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 
Pr
ior

ity
 2.
3: 
Lin

k y
ou
ng

 pe
op
le 
in 
ho
us
ing

 ne
ed
 to
 th

e f
ull
 ra

ng
e o

f s
erv

ice
s a

nd
 op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 re
qu
ire
d t
o a

ch
iev

e t
he
 5 
ke
y 

ou
tco

me
s: 
be
 he

alt
h, 
sta

y s
afe

, e
njo

y a
nd
 ac

hie
ve
, m

ak
e a

 po
sit
ive

 co
ntr

ibu
tio

n, 
ac
hie

ve
 ec

on
om

ic 
we

ll-b
ein

g. 
 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

31
 

2.3
.1 

Int
rod

uc
e t

he
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

’s 
Co

mm
on

 As
se

ss
me

nt 
Fra

me
wo

rk 
for

 al
l 1

6 –
 19

 ye
ar 

old
s i

n h
ou

sin
g n

ee
d, 

an
d 

de
ve

lop
 st

ron
ge

r li
nk

s t
o S

oc
ial

 In
clu

sio
n P

an
el 

 

Yo
uth

 an
d 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
HH

AS
, S

P 
 

Su
pp

ort
ed

 
ho

us
ing

 
pro

vid
ers

, 
vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
 

Tra
ini

ng
 to

 be
 pr

ov
ide

d f
or 

HO
ST

, s
up

po
rte

d h
ou

sin
g 

pro
vid

ers
 an

d w
ide

r 
vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
 by

 D
ec

 08
 

 

 

2.3
.2 

All
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 pr
es

en
tin

g i
n h

ou
sin

g n
ee

d t
o a

ny
 se

rvi
ce

s 
be

 lin
ke

d t
o s

uit
ab

le 
ed

uc
ati

on
, e

mp
loy

me
nt 

or 
tra

ini
ng

 
se

rvi
ce

s, 
co

ord
ina

ted
 th

rou
gh

 Yo
uth

 Se
rvi

ce
s p

rov
isio

n –
 

po
ten

tia
lly 

thr
ou

gh
 le

ad
 pr

ofe
ss

ion
al 

rol
e a

nd
 pa

ck
ag

e 
ba

se
d o

n a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f n
ee

ds
 th

rou
gh

 C
AF

  
 

HH
AS

, S
P, 

Yo
uth

 an
d 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Se

rvi
ce

s 

 
All

 lin
ks

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y A
pr 

20
09

 
 

2.3
.3 

Fo
r y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
wit

h c
om

ple
x n

ee
ds

, p
rov

ide
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 

so
cia

l c
are

 th
rou

gh
 C

hil
dre

n’s
 Se

rvi
ce

 m
ain

str
ea

m 
pro

vis
ion

 
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

HH
AS

 
 

Ag
ree

me
nts

 / p
rot

oc
ols

 on
 

pro
vis

ion
 of

 so
cia

l c
are

 fo
r 

16
-19

 ye
ar 

old
s i

n p
lac

e b
y 

Ma
r 2

00
9 

 

 

Page 139



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Yo
un
g P

eo
ple

 
Ta
rg
ets

 
  

32
 

  
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 – 
He

ad
lin
e T

arg
ets

: 2
00
8-0

9 
 

1 
All

 ho
me

les
s 1

6-1
7 y

ea
r o

lds
 to

 be
 pl

ac
ed

 in
 su

pp
ort

ed
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
2 

Re
du

ce
 th

e p
rop

ort
ion

 of
 ho

me
les

s y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

rec
eiv

ing
 on

-go
ing

 se
rvi

ce
 pr

ov
isio

n w
ho

 ar
e N

EE
T b

y 1
0%

 fro
m 

20
07

-20
08

 ba
se

lin
e o

f 
58

% 
(16

-17
 ye

ar 
old

s) 
an

d 6
0%

 (1
8-2

1 y
ea

r o
lds

) 
3 

Inc
rea

se
 pr

op
ort

ion
 of

 su
cc

es
sfu

l m
ed

iat
ion

s (
i.e

. re
tur

ns
 ho

me
) fo

r y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

pre
se

nti
ng

 to
 H

om
ele

ss
 Se

rvi
ce

 by
 5%

 ye
ar-

on
-ye

ar 
fro

m 
20

07
-08

 ba
se

lin
e o

f 4
7%

 
4 

98
% 

of 
lon

g-t
erm

 re
se

ttle
me

nts
 of

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

to 
pe

rm
an

en
t s

elf
-co

nta
ine

d a
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n t
o r

es
ult

 in
 a 

su
cc

es
sfu

l te
na

nc
y a

fte
r 1

 ye
ar 

5 
All

 ho
me

les
s t

ee
na

ge
 pa

ren
ts 

(ag
ed

 16
-19

) to
 be

 ac
co

mm
od

ate
d i

n s
up

po
rte

d a
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n, 
or 

in 
co

nta
ct 

wit
h a

t le
as

t o
ne

 su
pp

ort
 

se
rvi

ce
 (e

.g.
 fa

mi
ly 

nu
rse

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

) b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

6 
Th

rou
gh

 ea
rly

 in
ter

ve
nti

on
 w

ork
, d

ec
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
pre

se
nta

tio
ns

 of
 16

-17
 ye

ar 
old

s t
o H

om
ele

ss
 Se

rvi
ce

 by
 5%

 ye
ar 

on
 ye

ar 
fro

m 
20

07
-

08
 ba

se
lin

e o
f 3

00
 

   
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 – 
Su

pp
or
tin

g I
nd
ica

tor
s 

1 
95

% 
of 

ho
me

les
s y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
rec

eiv
ing

 on
-go

ing
 se

rvi
ce

 pr
ov

isio
n t

o r
eg

ist
er 

a p
os

itiv
e o

utc
om

e i
n a

t le
as

t o
ne

 ar
ea

 of
 th

e C
om

mo
n 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
Fra

me
wo

rk 
2 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e n
um

be
r o

f y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

an
d p

are
nts

 in
 ho

us
ing

 ne
ed

 si
tua

tio
ns

 re
ce

ivin
g f

am
ily 

an
d p

are
nti

ng
 su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
s (

20
07

-08
 

fig
ure

s n
/a)

 
3 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e n
um

be
r o

f 1
8-2

5 y
ea

r o
lds

 w
ith

 ho
me

les
sn

es
s r

es
olv

ed
 th

rou
gh

 ad
vic

e, 
me

dia
tio

n a
nd

 al
ter

na
tiv

e o
pti

on
s (

i.e
. n

ot 
su

pp
ort

ed
 

ho
us

ing
) [b

as
eli

ne
 ne

ed
ed

 – 
cu

rre
ntl

y n
ot 

bro
ke

n d
ow

n b
y a

ge
] 

4 
Inc

rea
se

 th
e n

um
be

r o
f re

fer
ral

s o
f y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
in 

ho
us

ing
 ne

ed
 to

 m
ain

str
ea

m 
yo

uth
 an

d c
om

mu
nit

y s
erv

ice
s p

rov
isio

n; 
an

d e
du

ca
tio

n, 
em

plo
ym

en
t a

nd
 tra

ini
ng

 se
rvi

ce
s 

5 
Inc

rea
se

 th
e n

um
be

r o
f y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
pre

se
nti

ng
 as

 ho
me

les
s w

ith
 co

mp
lex

 ne
ed

s g
ain

ing
 po

sit
ive

 ou
tco

me
s t

hro
ug

h m
ain

str
ea

m 
so

cia
l 

ca
re 

pro
vis

ion
 

6 
Nu

mb
er 

of 
ref

err
als

 of
 18

-25
 ye

ar 
old

s t
o e

du
ca

tio
n, 

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 tra
ini

ng
 se

rvi
ce

s 
7 

% 
of 

ho
me

les
s y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
rep

ort
ing

 po
sit

ive
 im

pro
ve

me
nt 

in 
he

alt
h o

r m
en

tal
 he

alt
h i

ss
ue

 
 

Page 140



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 3:
 Si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 1:
 C
on
tin

ue
 to
 de

ve
lop

 se
rvi
ce
s f
or
 si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
s p

eo
ple

 as
 ex

ce
lle
nt 
pu
bli
c s

erv
ice

s, 
an
d a

s a
 ta
rg
ete

d a
nd
 ac

ce
ss
ibl
e 

res
ou
rce

 fo
r t
ho
se
 w
ith
 ho

us
ing

 an
d s

up
po
rt 
ne
ed
s f
ro
m 
all
 ou

r lo
ca
l c
om

mu
nit
ies

 an
d p

op
ula

tio
ns
 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

33
 

3.1
.1 

Pr
om

ote
 an

d m
ak

e m
ore

 ef
fec

tiv
e u

se
 of

 re
co

nn
ec

tio
n 

pro
toc

ols
 w

he
re 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 fo
r c

lie
nts

 ne
w 

to 
the

 ar
ea

.   
 

 
HH

AS
,  

Da
y c

en
tre

s, 
Ou

tre
ac

h 
Pr

oto
co

l in
 pl

ac
e a

nd
 fu

lly 
op

era
tio

n b
y O

ct 
08

 
 

3.1
.2 

Re
du

ce
 le

ve
ls 

of 
ev

ict
ion

s a
nd

 ab
an

do
nm

en
ts 

in 
ho

ste
ls 

thr
ou

gh
 ex

ce
lle

nt 
ne

ed
s a

ss
es

sm
en

t a
nd

 su
pp

ort
 pl

an
nin

g 
in 

ho
ste

ls,
 an

d t
he

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

cre
ati

ve
 an

d i
nn

ov
ati

ve
 

wa
ys

 to
 w

ork
 w

ith
 pe

op
le 

on
 ch

ao
tic

 be
ha

vio
ur 

at 
loc

ati
on

s 
su

ch
 as

 da
y c

en
tre

s. 
  

   

SP
 

HH
AS

, D
ay

 
Ce

ntr
es

, 
Ou

tre
ac

h 
Da

y c
en

tre
 su

pp
ort

 in
 pl

ac
e 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

09
 

 

3.1
.3 

W
ork

 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 th

e C
ity

 of
 Lo

nd
on

 th
e B

ark
a 

Fo
un

da
tio

n o
n t

he
 pr

ov
isio

n o
f s

erv
ice

s f
or 

A1
0 s

erv
ice

 
us

ers
  

 

HH
AS

 
 

On
-go

ing
 

 

3.1
.4 

Co
nti

nu
e a

nd
 de

ve
lop

 jo
int

 w
ork

ing
 be

tw
ee

n H
OS

T a
nd

 
loc

al 
ou

tre
ac

h s
erv

ice
s t

o p
rov

ide
 a 

ful
ly 

int
eg

rat
ed

 
ap

pro
ac

h t
o l

oc
al 

pe
op

le 
in 

ho
us

ing
 ne

ed
 – 

bo
th 

sin
gle

 
ho

me
les

s a
nd

 ro
ug

h s
lee

pe
rs 

 

HH
AS

, 
Ou

tre
ac

h 
HH

AS
  

Co
ns

ide
r v

iab
ility

 fo
r 

int
eg

rat
ion

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

3.1
.5 

Un
de

rta
ke

 fu
rth

er 
res

ea
rch

 to
 un

de
rst

an
d t

he
 cu

ltu
ral

 is
su

es
 

an
d p

erc
ep

tio
ns

 of
 si

ng
le 

ho
me

les
s s

erv
ice

s a
mo

ng
 lo

ca
l 

BM
E c

om
mu

nit
ies

, a
llo

win
g i

nc
rea

sin
g f

oc
us

 on
 lo

ca
l n

ee
ds

 
 

Tb
c –

 ex
ter

na
l? 

 
Re

se
arc

h p
roj

ec
t c

om
ple

ted
 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

09
 

 

3.1
.6 

W
ork

 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 Lo

ok
 Ah

ea
d H

ou
sin

g a
nd

 C
are

 to
 

de
ve

lop
 pr

op
os

als
 fo

r th
e p

hy
sic

al 
im

pro
ve

me
nt 

an
d /

 or
 

red
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f A
ldg

ate
 H

os
tel

 
 

SP
, L

oo
k 

Ah
ea

d 
 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
pla

n i
n p

lac
e 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

09
 

 

 

Page 141



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 3:
 Si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 D
ev
elo

p o
ur
 ca

pa
cit
y t
o s

up
po
rt 
the

 m
os
t v
uln

era
ble

 
   

Ac
tio

n 
Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

34
 

3.2
.1 

Inc
orp

ora
te 

the
 ‘h

om
ele

ss
 ro

ute
’ fo

r th
os

e w
ith

 m
en

tal
 he

alt
h 

ne
ed

s i
nto

 an
 ov

era
ll m

en
tal

 he
alt

h a
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n 
pa

thw
ay

, to
 pr

ov
ide

 m
ore

 su
pp

ort
 at

 th
e r

igh
t ti

me
s, 

an
d 

mo
re 

lon
g-t

erm
 re

se
ttle

me
nt 

at 
the

 rig
ht 

tim
es

.   
 

SP
, M

en
tal

 
He

alt
h T

rus
t, 

Ad
ult

 So
cia

l 
Ca

re,
 H

HA
S  

 

PC
T 

Pla
n i

n p
lac

e b
y D

ec
 08

 
 

3.2
.2 

Ta
ke

 fo
rw

ard
 ou

r m
ult

i-a
ge

nc
y c

as
e-c

on
fer

en
ce

 ap
pro

ac
h t

o 
loc

al 
rou

gh
 sl

ee
pe

rs 
an

d h
os

tel
s r

es
ide

nts
 w

ith
 co

mp
lex

 
ne

ed
s, 

inv
olv

ing
 ou

tre
ac

h, 
da

y c
en

tre
s, 

HO
ST

 an
d H

ea
lth

 
E1

, w
hic

h h
as

 re
ce

ntl
y h

ad
 ad

dit
ion

al 
res

ou
rce

s a
llo

ca
ted

 by
 

the
 PC

T 
 

HH
AS

 / r
ou

gh
 

sle
ep

er 
co

ord
ina

tor
 

DA
AT

, P
CT

 / 
He

alt
h E

1, 
Ou

tre
ac

h, 
Da

y 
Ce

ntr
es

 

10
 co

mp
lex

 ne
ed

s m
ult

i-
ag

en
cy

 m
ee

tin
gs

 by
 M

arc
h 

20
09

 
 

3.2
.3 

Ca
rry

 ou
t n

ee
ds

 / i
ss

ue
s a

na
lys

is 
pro

jec
t fo

r ro
ug

h s
lee

pe
rs 

an
d s

ing
le 

ho
me

les
s p

eo
ple

 w
ith

 co
mp

lex
 ne

ed
s a

rou
nd

 
su

bs
tan

ce
 m

isu
se

 an
d /

 or
 m

en
tal

 he
alt

h a
nd

 ei
the

r: 
o
 

Us
ing

 m
ult

ipl
e s

erv
ice

s i
na

pp
rop

ria
tel

y (
e.g

. re
gu

lar
ly 

se
en

 at
 A&

E)
 

o
 

In 
ho

ste
l a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n b

ut 
no

t in
 co

nta
ct 

wit
h r

igh
t 

sp
ec

ial
ist

 se
rvi

ce
s 

o
 

In 
ne

ed
 of

 sp
ec

ial
ist

 ou
tre

ac
h s

erv
ice

s 
o
 

In 
ne

ed
 of

 sp
ec

ial
ist

 he
alt

h s
erv

ice
s  

 

PC
T, 

DA
AT

, 
Vu

lne
rab

le 
Ad

ult
s T

ea
m,

 
Me

nta
l H

ea
lth

 
Tru

st 
 

HH
AS

, S
P 

Re
po

rt i
de

nti
fyi

ng
 sy

ste
m 

ch
an

ge
s a

nd
 co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 
op

tio
ns

 by
 au

tum
n 2

00
8, 

to 
fee

d i
nto

 PC
T 

co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 pr

oc
es

s 
[re

so
urc

es
 fu

nd
ed

 by
 SP

 
on

e-o
ff m

on
ies

?] 

 

3.2
.4 

De
ve

lop
 an

d r
e-d

efi
ne

 th
e r

ole
 of

 th
e D

ell
ow

 D
ay

 C
en

tre
 to

 
wo

rk 
in 

a m
ore

 fo
cu

ss
ed

 w
ay

 w
ith

 lo
ca

l ro
ug

h s
lee

pe
rs,

 
su

pp
ort

 th
e h

idd
en

 ho
me

les
s; 

pro
vid

e m
ea

nin
gfu

l a
cti

vit
y 

an
d s

up
po

rt f
or 

oth
ers

 in
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 in

 lin
e w

ith
 th

e 
pla

ce
s o

f c
ha

ng
e a

ge
nd

a; 
an

d w
ork

 w
ith

 ou
tre

ac
h a

ge
nc

ies
 

to 
he

lp 
foc

us
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 on

 th
e m

os
t 

vu
lne

rab
le.

 
 

HH
AS

  
Ou

tre
ac

h 
Ne

w 
se

rvi
ce

 st
ruc

tur
e i

n 
pla

ce
 by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 

Page 142



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 3:
 Si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 D
ev
elo

p o
ur
 ca

pa
cit
y t
o s

up
po
rt 
the

 m
os
t v
uln

era
ble

 
   

Ac
tio

n 
Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

35
 

3.2
.5 

W
ork

ing
 cl

os
ely

 w
ith

 th
e S

afe
r N

eig
hb

ou
rho

od
 Te

am
s, 

de
ve

lop
 a 

mu
lti-

ag
en

cy
 ap

pro
ac

h t
o s

tre
et 

dri
nk

ing
 an

d 
be

gg
ing

 in
 th

e W
hit

ec
ha

pe
l a

rea
, b

as
ed

 on
 en

for
ce

me
nt 

an
d 

su
pp

ort
 – 

ide
nti

fyi
ng

 cl
ien

ts 
an

d e
ns

uri
ng

 en
ga

ge
me

nt 
wit

h 
se

rvi
ce

s. 
 

 

HH
AS

, 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y 
 

Ap
pro

ac
h f

orm
ali

se
d b

y A
ug

 
20

08
 

 

3.2
.6 

De
ve

lop
 fu

ll r
an

ge
 of

 di
sc

ha
rge

 an
d r

efe
rra

l p
oli

cie
s w

ith
 

loc
al 

ho
sp

ita
ls,

 w
ith

 ca
re 

pla
ns

 co
ve

rin
g a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n 

an
d s

up
po

rt n
ee

ds
. 

 

HH
AS

  
PC

T 
By

 Ju
ly 

20
09

 
 

3.2
.7 

W
ork

 w
ith

 H
ou

sin
g B

en
efi

t, t
o b

loc
k-f

un
d t

he
 ho

us
ing

 co
sts

 
of 

ho
ste

ls,
 to

 re
mo

ve
 ba

rrie
rs 

to 
en

try
 fo

r th
os

e w
ith

 no
 

ide
nti

fic
ati

on
, o

r o
the

r b
en

efi
t p

rob
lem

s 
 

SP
, H

HA
S  

HB
 

As
se

ss
 vi

ab
ility

 by
 M

arc
h 

20
09

 
 

 

Page 143



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 3:
 Si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 3:
 Im

pr
ov
ing

 pa
thw

ay
s t
hr
ou
gh
 ac

co
mm

od
ati
on
 an

d i
nc
rea

sin
g m

ov
e-o

n o
pti
on
s 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

36
 

3.3
.1 

En
co

ura
ge

 m
ore

 m
ov

es
 in

to 
the

 pr
iva

te 
ren

ted
 se

cto
r 

thr
ou

gh
 pi

lot
 pr

oje
ct 

wit
h L

oo
k A

he
ad

 / C
LG

 / N
HF

 / 
W

es
tm

ins
ter

 
 

HH
AS

, L
oo

k 
Ah

ea
d 

 
Co

mp
let

ion
 of

 pi
lot

 pr
oje

ct 
by

 
Ap

ril 
09

 
 

3.3
.2 

En
su

re 
tha

t in
cre

as
ed

 nu
mb

ers
 of

 m
ov

es
 in

to 
the

 pr
iva

te 
ren

ted
 se

cto
r a

re 
ac

co
mp

an
ied

 by
 ad

eq
ua

te 
su

pp
ort

 
se

rvi
ce

s a
nd

 if 
ne

ce
ss

ary
, D

isc
ret

ion
ary

 H
ou

sin
g P

ay
me

nts
 

to 
co

ve
r b

en
efi

t s
ho

rtfa
lls,

 an
d w

ith
 al

l th
e n

ec
es

sa
ry 

pro
ce

du
res

 an
d s

afe
gu

ard
s i

n p
lac

e  
 

 

SP
, H

HA
S  

 
Pr

oc
es

se
s i

n p
lac

e b
y M

arc
h 

20
09

 
 

3.3
.3 

Re
de

ve
lop

 D
an

iel
 G

ilb
ert

 H
ou

se
 as

 pu
rel

y s
elf

-co
nta

ine
d 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on
 

 
PR

HA
, S

P 
 

Tb
c 

 

3.3
.4 

Re
de

ve
lop

 Fi
de

lis 
Ho

us
e a

s p
erm

an
en

t s
elf

-co
nta

ine
d 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on
 

 
PR

HA
, S

P 
 

Tb
c 

 

3.3
.5 

De
ve

lop
 a 

dru
gs

 an
d c

rim
ina

l ju
sti

ce
 pa

thw
ay

 in
vo

lvin
g 

Ha
ck

ne
y R

oa
d a

nd
 R

ive
rsi

de
 H

ou
se

 
 

SP
, H

HA
S  

 
Pla

n i
n p

lac
e b

y M
arc

h 2
01

0 
 

3.3
.6 

Re
vie

w 
loc

al 
us

e o
f R

SI 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
, in

 co
nte

xt 
of 

na
tio

na
l C

LG
 re

vie
w 

 
SP

, H
HA

S  
 

By
 M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 

Page 144



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Sin
gle

 ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g 
Ta
rg
ets

 
   

37
 

  
Sin

gle
 ho

me
les

sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g –
 H
ea
dli
ne
 Ta

rg
ets

: 2
00
8-0

9 
 

1 
6 m

on
thl

y r
ou

gh
 sl

ee
pe

r c
ou

nt 
nu

mb
ers

 at
 3 

or 
low

er 
by

 N
ov

 20
08

 
 

2 
75

% 
of 

HO
ST

 pl
ac

em
en

ts 
su

cc
es

sfu
l a

fte
r 6

 m
on

ths
 by

 Ap
ril 

09
 (s

tar
tin

g O
ct 

08
) 

 
3 

Pla
nn

ed
 m

ov
e-o

n a
s a

 pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 to

tal
 m

ov
es

 to
 in

cre
as

e b
y 5

% 
ye

ar-
on

-ye
ar 

fro
m 

20
06

-07
 ba

se
lin

e 
 

4 
95

% 
of 

mo
ve

s i
nto

 pe
rm

an
en

t te
na

nc
ies

 in
 so

cia
l h

ou
sin

g o
r p

riv
ate

 re
nte

d t
hro

ug
h H

OS
T s

uc
ce

ss
ful

 af
ter

 1 
ye

ar.
 

 
5 

98
% 

of 
pe

rm
an

en
t re

se
ttle

me
nt 

aft
er 

pri
ori

ty 
ne

ed
 ac

ce
pta

nc
e t

o r
es

ult
 in

 su
cc

es
sfu

l te
na

nc
y a

fte
r 1

 ye
ar 

 
6 

20
 cl

ien
ts 

wit
h c

om
ple

x n
ee

ds
 to

 ha
ve

 im
pro

ve
d o

utc
om

es
 in

 st
ab

ility
 of

 ho
us

ing
 pl

ac
em

en
ts 

by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 
  

Sin
gle

 ho
me

les
sn
es
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h s

lee
pin

g –
 Su

pp
or
tin

g I
nd
ica

tor
s 

 
1 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

ho
ste

l re
sid

en
ts 

in 
dru

g t
rea

tm
en

t / 
in 

co
nta

ct 
wit

h d
rug

 se
rvi

ce
s 

 
2 

Nu
mb

er 
of 

ho
ste

l re
sid

en
ts 

in 
co

nta
ct 

wit
h m

en
tal

 he
alt

h a
ge

nc
ies

 
 

3 
Pr

op
ort

ion
 of

 pe
op

le 
wit

h m
en

tal
 he

alt
h n

ee
ds

 in
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 ho

us
ing

 
 

4 
10

0%
 of

 m
ov

es
 in

 th
e p

riv
ate

 re
nte

d s
ec

tor
 w

ith
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 su

pp
ort

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 145



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 4:
 Ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

Pr
ior

ity
 1:
 In
cre

as
e o

ur
 fo

cu
s o

n u
sin

g s
ing

le 
ho
me

les
s s

erv
ice

s f
or
 lo
ca
l p
eo
ple

 le
av
ing

 th
e c

rim
ina

l ju
sti
ce
 sy

ste
m 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
   

38
 

4.1
.1 

De
ve

lop
 H

OS
T’s

 ro
le 

in 
wo

rki
ng

 w
ith

 C
JS

 ag
en

cie
s b

y 
es

tab
lish

ing
 a 

CJ
S-

fun
de

d p
os

t, c
oo

rdi
na

tin
g a

ll w
ork

 w
ith

 
ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

 
 

HH
AS

, 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y 
DI

P, 
Pr

ob
ati

on
, 

Lo
ok

ing
 O

ut 
W

ork
er 

in 
po

st 
Se

pt 
08

 
 Pr

oc
es

se
s f

ull
y i

n p
lac

e b
y 

De
c 0

8 
 

 

4.1
.2 

En
su

re 
tha

t y
ou

ng
 of

fen
de

rs 
are

 su
ita

bly
 pr

ov
ide

d f
or 

wit
hin

 
the

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
’s 

se
rvi

ce
s 

 
HH

AS
, S

P, 
YO

T 
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Yo
uth

 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 

Re
vie

w 
an

d a
na

lys
is 

by
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 
 

4.1
.3 

Ma
ke

 be
tte

r lo
ca

l u
se

 of
 H

ac
kn

ey
 R

oa
d a

nd
 R

ive
rsi

de
 

Ho
us

e t
hro

ug
h H

OS
T, 

po
ten

tia
lly 

as
 pa

rt o
f a

 dr
ug

s a
nd

 
cri

mi
na

l ju
sti

ce
 sy

ste
m 

ho
us

ing
 pa

thw
ay

. 
 

SP
, H

HA
S a

nd
 

HO
ST

  
DA

AT
 / D

IP 
Pla

n b
y M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 

4.1
.4 

De
ve

lop
ing

 co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 st

rat
eg

y f
or 

ex
-of

fen
de

rs 
po

ten
tia

lly 
to 

re-
foc

us
 so

me
 si

ng
le 

ho
me

les
s p

rov
isio

n 
tow

ard
s e

x-o
ffe

nd
er 

clie
nt 

gro
up

.  
 

SP
, H

HA
S, 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Sa

fet
y 

DA
AT

 
Pla

n b
y M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 

4.1
.5 

Re
vie

w 
lon

g-t
erm

 m
ov

e-o
n o

pti
on

s f
or 

ex
-of

fen
de

rs 
as

 pa
rt 

of 
bro

ad
er 

mo
ve

-on
 op

tio
ns

 lin
ke

d t
o t

rai
nin

g a
nd

 
em

plo
ym

en
t.  

De
ve

lop
 pl

an
s f

or 
sp

ec
ific

 pr
ov

isio
n (

e.g
. re

nt 
de

po
sit

 sc
he

me
) if

 / w
he

re 
ap

pro
pri

ate
 

 

HH
AS

,  
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y 
 

 
Re

vie
w 

by
 M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 

 

Page 146



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 4:
 Ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 Fo

cu
s m

or
e o

n p
re-

rel
ea
se
 w
or
k, 
all
ow

ing
 sm

oo
th 
tra

ns
itio

ns
 in
to 

ac
co
mm

od
ati
on
 on

 re
lea

se
 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
   

39
 

4.2
.1 

En
co

ura
ge

 ho
ste

ls 
an

d o
the

r s
up

po
rte

d h
ou

sin
g p

rov
ide

rs 
to 

all
ow

 pr
e-r

ele
as

e i
nte

rvi
ew

s o
r a

ss
es

sm
en

t a
nd

/or
 pr

iso
ns

 
to 

all
ow

 da
y r

ele
as

e t
o a

tte
nd

 ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 ap
po

int
me

nts
 

 

HH
AS

, S
P 

PR
HA

, L
oo

kin
g 

Ou
t, P

ris
on

 Ex
it 

Te
am

 
Pr

oc
ure

 fo
r p

re-
rel

ea
se

 
int

erv
iew

s i
n p

lac
e b

y M
arc

h 
09

 
 

4.2
.2 

Re
du

ce
 th

e l
os

s o
f h

ou
sin

g f
or 

tho
se

 w
ith

 st
ab

le 
arr

an
ge

me
nt 

on
 en

try
 to

 th
e p

ris
on

 sy
ste

m 
by

: 
o
 

Be
tte

r u
se

 of
 th

e H
ou

sin
g B

en
efi

t fo
r th

os
e o

n 
rem

an
d o

r s
ho

rt-t
erm

 se
nte

nc
es

 
o
 

Eff
ec

tiv
e s

us
pe

ns
ion

 / e
nd

ing
 of

 lo
ca

l a
uth

ori
ty 

an
d R

SL
 te

na
nc

ies
, p

rev
en

tin
g a

rre
ars

, w
ith

 
po

ten
tia

l to
 ta

ke
 up

 ag
ain

 on
 re

lea
se

.  
 

HO
ST

 C
JS

 
wo

rke
r 

TH
 H

om
es

, 
TH

HF
  

HH
AS

, 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y, 
Ho

us
ing

 
Be

ne
fit 

 

Op
tio

ns
 an

d v
iab

ility
 of

 id
ea

s 
de

ter
mi

ne
d b

y O
ct 

09
 

 

4.2
.3 

Pr
ov

ide
 tra

ini
ng

 fo
r h

os
tel

 st
aff

 on
 m

an
ag

ing
 ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

an
d p

rev
en

tin
g r

etu
rns

 to
 re

-of
fen

din
g 

 
Pr

ob
ati

on
, S

P 
 

DA
AT

 / D
IP,

 
HO

ST
 C

JS
 

wo
rke

r 
 

Tra
ini

ng
 pr

og
ram

me
 in

 pl
ac

e 
by

 Ju
l 2

00
9, 

an
d d

eli
ve

red
 

by
 D

ec
 20

09
 

 

4.2
.4 

Fo
cu

s o
n m

ee
tin

g w
ide

r fa
mi

ly 
ne

ed
s t

hro
ug

h d
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

of 
Lo

ok
ing

 O
ut 

se
rvi

ce
, a

nd
 lin

ks
 to

 fa
mi

ly 
su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
s, 

me
dia

tio
n a

nd
 ch

ild
ren

’s 
ce

ntr
es

, fa
cili

tat
ing

 w
he

rev
er 

po
ss

ibl
e r

etu
rns

 ho
me

 an
d /

 or
 lo

ng
er-

ter
m 

fam
ily 

res
olu

tio
ns

 
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Sa

fet
y 

HH
AS

  
W

ide
r li

nk
s i

n p
lac

e b
y J

ul 
20

09
 

 

4.2
.5 

Re
vie

w 
pro

vis
ion

 of
 he

alt
h-r

ela
ted

 se
rvi

ce
s f

or 
ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

in 
ho

us
ing

 ne
ed

 
  

DA
AT

, 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Sa
fet

y 
 

HH
AS

  
Re

vie
w 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

10
 

 

Page 147



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 4:
 Ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

Ta
rg
ets

 
    

40
 

  
Ex
-of

fen
de
rs 

– H
ea
dli
ne
 Ta

rg
ets

: 2
00
8-0

9 
 

1 
33

% 
of 

HO
ST

’s 
pla

ce
me

nts
 in

to 
ho

ste
ls 

an
d s

up
po

rte
d h

ou
sin

g t
o c

om
e f

rom
 C

JS
 re

fer
ral

s (
su

bje
ct 

to 
rev

iew
 ba

se
d o

n o
n-g

oin
g n

ee
ds

 
as

se
ss

me
nt)

 
2 

Inc
rea

se
 in

 ho
me

les
sn

es
s p

rev
en

tio
n f

or 
ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

thr
ou

gh
 ho

us
ing

 ad
vic

e, 
op

tio
ns

 an
d m

ed
iat

ion
 

3 
Nu

mb
er 

of 
ex

-of
fen

de
rs 

res
ett

led
 in

to 
pe

rm
an

en
t a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n b

y H
OS

T 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
    

Ex
-of

fen
de
rs 

– S
up
po
rti
ng
 In
dic

ato
rs 

1 
Co

ntr
ibu

tin
g t

o N
I 1

43
 m

on
ito

rin
g –

 nu
mb

er 
of 

off
en

de
rs 

livi
ng

 in
 se

ttle
d a

nd
 su

sta
ina

ble
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 at

 th
e e

nd
 of

 th
eir

 or
de

r o
r li

ce
nc

e 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 148



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 5:
 W
om

en
 

Pr
ior

ity
 1:
 Pr

ov
idi
ng
 th
e r

igh
t o

pti
on
s a

nd
 su

pp
or
t fo

r w
om

en
 w
ith
 ne

ed
s r

ela
tin

g t
o D

om
es
tic
 Vi

ole
nc
e 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

41
 

5.1
.1 

En
su

re 
all

 w
om

en
 in

 te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 re
ce

ive
 

ma
ins

tre
am

 or
 sp

ec
ial

ist
 flo

ati
ng

 su
pp

ort
, e

sp
ec

ial
ly 

wh
ere

 
the

y h
av

e e
xp

eri
en

ce
d d

om
es

tic
 vi

ole
nc

e b
y: 

• 
De

ve
lop

ing
 a 

flo
ati

ng
 su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
 fo

r w
om

en
 

fle
ein

g D
V i

n T
A 

• 
Tri

al 
a 6

-m
on

th 
au

tom
ati

c r
efe

rra
l p

roc
es

s f
or 

As
ian

 
wo

me
n t

o T
HA

W
A f

loa
tin

g s
up

po
rt  

• 
De

ve
lop

 an
 in

for
ma

tio
n p

ac
k f

or 
wo

me
n f

lee
ing

 D
V 

ac
ce

ss
ing

 te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 in
 th

e b
oro

ug
h 

 

Su
pp

ort
ing

 
Pe

op
le,

 H
HA

S  
 

DV
 U

nit
, 

Ga
tew

ay
 

Ne
w 

se
rvi

ce
 sp

ec
ific

ati
on

 in
 

pla
ce

 by
 M

ar 
09

 
 

Tri
al 

ref
err

al 
pro

ce
ss

 to
 

TH
AW

A i
n p

lac
e b

y 
Se

pte
mb

er 
08

 
 Inf

orm
ati

on
 pa

ck
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y 

Ma
rch

 09
 

 

5.1
.2 

Inc
rea

se
 m

ov
e-o

n o
pti

on
s f

rom
 re

fug
es

 fo
r w

om
en

 th
rou

gh
 

the
 su

pp
ort

ed
 ho

us
ing

 qu
ota

 an
d t

hro
ug

h H
OS

T, 
inc

lud
ing

 
mo

ve
-on

 in
to 

PR
S w

he
re 

ap
pro

pri
ate

  
 

HH
AS

, S
P 

Le
ttin

gs
 

Pr
oc

ed
ure

s i
n p

lac
e b

y N
ov

 
08

 
 

5.1
.3 

Su
pp

ort
 su

b-r
eg

ion
al 

wo
rki

ng
 on

 D
V p

rot
oc

ol 
an

d n
eg

oti
ate

 
ag

ree
me

nts
 w

ith
 R

SL
s i

n t
he

 bo
rou

gh
 to

 pa
y f

or 
Sa

nc
tua

ry 
pro

vis
ion

 fo
r th

eir
 te

na
nts

 
Do

me
sti

c 
Vio

len
ce

 Te
am

 
(D

V)
  

 

HH
AS

, R
SL

s, 
Ea

st 
Lo

nd
on

 
Ho

us
ing

 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 

DV
 pr

oto
co

l is
 an

 on
-go

ing
 

de
ve

lop
me

nt.
 W

ork
 to

 
de

ve
lop

 an
 SL

A a
gre

em
en

t 
wit

h R
SL

s t
o b

e n
eg

oti
ate

d 
in 

20
08

/09
 

 

5.1
.4 

Re
vie

w 
the

 sa
fet

y a
nd

 se
cu

rity
 of

 TA
 fo

r w
om

en
 fle

ein
g D

V 
an

d a
llo

ca
te 

a s
pe

cif
ic 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 of
fic

er 
to 

all
 D

V 
ca

se
s t

o l
ink

 in
to 

the
 m

ult
i-a

ge
nc

y n
etw

ork
 th

at 
is 

es
tab

lish
ed

 ar
ou

nd
 th

e S
an

ctu
ary

 sc
he

me
 to

 en
su

re 
ris

k 
as

se
ss

me
nts

, s
afe

ty 
pla

nn
ing

, a
nd

 th
e a

pp
rop

ria
ten

es
s o

f 
the

 lo
ca

tio
n h

av
e b

ee
n c

on
sid

ere
d. 

HH
AS

  
DV

 U
nit

 
Re

vie
w 

by
 D

ec
 08

. M
ult

i-
ag

en
cy

 w
ork

ing
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y 

Ma
r 0

9 
 

5.1
.5 

Pr
ov

ide
 pr

ac
tic

al 
su

pp
ort

 to
 w

om
en

 co
ns

ide
rin

g o
ut-

of-
bo

rou
gh

 m
ov

es
 

 
HH

AS
  

RS
Ls

 
Ne

go
tia

te 
arr

an
ge

me
nts

 as
 

pa
rt o

f E
LH

P p
rot

oc
ol 

by
 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 
 

 

Page 149



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 5:
 W
om

en
 

Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 Im

pr
ov
e e

arl
y i
nte

rve
nti

on
 an

d p
rev

en
tio

n w
or
k t
o a

vo
id 
the

 es
ca
lat
ion

 of
 su

pp
or
t n
ee
ds
 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

42
 

5.2
.1 

En
su

re 
tha

t w
om

en
 w

ith
 lo

w 
su

pp
ort

 ne
ed

s –
 es

pe
cia

lly 
tho

se
 in

 te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 – 
are

 ac
ce

ss
ing

 
ma

ins
tre

am
 su

pp
ort

 pr
ov

isio
n a

nd
 th

at 
ma

ins
tre

am
 

org
an

isa
tio

ns
 ar

e u
p-t

o-d
ate

 on
 th

e r
an

ge
 of

 se
rvi

ce
s 

pro
vid

ed
 fo

r th
os

e i
n h

ou
sin

g n
ee

d –
 in

clu
din

g t
en

an
cy

 
su

pp
ort

, d
eb

t a
dv

ice
, e

mp
loy

me
nt 

an
d t

rai
nin

g a
nd

 su
pp

ort
 

rel
ate

d t
o d

om
es

tic
 vi

ole
nc

e. 
 

HH
AS

  
 

De
ve

lop
 a 

pro
gra

mm
e t

o 
co

nta
ct 

an
d u

pd
ate

 ke
y 

ag
en

cie
s /

 se
rvi

ce
s w

om
en

 
ac

ce
ss

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y J
uly

 08
 

 

5.2
.2 

De
ve

lop
 lin

ks
 w

ith
 lo

ca
l B

ME
 ad

vic
e a

ge
nc

ies
 an

d f
ait

h 
co

mm
un

itie
s t

o e
ns

ure
 th

ey
 ar

e l
ink

ed
 to

 su
pp

ort
 se

rvi
ce

s 
for

 w
om

en
, a

nd
 to

 en
su

re 
tha

t s
erv

ice
s a

re 
de

sig
ne

d a
nd

 
tar

ge
ted

 m
ore

 ap
pro

pri
ate

ly 
 

HH
AS

  
SP

 
All

 lin
ks

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y M
ar 

09
 

 

 

Page 150



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 5:
 W
om

en
 

Pr
ior

ity
 3:
 D
ev
elo

pin
g j
oin

t w
or
kin

g f
or
 w
om

en
 w
ith
 co

mp
lex

 ne
ed
s a

nd
 / o

r in
 co

mp
lex

 si
tua

tio
ns
 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

43
 

5.3
.1 

Fu
nd

 a 
sp

ec
ial

ist
 D

V a
nd

 Su
bs

tan
ce

 M
isu

se
 Ad

vo
ca

te 
to 

wo
rk 

wit
h h

om
ele

ss
 w

om
en

 or
 th

os
e a

t ri
sk

 of
 

ho
me

les
sn

es
s, 

DV
 an

d w
ith

 su
bs

tan
ce

 m
isu

se
 pr

ob
lem

s. 
Th

e w
ork

er 
wil

l lin
k t

o k
ey

 ag
en

cie
s a

nd
 in

cre
as

e w
om

en
’s 

ac
ce

ss
 an

d e
ng

ag
em

en
t w

ith
 se

rvi
ce

s (
inc

lud
ing

 dr
ug

 / 
alc

oh
ol 

se
rvi

ce
s) 

as
 w

ell
 as

 pr
ov

idi
ng

 te
na

nc
y s

up
po

rt t
o 

av
oid

 re
pe

at 
ho

me
les

sn
es

s. 
 

DV
 Te

am
 

DA
AT

 
HH

AS
  

DV
 U

nit
 to

 le
ad

 on
 th

e 
rec

rui
tm

en
t o

f th
is 

on
e-y

ea
r 

po
st.

 Ap
po

int
me

nt 
ma

de
 by

 
Se

pt 
08

 

 

5.3
.2 

Re
vie

w 
ho

ste
l p

rov
isio

n f
or 

wo
me

n, 
inc

lud
ing

 th
e n

ee
d f

or 
dru

g f
ree

 se
co

nd
 st

ag
e a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n. 

Th
e r

ev
iew

 sh
ou

ld 
als

o c
on

sid
er 

the
 on

-go
ing

 ne
ed

s o
f w

om
en

 in
vo

lve
d i

n o
r 

ex
itin

g p
ros

titu
tio

n, 
wo

me
n e

x-o
ffe

nd
ers

 le
av

ing
 pr

iso
n a

nd
 

tho
se

 w
ith

 dr
ug

 an
d a

lco
ho

l a
nd

 m
en

tal
 he

alt
h n

ee
ds

 
 

SP
 

DA
AT

, H
HA

S 
Ne

ed
s a

na
lys

is 
an

d p
lan

s b
y 

Ma
r 0

9. 
 

 

Page 151



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 5:
 W
om

en
 

Ta
rg
ets

 
   

44
 

  Wo
me

n  
– H

ea
dli
ne
 Ta

rg
ets

 
 Inc

rea
se

 th
e n

um
be

r o
f re

fer
ral

s t
o T

HA
W

A f
loa

tin
g s

up
po

rt s
erv

ice
 by

 10
% 

 Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
wo

me
n i

n h
os

tel
s a

nd
 re

fug
es

 en
ga

ge
d w

ith
 dr

ug
, a

lco
ho

l a
nd

 m
en

tal
 he

alt
h s

erv
ice

s b
y 5

% 
ye

ar-
on

-ye
ar 

 
 Inc

rea
se

 st
ab

ility
 of

 ho
us

ing
 fo

r 2
5 h

om
ele

ss
 w

om
en

 th
at 

ha
ve

 ex
pe

rie
nc

e o
f D

V a
nd

 su
bs

tan
ce

 m
is-

us
e 

 Inc
rea

se
 st

ab
ility

 of
 ho

us
ing

 fo
r 2

5 h
om

ele
ss

 w
om

en
 th

at 
ha

ve
 ex

pe
rie

nc
e o

f s
ub

sta
nc

e m
is-

us
e 

 95
% 

of 
wo

me
n i

n T
A t

o b
e i

n c
on

tac
t w

ith
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 su

pp
ort

 se
rvi

ce
s 

 25
% 

of 
HO

ST
 fa

cili
tat

ed
 an

d s
up

po
rte

d h
ou

sin
g q

uo
ta 

mo
ve

-on
 fo

r w
om

en
 fro

m 
ref

ug
es

 an
d h

os
tel

s 
    

Page 152



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 6:
 Em

plo
ym

en
t a
nd
 Ec

on
om

ic 
We

llb
ein

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 1:
 Ta

rg
et 
an
d l
ink

 m
ain

str
ea
m 
em

plo
ym

en
t p
ro
vis

ion
 on

 ho
me

les
s h

ou
se
ho
lds

 (b
oth

 th
os
e i
n t
em

po
rar

y a
cc
om

mo
da
tio
n a

nd
 

ho
ste

ls)
, b
y b

ett
er 

inf
or
ma

tio
n p

ro
vis

ion
, a
ss
es
sm

en
t a
nd
 jo
int
 w
or
kin

g. 
  

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

45
 

6.1
.1 

Pr
ov

ide
 m

ore
 ea

rly
 si

gn
-po

sti
ng

 to
 tra

ini
ng

, e
du

ca
tio

n a
nd

 
job

 br
ok

era
ge

 se
rvi

ce
s f

or 
tho

se
 pr

es
en

tin
g t

o t
he

 ho
me

les
s 

se
rvi

ce
 an

d /
 or

 be
ing

 as
se

ss
ed

 by
 H

OS
T –

 in
clu

din
g a

n 
as

se
ss

me
nt 

of 
sk

ills
 / q

ua
lific

ati
on

 le
ve

l 
 

HH
AS

  
  

JC
P, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Ce
ntr

es
 

Fu
ll r

an
ge

 of
 si

gn
-po

sti
ng

 
op

tio
ns

 to
 be

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y D
ec

 
08

. 
Sk

ills
 as

se
ss

me
nt 

pro
ce

ss
 to

 
be

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y M
ar 

09
 

 

6.1
.2 

Ins
tal

l in
ter

ne
t a

cc
es

s i
n t

he
 H

om
ele

ss
 Se

rvi
ce

 re
ce

pti
on

, to
 

pro
vid

e l
ink

s t
o e

mp
loy

me
nt 

se
rvi

ce
s s

uc
h a

s t
he

 JC
P  

 
HH

AS
  

 
Ac

ce
ss

 in
sta

lle
d b

y M
arc

h 
09

  
 

6.1
.3 

JC
P a

nd
 To

yn
be

e H
all

 fin
an

cia
l in

clu
sio

n s
erv

ice
s t

o 
co

nd
uc

t o
utr

ea
ch

 w
ork

 / s
es

sio
ns

 at
 H

om
ele

ss
 Se

rvi
ce

 an
d 

Cr
isis

 Sk
ylig

ht 
to 

tar
ge

t b
oth

 fa
mi

lie
s a

nd
 si

ng
le 

ho
me

les
s 

 

HH
AS

, J
CP

 
To

yn
be

e H
all

 
Cr

isis
 

Re
gu

lar
 se

ss
ion

s i
n p

lac
e b

y 
De

c 0
8 

 

6.1
.4 

Pr
ov

ide
 in

for
ma

tio
n p

ac
ks

 on
 jo

bs
 an

d t
rai

nin
g t

o a
ll t

ho
se

 
pre

se
nti

ng
 at

 H
HA

S, 
HO

ST
 an

d t
ho

se
 in

 TA
.  C

on
sid

er 
dis

trib
uti

ng
 ex

ist
ing

 em
plo

ym
en

t / 
tra

ini
ng

 di
rec

tor
ies

 
(pr

od
uc

ed
 by

 pa
rtn

er 
ag

en
cie

s) 
be

for
e e

va
lua

tin
g t

he
 ne

ed
 

for
 an

 in
-ho

us
e p

rod
uc

ed
 gu

ide
 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Se
t o

f in
for

ma
tio

n c
om

ple
te 

by
 M

arc
h 0

9 
 

6.1
.5 

HO
ST

 st
aff

 to
 pr

ov
ide

 ‘b
ett

er 
off

 in
 w

ork
’ c

alc
ula

tio
ns

 at
 

as
se

ss
me

nt 
int

erv
iew

s, 
inc

lud
ing

 ad
vic

e o
n b

en
efi

ts 
an

d t
ax

 
cre

dit
s 

 

HH
AS

, J
CP

 
 

Tra
ini

ng
 to

 be
 pr

ov
ide

d f
or 

HO
ST

 st
aff

 by
 M

ar 
09

  
 

6.1
.6 

All
 TA

 re
sid

en
ts 

to 
rec

eiv
e r

eg
ula

r in
for

ma
tio

n f
oc

us
ed

 on
 

lea
rni

ng
 an

d s
kill

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
HH

AS
  

 
To

 be
 bu

ilt 
int

o t
he

 ex
ist

ing
 

qu
art

erl
y n

ew
sle

tte
r fo

r 
res

ide
nts

 of
 TA

 by
 Ju

ly 
 

 

 

Page 153



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 6:
 Em

plo
ym

en
t a
nd
 Ec

on
om

ic 
We

llb
ein

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 D
ev
elo

p a
 fin

an
cia

l in
clu

sio
n s

tra
teg

y f
or
 ho

us
eh
old

s i
n t
em

po
rar

y a
cc
om

mo
da
tio
n, 
bo
th 

aro
un
d r

ed
uc
ing

 ar
rea

rs 
an
d 

rem
ov
ing

 th
e d

isi
nc
en
tiv
es
 to

 em
plo

ym
en
t  

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

46
 

6.2
.1 

Ex
plo

re 
op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 to
 ex

ten
d m

ain
str

ea
m 

ten
an

cy
 su

pp
ort

 
ov

er 
ho

me
les

s h
ou

se
ho

lds
 to

 in
cre

as
e c

ap
ac

ity
 to

 re
du

ce
 

arr
ea

rs 
an

d f
ina

nc
ial

 pr
ob

lem
s 

 

SP
, H

HA
S  

 
Via

bil
ity

 an
d p

lan
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y 

Ma
r 0

9 
 

6.2
.2 

Pr
ov

ide
 ge

og
rap

hic
all

y b
as

ed
 in

for
ma

tio
n o

n h
om

ele
ss

 
ho

us
eh

old
s t

o t
he

 C
ity

 St
rat

eg
y s

ing
le 

po
int

 of
 ac

ce
ss

 pi
lot

, 
to 

all
ow

 th
e t

arg
eti

ng
 of

 w
ork

les
s f

am
ilie

s; 
an

d e
xp

lor
e 

op
tio

ns
 fo

r o
utr

ea
ch

 w
ork

.  
   

HH
AS

  
D&

R 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en

t 
Pr

ov
isio

n o
f in

for
ma

tio
n b

y 
De

c 0
8. 

As
se

ss
 op

tio
ns

 fo
r o

utr
ea

ch
 

wo
rk 

by
 Se

p 0
8 

 

6.2
.3 

Co
ns

ide
r fi

na
nc

ial
 in

ce
nti

ve
s t

o e
nc

ou
rag

e p
eo

ple
 in

 hi
gh

 
co

st 
ren

ted
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 to

 fin
d e

mp
loy

me
nt,

 in
clu

din
g 

de
sig

nin
g a

 pi
lot

 sc
he

me
 to

 re
du

ce
 re

nt 
for

 pe
op

le 
in 

TA
 th

at 
are

 in
 em

plo
ym

en
t, o

r w
an

t to
 m

ov
e i

nto
 em

plo
ym

en
t, a

s 
pa

rt o
f th

e b
roa

de
r C

ity
 St

rat
eg

y a
pp

roa
ch

  
 

HH
AS

, 
D&

R 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en

t 
  

W
ork

ing
 Fu

tur
e 

Pr
op

os
e c

as
e f

or 
W

ork
ing

 
Ne

igh
bo

urh
oo

d F
un

din
g b

y 
Au

g 0
8 

 As
se

ss
 th

e v
iab

ility
 of

 th
e 

‘W
ork

ing
 Fu

tur
e’ 

mo
de

l fo
r 

To
we

r H
am

let
s b

y D
ec

 20
08

  
 De

sig
n a

nd
 pi

lot
 an

 
ap

pro
ac

h t
o o

ve
rco

me
 th

e 
‘po

ve
rty

 tra
p’ 

by
 D

ec
 20

09
 

 

 

6.2
.4 

En
su

re 
pe

op
le 

livi
ng

 in
 TA

 ha
ve

 ac
ce

ss
 to

 si
mp

le,
 tim

ely
 

ad
vic

e o
n t

he
 be

ne
fits

 sy
ste

m,
 Fa

mi
ly 

Ta
x C

red
its

 an
d 

Dis
cre

tio
na

ry 
Ho

us
ing

 Pa
ym

en
t, a

nd
 ‘b

ett
er 

off
 in

 w
ork

’ 
ca

lcu
lat

ion
.  C

on
sid

er 
op

tio
ns

 fo
r d

ev
elo

pin
g a

n o
utr

ea
ch

 
po

st 
to 

lea
d o

n e
mp

loy
me

nt 
an

d b
en

efi
t a

dv
ice

, o
r 

HH
AS

, S
P 

  
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Ce

ntr
es

 
Op

tio
ns

 to
 be

 as
se

ss
ed

 by
 

De
c 0

8. 
 

Page 154



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 6:
 Em

plo
ym

en
t a
nd
 Ec

on
om

ic 
We

llb
ein

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 2:
 D
ev
elo

p a
 fin

an
cia

l in
clu

sio
n s

tra
teg

y f
or
 ho

us
eh
old

s i
n t
em

po
rar

y a
cc
om

mo
da
tio
n, 
bo
th 

aro
un
d r

ed
uc
ing

 ar
rea

rs 
an
d 

rem
ov
ing

 th
e d

isi
nc
en
tiv
es
 to

 em
plo

ym
en
t  

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

47
 

alt
ern

ati
ve

ly,
 st

ren
gth

en
ing

 ex
ist

ing
 te

na
nc

y s
up

po
rt f

or 
TA

 
res

ide
nts

 to
 in

clu
de

 be
ne

fit 
ad

vic
e a

nd
 em

plo
ym

en
t is

su
es

. 
 

6.2
.5 

En
su

re 
ho

me
les

sn
es

s a
nd

 th
e c

os
t o

f te
mp

ora
ry 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 is
 a 

ke
y i

ss
ue

 in
 th

e b
oro

ug
h’s

 ef
for

ts 
to 

red
uc

e c
hil

d p
ov

ert
y 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s e

sta
bli

sh
ed

 
as

 a 
ke

y p
art

 of
 ‘T

hin
k 

Fa
mi

ly’ 
an

d c
hil

d p
ov

ert
y 

wo
rk 

in 
bo

rou
gh

  
 

 

6.2
.6 

De
ve

lop
 a 

sc
he

me
 to

 al
low

 ch
arg

es
 pa

id 
for

 re
nte

d f
urn

itu
re 

an
d a

pp
lia

nc
es

 to
 go

 to
wa

rds
 lo

ng
 te

rm
 pu

rch
as

e o
f th

es
e 

go
od

s. 
HH

AS
  

 
Sc

he
me

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y J
uly

 
20

09
 

 

 

Page 155



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 6:
 Em

plo
ym

en
t a
nd
 Ec

on
om

ic 
We

llb
ein

g 
Pr
ior

ity
 3:
 D
ev
elo

p a
 m
or
e i
nte

gr
ate

d a
pp
ro
ac
h t

o s
kil
ls 
de
ve
lop

me
nt 
in 
se
rvi
ce
s f
or
 si
ng
le 
ho
me

les
s p

eo
ple

, in
clu

din
g m

or
e l
ink

s 
wi
th 
em

plo
ye
rs 

   
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad
 A
ge
nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne
rs 

Mi
les

ton
e 

 
  

48
 

6.3
.1 

Es
tab

lish
 a 

sk
ills

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
for

um
 to

 co
-or

din
ate

 ad
vic

e 
on

 tra
ini

ng
 / e

mp
loy

me
nt 

for
 si

ng
le 

ho
me

les
s p

eo
ple

; 
se

rvi
ce

 us
er 

wo
rk 

pla
ce

me
nt 

op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 w

ill a
lso

 be
 a 

foc
us

 of
 th

is 
gro

up
. 

 

HH
AS

  
Cr

isis
 

Ide
nti

fy 
me

mb
ers

hip
 by

 
Se

pte
mb

er 
08

.  
2 m

ee
tin

gs
 by

 M
arc

h 0
9 

 

6.3
.2 

Su
pp

ort
 ex

ist
ing

 so
cia

l e
nte

rpr
ise

s a
nd

 de
ve

lop
 on

e o
r m

ore
 

ne
w 

on
es

 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 lo

ca
l b

us
ine

ss
es

, c
ha

riti
es

, a
nd

 
se

rvi
ce

 pr
ov

ide
rs 

 

HH
AS

  
 

Es
tab

lish
 vi

ab
ility

 of
 op

tio
ns

 
by

 D
ec

 08
, in

clu
din

g a
 

me
eti

ng
 of

 ex
ist

ing
 so

cia
l 

en
ter

pri
se

s t
o c

on
sid

er 
op

tio
ns

 fo
r h

om
ele

ss
 cl

ien
ts 

 

 

6.3
.3 

De
ve

lop
 a 

lin
k p

rog
ram

me
 w

ith
 lo

ca
l h

os
tel

s t
o e

nc
ou

rag
e 

job
 re

ad
y c

lie
nts

 in
to 

wo
rk 

pla
ce

me
nts

 w
ith

 Bu
sin

es
s A

cti
on

 
on

 H
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

. E
ns

ure
 se

rvi
ce

 us
ers

 ha
ve

 w
ork

 pl
ac

e 
op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 w
ith

 a 
ran

ge
 of

 em
plo

ye
rs,

 pr
ov

idi
ng

 su
pp

ort
 to

 
de

ve
lop

 sk
ills

 an
d e

na
ble

 pr
og

res
sio

n 

HH
AS

  
Bu

sin
es

s i
n t

he
 

Co
mm

un
ity

, 
Sk

ills
ma

tch
 

Th
is 

wil
l b

e a
 fo

cu
s o

f th
e 

Sk
ill D

ev
elo

pm
en

t F
oru

m.
 

En
su

re 
a p

lan
 is

 in
 pl

ac
e 

wh
ich

 id
en

tifi
es

 jo
b r

ea
dy

 
se

rvi
ce

 us
ers

 fo
r w

ork
 

pla
ce

me
nt 

by
 Ap

ril 
09

 
 

 

  

Page 156



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne
ss
 St

rat
eg
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 6:
 Em

plo
ym

en
t a
nd
 Ec

on
om

ic 
We

llb
ein

g 
Ta
rg
ets

 
   

49
 

    Em
plo

ym
en
t a
nd
 ec

on
om

ic 
we

ll-b
ein

g –
 H
ea
dli
ne
 Ta

rg
ets

 
 Inc

rea
se

 pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n a
mo

ng
 ho

ste
l re

sid
en

ts 
in 

tra
ini

ng
 an

d e
du

ca
tio

n b
y 5

% 
(fro

m 
20

06
 ba

se
lin

e o
f 5

0%
) 

 Inc
rea

se
 fu

ll o
r p

art
-tim

e e
mp

loy
me

nt 
in 

ho
ste

ls 
by

 2%
 ye

ar 
on

 ye
ar 

fro
m 

20
06

 ba
se

lin
e o

f  8
% 

 25
% 

of 
HO

ST
 as

se
ss

me
nts

 to
 in

clu
de

 a 
sk

ills
 as

se
ss

me
nt 

 10
 se

rvi
ce

 us
ers

 in
 w

ork
 pl

ac
em

en
ts 

by
 M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 10
0 h

ou
se

ho
lds

 in
 TA

 he
lpe

d i
nto

 em
plo

ym
en

t b
y M

arc
h 2

01
0 

 Inc
rea

sin
g t

he
 nu

mb
er 

of 
fam

ilie
s i

n T
A w

ith
 re

nt 
arr

ea
rs 

ins
tal

me
nt 

pla
ns

 by
 5%

 by
 Ju

ne
 20

09
 

   

Page 157



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 St

rat
eg

y 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 7:

 H
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 Pr
ev

en
tio

n G
en

era
l  

  
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad

 A
ge

nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne

rs 
Mi

les
ton

e 
 

   
50

 

 7.1
 

De
ve

lop
 cl

os
er 

lin
ks

 be
tw

ee
n t

he
 H

om
ele

ss
 Se

rvi
ce

 
an

d m
ain

str
ea

m 
ten

an
cy

 su
pp

ort
 se

rvi
ce

s, 
so

 th
at 

the
y 

are
 fu

lly 
sh

ap
ed

 ac
co

rdi
ng

 to
 th

e h
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 
pre

ve
nti

on
 ag

en
da

 in
clu

din
g w

he
re 

‘em
erg

en
cy

’ 
ten

an
cy

 su
pp

ort
 (i.

e. 
wit

hin
 72

 ho
urs

) m
ay

 be
 re

qu
ire

d 
to 

pre
ve

nt 
ho

me
les

sn
es

s  
 

 

HH
AS

, S
P 

 
Ge

ne
ral

 an
d e

me
rge

nc
y 

ref
err

als
 pr

oc
ed

ure
s i

n 
pla

ce
 by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 

7.2
 

De
ve

lop
 a 

co
ord

ina
ted

 an
d p

ote
nti

all
y u

nif
ied

 
ap

pro
ac

h t
o t

he
 pr

oc
ure

me
nt 

of 
pri

va
te 

ren
ted

 se
cto

r 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 ac

ros
s b

oth
 re

nt 
de

po
sit

 sc
he

me
s a

nd
 

tem
po

rar
y a

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n. 

 
 

HH
AS

  
 

Tb
c 

 

7.3
 

De
ve

lop
 a 

mo
re 

co
mp

reh
en

siv
e o

pti
on

s s
erv

ice
 fo

r 
ho

us
eh

old
s i

n t
em

po
rar

y a
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n  
 

 
HH

AS
 

 
Pla

n i
n p

lac
e b

y M
arc

h 
20

09
 

 

7.4
 

Fu
rth

er 
de

ve
lop

 th
e p

rev
en

tio
n a

ge
nd

a a
nd

 jo
int

 
wo

rki
ng

 on
 ho

me
les

sn
es

s w
ith

 al
l lo

ca
l R

SL
s an

d w
ork

 
wit

h R
SL

s o
n i

nc
orp

ora
tin

g h
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 pr
ev

en
tio

n 
int

o t
he

ir p
roc

ed
ure

s f
or 

de
ali

ng
 w

ith
 re

nt 
arr

ea
rs,

 
AS

B, 
DV

 an
d h

ara
ss

me
nt 

 

HH
AS

 / R
SL

s 
 

On
-go

ing
, a

nd
 in

itia
l 

ho
me

les
sn

es
s p

rev
en

tio
n 

pre
se

nta
tio

n a
t T

HH
F b

y 
De

c 2
00

8 
 

 

7.5
 

En
su

re 
tha

t a
 fu

ll r
an

ge
 of

 re
fer

ral
 pr

oto
co

ls 
are

 in
 

pla
ce

 be
tw

ee
n t

he
 En

qu
iry

 an
d P

rev
en

tio
n T

ea
m 

an
d /

 
or 

HO
ST

 an
d a

du
lt s

oc
ial

 ca
re,

 dr
ug

 se
rvi

ce
s a

nd
 th

e 
Ro

ya
l L

on
do

n H
os

pit
al,

 bu
ild

ing
 on

 pr
oto

co
ls 

wit
h 

ho
us

ing
 m

an
ag

em
en

t, C
hil

dre
n’s

 Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Pr
ob

ati
on

 
an

d M
ile

 En
d (

me
nta

l h
ea

lth
) h

os
pit

al 
 

 

HH
AS

  
 

By
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 

7.6
 

De
ve

lop
 m

ore
 jo

int
 w

ork
ing

 w
ith

 H
ou

sin
g B

en
efi

t in
 th

e 
fol

low
ing

 ar
ea

s: 
• 

Es
tab

lish
 fa

st 
tra

ck
 ar

ran
ge

me
nts

, in
clu

din
g a

 
de

dic
ate

d H
B o

ffic
er 

po
st 

to 
tak

e u
rge

nt 

HH
AS

 
HB

 
tbc

 
 

Page 158



To
we

r H
am

let
s H

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 St

rat
eg

y 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 7:

 H
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 Pr
ev

en
tio

n G
en

era
l  

  
Ac

tio
n 

Le
ad

 A
ge

nc
y 

Ke
y P

art
ne

rs 
Mi

les
ton

e 
 

   
51

 

ho
me

les
sn

es
s p

rev
en

tio
n r

efe
rra

ls 
fro

m 
RS

Ls
 an

d 
oth

er 
pa

rtn
er 

org
an

isa
tio

ns
 

• 
All

 te
am

s t
o h

av
e r

ea
d-o

nly
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 th

e H
B 

sy
ste

m,
 in

clu
din

g E
PO

s, 
ho

us
ing

 ad
vic

e, 
op

tio
ns

 
an

d r
en

t d
ep

os
it s

ch
em

e s
taf

f. 
• 

HH
AS

 to
 ta

ke
 co

ntr
ol 

of 
so

me
 or

 al
l o

f th
e D

HP
 

bu
dg

et 
(as

 is
 th

e p
rac

tic
e i

n s
om

e o
the

r 
au

tho
riti

es
), u

sin
g t

his
 as

 a 
ke

y p
rev

en
tio

n 
me

as
ure

.  I
t m

ay
 be

 ne
ce

ss
ary

 to
 de

ve
lop

 a 
pro

toc
ol 

for
 us

e o
f D

HP
 fo

r h
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 
pre

ve
nti

on
.  

 
7.7

 
Pr

ov
ide

 tra
ini

ng
 fo

r a
 w

ide
 ra

ng
e o

f a
ge

nc
ies

 on
 

pre
ve

nti
ng

 ho
me

les
sn

es
s –

 bo
th 

sta
tut

ory
 an

d 
vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
 

 

HH
AS

  
Vo

lun
tar

y 
se

cto
r 

ag
en

cie
s 

De
vis

e p
rog

ram
me

 of
 

tra
ini

ng
 an

d a
ge

nc
ies

 by
 

De
c 2

00
8 

 Pr
og

ram
me

 de
live

red
 by

 
Ju

ly 
20

09
 

 

 

7.8
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e n
um

be
r o

f h
ou

se
ho

lds
 ta

kin
g t

he
 re

nt 
de

po
sit

 op
tio

n t
hro

ug
h o

n-g
oin

g w
ork

 w
ith

 la
nd

lor
ds

.  
 

HH
AS

  
 

On
-go

ing
 pr

om
oti

on
 an

d 
pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ork
ing

 w
ith

 
lan

dlo
rds

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

Page 159



Page 160

This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

1 
 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
30 July 2008 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report 
No: 

Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
Corporate Director, Adults Health and 
Well Being. 
 
Originating officer(s) Carrie Kilpatrick 
Supporting People Manager 
 

Title:  
Strategic Review of Supporting People 
Floating Support Services 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out the findings of a strategic review of floating support services 

funded by Supporting People, and makes recommendations for the strategic 
reconfiguration of those services. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

2.1 Agree that the services identified in para. 4.2 of this report be decommissioned 
as set out in section 5 with effect from 1st June 2009  

 
2.2 Agree that a competitive tendering process be conducted to procure a new 

pattern of services as set out in section 6 of this report  
 
2.3 Agree to Authorise the Corporate Director Adult Health and Wellbeing to enter 

into contracts arising from the procurement process recommended in 2.2 above, 
after consultation with the Supporting People Commissioning Body and the Lead 
Member, Health and Wellbeing; subject to the availability of resources following 
the review of Area Based Grant.  

 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

Agenda Item 8.2

Page 161



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

2 
 

  
Brief description of “back ground papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

None none 
 
 
 

Page 162



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

3 
 

3. BACKGROUND TO SUPPORTING PEOPLE 
 
3.1 Supporting People is a national programme that aims to promote the quality of 

life and independence of vulnerable people. The programme does this by funding 
housing-related support services to allow people to live independently in their 
own accommodation.  

 
3.2 Supporting People came into existence in April 2003. Services funded by Supporting 

People grant at this time were pre-established and pre-funded with a whole range of 
different funding streams, generally outside of the Local Authority contracting regime. 
The reasons it was introduced include:  

 
� Housing Benefit was being used to fund staff and support services. 
� The supported housing sector was developing in unstructured ways, often led by 

providers, with little strategic direction. Many services were established without the 
involvement of Local Authorities. 

� The sector was under commissioned and inadequately monitored with service 
quality costs and safety often variable  

� Too much provision was linked to buildings rather than individuals.  
 
3.3 The programme has a very wide scope, incorporating many vulnerable groups 

specified by the Department of Communities and Local Government as: 
 

� People who have been homeless or rough sleepers 
� People with drug or alcohol needs 
� Older people or frail elderly 
� People with mental health needs 
� Women fleeing domestic violence 
� People with a physical or sensory disability 
� People with a learning disability 
� People with HIV and AIDS 
� Offenders, and people at risk of offending 
� Refugees 
� Young people leaving care or at risk 
� Homeless Families 
� Teenage Parents 
� Mentally disordered offenders 
� Older people with mental health problems / dementia 
� Travellers 
� Generic needs  

 
3.4 In line with Government guidance, the Supporting People programme is overseen by 

a multi-agency Commissioning Body, bring together senior representatives of the 
Council, the PCT, and the Probation Service. In February 2005, Cabinet delegated 
authority to enter into Supporting People contracts on behalf of the Commissioning 
Body and the Council as the administering Authority to the Chair of the Supporting 

Page 163



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

4 
 

People Commissioning Body.  This is currently the Corporate Director, Adults Health 
and Wellbeing.   The Supporting People Team is responsible for administering the 
Supporting People programme for the Borough, which involves: 
 
� Managing a Supporting People grant of £15,384,899 for 2008-2009. 
� Contracting with, monitoring and reviewing 126 supported housing services in the 

Borough. 
� Working in partnership with 47 providers of housing support services, delivering 

support to over 6000 people. 
 

3.5 Since the inception of Supporting People, local authorities have been required to 
review all services ‘inherited’ as part of the programme, to ensure quality, 
strategic relevance , value for money, and eligibility for Supporting People 
funding. A strategic review of floating support services has been carried out in 
this context.  
 

3.6 Supporting People services can be broadly categorised as either 
‘accommodation based’ – where the service is provided on site in a specific place 
(e.g. a hostel) to people who live in that particular accommodation – or as 
‘Floating Support’. This is defined as “…a support service which is not tied to 
accommodation’ – it ‘floats off’, in that the support moves to another service user, 
when the support is no longer required. It follows the individual, as the service 
user moves through different types of accommodation”. 1  
 

3.7 The key objectives of the strategic review were: 
� To evaluate current need for floating support in the Borough. 
� To assess arrangements for service provision to meet this need. 
� To establish value for money of existing services. 
� To make recommendations on how the services could be improved, and 

reconfigured. 
� To identify the mechanisms for implementing the reconfiguration. 

 
3.8 The review has been exhaustively considered by the Commissioning Body on a 

number of occasions. There has been extensive consultation over a period of a 
year with existing providers and other stakeholders. 

 
4. FINDINGS OF THE REVIEW 

 
4.1 Floating support provision covers a broad range of different types of service 

provision to a broad range of different client group areas. It includes both a 
number of generic services, providing low intensity support to people who are not 
generally eligible for support from other statutory services such as adult social 

                                                 
1 Research into the effectiveness of floating support services for the Supporting People programme, Communities 
and Local Government (CLG), April 2008).   
 

Page 164



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

5 
 

care, and a number of services providing more intensive support to people with 
more complex needs.  

 
4.2 This type of provision is currently provided by 7 Organisations contracted to 

deliver 11 services or 403 units of support.2 The total funding amounts to 
£1,010,105. 

 

Service Name and/ or Provider No of 
contracted 
units 

Total SP funding   Primary client group  

1 East Living  (2 services)  
 

12 (4+8) £40,834 Older people 
2 Heritage Care  (2 services) 
 

9 (8+1) £95,199 People with mental 
health needs 

3 Karin Tenancy Support 
 

21 £29,504 Somali – generic 
needs 

4 LBTH Tenancy Support Team 
 

220 £527,213 Generic  
5 Look Ahead Floating Support 
 

42 £101,304 Generic 
6 Providence Row (3 services in 1 

contract) 
87  £170,070 Drug and Alcohol &/or 

complex  
multiple needs  
 

7 NACRO – substance misuse  12  £45, 981 Drug & Alcohol 
 

Totals  403  £1,010,105  
 
 

 
  
4.3 A number of floating support services have not been included in the review, 

where the Commissioning Body have been satisfied that they are meeting a 
discrete and specialist need, with formalised referral arrangements with statutory 
agencies and often funded from a number of different partnership funding 
streams.   

 
4.4 Many of the services identified in para. 4.2 above provide high quality services, 

considered in isolation. However, the overall characteristics of the floating 
support system, considered as a system, were found to be:  

 
• Duplication – there is significant overlap between a number of the services.  

The distinction between the type of support service delivered by services is 
often unclear and analysis indicates almost 70% of these providers are 
delivering the same support activities. It is often unclear who should be most 
appropriately referred to which service.  

 
• Gaps - there is not adequate provision for a number of the groups identified in 

para. 3.3 above - for example, people with a learning disability, women fleeing 
                                                 
2 A unit is defined in this context to mean a person in receipt of support 

Page 165



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

6 
 

domestic violence, families in temporary accommodation, and offenders. 
Others are only partially served by the current range of services (e.g. 
refugees, where a service exists for the Somali community, but not other 
refugee groups). There is also limited capacity in many of the specialist 
services. 

 
• Inconsistent Value for Money (VFM) -Evidence indicates that VFM is variable 

across provision. Most services do not meet the agreed benchmark of 
delivering 23 hours per week of direct support to service users for each full 
time post.  

 
There is also no clear approach to service user to key worker ratios or 
caseloads. Caseloads range between 1:15 and 1:25 (key worker to service 
user), and whilst workers targeting those with complex or higher needs may 
require a lower caseload, there appears to be no uniformity in how this is 
approached across provision.  There is also significant disparity in the range 
of average unit costs per week and staff costs per hour.   

 
• Poor coverage of all housing situations and service user access – 

Reconfiguration is required to improve equality with regard to service user 
access - particularly to ensure that services are accessible to all, are not 
restricted to individual landlords, and can be accessed by individuals in 
temporary and private accommodation as required.  
 
Currently there is no demonstrable equality of access for service users 
irrespective of tenure type. Many services are restricted to particular RSL’s; 
with a snap shot of usage indicating 29% of service users were linked to 
specific RSLs compared to the RSL stock in LBTH at 22%.  Many RSLs did 
not access the service at all. 
 
The snap shot also demonstrates the under-representation and accessibility 
of owner occupiers with only 2% of current service users being owner 
occupiers compared to a proportion in the wider housing stock of 21.3%. A 
similar picture emerges linked to the Private Rented Sector (PRS) – the 
survey indicates 4% of current users are in the PRS, whilst the dwelling stock 
data for LBTH indicates that 41.1% live in the PRS.   

 
• Under-utilised Capacity – Analysis of existing contracted provision against 

capacity, utilisation and service user ratios indicates there is unused capacity 
within existing services.  

 
5. PROPOSALS 
 
5.1 To address all these issues, and to make best use of the resource available, it is 

proposed to decommission those services identified in para. 4.2, and to reinvest 

Page 166



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

7 
 

those resources in two new services to be commissioned following a competitive 
tendering process. The two new floating support services will be: 

 
i. One service will offer support to those with a relatively low level of needs – 

on average between 1 – 3 hours of support a week.    
 
ii. One service will be commissioned to offer support to those with more 

complex needs, requiring a higher level of support - on average between 3 
and 10 hours a week).   

 
Both services will be inclusive, working with all client groups and all tenures, and 
will include a focus on people in temporary accommodation provided by the 
Homelessness and Housing Advice Service.  

 
5.3 It is expected that the elimination of duplication and fragmentation will release 

efficiency savings.    Subject to the outcome of the Area Based Grant Review, 
officers would propose that these are targeted for re-investment in areas 
identified as gaps.  A key identified gap is the provision of a floating support 
service for women fleeing domestic violence. Given the specialist nature of this 
type of provision a separate service will be commissioned to address the needs 
of women at risk of homelessness as a result of domestic violence. Evidence 
suggests this will 

 
• Ensure timely crisis intervention, at a time of most danger and vulnerability for 

women - homelessness or potential homelessness  
• Help support early intervention.  
• Build on and develop working relationships between existing DV services, 

Children’s Services and Homelessness and Housing Advice Services, 
including their dedicated DV workers.   

 
5.5 Preliminary modelling of the parameters within which the services will be 

commissioned includes the following assumptions: 
 

• Average key worker:service user ratios to be set at 1:23  in the low intensity 
support service and 1:15 in the high intensity service  

• Recent cost profiles and benchmarking research indicate a target of £22.50 
per staff hour as an appropriate initial maximum against which tenders 
should be invited. 

• Management hours have been included at manager:staff ratio of 1:6  
 

The table below details outline predicted costs, increased capacity and unit costs 
of a newly reconfigured service based on benchmark costs for comparable 
services and local analysis of service costs carried out as part of the strategic 
review. These will to be refined prior to the final service specification being 
agreed and tender documents formulated. 

Page 167



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

8 
 

 
  
 Low Intensity Service 
 

Key 
worker 
caseload 

No. of 
frontline 
staff 

No of 
manage
rs 

No of full 
time 
workers  

Total annual 
hours  

£  Indicative 
funding 

Capacity in 
unit numbers  
 

1:22 13.4 2.5 15.9 28,983 £651,105 295 
 
High Intensity Service 
 

Key 
worker 
caseload 

No. of 
frontline 
staff 

No of 
manage
rs 

No of full 
time 
workers  

Total annual 
hours  

£ Indicative 
funding 

Capacity  in 
unit numbers 
 

1:15 6.7 1.5 8.2 14,924 £335,790 100units 
 

6. PROCUREMENT 
 
6.1 Both new services should be procured through a competitive tendering process. 

The Commissioning Body does not believe that there are any grounds to 
recommend exemption from normal competition requirements.  

 
6.2 Existing providers will of course be encouraged to submit bids, either alone or in 

consortia. For the Council, it should be noted that there are particular implications 
for the Tenancy Sustainment Team. This is currently an in house service 
managed within Housing Management / Directorate and Renewal. At the time of 
writing this report, Tower Hamlets Homes is due to be launched on 7th July. The 
Tenancy Sustainment Team will become part of Tower Hamlets Homes on its 
inception. The view of the Commissioning Body is that, if Tower Hamlets Homes 
wishes to continue to provide floating support services’ open to all housing 
tenures, it should be invited to bid for those services alongside other providers.       

 
6.3 Both costs and quality will be key considerations in the award of the contracts. 

The requirements of the tendering process are such that officers estimate that 
the earliest date on which the newly commissioned services could come into 
operation is 1 June 2009. 

 
6.4 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 

(TUPE) apply in situations where service provision transfers to an alternative 
provider as part of a tendering process  

 
6.5 As noted in para. 3.8 above, the review has already been the subject of wide 

ranging consultation.  Detailed service user feedback will be sought once the 
process and timescales have been agreed and has been included as a key part 
of the draft implementation plan. Service users will be involved in the evaluation 
of the bids.  It will also be key to ensure continuity of support to existing 
vulnerable people during the tendering process and the establishment of new 

Page 168



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

9 
 

services. Consideration of this will be an integral part of the tender specification 
and evaluation processes.   

 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report proposes to decommission some Supporting People services, with         

effect from 1st June 2009, and to enter into a competitive tendering process to 
procure a new pattern of services. 

 
7.2 The costs of the current services are met from the Supporting People grant which 

totals £15,384,899 in 2008/09. 
 
7.3 The Supporting People grant, which in 2008/09 is allocated as a specific grant, 

will be allocated by the government to the Council’s Area Based Grant pool from 
2009/10. The element of the Area Based Grant relating to the Supporting People 
grant in 2009/10 totals £15,384,899. It is proposed that the costs of the newly 
procured services are met from this sum. 

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 
8.1    The Council has a power and/or duty to provide the services under these 

contracts pursuant to Section 46 of the National Health Service & Community 
Care Act 1990 and supporting legislation.  

 
8.2 The contracts envisioned in this Report are for ‘Part B’ contracts for the purposes 

of the EU public procurement regime and so the full requirements of the regime 
do not apply. However, there remains the requirement to obtain Best Value in 
each case, and also to consider whether any of the contracts might be of interest 
to companies in other EU states, in which event the contracts must be advertised 
in an appropriate forum (trade magazine, national/local press and/or website) 
regardless of value.  Given the nature of the contracts, there is not likely to be 
any interest from undertakings in other EU member states.   

 
 
 
9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Ensuring that services meet the need of a diverse community and enable 

equality of access for all is one of the Supporting People Strategy’s key aims.  
This is particularly emphasised in relation to ensuring equality in the pattern of 
referral, access and service provision, giving specific consideration to the needs 
of the local black and minority ethnic communities, women, people with 
disabilities and other groups who can be under-represented amongst current 
service users for some services.  The Supporting People strategy aims to ensure 
that local people are able to access services quickly and according to need, 

Page 169



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

10 
 

facing no disadvantage because of vulnerability or any other factor.  It also aims 
to ensure that take up of services reflects the Borough’s ethnic composition.   

 
9.2 A key aim of the reconfiguration proposals is to address inequality in key areas 

as listed above, so ensuring floating support services better address the needs of 
the local population. 

 
9.3 The service specification, monitoring and contract compliance processes will 

ensure that all equal opportunities requirements and targets are met within 
service provision.   

 
10. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Supporting People Programme has significant anti-poverty implications.  

Supporting People services work with many of the most vulnerable and 
disadvantaged groups in society – those who are most at risk of poverty and 
social exclusion.  Supporting People is also intended to play a key role in making 
links between social inclusion, neighbourhood renewal, housing, community 
safety, health and social care.  

 
10.2 The housing related support offered by supporting people services can reduce 

poverty by: 
 

� maximising welfare benefits take up amongst service users 
� ensuring service users receive appropriate support to manage their finances 

and avoid unmanageable levels of debt 
� increasing support for individuals to access employment and training. 
� Ensuring the provision of value for money services 

 
10.3 The service providers will be required to actively seek to employ local people 

whenever possible and thus contribute to the local economy. 
 
 
11. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
11.1 There are no specific implications arising from this report. 
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The scale and complexities of the Supporting People Programme require a 

thorough assessment of risk to ensure protection for vulnerable residents.  The 
potential impact on service users and staff in services, communities or the Council 
require that all potential risks are identified and mitigating action taken in response. 
 

12.2 The potential risks associated with a tendering process of this kind have been 
considered. The market for floating support services is considered to be highly 

Page 170



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\8\AI00015856\StrategicReviewSupportingPeopleFloatingSupportFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

11 
 

developed and professionalised so minimising concerns associated with a re-
tendering process of this scale and overall maintaining or improving service 
delivery.  

 
 
12.4 The supporting People monitoring framework is highly developed and will ensure 

that service quality and the service user experience are considered at all times. 
Once awarded the contract/s will be closely monitored in order to minimise the 
risks inherent in any contractual arrangement.  

 
 
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 

The budget and spend has been analysed, and efficiencies made by the 
proposal to rationalise the number of services and contracted providers. The 
reconfiguration of contracts in this area will result in savings for re-investment 
whilst maintaining and improving service quality and equity of access 
arrangements. 
 
The contractual agreements and monitoring arrangements will ensure ongoing 
efficiencies and focus on funding locally identified needs. Investment in this core 
prevention agenda will continue to reduce further costs associated with 
homelessness and use of higher care services. 

  

Page 171



Page 172

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee 
Cabinet 

Date 
30 July 2008 

Classification 
Unrestricted 
 

Report 
No. 
 

Agenda 
Item No. 

 
Report Of 
Corporate Director, Adults Health & Wellbeing 
 
Originating Officer (s) 
John Roog – Service Head, Older People and 
Homelessness 
 

Title:   
 
The Future of Telecare in Tower 
Hamlets. 
 
Ward(s) Affected:  All 

1. SUMMARY 
1.1 ‘Telecare’ describes a range of alarms, sensors, etc which can be installed in 

people’s homes to help them continue to manage independently. The expansion of 
telecare is a major Government priority. The report describes the implementation of 
the telecare programme in Tower Hamlets to date, and makes recommendations 
for its future development.  

  RECOMMENDATIONS 
Cabinet is recommended to:: 
2.1 Agree that Telecare services should in future be available as a preventive service 

to people with low or moderate needs for care and support, rather than one 
restricted to those with substantial or critical needs as defined by the Council’s 
eligibility criteria for community care services;  

2.2 Agree that Telecare (including the existing Care Alarm service) should be a free 
service 

2.3 Agree that the policy changes referred to in recommendations 2.1 and 2.1 above 
be effective from 1st October 2008 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this Report 

Brief description of “back ground papers”   Working papers  
 
Name and telephone number of holder   John Roog, ext 2281  
and address where open to inspection.   
 

Agenda Item 8.3

Page 173



 

3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 National Policy Context 
 
3.1.1 ‘Telecare’ describes a range of alarms, sensors, etc which can be installed in 

people’s homes to help them continue to manage independently – for example,  a 
movement sensor which will sound an alarm at the Call Centre if somebody gets 
out of bed in the night and does not return within a certain time. An appropriate 
response will then be triggered, which, depending on the response plan agreed for 
that individual, might include a telephone call to check on the person’s safety, a call 
to a carer or a named key holder, a support worker going out to visit, or an 
immediate alarm to the emergency services. 

 
3.1.2 There is also an increasing range of technology available to support what is 

described as ‘telehealth’ or ‘telemedicine’ – for example, devices which would 
detect a sudden change in blood pressure, body temperature, or blood sugar, and 
transmit an alert to a Call Centre or equivalent from where an appropriate response 
could be triggered. 

 
3.1.3 The expansion of telecare is strongly supported by Government. The number of 

people requiring community-based health and social care support is expected to 
rise considerably over the next decade and the levels of need and the complexity of 
those needs are also expected to increase. The Department of Health Guidance, 
‘Building Telecare in England’ (July 2005), expects that Telecare will make a 
substantial contribution to managing this increased demand for services, and to 
doing so in a way that  meets the preference of the vast majority of service users to 
retain their homes and independence for as long as they are able. 

 
3.1.4 The expected benefits from the Telecare  programme include: 
 

(i) Better outcomes and customer satisfaction for service users – safer and 
more independent lives; more choice and personal control; 

(ii) Reduced use of institutional care; 
(iii) Prevention of unnecessary admissions to hospital; 
(iv) Improved speed and quality of hospitals discharge arrangements; 
(v) Improved support for carers; and 
(vi) More effective use of limited resources. 

 
3.1.5 To support the development of telecare, the Government made available to all local 

authorities a two year Preventative Technology Grant (2006 -2008). This has now 
come to an end. Tower Hamlets’ allocation was £432,000 over the two years. 
 

 
3.2 Our local context 
 
3.2.1 Telecare in Tower Hamlets has built on the infrastructure already in place to 

support the existing Care Alarm service. This is essentially a ‘falls alert’ service, 
where an alarm is triggered by a pendant or hard wired alarm to the Customer 
Contact Centre and an appropriate response made. Staffing for the Care Alarm 
service includes a team of Support Workers who are able to go out to the site of an 
alert and deal with the problem on site, either directly through the provision of care 

Page 174



 

and support or by mobilising other services. The service is available 24 hours a 
day, 365 days a year. The Care Alarm service is essentially a simple form of 
telecare. 

 
3.2.2 Preventative Technology Grant funding has been used for development work, to 

fund some necessary enhancements to this infrastructure, for staff training, and to 
make available on a pilot basis an extended range of equipment – smoke 
detectors, flood detectors, gas detectors / CO 2 detectors, bogus caller alarms, and 
wandering monitors. These are all devices which can trigger a pre-programmed 
response rather than requiring sophisticated analysis of the information transmitted, 
and were chosen for the pilot for this reason. It would however be possible in the 
future to expand into more sophisticated devices, including telehealth and 
telemedicine.  Telecare referrals have been accepted from social care staff, for 
people who meet the Council’s eligibility criteria for social care services, and from 
NHS staff who identify health care benefits from the provision of telecare. As a 
service largely provided to people whose independence would otherwise be at 
substantial or critical risk, the pilot service, in common with other community care 
services provided under the Council’s eligibility criteria, has been free of charge.    

 
3.2.3 Numbers of people taking up this service have grown steadily. However, we have 

not achieved the targets for the expansion of telecare which were agreed with the 
Commission for Social Care Inspection. The target for 2006/7 was 250 new 
telecare service users over 65 (including new users of the existing Care Alarm 
service). The outturn was 200. For 2007/8 the target was 520, and the outturn was 
344. In addition, there were 71 new service users under 65, but the targets agreed 
with CSCI only relate to people over 65.  

 
3.2.4 Service user satisfaction is extremely high. 10% of new service users were 

surveyed at the end of 2007/8, with a 94% response rate.  92% were satisfied or 
very satisfied with the service received from Telecare, with the remaining 8% fairly 
satisfied.  58% of service users have used their devices between1 and 5 times 
since installation, with 38% never having used them and 4% using them between 6 
and10 times.  83% of service users feel safer or much safer in their home with 
telecare, 13% a bit safer and 4% no safer.  75% felt more or much more 
independent in their home.  84% of the family members surveyed felt reassured or 
very reassured as a result of the telecare installation, and 13% felt fairly reassured. 

 
3.2.5 The primary reason for the slower than planned growth of telecare is that it is more 

difficult than had been expected to persuade service users and carers of the 
benefits and to reassure them about issues like ease of use, particularly once 
people have developed quite high level care needs. We have had some success in 
addressing this through making greater use of familiar front line staff, like home 
carers and health staff, to promote take up.  The multi-agency Board which has 
overseen the development of telecare in Tower Hamlets remains convinced that 
telecare has huge potential in supporting more people more effectively in the 
community, and in the long term reducing demand for more expensive forms of 
support, including institutional care. The Board believes, however, that the main 
potential is in expanding the availability of telecare as a preventive service for 
people whose needs have not yet reached substantial or critical levels, rather than 
in providing it as an assessed service for people who already have high levels of 
need which meet the Council’s eligibility criteria for community care services.  

 

Page 175



 

3..2.6 The recommendation, therefore, is to expand and mainstream the pilot telecare 
service as a preventive service for people who currently have low or moderate 
needs for support, as well as continuing to offer it where appropriate to people with 
higher levels of need. However this will bring to a head the anomaly which currently 
exists between the access and charging arrangements for the current Care Alarm 
service and the wider Telecare Service of which it will become a part.  

 
3.2.7 Building telecare on the existing Care Alarm infrastructure has delivered significant 

efficiencies. Not only has it minimised the need for new infrastructure investment, it 
has also made very good use of the spare capacity within Care Alarm which is the 
consequence of running a service which has to have the capacity to respond on a 
24/7 basis but which only has to respond intermittently, leading to significant 
amounts of downtime. However, if telecare is to become a mainstream rather than 
a pilot service, the charging arrangements for the current Care Alarm service and 
the wider telecare service of which it becomes part need to be aligned.   

 
3.2.8 A charge was introduced for the Care Alarm service about 10 years ago. It was at 

that time a service only available through social work assessment. In the immediate 
aftermath of the introduction of charges, service user numbers fell significantly. It 
was then decided that, in order to make better use of the capacity, the service 
should become an open access service, open to anybody wishing to use it who was 
willing to pay the charge. This is the current position. The charge is currently £100 a 
year.  

 
3.2.9 However, it is not viable to continue to charge £100 a year for a basic service and 

to continue to offer an enhanced service for free. Officers have come to the 
conclusion that the only viable options are either for all telecare services (including 
Care Alarm) to be charged for, or for all telecare services to be free. A system 
which attempted to distinguish between different telecare users and whether they 
should be charged or not depending on their level of need would be cumbersome, 
inefficient, and not justified by the amount of income generated.    

 
3.2.10 The recommendation is that telecare, including the current Care Alarm service, 

should become a free service. There will be a loss of income to the Care Alarm 
budget, held within the Resources Directorate. This is estimated, based on 2007/8 
outturn, as approximately £60,000 in a full year. As a result of successful 
negotiations with the Primary Care Trust over the appropriate sharing or distribution 
of costs in a number of very complex cases of people receiving very high levels of 
support, capacity exists within the Adults Health and Wellbeing budget to make 
good this loss of income.   

 
3.2.11 Officers have assessed the risk of opening up access to the service in this way. 

The main risk would be one of capacity being overwhelmed by demand. This is 
assessed as minimal for two reasons. Firstly, experience over a number of years is 
that there are many obstacles to take up which are not related either to the 
requirement for assessment or to charging, but rather to cultural issues in the 
broadest sense which are about resistance to technological interventions, concerns 
about links to a remote Call Centre, privacy, and similar issues. The assessment is 
that the recommendations in this report are likely to significantly increase take up 
but not to threaten to overwhelm capacity. And secondly, there is considerable 
spare capacity in any case within the existing response service, for the reasons 
outlined in para. 3.2.7 above. 

Page 176



 

 
3.2.12 In terms of the ongoing funding of an enhanced telecare service, £358,000 of the 

Preventative Technologies Grant remains unspent, as a result of the approach 
taken to its use which has maximised efficiencies, and has rolled forward to 2008/9. 
This is considered more than adequate to fund continued and expanded provision 
through to at least the end of 2010/11 (see3.2.13 and 3.2.14 below).  It will be 
necessary to monitor very closely any ongoing financial implications of service 
expansion. There is a risk to be acknowledged that additional funding could be 
required in the future to sustain this expansion. However this risk is assessed as 
low on two grounds: first, because the marginal costs of each additional telecare 
user are extremely low, once the infrastructure is in place; and secondly, because 
in the medium term investment of this kind in preventive services can confidently be 
expected to pay for itself in reduced costs of high level care and support in the 
system as a whole, across both social care and the NHS. The Audit Commission, in 
their 2004 report ‘Older People, Independence and Wellbeing’, estimated that 
‘telecare supported home care could replace the need for hospital admission in 5% 
to 15% of patients aged 70 years and over. The average length of stay in hospital 
could be reduced by between 20% and 40%’. 

 
3.2.13 Details of estimated projected costs for the service for 2008 - 2011 are given at 

Appendix 1. In summary, if the current targets of 580 extra Telecare users in 
2008/9 and a (provisional) target of 500 more users in 2009/10 are achieved, the 
estimated spend on equipment will be £255,760, leaving £102,240 of the grant to 
carry forward into 2010/11. Discussions with the Care Alarm Team within the 
Resources Directorate confirm that they have enough staffing capacity to support 
this increase in service and that it is not necessary to include additional staffing 
costs in these projections. In addition it should be noted that these projections of 
service take up are likely to be an overestimate rather than underestimate. Demand 
has been slow to date and whilst officers predict an acceleration of service take up 
as a result of the changes proposed in this report demand is then also expected to 
level off again. Once Telecare has been offered to, and taken up by the main body 
of existing potential users, further growth will be limited to much smaller incremental 
increases in demand which can be contained within existing resources.   
 

3.2.14 The Grant has been allocated on the assumption that the Council and its service 
users will gain cost-effective service improvements and that the Council will 
therefore be able to develop plans for sustaining the service into the future. This 
sustainability appears to be achievable given that the Telecare service is expected 
to offset the need for more expensive alternative care arrangements (see 3.2.12) 
and given also that future cost projections for year three and ongoing are relatively 
low. For example, in the (relatively unlikely) event that yet another 500 users take 
up Telecare in 2010/11 the effect would be a cost of £82,000 set  against a  
residual grant rollover of £102,240 with a resulting underspend of the grant of 
£20,240 for further rollover into 2011/12. If, by way of comparison, a more realistic 
figure of 250 additional users is modelled for 2010/11 this would result in a higher 
underspend on the grant and consequent rollover into 2011/12 of £76,240. The 
existing Care Alarm equipment budget of £30,000 p.a. will supplement these 
resources.  

 
3.2.15 The Directorate is therefore confident that expenditure going forward can be 

contained within its existing budget and that future growth bids against Council 

Page 177



 

funds will not be required, even with the upper estimates of service growth and cost 
used in the modelling.  

  
3.2.16 As current charges are levied on a quarterly basis, it is suggested that the 

recommendations contained in this report be implemented at the end of the second 
quarter – i.e. with effect from 1.10.08 

 
4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  
4.1 This report proposes to mainstream and expand the telecare pilot service as a 

preventative service for people who currently have low or moderate needs for 
support, as well as continuing to offer it, where appropriate, to people with higher 
levels of need. It proposes to make this service free of charge. 

4.2  In light of the proposal to make the telecare service free of charge, the report also 
recommends to cease charging for the existing Care Alarm service – a service 
which is essentially a simple form of telecare. 

4.3 Currently the Resources Directorate collects approximately £60,000 income 
(2007/08 outturn) in respect of Care Alarm charges. It is proposed to meet this loss 
of income from the Adults Health and Wellbeing (AHWB) budget, where capacity 
exists as a result of successful negotiations with the Primary Care Trust (PCT) over 
the appropriate sharing or distribution of costs in a number of complex cases of 
people receiving very high levels of support. It will be necessary to vire £60,000 on  
a permanent basis from the AHWB Directorate budget to the Resources Directorate 
budget. 

4.4 As referred to in the report (see Para 3.2.7, 3.2.11 and 3.2.13) it is considered that 
there is considerable capacity in the Care Alarm service to cope with the additional 
anticipated demand from the proposal to mainstream the telecare pilot.  

4.5 In terms of funding for costs associated with an enhanced telecare service e.g. 
telehealth and telemedicine (see Para 3.2.2), as a result of the approach to 
maximise efficiencies (e.g. using the Care Alarm infrastructure), there remains 
£358,000 unspent of a £432,000 Preventative Technology Grant which was 
allocated to Tower Hamlets (2006/07 – 2007/8) to support the development of 
telecare. As a result of the Council being a high performing authority, it can carry 
forward this underspend into 2008/09. It is considered that the £358,000 will be 
more than adequate to fund additional costs this year, 2009/10 and 2010/11 (and 
indeed probably 2011/12 if demand in 2010/11 is at the more realistic level of 250 
(see Para 3.2.14) as opposed to the 500 take up figure which has been prudently 
used in the financial model in Appendix 1). However, it will be necessary to monitor 
very closely any ongoing financial implications of service expansion because it is 
difficult to estimate demand and cost. There is a risk to be acknowledged that 
additional funding may be required, however this risk is assessed as being low for 
the reasons stated in Paragraph 3.2.12, namely that the marginal cost of each 
additional telecare user are low once the infrastructure is in place; and because in 
the medium term investment of this kind in preventative services can confidently be 
expected to pay for itself in reduced costs of high level care and support in the 
system as a whole. Officers will monitor the situation very closely and if necessary 
will submit a report to Cabinet for further consideration. However, for the reasons 
stated in the body of the report, officers are confident that expenditure going 
forward can be contained within existing budget and that future growth bids against 

Page 178



 

Council funds will not be required, even with the upper estimates of service growth 
and cost used in the modelling.  

4.6  As stated in the report (Para 3.2.5) the multi-agency Board believe that telecare has 
significant potential in the long term in reducing demand for more expensive forms 
of support, including institutional care, where the average cost  of place for an 
elderly person is £24,000 per annum. By 2011/12 when the grant balance is 
anticipated to be almost used up, officers will be in a better position to review the 
financial impact of telecare. 

5 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL ) 
5.1  Section 46 of the National Health Service and Community Care Act (1990) 

provides that a Local Authority shall prepare, publish and keep under review a plan 
for the provision of community care services in the area. 

 Telecare services are community care services within the meaning of the National 
Health Service and community Care Act (1990), being services which a Local 
Authority may provide under 

• Part iii of the National Assistance Act 1948 
• Section 45 of the Health Services and Public Health Act 1968 
• Section 21 of Schedule 8 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or 
• Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 

The Local Authority may recover a reasonable charge for the provision of such 
services pursuant to Health And Social Services And Social Security Adjudications 
Act (1983), however there is not duty to recover such charge and it is within the 
power of the Local Authority to offer that service without charge. 

6. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS  
6.1 Historically, there has been very low take up of Care Alarm and now wider telecare 

services by black and minority ethnic communities.  92% of current service users 
are of White UK origin.  It must be a priority within the next phase of service 
development to ensure that BME communities' take-up of the service is significantly 
improved. This will require our communication strategy to proactively target the 
promotion of the service for under represented groups. We will also look to the 
network of community based services, contacts and advocates within the LinkAge 
Plus programme to promote the service to potential BME service users 

7. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
The removal of charges to a group of largely vulnerable and financially 
disadvantaged people has clear anti-poverty implications. 

8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT   
 There are no specific SAGE implications 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 These are addressed in the body of the report, particularly in paras. 3.2.11 and 
3.2.12. 

10. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 The efficiency implications are addressed in the body of the report. 
 
 

Page 179



 

APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Telecare Equipment Costs 

Page 180



T
e

le
c

a
re

 E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

C
o

s
ts

T
h
e
 P

re
v
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 G

ra
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
T

e
le

c
a
re

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
o
v
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 
th

re
e
 y

e
a
rs

..

W
e
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 a

 l
a
rg

e
 o

u
tl
a
y
 t
h
is

 y
e
a
r 

to
 e

n
a
b
le

 u
s
 t
o
 u

p
g
ra

d
e
 o

u
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 C

a
re

 A
la

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 w
it
h
 T

e
le

c
a
re

 d
e
v
ic

e
s
, 

a
n
d
 a

 p
re

d
ic

te
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
5
8
0
 t
e
le

c
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 t
h
is

 y
e
a
r.

P
re

v
e
n

ta
ti

v
e
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 G

ra
n

t 
c
a
rr

y
 o

v
e
r 

to
 2

0
0
8
/0

9
3
5
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
£

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 f
o
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 C

a
re

 A
la

rm
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 U

s
e
rs

 (
7
5
0
) 

w
it
h
 t
e
le

c
a
re

*2
(4

0
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 s

to
c
k

7
3
,8

4
0
.0

0
£
  
  

B
a
s
ic

 a
la

rm
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
£
1
2
0
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
r 

x
 5

8
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 0

8
/0

9
6
9
,6

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

T
e
le

c
a
re

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
(2

 i
te

m
s
 *

1
) 

£
1
0
4
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
r 

x
 5

8
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 0

8
/0

9
6
0
,3

2
0
.0

0
£
  
  

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 B

u
d
g
e
t 
fo

r 
C

a
re

 A
la

rm
 B

a
s
e
 U

n
it
s

3
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
-£

  
  

T
o

ta
l 
e
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
1
7
3
,7

6
0
.0

0
£

P
re

v
e
n

ta
ti

v
e
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 G

ra
n

t 
c
a
rr

y
 o

v
e
r 

to
 2

0
0
9
/1

0
1
8
4
,2

4
0
.0

0
£

B
a
s
ic

 a
la

rm
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
£
1
2
0
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
r 

x
 5

0
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 0

9
/1

0
6
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

T
e
le

c
a
re

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
(2

 i
te

m
s
) 

£
1
0
4
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
rs

 x
 5

0
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 0

9
/1

0
5
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 B

u
d
g
e
t 
fo

r 
C

a
re

 A
la

rm
 B

a
s
e
 U

n
it
s

-£
3
0
,0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 
e
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

 2
0
0
9
 /
 2

0
1
0

8
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

P
re

v
e
n

ta
ti

v
e
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 G

ra
n

t 
c
a
rr

y
 o

v
e
r 

to
 2

0
1
0
/2

0
1
1

1
0
2
,2

4
0
.0

0
£

B
a
s
ic

 a
la

rm
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
£
1
2
0
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
r 

x
 5

0
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 1

0
/1

1
6
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

T
e
le

c
a
re

 e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
(2

 i
te

m
s
) 

£
1
0
4
 p

e
r 

u
s
e
rs

 x
 5

0
0

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
n
e
w

 c
lie

n
ts

 i
n
 1

0
/1

1
5
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 B

u
d
g
e
t 
fo

r 
C

a
re

 A
la

rm
 B

a
s
e
 U

n
it
s

-£
3
0
,0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 
e
x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

 2
0
1
0
 /
 2

0
1
1

8
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
  
  

P
re

v
e
n

ta
ti

v
e
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 G

ra
n

t 
c
a
rr

y
 o

v
e
r 

to
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
,2

4
0
.0

0
£
  
  

N
o
te

*1
 -

 £
5
2
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 c

o
s
t 
p
e
r 

d
e
v
ic

e
 x

 2
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 p

ie
c
e
s
 o

f 
e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
=

 £
1
0
4

*2
 -

 N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
e
v
ic

e
s
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 s

to
c
k
 f
o
r 

u
p
g
ra

d
e
s

C
a
re

 A
la

rm
 h

a
s
 a

 t
o
ta

l 
o
f 
1
4
 s

ta
ff
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m

. 
T

h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
n
fi
rn

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

b
s
o
rb

 t
h
e
 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 g

ro
w

th
 w

it
h
in

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
.

T
h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

 d
e
p
re

c
ia

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 r

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
c
o
s
t 
o
n
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
b
u
t 
a
ls

o
 a

 c
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
to

ry
 r

e
c
y
c
in

g
 o

f 
e
q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
n
o

 l
o
n
g
e
r 

n
e
e
d
e
d
. 

It
 i
s
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 c

o
n
fi
d
e
n
tl
y
 p

re
d
ic

t 
th

e
s
e
 f
ig

u
re

s
 b

u
t 
b
o
th

 s
u
m

s
 a

re
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
la

ti
v
e
ly

 l
o
w

 a
n
d
 a

n
y
 n

e
t 

b
a
la

n
c
e
 t
o
 b

e
 v

e
ry

 s
m

a
ll.

Page 181



Page 182



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

1 
1 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet  
 

Date: 
 
30th July 2008 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Children’s Services 
 
Originating officer(s)  
 
Natalie Parish 
Service Head Strategy Partnerships and 
Performance 

Title:  
 
Extension to Lifeline Contract for Substance 
Misuse Services for Children and Young People 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Our contract to deliver support and treatment for young people with substance 

misuse problems has been delivered successfully by Lifeline since September 
2005. This paper seeks permission from Members to roll over the contract for a 
further 6 months until the end of March 2009 to align recommissioning with the 
second and third year of the Area Based Grant funding, and with other contract 
for substance misuse related support. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended :- 
 
2.1      Pursuant to Procurement Procedures paragraph 2.1.1 (b) to authorise an 

exception to the general provisions of paragraphs 2.5.1 (requirement for 6 
tenders) and 2.5.2 (requirement for public notice) of the Procedures in respect of 
the proposed contract extension 

 
2.2 To authorise the Corporate Director Children’s Services to extend the contract 

with Lifeline for the provision of support and treatment for young people suffering 
from substance misuse for six months, subject to satisfactory performance 
against the objectives set out in the existing contract. 

 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

Agenda Item 9.1

Page 183



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

2 
2 

  
Brief description of “back ground papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

Lifeline: Young People’s Substance 
Misuse Service Specification – reviewed 
May 2007. 

Natalie Parish: 020 7364 4187 
3rd Floor Mulberry Place 

 
     

Page 184



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

3 
3 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2005 a fundamental commissioning exercise was undertaken to award a 

contract for the delivery of substance misuse treatment and support, at tiers 1-3, 
for children and young people in Tower Hamlets. Following a successful tender 
the contract was awarded to Lifeline for a period of 3 years.  

 
3.2 The contract was originally due to end in September 2008 and our intention was 

to put the service back out to competitive tender at this point. However, the bulk 
of the funding for this contract has been subsumed within the Area Based Grant. 
Due to the late notification of the grant sum, plus agreement with members that 
only in exceptional circumstances would commitments be made on the Area 
Based Grant beyond the first year of available funding, it has not been possible 
to go out to tender for the substance misuse services for children and young 
people on a timescale that would enable a new contract to begin in October 
2008. The consequence of not extending the existing service for a short period is 
that vital substance misuse treatment and support for young people would cease. 

 
4. BODY OF REPORT 
 
4.1 Lifeline have been successful in delivering a comprehensive and well regarded 

substance misuse service for children and young people in the borough. Whilst 
there were some initial issues to address in terms of ensuring that the service 
was strongly aligned with existing Children’s Service provision, for example the 
Youth Service, the YOT and Children’s Social Care these issues have been 
resolved under the current management of the Lifeline Service. The commitment 
to working effectively in partnership with the borough is evidenced by the rapid 
improvements in the number of young people receiving effective treatment for 
substance misuse in recent years, rising from 313 in 2005 to 771 in 2007-08, 
exceeding our targets. A full analysis of performance in 2007-08 has been 
included as a separate annex. 

 
4.2 Given Lifeline’s good performance against their targets, and the constraints 

around timing of the commissioning process outlined above, the partnership 
based Young People’s Substance Misuse Commissioning Group determined 
that, subject to Members’ approval, the contract with Lifeline should be extended 
for a period of 6 months until 31st March 2008. This is within the original terms of 
the Service Level Agreement which state that the SLA may be extended with the 
written agreement of both parties. The purpose of extending the contract for a 6 
month period is to ensure that essential services continue whilst a full re-
commissioning process takes place. The recommissioning process will start 
immediately with a thorough analysis of the proposed service specification based 
on discussion with service users, community groups, commissioning partners, 
and members. We will then follow the statutory procurement stages with a view 
to bringing a paper on the preferred provider to the January Cabinet for decision. 

 

Page 185



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

4 
4 

4.3 The Lifeline contract is currently worth £642,493 per annum, so extension for a 
six month period would cost Children’s Services £321,247. This cost would be 
covered within the Substance Misuse allocation of the Area Based Grant which is 
subsumed within Children’s Services base budgets this year, and the children 
and young people’s allocation of the PCT pooled treatment budget. The total 
substance misuse allocation for children and young people’ services for 2008-09 
is £844,307. 

 
4.4 The proposition to extend the contract for an additional six months has a number 

of benefits over and above the constraints on commissioning timescales outlined 
above. In addition to the Lifeline contract we commission a number of smaller 
organisations to deliver substance misuse support for specific vulnerable groups, 
for example Somali young people, as well as treatment for specialist and 
complex cases. These smaller contracts are currently due to come to an end in 
April 2009. By extending the Lifeline contract for six months it will enable us to 
recommission all substance misuse related services at the same time, thereby 
increasing efficiency and achieving better value for money. 

 
4.5 In addition the national substance misuse performance framework is going 

through a period of transition, and it is not yet clear how the substance misuse 
targets in the National Indicator Set will be measured. Commissioning in the latter 
half of this financial year in order to commence new contracts in April 2009 will 
enable us to ensure that we are fully reflecting the new performance regime in 
what we commission. 

 
4.6 Finally, realigning the commissioning process with the end of the financial year 

will deliver an easier read across to years two and three of the Area Based Grant. 
  
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 This report requests approval for the Corporate Director Children’s Services to 

extend the contract with Lifeline for the provision of support and treatment for 
young people suffering from substance misuse for six months. 

 
5.2 The cost of which would be covered within the funding available to Tower 

Hamlets to reduce Young People’s Substance Misuse (2008-09:  £843,931).   
This funding will be allocated to local areas via the Area Based Grant, to PCTs 
through the Pooled Budget treatment Budget and to YOTs through the Youth 
Justice Board. 

 
5.3 The Area Based Grant element (£331,163), whilst non-ringfenced, will be 

allocated to the Children’s Services Directorate and is sufficient to solely support 
the extension of the Lifeline contract for 6 months. 

 

Page 186



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

5 
5 

5.4 Any further extension, as a consequence of the proposed recommissioning of all 
substance misuse relate services, will be subject to the implementation of 
effective mechanisms to ensure that the funding currently allocated to the local 
area PCT and YOT will be available to support the full recommissioned provision 
in the borough.   

 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL 

SERVICES) 
 
6.1 Health and Social Services are Part B Services under the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2006 and accordingly there is no requirement to place a notice in the 
Official Journal of the European Union seeking expressions of interest. However 
guidance provided by the European Commissioners states that there is still a 
requirement to follow a competitive tendering process and this should be started 
as soon as possible  

 
6.2 LBTH Procurement procedures provide that at least 6 tenders should be sought 

for services in excess of £50,000 (2.5.1) following the placement of a public 
notice (2.5.2) 

 
6.3 However procurement procedure 2.1.1 (b) states that Cabinet can authorise an 

exception to the requirement to seek competitive tenders for services costing 
over £250,000. Accordingly Members are asked to authorise the exception in this 
instance. 

 
6.4 The Contract should be extended for 6 months on the same terms and conditions 

providing that it provides value for money for the Council and the Service 
Provider has adhered to the terms and conditions. 

 
7. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 
 Over the course of the last three years Lifeline have more than doubled the number 

of young people accessing substance misuse treatment within the fixed contract 
price. This represents a considerable improvement in value for money over the 
course of the contract. In the latest National Treatment Agency ratings we 
receive a green rating for the per-capita cost of our specialist substance misuse 
treatment compared to other London boroughs. 

 
 Extending the existing contract for a further six months will provide us with the time 

required to go through a full, transparent and competitive tendering exercise for 
the substance misuse treatment service which will further improve efficiency and 
value for money in the long term as we will have had the opportunity to test the 
market fully. 

 
8. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 187



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\5\8\AI00015858\SubstanceMisuseContractExtensionFinalCAB3007080.doc 
 

6 
6 

8.1 Our current substance misuse provision is successful at targeting services to 
children and young people who are particularly vulnerable, including young 
offenders and young people known to social care.   

 
9. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There is a strong correlation between substance misuse and crime, and certain 

forms of substance misuse have a negative impact on both education and 
employability. Work to intervene early with young people at risk of prolonged and 
damaging substance misuse is a critical element in breaking the cycle of poverty. 

 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 Not applicable. 
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 Risks associated with the continued operation of the contract will be addressed 

through the quarterly performance monitoring regime, as well as tracking of 
performance against KPIs. 

 
APPENDICES 
 
Annex A – Analysis of Performance in 2007/08 
 

Page 188



Annex A: Performance Report 
 
Recommissioning Young People’s Substance Misuse Service  
 
At Leader’s Advisory Board on Wednesday 9th July Members considered a paper 
requesting permission to extend the contract for substance misuse prevention and 
treatment for 6 months to allow a full recommissioning of the service to take place. A 
copy of this paper is attached at Annex A for reference.  
 
To inform this decision members have requested a fuller analysis of the performance 
of the current provider. Performance of the service is overseen by the Young 
People’s Substance Misuse Commissioning Group which includes representatives 
from Youth Services, the YOT, Children’s Social Care, the DAAT, the PCT, the East 
London Foundation Trust, and the National Treatment Agency (NTA). The service 
provided by Lifeline, and the broader context of substance misuse commissioning in 
Tower Hamlets, are very well regarded by both the NTA and Government Office 
London.  
 
What the service comprises 
 
The service specification was revised in May 2007. The current SLA, which will come 
to an end on 30th September 2008, requires the provider (Lifeline) to deliver the 
following services: 
 

• Universal Provider Training, Advice and Support 
• Prevention and Early Intervention services in Schools and  
• Targeted Education, Prevention, Early Intervention and Satellite Services 

for target agencies. 
• Dedicated link services for young people attending Pupil Referral Units 
• Dedicated link services for young people in contact with Youth Offending 

Services. 
• Dedicated link services for Looked After Children 
• Dedicated link services for children and young people from BME 

communities 
• Parent and Family Support Work 
• Specialist intervention and treatment services. 
• Highly specialist substance misuse intervention for young people through 

its in house CAMHS provision. 
 
Outcomes against these requirements are monitored on a bi-monthly basis. The 
main end of year out-turn figures for 2007-08 are presented in the section below 
against the 10 service areas. 
 
Overall performance 
 
Over the last three years of the Lifeline contract we have seen a considerable year 
on year rise in the number of young people accessing drugs treatment at tiers 2 and 
3. The figures below include all commissioned drugs treatment provision, of which 
Lifeline is the main, but not the sole, contractor. This is the key indicator against 
which the performance of the service is measured, and Lifeline have contributed to 
the authority exceeding its targets 2 years running, as the graph below makes clear. 
Lifeline were awarded the substance misuse contract in September 2005 and the 
increase in performance since then is evident. 
 

Page 189



 
 
 
 
Numbers of under 18s accessing drugs treatment at tiers 2, 3 and 4 

304

415

711

771

448

732

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08

Performance
Target

 NB: Final 2008 figure has been subject to audit. Final figure reported here does not 
include those young people in treatment at year end March 31st 2007 which were 
included in previous year’s returns. 
 
Levels of substance misuse 
 
We also know from the Tell-US survey conducted with 1300 young people across 
years 6, 8 and 10 that the percentage of young people saying that they have taken 
drugs is very similar to the national average. This reflects good performance given 
that substance misuse tends to be positively correlated with deprivation and other 
associated risk factors. The table below provides the detailed data: 
 

Page 190



  
Diversity 
 
We have analysed the percentage of Tier 2 referrals received by Lifeline in 2007-08 
and this shows a broad and inclusive ethnic balance: 
 

Tier 2 referrals 2007-08 by ethnicity

16%

47%

12%

6%

1%
2%

1%
0% 8%

0%
4% 3%

White British
Bangladeshi
Somali
Black Caribbean
Black African
White Other
Black Other
Pakistani
White / Black Caribbean
White / Black African
Mixed Other
Any Other

 Service activity data 
 
Lifeline submits bi-monthly monitoring reports that show the level of contact and 
engagement made with young people and other professionals in each of the areas 
specified in the service level agreement. The following tables show a selection of key 
performance indicators under each of the ten contracted service areas for 2007-08. 
Broadly this demonstrates that in a number of key areas, in particular targeted 
education and intervention programmes, Lifeline are meeting and often exceeding 
their targets. In areas where performance has not been as strong Lifeline have robust 

Page 191



improvement plans in place. This reflects the approach Lifeline has to continuous 
improvement in service delivery which is reflected in their improved performance over 
a three year period. 
 
Service Area 1:  Generic Provider Training, Advice & Support 
Outputs Annual target Annual 

Performance 
RAG 
status 

Training of 300 professionals in drug 
awareness, screening and referral as part 
of rolling programme to include Youth 
Workers, Connexions PA’s, Social 
Workers (LAC), voluntary sector young 
people’s workers, YOT officers, workers 
in BME & community groups. 

300 303 Green 

 Expected Outcomes:  
1. Increased referrals to Service from recipients of training by 50% from 04/05 baseline. 
2.Facilitate more appropriate referrals to Service 
Narrative: Target Achieved 
 
 
 
Service Area 2:  Specialist substance misuse training advice support and consultation to be 
available to all young peoples service providers 
Outputs Annual target Annual 

Performance 
RAG 
status 

A minimum of 20 professionals trained in 
2007/08. 
 

20 75 Green 

Expected outcomes:  
Lifeline to work in partnership with all relevant Children Service Managers to ensure that 
identified members of staff receive enhanced substance misuse training to ensure co-
ordinated referrals for targeted intervention and treatment services. 
Narrative: Targets exceeded 
 
 
Service Area 3:  YOT Target – YOT Substance Misuse Link Worker: To be achieved in 
partnership with YOT Substance Misuse Worker (Managed by LBTH) 
 
Outputs Annual target Annual 

Performance 
RAG 
status 

Targeted prevention and early 
intervention programmes for 50 young 
people. 
 

50 21 Red 

Expected outcomes:  
1. Reduction in drug-related offending by young people on YOT caseload by 10% from 04/05 
baseline.  
2. Reduction in re-offending rates by 10% from 04/05 baseline, amongst those that receive 
targeted intervention and treatment support from Service. 
3. Working in partnership with YOT Substance Misuse Worker to ensure that all young people 
entering YOT caseload screened within 5 working days and receive 
Narrative: This target has not been met, however 100% of young people known to the YOT 
have been screened and the YOT manager is convinced that the level of referrals and 
support is appropriate. At Lifeline’s initiation a joint referring protocol has now been agreed 
between Lifeline and the YOT. 
 
 
Service Area 4:  Early intervention and targeted prevention – Children in care of LBTH (KPI 
2) 

Page 192



 
Outputs Annual target Year to 

date 
RAG 
status 

Targeted prevention programmes with at 
least 50 young people looked after by 
LBTH 
 

50 23 Red 

Expected outcomes:  
1. Increase drug awareness amongst young people looked after by LBTH (user survey) 
2. Increase number of young people in care of LBTH entering treatment to 25. 
Narrative: This target has not been met, however all young people looked after by Tower 
Hamlets over the age of 11 are screened for substance misuse and we are working actively to 
raise the profile of Lifeline with referrers in social care teams this year. 
 
 
 
Service Area 5:  Early intervention and targeted prevention – Young People in Pupil Referral 
Unit (KPI 2) 
 
Outputs Annual target Year to date RAG 

status 
Targeted prevention programmes with at 
least 100 young people in the PRU. 

100 131 Green 
Expected outcomes: 
1.Increase drug awareness amongst young people in PRU (user survey) 
2. Increase number of young people in PRU entering treatment to 25 
3. Screening 50% young people in the PRU 
4. Drug education, information and advice to 80% young people in PRU screened by Service 
 
Narrative: Target has been met and exceeded 
 
 
 
 
Service Area 6:  Early intervention and targeted prevention – Young People in 
schools/excluded from school 
Outputs Annual target Annual 

Performance 
RAG 
status 

Targeted prevention programmes with at 
least 150 young people in 
schools/excluded from school 

150 242 Green 

Expected outcomes: 
1.Increase drug awareness amongst young people in schools/excluded from schools (user 
survey) 
2. Screening 100% young people referred by schools in line with Drug Incident Management 
Policies 
3. Drug education, information and advice to 80% young people screened by Service 
 
Narrative: Target has been exceeded 
 
 
Service Area 7:  Assertive outreach, early intervention and targeted prevention – other 
vulnerable groups of young people (See 2.5.2 – except LAC and PRU young people) 
Outputs Annual target Year to date RAG 

status 
Service contacting and engaging 1,000 
vulnerable young people in Tower 
Hamlets 

1000 1907 Green 

Provide drug education, information and 400 807 Green 

Page 193



advice to 400 young people screened by 
Service 
 
Targeted prevention programmes with at 
least 100 vulnerable young people 
 

100 489 Green 

Engage 75 young people in initial 
assessment and targeted intervention 
programme following screening. 
 

75 9 Red 

Expected outcomes: 
1. Increased number of young people from Bangladeshi, Somali and other BME communities 
receiving targeted interventions and treatment. 
2.Ensure that services provided  are  more culturally, gender and age specific in meeting the 
needs of population in Tower Hamlets 
3.Ensure ease of access to services through the delivery of  delivered in satellite locations to 
meet young people in local area 
4.Satellite services offered in all 8 LAP areas on a rotational basis and in accordance with 
local demand 
Narrative: The majority of these targets have been exceeded. Lifeline is aware of the need to 
improve the number of young people in targeted intervention post screening and are 
prioritising this. Despite this the number of young people entering specialist (tier 3) treatment 
remains good (see below). 
 
 
 
Service Area 8:  Young People entering treatment, sustained in treatment and planned 
discharge (KPI3) 
Outputs Annual target Annual 

Performance 
RAG 
status 

Service completing a minimum of 150 
comprehensive assessments with young 
people 

150 122 Amber 

130 care plans completed and agreed 
with young people. 

130 70 Red 
A minimum of 110 young people 
sustained in Tier 3 treatment for minimum 
period of 6 weeks or with prior planned 
discharge. 
 

110 99 Amber 

Expected outcomes: 
1. Increase in number of young people entering treatment and receiving holistic treatment and 
support that is tailored to their needs LAA 104 TARGET: 732 
2. All young people with comprehensive assessment to be monitored and reviewed 
periodically to ensure their needs are met. 
Narrative:  
 
Total numbers in treatment exceed 150 for the year 2007 – 2008 (NDTMS figures). 
 
 
 
Service Area 9:  Parents, carers and family receiving information, advice and support 
Outputs Annual target Year to 

date 
RAG 
status 

60 parents/carers/family members offered 
an assessment 

60 18 Red 
Expected outcomes: 
1.Increased awareness amongst parents/carers around substance misuse and appropriate 
parental responses (user survey) 

Page 194



2.Increased support for young people with substance misuse problems in context of family 
 
 
Narrative:  
 
This service is currently being reviewed and refreshed with a view to developing a specific 
hidden harm service to work explicitly with children of substance misusing parents, who are 
highly vulnerable. This will revitalise work with families. 
 
 
 
Service Area 10:  Communication and publicity 
Outputs Annual target Year to date RAG 

status 
Communications with professionals in 
Tower Hamlets to be published and 
distributed at least once a year, with 
1000 professionals in all appropriate 
settings  

1000 1515 
(3560 
Lifeline 
Publications) 

Green 

Expected outcomes: 
1. Raised awareness amongst young people, parents/carers and professionals about the 
service and ways to access credible and reliable information on substance misuse and drugs 
2. Age and culturally appropriate information and publicity to be available for all young people 
in the Borough via all schools, youth clubs, specialist young people’s services, social services 
3. Involvement of young people, service users and parents/carers in development of service 
in meaningful way 
Narrative: Target exceeded 
 
In addition to the bi-monthly performance reports during 2007-08 the substance 
misuse commissioner provided quarterly self-evaluation reports to the National 
Treatment Agency. The final quarter self assessment for 2007-08 as submitted to the 
National Treatment agency is set out below: 
 

1. Reforming the delivery chain and strengthening accountability Delivery 
Status 

Local Delivery Plans/local accountability:  Priorities and targets for 
substance misuse are included in the Crime and Drug Strategy 
document. Targets and outputs for reduction of smoking, alcohol and 
drug consumption also agreed and included in the ‘Be Healthy’ 
section of Children and Young People’s Plan 2007/08. The CYPP is 
due for  refresh at the beginning of 2008/09 and in accordance with 
this, the young person’s substance misuse commissioner is currently 
resetting the delivery actions and milestones of objective 4 of the Be 
Healthy Plan  

GREEN 

Commissioning arrangements: The substance misuse 
commissioning role will continue in 2008/09 with the DAAT funding 
the post three days a week and Children Services two. Consequently 
there will be some added dimensions and focus to the role in line with 
the broader Children Services Integrated Commissioning Strategy 
[specifically around commissioning services to meet the needs of all 
vulnerable young people] which will add  future value and weight to 
the young people’s substance misuse agenda in the coming years. 
The grading of the Commissioners post is currently being reappraised 
by the Children Services Human Resources and it is planned to 
advertise in the New Year with view to having an appointee in post by 
March 2008. 
 
From March 2008, the young people’s substance misuse 
commissioner will be managed through and will sit full time in the 

GREEN 

Page 195



Children Services Integrated Commissioning and Contracting Team. 
The post will also link back into the DAAT and it is envisaged that the 
commissioner will give one full day week [or variants of this in terms 
of hours] to this team leading upon the specialist treatment element of 
young people’s substance misuse delivery. Transitional 
arrangements for this type of arrangement have been in place and 
have been tested out since July 2007. 
 
The DAAT Young People’s Joint Commissioning Group has multi 
agency representation and meets on bi monthly basis and is 
accountable to the Young People’s Strategic Partnership Boards via 
the Be Healthy and Staying Safe subgroups. 
Data systems in place: All agencies engaged with young people’s 
substance misuse work [Lifeline, ASATS, YOT] have in place robust 
data collection and reporting systems and produce quarterly 
monitoring data, monthly LPSA returns and monthly NDTMS returns [ 
Lifeline and ASATS only].  Lifeline did experience some difficulty in 
reporting into NDTMS in the last quarter although this has now been 
resolved without any significant data loss.  

GREEN 

Screening tool and referral protocols in place with data sharing 
protocol: Lifeline London has operational arrangements in place with 
its core partner agencies these being: 
 

• Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services: via the 
Lifeline /CAMHS Specialist Substance Misuse Service 
[CSSS]   interface. 

•  Youth Offending Service: Tier 2, 3 and 4 pathways are in 
place. 

• Looked After Children: Lifeline London has a dedicated link 
worker for Looked After Children services taking tier 2and 3 
referrals directly and signposting tier 4 referrals to CSSS. 

• Education/Pupil Referral Units: An operational agreement 
is in place and PRU services have the facility of a full time 
substance misuse worker taking tier 2and 3 referrals directly 
and signposting tier 4 referrals to CSSS. 

 
• Youth Services/Youth Participation Team: A 
Memorandum of Understanding between DAAT, Lifeline 
London and the Youth Participation Team has been agreed 
and Youth Services and Lifeline are working collaboratively to 
refresh and further build up the membership of the Youth 
Advisory Group. 

 
These operational arrangements will be reviewed by service leads at 
the beginning of 2008/09.  
 
Lifeline/ CSSS will also seek to develop an operational protocol and 
treatment referral pathway with statutory and third sector young 
people’s housing providers in 2008/09. 
  

GREEN 

Involvement of young people in planning:  As an update to 
information provided in the Q3 report: 
 

• An evening consultation event was held on 16.01.08 as part 
of the young people’s substance misuse treatment planning 
process. The event was well attended a provided a valuable 
opportunity for service providers to meet and talk about the 
future shape and development of young people’s substance 

GREEN 

Page 196



misuse services in 2008/09. 
• The young person’s commissioner sent a personal letter of 
thanks to the young people’s advisory group members who 
participated in the event. 

• The Youth Participation Team have been asked to provide an 
end of year summary for the March meeting of the Joint 
Commissioning Group. 

Diversity: Lifeline has dedicated workers for the Bangladeshi and 
Somali Communities offering targeted assessment and intervention 
services for young people within these communities who are 
vulnerable to problematic substance misuse. These services will be 
extended to include more specialist assessment and treatment 
interventions in Q2 and once trained to do so by the Tower Hamlets 
CAMHS Clinical Nurse Specialist in Substance Misuse. The Young 
People’s Commissioner is also monitoring the uptake of the Lifeline 
London Service by young women. 

GREEN 

% under spend YPSMPG 2005/06 NIL 
% under spend YPSMPG end 2006/07 NIL 

 
     

2.Building Provision around the needs of young people 
Universal education, information and advice 

Delivery 
Status 

National Healthy School’s target: We remain on track to meet the 
Healthy Schools Target of 75% of schools accredited by March 2009 
is met.  

• 61% by April 2008 
• 71% by December 2008 [61% national target figure] 
• 75% by April 2009 

GREEN 

Systems in schools for identification and onward referral: Active 
identification and onward referral system in place between Lifeline 
and local secondary schools. Lifeline London continues to collaborate  
with the Health in Education Team in ensuring that local  secondary 
schools Drug Incident Management Protocols are in place to reduce 
drug related exclusions. Targeted intervention programmes are 
offered to all young people identified and who are at risk problematic 
substance misuse. 

GREEN 

Communications strategy including FRANK: Tower Hamlet’s 
DAAT has a social marketing campaign linked to FRANK targeting 
children and young people.  
It is also planned to run service promotion and advertising campaigns 
via the TV screen at the main Connexions office in Bow. 

GREEN 

Social Inclusion Projects: Tower Hamlet’s has a range of Social 
Inclusion Projects that address the needs of substance misusing 
young people. Both YOT and Lifeline London are actively 
represented on the borough’s  Social Inclusion Panel. 

GREEN 

 
 

3. Early identification and interventions targeting Vulnerable 
Groups 
 

Delivery 
Status 

Local estimate of population of vulnerable young people: LAA 
104:  Number of young people accessing treatment [tier 2, 3&4] * 
LPSA target for year 2007/08 = 732:   Numbers to date as of end 
January 2008. 
As a result of the delivery target being met and exceeded in 
December 2007 the partnership have recalculated the year end 
estimate and now project that at the current rate of access, in excess 
of 900 young people will have been seen by the end of March 2008. 

876 (figure 
reported prior 
to end year 
audit) 

Page 197



A decision will need to be taken locally as to whether or not LAA104 
is retained as a local measure to better inform the new National 
Indicator 115 for young people’s substance misuse in 2008/09. 
The young people’s commissioner has recently completed the first 
draft of the Local Delivery Plan for young people substance misuse – 
Universal and Targeted that will be circulated for consultation at the 
end of February 2008 with the intention of it being put before the 
March meeting of the Joint Commissioning Group. 
Children of drug misusing parents: Lifeline has a dedicated 
Parenting Support worker who provides practical support and 
information and advice to parents whose children are misusing 
substances. The role is currently under review and is being re-profiled 
to strengthen delivery accountability in relation to Hidden Harm and 
provide assessment information advice to substance misusing 
parents and signposting to treatment and Children in Need services 
as appropriate. Children Social Care are also in the process of 
reviewing arrangements for safeguarding children of drug misusing 
parents that will include: 
 

• An operational protocol to be approved by the Safeguarding 
Children Board 

• The establishment of a multi agency Hidden Harm Steering 
Group to drive the agenda 

 
Children Services have recently appointed a Child Protection Advisor 
with specialist responsibility for substance misuse, who will work with 
the Breaking The Cycle Coordinator to develop and roll out a training 
programme for social workers regarding the early identification and 
assessment of parental substance misuse and assessing parental 
capacity in relation to this. 
 
The commissioner is part of the membership of a multi agency 
steering group tasked with developing a local response to the needs 
of children caught up in domestic violence and through research it is 
acknowledged that substance misuse is one of a number of  
driving/aggravating  factors behind this this. 
The DAAT is seeking to commission a new therapeutic treatment 
service specifically for drug misusing parents in 2008/09 as part of 
adult drug service developments. 

GREEN 

Connexions: Lifeline has established links with Youth Services and 
provides substance misuse support, consultation and direct work with 
identified Connexions clients. Connexions workers screen all young 
people for substance misuse as part of their core assessment 
process. The local Connexions service is currently being managed in 
house and is being remodelled in order to further improve access and 
improve ETE delivery for young people. 

GREEN 

Truants: Lifeline has a dedicated Substance Misuse Worker in 
Education to work with truants, excludees and young people 
attending Pupil Referral Units. The worker provides ongoing 
substance misuse training for teachers and other professionals 
working in the Special Education Needs sector. Local data regarding 
numbers of young people seen and numbers of professionals trained 
is available on a quarterly basis from Lifeline. 
 

GREEN 

Excludees: Lifeline offers Targeted Intervention Programmes to all 
young people who are subject to drug related exclusions. Lifeline has 
a dedicated Substance Misuse Worker in Education to work with 
truant’s, excludes and young people attending Pupil Referral Units. 
The worker provides ongoing substance misuse training for teachers 
and other professionals working in the Special Education Needs 

GREEN 

Page 198



sector. Local data regarding numbers of young people seen and 
numbers of professionals trained is available on a quarterly basis 
from Lifeline. 
 
Looked after Children:  
Lifeline London has a dedicated Children Services Substance Misuse 
Worker who specifically targets referrals for Looked After Children 
[LAC] and who works in partnership with the LAC nurses to ensure 
that all LAC clients aged 11 years and over are routinely screened for 
substance misuse through the annual LAC health review process and 
are referred appropriately for specialist substance misuse 
assessment, intervention and treatment. 
 Specialist substance misuse treatment programmes for LAC clients 
are provided through the established CAMHS Specialist Substance 
Misuse/ Lifeline London Service treatment pathway. 

GREEN 

 (1) All young people supported by the Youth Offending Team 
are screened for substance misuse  - 100% Q3 2007/08 
 
  

GREEN 

(2) Of Young offenders screened those with identified needs 
receive appropriate assessment within 5 days: 100% Q3 2007/08 

GREEN 
(3) Following the assessment access the early intervention 
services and treatment services they require within 10 working 
days: 100% Q3 2007/08 

GREEN 

 
 

4. Specialist Treatment 
 

Delivery 
Status 

Number of under 18s receiving treatment:   Numbers in treatment 
to date [ tiers 3& 4] September 2007 

Enter number 
102 

% of treatment population under 18: The ongoing local data 
reporting problems at Lifeline London have now been resolved and 
NDTMS data was reported centrally through the DAMS for the first 
time since July 2007 in January 2008.  Unfortunately the number of 
young people as a percentage of the adult treatment population has 
not picked up as anticipated and remains static and slowing at 7%. 
This will be addressed directly with the providers to ensure that: 
 

a. All young people receiving treatment are being robustly 
reported through NDTMS. 

b. They contact their children and young people’s service 
partners and referring agents with the intention of generating 
increased activity in this area. 

 
The situation does however need to be put in context as activities at 
the Targeted end of young people’s substance misuse intervention 
are burgeoning [see 3.1.] and consequently fewer young people are 
consequently progressing to formal treatment. 
The young people’s specialist substance misuse treatment plan 
2008/09 and accompanying Needs Assessment report was submitted 
to the NTA on 25.01.08  for scrutiny by a regional panel and we await 
feedback and comments from the NTA regarding this. 
 

AMBER 

• % YP treated in adult system: % - 0% of young people 
were reported through NDTMS as being treated in young 
people’s services. 

 

GREEN 

Page 199



Comprehensive range of services: The Tower Hamlets Young 
Peoples Substance Misuse Plan describes and specifies the 
comprehensive range of substance misuse provision that has been 
deployed to meet the needs of young people who are vulnerable to 
problematic substance misuse. The Lifeline London Service, our 
principal substance misuse provider is signed up and adheres to 
ACPC/LCSB guidelines.  
 
There appear to be no significant or major gaps in our local treatment 
system and that sufficient infra structure is in place to meet local 
demand. That said a number of modifications and expansions in 
young people’s substance  misuse treatment are planned for 2008/09 
such as: 

• The development of more robust transitional arrangements 
with adult substance misuse services 

• Greater utilisation of Primary Care services in the treatment 
of young substance misusers. 

• Greater access to supported accommodation and specialist 
treatment fostering programmes. 

 

GREEN 

Quality:  All children and young people’s substance misuse services 
in the borough are built upon and delivered in adherence with the 10 
Child Focused standards. 
 
All Lifeline London personnel have or are in the process of receiving 
Common Assessment Framework [CAF] training to ensure full 
compliance with established Children Services assessment referral 
and reporting mechanisms. From January 2008, Lifeline will be using 
CAF as its principle referral tool and will undertake all assessments in 
accordance with this framework. Once established this should greatly 
increase the rates of referral and levels of interagency work between 
Children and Young People’s Services and Lifeline London. 
 

GREEN 

5. Building Capacity 
 

Delivery 
Status 

 Workforce: The Lifeline London service delivers substance misuse 
identification and awareness training to all agencies engaged in 
working with children and young people on a rolling basis. The DAAT 
and Lifeline are working to ensure that referral protocols and pathway 
agreements are in place with all of the core agencies that are 
highlighted in the Young People’s substance Misuse Plan 2007/08. 
 
In the first  two months of quarter 4 2007/08 Lifeline London training 
services has delivered 5 training sessions  3 within the context of 
multi agency substance misuse awareness training, 1 to young 
people’s housing services and 1 to the Ocean Somali Community 
Association 
 
 The current cohort of Community Interactor trainees will complete 
their training in March 2008 and of the 12 delegates who started the 
training in November 2007 6 will graduate.  
 

GREEN 

 
 
External evaluation 
 

Page 200



Our substance misuse support services were reviewed as part of our recent Joint 
Area Review of children’s services. The final JAR report is not published until 22nd 
July, however the draft report states: 
“An excellent, integrated drugs treatment service for children and young people 
offers very timely and effective interventions to young offenders. Lifeline provides 
specialist Tier 3 interventions and treatment and a CAMHS clinical nurse provides 
specialist support to individuals with serious dual diagnosis problems. Lifeline also 
supports targeted work with young people at risk of substance misuse, which has led 
to a marked increase in the number of referrals to specialist substance misuse 
services and in those accessing drug treatments.” 
 

Page 201



Page 202

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
30 July 2008 

Classification 
Unrestricted 
 
 

Report 
No. 
 
 

Agend
a Item 
No. 
 

 
Report of: 
 
Michael Keating, Acting Assistant Chief 
Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s): 
 
Shanara Matin, Scrutiny Policy Officer  

 

Title:  
 
Responses to the recommendations 
of the Health Scrutiny Panel Working 
Group: Tobacco Cessation 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report submits the responses and action plan to the Health Scrutiny Panel 

Working Group on Tobacco Cessation. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1 Approve the Action Plan attached at Appendix A in response to the 

recommendations from the Health Scrutiny Panel Working Group on Tobacco 
Cessation. 

 
2.2 Consider the report of the Health Scrutiny Panel Working Group on Tobacco 

Cessation attached at Appendix B. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
LOST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
Background paper  
 
 
Scrutiny Review File held in Scrutiny Policy Team  

Name and telephone of and address where open to 
inspection 
 
Shanara Matin 
020 7364 4548 

 

Agenda Item 9.2

Page 203



 

 2

 

3.  Background 
 
3.1  The Working Group was established in August 2007 to investigate the 

provision and impact of tobacco cessation services in Tower Hamlets.   
 
3.2 The objectives of the review were to: 

• To consider the composition and terms of reference of a tobacco control 
alliance.  

• To evaluate the effectiveness of current strategies of engagement with key 
community groups and organisations, including targeting of high risk and 
“hard to reach” groups for smoking and tobacco cessation, especially 
Bangladeshi males.  

• To evaluate the extent of the availability of black market tobacco and the 
price and quality of products sold at street markets.  

• To evaluate available research on access to tobacco products by under 18s 
and the enforcement of breaches of trading standards relating to the selling 
of tobacco to under 18s.  

• To collate the available material for communicating the smoking cessation 
and tobacco control message, to examine evidence that the communications 
strategies work, and to identify possible gaps.  

• To investigate strategies to develop the capacity and skills of front line 
healthcare providers to support people to stop smoking and chewing tobacco. 

• To evaluate the time and resource implications for the enforcement of the 
workplace smoking ban on LBTH Trading Standards officers. 

• To consider the strategies in place for the regulation and cessation of 
chewing tobacco (including Paan) and whether these products carry the legal 
health notices to the required standard.  

 
3.3 The working group met four times to receive and review evidence and reports 

from the Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust Tobacco Control Unit and the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets Trading Standards and Environmental 
Health Team. 

 
3.4 Members also took part in a mystery shopping exercise, a trading standards 

enforcement visit and a visit to the Tobacco Control Unit to review 
communications and educational material used in the tobacco cessation and 
‘Smokefree’ campaigns. 

 
4.  Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 
4.1 There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report 
 
5.  Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

No specific financial implications arise from the action plan in response to the 
recommendations from the Health Scrutiny Panel Working Group on Tobacco 
Cessation. 

 
 

Page 204



 

 3

6.  Equal Opportunity Implications 
 
6.1 The review has focused primarily on addressing issues around inequalities in 

health and the barriers faced by people in accessing appropriate prevention 
and tobacco cessation services.   Smoking is disproportionately high in 
sections of our communities across equalities groups and the review has 
identified recommendations to improve access to services both generally and 
for groups were tobacco cessation is a particular challenge. 

 
7.  Anti-Poverty Implications 
 
7.1 There are no direct Anti-Poverty implications arising from this report. 
 
8.  Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
 
8.1  Reduced levels of smoking and enforcement of the ban on smoking in public 

places will support aims for a cleaner and safer environment for local people. 
 
9.  Risk Management 
 
9.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from the Working 

Group’s report or recommendations. 
 
Appendices 
A: Action Plan and response to Health Scrutiny Panel Working Group on Tobacco 
Cessation. 
B: Health Scrutiny Panel Working Group report: Tobacco Cessation. 

Page 205



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A 
Re

sp
on

se
 to

 H
ea
lth

 Sc
ru
tin

y R
ev
iew

 of
 To

ba
cc
o C

es
sa
tio

n i
n T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
  

 Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

i
lity

 
Da

te 
R 
1 

Th
at 
the
 To

ba
cc
o C

on
tro
l A
llia
nc
e 

(TC
A)
 in
clu
de
 an
 el
ec
ted
 m
em
be
r to

 
ref
lec
t th
e h
ea
lth
 sc
rut
iny
 ro
le 
an
d r
ais
e 

the
 pr
ofi
le 
of 
thi
s w

ork
. 

 

 TC
A h

as
 in
vit
ed
 a 
me
mb
er 
to 
joi
n t
he
 Al
lia
nc
e  

Cla
re 
Sa
ul,
 

He
ad
 of
 

Pr
es
s 

Of
fic
e, 

LB
TH
 

 On
go
ing
 

R 
2 

Th
at 
the
 C
om
mu
nic
ati
on
s S

tra
teg
y 

ac
co
mp
an
yin
g t
he
 To

ba
cc
o C

on
tro
l 

Str
ate
gy
 be
 ov
ers
ee
n b
y t
he
 To

ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 
All
ian
ce
. 

 

 Th
e C

om
mu
nic
ati
on
 St
rat
eg
y i
s r
ep
ort
ed
 di
rec
tly
 to
 th
e 

All
ian
ce
. L
ea
ds
 fr
om
 th
e P

CT
 an

d L
BT
H 
att
en
d t
he
se
 

me
eti
ng
s i
n 
ord
er 
to 
en
su
re 
tha
t t
he
 a
cti
on
 p
lan
s f
or 

the
 c
om
mu
nic
ati
on
s 
str
ea
m 

fit 
wit
h 
all
 t
he
 o
the
r 

wo
rks
tre
am
s. 

Cla
re 
Sa
ul,
 

He
ad
 of
 

Pr
es
s 

Of
fic
e, 

LB
TH
 / 

Pa
ul 

Co
llin
s, 

He
alt
h 

Inf
orm

ati
on
 

Ma
na
ge
r, 

TH
PC
T 

 Ju
ly 
& S

ep
tem

be
r 

20
08
 TC

A 
me
eti
ng
s 

 To
 be
 re
vie
we
d 

qu
art
erl
y 

the
rea
fte
r b
y t
he
 

TC
A 

 
R 
3 

 Th
at 
the
 C
om
mu
nic
ati
on
s S

tra
teg
y, 

de
sig
n o
f fu
tur
e c
am
pa
ign
s a
nd
 

res
ou
rce
s f
or 
tob
ac
co
 ce
ss
ati
on
 

pu
bli
cit
y r
efl
ec
t th
e c
om
mu
nit
y o
f T
ow
er 

Ha
ml
ets
 an
d t
ak
e a
cc
ou
nt 
of 
the
 re
su
lts
 

of 
so
cia
l m
ark
eti
ng
 ex
erc
ise
s 

co
mm

iss
ion
ed
 by
 th
e P

rim
ary
 C
are

 
Tru

st.
 

Th
e c
om
mu
nic
ati
on
s s
tra
teg
y r
efl
ec
ts 
the
 ov
era

ll a
im
s 

an
d 
ou
tco
me
s o

f t
he
 st
rat
eg
ic 
wo
rk 
wh
ich
 a
dd
res
se
s 

thi
s. 

A 
ne
ed
s a

ss
es
sm
en
t a
nd
 cu

rre
nt 
ma
rke
t r
es
ea
rch
 as

 
we
ll 
as
 
so
cia
l 
ma
rke
tin
g 

ha
ve
 
ide
nti
fie
d 

fut
ure
 

ca
mp
aig
ns
, 
me
rch
an
dis
e 

an
d 

he
alt
h 

pro
mo
tio
na
l 

ma
ter
ial
s. 
Ex
am
ple
s i
nc
lud
e a

 re
so
urc
e p

ac
k f
or 
fai
th 

gro
up
s, 
a d

ed
ica
ted
 pr
og
ram

me
 of
 ca

mp
aig
ns
 fo
r t
he
 

Ba
ng
lad
es
hi 
co
mm

un
ity
, r
es
ou
rce
s f
or 
Ra
ma
da
n 
an
d 

for
 yo
un
g p
eo
ple
. C
am
pa
ign
s f
or 
stu
de
nts
 an
d m

an
ua
l 

Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

, 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

Co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
 

in 
co
mm

un
ity
 

La
ng
ua
ge
s t
o b
e 

pro
du
ce
d f
rom

 
Au
gu
st 
– O

cto
be
r 

20
08
 

 Pr
e –
Ra
ma
da
n 

ca
mp
aig
n l
ea
din
g 

up
to 
Se
pte
mb
er 

Page 206



  
5 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

i
lity

 
Da

te 
  

wo
rke
rs,
 p
reg

na
nt 

wo
me
n 
an
d 
tho
se
 m

arg
ina
lise

d 
ha
ve
 be

en
 pl
an
ne
d. 
Re
so
urc
es
 in
 S
ylh
eti
 an

d S
om
ali
 

are
 pl
an
ne
d. 

Th
e P

CT
 he

alt
h i
nte
llig
en
ce
 un

it m
on
ito
rs 
ch
an
ge
s i
n 

eth
nic
ity
 a
nd
 la
ng
ua
ge
s n

ee
ds
 so

 th
at 
ne
w 
ma
ter
ial
s 

ca
n 
be
 p
rod
uc
ed
 a
nd
 c
ult
ura

lly 
se
ns
itiv
e 
ac
tiv
ity
 

pla
nn
ed
. 

20
08
 

 Ta
rge

tte
d 

Ma
rke
tin
g 

ex
erc
ise
 in
 

Oc
tob
er 
20
08
 

aim
ed
 at
 

Ba
ng
lad
es
hi 
Me
n 

 Pr
ev
en
tio
n 

pro
gra

mm
e –
 

tar
ge
tte
d w

ork
 in
 

Sc
ho
ols
 fro

m 
Se
pte
mb
er 
20
08
 

 
R 
4 

Th
at 
co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
 re
so
urc
es
 be
 

de
ve
lop
ed
 to
 ta
rge

t th
e u
se
rs 
of 
all
 

typ
es
 of
 to
ba
cc
o c
on
su
mp
tio
n, 
inc
lud
ing
 

ch
ew
ing
 to
ba
cc
o, 
Pa
an
 an
d s
he
es
ha
 

pip
e s
mo
kin
g. 

 

 Th
e 
de
ve
lop
me
nt 
of 
the
se
 re
so
urc
es
 is
 c
on
tai
ne
d 
in 

cu
rre
nt 
ac
tio
n p

lan
s. 
A 
lea
fle
t o
n c
he
we
d t
ob
ac
co
 ha

s 
be
en
 pr
od
uc
ed
 (P
aa
n) 
an
d a

n e
vid
en
ce
 ba

se
d r
ev
iew

 
of 
sh
ee
sh
a p

ipe
 sm

ok
ing
 ha

s b
ee
n c

om
mi
ss
ion
ed
 so

 
as
 
to 

as
ce
rta
in 

the
 
he
alt
h 

ris
ks
 
pri
or 

to 
the
 

de
ve
lop
me
nt 
of 
ma
ter
ial
s. 
An
oth
er 
pie
ce
 o
f w

ork
 is
 

es
tab
lish

ing
 pr
ev
ale
nc
e o

f s
he
es
ha
 sm

ok
ing
 in
 T
ow
er 

Ha
ml
ets
 w
hic
h i
s c
urr
en
tly
 lo
w.
 

 Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

 Ma
pp
ing
 of
 Pa

an
 

& S
he
eh
a s
ale
s &

 
en
for
ce
me
nt 

ac
tiv
ity
 on
go
ing
 

thr
ou
gh
ou
t 

20
08
/09
  

 De
tai
led
 da
tes
 

av
ail
ab
le 
thr
ou
gh
 

wo
rk 
pro

gra
mm

e 
pla
ns
 

Page 207



  
6 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

i
lity

 
Da

te 
R 
5 

Th
at 
the
 To

ba
cc
o C

on
tro
l U
nit
 de
ve
lop
 a 

se
rvi
ce
 le
ve
l a
gre

em
en
t w
ith
 th
e n
ew
 

he
lpl
ine
 pr
ov
ide
r to

 ca
ptu
re 
inf
orm

ati
on
 

to 
he
lp 
un
de
rst
an
d u
se
r’s
 ne
ed
s a
nd
 to
 

ga
ug
e t
he
 ef
fec
tiv
en
es
s o
f 

co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
 re
so
urc
es
.  

 

 Es
tab
lish

ed
, 
SL
A 

in 
pla
ce
 a

nd
 e

va
lua
tio
n 

da
ta 

co
lle
cte
d a
nd
 ag
ree

d 
Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

 20
/6/
20
08
 - a

nd
 

qu
art
erl
y 

mo
nit
ori
ng
 

the
rea
fte
r 

R 
6 

Th
at 
the
 Tr
ad
ing
 St
an
da
rds
 Te

am
 

de
ve
lop
s a
 bu
sin
es
s p
lan
 to
 

de
mo
ns
tra
te 
the
 tim

e a
nd
 ef
for
t in
vo
lve
d 

in 
en
for
ce
me
nt,
 ed
uc
ati
on
 an
d s
up
po
rt 

ac
tiv
itie
s. 

 

 Th
e 
Tra

din
g 
Sta

nd
ard
s 
an
d 
En
vir
on
me
nta
l H

ea
lth
 

Co
mm

erc
ial
 
Se
rvi
ce
 
ha
ve
 
no
w 

pro
du
ce
d 

a 
co
mp
reh
en
siv
e a
cti
on
 pl
an
 fo
r 2
00
8/9
, w
hic
h h
as
 be
en
 

res
ou
rce
 a
ss
es
se
d 
an
d 
wil
l b
e 
mo
nit
ore
d 
on
 re
gu
lar
 

ba
sis
. 

 Co
lin
 

Pe
rrin
s 

He
ad
 of
 

Tra
din
g 

Sta
nd
ard

s 
& En
vir
on
me

nta
l H
ea
lth
, 

LB
TH
 

 1/5
/20
08
 

R 
7 

Th
at 
the
 Pr
im
ary
 C
are

 Tr
us
t in
tro
du
ce
 

me
as
ure

s t
o e
ns
ure

 al
l h
ea
lth
 

pro
fes
sio
na
ls 
wo
rki
ng
 in
 ho
sp
ita
l o
r 

co
mm

un
ity
 se
ttin
gs
 of
fer
 ad
vic
e t
o 

ch
an
ge
 sm

ok
ing
 ha
bit
s a
nd
 re
fer
 

sm
ok
ers
 to
 se
rvi
ce
s t
o h
elp
 th
em
 qu
it, 

wh
en
ev
er 
po
ss
ibl
e. 

 

Th
ere

 is
 a
 p
rog

ram
me
 o
f p

ub
lic 

he
alt
h 
ch
am
pio
ns
 

be
ing
 d
ev
elo
pe
d 
to 

ov
ers
ee
 t
his
 w

ork
 w

ith
in 

the
 

pro
vid
er/
fro
nt 

lin
e 
se
rvi
ce
s 
inc
lud
ing
 m

en
tal
 h
ea
lth
 

se
rvi
ce
s. 
 

A 
pro

gra
mm

e o
f t
rai
nin
g h

as
 b
ee
n d

ev
elo
pe
d 
an
d 
all
 

fro
nt 
lin
e s
taf
f n
ow
 re
ce
ive
 br
ief
 in
ter
ve
nti
on
 tra

ini
ng
. 

Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

So
me
n 

Ba
ne
rje
e, 

Dir
ec
tor
 of
 

Pu
bli
c 

He
alt
h, 

TH
PC
T 

20
/6/
20
08
 

Page 208



  
7 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

i
lity

 
Da

te 
R 
8 

Th
at 
the
 PC

T c
om
mi
ss
ion
 m
ore

 Le
ve
l 1
 

an
d L
ev
el 
2 S

mo
kin
g C

es
sa
tio
n 

ad
vis
ors
 an
d d
ev
elo
p a
n a
cti
on
 pl
an
 to
 

re-
en
erg

ise
 in
ac
tiv
e a
dv
ise
rs.
  

 

Th
ere

 is
 cu
rre
ntl
y a
 pr
og
ram

me
 to
 re
vie
w 
all
 sm

ok
ing
 

ce
ss
ati
on
 p
rov
isio

n 
in 
To
we
r H

am
let
s 
in 
pa
rtn
ers
hip
 

wit
h 
Mc
Kin

se
y’s
 c
on
su
lta
nts
. 
Th
e 
ob
jec
tiv
e 
is 

to 
en
su
re 

tha
t s
erv
ice
s 
ma
tch
 n
ee
d 
an
d 
tha
t t
he
re 

is 
ap
pro
pri
ate
  c
ap
ac
ity
.  

50
 st
aff
 ar
e c
urr
en
tly
 tra

ine
d m

on
thl
y. 
A 
pro

gra
mm

e o
f 

re-
ac
tiv
ati
on
 is
 un
de
rw
ay
. 

De
nta
l s
erv
ice
s a
re 
 no
w 
co
mm

iss
ion
ed
. 

Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

1/9
/20
08
 

R 
9 

Th
at 
the
 PC

T c
om
mi
ss
ion
 m
ore

 
vo
lun
tar
y a
nd
 co
mm

un
ity
 se
cto
r 

org
an
isa
tio
ns
 in
clu
din
g e
xp
lor
ing
 

op
tio
ns
 th
rou
gh
 th
e T

ow
er 
Ha
ml
ets
 

Pa
rtn
ers
hip
 to
 de
live

r s
mo
kin
g c
es
sa
tio
n 

se
rvi
ce
s. 

 

A 
ten
de
rin
g p

roc
es
s w

ill 
oc
cu
r in

 Ju
ly 
20
08
 in
 or
de
r to

 
co
mm

iss
ion
 a
dd
itio
na
l c
ap
ac
ity
 fr
om
 th
e 
thi
rd 
se
cto
r. 

All
 cu
rre
nt 
thi
rd 
se
cto
r p
rov
isio

n h
av
e h
ad
 th
eir
 fu
nd
ing
 

co
nfi
rm
ed
 f
or 

20
08
-20

09
 a
nd
 h
av
e 
ha
d 
fun
din
g 

inc
rea

se
s i
n o
rde

r to
 re
fle
ct 
ad
dit
ion
al 
req

uir
em
en
ts.
  

Jill
 

Go
dd
ard

 
To
ba
cc
o 

Co
ntr
ol 

Le
ad
, 

TH
PC
T 

1/9
/20
08
 

   

Page 209



Appendix B 
 

Report of the Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
 

Review of Tobacco Cessation in Tower Hamlets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tower Hamlets Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2008 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 210



 

 2

Index 
 
 
 Page 
Acknowledgements 
 

3 

  
Chair’s Foreword 
 

4 

  
Chapter 1 
Introduction 

5 

  
Chapter 2 
National Policy Context 

8 

  
Chapter 3 
Local Policy Context 

9 

  
Chapter 4 
Findings 

12 

  
Chapter 5 
Conclusions and Recommendations 

25 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 211



 

 3

 
Acknowledgements 
 
Health Scrutiny Panel  
Cllr Stephanie Eaton  (Chair of Health Scrutiny Panel) 
Cllr Lutfa Begum  
Cllr Shafiqul Haque  
Cllr Waiseul Islam  
Cllr Ann Jackson  
Cllr Dr. Emma Jones  
Cllr A. A. Sardar 
Cllr Abjol Miah  
 
Co-opted Panel Members 
Kathleen Banks, Chair, Barts and the London NHS Trust Patient and Public 
Involvement Forum    
Nuruz Jaman, Vice-Chair, Tower Hamlets PCT Patient and Public Involvement 
Forum 
John Lee, Vice-Chair, East London and City Mental Health Trust Patient and Public 
Involvement Forum 
 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Colin Perrins, Head of Trading Standards & Environmental Health (Commercial) 
David Tolley, Environmental Health Commercial Service Manager 
John McCrochan 
Doug Lindsay,  
Ian Basnett – Joint Director of Public Health 
Michael Keating, Acting Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Scrutiny Policy Officers 
Shanara Matin, Scrutiny Policy Officer  
Afazul Hoque, Scrutiny Policy Manager 
 
External  
Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust 
Dr Somen Banerjee – Associate Director of Public Health.  
Jill Goddard – Tobacco Cessation Lead 
Jeremy Gardner, Head of Community Involvement, THPCT 
Andrew Ridley – Director of Primary and Community Care Commissioning 
Paul Collins, Health Information Manager 
 
Bangladeshi Stop Smoking Project 
Professor Ray Croucher  
 
This work has been undertaken with the support and assistance of colleagues from 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets, the Primary Care Trust and elsewhere. We are 
grateful for all their support but special mention should be made of the Scrutiny 
Support Officers, Shanara Matin and Michael Carr who worked tirelessly and with 
good humour to ensure this review was completed successfully. 
 

Page 212



 

 4

Chair’s Foreword 
 
 
There can hardly be any member of our community who is not aware of the health 
message around smoking. We are bombarded with images and words telling us that 
smoking kills, harms the unborn child, reduces fitness, leads to premature aging and 
makes most chronic diseases worse. Yet people still smoke and more people in our 
community smoke than elsewhere. Our poorest residents suffer the most from 
smoking related disease and they are also less likely to access support services to 
help them stop. Because of this a person living in our poorest areas dies on average 
12 years earlier than someone living in a more affluent area of the Borough.  
 
A great deal of research and activity has occurred to encourage people across the 
UK to stop smoking, to prevent smoking and to reduce people’s exposure to second 
hand smoke. However, Tower Hamlets’ community has some distinct and particular 
characteristics that require local examination and local solutions. To give one 
example, the use of chewing tobacco by some members of the Bangladeshi 
community is not well researched and there has been little or no action taken to 
advise sellers and users of paan of the dangers of this product and to support them 
in their efforts to cease.  
 
The Health Scrutiny Panel has taken a distinctively local approach to the problems 
that arise in our community from the use of tobacco products. We have looked at 
the supply of cheap (and nasty) tobacco products through our street markets, and 
researched the availability of these to young people. We have considered the high 
smoking levels among Bangladeshi men and the use of paan more widely in 
Bangladeshi homes. We have considered the materials used to promote tobacco 
cessation, and we have been surprised at the lack of any comprehensive evaluation 
of ‘what works’. We have encountered anecdotal evidence that health care workers 
such as midwives, occupational therapists and community mental health workers 
struggle to include smoking cessation advice with their other guidance and support 
to patients. We need to learn if this resistance is widespread and to understand why 
there can be a barrier to offering support for smoking cessation in the course of the 
delivery of other health care. 
 
This report takes a fresh perspective on the problems that arise from the use of 
tobacco in Tower Hamlets. We have identified areas where the Primary Care Trust 
and the Council need to improve data collection, local engagement strategies, the 
evidence base, enforcement and advice to retailers. We hope that these 
recommendations will be implemented quickly and in full. The human and financial 
cost to our community of continued ill health and premature death demands we 
address the threat of tobacco with vigour and urgency. 
 
 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
Chair 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



 

 5

Chapter 1 – Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 

1. Smoking and tobacco related illness is preventable and smoking exacerbates 
a range of health problems. 86,500 people die prematurely each year from 
smoking related illnesses in the UK. Smoking is the major reason for the 
differences in death rates between rich and poor and deaths from tobacco 
use are two to three times higher amongst disadvantaged social groups than 
among the better off.  

 
2. Our Borough’s diverse and transient population experiences very different 

levels of access to health care services and differences in health outcomes. 
Levels of deprivation in the Borough can be high in some areas and this often 
translates into low life expectancy levels. Last year 36% of all deaths in the 
borough were linked to smoking related diseases - a very high level of 
preventable mortality.  

 
3. Mortality from smoking related diseases (including cardiovascular disease, 

lung cancer, other cancers and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) is 
higher than the UK average and is estimated to be responsible for about 70% 
of the gap in life expectancy between Tower Hamlets and the rest of the 
country for men and 59% for women (Association of Public Health 
Observatories Health Inequalities Toolkit). 

 
4. Smoking prevalence in Tower Hamlets is 37% compared with the England 

average of 24% and 22% for London. This means that in 2007 nearly 68, 000 
people were smokers in Tower Hamlets. The smoking rate for men aged 25-
44 years was reported as being the highest (43%) for all Primary Care Trusts 
(PCT) in England. Amongst the Bangladeshi male population it is believed 
that the percentage is even higher at 50%. Such high levels of smoking 
prevalence represent a heavy disease burden for our community.  

 
5. Smoking and tobacco use is therefore one of the most important and urgent 

public health issues for the Borough. Every day in Tower Hamlets at least 
one resident dies prematurely because of smoking. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



 

 6

Figure 1. Estimated smoking prevalence (%) in 2006 and percentage of residents setting a 
quit date to stop smoking.  
 

  
6. This year the England wide smoking ban in public places and the Tower 

Hamlets’ Tobacco Control Strategy review offered an opportunity to raise the 
profile of the wider tobacco cessation campaign, for reviewing smoking 
cessation services and tobacco control measures to ensure they are making 
a difference to local health outcomes. 

 
7. The establishment of a joint Tobacco Control Unit between Tower Hamlets 

Primary Care Trust (THPCT) and the Council will ensure that the Borough 
has co-ordinated services and a holistic approach to this important area of 
public health.  

 
 
The review process 
 

8. The Health Scrutiny Panel was established in 2004 and since then has 
carried out reviews on childhood obesity, diabetes and young people’s 
access to sexual health services.  Work on a four-year work programme 
commenced in 2006 when the panel reviewed access to general medical 
practitioner and dental services. This year’s work on tobacco and smoking 

Page 215



 

 7

cessation aims to continue the panel’s general concern to investigate access 
to services in order to tackle inequality in health care.   

 
9. The panel agreed that the reasons for undertaking the review were: 

 
• The high prevalence of smoking in the borough 
• The high prevalence of smoking in specific parts of the community and social 

groups in the borough 
• The preventability of disease related to and exacerbated by smoking 
• To improve on the low life expectancy levels caused by tobacco use 
• To maximize the opportunities coming out of the introduction of the 

Workplace Smoking Ban and the revised Tobacco Control Strategy.  
 

10. The panel agreed that a review of smoking should include all types of 
tobacco consumption including chewing tobacco to take into account of the 
high levels of oral tobacco use in the borough.  

 
11. The objectives of the review were to: 

a. To consider the composition and terms of reference of a tobacco 
control alliance.  

b. To evaluate the effectiveness of current strategies of engagement with 
key community groups and organisations, including targeting of high 
risk and “hard to reach” groups for smoking and tobacco cessation, 
especially Bangladeshi males.  

c. To evaluate the extent of the availability of black market tobacco and 
the price and quality of products sold at street markets.  

d. To evaluate available research on access to tobacco products by 
under 18s and the enforcement of breaches of trading standards 
relating to the selling of tobacco to under 18s.  

e. To collate the available material for communicating the smoking 
cessation and tobacco control message, to examine evidence that the 
communications strategies work, and to identify possible gaps.  

f. To investigate strategies to develop the capacity and skills of front line 
healthcare providers to support people to stop smoking and chewing 
tobacco. 

g. To evaluate the time and resource implications for the enforcement of 
the workplace smoking ban on LBTH Trading Standards officers. 

h. To consider the strategies in place for the regulation and cessation of 
chewing tobacco (including Paan) and whether these products carry 
the legal health notices to the required standard.  

 
12. The Panel's work programme is outlined below: 

Stage 1 (Sept07) • Consideration of national and local policies; 
• Tobacco Control Strategy  

Stage 2 (Oct 07 – 
Dec 07) 

Evidence Gathering from: 
• Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust 
• LBTH Tobacco Control Team 
• Voluntary and Community Sector Smoking 

Cessation and Prevention Services 

Page 216



 

 8

Stage 3 (Dec 07 
– Feb 08) 

• Enforcement Visits 
• Mystery Shopping Exercise – Introduction 

of the higher age of sales legislation 
Stage 4 (Mar 08) • Draft report and consultation 

 
 
Chapter 2 - National Policy Context 
 

 
13. The 1998 white paper, Smoking Kills, promoted a comprehensive strategy for 

tobacco control, which still underpins much of current policy initiatives aimed 
at reducing the number of people smoking. The legislation put tobacco 
control at the heart of the NHS policy agenda thereby building in a 
mechanism for accountability and placing tobacco control measures at the 
heart of health promotion and disease prevention work.  

 
14. The wide-ranging proposals in the white paper included measures to abolish 

tobacco advertising and promotion, altering public attitudes, preventing 
tobacco smuggling, and supporting research to improve the design, delivery 
and impact of smoking cessation services. Some of the specific measures 
were: 
• rules on the placement of cigarette vending machines 
• the introduction of an approved code of practice on smoking in the 

workplace – (eventually to be replaced with a total ban on smoking in 
public places) 

• mass media health promotion campaigns 
• the prevention of under-age tobacco sales  
• additional services to help smokers to quit 
• increases in tobacco tax  

 
15. Published at a time when smoking prevalence was increasing, the 1998 

White Paper also set out specific targets to reduce smoking amongst young 
people and pregnant women. 

 
16. Part of the Department of Health response to the white paper included 

directing Health Authorities and Primary Care Groups to develop 
comprehensive local strategies to tackle smoking as part of Health 
Improvement Programmes in partnership with local authorities and other 
agencies and to begin the development of smoking cessation services. There 
has thus been an increasing focus on greater partnership working between 
tobacco control services traditionally delivered by local authorities and 
smoking cessation services which are in the main provided by the NHS.  

 
17. The NHS Cancer Plan of 2000 set out the government’s vision for tackling 

the disease and for cancer prevention. It focused in particular on narrowing 
the gap in inequalities with the introduction of an additional target to reduce 
rates of smoking among people in ‘manual’ groups from 32% in 1998 to 26% 
by 2010.  

 

Page 217



 

 9

18. The White Paper Choosing Health: Making Healthier Choices Easier 
(November 2004) set out how the Government will make it easier for people 
to make informed choices by offering them practical help to adopt healthier 
lifestyles.  Choosing Health signalled the Government's intention to refocus 
the NHS into a service for improving health as well as one that treats 
sickness. Central to this approach is a focus on reducing smoking and 
protecting people from exposure to second hand smoke.  

 
19. Alongside the focus on smoking in public, measures have been introduced to 

improve the enforcement of legislation prohibiting the sale and access to 
Tobacco by young people. These measures include work to prevent trade in 
black market cigarettes. Black market sales reduce the impact of taxation on 
tobacco as a public health intervention to price out consumers. The 
Government’s New responses to new challenges: Reinforcing the Tackling 
Tobacco Smuggling Strategy was published in 2006 detailing a 
comprehensive response to the new challenges emerging as the illicit market 
in tobacco adapts and develops. 

 
20. The Health Act 2006 raised the age at which tobacco can legally be bought 

and set out legislative provisions for making almost all public places and 
workplaces smoke free, from July 2007. This legislation reflected mounting 
scientific evidence of the risk posed by passive smoking and mirrors the 
introduction of smoking bans across cities in Europe and North America.  

 
21. There has been a growing body of evidence around the need for targeted 

interventions alongside national campaigns to help different groups of people 
quit and the challenges faced by smokers who are in difficult circumstances 
in turning a desire to give up into reality and the evolving legislation reflects 
this.   

 
 
Chapter 3 - Local Policy Context 
 
 
 

22. The 2006 Tower Hamlets Public Health Report which examines the causes 
and consequences of poor health in the people of Tower Hamlets cited 
smoking as the biggest threat to the health of local people. Smoking 
increases the risk of both lung cancer, the most common cause of death in 
the borough, and heart disease, which accounts for a quarter of early deaths 
in men. 

 
23. Smoking rates in the borough are amongst the highest in the country at 37%, 

with 43% of men aged between 35-44 smoking cigarettes. Almost half of all 
men in Tower Hamlets over the age of 35 die from smoking-related causes. 
The UK average is 27% of men and 25% of women. There is also a high 
prevalence of chewing tobacco/paan which is linked to severe gum disease 
and mouth cancers. 

 

Page 218



 

 10

24. Low average life expectancy figures means that the borough is a 
Government ‘spearhead’ area with specific targets to reduce health 
inequalities by 10 per cent by 2010. These targets are mirrored in the Local 
Area Agreement and Tower Hamlets Community Plan both of which include a 
priority to increase life expectancy and prevent premature loss of life due to 
smoking related diseases. Life expectancy is also a key measure for 
determining levels of health inequality.  

 
25. There are large differences in smoking prevalence and consumption in the 

UK, varying by age sex, social class, employment status, and ethnicity. 
People in deprived circumstances are not only more likely to take up smoking 
but generally start younger, smoke more heavily and are less likely to quit 
smoking, each of which increases the risk of smoking-related disease.  

 
26. The 2006 Healthcare Commission review into PCT Tobacco Control & 

Smoking Cessation Services gave the THPCT an overall score of 3 which is 
equated to ‘good’ (1 being ‘weak’ and 4 being ‘excellent’). Some of the 
innovative aspects of the Tobacco Control Programme in Tower Hamlets 
which were highlighted include the recruitment of smoking cessation advisors 
from the community (e.g. pharmacists and voluntary groups), projects 
targeted at ethnic minority groups, drop-in clinics, collaboration with 
environmental health and the Ramadan stop smoking campaign. In 2006/07 
the borough helped 2151 people to quit smoking against a target of 1755. 

 
27. There are some important areas for development such as strengthening 

partnership working, targeting specific groups such as pregnant women and 
young people, broadening the range of smoking cessation advisors and 
increasing the settings for tobacco control activities. 

 
28. The Tower Hamlets Tobacco Control Strategy is currently being reviewed. It 

is a joint strategy between the Council and the Tower Hamlets Primary Care 
Trust providing a comprehensive approach to tackling tobacco use by 
focusing on prevention, smoking cessation and effective enforcement of 
tobacco legislation. 

 
29. One of the key aims of this review is to contribute to the revised Strategy and 

inform its action plan. The draft strategy currently has three themes (detailed 
below) and is structured around work streams relating to each of these 
themes. The Strategy also makes provisions for a Tobacco Control Alliance 
which will be a multi agency steering group to oversee implementation of the 
action plan.  

 
a. Theme 1: To stop people starting to use tobacco i.e. smoking and 

oral tobacco use by teens and pre-teens. The theme focuses on both 
enforcement of tobacco control policies particularly affecting young 
people (under age sales, contraband/counterfeit tobacco, smoking 
ban) and sustained campaigns across a range of relevant settings 
such as families, schools, preschool, other youth settings.  

 

Page 219



 

 11

b. Theme 2: To encourage and help people to stop using tobacco - 
focused on promoting use of stop smoking services and increasing the 
supply of NHS accredited Stop Smoking services across a wide range 
of settings. The work stream also recognises the need for targeted 
work with specific groups (pregnant women, Bangladeshi males, and 
people with mental health problems) and the use of oral tobacco. 

 
c. Theme 3: To achieve a Smoke Free Tower Hamlets – recognises 

the critical importance of the effective implementation of the smoking 
ban in Tower Hamlets in both protecting people from second hand 
smoke and also in providing motivation for people to stop smoking 
(linking to theme two). It also recognises the role of smoking as a 
significant contributor to accidental fires. 

 
 

Figure 2. Proposed structure for implementation of Tower Hamlets Tobacco Control 
Strategy as presented to the Health Scrutiny Panel in November 2007. 
 

Implementation

Tobacco Control Alliance 
Steering Group 
(Coordinated by Tobacco 
Control Lead)

Stopping people starting
•Targets (LAA)
•Focus on young people
•Enforcement dimension

Helping people to Quit
•Targets (LAA, HCC)
•Mainly adults
•PCT based smoking 
cessation team 
performance managing 
commissioned services
•Delivering training

Smoke Free Tower 
Hamlets
•Mandatory targets
•Link with smoking 
cessation
•Link with young people 
eg enforcement in schools

Tower Hamlets Partnership
Steering Group 
coordinating  
implementation of 
tobacco control 
strategy

Tower 
Hamlets 
Tobacco 
Control 
Alliance

  
 

 
 
Conclusions 
 

Review objective: 
 To consider the composition and terms of reference of a tobacco control alliance.  

 
30.  The panel received a presentation on the draft Tobacco Control Strategy and 

were invited to comment on the proposed composition of the Tobacco 
Control Alliance. Members would like the steering group to include Councillor 
representation to reflect the health scrutiny role but also to raise the profile 
and endorse this work. 

 

Page 220



 

 12

31. Members stressed the need to ensure a balance between representation and 
effectiveness. The panel also recommended that the strategy should be more 
explicit in taking into account different reasons for tobacco use across 
different parts of our community – and the resultant need for different types of 
services.  

 
32. Communications work should also come under the remit of the Tobacco 

Control Alliance. The formation of the Tobacco Control Alliance is an 
opportunity for a Communications Strategy review. Since the Member 
discussion on the Tobacco Control Alliance a communications stream has 
been added to the Tobacco Control Alliance model.  

 
33. Members also believed that while it was important to develop the arguments 

for going smokefree on health grounds, it is equally important to emphasise 
the wider economic benefits from having a healthier community. 

 
34. The Panel would like to review progress monitored by the Tobacco Control 

Alliance as part of the recommendations coming out of this review.  
 

35. Members also welcomed the information that quit targets for 2006/07 in the 
Local Area Agreement had been exceeded. Members felt it would be useful 
for the Tobacco Control Strategy to include more challenging targets to build 
on and reflect current success. 

 
 
 
Chapter 4 – Findings 
 
Communications 
 

Review objective: 
To collate the available material for communicating the smoking cessation and 
tobacco control message, to examine evidence that the communications 
strategies work, and to identify possible gaps.  

 
36. Members received briefings from the Primary Care Trust, the Trading 

Standards and Environmental Health Team and visited the Tobacco Control 
Unit and its public health resource centre to review the range of 
communication strategies and resources and materials used to promote 
messages around tobacco and smoking cessation. 

 
37. The Primary Care Trust run a number of annual campaigns that tie in with 

national events, the New Year and a specific campaign during Ramadan 
targeting Muslim communities within the Borough. The annual No Smoking 
Day in March uses nationally produced materials and is sent to all GP 
practices and pharmacies. The New Year campaigns are much more locally 
relevant and in January 2007 were used to introduce the ‘Fresh Start’ 
campaign leading up to the introduction of the Smoking Ban in July. A 
Bengali video advert was broadcast on Channel S as part of that campaign.  

Page 221



 

 13

 
38. The PCT and Local Authority produced a joint strategy for delivering the 

smoking ban in Tower Hamlets which included information on smoking 
cessation services to complement the enforcement messages and general 
awareness raising of the new legislation. The development of a campaign 
specifically around Ramadan makes use of opportunities around the 
prohibition of smoking whilst fasting to target messages around the health 
benefits of giving up altogether. The campaign uses posters and leaflets 
translated into community languages and a series of adverts on Muslim 
Community Radio. Members welcomed the work targeted at communities 
where there is a high smoking prevalence and the local knowledge used in 
developing these campaigns.  

 
39. Panel Members were able to see the range of branded materials that have 

been developed as part of the adoption of the national Smokefree brand 
through a visit to the Tobacco Control Unit. They also saw a range of public 
health resources to promote smoking cessation used at public events, in 
schools and by community and voluntary sector organisations that deliver 
cessation services.  Primary Care Trust officers discussed current 
communication plans which include sending out Smokefree branded leaflets 
and dispensers to 800 settings across the borough.  

 

  
40. Members welcomed the extensive range of materials targeting the elderly, 

pregnant women, new dads and for people who have tried to quit smoking 
and not yet been successful. These materials reflected a range of 
approaches from using shock tactics to prevent uptake and motivate people 
to quit to practical mediums for promoting the availability of cessation 
services such as the quit help lines.  

 
41. Members enquired about how the impact of these resources were measured. 

There is currently limited information on the impact of individual resources 
which would be difficult to track and record. 70% of smokers are estimated as 
wanting to quit and the aim of the smoking cessation materials is to provide a 
range of communication streams that raise awareness of the risks and make 

Page 222



 

 14

it easy for potential quitters to access the appropriate services.  There is 
anecdotal information on material that doesn’t work such as beer mats 
produced with the Freshstart logo. Members suggested greater analysis of 
the impact of materials by gauging user feedback through patient focus 
groups.  

 
42. Members suggested that it would be useful to capture information from 

people accessing cessation services about what motivated them and where 
they had seen the information about the service they were contacting.  The 
Panel requested information on the calls made to quit help lines in the 
borough, which identified gaps in the way this information has been recorded 
to date. This is partly being addressed through the migration of the help lines 
to the customer access centre within Tower Hamlets Council. Members are 
keen to review the impact of this change on the type and level of information 
held and that this should in the Tower Hamlets Tobacco Control Strategy 
action plan.  

 
43. The Panel were invited to a stakeholder event to consider the themes within 

the draft Tobacco Control Strategy in November 2007. Attendees generated 
a range of innovative ideas to help inform the strategy action plan including 
greater use of peer groups particularly amongst young people and to train 
them as smoking cessation ambassadors.  Other communications included 
ideas to target young people and prevent uptake by making use of 
opportunities around the Olympics. Stakeholders also felt that there was a 
need for anti-smoking messages to be associated with activities that were 
‘cool’, if they were to be successful with young people. 

 
 

 

Page 223



 

 15

Black Market Tobacco Products 
 

Review objective: 
To evaluate the extent of the availability of black market tobacco and the price 
and quality of products sold at street markets in Tower Hamlets.  

 
44. It is estimated that one third of the world wide internationally traded cigarettes 

(355 billion per year) are sold illegally with the avoidance of duty. This 
reduces the price, increases demand, undermines national tobacco tax and 
as a result harms health.  

 
45. Smuggled cigarettes now account for up to 10% of the UK market. The effect 

on poorest households is an important concern. The national figures are that 
over 70% of two-parent households on Income Support buy cigarettes, 
spending about 15% of their disposable income on tobacco. The prevalence 
of smoking in the poorest 'unskilled manual' occupations is 38% compared to 
around 11% in the professional classes.  

 
46. Since 2000, a number of central government initiatives have been 

implemented in an attempt to reduce smuggling. This involved increasing HM 
Revenue and Customs resourcing and technical infrastructure. Also changes 
have been made to the marking on tobacco products so that now there is an 
indication when duty had been paid. 

 
47. A major problem in the illegal trading of cigarettes has been the involvement 

of the tobacco companies themselves. This is where UK made cigarettes are 
exported only to be smuggled back into the UK. As part of the anti-smuggling 
initiative Central Government are entering into agreements where the 
Tobacco companies have to ensure product and supply controls for 
themselves and their customers. Tobacco companies will have to comply 
with these agreements and risk being penalised if they do not.  

 
48. Contraband tobacco is also a problem. It is thought that 1 in 6 cigarettes and 

almost half of rolling tobacco in this country is illicit. Tests on counterfeit 
tobacco have shown that products contain up to 160% more tar, 80% more 
nicotine, 133% more carbon monoxide and 5 times the level of cadmium (a 
carcinogen linked to lung, kidney and digestive tract damage) than genuine 
cigarettes. Government toxicologists have found that counterfeit cigarettes 
have the potential to deliver consistently higher levels of heavy metals to the 
lungs. Moreover the lower price and easy access to contraband tobacco can 
act to encourage younger smokers.  

 
49. There are other examples of low grade counterfeit products containing non 

tobacco bulk out products like sawdust and manure which pose an even 
higher health risk than genuinely branded cigarettes. 

 
50. A mystery shopping exercise was arranged for the panel to investigate the 

extent of the issues identified above. Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
accompanied undercover officers from the Council to markets around Brick 
lane and spoke with the tobacco sellers. In many cases the sellers were 

Page 224



 

 16

asylum seekers who are prohibited from obtaining work by their immigration 
status. They turn to black market sales of tobacco to supplement their 
income. This exercise showed the complexity of the social, economic and 
cultural conditions which lead to a black market in tobacco sales.  

 
51. As part of this exercise both contraband and counterfeit tobacco products 

were collected for the Panel to review. These have been sent to testing 
laboratories for content analysis but at time of publication the results were not 
available. Members are keen to see that the findings of the tests inform local 
tobacco control publicity campaigns.  

 
Enforcing the new legislation 
 

Review Objectives: 
To evaluate the time and resource implications for the enforcement of the 
workplace smoking ban on LBTH Trading Standards officers. 
 
To evaluate available research on access to tobacco products by under 18s and 
the enforcement of breaches of trading standards relating to the selling of 
tobacco to under 18s 

 
52. The introduction of the smoking ban and the raising of the legal age of sale 

for tobacco products to 18 are important tobacco control measures in the 
drive to reduce smoking prevalence. It is the role of the Local Authority to 
enforce legislation locally. The council’s Trading Standards Services carry out 
surveys and undertake test purchases to ensure understanding of legislation 
and compliance.  

 
53. The draft Tower Hamlets Tobacco Control Strategy recognises the increasing 

resource requirements that result from the new duties on enforcement 
officers and the wider trading standards teams. There are about 13, 500 
businesses and premises in the Borough where the smoking ban currently 
applies. The Tobacco Control Strategy is in the process of being refreshed 
for 2008/9 and beyond and the level of activity possible by Tower Hamlets 
Council is dependant on available resources.  

 
54. In 2007 all 404 premises selling tobacco products were visited in advance of 

the new sales legislation and 463 further visits were undertaken afterwards. 
13 businesses were formally found to be non compliant because they were 
not displaying the “underage” statutory notice. One successful test purchase 
was obtained and the retailer undertook to comply with the legislation in 
future.  

 
55. The Trading Standards Services plan to visit and test purchase 25% of 

tobacco retailers in 2008/9. This programme of work will combine 
enforcement with continued support to businesses. 

 
56. If no additional resources are made available the level of activity possible will 

be largely reactive. Limited amounts of proactive work will be integrated into 
existing routine work streams. The levels of outreach and proactive work 

Page 225



 

 17

achieved in 2007/8 will not be possible in 2008/9. The Tobacco Control 
Strategy action plans provide options based on additional funding and in the 
scenario that no extra funds are secured.  

 
57. Public support for restricting smoking in public places is high with 91% of 

adults being in favour of restrictions in restaurants, 86% at work and 65% in 
pubs. The regulatory impact assessment estimated the effect of the recent 
ban would be to reduce the smoking prevalence by 1.7%. In Tower Hamlets 
this would mean approximately 3,200 fewer smokers. A recent paper on the 
cost-effectiveness of English smoking cessation services estimates that the 
average life-years gained per quitter is 3.59 years. In Tower Hamlets the 
impact of the ban could be to gain an additional 11,500 life-years for the local 
population. 

 
58. Levels of compliance with the smoking ban in the borough were 

encouragingly very high at 98.5%. To date, twenty seven complaints about 
illegal smoking have been received and investigated. 106 requests for advice 
have been received from businesses, five written warnings have been given 
to businesses where smoking was illegally taking place and five written 
warnings have been given to premises that were not displaying the statutory 
signs. 

 
59. Members would like to endorse the proposals in the draft Tobacco Control 

Strategy and action plan and support the request to maintain the level of 
funding at £230,000 which was the initial grant sum provided by the 
Government for 2007/08 to introduce the smoking ban. The programme of 
activities outlined in the action plan have the potential to make a much wider 
impact on reducing smoking prevalence compared to reactive enforcement 
activity but only if this funding stream continues. 

 
60. The Council’s Trading Standards Service also have responsibility for 

enforcing a number of statutes that restrict the sale of certain products 
namely such as alcohol, cigarettes, knives, solvents, fireworks and gaming 
software to under 18’s. The last major survey of young people and smoking 
took place in 2005. There are central government targets to reduce the 
number of children between the ages of 11 and 15 who smoke regularly from 
a base line in 1996 to 11% by 2005 and 9% by 2010. The prevalence has 
plateaued since 1999 at between 9 and 10%. Girls are more likely to smoke 
than boys with prevalence at 10% girls compared to 7% for boys and the 
prevalence of smoking increases with age. Only 1% of 11 year olds smoke 
compared to 20% of 15 year olds. 

 
61. Underage smokers when surveyed say they can acquire cigarettes easily. 

Most regular smokers aged 12-15 buy cigarettes from shops, although with 
more robust legislation and enforcement they are increasingly likely to be 
refused service. Younger smokers, in particular, also buy cigarettes from 
relatives. School pupils exchange cigarettes with their peers, sometimes for 
money.  Regular smokers are also given cigarettes by friends and relatives; 
for occasional smokers, this is by far the most common source.  

 

Page 226



 

 18

62. Demand for tobacco is highly price sensitive. A 10% increase in price is 
associated with an estimated 4% reduction in demand in higher income 
countries. Young people are at least as sensitive (perhaps two to three times 
more sensitive) to price as older adults.  A recent systematic review of cross 
sectional studies from the United States found strong evidence for an 
association between cigarette prices and both the number of smokers aged 
13 to 24 and the quantity each consumes.  

 
63. Young people living in areas of the US with more stringent sales policies for 

underage customers are also less likely to smoke. Enforcing the minimum 
legal age for purchases can reduce illegal cigarette sales, but the evidence 
from controlled intervention studies is that the affect on actual smoking 
behaviour is weaker, presumably because underage smokers can acquire 
cigarettes from other sources. Unenforced voluntary agreements and 
educational interventions with retailers are less effective in reducing sales. 

 
64. A visit to investigate the enforcement of breaches of trading standards 

relating to the selling of tobacco to under 18s was arranged in November 
2007. In the company of a Trading Standards officer, Councillor Stephanie 
Eaton visited a number of premises including bars, restaurants, clothes 
shops and video outlets to ensure that the correct signs were in place and to 
encourage the placement of quit smoking advice leaflets. The vast majority of 
premises were fully compliant and, where they were not, informal information 
and advice was given with follow-up visits scheduled to ensure compliance. 

 

  
 

Widening Access to Smoking Cessation Advice & Services 

Page 227



 

 19

 
Review Objective: 
To investigate strategies to develop the capacity and skills of front line 
healthcare providers to support people in giving up smoking and chewing of oral 
tobacco. 

 
65. Tobacco use in Tower Hamlets exceeds the national average both in its 

smoked and oral forms. The Panel received a briefing on the potential of front 
line health care staff to more widely deliver smoking cessation messages. 
Whilst there are some examples of effective practice there is huge potential 
for developing this area of work and for it to become a key component of the 
new strategy. 

 
66. The current smoking cessation services in Tower Hamlets follows an 

evidence based model operating on three levels which relate to the 
individual’s dependency and need matched with the appropriate intervention. 
The model is described as follows; 

 
• Level 1- Brief intervention from any front line health professional. 

Essentially this involves assessing motivation to quit and signposting to quit 
services. It also reinforces to the individual that tobacco use is bad for your 
health and that there is effective treatment available to support you quit. 

 
• Level 2- Intensive 1-1 support and advice (and use of Nicotine 

Replacement Therapy and other pharmacological aids). This is provided 
in Tower Hamlets in a number of ways by commissioning health 
professionals such as community pharmacists, practice nurses and 
community staff as well as many organizations from the voluntary sector who 
provide a service to those who may not traditionally access mainstream 
services. 

 
• Level 3 – Intensive support either on a 1-1 basis or using other 

methods. This is currently commissioned from the specialist smokers’ clinic 
who provide input to our local hospitals and for those people who need more 
intensive support, for example due to their level of addiction or complexity of 
their health needs. Most smokers want to quit and an intervention by a health 
care professional increases a person’s likelihood of quitting.  

 
67. Some of the barriers identified as deterring front line health care providers 

from delivering tobacco cessation advice are outlined below.  
 

• Smoking cessation fatigue – the use of old tired messages and traditional 
ways of relaying health information 

• Lack of skill/training deficit - Staff lack of confidence in how to do it 
• Changing face of health care providers - Health care is now commissioned 

in many different ways so front line health care providers now span many 
organizations. 

• Too many demands on time - Staff feel burdened by their workload 

Page 228



 

 20

• Perception /belief that smoking is a “lifestyle choice” - Staff feel 
uncomfortable discussing it as they perceive it as a “lifestyle issue” with 
choice and do not understand the nature of the addiction. 

• Fear that it will affect client relationship – staff feel it may create a barrier 
between the health worker and patient. 

 
68. The PCT have proposed a programme of work to address these barriers 

including a range of mandatory and voluntary training for health care workers 
and extending these training options to a wider range of front line providers.  
These options also need to be marketed more effectively to front line staff to 
motivate them and make them believe in what they are doing and why it is 
important.  

 
69. There are also areas where there is only limited smoking cessation advice 

available. This includes the acute hospitals, out-patients and social service 
premises such as day centres, residential homes, learning disability services 
and youth programmes. 

 
70. Most people see their GP at least once a year, and other health professionals 

at other times during the year. But at the same time, less than half of 
smokers say they remember being given advice on smoking by a GP, 
practice nurse or other medical person at any point during the last five years. 
GPs, practice nurses, midwives, dentists, pharmacists, health visitors and 
other health professionals are key sources of advice. These professionals 
have an important role to play in giving the kind of smoking cessation advice 
to match the specific needs of the patient accessing health services. 
Smokers need to be aware that those who know about health, advise them 
against smoking. Members recommend that the Primary Care Trust introduce 
measures to ensure all health professionals working in hospital or community 
settings offer advice to change smoking habits and refer smokers to services 
to help them quit, whenever possible. 

 
71. The Tobacco Control Unit also highlighted issues around inactivity of 

smoking cessation advisers for example of the 350 level 2 advisors only half 
are currently active. There is evidence of inconsistency of approach with 
some advisors focussing on hard to reach groups and others working with 
larger more accessible groups.  Around 350 people are trained to level 1 
each year but there is a need to follow through on their activity and there is a 
need to make more use of spare capacity at the Level 2 and Specialist levels. 
Members welcomed plans to re-invigorate the pool of advisers available as 
well as plans to recruit and train more.  

 
 

Review objective: 
To evaluate the effectiveness of current strategies of engagement with key 
community groups and organisations, including targeting of high risk and “hard to 
reach” groups for smoking and tobacco cessation, specifically Bangladeshi 
males.  
 

 

Page 229



 

 21

72. Tower Hamlets PCT commissions both generic and specialist smoking 
cessation services. The public can access these services directly by phone 
(free call number available) or in person (for example, through pharmacies), 
or by referral from primary care. All services are free of charge.  

 
73. The generic services include:  
• Smoking Cessation Clinic, Royal London Hospital – Staffed by psychologists, 

this service offers intensive support in the form of weekly group or individual 
sessions from two weeks prior to quitting to four weeks after quitting. 
Ongoing support is available for up to one year at weekly drop-in sessions. 
The clinic also provides a specialist service for pregnant women and their 
partners, and workplace-based sessions on a bespoke basis. 

• Pharmacists and other health care professionals - Almost all pharmacists in 
the borough as well as hundreds of other health care professionals in 
numerous settings are trained and registered smoking cessation advisers 
and are able to provide one-to-one advice. In addition, the PCT has just 
commissioned a local enhanced service for smoking cessation to be 
delivered through GP surgeries. 

 
74. Specialist services include: 
• Bengali Tobacco Cessation Project – This specifically aimed at members of 

the Bangladeshi community in Tower Hamlets who smoke or chew tobacco 
with paan. The project workers speak Bengali and have both male and 
female workers to allow for cultural sensitivities. The PCT is also carrying out 
a pilot smoking cessation project in the East London Mosque, where the 
majority of worshippers are Bangladeshi it is anticipated this will be continued 
and expanded on completion of the pilot. 

• Neighbours in Poplar – Poplar is one of the most deprived parts of the 
borough and contains some of the most deprived super output areas (small 
areas used by the census on average approximately 1500 people) in the 
country. The project is for vulnerable people living at home in the Poplar area 
of Tower Hamlets. 

• Ocean Somali Community Association – This is specifically aimed at 
members of the Somali community in Tower Hamlets. 

• Positive East – for people living with HIV and those who care for them. 

 
75. The PCT’s current plans for improving access to smoking cessation services 

for hard to reach groups in 2007/08 is looking to address the weaknesses of 
previous campaigns and develop much more targeted interventions for 
groups of smokers. The PCT have commissioned two separate social 
marketing interventions to increase uptake of smoking cessation services 
specifically for Bangladeshi men and an intervention focused on prevention of 
uptake amongst young people. There is also an ongoing peer education 
project being piloted in a secondary school which if successful will be rolled 
out across all the local authority secondary schools in the borough.  

 
76. Tower Hamlets PCT have also commissioned 4 community groups (one in 

each locality) to deliver the health trainer initiative. As the organisations 
develop they will have an increasing role in both delivering smoking cessation 

Page 230



 

 22

sessions and signposting people into other stop smoking services in the 
communities in which they are based.  

 
77.  An analysis of activity across the main providers of smoking cessation 

services in 2007 shows a contribution to quits of 37% by community 
providers, 23% from Pharmacists, 27% from the Specialist service and 11% 
by a range of primary care providers (GPs, Nurses and Counsellors) The quit 
rate is on average 36% and this varies quite considerably between service 
providers (in the range 60% to 20%). Similarly the cost per quit varies from 
around £500 per quit in the specialist unit to £250 per quit for community 
providers. 

 
78. The Panel were keen that the PCT capitalise on the success of voluntary and 

community groups in achieving successful number of quit attempts, as this is 
probably indicates greater knowledge and experience of the needs of specific 
groups within our community.  

 
79. The November stakeholder event to review the draft Tobacco Control 

Strategy looked at how to identify and target difficult to reach groups. The 
groups in the borough were identified as Mental Health service users, 
teenagers and pre-teens, people who are housebound, elderly, who have 
disabilities or who do not go outside the home for cultural reasons. Other 
‘hard to reach’ groups are Black and Minority Ethnic groups, Shisha smokers 
and users of other types of tobacco or smokeless tobacco. Some of the 
solutions suggested in the discussion included a greater emphasis on 
relationship building with smokers, health bars to provide diversionary 
activities, cash for quitting and the need for sustained interventions.  

 
Smokeless Tobacco 
 

Review Objective: 
To consider the strategies in place for the regulation and cessation of chewing 
tobacco (including Paan) and whether these products carry the legal health 
notices to the required standard.  

 
 
80. Smokeless tobacco includes many different types of tobacco that you can 

chew, suck or inhale. Almost all brands of smokeless tobacco cause mouth 
cancer. In the UK, chewing tobacco is most common amongst South Asian 
communities and chewing paan in particular is a very old cultural practice. 
Most types of smokeless tobacco contain at least 28 different chemicals that 
can cause cancer and contain as much, if not more nicotine as smoked 
tobacco products. People who use smokeless tobacco absorb three to four 
times as much nicotine as smokers. The nicotine is absorbed more slowly 
and stays in the blood for a longer time.  

 
81. There is little accurate information on the extent of use of oral tobacco 

products. There are also wide differences between the type of tobacco 
products used by different ethnic groups within the borough. It is known that 
Bangladeshi people are much more likely to both smoke and chew tobacco 

Page 231



 

 23

and betel liquid, than the general population. This puts our Bangladeshi 
residents at a much higher risk of mouth cancer. The health risks of using 
Paan include the ingestion of tobacco (a carcinogen), and the consumption of 
areca nut which is a major cause of Oral Submucous Fibrosis (which causes 
oral stiffness and a problem opening and closing the mouth) and the 
development of precancerous lesions. Cancer Research UK have funded a 
pilot project in the borough to raise awareness of mouth cancer amongst the 
Bangladeshi part of the Community.  

 
82. As part of this project four hundred adults who smoke or chew tobacco or 

betel liquid were surveyed. Less than half recognised chewing tobacco as a 
risk and only 64% knew that smoking can cause mouth cancer. Just 18% 
were aware that chewing betel quid without tobacco still increases mouth 
cancer risk.  

 
83. In reviewing the wider range of communication strategies, enforcement work 

and tobacco cessation services, Members identified a gap across all work 
streams on tackling the issue of oral or smokeless tobacco consumption.  

 
84. The Panel also discussed a briefing on the legality of oral tobacco products. 

Although these products are legal they are subject to the same health 
warning and labelling regulations which cover all tobacco products.  

 
85. Members recommended that the profile of health risks around non-cigarette 

tobacco products needs to be raised amongst the groups that use them. 
There is also greater potential for cultural tobacco products to be marketed at 
children because of their bright colours, shiny wrappers and cheap cost. 
These products often enter the UK without duty added because they are 
imported as food (spices) products and there are very serious issues around 
the listing of ingredients and appropriate labelling, with products claiming to 
be tobacco free when they are not.  

 
86. The mystery shopping exercise carried out by trading standards officer and 

Councillor Stephanie Eaton revealed widespread failure of correct labelling 
on these products. Purchased products either had no or inadequate health 
warnings and/or limited or no information on the ingredients. The Panel 
recommends that leaflets for both businesses and consumers be produced to 
highlight the risks of both selling and using oral tobacco products. These 
products have also been sent for content analysis and Members are keen to 
see the findings inform the production of the leaflets.  

 
 

Page 232



 

 24

  
 
 
 

Page 233



 

 25

Chapter 5 – Conclusion and Recommendations 
 

87. This section draws the key findings of the review together and makes a 
number of recommendations that we feel will contribute to improving Tobacco 
and Smoking Cessation in the Tower Hamlets.  

 
88. The National Institute for Clinical Excellence recently concluded that reducing 

smoking prevalence among people in routine and manual groups, some 
minority ethnic groups and disadvantaged communities will help reduce 
health inequalities more than any other public health measure. It is therefore 
important that the new Tower Hamlets Tobacco Control Strategy includes 
challenging targets and delivers tangible improvements in health outcomes 
related to tobacco consumption.  

 
Recommendation 1 
 
That the Tobacco Control Alliance include an elected member to reflect the 
health scrutiny role and raise the profile of this work. 
 

 
89. In reviewing the composition and terms of reference of the Tobacco Control 

Alliance, Members were keen to see direct responsibility for the 
accompanying Communications Strategy to be added to the remit of the 
alliance. 

  
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Communications Strategy accompanying the Tobacco Control 
Strategy be overseen by the Tobacco Control Alliance. 

 
 

90. The analysis of communications strategies covering the full range of tobacco 
control interventions in the borough highlighted both successful measures as 
well as gaps in communication work as did the outcomes from the November 
2007 stakeholder event for the strategy. The adoption of the Smokefree 
brand has clear benefits in terms of resourcing these products, the 
consistency of the stop smoking message and building a recognisable brand. 
Members were keen however for communication materials to reflect local 
issues particularly when targeting hard to reach groups and that there should 
be better analysis of what works well. Smokefree also excludes messages 
about use of other types of tobacco.  

 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Communications Strategy, design of future campaigns and resources 
for tobacco cessation publicity reflect the community of Tower Hamlets and take 
account of the results of social marketing exercises commissioned by the 
Primary Care Trust. 
 

 

Page 234



 

 26

 
Recommendation 4 
 
That communications resources be developed to target the users of all types of 
tobacco consumption, including chewing tobacco, paan and sheesha pipe 
smoking. 
 

 
 

91.  There is a lack of up to date information on smoking prevalence as well as 
what helps to motivate people to quit. The Smoking cessation helplines are 
well used and much more needs to be done to capture information to help 
profile smokers, understand their needs and what worked to help them 
contact a cessation service. The migration of the helpline to the Council 
offers opportunities to improve the type and levels of data held on people 
accessing cessation services. 

 
Recommendation 5 
 
That the Tobacco Control Unit develop a service level agreement with the new 
helpline provider to capture information to help understand user’s needs and to 
gauge the effectiveness of communications resources.  
 

 
92. we are awaiting the outcome of the laboratory tests on tobacco products from 

the enforcement and mystery shopping visits during the review. Where 
appropriate we wish to see the results used in local tobacco cessation 
campaigns. 

 
93. Members would like to endorse the proposals in the draft Tobacco Control 

Strategy and action plan and strongly support the request to maintain the 
level of funding at £230,000 which was the initial grant sum provided by the 
Government for 2007/08. The programme of activities outlined in the action 
plan have the potential to make a much wider impact on reducing smoking 
prevalence compared to stand alone enforcement activity. During the course 
of the review the Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust have agreed to fund the 
programme. Members welcome this outcome and would like to encourage 
future work to implement the strategy beyond 2009 to also be secured 
through the Council or the Primary Care Trust. A longer term funding solution 
would also enable the joint tobacco control partnership to have a more 
strategic role. 

 
94. The enforcement visits highlighted the benefits of a light touch approach to 

enforcing the smoking ban and in working with businesses that sell tobacco. 
Whilst this reflects the Government guidance on implementing the new 
legislation in 2007 it is equally important that work carried out by enforcement 
officers is recorded in a way that demonstrates the outputs and outcomes 
from that work.  

 
Recommendation 6 

Page 235



 

 27

 
That the Trading Standards Team develops a business plan to demonstrate the 
time and effort involved in enforcement, education and support activities. 
 

 
 

95. The evidence is that health care professionals can play a pivotal role in 
delivering the stop tobacco use message to the patients they see and to offer 
advice and appropriate referrals. This is currently an under utilised resource 
and there are barriers both perceived and actual to healthcare workers taking 
on this role. The panel agree that there should be a training programme for 
health care professionals to overcome these barriers and to encourage them 
to be more motivated about taking on this important public health role.  

 
Recommendation 7 
 
That the Primary Care Trust introduce measures to ensure all health 
professionals working in hospital or community settings offer advice to change 
smoking habits and refer smokers to services to help them quit, whenever 
possible. 
 

 
 

96.  The current range of smoking cessation services are good but there is a 
need to improve the flexibility of these services and the way they are 
provided. Members welcomed plans to re-invigorate the pool of advisers 
available as well as plans to recruit and train more. 

 
 

Recommendation 8 
 
That the PCT commission more Level 1 and Level 2 Smoking Cessation 
advisors and develop an action plan to re-energise inactive advisers.  
 

 
 
97. A recent analysis of the role of local smoking cessation services in achieving 

quits highlighted the importance of community organisations accounting for 
39% of quits in 2007. The Panel were keen that the PCT capitalise on the 
success of voluntary and community groups in achieving successful number 
of quit attempts. 

 
 

Recommendation 9 
 
That the PCT commission more voluntary and community sector organisations 
including exploring options through the Tower Hamlets Partnership to deliver 
smoking cessation services. 
 

 

Page 236



 

 28

Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets 
 
To find out more about Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets  
 
Please contact 
 
Scrutiny Policy Team 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
6th Floor, Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 2BG 
 
 
Tel: 020 7364 4548 
E-Mail: shanara.matin@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
 
 

Page 237



Page 238

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
Wednesday 30th 
July 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted 
 

 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
Corporate Director, Communities 
Localities & Culture 
 
Originating officer(s)  
Shazia Hussain – Interim Director THP  

Title:  
TH Partnership Governance Refresh 
 
Wards Affected:  
All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides the Terms of Reference for the TH Partnership 

Governance Refresh. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Approve the proposed Governance Structure for the Tower Hamlets 

Partnership, attached at Appendix 1 to the report and agree implementation 
from September 2008. 

 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 (As amended) Section 100D  

List of  “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of  “back ground papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

Appendix 1 - Governance Structure 
Terms of Reference 

Shazia Hussain, Interim Director, Tower 
Hamlets Partnership 
Communities Localities & Culture, 
Anchorage House (4th Floor), 2 Clove 
Crescent 
0207 364 4470 

 
     

Agenda Item 10.1

Page 239



 2 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Tower Hamlets Partnership has been refreshing the Community Plan and 

developing a new Local Area Agreement (LAA) during 2007/08.  As part of the 
Community Plan refresh the Partnership has taken the opportunity to refresh its 
governance structures to ensure they are fit for purpose to deliver the new 
Community Plan 2020 and are in line with Changing Government legislation, 
including the White Paper on Strong and Prosperous Communities and 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2007.   

 
4. REPORT 
4.1 It was recognised when the Partnership first came into being in 2001 that is 

structures and processes would need to be kept under review to ensure it 
worked effectively and in line with local, regional and national developments.  In 
period of cost efficiency, a greater emphasis on the duty to involve and an 
increasing emphasis on joint partnership performance and assessments, a 
review has been carried out.  The Partnership carried out 3 Partnership Away 
Days, February 07, September 07 and February 08 on the Community Plan and 
Governance Refresh.   

 
4.2 The Partnership Away Day on the 9th February 2008 agreed five aspects of 

effective partnerships that have been considered in developing these Terms of 
Reference: 
– Trust between partners 
– Understanding of the cultures and aims of different partners 
– Shared values 
– Common vision 
– Clarity about working arrangements 
– Arrangements for resolving differences 

 
4.3 The Terms of Reference attached (Appendix 1) have now been agreed and 

approved by the Partnership Management Group and are timetabled for 
implementation in September 2008. 

 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 This report sets out the terms of reference for Tower Hamlets partnership, no 

specific financial implications arise from the report 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 
6.1 No specific legal implications arise from the report. 
 
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 240



 3 

7.1 The Partnership is undertaking a “super” Equalities Impact Assessment of its 
structure and function over summer 2008 to assess its impact on and deliver to 
the six equality strands. 

 
8. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 No specific implications. 
 
9. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
9.1 No specific implications.  The Partnership will have responsibility for agreeing 

priorities, targets and strategy through development and regular review of the 
Community Plan, as well as monitoring and ensuring the delivery of the 
Partnership’s priorities as set out in the Community Plan and Local Area 
Agreement.  

 
10. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 No specific implications. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Tower Hamlets Partnership Governance Structure 

Page 241



Page 242

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

1  
Re-thinking Governance  

 
Terms of Reference 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Page 243



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 1 

What’s changed and why: 
 

• The three strands of the partnership will remain, but with redefined roles 
that  

o improve ‘internal’ and ‘external’ partnership accountability 
o align the LAA process with the CPAGs 
o provide a stronger focus on delivery of improved outcomes 
o develop a joint partnership performance framework 
o ensure clear Partnership communication  
 

Outcomes: 
• Long term  - deliver the Community Plan strategy, vision and outcomes  
• Medium term - deliver the Local Area Agreement targets and locally 
defined priorities 

• Short term - engage stakeholders so that they can make a contribution to 
the design and delivery of the above through local priority setting  

 
 
The 3 Spheres: 
Strategic Co-ordination – WHAT 
With 2 key parts: 

- Partnership Board   
- Partnership Executive 
 

Strategic Delivery function – HOW at a strategic level 
5 Community Plan Delivery Groups 

1. Children and Young Peoples Partnership  
2. Safer Communities 
3. A Good Place for Living 
4. Healthy and Supportive Communities 
5. Prosperous Communities 

 
The Locality Delivery function - HOW at a local level –  
8 local Area Partnerships (LAPs) 
Local Delivery Networks in each LAP area. 
 
The frequency – WHEN 
 
The Board will meet 4 times a year, all other meetings will be bi-monthly.  The 
bi-monthly meetings should ensure the Delivery Groups meet one month and 
feed outcomes into the LAP SG which meet in the alternate month.  This will 
ensure a constant state of debate and delivery to inform the work of the 
Partnership Executive. 
 

Page 244



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 2 

 
Partnership Board:  
The Board would ensure wide scale involvement of all partners and have overall 
responsibility for the delivery of the Community Plan.  It will involve local 
residents and key players from the public, private, community and voluntary 
sector.   
 
Proposed membership 
 

• Leader of the Council as the Chair of the Partnership 
• Lead Member for Regeneration, Localisation and Community Partnerships 
• Resident Vice Chairs from the Local Area Partnerships 
• Partner Chairs of the Community Plan Delivery Groups 
• Faith leaders from the principal faith groups (A Muslim and Christian 
representative invited from the Inter Faith Forum) 

• The Young Mayor and Deputy Young Mayor 
• 2 Third Sector representatives from umbrella bodies 
• 2 Business representatives 
• The Chief Executive of Tower Hamlets Council 
• The Chief Executive of the Primary Care Trust 
• The Borough Commander, Metropolitan Police 
• Chair of the Tower Hamlets Housing Forum 
• The Chief Executive of Job Centre Plus 
• The Borough Commander for the Fire Brigade  
 

 
Its role: 
Acting as the governing body of the partnership it will have responsibility for the 
following: 

• overseeing an effective strategic partnership 
• agreeing priorities, targets and strategy through development and regular 
review of the Community Plan 

• monitoring and ensuring the delivery of the Partnership’s priorities as set 
out in the Community Plan and Local Area Agreement 

 
Meetings will normally be closed to allow for consistent attendance and dialogue, 
with only resident observers permitted. However, one meeting a year may be 
open to provide a more consultative process. All members would have the 
opportunity to make proposals, ask questions and raise objections but only for 
the best interest of the Partnership and on behalf of their spheres of the 
Partnership (Delivery Groups and LAPs).  Each member would be expected to 
sign up to a code of conduct which outlines their roles and responsibilities as well 
as commitments.  This would be part of the Partnership Charter. 
 

Page 245



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 3 

 
The Board will meet 4 times a year.  Intelligence provided to this board will come 
from the Partnership Executive. 
 
Meeting 1 – Progress Review and Priority Setting (End November):  
This meeting will review progress on key annual targets (LAA and local priorities) 
and inform the forthcoming priorities. It will be aligned with the budget setting 
process of the Council and where possible other partners such as the police and 
the PCT.    Joint budget setting priorities with the Partnership priorities will 
identify risks to delivery and a review of commissioning approaches over the next 
annual cycle. 
 
Performance information will be circulated prior to the meeting to allow for any 
questions to be put forward before the open meeting takes place, and solutions 
explored in time for the meeting, enabling informed and effective decision 
making processes.  
 
Meeting 2 – planning and commissioning activity (February):  
With priorities established in meeting 1, this meeting will review where 
mainstream services will deliver improvement, and where joint commissioning 
needs to take place.  All commissioning should contribute to improvements set 
out in the LAA targets, and reflect locality priorities.  
 
Meeting 3 – Mid cycle monitoring (May):  
This meeting is an opportunity to check that commissioning has taken place as 
agreed at the last meeting, consider the SWOT analysis of achieving targets by 
the end of the year, and make necessary amendments/interventions where 
required in order to achieve success. 
 
Meeting 4 – Monitoring   
Review and monitor progress in line with the above.  Initiate discussions about 
future priorities and agree data required for next meeting.   
 
In between this meeting and the first meeting of the next cycle, a series of public 
workshops will be conducted (similar to the Community Plan workshops 
conducted last year), and the outcomes available in time for the next meeting.  
This will double up as the Council’s budget consultation (which is a statutory 
requirement).  
 
Meeting 4 will agree the focus of those workshops in line with discussions 
throughout the year. 
 

Page 246



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 4 

In addition, the Partnership will host a cross Borough Partnership day to help 
raise the profile of the work of the Partnership or to highlight a particular priority, 
reflecting the LAA targets and community plan aspirations. 
 
Partnership Executive:  
 
The Executive will be chaired by the Leader of the Council in his/her capacity as 
Chair of the Partnership and to ensure a clear link with the Partnership Board.  
The Lead Members for Regeneration, Localisation and Community Partnership, 
and Employment and Skills will have a standing invite to all meetings. 
 
The Partnership Executive can only take decisions that are within the powers 
delegated to chief officers by their respective organisations and is not a decision 
making body in its own right. 
 
The principal role of the executive will be to bring together the most senior 
officers of those organisations primarily responsible for delivering public services 
in Tower Hamlets, so that: 
 

• Management actions in each of the partner organisations are co-ordinated 
and designed to optimise and accelerate delivery of the Community Plan; 

• Performance management of LAA targets is overseen by chief officers at a 
partnership level; 

• Opportunities for co-operation, shared services and efficiency are identified 
and realised; 

• Actions that require Board level approval (e.g. Cabinet in the case of the 
Council) are progressed through the governance arrangements of each of 
the delivery organisations. 

 
Proposed membership 
 

• Leader of the Council as Chair of the Partnership 
• Chief Executive of Tower Hamlets Council 
• Chief Executive of the Primary Care Trust 
• Borough Commander, Metropolitan Police 
• Chair of the Tower Hamlets Housing Forum 
• Chief Executive of a Third Sector Umbrella Body 
• Chief Executive of Job Centre Plus 

 
Standing invitation 
 
• Lead Member for Regeneration, Localisation and Community Partnership 
• Lead Member for Employment and Skills 

 

Page 247



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 5 

 
 
The Executive will bring the key elements of the work of the existing Excellent 
Public Services CPAG and the LAA Cross Block meetings. It will meet 4 times 
annually 3 weeks before the Partnership Board meets to inform dialogue.  
 
It will have the key function of strategic co-ordination for the Partnership with 
responsibility for implementing the decisions of the Partnership Board, to which it 
will be directly accountable.  
 
The Executive will bring together the chief officers of the main partners as well as 
the voluntary and community sector umbrella body. Its overall purpose will be to 
drive delivery of the Local Area Agreement and the Community Plan.  A key 
responsibility for the group will be to ensure the One Tower Hamlets theme 
crosses all areas of work and reflect key borough wide initiatives such as the 
Olympics.   
 
It will be tasked with bringing challenge, ambition, acceleration and excellence to 
the quality and improvement of services across Tower Hamlets. In particular, the 
remit will be to focus on risks to delivery and identify and broker solutions.  
 
It will: 

• refer issues, and report to, the Partnership Board; 
• be responsible for joint strategic ‘horizon gazing’, development and 
delivery; 

• align and coordinate mainstream budgets to support partnership working; 
• provide cross-partnership challenge; 
• identify and broker solutions to any barriers to delivery; 
• task and commission activity to implement these solutions;   
• have a close working relationship with each of the 5 CPDGs who will be 
held to account for the Community Plan and LAA targets identified under 
their themes. The 5 CPDGs will report quarterly to the executive on 
progress and potential risks.   

 
Community Plan Delivery Groups (Delivery Groups):  
There will be 5 Delivery Groups:  

 
1. Children and Young Peoples Partnership  
2. Safer Community 
3. A Great Place for Living 
4. Healthy and Supportive Community 
5. Prosperous Community 

 

Page 248



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 6 

Their primary purpose will be to deliver the key Local Area Agreement and 
Community Plan targets and initiatives within their thematic area and 
accelerate service improvement. 
 
They will do this by: 
� Helping to deliver the Community Plan strategy; 
� Developing borough wide and local strategies; 
� establishing an annual delivery plan to delivery of the relevant LAA 
targets; 
� using the annual delivery plan to identify gaps and bring a cross-
partnership problem solving approach to service improvement; 
� using existing and new budgets to jointly commission activity to deliver 
the agreed LAA and Community Plan; 
� promoting and extending joined up working and shaping mainstream 
services to achieve agreed goals; 
� establishing ways to work together across partners to implement the 
plan. 
� identifying emerging needs and priorities in consultation with LAPs and 
relevant local groups (through the Local Delivery Networks);  
� agreeing local initiatives to address service acceleration; 
� regularly joining up the local and borough wide priorities; 
� gathering and reviewing evidence and local intelligence to inform 
decisions and forward planning; 
� developing joint performance systems and frameworks 
� developing business excellence models for service improvement. 

 
It is important to note that two of the five Delivery Groups are statutory 
partnerships and these will also have separate lines of accountability. 
 
Membership will be made up of lead cabinet member and relevant partner 
agency officers needed to deliver the annual delivery plans.  All groups will be 
able to establish sub groups where required.   
 
The Delivery Groups will be: 

- Co-Chaired by a relevant lead member and a lead partner 
- Corporate Director from the Council will act as the Chief Operating Officer 

 
Suggested (but not exhaustive) Membership: 
 
Children and Young Peoples Partnership  
Co-Chaired Corporate Director of Children Services and Lead member for 
Children Services. 
Membership stays as current except the LOC rep will be replaced with a 
representative from the Education & Improvement Partnership 

Page 249



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 7 

Tower Hamlets Housing Forum rep 
 
 
Safer Community 
Suggested membership: 
Co-Chaired by Borough Commander Lead member for Cleaner, Safer, Greener 
Chief Operating Officer  
COO - LBTH CEO 
Service Head Community Safety 
Service Head Youth and Community Learning 
London Fire Service 
Probation Service 
Thames Magistrate Services 
AHWB / Adult Protection rep 
D&R planning / regen rep (Master planning team) 
Third Sector Representative Bodies that reflect the diversity of the remit 
Tower Hamlets Housing Forum rep 
 
A Great Place for Living 
Suggested membership: 
Co-Chaired by Chair of THHF and Lead member for Culture and Leisure 
COO - Communities Localities and Culture Corporate Director 
Service Head of Public Realm  
Service Head of Culture 
Service Head of Strategy  
CEO of Leaside Regeneration 
TFL 
Third Sector Representative Bodies that reflect the diversity of the remit 
Thames Gateway   
Children's Services / AHWB reps 
Play Association, Tower Hamlets Representative 
Third Sector Representative Bodies that reflect the diversity of the remit 
Tower Hamlets Housing Forum rep 
 
 
Healthy and Supportive Community 
Suggested membership: 
Co-Chaired by lead CEO of PCT and Lead member for Health and Wellbeing 
COO – Corporate Director of Adult Services 
Director of Public Health 
Director of Primary Care 
Mental Health Trust 
Barts and London 
Adult Services Corporate Director 

Page 250



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 8 

Service Head Disability and Health 
Service Head Culture 
Age Concern 
Children’s social care rep 
ECM ‘Be Healthy’ Lead (PCT) 
LINk representative 
Adult Services Providers Forum Rep 
Third Sector Representative Bodies that reflect the diversity of the remit 
Tower Hamlets Housing Forum rep 
 
 
Prosperous Community 
Suggested membership: 
Co-Chaired by CEO of ELBA and Lead member for Employment and Skills 
COO - Corporate Director of Development and Renewal 
Canary Wharf Group 
Job Centre Plus 
Metropolitan University 
LSC 
Tower Hamlets College 
Corporate Employer 
Service Head of Young People and Learning 
LDA 
Chair of TH Business forum 
AHWB rep(s) 
Housing Strategy rep 
D&R planning / regen rep 
Tower Hamlets Community Legal Services Partnership 
Tower Hamlets Education Business Partnership 
Third Sector Representative Bodies that reflect the diversity of the remit 
Tower Hamlets Housing Forum rep 
 
 
LAP Steering Groups:  
8 Local Area Partnership steering groups across the borough, 2 wards in each 
LAP area except LAP 1 – which has 3 wards. 
 
Purpose of the LAPs will be to: 

• help deliver the Partnership’s objectives and to contribute to performance 
against the targets  set out in the Local Area Agreement; 

• develop innovative approaches to the delivery of key targets at a local level 
based on gathering intelligence, promoting joint working and joint problem 
solving at a local level; 

Page 251



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 9 

• work with the CPDGs to agree local activities and projects directly linked 
into the LAA targets most relevant for focus in their LAP area; 

• review and monitor localised evidence on performance and outcomes to 
inform action planning; 

• develop local participation and empowerment; 
• help build local capacity; 
• channel entrepreneurial energy. 

 
Each LAP will meet bi-monthly and have a membership of 26: 
15 residents 
6 Ward Councillors 
5 service providers reflecting the 5 Delivery Groups 
 
Membership will be for 2 years.  
 
Each LAP will have a Chair who will be one of the ward Councillors and a Vice- 
Chair who will be a resident member. All resident members will be invited to join 
through a formal application process, identifying their skills and relevance to the 
local priorities. 
 
Steering groups will be closed with resident observers permitted at the meetings. 
 

 The LAP should ensure that as far as possible resident members  are broadly 
 reflective of residents of the area. This means that the LAP should have 
 regard to gender, age and ethnicity of resident members as well as ensuring  that 
 the different wards that make up the LAP are reflected in a reasonably equitable 
 manner.  

 
Each LAP will be expected to work with the Delivery Groups to agree a set of 
priority projects/activities for their local area to help deliver the LAA and the 
Community Plan.  These will be developed in consultation with the Delivery 
Groups and based on robust data including: 

• Performance and statistical data 
• Financial data 
• The views of local residents 

 
Each Steering Group will be expected to host 4 LAP open meetings – these will 
be in line with the 4 Partnership Board meetings and will ensure that when the 
Chairs of the LAP attend the Partnership Board meetings they are representing 
the local views and priorities.  These events will be the opportunity for greater 
participation in setting local priorities and engaging in delivery of the Community 
Plan.  The steering group members will be held to account at these meetings and 
will be expected to show progress against priorities. 
 

Page 252



 
 
 

 
 

 

The Tower Hamlets Partnership 

Participation, representation and leadership 
A balanced approach to governance 1

 
Local Delivery Networks: 
Each LAP Steering group will have an overarching principle that they will engage 
with Local Delivery Networks in their locality to improve service delivery. Local 
Delivery Networks will be developed through the Local Management Team.  
 
Partnership Support: 
In addition, and serviced by the Strategy and Performance team, there will be a 
Partnership Support Group along the lines of the Community Plan Officers 
Working Group which has developed the current Community Plan.  This officer 
Group will include leads on performance/policy/strategy from the key Council 
Directorates and Partner agencies to oversee policy development and delivery 
arrangements. 
 
Participation & Engagement 
The participation of residents in shaping services will be coordinated by the 
Participation & Engagement team.  They will develop a Centre for Good Practice 
that supports services in: 
 

o identifying hard to reach groups;  
o identifying appropriate methods of engagement;  
o developing a coordinated and targeted feedback process of all 

participatory activities. 
 
 

Page 253



Page 254

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Date Classification Report No. Agenda Item  
Cabinet  30TH July 2008 Unrestricted   
Report of Title 
Corporate Director of Resources  
Corporate Director of Development & 
Renewal  
Corporate Director for Communities 
Localities and Culture 
 
 

 
WORKING NEIGHBOURHOODS FUND  
 
 
Ward(s) Affected                     ALL 

 

1 SUMMARY 
1.1. The Working Neighbourhoods Fund (WNF) is a new funding stream announced by 

the Government in December 2007. As part of the Area Based Grant pool, WNF is 
a non-ringfenced grant.  However, the Government has made it clear that the main 
purpose for which the grant has been allocated, and the basis on which it has been 
distributed to local authorities, is for the purposes of tackling worklessness in local 
communities.  This objective sits comfortably with the strategic objectives of the 
Council and Tower Hamlets Partnership and addresses a significant local issue.  

1.2. This report sets out the challenges in addressing worklessness in Tower Hamlets 
and recommends priorities for the Working Neighbourhoods Fund and a process 
for commissioning proposals for its effective use.  
  

2 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
Cabinet is recommended to;  
 
2.1. Note the level of WNF funding available in 2008/09 and the two subsequent 

financial years.  
2.2. Agree the commissioning strategy for the Working Neighbourhoods Fund set 

out at Appendix A  
2.3. Agree the commissioning process involving the Tower Hamlets Partnership 

set out at Appendix B,  including addressing the key issues for decision in 
section 4 

 

Agenda Item 10.2

Page 255



 
3 BACKGROUND 

 
3.1. The Working Neighbourhoods Fund is a non-ring fenced part of the Area Based 

Grant. Tower Hamlets has been allocated funding as follows  
 

2008/09  £10.294m 
2009/10  £11.054m 
2010/11         £11.250m.  

 
3.2. The WNF was launched jointly by the Department for Communities and Local 

Government and the Department for Work and Pensions in December 2007.   
 

3.3. The WNF has been allocated to authorities to provide resources to tackle 
worklessness and low levels of skills and enterprise in the most deprived areas. 
The Government has stated that there will be a reward grant element on the basis 
of achievement of worklessness based LAA targets.  
 

3.4. As part of the Area Based Grant, the authority is free to allocate the funding entirely 
in accordance with its own priorities.  However since worklessness is a significant 
local issue which figures prominently amongst community priorities, it is appropriate 
that this grant should be allocated substantially to tackling worklessness issues.  

 
3.5. This report proposes: 

 
A strategic context within which this fund should be allocated and managed 
[Appendix A] 
 
An outline process of decision for the commissioning of specific proposals 
[Appendix B].  
 

3.6. The Working Neighbourhoods Fund supersedes the Neighbourhood Renewal 
Fund, which operated between 2001 and 2008 and was used in Tower Hamlets to 
fund partnership interventions at local and Borough level to address all Community 
Plan themes.  The NRF was also used to provide funding for the partnership 
infrastructure, and it is proposed that this should continue, although it will be 
necessary for the costs of the partnership infrastructure to reduce in line the 
reduction in funding between NRF and WNF.  

 
It is important to recognise the extent to which WNF contrasts with the broader 
objectives of the NRF. In the case of the latter the focus was a range of 
neighbourhood renewal activity to tackle deprivation, In the case of the former the 
key Government guidance on WNF describes it as a more focused approach 
targeting worklessness in deprived areas. 1 The guidance introduces the new WNF 
as ‘part of a concerted drive to get people off welfare and into training and work’ 
                                                           
1 The Working Neighbourhoods Fund, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Department for Work and Pensions, November 2007 

Page 256



and as aiming to ‘stimulate councils working with communities to take a fresh look 
at the problems of worklessness, and find proactive and innovative solutions which 
build on achievements to date.’ 

 
 
3.7. 2008/09 is a year of transition between the NRF and WNF regimes.  In view of this, 

while the process for allocating WNF has been developed, a relatively small 
number of NRF interventions which are broadly consistent with the NRF criteria 
have been allowed to continue until 30th September 2008. This list has been agreed 
with the Partnership Management Group. In addition, some elements of the NRF 
Living Well Programme are also continuing until 30th September, funded from NRF 
resources carried forward for the purpose from previous financial years.  A full list 
of run-off schemes is included at Appendix C.   

  
3.9. The table sets out the WNF funding that is available during the period 2008/09-

2010/11, although it should be noted that allocations for later years are currently 
indicative; 
 

 
 2008/09 

£000s 
2009/10 
£000s 

2010/11 
£000s 

Working Neighbourhood Fund grant 
allocation  

10,294 11,054 11,250 
Neighbourhood Renewal Funds carried 
forward from previous years  

 938  NIL  NIL  
 11,232 11,054 11,250 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund schemes  
1st April -30th September 2008  

3,180 NIL  NIL  
Partnership costs (net of partner 
contributions in 2008/09)  

970 1,892 1,892 
Balance of WNF funding available  7,082 9,162 9,358 

  
 

4. Process 
 
The context for the working neighbourhoods fund is set out in Appendix A. 
 
As with its predecessor, the Neighbourhood Renewal Fund (NRF), it is proposed to 
manage the allocation of WNF and the delivery of outcomes through the Tower 
Hamlets Partnership, thus providing the opportunity to target resources for optimum 
benefit at community level.  The proposals in this report benefit from several years 
experience of delivering NRF projects in this way, and take account of the current 
review of the working of the partnership. Working in this way, we aim to leverage 
the skills and expertise of not only our key public and private sector partners but 
also established relationships with the Third Sector. 
 
The Strategy paper has been developed by officers from Development and 
Renewal, the Partnership, Resources Directorate and Strategy and Performance.  
The paper was considered by a group of cross-Partnership officer representatives 
and by Corporate Management Team on 2nd June.  

Page 257



 
The outline commissioning process is based on decisions taken by the Council and 
the Partnership Management Board and seeks to learn lessons from the allocation 
of Neighbourhood Renewal Funding (NRF) to ensure that resources are allocated 
strategically within a clear commissioning approach.  Further detail underlying the 
outline process is being developed by Partnership officers.  
 
A process for rigorous audit and performance management of commissioned spend 
and activity is also being developed, led by officers in the Resources Directorate.  
The process will be integrated within the new Partnership governance structures 
and performance management arrangements. 
 
 
 
 

5 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
5.1       Programmes to tackle worklessness in local communities will assist in the 

improvement of the economic and social well-being of those communities and 
funding in whole or part is authorised under Section 2 Local Government Act 2000. 

5.2       There are no specific legal implications arising from this report though as the 
initiative is pursued it is likely that matters giving rise to legal consequences will 
arise and these will be addressed as and when necessary 

 
6 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
The Working Neighbourhoods Fund is a new funding stream from the Government 
covering the period 1st April 2008- 31st March 2011. It has been allocated as part of 
the Area Based Grant pool and is, therefore, a non-ringfenced grant.  The 
Government has, however, announced that the main purpose of the grant is to 
tackle worklessness in deprived areas and has indicated reward elements if LAA 
worklessness targets are achieved.  
 
The process outlined in the report would commission work on the basis of agreed 
priorities and seek specific and measurable outcomes.   Whilst it is proposed that 
the grant should be allocated through the Partnership, the accountable body for the 
grant is the Council and systems and procedures will need to put in place to ensure 
the grant is spent in accordance with priorities 
 
Other financial implications are set out in section 3.9.  
 

7         EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
Allocation of grant will need to ensure that commissioned services deliver the 
Council and Partnership’s standards and policies in relation to equal opportunities.  

 

Page 258



8        ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
The purpose of the grant is to tackle worklessness, which also has a direct 
implication for tackling poverty.  
 

9         SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT  
  There are no direct sustainability implications of this report.  
10 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 Systems and procedures put in place to allocate and monitor the achievement of 

outcomes will need to have appropriate regard to risk.  
11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  

 
The process outlined in the report would commission work on the basis of agreed 
priorities and seek specific and measurable outcomes. Monitoring of results and 
performance management against worklessness targets will optimise the extent to 
which the use of this funding is effective in meeting local priorities, and thus 
optimise efficiency.  
 

12 INDEX OF APPENDICES 
Appendix Detailing the following: 

A Working Neighbourhoods Fund Strategy Statement  
B Working Neighbourhoods Fund Commissioning 

Process 

C Neighbourhood Renewal Fund Projects funded until 
30th September 2008 

  
  

  
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 

LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
Brief description of "background 
paper 

 Name and telephone number of holder and address where 
open to inspection 
 

None     
 

Page 259



Appendix A 
 

 Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Strategy Statement 
 
1. National strategic context for WNF  
 
The Working Neighbourhoods Fund (WNF) element of the Area Based Grant has been allocated to 
local authority areas where evidence indicates significant challenges of high numbers of people 
without work and low levels of skills/enterprise.  In contrast with NRF, where the focus was a range 
of neighbourhood renewal activity to tackle deprivation, the key Government guidance on WNF 
describes it as a more focused approach targeting worklessness in deprived areas. 2 The guidance 
introduces the new WNF as ‘part of a concerted drive to get people off welfare and into training and 
work’ and as aiming to ‘stimulate councils working with communities to take a fresh look at the 
problems of worklessness, and find proactive and innovative solutions which build on achievements 
to date.’ 
 
WNF is not just about money.  It is about new ways of working. The new approach recognises that 
tackling concentrated unemployment in deprived areas requires a localised approach which takes 
account of local issues and the inter-relationship between different types of deprivation.  Therefore 
WNF is allocated as a non ring-fenced element of Area Based Grant to enable the development of 
locally appropriate solutions to address local needs and priorities.  In addition, there is recognition 
that there will be a need to address certain issues on a sub-regional as well as a local basis and 
there is an expectation that future funding of multi-area City Strategy partnerships will draw on WNF 
funding.  
 
2. Local context 
 
• The Tower Hamlets Partnership has agreed its key priorities in the new Community Plan and 

Local Area Agreement.  These priorities have been  informed by needs analysis and local 
consultation. The priorities fit well with the Government’s aims for the Working Neighbourhoods 
Fund.  We have identified the achievement of Prosperous Communities as a key theme – 
focusing on learning and skills, reducing worklessness and fostering enterprise.  The Plan also 
has a key underlying vision of One Tower Hamlets – enabling all our diverse communities to 
fully participate in and benefit from improvement. The Partnership also recognises that high 
levels of worklessness are a key factor in the poor health of the Borough, whilst poor health and 
well being create significant barriers to employment for economically inactive people.  Locally, it 
is also recognised that we should also include a focus on breaking inter-generational cycles of 
deprivation for the most excluded groups through early prevention approaches. This may also 
involve reducing crime and anti-social behaviour to create a borough where both employers and 
employees are safe and secure, As with all initiatives, funding for projects in this area will need 
to be mindful of the primary focus of the WNF, namely to explicitly reduce worklessness. 

 
There is already considerable work in the borough tackling worklessness – in particular as part of 
the City Strategy pilot and through the Employment Task Group’s work delivering our existing 
Regeneration Strategy and Welfare to Work.  This work has given us a strong understanding of 
some of the drivers of worklessness locally.  We do not have a shortage of jobs in Tower Hamlets – 
but local people are not always able to access these.  Specific local issues which we need to 
address include: 
 

- low skills – nearly a quarter of the working population have no formal qualifications3 and 
there are comparatively low levels of young people achieving Level 2 skills levels by 19 and 
a low level of apprenticeships locally; 

- a high number of workless families with two parents out of work, impacting on child poverty 
and creating a culture of worklessness; 

                                                           
2 The Working Neighbourhoods Fund, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Department for Work and Pensions, November 2007 
3 Annual Population Survey, NOMIS 2007 

Page 260



- growing evidence of correlations between parents out of work and young people less likely 
to enter the workforce;  

- a high level of disengagement from the labour market – 54,000 of those out of work are 
economically inactive and 40,000 of those indicate they do not want to work4 ;  

- high levels of those out of work and claiming Incapacity Benefit;  
- low levels of employment for those  with a disability, who are not eligible for Incapacity 

Benefit 
- lower employment rates in ethnic minority communities5, underpinned in some cases by 

poor English language skills;  
- high levels of ‘churn’ with people getting jobs but not always sustaining these6;  
- high housing costs and consequent high levels on housing benefits7 creating risks for those 

who come off benefit to take up employment;  
- high and growing proportion of young people in the local population8 – early intervention 

with those at risk of worklessness to ensure an effective transition from education to 
employment could have considerable impact. 

 
The borough also has considerable opportunities, however, to impact on worklessness.  The 
borough has a strong economy and one of the highest levels of business growth nationally. In 
addition, we have good and improving schools where attainment has been improving above the 
national average.  In 2012, we will be one of the host boroughs for the Olympics and this has the 
potential to provide a catalyst for accelerating improvements in employment. 
 
In view of these issues the Tower Hamlets Partnership has prioritised worklessness and skills within 
its Local Area Agreement targets.  Of the 35 targets, 8 are directly focused on reducing 
worklessness and improving skills levels, as follows: 
 

• NI151 Employment rate 
• NI152 Working age people on out of work benefits 
• NI153 Working age people on out of work benefits in the worst performing neighbourhoods 
• NI146 Adults with learning disabilities into employment 
• NI150 Adults in contact with mental health services into employment 
• NI 79 Achievement of a level 2 qualification by age 19 
• NI 80 Achievement of a level 3 qualification by age 19 
• NI117 16-18 year olds who are not in education, employment or training  
• NI106 Young people from low income backgrounds progressing to higher education 

 
In addition, the following targets focus on early intervention to prevent future worklessness by 
supporting children and young people and, recognising the links between crime and unemployment, 
reducing crime and anti social behaviour: 
 

• NI116 Proportion of children in child poverty 
• NI110 Young people’s participation in positive activities 
• NI112 Under 18 conception rate 
• NI 19 Rate of proven re-offending by young offenders 
• NI 40 Drug users in effective treatment 
• NI 21 Dealing with local concerns about anti-social behaviour and crime by the local council 

and police 
•  

The LAA also includes 16 statutory targets relating to educational attainment, the achievement of 
which will also be key to providing young people with the skills they require to access employment in 
the future. 
 
                                                           
4 Annual Population Survey: 54,000 represents 52.7% under 25, 29.2% 25-49 and 72.6% over 50 
5 Annual Population Survey, NOMIS 
6 12,000 new Job Seekers’ Allowance claimants per year compared to 7,000  helped into work (Job Centre Plus data). SQW 
report for Tower Hamlets (name/date etc.) 
7 86% of Council tenants claim Housing Benefit (Council snapshot, March 2008) 
8 National Census 2001, NOMIS and Greater London Authority Demographic Projections 8.06  

Page 261



Government has indicated that it will be agreeing a smaller number of up to around 5 LAA targets 
which will be subject to WNF reward grant9.  These are yet to be agreed but will need to reflect our 
proposed approach to WNF commissioning. 
 
In line with the recommendations of the recent Overview and Scrutiny report evaluating the use of 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund in the borough, we are taking a strategic commissioning approach to 
the deployment of WNF.  This will take place in the context of the emerging  Employment and 
Enterprise strategies which will set out the local evidence about what needs to be done and produce 
broad action plans essential to make a long term difference.  The strategies will accelerate further 
co-ordination of activities and resources to tackle employment Partnership-wide. 
 
Within the context of these emerging strategies, WNF will be used to commission programmes of 
activity which address the local contextual issues identified in order to help us achieve the LAA 
targets outlined above.  The nature of the local issues will require both short term and long term 
action.  We need to remember, however, that the most effective indicator for measuring progress on 
worklessness is the employment rate. Guidelines on targets have now been published and the 
Government suggested target for Tower Hamlets is 2.5% increase over the 3 years.   This means 
getting in excess of 4000 people at a minimum (the figure is likely to be higher due to migration) into 
work and keeping them there. WNF needs to focus on those interventions which will have a 
significant impact on this number in order that we can demonstrate a clear record of achieving 
results locally putting the Partnership in a stronger position to secure longer term more significant 
resources and funding - and make a case in the future for exercising greater control over 
mainstream national programmes which are not making a difference locally.,  
 
 
3. Commissioning strategy: strategic goals 
 
In order that we maximise the impact of WNF investment, we are proposing a strategic 
commissioning approach based on funding programmes of work which address our locally identified 
issues. These programmes will therefore address three key goals: 
 

1. The short term imperative to get 4000 people into sustainable employment;  
2. The long term goal to prevent our current large population of young people becoming the 

workless of the future – early intervention and prevention. 
3. Targeted work with excluded groups with a clear focus on moving people into employment. 

 
In addition, however, we need to avoid the danger that, in focusing solely on numerical impact, we 
fail to address the needs of the most hard to reach and socially excluded groups.  The Partnership 
has adopted a vision of One Tower Hamlets which needs to be reflected in our approach towards 
tackling worklessness – hence the adoption of LAA targets aimed at getting those with learning 
difficulties and in contact with mental health services into work.  There will therefore be a third goal 
reflected within the commissioning strategy: 
We need to be sure that the limited resources of WNF is used effectively by  targeting it towards: 

- interventions where we have clear evidence of what works;  
- innovative approaches which supplement mainstream programmes; and 
- areas which are not already being addressed by the key funders in relation to 

employability and skills, Job Centre Plus and the Learning and Skills Council .   
 
Where more innovative approaches are proposed they will need to have a clearly identified target 
and a clear rationale, backed up by evidence of the success of similar approaches elsewhere or with 
other client groups.    

 
Programmes of work will have most impact where they bring together stakeholders and pool 
resources in a structured way as part of existing strategies.  The commissioning strategy will 
therefore focus on interventions which form part of programmes developed by partnerships of 
stakeholders rather than one-off projects led by single organisations.  
 
                                                           
9 Unlocking the talent of our communities, Communities and Local Government, March 2008 
 

Page 262



4. Programme streams 
 
Five programme streams have been identified to address the three strategic goals above and 
building on evidence of successful approaches to date.  These are set out in the table below 
together with the relevant LAA targets on which they will impact and are described in more detail in 
the remainder of this paper.  For each programme stream, we have attempted to identify current 
funding available in order to give an indication of how  WNF is being used to add value to 
mainstream funding. 
 
Programme 
goals 

 Programme 
streams 

Relevant LAA 
targets 

Current 
funding 
available for 
programme 
streams 

A Family 
focused 
engagement 
 

NI 151 
Employment 
rate 
NI152 Working 
age people on 
out of work 
benefits 
NI153 Working 
age people on 
out of work 
benefits in the 
worst 
performing 
neighbourhoods 
NI116 
Proportion of 
children in child 
poverty 
 
 

Jobcentre Plus 
mainstream 
services and 
contracted out 
welfare to work 
programmes 
 
 
Funding for 
Children’s 
Centres 
 
Childcare 
provision 
 
City Strategy 
funds (until 
March 09) 
 
LBTH 
mainstream 

1. Short 
term impact 
on 
employment 
rate 

B Pre-
employment 
skills and 
support to 
access local 
jobs 

NI106 Young 
people from low 
income 
backgrounds 
progressing to 
higher 
education 
NI152 Working 
age people on 
out of work 
benefits 
NI153 Working 
age people on 
out of work 
benefits in the 
worst 
performing 
neighbourhoods 
NI151 
Employment 
rate 
 

LSC 
mainstream 
funds 
contracted out 
to LSC 
providers 
 
IAG for student 
loans/grants 
Education 
Business 
partnership 
mentoring and 
sponsorship 

Page 263



C Accelerating 
improvement 
in 
educational 
attainment  
 

NI 79 
Achievement of 
a level 2 
qualification by 
age 19 
NI 80 
Achievement of 
a level 3 
qualification by 
age 19 
DCSF statutory 
indicators 
relating to 
educational 
attainment at 
Key Stages 2, 3 
and 4 

Schools budget 
LSC post 16 
funding  
Education 
Business 
partnership as 
above 

2. Long term 
early 
intervention 
and 
prevention 

D Early 
intervention 
with young 
people at risk 
of 
worklessness 

NI117 16-18 
year olds who 
are not in 
education, 
employment or 
training 
NI110 Young 
people’s 
participation in 
positive 
activities 
NI112 Under 18 
conception rate 
NI 19 Rate of 
proven re-
offending by 
young offenders 
NI 40 Drug 
users in 
effective 
treatment 
NI146 Adults 
with learning 
disabilities into 
employment 
 
 

Connexions 
budget 
Careers budget 
Sept 
guarantee(LSC) 
PCT Teenage 
pregnancy 
money 
YOT TJB 
budget 
Youth inclusion 
programme 
YJB half fund – 
need to find 
match 200K 
current financial 
year DAAT 
money (£600k) 

3. Targeted 
work with 
excluded 
groups 

E Support for 
socially 
excluded 
groups to 
help them 
move into 
employment 

NI146 Adults 
with learning 
disabilities into 
employment 
NI150 Adults in 
contact with 
mental health 
services into 
employment 
NI 19 Rate of 
proven re-
offending by 
young offenders 
NI 18 Adult re-
offending rates 
for those under 

Connexions 
has a duty for 
these groups 
up to age 25 
 
Adult services 
budgets 
 
ABG funding for 
Beacon award 
winning work to 
reduce re-
offending 

Page 264



probation 
supervision 
NI 21 Dealing 
with local 
concerns about 
anti-social 
behaviour and 
crime by the 
local council 
and police 
 

 
NB In view of the stretching targets for some of these indicators and the scarcity of the WNF 
resources we have highlighted those LAA indicators that are likely to have most direct impact on 
achieving targets.  This is no way detracts from the importance of the other indicators but they either 
contribute to 151, are measured by other partners, or will be offer longer term solutions. 
 
A. Family focused engagement  
The high numbers disengaged from the labour market and not looking for work need to be targeted 
in other ways.  A large number are parents and are therefore likely to be engaged with schools or 
children’s centres.  Others will be patients visiting their GP or engaged in other community activity.  
We will commission interventions which focus on reaching these people.  Examples could include: 

- extending the City Strategy pilot work (engaging via parents)10 ; 
- extending our successful tailored approach to young people not in education, employment 

or training to their parents; and 
- provision of employment related advice and guidance within existing health and community 

facilities or programmes. 
 

B. Skills and support to access local jobs  
We know that there are enough jobs in Tower Hamlets – the challenge is giving local people the 
skills and support to access these.  The current Skillsmatch service has had considerable success in 
the past in getting people into sustainable employment through engaging with local employers to 
identify suitable vacancies and screening and matching out of work clients to assist them into these 
jobs.11  We will commission activity which continues these successful programmes. 
In addition, we will commission activity which is focused on providing those out of work with the skills 
to enable them to take advantage of local opportunities.  This could include: 

o skills to enable local people to access the jobs in the growing construction sector;  
o apprentice schemes and internships to increase the number of local people able to 

access entry level/trainee positions; and 
o language skills for those for whom English is a second language at all levels but 

with a focus on encouraging those participating to consider moves towards 
employability. 

 
C. Accelerating improvement in educational attainment 
If we are to ensure that our current young people are not the workless adults of the future, we need 
to ensure that they succeed at school.  Currently only 36% of young people in Tower Hamlets 
achieve 5 good GCSEs including English and Maths.  The key areas for focus need to be: 

• Accelerating progress in English and Maths for 11-19 year olds – including ensuring there 
are second and third chances for those who do not succeed at 16 to gain basic skills; and 

• Ensuring that young people with skills get access to jobs – focusing on soft skills for 
employment and building on our strong business connections. 

Strategies for addressing these areas are based on early identification of those at risk of not 
achieving and targeted early intervention and personal learning programmes. We will commission 
activity which supports this strategy. 
 
D. Early intervention with young people at risk of worklessness 

                                                           
10 This programme has already got 394 people into jobs since its start in January 2008. 
11 85% of those placed in jobs through this approach have sustained their employment. 

Page 265



Young people who become involved in crime, drugs or who become pregnant at a young age are 
likely to increase their chances of being workless in the future.  Children leaving care also currently 
are less likely to move into employment. We will commission interventions, within the context of our 
existing Integrated Youth Support Service, to target young people at risk in these areas with 
support, guidance and access to positive employment-focused, measurable activities. For young 
people with disabilities we will commission work which supports Transition Planning to focus on 
equipping individuals with the skills and confidence to move into employment. 
 
E. Support for socially excluded groups to help them move into employment 
Access to employment is particularly challenging for these groups and they have particular needs in 
terms of building skills and confidence.  We will commission interventions which target support 
towards these groups with a clear focus on moving people into employment, including support to 
local employers (across public, private and independent sectors) to facilitate greater levels of 
employment of these groups.  
 
Offenders are often among the most socially excluded people in our community. They frequently 
display multiple needs that, unchallenged, will consign them to the social and economic margins. 
Providing an alternative focus through employment and training opportunities, reduces the risk of re-
offending dramatically. Good outcomes here will extend to their partners and children and are 
matched by a wider positive impact on society as a whole. 
 
Moreover, there is evidence through research studies of a systematic relationship between most 
crimes and male unemployment regardless of age (Carmichael and Ward). Areas with high crime 
rates also tend to be areas with a lack of access to job markets, particularly for local youth (Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation, 1995). Youth unemployment has been found to be linked to criminal damage 
and robbery rates, whilst adult male unemployment has been particularly linked to theft (Carmichael 
and Ward). Activity targeted at tackling the relationship between crime, anti social behaviour and 
fear of crime is congruent with the objectives of the WNF. 

 
Local focus 
 
The majority of activity – particularly that which is longer term and prevention focused – will be likely 
to have a borough-wide focus.  There may however be interventions under streams A and B which 
are targeted towards local initiatives in the worst performing neighbourhoods in the borough to 
enable us to make progress in narrowing the gap and achieving LAA target NI153.. 
 
Council brokerage and co-ordination 
 
In addition to the programme streams identified above, a small proportion of WNF will also be 
targeted towards ensuring the Council has the capacity to ‘act as lead broker and facilitate co-
ordination between multiple agencies around tailored strategies’ as envisaged by Government12 .  
This might, for example, include additional resource to accelerate and extend the development of a 
Partnership-wide employment strategy which incorporates the work and resources of all partners 
into a clearly co-ordinated approach. 
 
5. Programme funding arrangements 
  
The distribution of funding to each programme stream will be determined in the light of the relative 
progress needed to meet LAA targets, the strength of commissioning proposals and the availability 
of other funding streams.  In view of the challenging nature of the key employment targets within the 
LAA, it is initially suggested that 55-65% of allocation might go to Streams A and B; 25-35% to 
Streams C and D; and 5-10% to Stream E. 
  
It is proposed that funding is initially allocated on a 2 year basis, for interventions from October 2008 
to October 2010 with a review in October 2009 after one year.  One sixth of the available WNF, the 
second half of the Year 3 allocation, will be held back and decisions made about allocation after the 
October 2009 review to fill any emerging gaps and/or accelerate progress in areas where LAA 
targets are not being achieved. 
                                                           
12 Unlocking the talent of our communities, Communities and Local Government, March 2008 

Page 266



 
6.  Pre-requisites for commissioned activity 
In order for activities within the 5 streams to receive WNF funding they will need to demonstrate the 
following: 
 

• Clear evidence base underpinning the proposed intervention - evidence about the number 
and nature of the target client group, that the approach is tried and tested or is an innovative 
approach with a clear underpinning rationale; 

• Clear evidence that the activity adds value to existing mainstream funded programmes;  
• Proposed outputs and how these will directly contribute to achieving the LAA outcomes 

identified above, in particular those highlighted in the programme streams table above; 
• Activities are an integral part of an existing strategy/programme of work; 
• Engagement of a range of key stakeholders in developing the proposal; 
• ‘Sponsorship’ by an appropriate CPAG/Community Plan Delivery Group;   
• Accountability for delivery through Partnership performance management arrangements  - 

initially via the sponsoring CPDG and through that to the Executive Board; and 
• Arrangements for ensuring sustainability/mainstream funding once WNF funding ends. 

 

Page 267



 
Appendix B 

 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund Commissioning process 

 
All WNF activity will be commissioned through the Partnership Executive and will be assessed 
against the WNF Strategy (Appendix A) under the programme streams identified and in the context 
of LAA targets. 
 
This paper sets out the outline commissioning process and provides a timetable for key elements.  
 
WNF will be allocated to LAPs, this will be inline with % reduction in WNF from NRF.  All 
interventions will be commissioned against the WNF criteria and the commissioning process will be 
the same as recommended in this paper.  They will however be given a slightly longer time frame for 
commissioning activity. 
 
As agreed by PMG the Partnership Infrastructure will be funded through WNF.  A 30% reduction has 
been made in 2008/9 and line with cost efficiency opportunities will be taken to make further 
reductions in 2009/10, with the long term goal to mainstream it through the LA and Partnership 
mainstream budgets by 2010/11. 
 
Consideration should be given to the continuation of a community chest to support the work of the 
third sector however, this will need to be closely tied into the third sector commissioning strategy.  
The criteria for WNF is very focused and It maybe more appropriate to use other sources of funding 
to support this.  Further work is currently being developed for LAB to consider by officers from the 
Partnership and the External Funding team from the Council, 
 
1. Drivers of the process 
 
The commissioning process and timetable is driven by a number of key factors, in particular: 
 

• the need to get WNF funded interventions in place as soon as possible to ensure that we 
have the maximum time to achieve our challenging LAA targets; 

• the need to ensure timely decisions about the future funding of NRF projects which currently 
have interim funding agreed until end September 2008 

• the Partnership should oversee allocation of WNF funding and activity will be commissioned 
through the Partnership Executive. 

• as envisaged by the new Partnership Governance arrangements, agreed by the Partnership 
Management Group and being considered by CMT elsewhere on today’s agenda, the 
Community Plan Delivery Groups (Delivery Groups) should have a key role in developing a 
strategic approach to delivering LAA targets –  recognising, however, that this is a 
transitional period while these arrangements are fully implemented; 

• the need to balance Partnership oversight of allocation with the Council’s role as 
accountable body and need to ensure proper systems for appraising, auditing and holding 
delivery bodies to account; 

• the need to clearly link the allocation of WNF to LAA Delivery Planning; and 
• the lessons learnt from NRF, including recommendations in the recent Overview and 

Scrutiny report, about the need for a more strategic approach to commissioning WNF rather 
than decisions taken on a project by project basis. 

 
2. Key elements of the process 
 
With these aspects in mind, the key elements of the allocation process are proposed as follows: 

• Proposals for the allocation of WNF related to the 5 programme streams identified in the 
Strategy paper will be invited from the Chairs and lead Council Chief Officer of each 

Page 268



proposed Delivery Group (as proposed in the Partnership Governance arrangements).  The 
Chairs/Chief Officers will be expected to work with the key stakeholders, who in the most 
part will be existing Community Plan Action Group members and/or proposed Community 
Plan Delivery Group members, to work up a programme of proposed activity for funding.  
This approach will underline the need for a strategic approach to proposal development 
rather than one which invites bids from individual agencies; 

• These proposals will be expected to be developed in conjunction with the development of 
LAA Delivery Plans during June/July; 

• The proposals will need to identify other funding streams which support the commissioning 
aims and how the WNF funding will add value and/or fill gaps; 

• Each proposal will be required to identify clear output targets which contribute to LAA 
outcomes, proposed delivery agencies and any required contract arrangements.  The 
Delivery Groups will be held accountable for the delivery of their proposed interventions 
through regular monitoring by the Partnership Executive. 

• Proposals will be appraised against a set of agreed criteria which will reflect both traditional 
appraisal criteria (proven case, deliverables, robust measurement etc.), plus the more 
specific pre-requisites outlined in section 6 of the Strategy paper.  Proposals will be co-
ordinated and appraised through the Partnership Programme Management Group.   This 
group will be Chaired by the Director of CLC and membership will include those officers who 
will add value and have the right skill set.  We need to ensure we retain the autonomy of the 
Partnership and are compliant with the LAA targets and key strategies such as those around 
worklessness.  The membership will include Shazia Hussain (Interim Director of Tower 
Hamlets Partnership), Sue Hinds (Access to Employment Manager), Louise Russell 
(Service Head Performance Involvement).  The Partnership Programme Management 
Group will also commission officers from partner organisations to sit on this group.  This will 
include officers from the Councils resource division, Children’s Services, Adult Services, Job 
Centre Plus, the PCT etc. 

• The Programme Management Group, following appraisal, make recommendations for a 
programme of interventions to the Partnership Executive which will need to meet in August 
(perhaps in an extraordinary session) to enable agencies to have certainty about funding 
from September and to gear up to start delivery as soon as possible thereafter.   At a later 
date the Executive will also be able to task the Programme Management Group to work with 
the delivery Groups to identify appropriate interventions to meet LAA targets.  As the 
Council is the accountable body for the WNF and has responsibility for the Area Based 
Grant, Lead Member for Resources will be invited to those Partnership Executive meetings 
where WNF is being discussed.   

• It is suggested that the appraisal process also involve some element of external challenge 
from someone with expertise in the area of worklessness and partnership working.  Robert 
Hill has provided useful challenge to our LAA delivery arrangements in the past and might 
provide useful external expertise in this area. 

• It is recommended that once programme streams have identified by the Delivery Groups 
these will then be presented to LAPs to commission local activity against.  This will ensure 
that a strategic approach is retained whilst giving flexibility for locally targeted activity.  The 
timetable for this will be from September onwards.  

 
 
The timetable for the key elements listed above is set out below and shown diagrammatically: 
Action  Date 
WNF Commissioning Criteria and Strategy 
Statement agreed by Cabinet 

30th July 

Strategy and outline commissioning process 
considered by CMT 

4 June  
Strategy and outline commissioning process 
considered by LAB and Partnership  

18/19 June  
Chairs of appropriate Community Plan Delivery 
Groups invited to develop proposals for spend 
against the 5 programme streams  

20 June  

Proposals submitted using standard proforma with By end July 

Page 269



required supporting information 
Proposals appraised by officer group By mid August 
Proposals reviewed and final commissioning 
decisions made by Partnership Executive 

End August  
WNF endorsed by cabinet 10th September  
 
 
  
 
 
 
                              
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.  Further work 
 
To deliver against this timetable, the following more detailed work is now in hand to be ready for the 
initiation of the commissioning process later in June: 

• Standard proforma for proposed programmes of activity; 
• Full set of appraisal criteria and any weighting;  
• Planned programme management arrangements through the Partnership team restructure; 

and 
• Arrangements for audit and performance management of spend/delivery. 

 
In terms of the latter aspect, it is intended that, as far as possible, audit and performance 
management should be integrated with the Council and Partnership performance management 
framework, currently being refreshed to reflect the new LAA and Partnership Governance 
arrangements. 
 

WNF Strategy and 
outline commissioning 
process agreed by 

Council and 
Partnership  

Delivery Groups commissioned to complete proposal form 
in conjunction with LAA Delivery Planning  

 

Programme finalised by Executive  

Delivery Groups return completed proposals for officer 
appraisal and challenge 

 

Page 270



 
 
APPENDIX C   NRF PROJECTS FUNDED UNTIL 30TH SEPTEMBER 2008  
 
 

Name of intervention  Ref 2008 
Living Safely      
Prevention Youth Crime LS/01 136,500 
Preventing Crime LS/02 40,000 

Better Tower Hamlets Teams LS/03 50,000 

Drug Enforcement in priority areas LS/04 80,000 

Safer Schools Programme LS/05 19,000 

Youth Inclusion Programme LS/06 100,000 
LAL     

Improved Health & Levels of Physical Activity  LAL/01 47,500 

Improving Skills for Employment  14-19 LAL/02 209,500 
YIP LAL LAL/03 100,000 

Parental Engagement includes FISP LAL/04 407,000 

Family Intervention Project   136,500 
CSP CPAG     
Social Enterprise CSP/01 150,000 

Community Hubs CSP/02 226,000 

Driving Competitiveness and Local Employment  CSP/03 567,500 
EPS     

Core costs for THCEN EPS/01 172,702 

TOTAL   2,442,202 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



 
 
 
 
 
LIVING WELL CPAG PROGRAMME 2008  
   
Intervention Ref 2008 

Health and Well Being Health Trainers LW05a 85,743 

Health and Well Being Theme 3 Adult Protection LW05 27,201 

Intergration of services and commissioning across health and 
social care - strand 1  LW06/4a 29,666 

Infrastructure of services and commissioning across health 
and social care - infrastructure LW06/4b 65,291 
Older People LW06/3a 236,521 

Care for people with long-term conditions LW06/3b 25,100 
Affordable Housing  LWH 90,000 

Health and Well Being Theme 1 LW06/5bi 77,423 
Interpreting LW06/4c 77,197 

CPAG Programme Management Support LW05 24,254 
TOTAL   738,396 
 

Page 272



 

1 

 
Committee: 
 

Date: Classification: Report No. Agenda Item  
Overview & Scrutiny 
Cabinet 

29th July 2008 
30th July 2008  

Unrestricted   

Report of: Title: 
 
Corporate Director - Resources    
Originating Officer: 
 
Alan Finch, Service Head Corporate 
Finance   

 
Resource Allocation and Budget 

Review 2009/10- 2010/11  
 
 
Ward(s) Affected                     All 

 
1. SUMMARY 

1.1 In February, the authority established its first ever three year budget, which 
set balanced budgets for the three financial years beginning in April 2008 
and ending in March 2011. This report begins the process of reviewing the 
three year budget, with the intent of setting the Council Tax for 2009/10, on 
the 4th March 2009. The report also considers how the Council can maximise 
the opportunities of having an agreed three year budget position. In 
particular rigorous scrutiny of how the authority’s financial resources are 
directed to the priorities in the Community Plan 2020  and the consideration 
of medium term risks and issues that will arise during the course of the 
current three year strategy and which may impact upon the next.  

1.2. Having a three year budget means that from this year onwards   budget 
setting can concentrate on more strategic issues.  Balanced budgets for 
2009/10 and 2010/11 mean that the main focus of attention can shift to focus 
on significantly improving service delivery in key areas.  

1.3. These changes also coincide with the most uncertain economic conditions 
for some years.  In view of these emerging issues, and others set out in the 
report, it will be necessary to revisit assumptions about the first two years of 
the three-year plan and to reassess risks.  The report explains these issues 
in greater detail, but concludes that so far, the financial strategy for 2009/10 
and 2010/11 remains on track.  Projections indicate that the balanced 
budget position for 2008/09-2010/11  can be maintained, with some 
opportunities for additional investment available.   

1.4. The report also covers plans for capital investment in local assets and 
infrastructure, which are inseparable from those which concern the day-to-
day running of services, and considers how funding can be made available 
to continue carefully targeted investment in local priorities for the benefit of 
the Borough.  

1.5. However, as previously reported, the Comprehensive Spending Review and 
review of grant distribution which applies from the current financial year 
leaves the authority at the Formula Grant floor for the foreseeable future.  

Agenda Item 10.3

Page 273



 

2 

The annual increase in funding will not be sufficient to meet the cost of 
inflation and projected population growth  

1.6. The report identifies the planning parameters  which should apply to service 
and financial planning for 2009/10- 2010/11, with the overall aim of providing 
sufficient flexibility to deal with risk and provide scope for a degree of policy 
choice, and invites Cabinet to consider a strategy for meeting a balanced 
budget for the period 2009/10-2010/11.  

  1.7. A report elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda sets out the forecast financial 
outlook for the period from 2011/2014.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 Overview & Scrutiny Committee is recommended to consider the report and pass 

any comments it wishes to make to Cabinet  
 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 2.1. Consider the financial outlook and draft medium term projection set out in 

this report. 
2.2. Agree that revenue budget inflation should be funded at the levels set out in 

the report, and that any inflation in excess of this should be met from within 
the budgets for the Services affected,  (paragraph 4.3.5).  

2.3. Agree the adjustments required to the three-year budget for 2008/09-
2010/11 as set out at section 4 of the report and note that an additional 
£1.5m  may be allocated to ongoing Service Improvement Growth from 
2009/10, and up to an additional £1.0m from General Fund reserves for one-
off expenditure.   

2.4 Note the resources provisionally available to fund the capital programme and 
request Corporate Directors to include proposals for  mainstream and local 
priority funding for 2008/09-2010/11 in their strategic and resource planning 
submissions.  

2.5. Agree that Corporate Directors prepare service and financial planning 
submissions in accordance with the agreed parameters, and the outline 
process and timetable set out in section 9 of the report. 

2.6. Consider carry forwards of budget from 2007/08 to 2008/09 in respect of 
NNDR savings on school properties, £134,000; and the replacement 
programme for desktop PCs, £224,000, and note ring fencing of LABGI 
funding per paragraph 4.11.3 

  
 
 

Page 274



 

3 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT  ACT 1972 (SECTION 100D) 

LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of "background papers" 

 
Tick if copy supplied for 
register 
 

 
If not supplied, name and 
telephone number of holder 
 

 Held by Resources  Directorate   
5th floor, Mulberry Place) 
 
 

 Alan Finch  020-7364-4915 
 

 

Page 275



 

4 

  
3. BACKGROUND 

3.1 Medium term financial planning is an essential component of the Council’s 
strategic planning framework.   While many key decisions, including the 
formal setting of Council Tax, will continue to be taken annually, those 
decisions need to be set in the context of a longer term planning horizon.   
Forward planning offers greater opportunity to link service and financial 
planning.  

3.2 The Council operates a sound resource allocation process underpinned by 
an integrated service and financial planning framework.   In short, our 
processes are designed to ensure that: 
� Service plans are developed against the background of forward 

looking financial forecasts 
� Identifying the financial consequences of proposed actions is seen as 

an integral part of service planning 
� Financial plans allocate resources to address changing community 

needs and priorities. 
The current arrangements contribute to the Council’s CPA score of 3 out of 4 
for the Use of Resources.  

 3.3 The Prudential Borrowing system also requires the Council to be clear about 
its proposed capital spending plans for three years ahead and explicit about 
the impact of the associated financing costs on Council Tax.  

3.4 The Government has provided its first three year financial settlement 
covering the period 2008/09- 2010/11.  This applies to the main Formula 
Grant, Area Based Grant and to a wide range of specific grants, and  
improves local authorities’ ability to plan ahead and ensure more effective 
and efficient use of resources.  

3.5. In 2008, the authority agreed its first three year budget, which identified 
savings sufficient to set balanced budgets for the three years from 2008/09- 
2010/11.   

3.6  The report is intended to provide the context for the development of the  
detailed budget proposals in the coming months. 

4. REVIEW OF  BUDGET FOR 2009/10- 2010/11 
4.1 Process and Principles 
 This current report provides forecasts for a three-year plan covering 

2009/10-2011/12, covering three main areas;  
 - Building 2007/08 financial results (known as ‘outturn’) into the three-

year forecast. 

Page 276



 

5 

 - Reviewing the budgets already set for 2008/09, 2009/10 and 2010/11 
and building in to forecasts issues which have emerged since the 
three year budget was set., and 

 
 4.2 Financial Outturn 2007/08  
 4.2.1. At its last meeting on 2nd July, the Cabinet received reports setting out the 

financial outturn for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.  
These can be summarised as follows;  

   
 2007/08 under 

spend 
Balances as at 
31st March 2008 

General Fund  £6.8m £25.9m 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  £4.4m £21.6m 

 
 4.2.2. The under spend on the General Fund was mainly brought about by better 

than expected returns on the investment of cash balances as a result of  
higher than expected interest rates in the wake of the credit crunch.   The 
HRA under spend was brought about in the main by efficiency savings as a 
result of service restructuring.  

 4.2.3 The Council’s current financial position therefore remains sound, but will 
require continuous assessment and vigilance in the light of the pressures 
and issues identified in this report.  Although the under spends were brought 
about by effective management of resources, the conditions which allowed 
this to take place were largely fortuitous and this needs to be borne in mind 
when considering the period going forward.  

 4.2.4. The way this should be seen is that the Council’s overall financial health 
places it in a good position to manage the fact that the authority’s funding 
from Government will grow by less than the rate of inflation for the 
foreseeable future. The authority is in a strong position to face this situation 
providing key decisions are taken at the appropriate time.    

 
4.3. Review of Three Year Budget 2008/09- 2010/11.   

 
4.3.1. The three year General Fund budget established for 2008/09- 2010/11 is set 

out at Appendix A. The budget set by Council for 2008/09 on 27th February 
2008 was £295.498m and this is therefore the base budget for all 
subsequent budget decisions.   

 
 

Page 277



 

6 

4.3.2 Inflation  
 For 2008/09- 2010/11 estimates of the cost of funding inflation in the 

General Fund have been prepared on the following basis: 
♦ 2.25% for pay, which is slightly above the Government’s target for 

public sector pay increases of 2%.   
♦ 2.50% for general costs. 

  
4.3.3 Inflationary pressures have started to rise in the economy over recent 

months.  The annual increase in the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) is 
currently running at 3.8% and inflation is expected to remain at  3-4% for the 
remainder of 2008.  A 2.45% pay offer has been made to Local Government 
staff for 2008, and there is an ongoing dispute with one Trade Union over 
this offer.    

4.3.4.  The impact of an additional 1% rise in inflation, over and above the 
assumptions built into the three year budget, is approximately £2.7m.  The 
question for the authority is whether to revise budgets to build in this risk, 
and look for compensating savings, or to seek to manage this pressure 
within existing budgets.   

4.3.5. However, the level of general reserves currently held by the authority (see 
4.12 below), would allow risks to be managed to a degree if inflation 
continues to rise.  In view of this, officers recommend that, at this stage, the 
three year budget should not be amended to allow for higher inflation, but 
any increase in costs should be managed within the budgets set.  

   
  Council Tax  
 
 4.3.7. The three year budget includes a general assumption that Council Tax will 

rise by 2.5% a year throughout the period.  In practice, Council Tax is agreed 
by Council each year, although many authorities are now setting a medium 
term Council Tax target or aspiration as a political pledge. The 2.5% used in 
these forecasts is, however, simply a planning assumption and will be 
subject to amendment by Cabinet and Council in each year.    

 
 
 4.4 Committed Growth Pressures  

 
4.4.1. Committed Growth is the unavoidable cost of maintaining services at existing 

levels, taking account of demographic change, new legislation or other 
unavoidable factors.   

   
4.4.2. The Committed growth has been agreed in budgets for 2008/09 – 2010/11 is 

set out at Appendix B.  The main areas of committed growth over the next 
three years are;  

 
- Social care commissioning budgets, driven by increasing population 

and greater numbers of residents requiring care. 
 
- Residential and nursing homecare, due to increased client numbers. 

Page 278



 

7 

 
- Collection and disposal of waste, driven by larger volumes of waste 

and the imperative to meet recycling targets.   
 

4.4.3. As these projections were produced some months ago, it is important to 
confirm that the assumptions behind them are still relevant. Officers have 
therefore been reviewing these assumptions over recent weeks to ensure 
that they are valid.  It should be stressed that the figures for future years in 
particular remain provisional and could be understated.    

 
4.4.4 The following issues have emerged which have an impact on the budget for 

2008/09 and the committed growth forecasts for 2009/10- 2010/11.  
 
 London Pensions Fund Authority Levy 
 
4.4.5.  Officers have been notified of a review of the way the costs of former GLC 

and ILEA pensions schemes are recovered.  As with most local authority 
pension schemes, both of these Funds are in deficit and employers’ 
contributions need to increase to recover these deficits. The London 
Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA), as the administering body for these funds, 
receives its funding mainly from levies upon the London Boroughs and is 
considering passing these additional costs on to the local authorities which 
took over the responsibilities of the former providers.   The outcome and 
impact is subject to discussions with the LPFA, but as one of the former 
ILEA authorities, it is anticipated that the impact on Tower Hamlets could be 
as much as £2.850m phased in over three years from 2009/10 onwards. 
Provision needs to be made for this risk in forward forecasts.   

 
 Concessionary Fares 

 
4.4.6. The London Freedom Pass scheme, which is administered by London 

Councils, provides free travel to people above retirement age and disabled 
people and the cost is met by a levy on the London Boroughs.  There have 
been lengthy and ongoing discussions to change the basis of the levy from 
one based on the number of passes issued to an apportionment based on 
usage.  The technology to measure usage has not previously been 
available, but now that it is, legal advice is that this ostensibly fairer method 
should be considered.  A switch from passes issued to usage would result in 
lower charges for most Outer London Boroughs and higher charges for Inner 
London.  The impact of the current proposal on Tower Hamlets would be to 
increase the levy by £1m.  

 
4.4.7 In Tower Hamlets, the current cost of the Freedom Pass scheme is met from 

the surpluses generated on the Parking Control Account.  In this way, the 
fines incurred through illegal parking and road use by motorists is recycled 
into assisting  travel for those less mobile.  It is believed on the basis of 
current forecasts that  the Parking Control Account will be able to continue to 
cover the costs of the Freedom Pass, and no adjustment to budgets is 
therefore necessary.  This means that the £800,000 committed growth 
already provided for in the Three Year Budget is no longer required. 

Page 279



 

8 

However this position will need to be kept under review throughout the 
period.  

 
Facilities Management  

 
4.4.8. As reported to the Cabinet in July, costs of facilities are under pressure due 

to;  
 

- The costs of maintaining and securing a number of empty or 
underused buildings awaiting disposal. 

 
- The cost of  service charges at the East India Dock complex.  

Discussions with the landlord have taken place concerning a number 
of repairs and maintenance issues.  

 
- Rising fuel prices have also impacted.  

 
In addition the outcome of a programmed rent review on Anchorage House 
is anticipated. The outcome of this rent review is not built into our financial 
outlook and therefore remains a risk. 

 
4.4.9. Taken together, officers are currently projecting a £2.95m over spend on this 

area of the budget in 2008/09. The Three Year Budget already includes 
savings targets for £800,000 in 2009/10 and a further £600,000 in 2010/11 
and forward projections indicate that this is likely to be the maximum 
reduction in costs that could be achieved over the period of the three year 
budget.  Officers will be looking for ways to mitigate this cost by disposing of 
buildings and ensuring that best use is made of the remaining 
accommodation.  However in the meantime, provision needs to be made in 
budgets for these costs. 

  
Capital Financing & Investment 

 
4.4.10 In 2007/08, the capital financing and investment budget under spent by 

around £6m, largely as a result of higher than forecast interest rates on 
investments, but also as result of the repayment of high cost debt.  It is 
expected that the trend for higher interest rates will continue into 2008/09,  
and it is anticipated that further rescheduling of debt will reduce costs further. 
In addition, the reported under spend means that funds available for 
investment are higher than anticipated.  

 
4.4.11 On this basis, a further under spend is anticipated in the current year and 

additional savings of £3.2m can be released for 2009/10.  As the years go 
by, however,  the assumption is that reserves will be utilised (see Section 
4.12  below), which will reduce the funds available for investment, and that 
funds will need to be found for new borrowing.   Much of this new borrowing 
would be needed to pay for Government allocated ‘supported’ borrowing.  
The position of the authority at the grant floor means that this ‘supported’ 
borrowing is not funded from additional Formula Grant as it was in the past.  
The amount available from capital & investments will therefore gradually 
reduce over time.  

Page 280



 

9 

 
 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
Capital & Investments budget  -£4.2m - £3.2m  -£2.6m 

 
   

4.5. Savings Identified for 2008/09 to 2010/11 
 
 As part of the budget process for 2007/08, Directorates were asked to 

identify savings proposals for further savings in 2009/10 and 2010/11. The 
approved savings are listed at Appendix C.  Officers have reviewed these 
proposals and advise there are no serious and unmanageable risks affecting 
the delivery of these savings at present. However this position will be kept 
under review.   

 
 4.6 Service Improvement Growth  
 

 Appendix D summarises the Service Improvement Growth agreed in the 
Three Year Budget.    

 
 4.7 Resource Projections 
 

Formula Grant  
 

4.7.1. The main grant contributing towards the authority’s General Fund revenue 
budget is Formula Grant.  Grant figures have been announced for the next 
three years, and these are shown in the table below.   

  
   

 2008/09 
£m 

2009/10 
£m 

2010/11 
£m 

Formula Grant 224.997 228.816 232.204 
Annual 
Increase % 

2.0% 1.7% 1.5% 

 
 

4.7.2. As previously reported, the authority’s grant settlement is now at the 
minimum level allowed for by Government, known as the ‘grant floor’. This is 
because grant distribution changes introduced in 2007 had a severely 
detrimental effect on the authority’s grant settlement. The floor is intended to 
protect the authority from the worst effects of this change by phasing in its 
impact.  In this case it is estimated that the authority will remain at the grant 
floor for six or seven years until around 2014/15.    

 
4.7.3 The grant floor is normally set at a level below inflation. The practical impact 

of the floor, therefore, is that the authority is likely to receive grant increases 
at below the rate of inflation for some years, and in practice no funding 
towards the costs of population growth.   

 
 
 

Page 281



 

10 

 
 Area Based Grant 
 

4.7.4 For the 2008/09- 2010/11 settlement, the Government introduced a new 
form of grant called Area Based Grant. In practice this did not mean Councils 
received extra money, because the ABG is created by combining around 40 
former specific grants.  

 
4.7.5. Appendix E lists the grants included in the Area Based Grant for 2008/09 

and projected for 2009/10 – 2010/11.  
  
 4.7.6. A feature of Area Based Grant is that the specific grants transferring into it 

are no longer ring-fenced, and this presents the opportunity to review how 
these grants are used to deliver services, to ensure that they are used 
efficiently and effectively, and are focused on Council priorities. This 
exercise was delayed from 2008/9 because the late announcement of ABG 
in the 2008/09 settlement did not provide sufficient time to undertake a 
thorough review.  

 
 4.7.7 As indicated in the 2008/09 budget process, a review of ABG will be carried 

out over the Summer months to identify opportunities for efficiencies and 
redirecting elements of grant to other priorities if necessary.  

.  
 
 4.8 Other Specific Grants 

 
 A number of other specific grants have been announced for the next three 

years. The assumption built into these forecasts is that these will continue to 
be available beyond the end of 2010/11 although again this will be subject to 
review.    

 
4.9. Dedicated Schools Grant 

  
  The Government introduced the Dedicated Schools Grant to fund schools 

budgets in 2006/07.  The grant is announced on an annual basis, with a 
provisional sum announced in November or December in the year before the 
start of the financial year to which it applies, and final figures the following 
May once the school census has taken place.  The schools budget needs to 
be set in accordance with the grants allocated.   

 
 4.10 Local Area Agreement 
  
 4.10.1 The Local Area Agreement to deliver a broad range of outcomes agreed 

between the Tower Hamlets Partnership and the Government Office for 
London began in April 2006 and is now in its third and final year.  

 
 4.10.2.Success in achieving the Local Area Agreement results in the payment of a 

Reward Grant. The value of this grant will not be known until the LAA is 
concluded and results have been audited, but these forecasts assume that 
the authority will receive around £4m in two equal instalments in 2009/10 
and 2010/11.  This is based on current performance monitoring.  

Page 282



 

11 

  
 

 4.11 Other Issues and Risks 
 

4.11.1 Collection Fund   
 

Council Tax collected on behalf of the Council and the Greater London 
Authority is paid into the Collection Fund.   Any surplus on the fund is 
available to the authorities to reduce the Council Tax in future years; any 
deficit must in turn be recovered from Council Tax.  It should be noted that 
the aim each year is to equalise the fund, so the amount required as a 
contribution or available from redistribution should be zero.  

 
In recent years,  historic surpluses and significant growth in the Council Tax 
base have ensured that the Collection Fund has been in surplus each year. 
However, this margin has been narrowing, and in 2007/08, the authority 
made a deficit on the Collection Fund of £2.7m, of which the Council’s share 
is just over £2.0m.  
 
As a result it has been necessary to review forecasts for 2008/09 and on this 
basis it is estimated that the authority will need to make a contribution to the 
Collection Fund of £1.7m in 2009/10, which will need to be met from Council 
Tax.  
 

 
4.11.2 Decent Homes  

 
The Council’s policy in relation to delivering Decent Homes has the impact of 
reducing the extent to which services within the General Fund can recharge 
costs to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
The consequence of delivering Decent Homes policies is that corporate and 
support services currently charged to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
may need to downsize over the next few years. The impact of this on the 
General Fund is subject to the speed of progress.  In response to this, the 
authority has been setting aside resources into a Housing Choice Reserve 
for a number of years.   
  
The 2008/09 budget allows for a further £1.978m allocation to this reserve, 
with a further £0.978m allocation in 2009/10. After that, no further 
contributions are planned.  
 
These forecasts assume that, if Tower Hamlets Homes in its new status as 
an arms length management organisation, opts not to procure support 
services from the Council,  there will be no ongoing cost to the General 
Fund. The impact on support services provided by the General Fund would 
therefore need to be managed through savings, using if necessary the 
resources available within the Decent Homes Reserve to provide temporary 
funding.  
 

Page 283



 

12 

During the current budget process it will be necessary to consider whether 
the resources set aside in the Decent Homes  Reserve are sufficient to cover 
these risks. 
   

4.11.3 Local Authority Business Growth Incentives (LABGI) 
The LABGI allows local authorities to retain part of the growth in revenue 
from business rates provided that it exceeds a specified level, determined on 
the basis of recent historic trends. The authority has received a total of 
£725,000 in LABGI funding in the last two years. On both occasions this 
followed a review of allocations as a result of successful legal challenge by 
local authorities against the distribution criteria adopted by the Government. 
A Government review of the distribution of LABGI is currently underway, but 
the further operation of the LABGI scheme is, in any event, likely to be 
affected by the impact of the current economic downturn on business 
growth. At the moment no assumption of further funding from this source has 
been made.  It is proposed to ring-fence this LABGI funding for business 
district/town centre regeneration.  

 
 4.12 Reserves 
 

4.12.1.General Fund Reserves stand at £25.9m as at 31st March 2008.  This  is 
marginally higher than the Council’s historic guide range of 5.0-7.5%. .  

 
4.12.2.There are, however, a number of potential calls on reserves and a number 

of potential additions over the next few months and these are set out at 
Appendix F. The Appendix also shows the projected position on reserves as 
at 31st March 2009 and a projection of balances for the period of the three 
year budget.  

 
 4.12.3.The net position on reserves as at the end of 2008/09 indicates that in the 

order of £1m is available from reserves for one-off expenditure in the current 
or next financial year. However it needs to be stressed that reserves can 
only ever be spent once, so this funding would need to be allocated for one-
off investments, or for projects which are sustainable from other resources 
known to be available in later years.   

 
 4.12.4.The position on balances means that the annual £1.2m contribution to 

balances which has been allowed for in the Three Year budget is now no 
longer necessary.  

 
 4.12.5.The financial outturn for 2007/08 was reported at the Cabinet’s last meeting 

on 2nd July. At that meeting, Cabinet deferred consideration of two requests 
to carry forward unspent amounts from 2007/08 to 2008/09 pending further 
information from officers.  Further information is set out in the following table 
and Members are recommended to consider the carry forwards again on this 
basis.  

 
   

Service/ description Explanation by Corporate Director  Amount 

Page 284



 

13 

£000s 
Children’s services – Rates 
rebates on school buildings  

Backdated savings generated by the 
review of rateable values of Children’s 
Services properties are reinvested to finance 
improvements in the Children’s 
Services building stock. 
  
Any rates savings generated in relation to 
prior years contribute to the ‘rates saving 
account’ and are thus reinvested in 
the Children’s Services building stock .   
  
The principle of making use of the rates 
savings for improving the (then Education) 
building stock was first approved by PIC on 
30th April 2003 and later ratified by Cabinet 
on 5th July 2006. 
  
The balance on the Unapplied Rate Rebate 
Reserve at 31st March 2008 is £1,867,434 
and the movement in the year was £134,256. 
  
The use of this money is determined by the 
Children’s Services  asset planning process 
and is distributed through the planned 
Children’s Services Capital Programme.  
 

134 

Corporate – Replacement 
programme for desktop 
PCs 

The Council agreed a lease contract with Dell 
Computers in 2005 to provide desktop PCs 
for the Council and replace them on a rolling 
programme.  A budget was set aside each 
year for replacements. However, expenditure 
against this budget varies from year to year 
depending upon the replacement 
programme. In years when expenditure is 
less than the budget, it is important to carry 
forward any unspent budget to fund 
replacements in years when expenditure 
exceeds the budget.  If this amount is not 
carried forward, desktop equipment would 
not be replaced in a timely fashion.  

224 

 
 
 
5. REVISED GENERAL FUND BUDGET FOR 2009/10-2010/11 
 
5.1. Appendix G sets out a revised forecast for 2009/10 to 2010/11 which brings into 

consideration the issues set out above relating to inflation, committed growth and 
the Collection Fund.  All projections are based on an assumption of a 2.5% 
increase in Council Tax each year, although this is planning figure and not an 
approved target.  

 
5.2. This shows that a balanced Three Year Budget can be maintained for the period 

2008/09-2010/11 without the need for a further savings exercise.  This position will 
need to be kept under review but it represents a considerable achievement in 
planning terms for the authority.  

Page 285



 

14 

 
5.3. The forecast shows that, based on current projections, a figure of around £1.5m is 

available for investment in ongoing service improvements from 2009/10 onwards, 
and £1m can be made available from reserves for one-off purposes.   

 
  
 
6. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
6.1 Integrated Revenue and Capital Planning 
 

6.1.1. The next section of this report sets out the outlook for Capital resources for 
the period 2009/10 to 2010/11.  

 
6.1.2. Expenditure on services comprises a recurring, revenue element (eg. staff 

salaries, running costs, contract payments etc) and planned capital 
investment in assets and infrastructure (e.g. buildings, vehicles etc). 
Effective service delivery requires these resource elements to be considered 
together. The Capital Programme is concerned with planning for investment 
in assets and infrastructure necessary to deliver high quality services to 
residents.  

 
6.1.3. The Capital Programme agreed by the Council invariably has revenue cost 

implications. 
 

• Capital financing may be charged to revenue accounts either in the 
form of direct contributions to capital expenditure, or as costs of 
borrowing or other credit arrangements to finance capital expenditure.  

 
• Building schemes normally carry with them ongoing running costs 

which in some circumstances cannot be met from existing resources.  
 

It is therefore not possible to consider the Capital Programme and revenue 
plans in isolation from each other.  

 
6.2. Tower Hamlets Capital Programme is divided into two elements; 
 

- Mainstream Programme- which is funded largely from resources 
allocated by the Government and other funding bodies, and which follows 
the priorities of those funding bodies, although often with a high level of 
congruence with local priorities.  

 
-    Local Priorities Programme- which is funded from resources generated by 

the authority itself, from capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital 
budgets and prudential borrowing,  and is allocated to the Council’s own 
priorities.   

 
6.3. The table below shows how the 2008/09 capital programme is planned to be 

funded.  
 

Page 286



 

15 

    
Mainstream Programme Supported Borrowing 45.419  
 Capital Grants etc 17.834 62.253 
    
Local Priorities  Capital Receipts 3.627  
 Prudential Borrowing 0.360  
 Revenue Contributions 1.697  
 Grants & other 

external contributions 
 

2.480 
 

8.164 
TOTAL    70.417 

 
This programme will be supplemented by further allocations of capital grant during 
the period.    

 
6.4. Revenue contributions to the Capital Programme have been approved for 2008/09, 

and indicative  allocations made for 2009/10 as follows;  
 
  

 2008/09 
£ million 

2009/10 
£million 

Whitechapel Centre   0.064 0.236 
Preventing crime – CCTV  0.783  
Parks Programme (contribution  0.500  
Mile End Park security  0.200  
Play Strategy  0.150  
 1.697 0.236 

 
 There is currently no presumption of any further contributions either in capital or 

revenue budget forecasts after 2009/10.  
 
Issues for the Mainstream Programme 

 
6.5. Government support to the capital programme is subject to annual announcements 

of funding. Indications are that capital budgets will be under similar pressure to 
revenue allocations, and this is likely to impact upon the resources available for 
mainstream programmes.  Theoretically, some of the funding allocated by 
Government is available to be spent on the Council’s own priorities. However, it is 
thought that if Councils decided to allocate this money to areas other than those 
indicated, Government departments might be loathe to allocate capital resources to 
those authorities in future.  The authority’s past practice has therefore been to 
allocate mainstream resources to the services for which they were intended.  

  
6.6. Some Government funding is allocated in the form of supported borrowing.  In 

previous years, this has resulted in the allocation of additional Formula Grant to 
fund the borrowing cost.  The fact that Tower Hamlets is now at the grant floor, 
however, means that it will not receive additional funding for supported borrowing.  
When it comes to setting the capital programme for future years, Members will 
need to consider whether the authority can afford to borrow this money.  In the 
meantime, General Fund revenue forecasts assume a provision for the estimated 
cost of supported borrowing.  
 

Page 287



 

16 

 Local Priorities Programme 
 
6.7. The level of the capital programme is being sustained in 2008/09- 2010/11 largely 

through the planned realisation of major capital receipts, but this approach cannot 
be relied upon in future years and carries a degree of risk.  

 
6.8. Capital receipts to fund the approved Local Priorities Programme for 2008/09 and 

indicative allocations for 2009/10- 2010/11 are set out at Appendix H  and in the 
table below. The table shows that receipts received to date are sufficient to fund 
agreed expenditure for 2008/09 and 2009/10, with a very small shortfall of £0.257m 
of the funding required for programmed expenditure to the end of 2010/11.    

 
  

 £ 
million 

£ 
million 

Programmed spending brought forward from 2007/08 (*)  6.763  
Capital resources brought forward from 2007/08 4.716  
Shortfall in funding carried forward   2.047 
   
Capital receipts required to fund capital programme   
2008/09 5.137  
2009/10 3.602  
2010/11 3.622  
  12.361 
Total Capital Receipts required   14.408 
   
Receipts in 2008/09 to date   14.151 
  0.257 
   

(*)  Subject to Cabinet decision  
 
6.9. In addition, a further £10m may be available in receipts over the next three years 

from asset sales listed in the approved Asset Management Plan.  This includes 
Right to Buy income from the sale of Council houses, and the disposal of further 
sites which have been identified in the Asset Management Plan but have not yet 
been formally sanctioned by Cabinet. Right to Buy receipts are assumed to 
continue at recent levels, although there are signs that this is being impacted by the 
current slow down in housing markets.  Further capital receipts are contingent upon 
other decisions and successful marketing but could be available to fund additional 
expenditure.  

 
Other Potential Sources of Funding  
 
6.10 Prudential Borrowing  

 
The Council is empowered to set its own level of borrowing and other credit 
arrangements to fund capital expenditure, providing that level is affordable, 
sustainable and prudent. The benefit of prudential borrowing is that it enables an 
authority to come to its own view as to the appropriate balance between revenue 
and capital spending, to undertake options appraisal for revenue-intensive and 

Page 288



 

17 

capital-intensive options on a consistent basis, and to borrow for capital purposes 
as needs arise instead of when Government gives its approval. The Council may 
decide to fund additional capital expenditure through prudential borrowing where 
the tests of affordability, sustainability and prudence are met, and where it appears 
to offer value for money to do so.   
 
Prudential borrowing is only affordable if borrowing costs can be met from revenue 
funding in the long term.  In view of the funding gap identified in the revenue 
forecast,  prudential borrowing should therefore be restricted to invest to save 
schemes where ongoing savings are at least sufficient to fund borrowing costs.  
 

6.11 Revenue Contributions to Capital Expenditure  
 
 The 2008/09 Local Priorities Programme provides for £1.7m in funding from the 

revenue budget to be used to support capital spending.  The opportunity to use 
revenue funding in this way is clearly dependent upon the availability of revenue 
funding.  The financial outlook for General Fund presented in this report suggests 
that a limited amount of one off funding may be available in revenue budgets in the 
earlier years of the three year budget for capital investment if Members so choose.  
However, it will important to ensure that this is not invested in schemes which have 
substantial ongoing revenue implications which will be difficult to fund.  

 
6.12 Impact of the Capital Programme on Revenue Budgets  
 
 In developing a strategy for the capital programme, the link between capital and 

revenue budgets is of key significance. There has always been such a link because 
of;  
- the revenue implications of the capital programme.- running costs and 

borrowing costs.  
- the funding of elements of the capital programme directly from revenue 

budgets.  
 

- the trade-off between routine maintenance (which should normally be funded 
from revenue) and structural maintenance and renovation (capital). 

   
 
7. FINANCIAL OUTLOOK SUMMARY 

7.1. This report confirms that, subject to the adjustments which are set out in 
Section 4,  the three year budget for 2008/09 -2010/11 remains deliverable 
without the need to seek further savings proposals for that period, subject to 
being able to contain inflation within forecasts, and enabling £1.5m to be 
added to service budgets in line with Members priorities.  

7.2. General Fund reserves appear sufficient to manage risks over that period 
and for an allocation of around  £1m to be made to one-off priority 
expenditure.  

Page 289



 

18 

7.3. The report also confirms that a capital programme can be maintained at the 
indicative level set for 2008/09-2010/11 without the need for further capital 
receipts.  

7.4. This report relates mainly to the General Fund. The Housing Revenue 
Account is subject to a separate and parallel budget process. As with other 
services, Housing funding is subject to the Spending Review. Income has  
reduced significantly, in line with the reduction in stock, and this will need to 
be matched by cost reductions to the HRA. The HRA currently has a healthy 
balance and reserves set aside to fund the cost of downsizing.  However if 
reserves should be used up, any deficits would then need to be met from the 
General Fund. 

  

8. SERVICE AND FINANCIAL PLANNING 2007 TO 2010 – PLANNING 
PARAMETERS AND OUTLINE PROCESS 

Principal parameters 

8.1. Against this background it is suggested that the following planning 
parameters should apply to service and financial planning for 2009/10, with 
the overall aim of providing sufficient flexibility to position the authority for the 
medium term, including providing scope for a degree of policy choice:- 

8.1.1. That inflation be funded at 2.25% for pay and 2.5% for other 
expenditure, for 2009/10 and 2010/11, and that the forecast of 2.5% 
for 2011/12 be noted. 

8.1.2. That committed growth in 2009/10 should be funded at the overall 
level currently projected for 2009/10 and 2010/11, subject to revised 
forecasts in respect of; 
- Facilities Management 
- London Pensions Fund Authority Levy 
- Capital Financing & Investment 
- Contributions to the Pensions Fund  

8.1.3. That Corporate Directors be requested to undertake a zero-based 
review of expenditure funded from Area Based Grant in 2008/09, as 
this exercise was not carried out as part of the last budget process.  

 
8.1.4. That any further committed growth identified above the level identified 

in the report be offset by further efficiencies and savings.  
 

Page 290



 

19 

Outline process and timetable 

8.2. In the last three years, the preparation of financial plans and proposals to 
meet the agreed planning parameters have been a component of broader 
Directorate Service & Financial Planning submissions encompassing factors 
which included performance, priorities, and user/customer and resident 
perception.   These submissions built on a range of existing information and 
performance review mechanisms and were the subject of challenge and 
review to inform the development of service and financial plans. 

8.3. It is now intended to build on this process by directly aligning strategic 
planning with the three year budget process.  Corporate Directors will 
therefore be asked to identify their key strategic initiatives for the next three 
years as part of the budget process, and these will be scrutinised alongside 
budget proposals.  

9. NEXT STEPS 
9.1 Budget Timetable 
 A timetable for the remaining stages of the budget process is shown at 

Appendix I. 
 9.2 Instructions to Officers  

 Following this meeting, the Corporate Director of Resources will issue 
instructions to officers to seek options for delivering the budget approach  
agreed by the Cabinet in accordance with the timetable.  

10. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 10.1 The comments of the Chief Financial Officer are the subject of this report. 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 11.1 The absence of a forward financial forecast would expose the Council to the 

risk of making decisions which are not sustainable in the longer term, or of 
missing opportunities which might only be identified through a longer term 
planning horizon.   Furthermore, inadequate integration of service and 
financial planning gives rise to the possibility of service planning without 
regard to affordability, or a budget that does not direct resources to service 
priorities.  

 11.2 This report, and its subsequent development, is intended to substantially 
address those risks. 

 11.3 The timetable includes provision to consider specific financial risks as part of 
the budget making process, initially in the Autumn.   The Director of 
Resources will report further to Members throughout the budget process. 

  

Page 291



 

20 

12. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
12.1 Local Government is required to achieve a 3.0% efficiency target in 2008/09 

and for each of the next two years. However, no target has been set for each 
individual authority and the priority for budget planning over the period which 
is the subject of this report will be to set balanced budgets which meet 
Council priorities.   

 
12.2. The efficiency and value for money implications of individual budget 

proposals will be set out as part of the budget process as it progresses.  
 
13. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 

13.1. Whilst there are no specific legal implications arising at this point, this report 
is written having regard to the legislative framework governing local 
government finance with recommendations which accord with that regime.  

 
14. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

14.1 Equalities considerations will be taken into account in the forecasts. 
 
15. ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

15.1 Anti-poverty considerations will be taken into account in the forecasts. 
 
16. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 16.1 SAGE considerations have been taken into account in the forecasts. 

Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



    APPENDIX E 

 
Area Based Grants 

     
Authority:  TOW ER HAMLETS Tower Hamlets    

                                                                                                                                                 
  Year       

Area Based Grant: 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
14-19 Flexible Funding Pot 0.064 0.067 0.069 0.071 
Adult Social Care Workforce  1.218 0.791 0.804 0.817 
Care Matters White Paper 0.040 0.308 0.489 0.599 
Carers  1.529 1.640 1.747 1.854 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 1.471 1.249 1.334 1.423 
Child Death Review Processes  0.000 0.097 0.101 0.107 
Children's Fund 1.395 1.395 1.395 1.395 
Children's Social Care Workforce  0.171 0.245 0.248 0.252 
Choice Advisers 0.059 0.073 0.073 0.073 
Cohesion 0.000 0.049 0.091 0.140 
Connexions 2.629 2.717 2.851 3.134 
Education Health Partnerships 0.111 0.111 0.111 0.111 
Extended Rights to Free Transport 0.000 0.001 0.002 0.004 
Extended Schools Start Up Costs 0.362 0.495 1.368 0.563 
Learning and Disability Development 0.000 0.342 0.345 0.348 
Local Involvement Networks 0.000 0.208 0.208 0.208 
Mental Capacity 0.097 0.152 0.190 0.181 
Mental Health 1.161 1.090 1.159 1.228 
Positive Activities for Young People 0.640 0.764 1.223 1.551 
Preserved Rights 1.058 0.997 0.954 0.914 
Primary National Strategy - Central… 0.152 0.142 0.142 0.142 
School Development Grant (LA Element) 17.653 1.603 1.603 1.603 
School Improvement Partners 0.063 0.099 0.099 0.099 
School Intervention Grant 0.062 0.062 0.062 0.062 
School Travel Advisers 0.027 0.027 0.027 0.027 
Secondary National Strategy - Behaviour… 0.068 0.068 0.068 0.068 
Secondary National Strategy - Central… 0.182 0.179 0.179 0.179 
Stronger Safer Communities    1.164 0.854 0.338 
Supporting People * 15.385 15.385 15.385 15.385 
Supporting People Administration 0.285 0.271 0.249 0.214 
Sustainable Travel General Duty 0.018 0.018 0.018 0.018 
Teenage Pregnancy 0.178 0.178 0.178 0.178 
Working Neighbourhood Fund 14.540 10.294   
Youth Taskforce 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 
Preventing Violent Extremism   0.365 0.450 0.534 
Young Persons' Substance Misuse Grant   0.288 0.288 0.288 
City Pathfinder   0.000 0.000 0.000 
Total (£m) 60.619 42.932 34.364 34.107 
        

Page 303



    APPENDIX E 

Less:  Working Neighbourhood Fund  **   10.294 TBA TBA 
        
Grant subject to zero-basing exercise  *   32.638 34.364 34.107 
        
     
     

   
 
 
*     Supporting People Grant may transfer to ABG with effect from 2009/10 and consequently, it will form 

part of the zero basing exercise.  
**    Working Neighbourhoods Fund will be subject to separate commissioning arrangements, subject of a 

separate report to Cabinet   
 
 
 
 

Page 304



 
         APPENDIX  F 
 
 
GENERAL FUND BALANCES  
 
 
 £ million  £ million 
Balance as at 31st March 2008   25.9  
   
Budgeted contribution to Reserves  
This contribution to reserves was approved by Budget Council 
on 27th February 2008  

1.2  

Contribution from Parking Control Account 
Indirect reimbursement from Parking Control Account surpluses 
to replenish General Fund reserves used to fund deficits in a 
previous financial year.   

0.5  

Projected under spend for 2008/09  
as at 30th June 2008  
On the basis of projections after the first quarter of the financial 
year, an under spend of £1.4m is projected  

1.4  

Sundry risks subject to confidential negotiations  
The authority is currently engaged in confidential contractual 
negotiations which are likely to result in payments by the 
Council which would need to be met from reserves. 

-5.5  

NNDR Overpayments 
Overpayments made to the Council in previous years by 
business ratepayers who are now untraceable 

 
 

1.3 
 

Local Area Business Growth Incentive 
It is proposed to ring fence £725,000 paid to the Council in 
2007/08 for allocation to priority schemes  

 
 

-0.7 
 

  -1.8 
Projected Balance as at 31st March 2009  24.1 
 

Page 305



Page 306

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 307



Page 308



  APPENDIX I 

   

BUDGET 2009/10 to 2011/12 TIMETABLE 

Technical stages in italics 

Decision-making stages in bold 

 

 Date   
Cabinet  30TH July 2008 Financial Review for the period 2009/10 to 

2010/11 and Forecast Projection for 2011/12 and 
beyond  
Report results of financial outlook, covering 
both revenue budget and Capital Programme. 
Agree budget strategy for 2009/10 and request 
officers to action.  

Consultation September 
2008- January 
2009 

Period available for budget consultation, subject to 
decision 

Corporate 
Directors  

5th September 
2008 

Deadline for return of detailed planning submissions 
as requested by Cabinet  

Officer/Lead 
Member 
Review 
Process  

September 
2008  

CMT Meeting to review submissions.  

Officer/ Lead 
Member 
Review 
Process 
 
 

Sept/ Nov. 2008 Challenge/ scrutiny of Directorate submissions.  
Dates to be confirmed.  
 

Cabinet  5th November 
2008 

CAPITAL STRATEGY & ASSET MANAGEMENT 
PLAN  
Agree Capital Strategy for 2009/10-2011/12 to 
provide strategic context for Capital Programme 
decisions. 

FSMT Sept/Oct 2008 Financial Services Management Team considers 
budget risks for 2009/10- 2011/12 

Page 309



  APPENDIX I 

   

CMT Oct/Nov  2008  Receives report of officer review group.  
Government  Mid November 

2008 onwards 
Announcement by Government Departments of 
specific grants and capital allocations.  

Strategic/ 
Service 
Planning 

September- 
December 2008 

Preparation of draft Strategic & Financial Plan.  

Cabinet  14th January 
2009 

Draft Strategic & Financial Plan 
Provisional Budget considered and proposals 
referred to Overview & Scrutiny.  
Service budget reports (including HRA) 
♦ Committed growth and savings  
♦ Directorate targets 
♦ Overall budget  
♦ Rent levels 

January – 
February  

 Constitutional period for consultation of Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee under the Budget & Policy 
Framework.  

Overview & 
Scrutiny  

10th February 
2009 

Considers Provisional Budget Proposals of 
Cabinet for Revenue Budget and Capital 
Programme 2009/10-2011/12 
 

Cabinet 11th February 
2009 

FINAL Strategic & Financial Plan  
REVENUE BUDGET - Final budget report  
(including HRA) 
♦ Integrated capital and revenue report  
♦ Prudential Indicators 
♦ Single Capital Pot Allocations 
♦ Council tax for LBTH 

Cabinet 11th February 
2009 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2009/10 –2011/12 
Agree capital programme and funding for 
2009/10-2011/12 

Page 310



  APPENDIX I 

   

 
Precept Mid February 

2009 
GLA agrees its precept 

Budget 
Council 

4th March 2009 Formally agrees budget and Council Tax 

Directorate 
Plans 

By end March 
2009  

Directorate plans developed from Strategic & 
Financial Plan  

 

Page 311



Page 312

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 
Committee: 
 

Date: Classification: Report No. Agenda Item  
Cabinet 30th July 2008  Unrestricted   

Report of: Title: 
 
Corporate Director - Resources    
Originating Officer: 
 
Alan Finch, Service Head Corporate 
Finance   

 
Financial Review 2011/12 – 2013/14 
 
Ward(s) Affected                     All 

 
1. SUMMARY 

1.1. A report elsewhere on this agenda, entitled “Resource Allocation and Budget 
Review 2009/10- 2010/11”, revisits the three year budget set by Members 
earlier in the year and identifies the planning parameters  which should apply 
to service and financial planning for 2009/10- 2010/11, with the overall aim 
of providing sufficient flexibility to deal with risk and provide scope for a 
degree of policy choice. 

1.2. This report sets out a forecast for the three year period, 2011-2014 which 
follows on from the period of the Government’s current Comprehensive 
Spending Review and the Council’s approved three year budget, and 
outlines the challenges that are likely to face the Council in that period.  The 
forecast will inform Members in making decisions about budget setting for 
the forthcoming period and the actions they should instigate now to enable 
the council to respond    

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

   
 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 2.1 Note the contents of the report.   
  2.2. Request Corporate Directors to identify proposals for efficiencies to address 

the projected funding gap identified from  2011/12 onwards.   
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10.4

Page 313



 

2 

 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT  ACT 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 

LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of "background papers" 

 
Tick if copy supplied for 
register 
 

 
If not supplied, name and 
telephone number of holder 
 

Held by Resources Directorate   
4th floor, Mulberry Place  

 Alan Finch  020-7364-4915 
Martin McGrath 020-7364-4645 

 

Page 314



 

3 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. Earlier this year, Members agreed the authority’s first ever three year budget, which 

identified balanced budget plans up to the end of March 2011.  A report elsewhere 
on this agenda reviews these budget plans and concludes that, although a number 
of issues have arisen in recent months which need to be taken into account in 
those plans, no further measures are currently required in order to ensure that the 
Council can manage within with the overall budget parameters already set.  Any 
budget actions taken in the period up to March 2011 can therefore be focused upon 
ensuring that budget plans meet the Council’s policy priorities.  

 
3.2. This report is concerned with the period from 2011/2014, which is not currently 

covered by any approved spending plans.   
 
 
4. FORECAST 2011/12 – 2013/14  

 
4.1. The year 2011/12 is the first year of the next three year Medium Term Plan to be 

agreed early in 2009. 2011/12  is also likely to be the first year of the next 
Government Comprehensive Spending Review,  which will also follow a planned 
review of grant distribution.   This forecast covers the period expected to be 
covered by that next CSR period.  Little information is available as to the 
Government’s plans for this period or the economic conditions that may prevail 
during that period.  Accordingly these figures should be regarded as planning 
forecasts.  
 
Inflation  

4.2. The impact of inflation in 2011/12 is dependent upon inflation and pay awards and 
other growth in the authority’s budget in the intervening period.    For planning 
purposes, and assuming that inflation remains close to Government targets, a 
forecast of 2.5% per year has been adopted. The impact of this is set out in the 
following table. 

    
Inflation – Annual increase £ million  
2011/12 7.026 
2012/13 7.201 
2013/14 7.381 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



 

4 

Committed Growth 
 
4.3. More detailed forecasts of committed growth for 2011/12 will be produced by 

officers during August and September.  As these are forecasts of costs not likely to 
be incurred for two to three years, these will be provisional and, as with the 2009/10 
and 2010/11 figures, will need to be kept under review.  

 
4.4. For the purposes of this forecast, figures have been prepared based on the trend in 

population and household growth in the Borough.  Greater London Authority 
forecasts suggest that the population Tower Hamlets will continue to grow at an 
average of around 2% a year, with household growth increasing by around 3% 
reflecting development and a tendency towards smaller family units.    

 
Committed Growth – Annual 
increase  

£ million  

2011/12 5.950 
2012/13 6.061 
2013/14 6.174 

 
4.5. In addition, Capital financing budgets will increase further over the period as the 

Government allocates capital funding in the form of supported borrowing.  Budgets 
will also be affected by the repayment of debt taken out in previous years. Overall, 
the expected impact  is to increase costs by approximately £1.9m in 2011/12, a 
further £2.3m in 2012/13 and a further £1.0m in 2013/14.  
 
Formula Grant 

 
4.5. The 2011/12 financial year will form part of the next Comprehensive Spending 

Review (CSR), and grant announcements for this year have therefore yet to be 
made.  However, unless the review of Formula Grant distribution for that year 
reverses the decisions made in the 2007 review (which seems unlikely), it is 
probable that the authority will remain at the grant floor for the whole of the next 
CSR cycle in addition to the current one.    

 
4.6. The level of the grant floor for 2011/12 will, again, not be known until the next CSR 

announcement. However, it  is assumed for this forecast that it will be set at the 
same level as in 2010/11, which is 1.5%.  

 
 Summary of Forecast  
 
 
4.7. Appendix A  sets out a summary of the forecast for 2011/12- 2013/14. This shows 

a forecast funding gap of just under £10.0m for the first year, increasing by a further  
to £8.5m in 2012/13 and a further £7.3m in 2013/14 and this would need to be met 
either from savings initiatives, or by bearing down on the level of committed growth 
assumed in the forecast.    

 

Page 316



 

5 

4.8. Although these efficiencies would not need to be implemented until 2011 at the 
earliest, it is important to begin the process of developing efficiency and cost 
reduction proposals immediately, to enable options to be evaluated and developed 
in the intervening period, and brought back for Member approval at the appropriate 
time. The longer the Council gives itself to develop its efficiency proposals the 
better our ability to contain cost pressures without impacting on service outcomes. 

4..9 The question may arise as to whether, in light of the projection for 2011/12-
2013/14, it is prudent for the authority to continue with its spending plans for 
2009/10 and 2010/11 and engage in additional investment during that period.    
Officers advice is that, although the position would be eased in 2011/12 if savings 
could be found now, there are sufficient resources to manage the budget in 
2009/10 -2010/11 and allow for a specified level of growth, as long as plans are 
also advanced for meeting the funding gap in 2011/12. This is facilitated by the fact 
that, as reported above, planned reserves are likely to be sufficient  to manage 
financial risks.  Containing spending now  would have the effect of building up 
reserves further during the period 2008-2011, to no particular advantage, and 
mitigating the funding gap in 2011/12, but not eliminating it.   

 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 5.1 The comments of the Chief Financial Officer are the subject of this report. 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 6.1 The absence of a forward financial forecast would expose the Council to the 

risk of making decisions which are not sustainable in the longer term, or of 
missing opportunities which might only be identified through a longer term 
planning horizon.   Furthermore, inadequate integration of service and 
financial planning gives rise to the possibility of service planning without 
regard to affordability, or a budget that does not direct resources to service 
priorities.  

 6.2 This report, together with the complementary report on this agenda covering 
the period 2008-2011, and its subsequent development, is intended to 
substantially address those risks. 

   
7. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  

7.1 Planning for the projected funding gap at this stage will increase the 
probability that savings can be found from efficiency measures which are 
developed and implemented over a timescale sufficient to optimise success. 
The efficiency and value for money implications of individual budget 
proposals will be set out as part of the budget process as it progresses.   

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 

8.1. There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report  

Page 317



 

6 

 
9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The equalities considerations of budget proposals will need to be taken into 
account in detailed budget proposals. 

 
10. ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The Anti-poverty considerations of budget proposals will need to be taken 
into account in detailed budget proposals.  

 
11. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 11.1 The SAGE considerations of budget proposals will need to be taken into 

account in detailed budget proposals.   
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A – Financial Planning Forecast 2001/12 – 2013/14 (Summary Forecast) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



APPENDIX A 

FINANCIAL PLANNING FORECAST  2011/12- 2013/14

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

£'000 £'000 £'000

Initial Budget 306,030 312,872 319,919

Transfer from Specific Grant

Inflation  7,026 7,201 7,381

Committed Growth 

Provision for unidentified growth 5,950 6,061 6,174

Savings

Additional savings target -9,949 -8,559 -7,295

Capital Financing & Investment 1865 2344 1000

Facilities Management

LPFA Levy 950

Service Improvement Growth -300

less funding from LPSA Reward Grant 300

Sub 311,872 319,919 327,179

Changes in Contributions to Reserves

Decent Homes 1,000

Budget Requirement 312,872 319,919 327,179

Formula Grant  -235,687 -239,222 -242,811  

Collection Fund Surplus 0 0 0

77,185 80,697 84,368

Indicative Band D Council Tax £932.20 £955.51 £979.39

Change in Council Tax 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%   

18/07/2008

Page 319



Page 320

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Committee: 
 
Cabinet 

Date: 
 
30 July 2008 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 
 

Report 
No. 
 
 

Agenda Item 
No. 
 

 
Report of: 
 
Michael Keating, Acting Assistant Chief 
Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s): 
 
Shanara Matin, Scrutiny Policy Officer  
 

Title:  
 
Use of Consultants: responses to the 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1  This report submits the responses to the recommendations of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee Working Group on the Use of Consultants. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1  Approve the action plan in response to the recommendations from the Overview and 

Scrutiny Working Group on Use of Consultants attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.2  Consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Working Group on Use 

of Consultants attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) Section 100D 
LOST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
Background paper  
 
 
Scrutiny Review File held in Scrutiny Policy Team  

Name and telephone of and address where open to 
inspection 
 
Shanara Matin 
020 7364 4548 

 

Agenda Item 10.5

Page 321



 2

3. Background 
 
3.1  The Working Group was established in September 2007 to investigate the use of 

consultants within the Council.   
 
3.2 The objectives of the review were to: 

• investigate the reasons for the use of consultants 
• evaluate the effectiveness of the work undertaken by consultants within the 

authority using case studies 
• consider the costs involved in using consultants and to compare these costs with 

other similar local authorities 
• use the findings as the basis for recommendations on further developing policies on 

use of consultants 
• consider the improvement in this area of procurement being implemented by the 

Council and identify any further areas of improvement 
 
3.3 The working group met three times to review financial reports, procurement policies 

and procedures and the results of research into other local authority and public sector 
experiences of using consultants. 

 
 
4. Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 
4.1  There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report 
 
5. Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
5.1 There should not be additional cost implications arising to the Council from 

implementing the working group's recommendations as they are aimed at improving 
current procurement processes for consultants. It should be possible to meet 
implementation of the proposed improvements from existing Directorate budgets. 

 
5.2 Implementing the working group's recommendations would improve the future 

financial management and control of Council spending on consultants. 
 
5.3 Implementing the working group's recommendation should also lead to improved 

value for money/best value in future through greater use of internal staff for projects 
and more effective spending on consultants that are appointed. 

 
 
6. Equal Opportunity Implications 
 
6.1  There are no direct equal opportunity implications arising from this report. 
 
7. Anti-Poverty Implications 
 
7.1  There are no direct Anti-Poverty implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
 
8.1  There are no direct actions for a greener environment arising from the report. 
 
9. Risk Management 

Page 322



 3

 
9.1  There are no direct risk management implications arising from the Working Group’s 

report or recommendations. 
 
Appendices 
1: Action Plan and response to Scrutiny Working Group Report on Use of Consultants. 
2: Report of the Scrutiny Working Group for Excellent Public Services 
 
 

Page 323



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

1 
Re

sp
on

se
 to

 Sc
ru

tin
y W

or
kin

g G
ro

up
 R

ep
or

t o
n U

se
 of

 C
on

su
lta

nts
 

 Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

 R1
 

Th
at 
the
 fo
llo
win

g c
rite
ria
 an
d 

de
fin
itio
n o
f a
 co
ns
ult
an
t to
 be
 

ad
op
ted
 ac
ros
s t
he
 C
ou
nc
il. 

Co
ns
ult
an
ts:
 

• 
Ha
ve
 a 
de
fin
ed
 w
ork
 sc
op
e 

wit
h d
eli
ve
rab

les
 

• 
Of
ten
 pr
ov
ide
 a 
rep
ort
 as
 an
 

ou
tpu
t th
at 
pro

vid
es
 

rec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s f
or 
fur
the
r 

ac
tio
n b
ut 
the
 co
ns
ult
an
t is
 

no
t c
on
tra
cte
d t
o d
eli
ve
r a
t 

tha
t ti
me
. 

• 
Ha
ve
 pa
ym
en
t c
on
tin
ge
nt 

up
on
 co
mp
let
ion
 of
 st
ag
ed
 

co
mp
let
ion
 of
 th
e w

ork
 

• 
Do
 no
t a
ct 
as
 st
aff
 m
em
be
rs 

i.e
. d
o n
ot 
ha
ve
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml
ets
 e-
ma
il a
dd
res
se
s, 

ph
on
e n
um
be
rs 
or 
de
sk
s. 

• 
Ma
y b
e a
ble
 to
 pr
ov
ide
 a 

su
bs
titu
te 
to 
un
de
rta
ke
 th
e 

wo
rk 

• 
Ar
e n
ot 
in 
a t
em
pla
ted
 

po
sit
ion
 fo
r th

e p
urp

os
es
 of
 

the
 C
om
en
su
ra 
co
ntr
ac
t –
 i.e
. 

the
y d
o n
ot 
rel
ate
 to
 st
an
da
rd 

job
s w

ith
in 
the
 C
ou
nc
il, 
wh
ich
 

co
uld
 be
 pr
ov
ide
d b
y e
ith
er 

pe
rm
an
en
t o
r te
mp
ora
ry 
sta
ff 

• 
Ar
e c
on
tra
ctu
all
y r
es
po
ns
ibl
e 

 Th
ere

 is
 te
nd
en
cy
 fo
r t
he
 te
rm
 ‘c
on
su
lta
nc
y’ 
to 
be
 

us
ed
 fa
irly
 lo
os
ely
 a
nd
 s
om
eti
me
s 
pe
jor
ati
ve
ly,
 It
 is
 

us
efu
l fo

r t
he
 C
ou
nc
il t
o 
ha
ve
 a
 d
efi
nit
ion
 o
f w

ha
t is

 
me
an
t b
y c
on
su
lta
nc
y, 
no
t le

as
t t
o 
en
ab
le 
gu
ide
lin
es
 

an
d 
sta
nd
ard

s f
or 
the
 p
roc
ure
me
nt 
of 
co
ns
ult
an
ts 
to 

be
 es
tab
lish

ed
 an
d i
f n
ec
es
sa
ry 
en
for
ce
d. 
 

 Th
is 
de
fin
itio
n h

as
 be

en
 ad

op
ted
 fo
r fi
na
nc
ial
 pl
an
nin
g 

an
d 
mo
nit
ori
ng
 p
urp
os
es
, a
nd
 a
ll f
utu
re 
rep
ort
ing
 o
f 

the
 co
sts
 of
 co
ns
ult
an
cy
 w
ill f
oll
ow
 th
is 
de
fin
itio
n. 
   

 Th
is 
wil
l b
e 
rei
nfo
rce
d 
wit
h 
co
ns
ult
an
cy
 g
uid
an
ce
 o
n 

the
 P
roc
ure

me
nt 
int
ran
et 
pa
ge
, a
nd
 de

tai
led
 gu

ida
nc
e 

wil
l b
e i
nc
lud
ed
 in
 th
e C

on
tra
cti
ng
 To

olk
it, 
wh
ich
 is
 du
e 

to 
be
 pu
bli
sh
ed
 on
 th
e i
ntr
an
et 
du
rin
g S

um
me
r 2
00
8. 
 

 Ala
n F

inc
h, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Fin
an
ce
 

       Ric
ha
rd 

Pa
rso
ns
, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
& 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

 Ap
ril 
20
08
  

          Ju
ly 
20
08
 

Page 324



 
5

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

for
 th
eir
 ou
tpu
ts 

• 
Ar
e l
iab
le 
for
 th
eir
 ow

n 
pe
rfo
rm
an
ce
 an
d t
he
 co
nte
nt 

of 
the
ir w

ork
 

  R 
2 

Th
at 
fut
ure
 w
ork
 on
 th
e 

pro
cu
rem

en
t s
tra
teg
y t
o i
nc
lud
e 

pro
gra

mm
e o
f a
cti
vit
ies
 to
 he
lp 

dis
se
mi
na
te 
an
d e
mb
ed
 

pro
cu
rem

en
t re

lat
ed
 po
lici
es
 

wit
hin
 th
e o
rga

nis
ati
on
, e
.g.
 

pre
se
nta
tio
ns
 at
 al
l D
ire
cto
rat
e 

Ma
na
ge
me
nt 
Te
am
 m
ee
tin
gs
 an
d 

off
ice
r tr
ain
ing
.  

 

 Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
str
ate
gy
 is
 d
ue
 to
 b
e 
rev
iew

ed
 d
uri
ng
 

20
08
, th

rou
gh
 th
e C

orp
ora

te 
Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
Bo
ard

, w
ith
 

wid
e 
co
ns
ult
ati
on
 a
cro
ss
 th

e 
Co
un
cil.
 T
his
 w
ill 
be
 

ba
ck
ed
 u
p b

y w
ork
sh
op
s a

nd
 tr
ain
ing
 to
 p
rom

ote
 th
e 

ne
w 
str
ate
gy
. 

   A 
Pr
oc
ure

me
nt 
Co
de
 o
f P
rac
tic
e 
is 
cu
rre
ntl
y i
n 
dra
ft 

for
m,
 
rev
iew

ing
 
the
 
pro

cu
rem

en
t 

rul
es
 
an
d 

pro
ce
du
res
. T
he
 do

cu
me
nt 
wil
l c
ov
er 
ma
tte
rs 
rel
ati
ng
 

to 
the
 co
mm

iss
ion
ing
 of
 co
ns
ult
an
ts.
 

  Co
ns
ult
ati
on
 h
as
 co

mm
en
ce
d 
on
 a
 re
str
uc
tur
e 
of 
the
 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
Se
rvi
ce
, w
ith
 th
e o

bje
cti
ve
 of
 de

ve
lop
ing
 

a m
ore

 pr
oa
cti
ve
 ap

pro
ac
h, 
wh
ich
 co

ve
rs 
all
 no

n-p
ay
 

sp
en
d t
hro
ug
ho
ut 
the
 w
ho
le 
co
ntr
ac
tin
g c

yc
le.
 T
his
 is
 

ba
se
d 
aro

un
d 
Ca
teg
ory
 M

an
ag
em
en
t, 
wh
ere

by
 a
ll 

sp
en
d 

is 
div
ide
d 

int
o 

fou
r 

bro
ad
 
ca
teg
ori
es
 

(C
on
str
uc
tio
n 
& 

Re
pa
irs
; 
Ca
re 

& 
Co
mm

iss
ion
ing
; 

En
vir
on
me
nt 

& 
Fa
cili
tie
s; 

Co
rpo

rat
e 
Se
rvi
ce
s),
 a
nd
 

Ca
teg
ory
 M
an
ag
ers
 w
ill 
ha
ve
 st
rat
eg
ic 
ste
wa
rds
hip
 of
 

the
ir 
no
mi
na
ted
 c
ate
go
rie
s. 
Us
ing
 th
is 
ap
pro
ac
h 
wil
l 

he
lp 
to 
dis
se
mi
na
te 
an
d e

mb
ed
 ef
fec
tiv
e p

oli
cie
s a

nd
 

pro
ce
du
res
 ac
ros
s t
he
 or
ga
nis
ati
on
. 

 Of
fic
er 

tra
ini
ng
 i
s 
cu
rre
ntl
y 
av
ail
ab
le 

thr
ou
gh
 t
he
  Ric

ha
rd 

Pa
rso
ns
, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
& 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

       

 Dr
aft
 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

Str
ate
gy
 by
 

Oc
t 2
00
8, 
for
 

ap
pro

va
l b
y 

De
c 2
00
8. 

  Co
de
 of
 

Pr
ac
tic
e t
o 

be
 fin
ali
se
d 

by
 O
cto
be
r 

20
08
. 

 Re
str
uc
tur
e 

co
mp
let
e b
y 

No
ve
mb
er 

20
08
. 

         Av
ail
ab
le 

Page 325



 
6

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

co
rpo

rat
e 
tra
ini
ng
 p
rog
ram

me
. T
he
 s
tan
da
rd 
tra
ini
ng
 

co
ns
ist
s o

f th
ree
 m
od
ule
s (
Es
se
nti
als
 of
 P
roc
ure
me
nt 

& 
Co
ntr
ac
t 
La
w;
 L

ett
ing
 P

roc
ure
me
nt 

Co
ntr
ac
ts;
 

Co
ntr
ac
t 
Ma
na
ge
me
nt)
, 
bu
t 
the
 t
rai
nin
g 

wil
l 
be
 

ad
ap
ted
 f
or 

sp
ec
ific
 r
eq
uir
em
en
ts,
 s
uc
h 
as
 l
arg

e 
co
ns
ult
an
cy
 co
ntr
ac
ts.
 

 All
 h
igh
 v
alu
e 
co
ntr
ac
ts 

(ov
er 

£2
50
K)
 r
eq
uir
e 
the
 

ap
pro

va
l o
f C

om
pe
titi
on
 B
oa
rd,
 a
nd
 a
 n
ew
 p
roj
ec
t 

ap
pra

isa
l p
roc
es
s o
f “t
oll
ga
tes
” h
as
 be
en
 in
tro
du
ce
d t
o 

fac
ilita

te 
thi
s. 
To
llg
ate
s a

sk
 ta
rge

ted
 q
ue
sti
on
s a

bo
ut 

the
 c
lie
nt’
s 
ap
pro
ac
h 
to 

the
 c
on
tra
ct,
 a
nd
 m

ak
e 

rec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s f
or 
im
pro

ve
me
nt.
 T
he
y a
lso
 pr
ov
ide
 

the
 o
pp
ort
un
ity
 f
or 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

to 
ide
nti
fy 

ga
ps
, 

pro
vid
e 

su
pp
ort
 
an
d 

pro
mo
te 

go
od
 
pra
cti
ce
 
in 

co
ntr
ac
tin
g. 

 Pr
es
en
tat
ion
s 
for
 D
ire
cto
rat
e 
off
ice
rs 
to 
be
 a
rra
ng
ed
 

Su
mm

er 
/ A

utu
mn
 2
00
8. 

Th
es
e 
wil
l f
oc
us
 o
n 
the
 

em
erg

ing
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

Str
ate
gy
, 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

Co
de
 o
f 
Pr
ac
tic
e, 

an
d 
the
 c
ate
go
ry 

ma
na
ge
me
nt 
ap
pro

ac
h. 

no
w 

      To
llg
ate
s 

cu
rre
ntl
y 

be
ing
 

tria
lle
d. 
Fu
ll 

im
ple
me
nta
ti

on
 by
 

Oc
tob
er 

20
08
. 

  Oc
tob
er 

20
08
 

 R 
3 

Th
at 
fin
an
cia
l re
po
rtin
g o
n 

pro
cu
rem

en
t o
f c
on
su
lta
nc
y 

se
rvi
ce
s s
ho
uld
 cl
ea
rly
 id
en
tify
 

so
urc
e o
f fu
nd
ing
 an
d r
ing
-fe
nc
ed
 

fun
din
g s
uc
h a
s S

ec
tio
n 1
06
 or
 

Lo
tte
ry 
Fu
nd
s. 
  

 

 It i
s i
mp
ort
an
t fo

r t
he
 au

tho
rity
 pr
op
erl
y t
o m

an
ag
e a

ll 
fun
ds
 f
or 

wh
ich
 i
t 
is 

res
po
ns
ibl
e. 

 T
he
 u
se
 o
f 

co
ns
ult
an
cy
 i
s 
so
me
tim
es
 p
art
icu
lar
ly 

va
lua
ble
 i
n 

rel
ati
on
 to
 o
ne
-of
f p
roj
ec
ts 
or 
pro

gra
mm

es
, f
or 
wh
ich
 

on
e-o
ff 

fun
din
g 

str
ea
ms
 a

re 
oft
en
 u

se
d. 

Fu
tur
e 

fin
an
cia
l re
po
rts
 w
ill i
de
nti
fy 
se
pa
rat
e f
un
din
g s
tre
am
s 

 Th
e 
Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

Se
rvi
ce
 e
mp
loy
s 
va
rio
us
 to

ols
 to
 

tra
ck
 e
xp
en
dit
ure
, 
wh
ich
 w

ill 
inf
orm

 t
he
 C

ate
go
ry 

Pla
ns
. A
rea

s 
wh
ere

 c
on
su
lta
nts
 a
re 
wid

ely
 u
se
d 
wil
l 

be
 e
xa
mi
ne
d 
in 
the
 c
ate
go
ry 
pla
nn
ing
 p
roc
es
s, 
an
d 

 Ala
n F

inc
h, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Fin
an
ce
 

   Ric
ha
rd 

Pa
rso
ns
, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
& 

 Ma
y 2
00
8 

      Ju
ne
 20
08
 – 

Ma
rch
 20
09
 

Page 326



 
7

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

alt
ern

ati
ve
 m

ea
ns
 o
f 
ac
hie
vin
g 
ob
jec
tiv
es
 w

ill 
be
 

en
co
ura

ge
d 
thr
ou
gh
 a
 s
tan
da
rd 
ap
pro

ac
h 
to 
op
tio
ns
 

ap
pra

isa
l. 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

 R4
 

Th
at 
tar
ge
ts 
for
 re
du
cin
g 

ex
pe
nd
itu
re 
on
 co
ns
ult
an
ts 

sh
ou
ld 
be
 hi
gh
lig
hte
d a
s a
n 

ob
jec
tiv
e i
n t
he
 To

we
r H
am
let
s 

Str
ate
gic
 Pl
an
.  T

he
 C
orp

ora
te 

Ma
na
ge
me
nt 
Te
am
 to
 se
t 

ind
ica
tiv
e t
arg

ets
 an
d f
or 

pro
gre

ss
 to
 be
 re
po
rte
d b
ac
k. 

 Th
e 
au
tho
rity
 s
pe
nd
s 
rel
ati
ve
ly 
litt
le 
on
 c
on
su
lta
nts
 

(ar
ou
nd
 0
.1%

 o
f t
ota
l s
pe
nd
 o
n 
av
era

ge
 o
ve
r r
ec
en
t 

ye
ars
), 
an
d e

xp
en
dit
ure
 va

rie
s m

ark
ed
ly 
fro
m 
ye
ar 
to 

ye
ar.
  
Of
ten
 e
xp
en
dit
ure

 o
n 
co
ns
ult
an
ts 
is 
the
 m
os
t 

eff
ec
tiv
e w

ay
 of
 de

live
rin
g b

en
efi
ts 
to 
the
 co

mm
un
ity
.  

It 
is 

pro
po
se
d 

tha
t, 
wh
ile
 C

MT
 s
ho
uld
 m

on
ito
r 

ex
pe
nd
itu
re 
on
 c
on
su
lta
nts
, s
ett
ing
 a
 ta
rge
t m

ay
 b
e 

co
un
ter
-pr
od
uc
tiv
e 
in 

the
 lo

ng
 r
un
, a

nd
 th

e 
foc
us
 

sh
ou
ld 
ins
tea
d 
be
 o
n 
as
su
ran

ce
 th
at 
co
ns
ult
an
ts 
are
 

us
ed
 in
 th
e 
rig
ht 
cir
cu
ms
tan
ce
s a

nd
 th
eir
 ou

tpu
ts 
are

 
mo
nit
ore

d a
nd
 m
an
ag
ed
 co
rre
ctl
y. 
  

 Ala
n F

inc
h, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Fin
an
ce
 

 

 

R5
 

Th
at 
dir
ec
tor
ate
s r
ev
iew

 
ex
pe
nd
itu
re 
on
 co
ns
ult
an
ts 
to 

as
se
ss
 th
e e
xte
nt 
to 
wh
ich
 th
ey
 

are
 us
ed
 an
d t
o e
sta
bli
sh
 a 

ba
se
lin
e f
or 
rev
iew

ing
 th
eir
 us
e o
f 

co
ns
ult
an
ts.
  D
ire
cto
rat
es
 sh
ou
ld 

ide
nti
fy 
are

as
 an
d s
et 
tar
ge
ts 
for
 

red
uc
ing
 fu
tur
e s
pe
nd
 in
 

ali
gn
me
nt 
wit
h t
he
 C
ou
nc
il’s
 

ho
riz
on
tal
 sa
vin
gs
 ex
erc
ise
. 

 

 (S
ee
 R
4) 
 

 
 

 R 
6 

Th
at 
dir
ec
tor
ate
s s
ho
uld
 

inc
rea

sin
gly
 us
e i
nte
rna
l 

se
co
nd
me
nts
 an
d g
rad
ua
te 

tra
ine
es
 fo
r o
ne
-of
f p
roj
ec
ts,
 ty
ing
 

in 
wit
h t
he
 co
rpo
rat
e a
pp
roa

ch
 to
 

 Dir
ec
tor
ate
s s
ho
uld
 co
ns
ide
r t
he
 im

pli
ca
tio
ns
 of
 us

ing
 

co
ns
ult
an
ts 
in 
pre
fer
en
ce
 to
 st
aff
 a
nd
 re
str
ict
 th
e u

se
 

of 
co
ns
ult
an
ts 
to 
tho
se
 a
rea

s 
wh
ere

 lo
ca
l c
ap
ac
ity
 

ca
nn
ot 
de
live

r th
e s
am
e o
utp
uts
.  

 

 Ala
n F

inc
h, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Fin
an
ce
 

 

 

Page 327



 
8

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

de
ve
lop
ing
 st
aff
. 

 
  Th
is 

ad
vic
e 
wil
l 
be
 i
nc
lud
ed
 i
n 
the
 P

roc
ure
me
nt 

int
ran

et 
pa
ge
s, 

bu
t 
res
po
ns
ibi
lity
 
for
 
ex
plo
rin
g 

se
co
nd
me
nts
 a
nd
 tr
ain
ee
s 
mu
st 
lie
 w
ith
in 
ind
ivid

ua
l 

Se
rvi
ce
 ar
ea
s. 
 

  Ric
ha
rd 

Pa
rso
ns
, 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
& 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

 
R 
7 

Th
at 
op
tio
ns
 sh
ou
ld 
be
 ex
plo
red

 
to 
en
ab
le 
the
 co
rpo
rat
e 

Co
ns
ult
ati
on
 an
d I
nv
olv
em
en
t 

tea
m 
to 
be
co
me
 a 
ga
tek
ee
pe
r fo

r 
pro

cu
rin
g e
xte
rna

l c
on
su
lta
tio
n 

se
rvi
ce
s. 

 

Th
e 

Be
st 

Va
lue
 
Re
vie
w 

of 
Co
ns
ult
ati
on
 
an
d 

Inv
olv
em
en
t  
ide
nti
fie
d a

 nu
mb
er 
of 
rec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s 

to 
ad
op
t g
oo
d p

rac
tic
e a
nd
 ra
tio
na
lise

 th
e c
on
su
lta
tio
n 

an
d 
en
ga
ge
me
nt 
ac
tiv
itie
s a

cro
ss
 th
e 
Co
un
cil,
 w
hic
h 

are
 ye

t to
 be

 im
ple
me
nte
d. 
 T
his
 is
 an

 op
po
rtu
nit
y t
o 

tak
e f
orw

ard
 th
es
e r
ec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s. 
  

 1. 
 Pr
op
os
ed
 co
ns
ult
ati
on
 ac
tiv
itie
s t
o b
e a
pp
rov
ed
 by
 

the
 Pa

rtic
ipa
tio
n a
nd
 En

ga
ge
me
nt 
tea
m 
an
d t
o 

de
ve
lop
 an
d a
gre

e a
 se
t o
f g
uid
eli
ne
s d
eta
ilin
g t
he
 

ap
pro

va
l p
roc
es
s. 
 

 In 
ord
er 
to 
fac
ilita

te 
the
 ga
tek
ee
pe
r ro

le 
it i
s p
rop
os
ed
 

tha
t C
MT

 no
mi
na
te 
Co
ns
ult
ati
on
 Le
ad
s i
n D

ire
cto
rat
es
 

an
d 
for
 P

art
ne
r 
Or
ga
nis
ati
on
s 
to 

no
mi
na
te 

lea
d 

pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n s
taf
f w
ith
in 
the
ir o
rga

nis
ati
on
s. 

 2. 
 To

 de
ve
lop
 a 
sh
are
d r
es
ou
rce
 fo
r u
nd
ert
ak
ing
 

op
ini
on
 re
se
arc
h t
hro
ug
h t
he
 de
ve
lop
me
nt 
of 

pro
po
sa
ls 
wit
h E

PS
 C
PA
G.
 

 
 

Op
tio
ns
 w
ill 
be
 e
xp
lor
ed
 fo
r g
rea

ter
 s
ha
red
 w
ork
ing
 

ac
ros
s C

ou
nc
il D

ire
cto
rat
es
.  
An
y a

dd
itio
na
l a
cti
vit
ies
 

wil
l 
ne
ed
 t
o 

be
 m

et 
thr
ou
gh
 e

xis
tin
g 

res
ou
rce
 

arr
an
ge
me
nts
. 

Su
e R

itc
hie
, 

Ac
tin
g H

ea
d o
f 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n 

an
d 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 

  

       Ma
rch
 08
 

    Ma
rch
 08
 

        

Page 328



 
9

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

n 
Re

sp
on

se
 / C

om
me

nts
 

Re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y 

Da
te 

 A 
joi
nt 
po
st 
is 
cu
rre
ntl
y b
ein
g e
xp
lor
ed
 w
ith
 th
e P

CT
 at
 

the
 m
om
en
t to
 co
ord

ina
te 
ac
tiv
ity
 w
ith
 th
e P

CT
 th
ou
gh
 

no
t fo
cu
se
d o
n t
rai
nin
g o
r d
eli
ve
ry.
 

 
     

Page 329



Appendix 2 
 

Use of Consultants 
 

Report of the Scrutiny Working Group for Excellent Public Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Tower Hamlets Council 
February 2008 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 330



 2

Index 
 
 
 Page 
  

Acknowledgements 5 

Chair’s foreword 6 

Recommendations  7 

Introduction 8 

Findings 10 

Conclusion  21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 331



 3

Acknowledgements 
 
 
The Working Group would like to thank officers and colleagues for taking part and supporting 
the review. 
 
 
Working Group chair 
Cllr Mohammed Abdus Salique (Labour) 
 
Working Group 
Cllr Helal U. Abbas (Labour) 
Cllr Anwara Ali (Labour) 
Cllr Stephanie Eaton (Liberal Democrats) 
Cllr Abjol Miah (Respect) 
Cllr Lutfur Rahman (Labour) 
Cllr Simon Rouse (Conservative) 
 
Councillors who took part in the Review 
Cllr Alibor Choudhury (Labour) 
Cllr Marc Francis (Labour) 
Cllr Alex Heslop (Labour) 
Cllr Joshua Peck (Labour) – Lead Member for Performance and Resources 
Cllr Salim Ullah (Labour) 
 
Council Officers 
Sara Williams – Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Finance & Procurement 
Alan Finch – Service Head, Corporate Finance 
Nick Walker – Interim Service Head, Procurement 
Richard Parsons – Service Head, Procurement & Corporate Programmes 
Imran Yasin – Strategic Procurement Manager 
 
Strategy & Performance 
Alan Steward – Interim Service Head, Strategy & Performance 
Stephanie Ford – Performance Officer 
 
Development & Renewal 
Anne-Marie Berni - Acting Team Leader, Development Schemes 
Lisa Durban - Major Development Project Planner 
 
Scrutiny and Equalities: 
Michael Keating – Service Head, Scrutiny & Equalities 
Afazul Hoque – Acting Scrutiny Policy Manager 
Shanara Matin – Scrutiny Policy Officer 
 

Page 332



 4

Chair’s foreword 
 
 
I am pleased to present the Excellent Public Services Scrutiny Working Group’s report on the 
Use of Consultants by Tower Hamlets Council.  
The use of consultants by local authorities is an area of local government which is 
controversial and much debated.  There is a need, however, to balance public scepticism 
about the use of resources on consultants against the value external skills and expertise can 
bring to in-house capacity in improving public services.  The Council will continue to need 
and use consultants as and when appropriate, but it is important to ensure consultants are 
procured and managed well.  
Council officers need to have flexibility over when and how to use consultants to best meet 
service needs.  There are for example areas where consultants are required to provide 
independence and objective oversight on issues such as senior levels of recruitment or to 
carry out sustainability appraisals of Local Development Documents.  The case studies 
considered as part of this review also highlighted areas where consultants are used to lever 
in specialist skills and services that bring in innovation and techniques that the Council does 
not currently have.  The key objective of this review has been to ensure that use of 
consultants is appropriate but also that there is robust procurement and management of 
these contracts and that we can demonstrate value for money.  The working group were 
pleased to find that there is no evidence of inappropriate use of resources or that spending 
on consultants in LBTH is out of step with other authorities. 
This report outlines the review process the findings and discussion undertaken by Members. 
It concludes with the recommendations which will be put to Cabinet.  I believe that the 
recommendations the working group have made will further improve the way that consultants 
are engaged and managed by the Council. 
 
I would like to thank all those who have been involved and my colleagues on the review 
working group for the way in which they have contributed to the findings in this report. 
 
I would also like to thank Officers for their help and assistance.  
 
 
 
       Cllr Mohammed Abdus-Salique 
       Scrutiny Lead, Excellent Public Services

Page 333



 5

Recommendations 
 
 
The working group recommendations set out the areas requiring consideration and action by 
the Council to ensure consultants are used more effectively and where possible to reduce 
their use by considering in-house capacity and scope for developing skills amongst existing 
staff first.  The working group recognise that there is ongoing work to improve policies and 
procedures around procuring consultants and have developed recommendations that add to 
existing work streams on the area.  The key areas covered by the recommendations are 
developing a corporate approach to procuring consultants, reducing dependency and 
capacity-building existing staff to take on project work wherever possible.   
 
Based on the findings of the review the working group recommend: 
 
R1 That the following criteria and definition of a consultant to be adopted across the 

Council. 
 

Consultants: 
• Have a defined work scope with deliverables 
• Often provide a report as an output that provides recommendations for further 

action but the consultant is not contracted to deliver at that time. 
• Have payment contingent upon completion of staged completion of the work 
• Do not act as staff members i.e. do not have Tower Hamlets e-mail addresses, 

phone numbers or desks. 
• May be able to provide a substitute to undertake the work 
• Are not in a templated position for the purposes of the Comensura contract – i.e. 

they do not relate to standard jobs within the Council, which could be provided by 
either permanent or temporary staff 

• Are contractually responsible for their outputs 
• Are liable for their own performance and the content of their work 

 
R 2 That future work on the procurement strategy to include programme of activities to 

help disseminate and embed procurement related policies within the organisation, e.g. 
presentations at all Directorate Management Team meetings and officer training.  

 
R 3 That financial reporting on procurement of consultancy services should clearly identify 

source of funding and ring-fenced funding such as Section 106 or Lottery Funds.   
 
R4 That targets for reducing expenditure on consultants should be highlighted as an 

objective in the Tower Hamlets Strategic Plan.  The Corporate Management Team to 
set indicative targets and for progress to be reported back. 

 
R5 That directorates review expenditure on consultants to assess the extent to which they 

are used and to establish a baseline for reviewing their use of consultants.  
Directorates should identify areas and set targets for reducing future spend in 
alignment with the Council’s horizontal savings exercise. 

 
R 6 That directorates should increasingly use internal secondments and graduate trainees 

for one-off projects, tying in with the corporate approach to developing staff. 
 
R 7 That options should be explored to enable the corporate Consultation and 

Involvement team to become a gatekeeper for procuring external consultation 
services. 

Page 334



 6

Introduction  
 
 
1. The use of consultants by the public sector is often treated with suspicion and criticised 

as wasteful of public funds.  It is also an area of interest and concern amongst elected 
Members and local people because of a perceived lack of transparency about how 
expenditure on consultants is prioritised and seen as taking funding away from service 
provision. Nevertheless, in the right circumstances, consultants provide an invaluable 
service to local authorities, allowing specialist skills to be brought in for projects where 
existing staff might not have the capacity or skills to undertake. Thus consultants can 
offer value for money if used appropriately. 

 
2.  The working group to review the use of consultants by the Tower Hamlets Council was 

set up in September 2007.  The intention was to review the context in which consultants 
are engaged, the extent to which they are used within the Council and the policies in 
place to ensure value for money during the commissioning and management of work 
delivered by consultants.  

 
3. It was agreed that this review would not be looking into the use of interim or agency staff 

and professional services used by the Council for example for legal or planning work.   
 
4. The working group agreed the following review objectives: 
 

• To investigate the reasons for the use of consultants 
• To evaluate the effectiveness of the work undertaken by consultants within the 
 authority using case studies 
• To consider the costs involved in using consultants and to compare these costs 

with other similar local authorities 
• To use the findings as the basis for recommendations on further developing 

policies on use of consultants 
• To identify and consider the areas for improvement in procurement and how it 

should be implemented by the Council. 
 

5. The working group recognised that consultants need to be used to lever in additional 
skills and expertise to help improve and deliver the best possible services for local 
people.  They felt however that there needed to be a better understanding of the extent 
to which consultants are used within the council and investigate alternative options to 
bringing in external resources. 

 
6. Members also agreed that the review was an opportunity to further develop Member 

involvement to achieve efficiency targets as part of the efficiency agenda and support it 
to be embedded across the Council.  

 
7. The strategic responsibility for how and when consultants are engaged falls within the 

remit of the Procurement Team within the Council.   Given the introspective nature of the 
review into operational issues within the Council Members were keen to look at regional 
comparisons and wider good practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 335



 7

8. With these objectives in mind the working group agreed the following schedule of work 
for carrying out the review: 

 
Introductory Review Meeting (October 2007) 

 
• Introduction to Review topic and focus (agree scope) 
• ‘Setting the context’ discussion with Officers 

- Definition of consultants; 
- Existing policy on use of consultants  
- Results of desk based research on best practice guidance from Audit 

Commission, Officers, London Centre of Excellence, professional bodies 
such as CIPFA 

 
Second Meeting (November 2007) 
 

• National evidence on use of consultants and trends, including benchmarking 
opportunities. 

• Case Study - Master Planning and Business Process Improvement 
• Cost of Consultants: Analysis 

 
 

Final meeting (January 2008) 
 

• Focused discussion with working group Members and key officers on issues 
arising during review 

• Capture learning points and recommendations 
 
9. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the working group’s report and 

recommendations. The Council’s Cabinet will then respond to the report and its 
recommendations and the action plan response which sets out how the 
recommendations will be addressed.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 336



 8

Findings  
 
 
Literature Review and Desktop Research 
 
10. In 2005/06 estimated expenditure on consultants across London local authorities was 

£105m an average of £3m per authority.  These figures are from the London Centre of 
Excellence (LCE) local authority expenditure analysis for 2006/07, but the LCE believe 
that this is likely to be an underestimate of the true level of expenditure on consultants.  
The largest areas of spend are property, construction and IT.  With such high-levels of 
spend there is a responsibility on local authorities to improve outcomes and ensure that 
value for money is achieved. 

 
11. The London Centre of Excellence is one of nine regional centres set up by Government 

to deliver the National Procurement Strategy and Gershon Review.  The centre recently 
produced a Commissioning Toolkit for the procurement of consultancy and professional 
services.  The toolkit was used within the scope of the review to provide a comparison to 
Tower Hamlets procedures for engaging consultants as well as being considered more 
generally by the review working group as a toolkit and guide in its own right.  Members 
welcomed the similarities in approach between the procurement procedures within the 
commissioning toolkit and those used by the Council.  The working group felt that it was 
important however, that the Council should develop its own programme of work to 
support the way the Tower Hamlets procurement strategy and policies are disseminated 
within the Council.  Members were keen that any potential toolkit should reflect local 
needs and context and enable and empower officers to make better-informed choices 
when engaging consultants. 

 
12. The National Audit Office Report, ‘Central Governments Use of Consultants’ in 

December 2006 offers a strategic comparison for this review.  The report estimated the 
extent of public sector use of consultants in 2006 at £2.8bn, a figure heavily criticised by 
the media and public sector trade unions.  Much of the debate that followed has 
contributed to a perception of consultancy services as being high cost and low return 
with little to demonstrate the impact of such high levels of expenditure over a period of 
time when satisfaction with public sector services has continued to fall.  

 
13. Although the focus of the report was on central government departments, the review 

includes estimates of expenditure within local government based on figures from the 
consultancy trade association MCA (Management Consultancies Association) and 
industry sources.  These estimates put local government spend on consultants in 
2006/07 at £400m.  This would equate to 14% of all total public sector expenditure which 
is very high compared to figures from other local authorities considered later in this 
report.  This suggests that the MCA figures need to be read with some caution as well as 
the need for a more comprehensive analysis of expenditure on consultants across local 
government. 

 
14. The graph below sets out the increases in public sector use of consultants over the last 

seven years taken from the National Audit Office report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 337



 9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15. The tables below further highlight both the increase and proportion of spend between 

public sector bodies between 2003/04 and 2005/06, with central government 
departments and the NHS making up the majority of expenditure but with significant and 
steady increases in local government expenditure over the last three years.  There have 
also been significant changes in the type of services consultants are providing within the 
public sector with a move away from management and strategy roles to programme and 
project management work.  These changes reflect the increasing complexity of service 
provision for example aims to provide a seamless experience for service users across 
Health and Social care.     

 
             
Public sector spend on consultants  Changes in demand for services 
 

           
 
16. The report recommendations were on balance less about driving down daily rates or 

price and more about how to improve the way consultants are commissioned and 
managed to ensure they add value to public sector work.   It highlighted the difficulties in 
equating savings to this area of spend and recognised that there would be a continuing 
need to buy in external expertise to improve services.   They key challenges for public 
sector bodies were around planning and project managing consultant contracts, 
evaluating the learning and factoring in the role of existing staff both in terms of being the 

Public Sectors Use of consultants

-
500

1,000
1,500
2,000
2,500
3,000

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Year

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re 
(£m

)

Page 338



 10

first choice for carrying out the work on projects but also around building in scope for 
skills transfer and capacity building internal resources for future work.    

 
17. Findings from the literature review and desktop research helped to further expand the 

scope of the review and to set the context for investigating local practices.  
 

 
Use of Consultants by other Local Authorities 

 
18. During the development of the scope for the review it was agreed that it would be useful 

to look at other local authority experiences of using consultancy services and other 
scrutiny reviews on the subject.  A short research exercise found that the “Use of 
Consultants” is a popular scrutiny review topic with more than twenty recent or ongoing 
reviews currently listed online.  Working group members received a briefing on the 
findings and analysis from seven recent scrutiny reviews on the topic.  The key points 
from the briefing and Member discussion on the issues raised are set out below.  

 
19. Other local authority scrutiny working groups found the most useful approach to a review 

of this kind tended to be where it was possible to frame the investigation within wider 
objectives such as to: 

• redress the lack of trust in why and how consultants are engaged 
• develop a coherent strategy for engaging consultants  
• ensure use of consultants led to value for money. 

 
20. The scope of investigations varied from short reviews assessing the suitability of 

procurement procedures in engaging consultants, to organisation-wide reviews on how 
each directorate had engaged consultants over a number of years. 

 
21. The most common terms of reference across reviews were to: 

• identify the context of when and why consultants are used 
• investigate the procedures used to engage consultants 
• assess the procurement procedures and the performance management of 

consultants 
• investigate the extent of use or cost of consultants; year on year trends, as a 

proportion of total expenditure and in benchmarking against other local 
authorities 

 
22. Members welcomed the opportunity to use the learning from other local authorities in 

carrying out the review in Tower Hamlets.  The key themes and recommendations from 
the other local authority reviews are summarised below.   

 
23. Scrutiny reviews on the use of consultants can risk becoming reviews of management.   

The working groups which focused on promoting public confidence and developing more 
transparent procedures reported a more collaborative Member-Officer approach to the 
investigation.  It was also important to define the term “Consultant” early on in the review 
process to distinguish between consultants who provide management support, advice 
and guidance, as opposed to professional services such as lawyers and engineers 
contracted to provide advice or support on for example capital build projects.  

 
24. Working group members agreed that there was a need to agree a criteria that defined 

the role of a ‘consultant’ within Tower Hamlets.  This would provide greater clarity to 
officers and members and promote transparency and knowledge of how the organisation 
uses consultants in a way that would build public confidence and trust.  

Page 339



 11

 
25. All but one of the other local authority scrutiny reviews found that the reasons for 

engaging a consultant, were essentially sound in principle and in the right circumstances.  
In most cases the contract had resulted in securing additional funding or awards.  The 
one instance where the scrutiny review found use of consultants to be excessive was 
where the authority was a poorly performing Council and subject to Voluntary 
Engagement, which are emergency measures where a council seeks support from 
Government to recover from weak performance.  

 
26. A number of the reports identified problems with cost codes and distinguishing between 

expenditure on consultants and on professional fees.  Recommendations included 
ensuring expenditure on consultants was noted by a unique cost code and to improve 
officer training on financial procedures.   Some of the reviews explored how expenditure 
on consultants was budgeted for and found that the source of expenditure was often 
unclear or not noted.  This would be important in the case of S106 contributions or for 
example Lottery Funding which are often ring-fenced. 

 
27. In many authorities there were no specific policies to guide officers on the use of 

consultants.  Often the procurement strategies fell short of relevant advice such as the 
level of management sign-off required to engage consultants.  Officers at two authorities 
referred to the “Approved Officers Register” in Contract Standing orders which provide 
guidance on the tendering procedures depending on the financial scale of the contract.  
However, these exclude mechanisms for performance management or evaluation of the 
contracts once they are in progress.   

 
28. In discussing the briefing on other local authority experiences of using consultants 

working group members asked questions about the current policies and procedures in 
place in Tower Hamlets and were informed that officers follow financial regulations and 
the procurement policy to engage consultants.  A fuller presentation on current policies 
and procedures would be provided at a future meeting.  

 
29. The briefing also identified that a vacuum in policies and procedures to deal with 

consultants resulted in poor value for money in the longer term.  Thus, whilst the contract 
may have delivered the right outputs and outcomes, the skills and experience gained 
from delivering a project was lost by the organisation.  This highlighted the importance of 
a taking strategic approach to the way consultants are used across an organisation. 

 
30. Most reviews recommended that authorities should develop a corporate approach and 

have approved mechanisms for engaging consultants, including Member notification or 
sign-off in the case of significant contracts.  This would ensure uniformity across the 
Council and develop transparent systems better suited to withstand any public questions 
over the use of consultants. 

 
31. All of the scrutiny reviews put forward recommendations to encourage the use of 

alternatives before considering consultants, in particular by developing internal staff and 
their skills.  Specific recommendations included a review of policies to give greater 
flexibility to use existing employees and resources for special projects across the Council 
and for procurers to consider in-house capacity ahead of putting a contract out to 
consultants.   Contracts were to include and define the role of existing staff to ensure 
skills and knowledge transfer beyond the life of a project. 

 
32. There was limited comparable information on the cost of consultants within the reports 

with considerable variations in the types of expenditure included in the figures.  Wide 
differences in level of expenditure and in procurement and financial reporting practices 

Page 340



 12

make further meaningful comparison between authorities difficult. The table below uses 
the data from the reviews to provide some insight into the scale and trends behind the 
use of consultants in local government.  Most working groups were surprised however at 
the low proportion of spend on Consultants. 

 

*96 separate payments, excludes contracts worth less than £10,000 
**% Some of these figures have been worked out retrospectively and were not included in the original Scrutiny report.  Please 
allow for a margin of error as these were calculated using a range of online sources on Council budgets. 

 
33. The information that is available suggests that there is no evidence that spending on 

consultants in Tower Hamlets is out of step with other authorities.   Whilst Members 
welcomed the information on expenditure on consultants by other local authorities they 
felt that it was difficult to draw appropriate comparisons with authorities of such different 
profiles.  The fact that the figures are drawn from other scrutiny reviews on the use of 
consultants further suggests that in carrying out the reviews these Councils may have 
been responding to an area facing performance challenges or public concern.  Working 
group Members felt that information from other similar authorities to Tower Hamlets may 
highlight different issues.   

 
34. The literature review and research exercise highlighted that even at a wider or regional 

level there is very limited public data on the use of consultants by other local authorities 
with only the London Centre of Excellence carrying out a regional project on the issue, 
and with restrictions on sharing information with authorities outside of the programme.  
Members suggested that benchmarking opportunities should be explored in the future to 
help drive through improvements in this area.   

 
 

Defining Consultants 
 
35. Members used the findings from the research to develop the next stages of the review.  

The scope of the review had been focused on looking into operational issues around 
commissioning, managing and evaluating consultants to undertake projects within the 
Council.  Early discussion revealed however, that there were differences between 
directorates and teams on what constituted a ‘use of a consultant’, and therefore 
differences in how expenditure was recorded.  This meant that financial data did not 

Expenditure on Consultants Local Authority Financial Year(s) 
Total (m) As % of total 

expenditure** 
Solihull Council 2004/05 £2.304*  >1% 

North Lincolnshire Council 1999/2000 
1998/1999 

£0.500 
£0.500 

Unavailable 

Worcestershire County 
Council 

2003/04 £1.062 0.2% 
Hastings Borough Council 2005/06 

2004/05 
2003/04 

£0.050 
£0.019 
£0.073 

0.3% 
0.1% 
0.4% 

Torbay Council 2003/04 
2002/03 
2001/02 

£2.260  
£1.798 
£1.559 

1.7% 
1.5% 
1.3% 

North East Lincolnshire 
Council 

2006/07 £1.249m 1.1% 

London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets. 

2005/06 
2006/07 
2007/08 (1 Apr – 
31 October) 

£0.836 
£1.290 
£0.703 

0.1% 
0.49% 
 

Page 341



 13

always accurately differentiate between spend on consultants and other expenditure 
such as professional fees for legal or planning services.  Members felt that this was a 
basic but important first step towards clarifying the role of consultants in the Council.  

 
Recommendation 
 
R1 That an agreed criteria or definition of a consultant to be adopted 

across the Council. 
 

Consultants: 
• Have a defined work scope with deliverables 
• Often provide a report as an output that provides 

recommendations for further action but the consultant is not 
contracted to deliver at that time. 

• Have payment contingent upon completion of staged completion 
of the work 

• Do not act as staff members i.e. do not have Tower Hamlets e-
mail addresses, phone numbers or desks. 

• May be able to provide a substitute to undertake the work 
• Are not in a templated position for the purposes of the 

Comensura contract – i.e. they do not relate to standard jobs 
within the Council, which could be provided by either permanent 
or temporary staff 

• Are contractually responsible for their outputs 
• Are liable for their own performance and the content of their work 

 
 
36. During the discussion on draft recommendations Members emphasised the importance 

of highlighting the differences between internal staff and consultancy staff to maintain a 
distance in the client – consultant relationship and that this was important to the 
management role required of officers in using consultants.  Members also raised 
questions about the length of time consultants stayed on in the organisation and a need 
to monitor this carefully.  Officers explained that this was more likely to be an issue with 
interim or agency staff and that extension of contracts beyond the first six-months require 
corporate director sign-off in order to continue to employ staff in this way and would still 
be subject to regular reviews.  In reviewing the definition set out above Members 
welcomed the separation of internal and external staff and that this would help to ensure 
consultants are not used to fill interim vacancies.  

 
37. Working group members were keen that the review should also help to clarify the areas 

where consultants are required for specific roles.  This is true for example for recruitment 
to senior posts where consultants are used because of a need for independent and 
objective advice and to ensure processes are transparent and fair.  Similarly Government 
legislation requires for example sustainability appraisals of Local Development 
Documents to be carried out by independent specialists.  Members requested that a list 
of areas where consultants are needed to be developed as part of the action plan in 
response to the recommendations. 

 
Procurement and Commissioning 
 
38. Working group members received a presentation from officers on the existing 

procurement policies and procedures.  Officers identified a number of key areas for 

Page 342



 14

action to improve how the Council engages and manages consultants as part of the work 
to update the procurement policy. 
 
These are to: 
• ensure that there is no duplication of energy and cost 
• provide VFM with leverage 
• understand success 
• skills transfer to bridge knowledge gap 
• greater knowledge about cost and not just price 
• greater internal capacity 
• ensure that consultancy spend is effectively managed going forward. 

 
39. The Scrutiny Review working group members recognised that use of consultants is 

important in some circumstances to achieve local priorities.  In disseminating updated 
procurement procedures, Members requested that directorates should also be tasked to 
consider targets and measures for reducing dependency on consultants.  Most 
importantly in all instances of engaging consultants procedures should be transparent 
explaining the business case for using consultants and there should be a uniformity of 
approach across the Council.  Members requested that an officer guide or toolkit on how 
to engage consultants should be developed as part of the action plan in response to the 
recommendations. 

 
Recommendations 
 
R 2 That future work on the procurement strategy to include programme 

of activities to help disseminate and embed procurement related 
policies within the organisation, for example presentations at all 
Directorate Management Team meetings and officer training.  

 
R 3 That financial reporting on procurement of consultancy services 

should clearly identify source of funding and ring-fenced funding 
such as Section 106 or Lottery Funds.   

 
 
 
Use of Consultants in Tower Hamlets 
 
40. The extent to which Consultants are used in Tower Hamlets was assessed in two ways.  

Working group members received financial reports on expenditure across directorates 
from 2005/06 through to mid-year results for 2007/08.  Members also requested two 
case studies to explore specific examples of how consultants had been used to improve 
services.  

 
41. Members received the financial reports on use of consultants by the Council at the 

second review meeting.  The reports included information on the type of projects where 
consultants were used, the name of the consultancies used and the cost of the contracts.  
A summary of total expenditure on consultants is included in the table below.  
Expenditure on consultants has therefore been consistently around 0.1% of annual 
expenditure in LBTH for the last few years 

 
Year LBTH Total 

expenditure on 
Consultants 

Page 343



 15

2005/06 £ 836,246.52 
 

2006/07 £ 1,290,929.89 
 

2007/08  
(1 Apr – 31 
October) 

£ 703,918.96 

 
 
42. The working group were joined by Cllr Josh Peck, Lead Member for Resources and 

Performance who introduced the Officer presentation and outlined the current work 
streams for improving procurement processes.  The member led discussion was broadly 
exploratory with requests for further information.   Members’ questions and officer 
responses are summarised below in a table for ease of reference. 

 
Question Response 
Members raised concern over 
increased expenditure in 
Development And Renewal, and 
the reasons behind it? 
What the options were for 
employing staff in house instead 
on a contractual basis? 
What are the barriers to exploiting 
skills amongst existing staff? 
What the options were for reducing 
the amount spent on consultants 
and on tackling a culture of using 
consultants? 
 

Some of the increases in expenditure from 
05/06 to 06/07 has been because of ad hoc 
and new work requirements.  The 
Development and Renewal spend on 
consultants is largely on  
 
Masterplanning, which requires specific 
skills and qualifications and for which there 
is not sufficient capacity in house at the 
point in time when it is required.  The 
Olympics are also generating a lot of 
additional work.   
.  
 

How is success measured in terms 
of procurement? What are the 
levels of success and or non-
delivery?   Are our target setting 
measures robust enough? 
 
 

Measuring success – In addition to delivery 
against targets, procurement of consultants 
is assessed for value for money which 
include arrangements for vetting suppliers 
and only procuring services from the EXOR 
accredited  supplier database.   
Compliance with financial regulations is 
also an important measure of success in 
procurement.  
 

How is the equalities policy applied 
in procuring consultants? 
 

The top 100 suppliers provide equalities 
data and equalities issues are explicit within 
the terms and conditions. 

What happens when the use of a 
consultant goes wrong? 
 

Experience with consultants does vary and 
the key issue is to ensure poor consultancy 
organisations are not used again.  The 
EXOR framework agreement is there to 
ensure that the Council can select 
organisations with a positive track record.   
 

Are there any penalty or get out 
clauses included in contracts for 
consultants? 

Contracts include regular reporting 
mechanisms and there are contractual 
sanctions where failure to deliver results in 

Page 344



 16

 non-payment.   Contractual arrangements 
are all output based and include specific 
terms and conditions 
 

Further clarification sought on the 
procedures for recruiting 
consultants? 
 

The key added elements in addition to 
those outlined in the presentation are: 

• Pre-qualification questionnaire 
• Tender process itself 

 
 

 
 
43. The financial reports were revisited at the final review meeting alongside the two case 

studies of how consultants had been used in different service areas.  Reviewing the full 
set of financial reports Members felt that it was important for directorates to be able to 
take a more strategic view of skills gaps and needs in medium to long-term projects to 
help reduce unnecessary and ad-hoc use of consultants.  They welcomed the overall 
figures indicating that the proportion of spend on consultants was low but were 
concerned that the trend was for a year on year increase.  Members emphasised the 
need to set targets to reduce current levels of use to in order to achieve efficiency gains 
and also because of a sense that it is a public priority for resources to be used differently.   

 
Recommendation 
 
R4 That targets for reducing expenditure on consultants should be 

highlighted as an objective in the Tower Hamlets Strategic Plan 
under the Excellent Public Services Community Plan theme.  The 
Corporate Management Team to set indicative targets to reduce 
expenditure on consultants and for progress to be reported back. 

 
 
44. Members reviewed two case studies of how consultants were being used within the 

Council.  The first case study looked at how the Council was looking to embed business 
process improvement (BPI) techniques to help improve services that faced challenges in 
meeting their performance targets.  The technique itself is a management tool widely 
used in the private sector and increasingly in the public sector to turn around areas of 
poor performance.  In discussing the case study Members noted the good practice 
around ensuring the work with consultants led to the development of an internal staff 
resource to carry out future BPI exercises.  The working group suggested that there were 
areas for improvement and more should be done to assess the value added from 
engaging consultants and the impact it had on the service itself.  This had the potential to 
add to any business case that might need to be made for future projects. 

 
45. The second case study focused on the use of consultants to develop Masterplans, which 

are spatial planning documents that set out a holistic vision for local areas.  The Council 
agreed to test out different approaches to producing Masterplans, retaining one in house 
and using a mix of consultant services and in-house officer support for two others.  As a 
result this case study enabled working group members to make some direct comparisons 
between using internal and external resources to deliver projects.   

 
46. A direct cost comparison suggests that it was more cost effective to use internal staff to 

produce a Masterplan.  However, the evaluation of all three of the different approaches 
adopted by the Council highlight very different costs and benefits which have made a 

Page 345



 17

strong case for contracting out all future Masterplan work, retaining only the project 
management and community engagement and consultation work for Masterplans within 
the Council.  In particular the range and complexity of the number of professionals 
needed to produce a Masterplan make a strong business case for using consultants that 
specialise in this area and are able to lever in additional resources and achieve 
economies of scale based on their wider portfolio of work.  The costs of delivering the 
Masterplan in-house also underestimate the cost in terms of staff resources which has 
been difficult to capture whilst the team project managed all three Masterplans and other 
Major project developments within the borough.   

 
47. Working group members raised questions about the overall high levels of expenditure 

across the Development & Renewal directorate and the need to monitor and plan 
resource requirements in the medium to long-term.  Members also recognised that the 
2012 Olympics were generating a greater demand for planning services, noting that it 
could also be an opportunity to involve local people and further develop existing staff 
resources. 

 
48. Members agreed that it was appropriate to try and achieve efficiency gains that they 

would like to achieve in this area through existing work-streams such as the horizontal 
savings exercise but that there also needed to be a specific focus on reducing reliance 
on and a culture of using consultants.  Members suggested a higher profile of the issue 
was required within key council documents such as the Strategic Plan.  It was agreed tat 
Directorates should retain autonomy and flexibility in procuring consultants but that the 
issue needed to be reviewed at the Directorate level. 

 
Recommendation 
 
R5 That directorates review expenditure on consultants to assess the 

extent to which they are used and to establish a baseline for 
reviewing their use of consultants.  Directorates should identify 
areas and set targets for reducing future spend in alignment with the 
Council’s horizontal savings exercise. 

 
 
 
Reducing Dependency and Using Alternatives 
 
49. Throughout the review working group members have stressed the importance of 

considering internal capacity and resources first before thinking about using consultants.  
Members are keen to see the Council develop methods for auditing and understanding 
the skills amongst existing staff and the possibilities around using these skills to meet 
needs across the organisation.  Members recognised that as a local authority, the 
Council needs to respond to policy developments that take place all the time and 
sometimes deliver unplanned work which may require the use of consultants in the short 
term.  However, improved planning and knowledge of skills sets amongst staff and 
greater flexibility around the use of internal secondments and trainees could help to 
achieve much wider benefits for the Council and employees.  

 
 

Recommendation 
 
R 6 That directorates should increasingly use internal secondments 

and graduate trainees for one-off projects for example to meet 
research needs, tying in with the corporate approach to developing 

Page 346



 18

staff. 
 

 
50. The financial reports showed that there is a significant level of expenditure on using 

consultants to deliver and facilitate consultation work.  As the Council has its own 
Consultation and Involvement Team, options should be explored around rationalising the 
way consultants are used for this type of work and how this can be more effectively 
procured in the future.  This would support the development of good practice and provide 
teams with advice and support on how to get effective consultation services.  

 
 

Recommendation 
 
R 7 That options should be explored to enable the Corporate 

Consultation and Involvement team to become a gatekeeper for 
procuring external consultation services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 347



 19

 
Conclusion 
 
 
51. The working group welcomes the commitment of the Council to improving processes and 

procedures around engaging consultants to ensure value for money and to reduce 
dependency on using consultants.  

 
52. The working group also welcomes the findings which demonstrate that there is no 

evidence of inappropriate use of resources and that expenditure on consultants within 
Tower Hamlets is in line with other authorities and analysis of wider trends. 

 
53. At a strategic level, the Council needs to help coordinate efforts to understand the full 

extent of how and when consultants are used and to improve the levels and type of data 
held on work carried out by consultants.  This would allow sharing of information across 
the organisation and help officers to make informed choices when the use of a consultant 
is required.   

 
54. There are quicker opportunities for reducing use of consultants in some areas more than 

others.  The recommendations have highlighted the potential for using the Consultation 
and Involvement team and the working group would recommend that further similar 
opportunities for collaborative work across directorates are sought out in the future. 

 
55. There are good support services available to officers procuring consultants but more 

needs to be done to systematically embed good practice across the organisation.   
 
56. The working group is particularly keen to see better use of existing staff to meet wider 

organisational needs.  More internal secondments and use of trainees will help to 
achieve ‘Workforce to Reflect the Community’ priorities and has the potential to offer 
skills development and greater job satisfaction for employees.   

 

Page 348



 20

 Scrutiny and Equalities in Tower Hamlets 
 
 
 
To find out more Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets: 
 
 
Please contact: 
 
Scrutiny Policy Team 
Tower Hamlets Council 
6th Floor, Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London E14 2BG 
 
scrutiny@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 
020 7364 4548 
 

Page 349



Page 350

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

  
Committee 
 
Cabinet  

Date 
 
30 July 2008 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report 
No 

Agenda 
Item No 

Report of: 
 
Acting Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s) 
Frances Jones  
Diversity and Equality Coordinator, 
Scrutiny and Equalities  
 

Title:  
 
Diversity and Equality Action Plan – 
2008/2009 
 
Wards Affected All 

 
  
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1  This report presents Cabinet with the Council’s draft Diversity and Equality Action Plan 

(DEAP) 2008/09. The Plan pulls together an ambitious programme of equalities work 
across the Council.  It reflects the activities required for the implementation of the 
Council’s Race Equality, Disability Equality and Gender Equality Schemes, the actions 
that are necessary to achieve and maintain the highest level of the Equality Standard for 
local government and the continued implementation of the Council’s commitment to 
Community Cohesion. 
 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Cabinet approves the Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09 which is set out in 

Appendix 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of background papers: 
 
Equality Action Plan 2007/08 agreed by 
Cabinet on 5 September 2007. 
 
Six-monthly and end of year monitoring 
reports, Overview and Scrutiny, on 8 
January 2008 and 10 June 2008 

 
Name and telephone number of holder 
and address where open to inspection 
 
France Jones, Diversity & Equality 
Co-odinator, Scrutiny and Equalities 
020 7364 4521 

Agenda Item 10.6

Page 351



 

2 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Tower Hamlets is one of the most culturally diverse and vibrant boroughs in the country.  

The rich cultural heritage of people living and working in the borough has been 
something that the Council has valued and celebrated.  While diversity brings 
tremendous strengths to Tower Hamlets, it also brings real challenges.  There continue 
to be groups in the local community who are not yet able to access all the opportunities 
and life chances that are available.  Some people continue to face discrimination at work 
and in the community.  The Council is committed to tackling this and promoting an 
environment where people are treated with dignity and respect, where people’s 
differences are understood and valued, and where different communities are able to live 
at ease with each other. 

 
3.2 The Council has placed Diversity and Equality at the core of the Strategic Plan and set 

itself the target of maintaining the very highest level of the national Equality Standard.  
The Council has also sought to be at the very forefront of developments on Equalities 
and Community Cohesion, benchmarking its progress against best practice from across 
the country.  This commitment and the achievement of real progress on the ground have 
been recognised by central government. 
 

3.3 The Council has developed an effective approach to equality action planning and 
monitoring.  In March 2002 the then Policy and Implementation Committee agreed to 
bring together the separate Stephen Lawrence Action Plan and the Equality Action Plan 
into a single integrated document.  The aim was to create a strong focus for driving 
equalities through the organisation, and achieving real change on the ground.   

 
3.4 The national Equality Standard, which was introduced in 2002, has been a powerful tool 

for taking forward a broad and integrated approach to addressing equalities issues.  The 
Equality Standard was developed jointly by the Commission for Racial Equality, the 
Disability Rights Commission, the Equal Opportunities Commission and the Employers 
Organisation, with assistance from the Audit Commission.  Cabinet formally adopted the 
Equality Standard on the 12 June 2002 and, from that time, it has been a key reference 
in planning and reviewing the Council’s equalities agenda.  The core objectives used in 
the attached integrated Plan reflect the key headings of the Standard: service delivery 
and customer care, consultation and community development and scrutiny, leadership 
and corporate commitment and employment and training. 
 

3.5 Using the Standard, the Council is able to track progress and success year on year.  An 
important strength is the opportunity to have progress independently validated which 
took place in May 2007.  This confirmed that Tower Hamlets is at Level 5 of the Standard 
and in 2006 the Council was the first local authority in the country to receive the Equality 
Mark from the Improvement and Development Agency in recognition of this.   

 
3.6 In March 2007 the Equality Standard was revised and the key changes include: 

• The achievement of demonstrable outcomes in regard to age, religion or belief and 
sexual orientation by March 2009 

• Every department and service is engaged in equality self-assessment and external 
validation from levels 3-5 of the Standard 

• A greater emphasis on the community leadership role of local government in 
influencing partners to improve their equalities practice and deliver outcomes for local 
residents  

Page 352



 

3 
 

In March 2009 we will be re-assessed against the revised Equality Standard for Local 
Government. The Diversity and Equality Action Plan will therefore contain a 
comprehensive programme of actions to ensure that our equalities practice meets the 
requirements of the revised Standard and that we retain our Level 5 status 

 
3.7 Cabinet first agreed the Council’s Race Equality Scheme on the 12 June 2002 and 

subsequently a new 3-year scheme (for 2005/08).  On 8 November 2006 Cabinet agreed 
the Disability Equality Scheme and on 4 April 2007 the Gender Equality Scheme was 
also agreed.  The actions set out in each of these statutory documents reflect the 
priorities and requirements of the respective Schemes.  In line with national guidance, 
the race, disability and gender equality objectives have been clearly highlighted within 
the Plan.   

 
3.8 The refreshed Community Plan to 2020 includes an overarching theme to build ‘One 

Tower Hamlets’. This theme covers three core elements: Tackling inequality; building 
strong and cohesive communities and; supporting effective community leadership. The 
Diversity and Equality Action Plan sets out a number of the activities which will enable us 
to deliver on this theme.   

 
3.9 In February 2008 the Government published their response to the 2007 report of the 

Commission on Integration and Cohesion. The report included a new definition of a 
cohesive community:  

 
 “Our vision of an integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations:  

• People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities  
• People knowing their rights and responsibilities  
• People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly 

 and three key ways of living together: 
• A shared future vision and sense of belonging  
• A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a 

recognition of the value of diversity  
• Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds” 
 
The actions within the Diversity and Equality Action Plan and our commitment to 
delivering ‘One Tower Hamlets’ demonstrates that we are addressing the issues posed 
by this new definition.  
 

3.10 All of the above developments therefore place an additional spotlight on the Council’s 
diversity and equality work.  Matched with this, in its performance monitoring role the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has questioned the effectiveness of the model of 
previous Action Plans as a performance management tool.  Over the coming year the 
Council will continue to work to provide excellent public services that understand our 
diversity to achieve better equality.  The Diversity and Equality Action Plan will also be 
monitored to ensure it is an effective tool for measuring and analysing the outcomes of 
that work. 

 
4. DISSEMINATION OF THE PLAN 

 
4.1 The preparation of the Diversity and Equality Action Plan has taken place through the 

Council’s Corporate Equalities Steering Group which has representation from across the 
authority and includes the Trade Unions, and with the contribution of Directorate 
Equalities Focus Groups.   

Page 353



 

4 
 

 
4.2 Once agreed by Cabinet, the Plan will be distributed widely and will also be published on 

the Council’s Web site.  Internally, the Plan will be taken forward through each of the 
Directorate Equalities Focus Groups, and will be reflected in team plans and individual 
staff performance and development plans.  Copies of the Plan will also be made 
available through the Council’s intranet.  

 
5. CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The contents of the Diversity and Equality Action Plan have been drawn together by the 

Council’s Corporate Equalities Steering Group with contributions from all Directorates 
and reflecting the input from latest consultation, such as the Annual Residents Survey 
and external consultation groups, including: the Tower Hamlets Interfaith Forum; the 
Tower Hamlets Access Group and; the LGBT Forum, as well as partnership groups such 
as the Race and Hate Crime Interagency Forum and the Refugee and New Migrants 
Forum.  The contents of the Plan are also informed from feedback through the staff 
survey, the local Trade Unions and corporate staff groups which have a specific focus on 
Disability, Sexuality and Ethnicity.   Further input from these groups will be sought as part 
of the implementation process to ensure maximum impact is achieved from this work. 

 
6. MONITORING AND EVALUATION ARRANGEMENTS 
 
6.1 As well as the monitoring of implementation taking place through the Directorate Equality  

Focus Groups, and the Corporate Equalities Steering Group, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee formally reviews progress every six months.  The Council also seeks out 
opportunities for external challenge and benchmarking.  

 
6.2 The involvement of members has been crucial to the successful implementation of the 

2007/08 Plan. In February a Members’ workshop was held to explore how the role of 
Members could be strengthened. In 2008/09 a Members’ Equalities Group will be 
established to take forward this work.  

 
 
7. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
  
7.1 The European Union Race Directive 2000/43 (published in June 2000) prohibits 

discrimination on the grounds of race and ethnic origin by laying down "the principle of 
equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin".  

 
7.2 In November 2000, the European Union published the Equal Treatment Framework 

Directive 2000/78.  This Directive sets out the anti-discrimination "principle of equal 
treatment" in the context of sexual orientation, religion or belief, disability and age. This 
Directive is to be implemented on 2 December 2006 in relation to disability and age.   

 

Page 354



 

5 
 

7.3 The Government consultation paper "Towards Equality and Diversity-Implementing the 
Employment Race Directive" (2001) indicated its intention to implement the Directives by 
amendment to the Race Relations Act 1976 and the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. 
The consultation paper also referred to the Government's intention to introduce 
legislation to prohibit discrimination in work and training on the grounds of sexual 
orientation, religion and age.  The Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 
2003 and the Employment Equality (Religion and Belief) Regulations 2003 were enacted 
with effect from 1 and 2 December 2003 and transpose the phase 1 provisions of the 
Directive into UK law.  The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 gave effect to 
the provisions on age discrimination with effect from 1 October 2006. 

 
7.4 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 strengthens the Race Relations Act 1976 by 

extending protection against racial discrimination by public authorities and by placing a 
duty on public authorities to have regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination 
and to promote racial equality and good race relations. 

 
7.5 The Diversity and Equality Action Plan detailed in Appendix 1 sets out the Council's 

intentions with regard to equality and has been formulated having regard to and in 
compliance with legislation.  Regular monitoring and review of the Plan enables the 
Council to maintain compliance with statutory requirements as well as measuring 
progress in relation to non-statutory aspects.   

 
8. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
8.1 As service design and provision already give consideration to equalities issues 

Directorate budgets reflect these issues and consequently no additional budgetary 
provision is expected as a result of the Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09.  Any 
additional costs arising from implementing the Plan will be contained within Directorate 
2008/09 revenue budgets. 

 
9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 By incorporating national standards, the Diversity and Equality Action Plan represents an 

important step in progressing the Council’s diversity and equality agenda.  The attached 
Plan clearly shows how equalities are at the heart of the Council agenda and the 
progress towards integrating diversity and equality fully into all aspects of service delivery 
and employment practice.  The aim of the Plan is to create an environment in which 
everyone who lives and works in our borough is treated with dignity and respect and 
where everyone can improve their life chances and access the increasing opportunities 
on offer. 

 
10. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Diversity and Equality Action Plan aims to tackle the barriers currently preventing 

some of the most disadvantaged people in our community from accessing the life 
opportunities on offer and aims to enable them to participate actively in creating and 
sharing prosperity in the borough.  

 
11. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
11.1 Efforts will be made to ensure that in delivering the commitments of the Diversity and 

Equality Action Plan the impact on the environment is kept to an absolute minimum.  This 

Page 355



 

6 
 

includes the use of recycled paper in any documentation, and careful consideration of 
the methods used to engage with local communities, partners and staff. 

  
12. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The Council is seeking to implement an ambitious diversity and equality agenda in the 

context of changes in national legislation and standards.  Progress to date has been very 
positive, but there is still much to be done if all the Council’s targets are to be achieved 
and all the new legislative requirements are fully complied with.  Any slippage could 
potentially undermine this. 

 
12.2 The Diversity and Equality Action Plan provides a focus for all the Council’s equalities 

work, and a means by which Members can ensure that each of the progress milestones 
are achieved.  The arrangements in place to review progress during the year through the 
Corporate Equalities Steering Group, Corporate Management Team and finally by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee are considered to be effective ways of keeping this 
work on track. 

 
12.3 Diversity and equality performance indicators will help keep the focus firmly on delivery 

and outcomes.  The emphasis on consultation will mean that the Council’s performance 
in this area will be judged by the experiences of service users on the ground. 

 
12.4 A greater emphasis will be given this year to communicating the progress that is being 

made to the wider community and to staff, including greater use of existing 
communications media such as East End Life and Pulling Together. 

 
12.5 The Council will continue to work closely with the Improvement and Development Agency 

(IDeA) to ensure that local practice in implementing the Equality Standard and all 
equalities issues is informed by best practice taking place in other parts of the country. 

 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09 
  
 
 
 

 

Page 356



 
1 

 
DR

AF
T 

 
Lo

nd
on

 B
or
ou

gh
 of

 To
we

r H
am

let
s 

 
Di
ve
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 
Ap

ril 
20
08
 - M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 
(In

co
rp
or
ati

ng
 th

e a
cti

on
s f

ro
m 

the
 R
ac
e, 
Di
sa
bil

ity
 an

d 
Ge

nd
er 

Eq
ua

lity
 Sc

he
me

s, 
wo

rk 
to 

im
pr
ov

e o
ur
 

un
de

rst
an

din
g o

f th
e a

ge
, re

lig
ion

/be
lie
f a

nd
 se

xu
al 

or
ien

tat
ion

 eq
ua

lity
 st

ran
ds

 an
d t

o s
tre

ng
the

n 
co

mm
un

ity
 co

he
sio

n) 

Ap
pe

nd
ix 

On
e 

Page 357



 
2 

 

Page 358



 
3 

 
Co

nt
en

ts
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 N
o. 

 
Va

lui
ng

 D
ive

rsi
ty:

 ou
r p

oli
cy
 st

ate
me

nt 
on

 di
ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

 
 

 
 

 
4 

 
Th

e p
ur
po

se
 of

 th
e D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

7 
 

Th
e C

ou
nc

il’s
 pr

og
res

s i
n 2

00
7/0

8 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
9 

 
Th

e C
or
po

rat
e F

ram
ew

or
k f

or
 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

12
 

 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 In

dic
ato

rs 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
16
 

 
Di
ve
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 co
rp
or
ate

 pr
ior

itie
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
30
 

 
Di
ve
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 se
rvi

ce
 pr

ior
itie

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

    
   3

5 
 

Eq
ua

lity
 Im

pa
ct 

As
se
ss
me

nts
 to

 be
 un

de
rta

ke
n i

n 2
00
8/0

9 
 

 
 

 
 

 
57
 

 
 

    
  

 
   

Page 359



 
4 

VA
LU

IN
G 
DI
VE

RS
ITY

: O
UR

 PO
LIC

Y S
TA

TE
ME

NT
 O
N 
DI
VE

RS
ITY

 A
ND

 EQ
UA

LIT
Y 

 Ou
r c

om
mi

tm
en

t 
 Va

lui
ng

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

is 
on

e o
f th

e f
ou

r c
ore

 va
lue

s o
f T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 C

ou
nc

il. 
 W

e w
ill p

rom
ote

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

an
d e

qu
ali

ty 
in 

ev
ery

thi
ng

 w
e 

do
 to

 im
pro

ve
 th

e q
ua

lity
 of

 lif
e f

or 
ev

ery
on

e l
ivin

g, 
wo

rki
ng

 an
d v

isit
ing

 To
we

r H
am

let
s. 

 Th
e b

oro
ug

h’s
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
is 

on
e o

f it
s 

gre
ate

st 
str

en
gth

s a
nd

 as
se

ts.
  W

e w
ill b

uil
d u

po
n t

his
 by

 w
ork

ing
 w

ith
 th

e T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 to
 pr

ov
ide

 ac
ce

ss
ibl

e a
nd

 
res

po
ns

ive
 se

rvi
ce

s t
ha

t e
na

ble
 ev

ery
on

e t
o t

ak
e p

art
 in

 th
e s

oc
ial

, c
ult

ura
l a

nd
 ec

on
om

ic 
we

alt
h o

f th
e b

oro
ug

h. 
 Ac

hie
vin

g t
his

 is
 

ce
ntr

al 
to 

de
live

rin
g t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 vi

sio
n, 

is 
lin

ke
d t

o o
ur 

Str
ate

gic
 Pl

an
 pr

ior
itie

s a
nd

 ob
jec

tiv
es

 an
d f

orm
s a

 dr
ivin

g f
orc

e w
ith

in 
the

 
Co

mm
un

ity
 Pl

an
 an

d k
ey

 to
 cr

ea
tin

g a
 co

he
siv

e c
om

mu
nit

y. 
 Ou

r a
im

s a
nd

 va
lue

s 
 As

 a 
se

rvi
ce

 pr
ov

ide
r w

e w
ill: 

 
• 

Pr
om

ote
 eq

ua
lity

 of
 op

po
rtu

nit
y a

nd
 el

im
ina

te 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n i
n t

he
 pl

an
nin

g a
nd

 de
live

ry 
of 

ou
r s

erv
ice

s i
n t

erm
s o

f a
ge

, 
dis

ab
ility

, e
thn

icit
y, 

ge
nd

er,
 se

xu
al 

ori
en

tat
ion

, re
lig

ion
 or

 be
lie

f, h
ea

lth
 an

d i
nc

om
e s

tat
us

 
• 

Pr
om

ote
 go

od
 re

lat
ion

s b
etw

ee
n c

om
mu

nit
ies

 an
d a

dd
res

s n
eg

ati
ve

 st
ere

oty
pin

g o
f a

ny
 gr

ou
ps

 
• 

En
su

re 
tha

t a
ll r

es
ide

nts
 ha

ve
 eq

ua
l o

pp
ort

un
ity

 to
 pa

rtic
ipa

te 
in 

the
 de

mo
cra

tic
 pr

oc
es

s 
• 

Ta
ck

le 
ha

ras
sm

en
t re

lat
ing

 to
 a 

pe
rso

n’s
 ag

e, 
dis

ab
ility

, e
thn

icit
y, 

ge
nd

er,
 se

xu
al 

ori
en

tat
ion

, re
lig

ion
 or

 be
lie

f, h
ea

lth
 an

d 
inc

om
e s

tat
us

 
 

As
 an

 em
plo

ye
r w

e w
ill: 

 
• 

De
ve

lop
, re

vie
w 

an
d p

rom
ote

 po
lici

es
 an

d p
rac

tic
es

 th
at 

en
su

re 
eq

ua
lity

 of
 op

po
rtu

nit
y a

nd
 el

im
ina

te 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n f
or 

ou
r 

wo
rkf

orc
e i

n a
ll a

rea
s o

f e
mp

loy
me

nt 
(in

clu
din

g r
ec

rui
tm

en
t, r

ete
nti

on
, le

arn
ing

 an
d d

ev
elo

pm
en

t, p
rom

oti
on

, g
rie

va
nc

e, 
dis

cip
lin

ary
 an

d r
eti

rem
en

t) 
• 

En
su

re 
tha

t o
ur 

wo
rkf

orc
e r

efl
ec

ts 
the

 di
ve

rse
 na

tur
e o

f th
e b

oro
ug

h 
   

Page 360



 
5 

W
e w

ill c
om

ply
 w

ith
: 

 • 
the

 Eq
ua

l P
ay

 Ac
t 1

97
0 

• 
the

 Se
x D

isc
rim

ina
tio

n A
ct 

19
75

 
• 

the
 R

ac
e R

ela
tio

ns
 Ac

t 1
97

6 
• 

the
 R

ac
e R

ela
tio

ns
 (A

me
nd

me
nt)

 Ac
t 2

00
0 

• 
the

 D
isa

bil
ity

 D
isc

rim
ina

tio
n A

ct 
19

95
 

• 
the

 D
isa

bil
ity

 D
isc

rim
ina

tio
n A

ct 
20

05
 

• 
the

 H
um

an
 R

igh
ts 

Ac
t 1

99
8 

• 
Th

e 2
00

4 E
mp

loy
me

nt 
Re

gu
lat

ion
s o

n R
eli

gio
n a

nd
 Fa

ith
 

• 
Th

e 2
00

4 E
mp

loy
me

nt 
Re

gu
lat

ion
s o

n S
ex

ua
l O

rie
nta

tio
n 

• 
Sin

gle
 Eq

ua
lity

 Ac
t 2

00
6 

• 
Pr

op
os

ed
 Si

ng
le 

Eq
ua

lity
 Bi

ll 2
00

8 
 W

e w
ill r

ec
og

nis
e o

ur 
co

mm
un

ity
 le

ad
ers

hip
 ro

le 
an

d u
se

 th
is 

to 
wo

rk 
tow

ard
s a

 co
he

siv
e c

om
mu

nit
y i

n w
hic

h i
ne

qu
ali

ty 
is 

tac
kle

d 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

pro
mo

ted
.  

 Ho
w 
we

 w
ill 
co

nti
nu

e t
o d

eli
ve
r o

ur
 co

mm
itm

en
t 

 Ac
hie

vin
g t

he
 hi

gh
es

t le
ve

l o
f th

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sta
nd

ard
 fo

r L
oc

al 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t is

 cr
itic

al 
to 

de
live

rin
g o

ur 
co

mm
itm

en
t.  

Th
is 

is 
a 

na
tio

na
lly 

rec
og

nis
ed

 fra
me

wo
rk 

wh
ich

 w
e u

se
 to

 m
ea

su
re 

ou
r p

rog
res

s t
o m

ain
str

ea
mi

ng
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty.

  W
e h

av
e n

ow
 se

t 
ou

rse
lve

s t
he

 ta
rge

t o
f m

ain
tai

nin
g o

ur 
Le

ve
l 5

 st
atu

s a
nd

 w
ill b

e r
e-a

ss
es

se
d i

n 2
00

9. 
 Th

rou
gh

 th
e T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

e 
are

 al
so

 co
mm

itte
d t

o w
ork

 to
wa

rds
 be

co
mi

ng
 a’

 Le
ve

l 5
 Bo

rou
gh

’ w
ith

 ou
r p

ub
lic,

 pr
iva

te 
an

d t
hir

d s
ec

tor
 pa

rtn
ers

 as
 w

ell
 as

 lo
ca

l 
res

ide
nts

. 
 Ou

r c
om

mi
tm

en
t is

 su
pp

ort
ed

 by
 a 

nu
mb

er 
of 

leg
al 

du
tie

s t
ha

t re
qu

ire
 us

 to
 pr

om
ote

 eq
ua

lity
 an

d e
lim

ina
te 

dis
cri

mi
na

tio
n. 

 Th
es

e 
pro

vid
e i

mp
ort

an
t to

ols
 to

 he
lp 

fur
the

r e
mb

ed
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

in 
the

 cu
ltu

re 
of 

the
 or

ga
nis

ati
on

.  W
e b

eli
ev

e w
e h

av
e a

 st
ron

g 
mo

ral
 an

d s
oc

ial
 du

ty 
to 

rec
og

nis
e t

ha
t d

isc
rim

ina
tio

n t
ak

es
 pl

ac
e, 

tha
t te

ns
ion

s c
an

 so
me

tim
es

 ex
ist

 be
tw

ee
n d

iffe
ren

t 
co

mm
un

itie
s, 

an
d t

o d
o e

ve
ryt

hin
g w

e c
an

 to
 ch

all
en

ge
 pr

eju
dic

e a
nd

 di
sc

rim
ina

tio
n a

nd
 pr

om
ote

 be
tte

r u
nd

ers
tan

din
g a

nd
 re

sp
ec

t. 

Page 361



 
6 

 W
e r

ec
og

nis
e t

ha
t d

eli
ve

rin
g t

his
 co

mm
itm

en
t c

an
 on

ly 
be

 ac
hie

ve
d t

hro
ug

h b
uil

din
g s

us
tai

na
ble

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

s. 
 W

e w
ill d

eli
ve

r o
ur 

co
mm

itm
en

t b
y: 

 
• 

bu
ild

ing
 on

 ou
r g

oo
d p

rac
tic

e 
• 

inv
olv

ing
 al

l s
ec

tor
s o

f o
ur 

co
mm

un
ity

 in
 th

e d
es

ign
, re

vie
w 

an
d s

cru
tin

y o
f o

ur 
se

rvi
ce

 de
live

ry 
an

d e
mp

loy
me

nt 
pra

cti
ce

s 
• 

pro
mo

tin
g i

nfo
rm

ati
on

 an
d a

cc
es

s t
o o

ur 
se

rvi
ce

s i
n a

cc
es

sib
le 

wa
ys

 
• 

ca
rry

ing
 ou

t E
qu

ali
ty 

Im
pa

ct 
As

se
ss

me
nts

 of
 ne

w 
an

d e
xis

tin
g p

oli
cie

s a
nd

 pr
ac

tic
es

 to
 m

ak
e s

ure
 th

at 
the

y w
ill n

ot 
dis

cri
mi

na
te 

ag
ain

st 
an

yo
ne

 
• 

de
live

rin
g s

erv
ice

s w
hic

h a
re 

ap
pro

pri
ate

, fl
ex

ibl
e a

nd
 re

sp
on

siv
e t

o t
he

 ne
ed

s o
f th

e c
om

mu
nit

y 
• 

rem
ov

ing
 ba

rrie
rs 

wh
ich

 de
ny

 pe
op

le 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 ou

r s
erv

ice
s 

• 
us

ing
 ou

r p
ow

ers
 to

 m
ak

e s
ure

 th
at 

org
an

isa
tio

ns
 pr

ov
idi

ng
 se

rvi
ce

s o
n o

ur 
be

ha
lf w

ork
 in

 lin
e w

ith
 th

is 
po

licy
 

• 
pro

mo
tin

g a
n e

nv
iro

nm
en

t w
hic

h g
ive

s a
ll r

es
ide

nts
 an

 eq
ua

l c
ha

nc
e t

o l
ea

rn,
 w

ork
 an

d l
ive

 fre
e o

f d
isc

rim
ina

tio
n a

nd
 

pre
jud

ice
 

• 
de

ve
lop

ing
 a 

wo
rkf

orc
e w

hic
h r

efl
ec

ts 
at 

all
 le

ve
ls 

the
 co

mm
un

ity
 w

e s
erv

e 
• 

ma
kin

g s
ure

 th
at 

all
 em

plo
ye

es
 an

d C
ou

nc
illo

rs 
kn

ow
 th

e e
ffe

cts
 of

 th
is 

po
licy

 an
d a

re 
pro

vid
ed

 w
ith

 ap
pro

pri
ate

 tra
ini

ng
 

• 
ma

kin
g s

ure
 th

at 
all

 em
plo

ye
es

 (a
nd

 th
e r

es
ide

nt 
co

mm
un

itie
s) 

kn
ow

 ab
ou

t th
eir

 rig
hts

 of
 pr

ote
cti

on
 fro

m 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n, 
ha

ras
sm

en
t o

r b
ull

yin
g 

• 
de

ve
lop

ing
 an

d p
rom

oti
ng

 po
lici

es
 w

hic
h g

ive
 ev

ery
on

e e
qu

al 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 em

plo
ym

en
t a

nd
 re

lat
ed

 op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 

• 
se

ttin
g p

erf
orm

an
ce

 ta
rge

ts 
so

 w
e c

an
 m

ea
su

re 
ou

r p
rog

res
s. 

 Ou
r D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 ex
pla

ins
 ho

w 
we

 w
ill d

eli
ve

r u
po

n o
ur 

co
mm

itm
en

t e
ac

h y
ea

r.  
W

e w
ill r

eg
ula

rly
 re

vie
w,

 
as

se
ss

 an
d e

va
lua

te 
ou

r p
rog

res
s a

nd
 ad

dre
ss

 an
y a

rea
s o

f u
nd

erp
erf

orm
an

ce
 an

d w
ea

kn
es

se
s i

n p
oli

cy
 an

d p
rac

tic
e. 

  
 

Page 362



 
7 

TH
E P

UR
PO

SE
 O
F T

HE
 D
IVE

RS
ITY

 A
ND

 EQ
UA

LIT
Y A

CT
IO
N 
PL

AN
 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s C

ou
nc

il h
as

 pl
ac

ed
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

at 
the

 co
re 

of 
its

 fu
nc

tio
ns

 an
d i

s c
om

mi
tte

d t
o m

ain
tai

nin
g t

he
 ve

ry 
hig

he
st 

lev
el 

(le
ve

l 5
) o

f th
e E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 fo
r L

oc
al 

Go
ve

rnm
en

t.  
 Th

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sta
nd

ard
 fo

r lo
ca

l g
ov

ern
me

nt 
pro

vid
es

 a 
fra

me
wo

rk 
to 

as
sis

t th
e C

ou
nc

il t
o m

ain
str

ea
m 

eq
ua

litie
s p

rac
tic

e i
nto

 al
l 

lev
els

 of
 th

e o
rga

nis
ati

on
’s 

ac
tiv

itie
s. 

 In
 20

06
 To

we
r H

am
let

s w
as

 ex
ter

na
lly 

as
se

ss
ed

 by
 au

dit
ors

 as
 be

ing
 at

 Le
ve

l 5
 of

 th
e 

Sta
nd

ard
 an

d i
n r

ec
og

nit
ion

 of
 th

is 
the

 C
ou

nc
il w

as
 th

e f
irs

t lo
ca

l a
uth

ori
ty 

to 
be

 aw
ard

ed
 th

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Ma
rk.

  H
ow

ev
er 

in 
Ma

rch
 

20
07

 th
e E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 w
as

 re
vis

ed
 an

d n
ow

 re
qu

ire
s t

he
 C

ou
nc

il t
o b

uil
d o

n w
ork

 to
 ad

dre
ss

 st
atu

tor
y r

es
po

ns
ibi

litie
s i

n 
rel

ati
on

 to
 di

sa
bil

ity
, ra

ce
 an

d g
en

de
r to

 m
ain

str
ea

m 
wo

rk 
on

 ag
e, 

rel
igi

on
 or

 be
lie

f a
nd

 se
xu

al 
ori

en
tat

ion
 in

to 
all

 ou
r a

cti
vit

ies
 by

 
Ma

rch
 20

09
.   

Th
is 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 se
ts 

ou
t th

e p
rio

riti
es

 fo
r th

e C
ou

nc
il t

o a
ch

iev
e e

ffe
cti

ve
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

ou
tco

me
s i

n r
ela

tio
n 

to 
the

 si
x e

qu
ali

ty 
str

an
ds

 ac
ros

s a
ll o

ur 
se

rvi
ce

s. 
 Th

e 2
00

8/0
9 D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 fo
cu

se
s o

n f
ou

r o
ve

rar
ch

ing
 st

rat
eg

ic 
ob

jec
tiv

es
, id

en
tifi

ed
 th

rou
gh

 an
 an

aly
sis

 of
 

ev
ide

nc
e 

co
lle

cte
d 

du
rin

g 
the

 re
fre

sh
 o

f t
he

 C
om

mu
nit

y 
Pla

n 
to 

20
20

 a
nd

 a
n 

as
se

ss
me

nt 
of 

se
rvi

ce
 p

erf
orm

an
ce

 in
 p

rio
rity

 
eq

ua
litie

s a
rea

s. 
 Th

es
e o

bje
cti

ve
s a

re:
 

 
• 

Ta
ck
le 
wo

rkl
es
sn

es
s a

nd
 ec

on
om

ic 
ina

cti
vit

y a
mo

ng
 ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 
• 

Su
pp

or
t p

art
ici

pa
tio

n a
nd

 en
ga

ge
me

nt 
of 

eq
ua

lity
 ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 in
 de

cis
ion

 m
ak

ing
 an

d a
cti

ve
 ci

tiz
en

sh
ip 

ac
tiv

itie
s 

• 
Su

pp
or
t a

nd
 pr

om
ote

 co
mm

un
ity

 co
he

sio
n, 

thr
ou

gh
: E

mb
ed

din
g c

om
mu

nit
y c

oh
es

ion
 co

ns
ide

rat
ion

s i
nto

 pl
an

nin
g i

n k
ey

 
po

licy
 ar

ea
s (

Ed
uc

ati
on

, C
om

mu
nit

y S
afe

ty 
an

d H
ou

sin
g);

 su
pp

ort
ing

 po
sit

ive
 ac

tiv
itie

s t
ha

t b
rin

g p
eo

ple
 to

ge
the

r a
nd

 bu
ild

 
bri

dg
es

 b
etw

ee
n 

co
mm

un
itie

s; 
su

pp
ort

ing
 in

ter
ac

tio
n 

be
tw

ee
n 

ne
w 

an
d 

ex
ist

ing
 c

om
mu

nit
ies

 a
nd

; t
ac

klin
g 

all
 fo

rm
s 

of 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n a
nd

 ha
ras

sm
en

t 
• 

Ac
ce
ss
 to

 se
rvi

ce
s: 

Ad
dre

ss
 ev

ide
nc

e o
f d

iffe
ren

tia
l a

cc
es

s t
o s

erv
ice

s f
or 

eq
ua

lity
 ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t s

erv
ice

s 
wit

hin
 th

e C
ou

nc
il a

nd
 th

e w
ide

r P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
eff

ec
tiv

ely
 m

ee
t th

e n
ee

ds
 of

 ou
r c

om
mu

nit
ies

  
 An

 an
aly

sis
 of

 ou
r 2

00
7/0

8 p
erf

orm
an

ce
 ag

ain
st 

a b
as

ke
t o

f c
orp

ora
te 

an
d s

erv
ice

 le
ve

l e
qu

ali
tie

s p
erf

orm
an

ce
 in

dic
ato

rs 
ca

n b
e 

fou
nd

 on
 pa

ge
s 1

6 t
o 3

0 o
f th

is 
do

cu
me

nt.
 T

his
 an

aly
sis

 ha
s i

nfo
rm

ed
 th

e f
oc

us
 of

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
, w

ith
 th

e 
fol

low
ing

 id
en

tifi
ed

 as
 pr

ior
ity

 ar
ea

s: 

Page 363



 
8 

 
- 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 di

sa
ble

d p
eo

ple
 in

 th
e w

ork
for

ce
 th

rou
gh

 ta
rge

ted
 in

itia
tiv

es
 an

d s
tre

ng
the

nin
g o

f in
clu

siv
e 

wo
rki

ng
 pr

ac
tic

es
 

- 
Im

pro
ve

 ac
ce

ss
 to

 se
rvi

ce
s f

or 
dis

ab
led

 pe
op

le 
thr

ou
gh

 w
ork

 on
 ph

ys
ica

l a
cc

es
s, 

ac
ce

ss
ibl

e p
rov

isio
n o

f in
for

ma
tio

n a
nd

 
en

ga
ge

me
nt 

wit
h d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
  

- 
Ta

rge
ted

 in
itia

tiv
es

 an
d e

nh
an

ce
d s

erv
ice

 pr
ov

isio
n t

o r
ed

uc
e t

ee
na

ge
 pr

eg
na

nc
y 

- 
Im

ple
me

nta
tio

n o
f th

e r
efr

es
he

d W
ork

for
ce

 to
 R

efl
ec

t th
e C

om
mu

nit
y a

cti
on

 pl
an

 to
 ad

dre
ss

 un
de

r-r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 B

ME
 

sta
ff i

n s
en

ior
 m

an
ag

em
en

t p
os

ts 
in 

the
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 th
e P

CT
 

- 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
a r

ob
us

t p
erf

orm
an

ce
 m

an
ag

em
en

t fr
am

ew
ork

 to
 dr

ive
 im

pro
ve

me
nt 

in 
ou

r re
sp

on
se

 to
 ha

te 
cri

me
 in

cid
en

ts 
 

 
In 

Ma
rch

 2
00

9 
we

 w
ill 

be
 re

-as
se

ss
ed

 a
ga

ins
t t

he
 re

vis
ed

 E
qu

ali
ty 

Sta
nd

ard
 fo

r L
oc

al 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t. 

Th
is 

ye
ar’

s D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d 

Eq
ua

lity
 A

cti
on

 P
lan

 th
ere

for
e c

on
tai

ns
 a 

co
mp

reh
en

siv
e p

rog
ram

me
 of

 ac
tio

ns
 to

 en
su

re 
tha

t o
ur 

eq
ua

litie
s p

rac
tic

e m
ee

ts 
the

 
req

uir
em

en
ts 

of 
the

 re
vis

ed
 St

an
da

rd 
an

d t
ha

t w
e r

eta
in 

ou
r L

ev
el 

5 s
tat

us
. K

ey
 ac

tiv
itie

s w
ill i

nc
lud

e: 
• 

A c
om

pre
he

ns
ive

 re
vie

w 
of 

all
 eq

ua
litie

s t
rai

nin
g w

ith
in 

the
 C

ou
nc

il  
• 

Em
be

dd
ing

 of
 re

vis
ed

 E
qu

ali
tie

s M
on

ito
rin

g G
uid

an
ce

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t a

ll s
erv

ice
s a

re 
mo

nit
ori

ng
 se

rvi
ce

 us
ers

 by
 th

e s
ix 

eq
ua

litie
s s

tra
nd

s 
• 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

Fa
ith

, A
ge

 an
d S

ex
ua

l O
rie

nta
tio

n E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
s  

• 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
the

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ne

tw
ork

 to
 st

ren
gth

en
 ou

r c
om

mu
nit

y l
ea

de
rsh

ip 
rol

e i
n r

ela
tio

n t
o d

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
tie

s p
rac

tic
e a

nd
 to

 w
ork

 to
wa

rds
 be

co
mi

ng
 a 

‘Le
ve

l 5
 Bo

rou
gh

’ 
  Th

is 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 lin

ks
 to

 ot
he

r P
lan

s a
nd

 th
e m

ain
 on

es
 ar

e h
igh

lig
hte

d a
s: 

 Th
e C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 se

ts 
ou

t th
e v

isio
n a

nd
 ob

jec
tiv

es
 of

 th
e T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 Pa

rtn
ers

hip
, lo

ok
ing

 fo
rw

ard
 to

 20
20

. T
he

 Pl
an

 w
as

 
ref

res
he

d i
n 2

00
7 a

nd
 is

 up
da

ted
 an

nu
all

y. 
 Th

e P
lan

 em
bra

ce
s t

he
 br

ea
dth

 of
 st

rat
eg

ies
 w

hic
h t

he
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 its
 pa

rtn
ers

 ha
ve

 in
 

pla
ce

 to
 de

live
r o

ur 
vis

ion
 an

d o
bje

cti
ve

s. 
 An

 ov
era

rch
ing

 th
em

e f
or 

the
 re

fre
sh

ed
 C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 is

 a 
co

mm
itm

en
t to

 bu
ild

ing
 

‘O
ne

 To
we

r H
am

let
s’.

 Th
is 

pu
ts 

tac
klin

g i
ne

qu
ali

ty,
 st

ren
gth

en
ing

 re
lat

ion
sh

ips
 be

tw
ee

n c
om

mu
nit

ies
 an

d b
uil

din
g s

tro
ng

 an
d 

eff
ec

tiv
e c

om
mu

nit
y l

ea
de

rsh
ip 

at 
the

 he
art

 of
 al

l th
at 

we
 do

. W
ork

ing
 ac

ros
s t

he
 Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 to

 en
su

re 
bo

rou
gh

-w
ide

 pr
og

res
s t

o 
the

 hi
gh

es
t s

tan
da

rds
 of

 eq
ua

litie
s p

rac
tic

e i
s o

ne
 of

 th
e p

rom
ise

s i
n p

lac
e f

or 
20

08
-09

. O
ne

 of
 th

e k
ey

 w
ay

s i
n w

hic
h t

his
 w

ill b
e 

Page 364



 
9 

de
live

red
 is

 th
rou

gh
 th

e L
oc

al 
Ar

ea
 Ag

ree
me

nt 
(LA

A)
.   

 Th
e C

ou
nc

il’s
 St

rat
eg

ic 
Pla

n s
ets

 ou
t a

 w
ork

 pl
an

 fo
r T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 is
 up

da
ted

 an
nu

all
y. 

 Em
be

dd
ed

 w
ith

in 
the

 
bre

ad
th 

of 
the

 St
rat

eg
ic 

Pla
n i

s a
 co

mm
itm

en
t to

 de
live

rin
g t

he
 C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 co

mm
itm

en
t to

 bu
ild

ing
 O

ne
 To

we
r H

am
let

s 
thr

ou
gh

 ta
ck

lin
g i

ne
qu

ali
ty,

 st
ren

gth
en

ing
 an

d i
mp

rov
ing

 co
mm

un
ity

 co
he

sio
n a

nd
 bu

ild
ing

 st
ron

g c
om

mu
nit

y l
ea

de
rsh

ip.
 

 Th
e R

ac
e E

qu
ali

ty 
Sc

he
me

: T
he

 R
ac

e R
ela

tio
ns

 (A
me

nd
me

nt)
 Ac

t 2
00

0 p
lac

es
 a 

sta
tut

ory
 du

ty 
on

 th
e C

ou
nc

il t
o p

rom
ote

 ra
ce

 
eq

ua
lity

.  T
he

 ai
m 

is 
to 

he
lp 

pu
bli

c a
uth

ori
tie

s t
o p

rov
ide

 fa
ir a

nd
 ac

ce
ss

ibl
e s

erv
ice

s, 
an

d t
o i

mp
rov

e e
qu

al 
op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 in
 

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 se
rvi

ce
 de

live
ry.

  T
he

 Ac
t p

lac
es

 a 
nu

mb
er 

of 
sp

ec
ific

 du
tie

s t
o m

ee
t th

e g
en

era
l d

uty
.  T

he
se

 in
clu

de
 th

e 
pro

du
cti

on
 of

 a 
Ra

ce
 Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
 w

hic
h s

ets
 ou

t th
e a

cti
on

 w
e w

ill t
ak

e o
ve

r 3
 ye

ars
 to

 pr
om

ote
 ra

ce
 eq

ua
lity

.  
Th

e D
isa

bil
ity

 Eq
ua

lity
 Sc

he
me

: T
he

 D
isa

bil
ity

 D
isc

rim
ina

tio
n A

ct 
20

05
 am

en
de

d t
he

 D
isa

bil
ity

 D
isc

rim
ina

tio
n A

ct 
19

95
 an

d 
pla

ce
d a

 du
ty 

on
 th

e C
ou

nc
il t

o p
rom

ote
 eq

ua
lity

 fo
r d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
.  O

ur 
Dis

ab
ility

 Eq
ua

lity
 Sc

he
me

 se
ts 

ou
t th

e a
cti

on
s w

e w
ill 

tak
e t

o a
dd

res
s k

ey
 pr

ior
itie

s o
f lo

ca
l d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
 an

d s
taf

f o
ve

r th
e n

ex
t th

ree
 ye

ars
. 

 Th
e G

en
de

r E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
: T

he
 Eq

ua
lity

 Ac
t 2

00
6 i

ntr
od

uc
ed

 a 
ne

w 
ge

nd
er 

eq
ua

lity
 du

ty 
on

 th
e C

ou
nc

il. 
 Th

e G
en

de
r E

qu
ali

ty 
Du

ty 
pla

ce
s a

 nu
mb

er 
of 

sp
ec

ific
 du

tie
s o

n t
he

 C
ou

nc
il w

hic
h i

nc
lud

e t
he

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
an

d p
rod

uc
tio

n o
f a

 G
en

de
r E

qu
ali

ty 
Sc

he
me

, fo
llo

win
g c

on
su

lta
tio

n, 
tha

t s
ho

ws
 ho

w 
the

 C
ou

nc
il w

ill f
ulf

il it
s d

uti
es

 un
de

r th
e A

ct 
an

d i
nc

lud
es

 its
 ge

nd
er 

eq
ua

lity
 

ob
jec

tiv
es

.  T
he

 C
ou

nc
il’s

 G
en

de
r E

qu
ali

ty 
Sc

he
me

 w
as

 pr
od

uc
ed

 in
 20

07
 an

d s
ets

 ou
t w

ha
t it

 w
ill d

o t
o a

dd
res

s t
he

 ke
y p

rio
riti

es
 

for
 lo

ca
l w

om
en

, m
en

 an
d t

ran
sg

en
de

r p
eo

ple
 fo

r th
e p

eri
od

 20
07

-11
. 

  TH
E C

OU
NC

IL’
S P

RO
GR

ES
S I

N 
20
07
/08

  
 Ea

ch
 ye

ar 
the

 C
ou

nc
il w

ork
s t

o s
tre

ng
the

n w
ork

 in
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

by
 bu

ild
ing

 on
 th

e w
ork

 un
de

rta
ke

n i
n t

he
 pr

ev
iou

s y
ea

r. 
Du

rin
g t

he
 co

urs
e o

f 2
00

7/0
8, 

the
 To

we
r H

am
let

s P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
un

de
rto

ok
 a 

ful
l re

vie
w 

of 
the

 bo
rou

gh
’s 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Pl
an

. T
his

 
ren

ew
ed

 st
rat

eg
y p

rov
ide

s a
 vi

sio
n a

nd
 pr

ior
itie

s f
or 

To
we

r H
am

let
s t

o 2
02

0. 
In 

pa
ral

lel
 w

e n
eg

oti
ate

d a
 ne

w 
thr

ee
 ye

ar 
Lo

ca
l A

rea
 

Ag
ree

me
nt 

wit
h C

en
tra

l G
ov

ern
me

nt.
 Th

e p
rim

ary
 fo

cu
s a

t th
e h

ea
rt o

f b
oth

 of
 th

es
e d

oc
um

en
ts 

is 
a c

om
mi

tm
en

t to
 ‘O

ne
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
’ - 

red
uc

ing
 in

eq
ua

lity
, s

up
po

rtin
g c

oh
es

ion
. F

or 
ex

am
ple

 ou
r L

AA
 em

be
ds

 ta
rge

ts 
to 

red
uc

e h
ea

lth
 in

eq
ua

litie
s, 

inc
rea

se
 

the
 nu

mb
er 

of 
dis

ab
led

 pe
op

le 
in 

su
pp

ort
ed

 in
to 

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 ra
isin

g e
du

ca
tio

na
l a

ch
iev

em
en

t fo
r a

ll g
rou

ps
. 

Page 365



 
10

 

At 
the

 en
d o

f 0
7/0

8 n
int

ey
 pe

rce
nt 

of 
ac

tiv
itie

s w
ith

in 
the

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 ha

d b
ee

n c
om

ple
ted

. T
his

 re
pre

se
nts

 
sig

nif
ica

nt 
ac

hie
ve

me
nts

 in
 a 

nu
mb

er 
of 

are
as

, in
clu

din
g: 

 • 
Th

e 
Co

un
cil’

s 
firs

t G
en

de
r E

qu
ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 w

as
 la

un
ch

ed
 in

 N
ov

em
be

r 2
00

7 
an

d 
ha

s 
dri

ve
n 

for
wa

rd 
wo

rk 
on

 
ad

dre
ss

ing
 in

eq
ua

lity
 be

tw
ee

n m
en

, w
om

en
 an

d t
ran

sg
en

de
r p

eo
ple

. 
• 

In 
Ja

nu
ary

 20
08

, th
e C

ou
nc

il w
as

 pl
ac

ed
 17

th
 in

 th
e S

ton
ew

all
 W

or
kp

lac
e E

qu
ali

ty 
Ind

ex
 of

 ga
y-f

rie
nd

ly 
org

an
isa

tio
ns

, 
an

d 
ran

ke
d 

top
 lo

ca
l a

uth
ori

ty 
in 

Lo
nd

on
. T

his
 re

pre
se

nts
 a

 si
gn

ific
an

t im
pro

ve
me

nt 
on

 o
ur 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 in

 2
00

6/0
7 

wh
en

 w
e w

ere
 ra

nk
ed

 28
th

.   
• 

In 
Se

pte
mb

er 
the

 C
ou

nc
il w

as
 ra

nk
ed

 jo
int

 fif
th 

ou
t o

f 1
16

 pu
bli

c a
nd

 pr
iva

te 
se

cto
r o

rga
nis

ati
on

s b
y t

he
 E
mp

loy
ers

 
Fo

ru
m 

on
 D
isa

bil
ity

. T
he

 C
ou

nc
il s

co
red

 an
 av

era
ge

 of
 85

% 
on

 th
e t

hre
e t

arg
et 

are
as

 (m
oti

va
te,

 ac
t a

nd
 im

pa
ct)

 th
is 

pu
ts 

us
 in

 th
e g

old
 aw

ard
 ba

nd
. 

• 
Th

e D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ne

tw
or
k w

as
 es

tab
lish

ed
 in

 Ja
nu

ary
 20

08
 as

 th
e v

eh
icle

 fo
r d

eli
ve

rin
g o

n o
ur 

co
mm

itm
en

t 
to 

be
co

me
 a

 ‘L
ev

el 
5 

bo
rou

gh
’. T

he
 N

etw
ork

 h
as

 m
et 

qu
art

erl
y t

hro
ug

ho
ut 

the
 ye

ar 
an

d m
em

be
rs 

ha
ve

 p
rod

uc
ed

 a 
co

mm
on

 d
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d 

eq
ua

lity
 st

ate
me

nt 
wh

ich
 su

pp
ort

s t
he

 p
rin

cip
les

 o
f t

he
 O

ne
 T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 

the
me

. 
• 

In 
Ma

rch
 a 

pro
gra

mm
e o

f e
ve

nts
 w

ere
 fu

nd
ed

 by
 th

e C
ou

nc
il t

o m
ark

 In
ter

na
tio

na
l W

om
en

’s 
We

ek
. T

he
 th

em
e f

or 
thi

s 
ye

ar’
s e

ve
nts

 w
as

 ‘W
om

en
 an

d W
ork

’. T
hir

ty 
thr

ee
 lo

ca
l c

om
mu

nit
y o

rga
niz

ati
on

s r
ec

eiv
ed

 gr
an

ts 
to 

run
 ev

en
ts 

wh
ich

 
ce

leb
rat

ed
 th

e 
ac

hie
ve

me
nts

 of
 w

om
en

 in
 th

e 
wo

rkf
orc

e a
s w

ell
 a

s e
xp

lor
ing

 b
arr

ier
s t

o 
em

plo
ym

en
t. 

As
 pa

rt 
of 

the
 

we
ek

’s 
ev

en
ts,

 th
irty

 fiv
e 

ye
ar 

nin
e 

pu
pil

s f
rom

 C
en

tra
l F

ou
nd

ati
on

 S
ch

oo
l s

pe
nt 

a 
da

y i
n 

the
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 th
e 

PC
T 

sh
ad

ow
ing

 st
aff

 as
 w

ell
 as

 m
ee

tin
g s

en
ior

 of
fic

ers
 an

d C
ou

nc
illo

rs.
  

• 
In 

Ma
y 

20
08

 th
e 

Co
un

cil 
he

ld 
its

 fi
rst

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d 

Eq
ua

lity
 c
on

fer
en

ce
 fo

r s
taf

f. 
Th

e 
co

nfe
ren

ce
 p

rov
ide

d 
an

 
op

po
rtu

nit
y f

or 
ov

er 
eig

hty
 st

aff
 fr

om
 ac

ros
s t

he
 or

ga
nis

ati
on

 to
 co

ns
ide

r h
ow

 w
e c

an
 w

ork
 to

ge
the

r t
o d

eli
ve

r o
n t

he
 

co
re 

ele
me

nts
 of

 th
e 

‘O
ne

 T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

’ C
om

mu
nit

y P
lan

 th
em

e 
to 

red
uc

e 
ine

qu
ali

tie
s a

nd
 st

ren
gth

en
 co

mm
un

ity
 

co
he

sio
n. 

 
• 

In 
Fe

bru
ary

 20
08

 C
hil

dre
n’s

 S
erv

ice
s s

up
po

rte
d t

he
 la

un
ch

 of
 ‘R

ain
bo

w 
Pa

ren
ts’

 a 
su

pp
ort

 gr
ou

p f
or 

LG
BT

 pa
rtn

ers
 in

 
the

 bo
rou

gh
.  O

ve
r o

ne
 hu

nd
red

 pe
op

le 
att

en
de

d t
he

 ev
en

t a
nd

 a 
pro

gra
mm

e o
f a

cti
vit

ies
 an

d e
ve

nts
 ar

e s
ch

ed
ule

d t
o 

tak
e p

lac
e d

uri
ng

 20
08

/09
.   

• 
In 

Ma
y w

e l
au

nc
he

d t
he

 O
ne

 To
we

r H
am

let
s C

om
mu

nit
y C

oh
es
ion

 In
no

va
tio

n F
un

d f
or
 S
ch

oo
ls.

 Th
e p

ilo
t s

ch
em

e 
is 

op
en

 to
 al

l p
rim

ary
 an

d s
ec

on
da

ry 
sc

ho
ols

 in
 th

e b
oro

ug
h w

ho
 ar

e r
eq

uir
ed

 th
rou

gh
 th

e t
erm

s o
f th

e f
un

din
g t

o w
ork

 

Page 366



 
11

 

joi
ntl

y w
ith

 vo
lun

tar
y o

r p
riv

ate
 se

cto
r p

art
ne

rs 
to 

pro
mo

te 
co

mm
un

ity
 co

he
sio

n w
ith

in 
the

ir l
oc

al 
co

mm
un

itie
s. 

W
e a

re 
the

 fir
st 

loc
al 

au
tho

rity
 in

 th
e c

ou
ntr

y t
o l

au
nc

h s
uc

h a
 sc

he
me

.   
• 

Th
e A

rts
 an

d E
ve
nts

 Te
am

 or
ga

nis
ed

 83
 co

mm
un

ity
 fe

sti
va

ls 
an

d e
ve

nts
, a

ga
ins

t a
 ta

rge
t o

f 7
0 f

or 
07

/08
.   

• 
On

 16
th

 M
ay

 th
e C

ou
nc

il m
ark

ed
 In

ter
na

tio
na

l D
ay
 A
ga

ins
t H

om
op

ho
bia

 by
 ho

ldi
ng

 a 
lun

ch
tim

e s
em

ina
r fo

r s
taf

f o
n 

the
 to

pic
, “

Fa
ith

 an
d S

ex
ua

lity
: A

 Q
ue

sti
on

 of
 T

ole
ran

ce
?”.

 T
he

 ta
lk 

wa
s e

xtr
em

ely
 po

pu
lar

 w
ith

 ov
er 

10
0 m

em
be

rs 
of 

sta
ff a

tte
nd

ing
 to

 he
ar 

fro
m 

an
d t

ak
e p

art
 in

 a 
dis

cu
ss

ion
 w

ith
 a 

pa
ne

l o
f fa

ith
 le

ad
ers

 an
d e

xp
ert

s. 
 

• 
Th

e 
Co

un
cil 

ha
s 

co
nti

nu
ed

 to
 s

up
po

rt 
the

 d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f t
he

 In
ter

fai
th 

Fo
rum

. I
n 

Ma
rch

 th
e 

firs
t l
oc

al 
int

erf
ait

h 
ne

tw
or
k w

as
 es

tab
lish

ed
. T

his
 gr

ou
p, 

wh
ich

 is
 ba

se
d i

n L
AP

s 5
 an

d 6
, a

im
s t

o b
rin

g t
og

eth
er 

me
mb

ers
 of

 th
e I

nte
rfa

ith
 

Fo
rum

 at
 a 

loc
al 

lev
el 

to 
un

de
rta

ke
 jo

int
 ac

tiv
itie

s a
nd

 st
ren

gth
en

 th
e l

ink
s b

etw
ee

n l
oc

al 
de

cis
ion

 m
ak

ing
 an

d s
tru

ctu
res

 
an

d 
fai

th 
co

mm
un

itie
s. 

Ne
tw

ork
s w

ill 
be

 ro
lle

d 
ou

t a
cro

ss
 th

e 
bo

rou
gh

 fr
om

 S
ep

tem
be

r f
oll

ow
ing

 th
e 

ref
res

h 
of 

the
 

To
we

r H
am

let
s P

art
ne

rsh
ip 

go
ve

rna
nc

e s
tru

ctu
res

.   
• 

In 
Ma

rch
 th

e o
utc

om
e o

f t
he

 P
ee
r S

up
po

rt 
Na

tio
na

l In
itia

tiv
e 

wa
s l

au
nc

he
d. 

 W
ork

ing
 w

ith
 G

rav
es

ha
m 

an
d B

ris
tol

 
Co

un
cils

 w
e 

pro
du

ce
d 

ad
dit

ion
al 

too
ls 

to 
he

lp 
all

 a
uth

ori
tie

s u
nd

ert
ak

e 
Eq

ua
lity

 Im
pa

ct 
As

se
ss

me
nts

 w
hic

h 
ca

n 
be

 
ac

ce
ss

ed
 vi

a h
ttp

://w
ww

.id
ea

.go
v.u

k/i
dk

/co
re/

pa
ge

.do
?p

ag
eId

=8
06

70
41

 
• 

W
e w

ere
 pa

rt o
f th

e S
tee

rin
g G

rou
p o

f C
ap

ita
l A

mb
itio

n’s
 Eq

ua
lity

 St
an

da
rd
 fo

r L
on

do
n L

oc
al 

Go
ve
rn
me

nt.
  In

 
Ap

ril 
the

 pr
oje

ct 
wa

s o
n t

rac
k t

o e
ns

ure
 90

% 
of 

Lo
nd

on
 au

tho
riti

es
 re

ac
h L

ev
el 

4 b
y A

pri
l 2

00
9. 

• 
Th

rou
gh

 ou
r e

xte
rn
al 
an

d i
nte

rn
al 
eq

ua
lity

 fo
ru
ms

 w
e h

av
e c

on
tin

ue
d t

o c
on

su
lt b

oth
 st

aff
 an

d s
erv

ice
 us

ers
 to

 te
st 

the
 ef

fec
tiv

en
es

s o
f s

erv
ice

 in
itia

tiv
es

.   
To

 st
ren

gth
en

 co
ns

ult
ati

on
 an

d i
nv

olv
em

en
t a

rra
ng

em
en

ts 
a r

ev
iew

 of
 th

e 
int

ern
al 

an
d e

xte
rna

l e
qu

ali
ty 

for
um

s t
oo

k p
lac

e M
ay

 20
08

, th
e r

es
ult

s o
f w

hic
h h

av
e i

nfo
rm

ed
 th

e d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f 
Fo

rum
s a

nd
 th

eir
 w

ork
 pr

og
ram

me
s f

or 
08

/09
. E

xa
mp

les
 of

 th
e w

ork
 un

de
rta

ke
n i

n 0
7/0

8 i
nc

lud
e: 

  
 
o

 F
oll

ow
ing

 fe
ed

ba
ck

 fr
om

 th
e D

isa
ble

d S
taf

f F
oru

m,
 fu

rth
er 

co
ns

ult
ati

on
 to

ok
 pl

ac
e a

rou
nd

 w
elf

are
 po

lici
es

 in
clu

din
g 

the
 C

are
r’s

 Po
licy

, R
eh

ab
ilita

tio
n L

ea
ve

 an
d F

lex
ibl

e W
ork

ing
 H

ou
rs.

  
o

 T
he

 C
ou

nc
il’s

 B
lac

k a
nd

 M
ino

rity
 E

thn
ic 

Sta
ff F

oru
m 

ha
s r

ev
iew

ed
 th

e C
ou

nc
il’s

 W
ork

for
ce

 to
 R

efl
ec

t th
e C

om
mu

nit
y 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 an
d w

ill b
e s

cru
tin

isin
g i

ts 
de

live
ry 

in 
the

 ye
ar 

ah
ea

d. 
o

 T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 LG
BT

 Fo
rum

 co
ord

ina
ted

 an
d d

eli
ve

red
 a 

su
cc

es
sfu

l p
rog

ram
me

 of
 ev

en
ts 

for
 LG

BT
 H

ist
ory

 M
on

th 
20

08
.   

 
• 

A 
Wo

rkf
or
ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e C
om

mu
nit

y i
s a

 ke
y C

ou
nc

il p
oli

cy
 ai

me
d a

t e
ns

uri
ng

 w
e a

re 
be

tte
r a

ble
 to

 m
ee

t th
e n

ee
ds

 of
 

Page 367



 
12

 

ou
r c

om
mu

nit
ies

.  P
erf

orm
an

ce
 on

 ou
r ta

rge
ts 

for
 20

07
/08

 sa
w 

the
 fo

llo
win

g o
utc

om
es

: 5
4%

 of
 th

e t
op

 ea
rne

rs 
are

 w
om

en
, 

18
 %

 ar
e f

rom
 m

ino
rity

 et
hn

ic 
co

mm
un

itie
s a

nd
 3.

5 %
 ar

e d
isa

ble
d. 

 4.
7 %

 of
 em

plo
ye

es
 de

cla
red

 th
em

se
lve

s d
isa

ble
d 

un
de

r th
e D

DA
 19

95
, 4

7%
 ar

e f
rom

 m
ino

rity
 et

hn
ic 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd

 17
.7%

 ar
e B

an
gla

de
sh

i.  
Am

on
g t

he
 in

itia
tiv

es
 pu

t in
 

pla
ce

 to
 co

nti
nu

e t
his

 w
ork

 ar
e t

he
 As

pir
ing

 Le
ad

ers
 Pr

og
ram

me
 w

hic
h s

up
po

rts
 th

e c
are

er 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
BM

E a
nd

 
dis

ab
led

 st
aff

 an
d t

he
 St

ep
 U

p N
ow

 pr
og

ram
me

 w
hic

h i
s a

im
ed

 at
 as

pir
ing

 te
am

 an
d f

irs
t li

ne
 m

an
ag

ers
 ac

hie
vin

g t
he

 
Ins

titu
te 

of 
Le

ad
ers

hip
 an

d M
an

ag
em

en
t C

ert
ific

ate
s. 

In 
Oc

tob
er 

20
07

 a 
pie

ce
 of

 w
ork

 w
as

 co
mm

iss
ion

ed
 to

 es
tab

lish
 th

e 
dir

ec
tio

n a
nd

 as
so

cia
ted

 ac
tio

ns
 fo

r im
pro

vin
g t

he
 pr

op
ort

ion
 of

 Bl
ac

k a
nd

 M
ino

rity
 Et

hn
ic 

co
mm

un
ity

 st
aff

 in
 se

nio
r 

ma
na

ge
me

nt 
po

sit
ion

s i
n t

he
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 th
e P

CT
.  S

inc
e t

his
 da

te,
 de

tai
led

 an
aly

sis
 of

 th
e o

utc
om

e o
f th

e w
ork

 ha
s t

ak
en

 
pla

ce
 an

d p
rog

ram
me

 of
 ac

tio
ns

 ha
ve

 be
en

 ag
ree

d i
n t

he
 Jo

int
 W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e C
om

mu
nit

y A
cti

on
 Pl

an
 08

/09
.  

 • 
Co

ns
ult

ing
 w

ith
 bo

th 
sta

ff a
nd

 se
rvi

ce
 us

ers
 is

 a 
vit

al 
wa

y o
f te

sti
ng

 th
e e

ffe
cti

ve
ne

ss
 of

 se
rvi

ce
 in

itia
tiv

es
 an

d t
he

re 
are

 bo
th 

int
ern

al 
an

d e
xte

rn
al 
eq

ua
lity

 fo
ru
ms

.  T
he

 C
ou

nc
il h

as
 th

ere
for

e c
on

tin
ue

d t
o s

up
po

rt t
he

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

thr
ee

 cr
os

s-
cu

ttin
g e

qu
ali

ty 
for

um
s f

or 
dis

ab
led

, L
GB

T a
nd

 BM
E s

taf
f.  

In 
ad

dit
ion

 th
e T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 Ac

ce
ss

 G
rou

p c
on

trib
ute

d 
sig

nif
ica

ntl
y t

o t
he

 de
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

the
 D

isa
bil

ity
 Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
.  T

he
 LG

BT
 Fo

rum
 w

as
 la

un
ch

ed
 in

 O
cto

be
r 2

00
6 i

n 
co

lla
bo

rat
ion

 w
ith

 lo
ca

l a
nd

 re
gio

na
l p

art
ne

rs 
inc

lud
ing

 G
AL

OP
, th

e P
oli

ce
 an

d t
he

 Pr
im

ary
 C

are
 Tr

us
t. 

 
• 

Un
de

rpi
nn

ing
 th

e i
mp

lem
en

tat
ion

 of
 ou

r w
ork

 is
 a 

ma
jor

 pr
og

ram
me

 of
 Eq

ua
liti

es
 Im

pa
ct 

As
se
ss
me

nts
 (E

qIA
s) 

co
ve

rin
g 

ge
nd

er,
 ra

ce
, re

lig
ion

/be
lie

f, d
isa

bil
ity

, s
ex

ua
l o

rie
nta

tio
n a

nd
 ag

e. 
 A 

tot
al 

of 
39

 Eq
IAs

 w
ere

 co
mp

let
ed

 in
 07

/08
, w

hic
h 

inc
lud

ed
 as

se
ss

me
nts

 of
 si

gn
ific

an
t fu

nc
tio

ns
 su

ch
 as

 th
e r

ev
ise

d C
om

mu
nit

y P
lan

 20
20

, s
ch

oo
l a

dm
iss

ion
s a

nd
 yo

uth
 

pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n. 
Th

e o
utc

om
es

 of
 th

e E
qIA

 ac
tio

n p
lan

s h
av

e b
ee

n b
uil

t in
to 

tea
m 

lev
el 

ac
tio

n p
lan

s a
nd

 w
he

re 
ap

pro
pri

ate
 

pic
ke

d u
p a

t a
 di

rec
tor

ate
 or

 co
rpo

rat
e l

ev
el.

    

Page 368



 
13

 

TH
E C

OR
PO

RA
TE

 FR
AM

EW
OR

K 
FO

R 
DI
VE

RS
ITY

 A
ND

 EQ
UA

LIT
Y 

 In 
20

08
/09

 th
e L

ea
d M

em
be

r w
ith

 re
sp

on
sib

ility
 fo

r D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
is 

Co
un

cill
or 

Sir
aju

l Is
lam

, th
e D

ep
uty

 Le
ad

er.
  T

he
 

Sc
rut

iny
 Le

ad
 fo

r O
ne

 To
we

r H
am

let
s, 

Co
un

cill
or 

An
ne

 Ja
ck

so
n, 

ha
s d

ive
rsi

ty,
 eq

ua
lity

 an
d c

om
mu

nit
y c

oh
es

ion
 w

ith
in 

he
r re

mi
t. 

 Th
e C

orp
ora

te 
Dir

ec
tor

 re
sp

on
sib

le 
for

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

an
d e

qu
ali

tie
s i

s t
he

 As
sis

tan
t C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e, 

thi
s p

os
t is

 cu
rre

ntl
y h

eld
 in

 an
 

int
eri

m 
ca

pa
cit

y b
y M

ich
ae

l K
ea

tin
g. 

 Th
e w

ork
 of

 co
-co

ord
ina

tin
g a

nd
 fa

cili
tat

ing
 w

ork
 ac

ros
s t

he
 C

ou
nc

il is
 un

de
rta

ke
n b

y t
he

 
Sc

rut
iny

 an
d E

qu
ali

tie
s s

erv
ice

 ar
ea

 w
hic

h c
om

pri
se

s t
he

 Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Sc
rut

iny
 an

d E
qu

ali
tie

s a
nd

 th
ree

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Co

-or
din

ato
rs 

(Fr
an

ce
s J

on
es

, H
afs

ha
 Al

i a
nd

 Pr
iti 

Ba
tav

ia)
. 

 W
ith

in 
ea

ch
 of

 th
e s

erv
ice

 D
ire

cto
rat

es
 th

ere
 is

 a 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
 Eq

ua
lity

 Li
ais

on
 O

ffic
ers

 (D
EL

O)
.  T

he
se

 ar
e H

ug
h C

ha
mb

ers
 

(D
ev

elo
pm

en
t a

nd
 R

en
ew

al)
, Is

ab
ell

e C
olo

mb
ea

u (
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s),
 C

ore
en

 U
ng

 (E
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 C

ult
ure

), E
md

ad
 H

aq
ue

 
(A

du
lt S

erv
ice

s),
 Sa

rah
 Pa

ce
 (in

ter
im

) (H
ou

sin
g) 

an
d F

ran
ce

 Jo
ne

s (
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
’s)

. 
 In 

ord
er 

to 
ma

int
ain

 an
d d

ev
elo

p e
xis

tin
g g

oo
d p

rac
tic

e t
he

 C
ou

nc
il h

as
 in

 pl
ac

e a
 nu

mb
er 

of 
sta

nd
ard

 or
ga

nis
ati

on
al 

pro
ce

du
res

.   
 Th

e D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 is

 ag
ree

d b
y C

ab
ine

t a
nn

ua
lly 

an
d m

on
ito

red
 by

 th
e O

ve
rvi

ew
 an

d S
cru

tin
y C

om
mi

tte
e s

ix-
mo

nth
ly.

 
 Th

e C
orp

ora
te 

Eq
ua

litie
s S

tee
rin

g G
rou

p m
ee

ts 
mo

nth
ly 

wit
h a

n a
lte

rna
tio

n b
etw

ee
n b

us
ine

ss
 an

d w
ork

sh
op

 se
ss

ion
s. 

 Th
e g

rou
p 

is 
ch

air
ed

 by
 th

e C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e a
nd

 m
em

be
rsh

ip 
inc

lud
es

 th
e D

EL
Os

 an
d t

he
 tra

de
 un

ion
s. 

 Ea
ch

 D
EL

O 
als

o c
ha

irs
 a 

mo
nth

ly 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
 Eq

ua
litie

s F
oc

us
 G

rou
p. 

  
 Ea

ch
 se

rvi
ce

, te
am

 an
d i

nd
ivid

ua
l w

ork
 pl

an
 is

 ex
pe

cte
d t

o i
nc

lud
e d

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

ob
jec

tiv
es

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t s

taf
f s

ee
 is

su
es

 
as

 pa
rt o

f th
eir

 da
y-t

o-d
ay

 w
ork

.  T
o s

up
po

rt t
his

 a 
ran

ge
 of

 tra
ini

ng
 is

 of
fer

ed
 by

 C
orp

ora
te 

Le
arn

ing
 an

d D
ev

elo
pm

en
t in

clu
din

g 
ag

e l
eg

isla
tio

n a
nd

 be
st 

pra
cti

ce
, d

isa
bil

ity
 eq

ua
lity

, s
ex

ua
lity

 aw
are

ne
ss

 an
d e

qu
ali

ty 
im

pa
ct 

as
se

ss
me

nts
.   

 To
 he

lp 
me

et 
ou

r p
rio

riti
es

, w
e h

av
e a

 nu
mb

er 
of 

sta
nd

ard
s t

o m
ain

str
ea

m 
div

ers
ity

 an
d e

qu
ali

ty 
ac

ros
s t

he
 or

ga
nis

ati
on

.  T
o 

ac
hie

ve
 th

is,
 w

e w
ill: 

 
 

Page 369



 
14

 

St
an

da
rd
 

Ho
w 
is 
thi

s d
eli

ve
red

? 
Un

de
rta

ke
 eq

ua
lity

 im
pa

ct 
as

se
ss

me
nts

 of
 bo

th 
ne

w 
an

d 
ex

ist
ing

 po
lici

es
  

Th
e E

qIA
 pr

og
ram

me
 is

 m
on

ito
red

 re
gu

lar
ly 

by
 th

e C
orp

ora
te 

Eq
ua

litie
s S

tee
rin

g G
rou

p a
nd

 is
 re

po
rte

d a
nn

ua
lly 

as
 pa

rt o
f th

e 
Div

ers
ity

 an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
 an

d i
nc

lud
ed

 w
ith

in 
the

 R
ac

e, 
Dis

ab
ility

 an
d G

en
de

r E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 re

po
rts

 as
 ap

pro
pri

ate
 

En
su

re 
tha

t a
ll o

ur 
tea

m 
pla

ns
 in

co
rpo

rat
e r

ele
va

nt 
div

ers
ity

 an
d 

eq
ua

lity
 ob

jec
tiv

es
 an

d t
arg

ets
 

Th
is 

is 
inc

lud
ed

 w
ith

 th
e a

nn
ua

l re
vie

w 
of 

tea
m 

pla
ns

 an
d 

rep
ort

ed
 to

 th
e C

ou
nc

il’s
 Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 R
ev

iew
 G

rou
p. 

En
su

re 
all

 ne
w 

sta
ff p

art
icip

ate
 in

 C
ou

nc
il e

qu
ali

ty 
ind

uc
tio

n 
tra

ini
ng

 pr
oc

es
se

s 
Th

is 
is 

co
-or

din
ate

d b
y O

rga
nis

ati
on

al 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

in 
Co

rpo
rat

e H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rce
s. 

En
su

re 
tha

t o
ur 

po
lici

es
 ar

e c
om

pli
an

t w
ith

 eq
ua

lity
 le

gis
lat

ion
 

Co
mm

itte
e r

ep
ort

s a
nd

 bu
dg

et 
pro

po
sa

ls 
mu

st 
inc

lud
e 

co
ns

ide
rat

ion
 of

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

an
d e

qu
ali

ty 
im

pli
ca

tio
ns

. 
Inv

olv
e c

om
mu

nit
ies

, s
taf

f a
nd

 st
ak

eh
old

ers
 in

 th
e d

es
ign

, 
rev

iew
 an

d s
cru

tin
y o

f o
ur 

se
rvi

ce
s a

nd
 em

plo
ym

en
t p

rac
tic

es
 

 
Th

ree
 cr

os
s-c

utt
ing

 eq
ua

lity
 st

aff
 fo

rum
s (

co
ve

rin
g B

lac
k a

nd
 

Mi
no

rity
 Et

hn
ic,

 Le
sb

ian
, G

ay
, B

ise
xu

al 
an

d T
ran

sg
en

de
r a

nd
 

Dis
ab

led
 St

aff
) m

ee
t e

ve
ry 

qu
art

er.
 

 W
e a

lso
 ha

ve
 tw

o s
elf

-or
ga

nis
ed

 St
aff

 Fo
rum

s: 
Th

e M
us

lim
 St

aff
 

Fo
rum

 an
d t

he
 Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d W

ell
be

ing
 D

ire
cto

rat
e B

lac
k 

an
d A

sia
n W

ork
ers

 Fo
rum

. 
 Ex

ter
na

l fo
rum

s i
nc

lud
e t

he
 In

ter
fai

th 
Fo

rum
 an

d L
GB

T F
oru

m 
wh

ich
 m

ee
t m

on
thl

y. 
W

ork
 is

 un
de

rw
ay

 to
 de

ve
lop

 a 
rep

res
en

tat
ive

 pa
n d

isa
bil

ity
 pa

ne
l, w

hic
h w

ill r
ep

lac
e t

he
 

Dis
ab

led
 Ac

ce
ss

 G
rou

p. 
 

 Th
e C

on
su

lta
tio

n C
ale

nd
ar 

ou
tlin

es
 th

e k
ey

 pi
ec

es
 of

 
co

ns
ult

ati
on

 un
de

rw
ay

 in
 th

e b
oro

ug
h a

nd
 in

clu
de

s f
oc

us
se

d 
pie

ce
s o

f w
ork

 on
 sp

ec
ific

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

an
d e

qu
ali

ty 
iss

ue
s. 

 An
 eq

ua
litie

s a
na

lys
is 

of 
the

 An
nu

al 
Re

sid
en

ts’
 Su

rve
y i

s 

Page 370



 
15

 

pro
du

ce
d e

ac
h y

ea
r. 

Me
mb

ers
 pr

ov
ide

 co
mm

un
ity

 le
ad

ers
hip

 on
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d 
eq

ua
lity

 
Th

e D
ep

uty
 Le

ad
er 

ha
s t

he
 le

ad
 fo

r D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

tie
s. 

 Th
e D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n P
lan

, th
e R

ac
e, 

Dis
ab

ility
 an

d 
Ge

nd
er 

Eq
ua

lity
 Sc

he
me

s a
nd

 th
e W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e 
Co

mm
un

ity
 Po

licy
 ar

e a
ll a

gre
ed

 by
 C

ab
ine

t.  
 

 Ov
erv

iew
 an

d S
cru

tin
y m

on
ito

rs 
the

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ac

tio
n P

lan
.  T

he
 re

vie
ws

 un
de

rta
ke

n b
y t

he
 Sc

rut
iny

 Le
ad

s 
en

su
re 

tha
t d

ive
rsi

ty,
 eq

ua
lity

 an
d c

om
mu

nit
y c

oh
es

ion
 ar

e 
ad

dre
ss

ed
 at

 ea
ch

 st
ag

e. 
 A M

em
be

rs’
 D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Gr
ou

p h
as

 be
en

 es
tab

lish
ed

 
as

 a 
for

um
 fo

r le
arn

ing
 an

d d
ev

elo
pm

en
t fo

cu
se

d o
n c

om
mu

nit
y 

lea
de

rsh
ip 

sk
ills

 an
d a

s a
n o

pe
n s

pa
ce

 to
 ex

plo
re 

div
ers

ity
 an

d 
eq

ua
lity

 is
su

es
 fa

ce
d b

y t
he

 co
un

cil 
Us

e o
ur 

mo
nit

ori
ng

 in
for

ma
tio

n t
o a

ss
es

s o
ur 

ac
hie

ve
me

nts
 

ag
ain

st 
se

rvi
ce

 eq
ua

lity
 ob

jec
tiv

es
 an

d t
arg

ets
 

Th
es

e a
re 

inc
orp

ora
ted

 in
to 

the
 D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ac
tio

n 
Pla

n a
nd

 w
ill b

e r
ev

iew
ed

 du
rin

g 2
00

8/0
9. 

Be
nc

hm
ark

 ou
r p

oli
cie

s a
nd

 pr
ac

tic
es

 ag
ain

st 
oth

er 
pu

bli
c 

bo
die

s 
 

W
e w

ork
 w

ith
 Lo

nd
on

 C
ou

nc
ils 

an
d o

the
r re

lev
an

t c
ros

s-
bo

rou
gh

, re
gio

na
l a

nd
 na

tio
na

l g
rou

ps
 to

 te
st 

ou
r p

rac
tic

e. 
  

 W
e h

av
e d

em
on

str
ate

d o
ut 

co
mm

itm
en

t to
 le

arn
ing

 fro
m 

oth
ers

 
by

 es
tab

lish
ing

 th
e D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d E
qu

ali
ty 

Ne
tw

ork
 to

 br
ing

 
tog

eth
er 

div
ers

ity
 an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

pra
cti

tio
ne

rs 
fro

m 
ac

ros
s t

he
 lo

ca
l 

pri
va

te,
 pu

bli
c a

nd
 vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
s. 

 
 W

e h
av

e p
art

icip
ate

d i
n s

ev
era

l b
es

t p
rac

tic
e g

rou
ps

 in
clu

din
g 

the
 C

ap
ita

l A
mb

itio
n E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 fo
r L

on
do

n L
oc

al 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t p

rog
ram

me
 an

d t
he

 Eq
ua

lity
 Im

pa
ct 

As
se

ss
me

nt 

Page 371



 
16

 

Pe
er 

Su
pp

ort
 in

itia
tiv

e w
ith

 Br
ist

ol 
an

d G
rav

es
ha

m.
   

 Sta
ff f

rom
 th

e D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Te

am
 co

ntr
ibu

te 
to 

na
tio

na
l 

be
nc

hm
ark

ing
 gr

ou
ps

 in
clu

din
g t

he
 Em

plo
ye

rs 
Fo

rum
s o

n A
ge

, 
Dis

ab
ility

 an
d B

eli
ef.

 
Se

ek
 ex

ter
na

l v
ali

da
tio

n o
f o

ur 
eq

ua
lity

 ac
hie

ve
me

nts
 

 
Th

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sta
nd

ard
 is

 th
e v

ali
da

tio
n t

oo
l u

se
d b

y 
ap

pro
xim

ate
ly 

90
% 

of 
co

un
cils

 na
tio

na
lly.

 W
e w

ill b
e r

ea
ss

es
se

d 
ag

ain
st 

the
 St

an
da

rd 
in 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
08

. In
 20

09
 th

e S
tan

da
rd 

wil
l b

e r
ep

lac
ed

 by
 th

e n
ew

 Eq
ua

litie
s F

ram
ew

ork
 fo

r L
oc

al 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t a

nd
 w

e w
ill b

e t
he

 fir
st 

au
tho

rity
 in

 th
e c

ou
ntr

y t
o b

e 
as

se
ss

ed
 ag

ain
st 

it i
n A

pri
l 2

00
9. 

Th
e C

PA
 as

se
ss

me
nt 

un
de

rta
ke

n 2
00

8 a
lso

 pr
ov

ide
d r

igo
rou

s e
xte

rna
l a

ud
it. 

 
 Inv

es
tor

s i
n P

eo
ple

 an
d t

he
 St

on
ew

all
 Eq

ua
lity

 In
de

x a
re 

tw
o 

oth
er 

rec
en

t e
xa

mp
les

. 
Ce

leb
rat

e d
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d p

rom
ote

 co
he

sio
n 

W
ork

ing
 w

ith
 th

e t
hir

d a
nd

 pr
iva

te 
se

cto
rs,

 a 
se

rie
s o

f e
ve

nts
 

an
d f

es
tiv

als
 ar

e t
im

eta
ble

d t
hro

ug
ho

ut 
the

 ye
ar 

bo
th 

to 
ce

leb
rat

e t
he

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

of 
the

 To
we

r H
am

let
s a

nd
 to

 he
lp 

pro
mo

te 
co

he
sio

n. 
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 ou
r w

ork
for

ce
 re

fle
cts

 th
e l

oc
al 

co
mm

un
ity

  
Th

is 
is 

a k
ey

 C
ou

nc
il p

oli
cy

 ai
me

d a
t d

eli
ve

rin
g t

he
 co

rpo
rat

e 
co

mm
itm

en
t “t

o p
rov

ide
 se

rvi
ce

s w
hic

h o
ffe

r e
qu

al 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 

ev
ery

 pe
rso

n o
n t

he
 bo

rou
gh

 re
fle

cti
ng

 th
e d

ive
rsi

ty 
of 

the
 

po
pu

lat
ion

, a
nd

 w
ill b

e o
ve

rw
he

lm
ing

ly 
sta

ffe
d b

y l
oc

al 
pe

op
le 

wh
os

e p
rof

ile
 re

fle
cts

 th
e c

om
mu

nit
y.”

 To
 dr

ive
 fo

rw
ard

 
im

pro
ve

me
nts

 in
 th

is 
are

a w
e h

av
e a

 jo
int

 ac
tio

n p
lan

 w
ith

 th
e 

Pr
im

ary
 C

are
 Tr

us
t a

nd
 ar

e s
ee

kin
g t

o e
xte

nd
 th

is 
wo

rk 
to 

co
ve

r 
the

 si
x e

qu
ali

ty 
str

an
ds

.  
 

Page 372



 
17

 

PE
RF

OR
MA

NC
E I

ND
IC
AT

OR
S 

 Th
e f

oll
ow

ing
 in

dic
ato

rs 
me

as
ure

 ou
r d

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

ac
hie

ve
me

nts
 ac

ros
s t

he
 ra

ng
e o

f C
ou

nc
il s

erv
ice

s i
n 2

00
7-0

8. 
 

 An
 an

aly
sis

 of
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 ag
ain

st 
the

se
 ta

rge
ts 

ha
s i

nfo
rm

ed
 th

e d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f th
e 2

00
8-0

9 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Pla

n. 
Th

e 
fol

low
ing

 ar
ea

s o
f u

nd
erp

erf
orm

an
ce

 ag
ain

st 
tar

ge
ts 

for
 20

07
-08

 ar
e a

dd
res

se
d s

pe
cif

ica
lly 

in 
the

 Ac
tio

n P
lan

 fo
r 2

00
8-0

9: 
 

- 
W

e f
ail

ed
 to

 m
ee

t o
ur 

tar
ge

ts 
to 

inc
rea

se
 th

e p
erc

en
tag

e o
f d

isa
ble

d s
taf

f in
 th

e w
ork

for
ce

 an
d t

he
 pe

rce
nta

ge
 of

 to
p f

ive
 

pe
rce

nt 
of 

sta
ff 

wh
o 

ha
ve

 a
 d

isa
bil

ity
. T

he
 2

00
08

-09
 D

ive
rsi

ty 
an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 A
cti

on
 P

lan
 th

ere
for

e 
inc

lud
es

 a
cti

vit
ies

 to
 

inc
rea

se
 th

e r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 di

sa
ble

d p
eo

ple
 in

 th
e w

ork
for

ce
 th

rou
gh

 ta
rge

ted
 in

itia
tiv

es
 an

d s
tre

ng
the

nin
g o

f in
clu

siv
e 

wo
rki

ng
 pr

ac
tic

es
 

- 
W

e d
id 

no
t m

ee
t th

e t
arg

et 
for

 pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 C

ou
nc

il b
uil

din
gs

 w
hic

h a
re 

su
ita

ble
 an

d a
cc

es
sib

le 
for

 di
sa

ble
d p

eo
ple

 or
 th

e 
tar

ge
t o

n 
pe

rce
nta

ge
 o

f p
ed

es
tria

n 
cro

ss
ing

s 
wit

h 
fac

iliti
es

 fo
r d

isa
ble

d 
pe

op
le.

 T
his

 y
ea

r’s
 A

cti
on

 P
lan

 in
clu

de
s 

a 
pro

gra
mm

e 
of 

ac
tiv

itie
s t

o 
im

pro
ve

 a
cc

es
s t

o 
se

rvi
ce

s f
or 

dis
ab

led
 p

eo
ple

 th
rou

gh
 w

ork
 o

n 
ph

ys
ica

l a
cc

es
s, 

ac
ce

ss
ibl

e 
pro

vis
ion

 of
 in

for
ma

tio
n a

nd
 en

ga
ge

me
nt 

wit
h d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
  

- 
W

e a
ch

iev
ed

 a 
red

uc
tio

n i
n t

ee
na

ge
 pr

eg
na

nc
y r

ate
s b

ut 
no

t s
uff

icie
nt 

to 
me

et 
ou

r ta
rge

t. T
his

 ye
ar’

s p
lan

 in
clu

de
s t

arg
ete

d 
ini

tia
tiv

es
 an

d e
nh

an
ce

d s
erv

ice
 pr

ov
isio

n t
o r

ed
uc

e t
ee

na
ge

 pr
eg

na
nc

y 
- 

W
e a

ch
iev

ed
 an

 in
cre

as
e i

n t
he

 pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 to

p f
ive

 pe
rce

nt 
ea

rne
rs 

in 
the

 C
ou

nc
il w

ho
 ar

e f
rom

 an
 et

hn
ic 

mi
no

rity
 bu

t 
fai

led
 to

 m
ee

t th
e 2

00
7/0

8 t
arg

et.
 Th

is 
sh

ort
fal

l w
ill 

be
 ad

dre
ss

ed
 th

rou
gh

 th
e i

mp
lem

en
tat

ion
 of

 th
e r

efr
es

he
d W

ork
for

ce
 to

 
Re

fle
ct 

the
 C

om
mu

nit
y a

cti
on

 pl
an

 to
 ad

dre
ss

 un
de

r-r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 B

ME
 st

aff
 in

 se
nio

r m
an

ag
em

en
t p

os
ts 

in 
the

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d t

he
 PC

T 
- 

W
e s

aw
 a 

dro
p i

n t
he

 nu
mb

er 
of 

rac
ial

ly 
ag

gra
va

ted
 in

cid
en

ts 
rec

ord
ed

 by
 th

e C
ou

nc
il. 

Ho
we

ve
r th

is 
ind

ica
tor

 is
 am

big
uo

us
 

as
 it 

is 
un

cle
ar 

wh
eth

er 
su

ch
 a 

dro
p i

s d
ue

 to
 a 

red
uc

tio
n i

n t
he

 nu
mb

er 
of 

ac
tua

l in
cid

en
ts 

or 
in 

a d
ec

lin
e i

n c
on

fid
en

ce
 in

 th
e 

rep
ort

ing
 m

ec
ha

nis
ms

 a
va

ila
ble

. T
his

 d
ow

nw
ard

s 
tre

nd
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

co
mm

on
 a

cro
ss

 L
on

do
n 

an
d 

the
re 

is 
no

 e
vid

en
ce

 to
 

su
gg

es
t th

at 
rat

es
 of

 co
nfi

de
nc

e i
n t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 re

sp
on

se
 to

 ha
te 

cri
me

 ha
ve

 de
clin

ed
. O

n t
his

 ba
sis

 it 
ha

s b
ee

n a
gre

ed
 th

at 
thi

s i
nd

ica
tor

 w
ill 

be
 re

pla
ce

d b
y a

n i
nd

ica
tor

 w
hic

h m
on

ito
rs 

the
 pr

op
ort

ion
 of

 in
cid

en
ts 

rep
ort

ed
 to

 th
e C

ou
nc

il w
hic

h r
es

ult
 

in 
for

ma
l e

nfo
rce

me
nt 

ac
tio

n b
ein

g t
ak

en
. T

he
 20

07
-08

 ba
se

lin
e f

or 
thi

s i
nd

ica
tor

s i
s 3

5%
 w

ith
 a 

tar
ge

t o
f 7

0%
 fo

r 2
00

8/0
9. 

 
   

Page 373



 
18

 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

’s 
 PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

 De
sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l 

07
/08

 
 

Ta
rg
et 

 
07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
 BV

00
2a
 

    

 Le
ve

l o
f 

Eq
ua

lity
 

Sta
nd

ard
 fo

r 
loc

al 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t 

to 
wh

ich
 th

e 
au

tho
rity

 
co

nfo
rm

s. 
 

 Le
ve

l 
 4 

 5 
 5 

 5  
 5 

 5 
 5 

 5 

 BV
00
2b

 
    

Th
e q

ua
lity

 of
 

an
 Au

tho
rity

’s 
Ra

ce
 Eq

ua
lity

 
Sc

he
me

 
(R

ES
) a

nd
 

the
 

im
pro

ve
me

nts
 

res
ult

ing
 fro

m 
its

 
ap

pli
ca

tio
n. 

 % 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

BV
01
1a
, 

CE
O4

5a
, 

SP
51
7, 

TH
10
41
 

 

Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

top
 5%

 of
 

ea
rne

rs 
of 

Lo
ca

l 
Au

tho
rity

 st
aff

 
tha

t a
re 

 % 
 41

.42
 

 44
.41

 
 48

.66
 

 53
.21

 
 52
.71

 
 50
.00

 
 50

.00
 

 50
.00

 

Page 374



 
19

 

wo
me

n. 
PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

De
sc
rip

tio
n 

Me
as
. In

 
03
/04

 
04
/05

 
05
/06

 
06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l 

07
/08

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
08
/09

 
09
/10

 
 BV

01
1b

, 
CE

04
4a
, 

SP
51
6, 

TH
I04

0  

 Th
e 

pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

the
 to

p 5
% 

of 
Lo

ca
l 

Au
tho

rity
 st

aff
 

wh
o a

re 
fro

m 
an

 et
hn

ic 
mi

no
rity

  

 % 
 14

.62
 

 16
.43

 
 14

.29
 

 15
.26

 
 17
.43

 
 18
.00

 
 22

.00
 

 25
.00

 

 BV
01
1c
 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

the
 to

p p
aid

 
5%

 of
 st

aff
 

wh
o h

av
e a

 
dis

ab
ility

 
(ex

clu
din

g 
tho

se
 in

 
ma

int
ain

ed
 

sc
ho

ols
) 

 % 
  

 3.5
8 

 2.4
5 

 4.6
2 

 3.5
1 

 5.0
0 

 5.5
0 

 6.0
0 

 BV
01
6a
 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

sta
ff d

ec
lar

ing
 

tha
t th

ey
 

me
et 

the
 

Dis
ab

ility
 

Dis
cri

mi
na

tio
n 

 % 
 3.9

2 
 3.9

1 
 4.6

6 
 5.1

2 
 4.7

 
 5.5

0 
 6.0

0 
 6.5

0 

Page 375



 
20

 

Ac
t d

isa
bil

ity
 

de
fin

itio
n 

 
 BV

01
6b

 
 Pe

rce
nta

ge
 of

 
ec

on
om

ica
lly 

ac
tiv

e 
dis

ab
led

 
pe

op
le 

in 
the

 
au

tho
rity

 
are

a. 

 % 
 16

.19
 

 16
.20

 
 16

.20
 

 16
.20

 
 16
.20

  
 N/
R 

 N/
R 

 N/
R 

 BV
01
7a
 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

au
tho

rity
 

em
plo

ye
es

 
fro

m 
mi

no
rity

 
eth

nic
 

co
mm

un
itie

s 
as

 a 
pe

rce
nta

ge
 of

 
the

 to
tal

 
wo

rkf
orc

e 

 % 
 36

.6 
 37

.2 
 41

.20
 

 43
.53

 
 N/
R 
 

 N/
R 

 N/
R 

 N/
R 

   PI 
Re

f 
No

. 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Me
as
. In

 
03
/04

 
04
/05

 
05
/06

 
06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l 

07
/08

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
08
/09

 
09
/10

 
BV

01
7b

 
 Pe

rce
nta

ge
 

 % 
 42

.2 
 42

.2 
 42

.2 
 42

.2 
 42
.3 

 N/
R 

 N/
R 

 N/
R 

Page 376



 
21

 

of ec
on

om
ica

lly 
ac

tiv
e 

mi
no

rity
 

eth
nic

 
co

mm
un

ity
 

po
pu

lat
ion

 in
 

the
 au

tho
rity

 
are

a. 
 BV

15
6 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 
of 

Au
tho

rity
 

bu
ild

ing
s i

n 
wh

ich
 

 al
l p

ub
lic 

are
as

 ar
e 

su
ita

ble
 fo

r 
an

d 
ac

ce
ss

ibl
e t

o 
dis

ab
led

 
pe

op
le.

 

 % 
 28

.81
 

 38
.98

 
 54

.39
 

 54
.39

 
 63
 

 70
  

 80
 

 80
 

 BV
17
4, 

CE
01
3, 

XT
H0

04
 

 Nu
mb

er 
of 

rac
ial

 
inc

ide
nts

 
rec

ord
ed

 by
 

the
 au

tho
rity

 
pe

r 1
00

,00
0 

po
pu

lat
ion

. 

 nu
mb

er 
 24

3.2
 

 23
7.1

8 
 28

6.5
5 

 22
7.4

8 
 14
6.6

1 
 28

5 
 28

0 
 27

5 

Page 377



 
22

 

 BV
17
5, 

CE
01
4, 

CP
AH

19
 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 
of 

rac
ial

 
inc

ide
nts

 
tha

t re
su

lte
d 

in 
fur

the
r 

ac
tio

n. 

 % 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

 BV
22
5 

 
 Ac

tio
ns

 
Ag

ain
st 

Do
me

sti
c 

Vio
len

ce
 

 % 
  

 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

 10
0 

   PI 
Re

f N
o. 

De
sc
rip

tio
n 

Me
as
. 

In 
03
/04

 
04
/05

 
05
/06

 
06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l  

07
/08

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
08
/09

 
09
/10

 
LA

A2
02
 

 
Pe

rce
nta

ge
 of

 
res

ide
nts

 w
ho

 fe
el 

the
ir l

oc
al 

are
a i

s 
a p

lac
e w

he
re 

pe
op

le 
fro

m 
dif

fer
en

t 
ba

ck
gro

un
ds

 ca
n 

ge
t o

n w
ell

 
tog

eth
er 

(pr
ox

y 
for

 LA
A 1

16
) 

 

 % 
  

 68
 

 73
 

 70
 

 71
 

 77
 

 79
 

 N/
R 

LA
AS

20
2a
 P

erc
en

tag
e 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 378



 
23

 

inc
rea

se
 in

 th
e 

nu
mb

er 
of 

res
ide

nts
 fro

m 
co

mm
un

itie
s 

so
me

tim
es

 
de

fin
ed

 as
 ha

rd 
to 

att
en

din
g L

AP
 

ev
en

ts:
 (a

) B
ME

 
res

ide
nts

 
 

54
 

14
2 

48
 

48
 

N/
R 

        
LA

AS
20
2b

 P
erc

en
tag

e 
inc

rea
se

 in
 th

e 
nu

mb
er 

of 
res

ide
nts

 fro
m 

co
mm

un
itie

s  
so

me
tim

es
 

de
fin

ed
 as

 ha
rd 

to 
rea

ch
 at

ten
din

g 
LA

P e
ve

nts
: 

Ba
ng

lad
es

hi 
res

ide
nts

  

 
 

 
 

 39
 

 15
2 

 
 33

 
 33

 
 N/

R 

 LA
AS

20
2c
  Pe

rce
nta

ge
 

inc
rea

se
 in

 th
e 

nu
mb

er 
of 

res
ide

nts
 fro

m 
co

mm
un

itie
s 

so
me

tim
es

  
de

fin
ed

 as
 ha

rd 
to 

  
 

 
 

 5 
 24
 

 5 
 5 

 N/
R 

Page 379



 
24

 

rea
ch

 at
ten

din
g 

LA
P e

ve
nts

: 
So

ma
li r

es
ide

nts
 

LA
AS

20
2d

 P
erc

en
tag

e 
inc

rea
se

 in
 th

e 
nu

mb
er 

of 
res

ide
nts

 fro
m 

co
mm

un
itie

s 
so

me
tim

es
  

de
fin

ed
 as

 ha
rd 

to 
rea

ch
 at

ten
din

g 
LA

P e
ve

nts
: 

Yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 

 
 

 
 

 35
 

  37
0 

        

 15
 

 15
 

 N/
R 

     

 LA
AS

20
4 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

res
ide

nts
 w

ho
 

thi
nk

 th
at 

thi
s a

 
pla

ce
 w

he
re 

pe
op

le 
res

pe
ct 

eth
nic

 di
ffe

ren
ce

s 
(pr

ox
y f

or 
LA

A 
11

6) 

 % 
  

 70
 

 82
 

 74
 

 75
 

     

 79
 

 82
 

 N/
R 

       

Page 380



 
25

 

 CH
ILD

RE
N’
S S

ER
VIC

ES
 

  To
we

r H
am

let
s P

erf
or
ma

nc
e 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s T

arg
ets

 
 PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

 De
sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l  

O7
/08

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
 BV

04
3a
 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

sta
tem

en
ts 

of 
sp

ec
ial

 
ed

uc
ati

on
al 

ne
ed

 pr
ep

are
d 

wit
hin

 18
 w

ee
ks

 
ex

clu
din

g t
ho

se
 

aff
ec

ted
 by

 
‘’e

xc
ep

tio
ns

 to
 

the
 ru

le’
’ u

nd
er 

the
 SE

N 
Co

de
 of

 
Pr

ac
tis

e  
 

 % 
 73

.1 
 99

.2 
 10

0 
 10
0 

 98
.34

 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 

 BV
04
3b

 
 Pe

rce
nta

ge
 of

 
sta

tem
en

ts 
of 

sp
ec

ial
 

ed
uc

ati
on

al 
ne

ed
 pr

ep
are

d 
wit

hin
 18

 w
ee

ks
 

 % 
 9.1

 
 80

.3 
 94

.8 
 97
.5 

 90
.82

 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 

Page 381



 
26

 

inc
lud

ing
 th

os
e 

aff
ec

ted
 by

 
‘’e

xc
ep

tio
ns

 to
 

the
 ru

le’
’ u

nd
er 

the
  S

EN
 C

od
e 

of 
Pr

ac
tis

e 
   PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

 De
sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
 

Ac
tua

l 
O7

/08
 

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
 BV

19
7, 

LA
A6

10
, 

SP
20
9 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 
ch

an
ge

 in
 th

e 
nu

mb
er 

of 
co

nc
ep

tio
ns

 to
 

fem
ale

s a
ge

d 
un

de
r 1

8; 
res

ide
nt 

in 
an

 
are

a, 
pe

r 
tho

us
an

d 
fem

ale
s a

ge
d 

15
-17

 re
sid

en
t in

 
the

 ar
ea

, 
co

mp
are

d w
ith

 
the

 ba
se

lin
e 

ye
ar 

of 
19

98
. 

 % 
 -19

.6 
 -25

.3 
 -25

-3 
 -25

.3 
 -24

.2 
 -38

.3 
 -42

.5 
 -46

.7 

  

Page 382



 
27

 

  EN
VIR

ON
ME

NT
 A
ND

 C
UL

TU
RE

 
  To

we
r H

am
let

s P
erf

or
ma

nc
e 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s T

arg
ets

 
 PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

 De
sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
 

Ac
tua

l 
O7

/08
 

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
 BV

16
5, 

CP
AE

16
 

 

 Pe
rce

nta
ge

 of
 

pe
de

str
ian

 
cro

ss
ing

s w
ith

 
fac

iliti
es

 fo
r 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le.

 

 % 
 88

.9 
 96

.3 
 98

.11
 

 78
.4 

 71
.43

 
 10

0 
 10

0 
 10

0 

   HO
US

IN
G 

  To
we

r H
am

let
s P

erf
or
ma

nc
e 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s T

arg
ets

 
 PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

 De
sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
 

Ac
tua

l 
O7

/08
 

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
 BV

07
5c
 

 Sa
tis

fac
tio

n o
f 

ten
an

ts 
of 

co
un

cil 
ho

us
ing

 

 % 
 

 48
.66

 
 48

.66
 

 49
.00

 
 42
.63

 
 42
.63

 
 42

.63
 

 42
.63

 
 62

.50
 

Page 383



 
28

 

wit
h 

op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 fo

r 
pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n i

n 
ma

na
ge

me
nt 

an
d d

ec
isio

n 
ma

kin
g i

n 
rel

ati
on

 to
 

ho
us

ing
 se

rvi
ce

s 
pro

vid
ed

 by
 th

eir
 

lan
dlo

rd:
 b)

 no
n-

bla
ck

 an
d 

mi
no

rity
 et

hn
ic 

ten
an

ts.
 

 BV
16
4, 

CP
AH

10
 

 

 Do
es

 th
e 

au
tho

rity
 fo

llo
w 

the
 C

om
mi

ss
ion

 
for

 R
ac

ial
 

Eq
ua

lity
 

 

 Ye
s/n

o 
 ye

s 
 ye

s 
 ye

s 
 ye
s 

 ye
s 

 ye
s 

 ye
s 

 ye
s 

 

   

Page 384



 
29

 

  PR
IM

AR
Y C

AR
E T

RU
ST

 
  To

we
r H

am
let

s P
erf

or
ma

nc
e 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s T

arg
ets

 
PI 

Re
f 

No
. 

De
sc
rip

tio
n 

Me
as
. 

In 
03
/04

 
04
/05

 
05
/06

 
06
/07

 
Ac

tua
l 

O7
/08

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
LA

A3
01
a 

 
Inc

rea
se

d l
ife

 
ex

pe
cta

nc
y, 

wit
h 

a 1
0%

 re
du

cti
on

 
in 

the
 ga

p 
be

tw
ee

n T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 an
d t

he
 

av
era

ge
 fo

r 
En

gla
nd

 an
d 

W
ale

s b
y 2

01
0 –

 
me

n (
da

ta 
mo

nit
ore

d 
an

nu
all

y, 
bu

t 
av

ail
ab

le 
tw

o 
ye

ars
 in

 ar
rea

rs)
 

% 
73

.9 
  

 
74
.9 

75
.2 

74
.8 

75
.1 

N/
R 

Page 385



 
30

 

LA
A3

01
b 

 
Inc

rea
se

d l
ife

 
ex

pe
cta

nc
y, 

wit
h 

a 1
0%

 re
du

cti
on

 
in 

the
 ga

p 
be

tw
ee

n T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 an
d t

he
 

av
era

ge
 fo

r 
En

gla
nd

 an
d 

W
ale

s b
y 2

01
0 –

 
wo

me
n (

da
ta 

mo
nit

ore
d 

an
nu

all
y, 

bu
t 

av
ail

ab
le 

tw
o 

ye
ars

 in
 ar

rea
rs)

 

nu
mb

er 
79

.2 
  

 
79

.9 
79
.6 

79
.8 

80
.0 

N/
R 

  To
we

r H
am

let
s P

erf
or
ma

nc
e 

 
To

we
r H

am
let

s T
arg

ets
 

 PI 
Re

f 
No

. 
 De

sc
rip

tio
n 

 Me
as
. 

In 
 

03
/04

 
 

04
/05

 
 

05
/06

 
 

06
/07

 
 

Ac
tua

l 
O7

/08
 

 
Ta

rg
et 

07
/08

 
 

08
/09

 
 

09
/10

 
LA

AP
30
3 

 
 Br

ea
st 

ca
nc

er 
sc

ree
nin

g 
co

ve
rag

e f
or 

wo
me

n a
ge

d 5
0-

70
 ye

ars
 (p

rox
y 

for
 LA

A 3
02

) 
 

 % 
  

 37
.8 

 51
.4 

 52
 

 N/
R 

 60
 

 70
 

 N/
R 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 386



 
31

 

 LA
AP

30
4 

 Ce
rvi

ca
l 

sc
ree

nin
g 

co
ve

rag
e f

or 
wo

me
n a

ge
d 2

5-
64

 ye
ars

 (p
rox

y 
for

 LA
A 3

03
) 

 

 % 
 73

.7 
 72

.5 
 73
 

 71
 

 80
 

 80
 

 N/
R 

 LA
A3

06
a 

 
 Re

du
ce

 he
alt

h 
ine

qu
ali

tie
s 

be
tw

ee
n t

he
 

loc
al 

au
tho

rity
 

are
a a

nd
 th

e 
En

gla
nd

 
po

pu
lat

ion
 by

 
na

rro
win

g t
he

 
ga

p i
n a

ll- 
ag

e, 
all

- c
au

se
 

mo
rta

lity
: m

ale
  

 nu
mb

er 
 96

4 
  

 
 89
4.8

 
 87
2.7

3 
 83

8 
 N/

R 
 N/

R 

   

Page 387



 
32

 

DI
VE

RS
ITY

 A
ND

 EQ
UA

LIT
Y A

CT
IO
N 
PL

AN
 C
OR

PO
RA

TE
 PR

IO
RI
TE

S 
 Th

e a
cti

on
s l

ist
ed

 be
low

 ar
e w

ith
in 

the
 re

mi
t o

f C
ou

nc
illo

r S
ira

jul
 Is

lam
 as

 th
e L

ea
d M

em
be

r fo
r E

qu
ali

tie
s a

nd
 ar

e a
ll le

d b
y t

he
 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Sc
rut

iny
 an

d E
qu

ali
tie

s, 
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g, 

in 
pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 al

l s
erv

ice
 D

ire
cto

rat
es

.  A
 ke

y d
riv

er 
in 

ea
ch

 of
 th

e 
ac

tio
ns

 w
ill b

e m
ain

tai
nin

g L
ev

el 
5 i

n t
he

 R
ev

ise
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 fo
r L

oc
al 

Go
ve

rnm
en

t. 
  Ob

jec
tiv

e 
Ke

y a
cti

vit
ies

 
Ta

rg
et 

da
te 

 
 En

su
re 

tha
t th

e C
ou

nc
il o

pe
rat

es
 

to 
the

 hi
gh

es
t s

tan
da

rd
s o

f 
eq

ua
liti

es
 pr

ac
tic

e 
 En

su
re 

tha
t C

ou
nc

il’s
 eq

ua
lity

 
ac
hie

ve
me

nts
 ar

e v
eri

fie
d 

thr
ou

gh
 in

ter
na

l s
cru

tin
y a

nd
 

va
lid

ate
d t

hr
ou

gh
 ex

ter
na

l 
sc
ru
tin

y 
 

 � 
Co

lla
te 

rev
ise

d L
ev

el 
5 E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 ev
ide

nc
e a

nd
 un

de
rta

ke
 se

lf-
as

se
ss

me
nt 

to 
ve

rify
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 on
 ta

rge
ts 

an
d o

utc
om

es
 fo

r L
ev

el 
5. 

 
 � 

Un
de

rta
ke

 in
ter

na
l re

vie
w 

to 
sc

rut
ini

se
 an

d v
eri

fy 
Co

un
cil’

s L
ev

el 
5 

Sta
nd

ard
 eq

ua
lity

 ac
hie

ve
me

nts
, in

vo
lvin

g C
ou

nc
illo

rs 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

for
um

 
me

mb
ers

.  
 � 

Ex
ter

na
l P

ee
r A

ss
es

sm
en

t u
nd

ert
ak

en
 to

 in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

 sc
rut

ini
se

 an
d 

va
lid

ate
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 Le

ve
l 5

 st
atu

s a
ga

ins
t th

e r
ev

ise
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Sta

nd
ard

 fo
r 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

ern
me

nt 
 

  

 Se
pt 

20
08

 
  Oc

tob
er 

20
08

 
  De

c 2
00

8 
  

Page 388



 
33

 

En
su

re 
tha

t th
e C

ou
nc

il h
as
 in

 
pla

ce
 cl
ea
r e

qu
ali

ty 
pr
ior

itie
s a

nd
 

tar
ge

ts 
for

 al
l s
ix 
eq

ua
lity

 st
ran

ds
  
� 

De
ve

lop
 an

d P
ub

lish
 a 

rev
ise

d R
ac

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 fo

r 2
00

8-1
1 

 � 
De

ve
lop

 an
d p

ub
lish

 a 
Fa

ith
, R

eli
gio

n a
nd

 Be
lie

f E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 in

 
co

ns
ult

ati
on

 w
ith

 th
e T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 In

ter
-Fa

ith
 Fo

rum
 

 � 
De

ve
lop

 an
d p

ub
lish

 a 
Ag

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 in

 co
ns

ult
ati

on
 w

ith
 th

e O
lde

r 
Pe

op
le’

s B
oa

rd 
an

d T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 Yo
uth

 Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 
 � 

De
ve

lop
 an

d p
ub

lish
 a 

Se
xu

al 
Or

ien
tat

ion
 Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
 in

 co
ns

ult
ati

on
 

wit
h L

GB
T s

taf
f a

nd
 co

mm
un

ity
 fo

rum
s. 

 
 � 

Es
tab

lish
 a 

Ge
nd

er 
Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
 M

on
ito

rin
g G

rou
p  

 � 
Re

vie
w 

Dis
ab

ility
 Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
  

 

Se
pt 

20
08

 
 De

c 2
00

8 
  De

c 2
00

8 
  De

c 2
00

8 
  Se

pt 
20

08
 

 De
c 2

00
8 

En
su

re 
tha

t th
e C

ou
nc

il i
s m

ak
ing

 
pr
og

res
s i

n r
ela

tio
n t

o e
qu

ali
ty 

in 
em

plo
ym

en
t o

utc
om

es
 ac

ro
ss
 al
l 

six
 eq

ua
lity

 st
ran

ds
.   

 

� 
Pr

od
uc

e a
nd

 pu
bli

sh
 an

 em
plo

ym
en

t m
on

ito
rin

g r
ep

ort
 in

 re
lat

ion
 to

 al
l s

ix 
str

an
ds

.  
.  

Ja
n 2

00
9 

  

En
su

re 
tha

t e
qu

ali
tie

s t
rai

nin
g 

eff
ec
tiv

ely
 m

ee
t th

e r
eq

uir
em

en
ts 

of 
Le

ve
l 5

 Eq
ua

lity
 St

an
da

rd
 an

d 
the

 C
ou

nc
il’s

 C
or
po

rat
e, 

Ge
nd

er,
 

Ra
ce
 an

d D
isa

bil
ity

 Eq
ua

lity
 

Sc
he

me
s. 

 

� 
Un

de
rta

ke
 a 

co
mp

reh
en

siv
e r

ev
iew

 of
 th

e C
ou

nc
il’s

 eq
ua

litie
s t

rai
nin

g 
pro

vis
ion

, in
clu

din
g: 

a n
ee

ds
 an

aly
sis

 an
d c

orp
ora

te/
dir

ec
tor

ate
/se

rvi
ce

 
lev

el 
tra

ini
ng

 pr
ov

isio
ns

;  
 � 

Ba
se

d o
n t

he
 ou

tco
me

 of
 th

e r
ev

iew
, C

ES
G 

in 
pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 Le

arn
ing

 
an

d D
ev

elo
pm

en
t to

 es
tab

lish
 a 

pro
gra

mm
e o

f w
ork

 to
 st

ren
gth

en
 th

e 
Co

un
cil’

s d
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d e

qu
ali

tie
s t

rai
nin

g. 
 

Au
g 2

00
8 

    Oc
t 2

00
8 

St
ren

gth
en

 co
mm

un
ity

 
� 

Un
de

rta
ke

 st
rat

eg
ic 

lev
el 

EQ
IA 

of 
To

we
r H

am
let

s P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
go

ve
rna

nc
e 

De
c 2

00
8 

Page 389



 
34

 

en
ga

ge
me

nt 
pr
oc

es
se
s f

or
 

de
sig

na
ted

 co
mm

un
ity

, s
taf

f a
nd

 
sta

ke
ho

lde
r g

ro
up

s t
o p

art
ici

pa
te 

in 
the

 de
ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
eq

ua
lity

 
ob

jec
tiv

es
, s

erv
ice

 de
sig

n a
nd

 
em

plo
ym

en
t. 

str
uc

tur
es

 an
d d

ev
elo

p a
cti

on
 pl

an
 to

 en
su

re 
co

ns
ult

ati
on

 an
d i

nv
olv

em
en

t 
str

uc
tur

es
 en

ga
ge

 al
l c

om
mu

nit
ies

 ac
ros

s a
ll s

ix 
eq

ua
lity

 st
ran

ds
.  

 

Fu
rth

er 
im

pr
ov

e s
up

po
rt 
to 

sta
ff 

to 
un

de
rta

ke
 eq

ua
lity

 im
pa

ct 
as
se
ss
me

nts
 (E

QI
As

) 
  

� 
Pr

od
uc

e E
QI

A e
lec

tro
nic

 le
arn

ing
 to

ol 
an

d E
QI

A e
lec

tro
nic

 fo
rm

s. 
  

 
Se

pt 
20

09
 

  

En
su

re 
tha

t r
ele

va
nt 

hu
ma

n 
rig

hts
 im

pli
ca
tio

ns
 ar

e 
co

ns
ide

red
 w
ith

in 
po

lic
ies

 an
d 

pr
ac
tic

e 

� 
Es

tab
lish

 gu
ida

nc
e f

or 
sta

ff o
n H

um
an

 R
igh

ts 
leg

isla
tio

n a
nd

 its
 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
 fo

r C
ou

nc
il s

erv
ice

s. 
 � 

Ho
ld 

a c
ou

nc
il t

rai
nin

g e
ve

nt 
on

 hu
ma

n r
igh

ts 
leg

isla
tio

n. 
  

Ma
rch

 20
09

  
  Ma

rch
 20

09
 

En
su

re 
tha

t th
e p

ote
nti

al 
to 

pr
om

ote
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

thr
ou

gh
 th

e p
ro
cu

rem
en

t p
ro
ce
ss
 

is 
ma

xim
ise

d 

� 
Re

vie
w 

an
d r

efo
rm

ula
tio

n o
f e

qu
ali

tie
s c

rite
ria

 fo
r p

roc
ure

me
nt 

pro
ce

ss
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 

Ad
dr
es
s i

de
nti

fie
d c

ha
lle

ng
es
/ 

ba
rri
ers

 in
 un

de
rta

kin
g e

ffe
cti

ve
 

eq
ua

liti
es
 m

on
ito

rin
g a

cro
ss
 6 

eq
ua

lity
 st

ran
ds

 an
d i

mp
ro
ve
 th

e 
qu

ali
ty 

of 
mo

nit
or
ing

 da
ta 

co
lle

cte
d. 

 

� 
Co

mm
un

ica
te 

ke
y m

es
sa

ge
s o

n w
hy

 w
e m

on
ito

r, o
ur 

co
mm

itm
en

t to
 

mo
nit

ori
ng

 an
d t

he
 be

ne
fits

 of
 m

on
ito

rin
g; 

pro
du

ce
 FA

Q 
ca

rd 
for

 st
aff

; 
em

be
d m

on
ito

rin
g k

ey
 m

es
sa

ge
s i

nto
 re

lev
an

t c
orp

ora
te 

tra
ini

ng
 ev

en
ts.

 
  � 

Pu
bli

cis
e t

he
 be

ne
fits

 of
 eq

ua
litie

s m
on

ito
rin

g t
hro

ug
h M

an
ag

er’
s B

rie
fin

g, 
Pu

llin
g T

og
eth

er 
an

d E
as

t E
nd

 Li
fe 

– s
ee

k t
o f

ind
 m

ea
nin

gfu
l e

xa
mp

les
 of

 
wh

ere
 m

on
ito

rin
g h

as
 le

d t
o i

mp
rov

em
en

ts.
 

Se
pt 

20
08

 
    Se

pt 
20

08
 

  

Page 390



 
35

 

 � 
Ex

am
ine

 th
e p

os
sib

ility
 of

 ho
ldi

ng
 tra

ini
ng

 fo
r m

an
ag

ers
 on

 ho
w 

to 
eff

ec
tiv

ely
 ut

ilis
e d

ata
 on

 eq
ua

litie
s p

rof
ile

 of
 st

aff
 an

d s
erv

ice
 us

ers
 

 � 
Ex

am
ine

 ho
w 

the
 C

ou
nc

il c
an

 m
ore

 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 pr
om

ote
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

am
on

gs
t s

erv
ice

 us
ers

 in
 or

de
r to

 in
cre

as
e t

he
 qu

ali
ty 

of 
the

 da
ta 

we
 

rec
eiv

e 
 � 

Ex
am

ine
 cu

rre
nt 

IT 
sy

ste
ms

 an
d t

he
 pr

oc
ure

me
nt 

of 
fut

ure
 sy

ste
ms

 to
 

en
su

re 
tha

t s
taf

f h
av

e a
de

qu
ate

 fie
lds

 to
 be

 ab
le 

to 
mo

nit
or 

on
 al

l s
ix 

str
an

ds
 

  

 De
c 2

00
8 

  De
c 2

00
8 

   Ma
rch

 20
09

 

Co
nti

nu
e t

o s
tre

ng
the

n e
qu

ali
tie

s 
pr
ac
tic

e a
cro

ss
 th

e b
or
ou

gh
 

wo
rki

ng
 to

wa
rd
s a

 Le
ve
l 5

 
Bo

ro
ug

h  
 

� 
Co

ord
ina

te 
qu

art
erl

y D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ne

tw
ork

 m
ee

tin
gs

 an
d w

ork
 to

 
ac

hie
ve

 es
tab

lish
ed

 jo
int

 eq
ua

lity
 ta

rge
ts 

wit
h p

art
ne

r o
rga

nis
ati

on
s. 

 
 � 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 R

SL
s o

n t
he

 D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ne

tw
ork

 
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 
  Se

pt 
20

08
 

 
Fu

rth
er 

str
en

gth
en

 th
e 

ma
ins

tre
am

ing
 of

 di
ve
rsi

ty 
an

d 
eq

ua
lity

 pr
ac
tic

e. 
 

    

� 
Fu

rth
er 

de
ve

lop
 eq

ua
litie

s g
uid

an
ce

 in
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 

se
rvi

ce
 pl

an
nin

g t
oo

lkit
s. 

 
 � 

Bu
ild

 eq
ua

litie
s c

on
sid

era
tio

ns
 in

to 
pe

er 
rev

iew
 of

 te
am

 pl
an

s. 
  

De
c 2

00
8 

  De
c 2

00
8 

De
ve
lop

 M
em

be
r C

ap
ac
ity

 on
 

div
ers

ity
 an

d e
qu

ali
ty 

 
� 

Es
tab

lish
 M

em
be

rs 
Eq

ua
lity

 W
ork

ing
 G

rou
p 

 � 
Su

pp
ort

 M
em

be
rs 

to 
es

tab
lish

 a 
pro

gra
mm

e o
f w

ork
 fo

r th
e G

rou
p  

 

Se
pt 

20
08

 
 De

c 2
00

8 

Page 391



 
36

 

En
su

re 
tha

t c
om

mu
nit

y c
oh

es
ion

 
im

pa
ct 

is 
as
se
ss
ed

 fo
r k

ey
 

se
rvi

ce
s. 

� 
De

ve
lop

 a 
co

mm
un

ity
 co

he
sio

n i
mp

ac
t a

ss
es

sm
en

t to
ol 

an
d e

mb
ed

 in
to 

se
rvi

ce
 pl

an
nin

g 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

De
ve
lop

 th
e c

ap
ac
ity

 of
 th

e 
Co

un
cil

 to
 im

ple
me

nt 
eq

ua
liti

es
 

ob
jec

tiv
es
 at

 st
rat

eg
ic 
lev

el.
 

� 
Un

de
rta

ke
 St

rat
eg

ic 
Le

ve
l E

QI
As

 of
 W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e C
om

mu
nit

y 
Str

ate
gy

; S
ec

tio
n1

06
 fu

nd
ing

; C
us

tom
er 

Ac
ce

ss
; T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

. 
  

Ma
rch

 20
09

 

  

Page 392



 
37

 

     

 Ta
ck

le 
ine

qu
ali

ty 
 

A 
Gr
ea
t P
lac
e t
o L
ive
 

 He
alt
hy
 co
mm

un
itie
s  

Sa
fe 
an
d s
up
po
rti
ve
 

co
mm

un
itie
s 

Ad
dr
es
s e
vid
en
ce
 of
 ba
rri
ers
 

to 
se
rvi
ce
s f
or
 eq
ua
lity
 ta
rg
et 

gr
ou
ps
 

Su
pp
or
t &
 pr
om
ote
 

co
mm

un
ity
 co
he
sio
n 

 
Su
pp
or
t p
art
ici
pa
tio
n &
 en
ga
ge
me
nt 

Ta
ck
le 
wo
rkl
es
sn
es
s &
 ec
on
om
ic 

ina
cti
vit
y a
mo
ng
 ta
rg
et 
gr
ou
ps
 

Pr
os
pe
ro
us
 

co
mm

un
itie
s 

  

Pr
om

ote
 

co
mm

un
ity

 
co

he
sio

n 

Str
en

gth
en

 
co

mm
un

ity
 

lea
de

rsh
ip 

 

Di
ve
rsi

ty 
& 
Eq

ua
lity

 A
cti

on
 Pl

an
 

ob
jec

tiv
es
, 2

00
8-0

9 
 

To
we

r H
am

let
s 2

02
0 C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 Th

em
es
 

One Tower Hamlets 

Page 393



 
38

 

 Lin
k 

to oth
er 

pla
ns
 
Eq
ua
lity
 

str
an
d 

Ob
jec
tiv
e 

Ke
y a
cti
vit
y 

Pr
og
res
s m

ile
sto
ne
 

Ta
ck

le 
wo
rkl
es
sn
es
s a
nd
 ec
on
om
ic 
ina
cti
vit
y a

mo
ng

 ta
rge

t g
rou

ps
  

CY
PP

 
Ra

ce
  

Dis
ab

ility
 

Ge
nd

er 
Ag

e 

 Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
ers

 in
 ed

uc
ati

on
, 

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 tra
ini

ng
 po

st-
16

 
inc

lud
ing

 fro
m 

sp
ec

ifie
d t

arg
et 

gro
up

s. 
 

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

Ma
ry 

Du
rki

n, 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Yo

uth
 

an
d C

om
mu

nit
y L

ea
rni

ng
, C

hil
dre

n's
 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e  

    
    

   
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

 Su
pp

ort
 th

e t
ran

sit
ion

 of
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
int

o f
urt

he
r e

du
ca

tio
n, 

tra
ini

ng
 or

 
em

plo
ym

en
t b

y m
ore

 ef
fec

tiv
e t

rac
kin

g 
an

d w
ork

 th
rou

gh
 pe

rso
na

l a
dv

ise
rs,

 
inc

lud
ing

 su
pp

ort
 fo

r ta
rge

ted
 

ind
ivid

ua
ls 

e.g
. S

om
ali

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
; 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 w

ith
 di

sa
bil

itie
s; 

an
d 

yo
un

g m
oth

ers
. 

   

 30
 yo

un
g S

om
ali

s, 
20

 yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

wit
h l

ea
rni

ng
 di

ffic
ult

ies
 

an
d 2

0 y
ou

ng
 m

oth
ers

 
su

pp
ort

ed
 w

ith
 co

mm
un

ity
 

pe
rso

n a
dv

iso
rs 

by
 th

e e
nd

 of
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

. 
  

CY
PP

 
Ag

e 

Inc
rea

se
 le

ve
l 2

 an
d l

ev
el 

3 
att

ain
me

nt 
by

 19
   

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
He

len
 Je

nn
er,

 Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Ea
rly

 
Ye

ars
 C

hil
dre

n a
nd

 Le
arn

ing
, 

Ch
ild

ren
's 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e  

    
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

    
    

 Pr
ov

ide
 ta

rge
ted

 su
pp

ort
 po

st-
16

 to
 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 at

 ris
k o

f 
un

de
rac

hie
ve

me
nt.

 
Pil

ot 
the

 us
e o

f a
dv

an
ce

d s
kill

s 
pe

rso
na

l a
dv

iso
rs 

to 
su

pp
ort

 
NE

ET
 pr

ev
en

tio
n i

n s
ch

oo
ls 

an
d 

su
cc

es
sfu

l tr
an

sit
ion

 at
 16

 by
 th

e 
en

d o
f S

ep
tem

be
r 2

00
8. 

 

Page 394



 
39

 

 60
0 w

ork
les

s r
es

ide
nts

 in
to 

em
plo

ym
en

t, 1
00

 fro
m 

wo
rkl

es
s 

fam
ilie

s b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

Ev
alu

ate
 th

e a
cti

vit
ies

 w
ith

in 
the

 
pil

ot 
to 

de
ter

mi
ne

 fu
tur

e p
rio

riti
es

 
by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
SP

 
All

 

Ide
nti

fy 
an

d r
em

ov
e b

arr
ier

s t
o 

em
plo

ym
en

t fo
r ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 an
d 

he
lp 

pe
op

le 
to 

ge
t e

mp
loy

me
nt 

by
 

en
su

rin
g t

he
re 

is 
su

pp
ort

 an
d t

rai
nin

g 
be

for
e a

nd
 af

ter
 th

ey
 ge

t a
 jo

b 
   Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
Su

e H
ind

s, 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 Em

plo
ym

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, D

ev
elo

pm
en

t a
nd

 R
en

ew
al 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Ali
bo

r C
ho

ud
hu

ry 
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    

 Im
ple

me
nt 

an
d c

om
me

nc
e d

eli
ve

ry 
of 

Cit
y S

tra
teg

y S
ing

le 
Po

int
 of

 Ac
ce

ss
 

pil
ot 

pro
gra

mm
e i

nte
gra

tin
g C

ou
nc

il-
led

 em
plo

ym
en

t a
cti

vit
ies

 an
d a

dv
ice

 
int

o c
urr

en
t C

ou
nc

il a
cti

vit
ies

 su
ch

 as
 

Ex
ten

de
d S

ch
oo

ls 
pro

vis
ion

, C
hil

dre
n's

 
Ce

ntr
es

, C
om

mu
nit

y H
ub

s a
nd

 Id
ea

 
Sto

res
. 

Str
ate

gy
 fo

r c
om

mu
nit

y h
ub

s 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

ag
ree

d b
y O

cto
be

r 
20

08
 

Ev
alu

ate
 th

e a
cti

vit
ies

 w
ith

in 
the

 
pil

ot 
to 

de
ter

mi
ne

 fu
tur

e p
rio

riti
es

 
by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 
 Em

plo
ym

en
t s

tra
teg

y p
ap

er 
dra

fte
d f

or 
co

ns
ult

ati
on

 by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
   

 
SP

 
All

 

Up
da

te 
ev

ide
nc

e b
as

e a
nd

 de
ve

lop
 

an
 ec

on
om

ic 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

str
ate

gy
 to

 
be

tte
r in

for
m 

ke
y p

rio
riti

es
 fo

r th
e 

bo
rou

gh
 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

  
Su

e H
ind

s, 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 Em

plo
ym

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, D

ev
elo

pm
en

t a
nd

 R
en

ew
al 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Ali
bo

r C
ho

ud
hu

ry 

De
ve

lop
 em

plo
ym

en
t s

tra
teg

y w
hic

h 
ad

dre
ss

es
 eq

ua
litie

s p
rof

ile
 of

 
un

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 w
ork

les
sn

es
s i

n 
the

 bo
rou

gh
. 

W
ide

r e
co

no
mi

c d
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

str
ate

gy
 pa

pe
r d

raf
ted

 by
 Se

pt 
20

08
 

Page 395



 
40

 

De
ve

lop
 th

e W
ork

ing
 N

eig
hb

ou
rho

od
s 

Fu
nd

 co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 st

rat
eg

y t
o 

inc
lud

e w
ork

 w
ith

 ex
clu

de
d g

rou
ps

 w
ith

 
a c

lea
r fo

cu
s o

n m
ov

ing
 pe

op
le 

int
o 

em
plo

ym
en

t 
  

Re
po

rt o
f k

ey
 in

ter
ve

nti
on

s t
o 

CP
AG

 in
 Ju

ly 
20

08
 

   

SP
 

Dis
ab

ility
  

Ge
nd

er 

De
ve

lop
 jo

int
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 pr

og
ram

me
s 

of 
em

plo
ya

bil
ity

 in
ter

ve
nti

on
s t

o 
au

gm
en

t/im
pro

ve
 m

ain
str

ea
m 

pro
vis

ion
 of

 em
plo

ym
en

t s
up

po
rt  

  Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

Su
e H

ind
s, 

Ac
ce

ss
 to

 Em
plo

ym
en

t 
Ma

na
ge

r, D
ev

elo
pm

en
t a

nd
 R

en
ew

al 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
    

   
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Ali
bo

r C
ho

ud
hu

ry 
    

Jo
int

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

 pr
og

ram
me

 pl
an

s 
de

ve
lop

ed
 

Qu
art

erl
y u

pd
ate

s p
rov

ide
d f

or 
rel

ev
an

t C
PA

Gs
 

Em
plo

ym
en

t s
tra

teg
y f

or 
vu

lne
rab

le 
ad

ult
s a

nd
 fo

r th
os

e 
wit

h d
isa

bil
itie

s a
gre

ed
 by

 C
MT

 
by

 Ju
ly 

20
08

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 w

ith
 br

oa
d r

an
ge

 of
 

sta
ke

ho
lde

rs 
by

 Ju
ly 

20
08

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
Ac

tio
n p

lan
 to

 m
ee

t L
AA

 ta
rge

ts 
ag

ree
d w

ith
 TH

 Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 fo
r 

Le
arn

ing
 D

isa
bil

itie
s a

nd
 M

en
tal

 
He

alt
h b

y O
cto

be
r 2

00
8  

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

  
Dis

ab
ility

 
Inc

rea
se

 ac
ce

ss
 to

 em
plo

ym
en

t fo
r 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le 

an
d p

eo
ple

 w
ith

 
me

nta
l h

ea
lth

 pr
ob

lem
s  

   
    

  
Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
  

De
bo

rah
 C

lar
ke

, J
oin

t D
ire

cto
r o

f 
Hu

ma
n R

es
ou

rce
s a

nd
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Pr

im
ary

 C
are

 Tr
us

t, 
Re

so
urc

es
 D

ire
cto

rat
e  

    
  

 Le
ad

 O
ffic

er:
 C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 

Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
ca

se
s m

an
ag

ed
 by

 
Ad

ult
 So

cia
l C

are
 Se

rvi
ce

s r
efe

rre
d t

o 
em

plo
ym

en
t p

roj
ec

ts 

All
 ne

w 
ref

err
als

 co
ns

ist
en

tly
 

co
ns

ide
red

 fo
r e

mp
loy

me
nt 

op
tio

ns
 an

d r
efe

rra
ls 

ma
de

 to
 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 pr
oje

cts
 by

 M
arc

h 
20

09
.   

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Page 396



 
41

 

All
 ex

ist
ing

 ca
re 

pla
ns

 re
vie

we
d 

for
 em

plo
ym

en
t c

ho
ice

s a
nd

 
ref

err
als

 m
ad

e t
o a

pp
rop

ria
te 

pro
jec

ts:
 M

arc
h 2

00
9. 

 
 

 
 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 pl

an
s t

o s
up

po
rt 

so
cia

l e
nte

rpr
ise

s t
o d

ev
elo

p 
em

plo
ym

en
t o

pp
ort

un
itie

s b
y 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
08

.   
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

W
ith

 ke
y p

art
ne

rs 
fac

ilita
te 

the
 

de
ve

lop
me

nt 
of 

a d
eli

ve
ry 

pla
n 

for
 20

08
/09

 by
 M

ay
 20

08
 

As
sis

t M
us

lim
 W

om
en

’s 
Co

lle
cti

ve
 w

ith
 bu

sin
es

s 
pla

nn
ing

 pr
oc

es
s a

nd
 

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
 w

ith
 ke

y f
un

de
rs 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
 

CL
C 

DP
 

Re
lig

ion
/Be

lie
f 

De
ve

lop
 a 

str
ate

gic
 fra

me
wo

rk 
to 

pro
mo

te 
su

sta
ina

bil
ity

 an
d e

nte
rpr

ise
 

in 
ou

r c
om

mu
nit

ies
    

  
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Ro

bin
 Be

att
ie,

 Ac
tin

g H
ea

d, 
Str

ate
gy

 
an

d P
erf

orm
an

ce
, C

om
mu

nit
ies

, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 C
ult

ure
 D

ire
cto

rat
e  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Ro

fiq
ue

 U
. A

hm
ed

  

Fu
rth

er 
de

ve
lop

 M
us

lim
 W

om
en

's 
Co

lle
cti

ve
 (M

W
C)

 

Ov
ers

ee
 th

e d
eli

ve
ry 

of 
the

 
ab

ov
e d

eli
ve

ry 
pla

n b
y M

arc
h 

20
09

 

Re
se

arc
h s

pe
cif

ica
tio

n a
gre

ed
 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
 

  
Ge

nd
er 

 
Dis

ab
ility

 
En

ha
nc

e o
ur 

un
de

rst
an

din
g o

f th
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e a
nd

 ne
ed

s o
f w

om
en

 an
d 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le 

in 
the

 lo
ca

l la
bo

ur 
ma

rke
t 

 

Co
mm

iss
ion

 re
se

arc
h o

n l
ab

ou
r 

ma
rke

t e
xp

eri
en

ce
s o

f w
om

en
  

Re
se

arc
h t

o c
om

me
nc

e b
y 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 

Page 397



 
42

 

 
 

Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

  
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g, 

Ac
tin

g A
ss

ist
an

t 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
s, 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

's 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
    

    
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Sir
aju

l Is
lam

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

Pr
om

ote
 aw

are
ne

ss
 of

 em
plo

ye
rs’

 
res

po
ns

ibi
litie

s u
nd

er 
the

 D
isa

bil
ity

 
Dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n A
ct 

(D
DA

) a
nd

 th
e 

be
ne

fits
 of

 em
plo

yin
g d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
 

thr
ou

gh
 th

e C
ou

nc
il’s

 Bu
sin

es
s F

oru
m 

lun
ch

 se
mi

na
rs.

  
 

Lu
nc

h s
em

ina
r to

 be
 he

ld 
by

 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
ns

 in
 bo

th 
the

 PC
T a

nd
 

the
 C

ou
nc

il t
o w

ork
 to

 es
tab

lish
 a 

co
mp

ell
ing

 em
plo

ye
r b

ran
d f

oc
us

ing
 on

 
the

 lo
ca

l c
om

mu
nit

y a
nd

 m
ak

ing
 th

em
 

a p
lac

e w
he

re 
loc

al 
pe

op
le 

wa
nt 

to 
wo

rk 

Em
plo

ye
r b

ran
d d

ev
elo

pe
d b

y 
Au

gu
st 

20
08

 

Es
tab

lish
 ta

len
t p

oo
l o

f p
ote

nti
al 

ap
pli

ca
nts

 w
ho

 ar
e l

oo
kin

g f
or 

job
s i

n 
the

 pu
bli

c s
ec

tor
, a

cro
ss

 bo
th 

the
 

co
un

cil 
an

d t
he

 PC
T a

nd
 en

su
re 

tha
t 

go
od

 bu
t u

ns
uc

ce
ss

ful
 BM

E/d
isa

ble
d 

ca
nd

ida
tes

 ar
e e

nc
ou

rag
ed

 to
 ap

ply
 fo

r 
fur

the
r jo

bs
  

Ta
len

t p
oo

l e
sta

bli
sh

ed
 by

 
Ja

nu
ary

 20
09

 

W
FR

C 
Ra

ce
  

Ge
nd

er 
Dis

ab
ility

 
Ag

e 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 th
e P

CT
 

an
d t

he
 C

ou
nc

il a
re 

vie
we

d a
s 

de
sir

ab
le 

an
d a

cc
es

sib
le 

pla
ce

s t
o 

wo
rk 

    
   

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

De
bo

rah
 C

lar
ke

, J
oin

t D
ire

cto
r o

f 
Hu

ma
n R

es
ou

rce
s a

nd
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Pr

im
ary

 C
are

 Tr
us

t, 
Re

so
urc

es
 D

ire
cto

rat
e  

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Sir
aju

l Is
lam

  

Es
tab

lish
 lo

ca
l re

cru
itm

en
t m

eth
od

s f
or 

en
try

 le
ve

l p
os

itio
ns

 
Lo

ca
l re

cru
itm

en
t m

eth
od

s f
or 

en
try

 le
ve

l p
os

itio
ns

 es
tab

lish
ed

 
by

 Ju
ne

 20
08

 

Page 398



 
43

 

De
ve

lop
 ne

w 
sc

he
me

 in
 

pa
rtn

ers
hip

 w
ith

 To
we

r H
am

let
s 

Co
lle

ge
 an

d C
hil

dre
n's

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

to 
pro

mo
te 

pa
thw

ay
s f

or 
em

plo
ym

en
t a

t th
e C

ou
nc

il b
y 

Oc
tob

er 
20

08
 

De
ve

lop
 ca

ree
r e

ntr
y r

ou
tes

 in
clu

din
g 

ap
pre

nti
ce

sh
ip,

 as
sis

tan
t a

nd
 tra

ine
e 

po
sit

ion
s 

Pr
ov

ide
 30

 Le
ve

l O
ne

 
ap

pre
nti

ce
sh

ip 
pla

ce
s f

or 
TH

 
sc

ho
ol 

lea
ve

rs 
by

 O
cto

be
r 2

00
8 

 
 

 

Ex
ten

d c
are

ers
 w

ork
 w

ith
 14

-19
 ye

ar 
old

s t
o r

ais
e a

wa
ren

es
s o

f c
are

er 
pa

ths
 in

 th
e N

HS
 an

d t
he

 lo
ca

l 
au

tho
rity

 

Ex
ten

d c
are

ers
 w

ork
 w

ith
 14

-19
 

ye
ar 

old
s b

y J
an

ua
ry 

20
09

 

Sy
ste

m 
rec

on
fig

ure
d t

o c
ap

tur
e 

eq
ua

litie
s d

ata
 by

 O
cto

be
r 2

00
8 

W
FR

C 
All

 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 th
e 

Co
un

cil'
s t

em
po

rar
y w

ork
for

ce
 re

fle
cts

 
the

 co
mm

un
ity

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

De
bo

rah
 C

lar
ke

, J
oin

t D
ire

cto
r o

f 
Hu

ma
n R

es
ou

rce
s a

nd
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Pr

im
ary

 C
are

 Tr
us

t, 
Re

so
urc

es
 D

ire
cto

rat
e  

    
 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
    

         
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  

Inc
orp

ora
te 

mo
nit

ori
ng

 of
 si

x e
qu

ali
ty 

str
an

ds
 in

to 
Co

mm
en

su
ra 

sy
ste

m 
an

d 
pro

du
ce

 re
po

rt o
n e

qu
ali

tie
s p

rof
ile

 of
 

tem
po

rar
y s

taf
f to

 in
for

m 
ref

res
h o

f 
W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e C
om

mu
nit

y 
str

ate
gy

 

Fir
st 

eq
ua

litie
s m

on
ito

rin
g r

ep
ort

 
pro

du
ce

d, 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

Page 399



 
44

 

Su
pp

ort
 pa
rti
cip
ati
on
 an
d e
ng
ag
em
en
t o

f e
qu

ali
ty 

tar
ge

t g
rou

ps
 in

 de
cis

ion
 m

ak
ing

 an
d a

cti
ve

 ci
tiz

en
sh

ip 
ac

tiv
itie

s 

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 on

 O
lym

pic
 

Ma
ste

rpl
an

 in
 O

cto
be

r 2
00

8 
 

SP
 

All
 

En
ga

ge
 in

 O
lym

pic
 le

ga
cy

 m
as

ter
pla

n 
pro

ce
ss

 to
 se

cu
re 

ma
xim

um
 be

ne
fits

 
for

 To
we

r H
am

let
s f

rom
 le

ga
cy

    
    

    
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

  
Nic

k S
ma

les
, S

erv
ice

 H
ea

d, 
Ol

ym
pic

s 
an

d P
ara

lym
pic

 G
am

es
, D

ev
elo

pm
en

t 
an

d R
en

ew
al 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Oh
id 

Ah
me

d  

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 on

 O
lym

pic
 M

as
ter

pla
n i

n 
Oc

tob
er 

20
08

 

Bo
rou

gh
 vi

ew
s i

nc
orp

ora
ted

 w
ith

 
ac

ce
pta

ble
 M

as
ter

 pl
an

 by
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 

Co
mp

let
e S

tra
teg

ic 
lev

el 
EQ

IA 
of 

To
we

r H
am

let
s P

art
ne

rsh
ip 

str
uc

tur
es

 by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

EQ
IA 

ac
tio

n p
lan

 ag
ree

d b
y 

CE
SG

 by
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
8 

  
All

 
En

su
re 

tha
t th

e n
ee

ds
 an

d v
iew

s o
f 

eq
ua

lity
 ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 ar
e e

ffe
cti

ve
ly 

ref
lec

ted
 in

 lo
ca

l d
ec

isio
n m

ak
ing

 an
d 

se
rvi

ce
 re

vie
w 

me
ch

an
ism

s  
    

    
    

    
   

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Sh

az
ia 

Hu
ss

ain
, In

ter
im

 D
ire

cto
r o

f 
To

we
r H

am
let

s P
art

ne
rsh

ip,
 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 C
ult

ure
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Oh
id 

Ah
me

d  

Re
vie

w 
go

ve
rna

nc
e s

tru
ctu

res
 of

 th
e 

To
we

r H
am

let
s P

art
ne

rsh
ip 

  

Es
tab

lish
 fo

ur 
loc

al 
int

erf
ait

h 
ne

tw
ork

s, 
lin

kin
g u

p t
o I

nte
rfa

ith
 

Fo
rum

, b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

Page 400



 
45

 

 
 

 
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e c
ap

ac
ity

 of
 th

e 
Co

un
cil 

an
d i

ts 
pa

rtn
ers

 to
 

en
ga

ge
 w

ith
 fa

ith
 co

mm
un

itie
s, 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le 

an
d L

GB
T 

co
mm

un
itie

s b
y e

mb
ed

din
g t

he
 

Co
un

cils
 Eq

ua
litie

s F
oru

ms
 

wit
hin

 th
e w

ide
r s

tru
ctu

res
 of

 th
e 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 
Mo

nit
ori

ng
 da

ta 
sh

ow
s a

n 
inc

rea
se

 in
 th

e n
um

be
r o

f 
ch

ild
ren

 w
ith

 di
sa

bil
itie

s 
ac

ce
ss

ing
 C

hil
dre

n’s
 C

en
tre

s 
se

rvi
ce

s o
ve

r th
e y

ea
r b

y t
he

 
en

d o
f D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
8. 

  
 

CY
PP

 
Dis

ab
ility

 

Im
pro

ve
 st

an
da

rds
 of

 ea
rly

 ye
ars

 
pro

vis
ion

 to
 gi

ve
 ev

ery
 ch

ild
 th

e b
es

t 
po

ss
ibl

e s
tar

t in
 lif

e  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
He

len
 Je

nn
er,

 Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Ea
rly

 
Ye

ars
 C

hil
dre

n a
nd

 Le
arn

ing
, 

Ch
ild

ren
's 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e  

   
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
    

    

Pr
ov

ide
 op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 fo
r a

ll y
ou

ng
 

ch
ild

ren
 to

 pl
ay

 le
arn

 an
d e

xp
res

s 
the

ms
elv

es
, in

clu
din

g t
ho

se
 w

ith
 

dis
ab

iliti
es

 an
d c

om
ple

x h
ea

lth
 ne

ed
s. 

 

Ev
ide

nc
e o

f d
ail

y p
lan

ne
d 

ou
tdo

or 
pla

y p
rov

isio
n i

n a
ll 

se
ttin

gs
 w

ith
 ou

tdo
or 

are
as

 by
 

the
 en

d o
f D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
8. 

Page 401



 
46

 

  
All

 

De
ve

lop
 ro

bu
st 

me
ch

an
ism

s f
or 

inv
olv

em
en

t o
f s

erv
ice

 us
ers

 in
 Ad

ult
s 

He
alt

h a
nd

 So
cia

l C
are

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

 
De

bo
rah

 C
oh

en
, S

erv
ice

 H
ea

d H
ea

lth
 

an
d D

isa
bil

ity
, A

du
lts

 H
ea

lth
 an

d 
W

ell
be

ing
 D

ire
cto

rat
e 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
rs:

 C
llr 

An
wa

ra 
Ali

 

De
ve

lop
 Se

rvi
ce

 U
se

r In
vo

lve
me

nt 
Pla

n 
 

Re
vis

ed
 Se

rvi
ce

 U
se

r 
Inv

olv
em

en
t P

lan
 ag

ree
d b

y 
Se

pte
mb

er 
08

 
  Re

cru
it c

an
did

ate
s t

o p
art

icip
ate

 
in 

the
 pr

og
ram

me
 by

 M
ay

 20
08

 
 Un

de
rta

ke
 tra

ini
ng

 ne
ed

s 
as

se
ss

me
nt 

by
 Ju

ne
 20

08
  

 Tra
ini

ng
 pr

og
ram

me
 de

ve
lop

ed
 

by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
  

 

  
Ge

nd
er 

 

De
ve

lop
 th

e W
om

en
 in

to 
Pu

bli
c L

ife
 

pro
gra

mm
e t

o i
nc

rea
se

 th
e n

um
be

r o
f 

wo
me

n t
ak

ing
 up

 po
sit

ion
s i

n l
oc

al 
rep

res
en

tat
ion

 st
ruc

tur
es

    
    

    
    

    
 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Jo

hn
 W

illia
ms

, S
erv

ice
 H

ea
d- 

De
mo

cra
tic

 Se
rvi

ce
s, 

 D
em

oc
rat

ic 
Re

ne
wa

l &
 En

ga
ge

me
nt,

 C
hie

f 
Ex

ec
uti

ve
’s 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Sir
aju

l Is
lam

  

De
live

r F
utu

re 
W

om
en

 C
ou

nc
illo

rs 
tra

ini
ng

 pr
og

ram
me

  

15
 w

om
en

 to
 at

ten
d m

od
ula

r 
tra

ini
ng

 co
urs

es
 by

 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

08
 

 

Page 402



 
47

 

All
 en

trie
s o

n t
he

 LB
TH

 Ar
ts 

an
d 

Ev
en

ts 
for

wa
rd 

pla
n i

nc
orp

ora
te 

me
tho

ds
 to

 in
cre

as
e 

pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n o
f s

pe
cif

ic 
eq

ua
litie

s 
tar

ge
t g

rou
ps

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

  
All

 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
ng

ag
em

en
t o

f e
qu

ali
ty 

tar
ge

t g
rou

ps
 in

 cu
ltu

ral
 ac

tiv
itie

s a
nd

 
the

 ex
ten

t to
 w

hic
h t

he
se

 ac
tiv

itie
s 

bri
ng

 pe
op

le 
tog

eth
er 

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Pa

ul 
Ma

rtin
dil

l, S
erv

ice
 H

ea
d, 

Cu
ltu

ral
 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 
Cu

ltu
re 

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Ro
fiq

ue
 U

. A
hm

ed
  

LB
TH

 Ar
ts 

an
d E

ve
nts

 pr
og

ram
me

 
ref

lec
ts 

‘O
ne

 To
we

r H
am

let
s’ 

ob
jec

tiv
es

    

Co
mm

un
ity

 ev
en

ts 
inc

orp
ora

ted
 

wit
hin

 th
e ‘

On
e T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
’ 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Pl
an

 m
ark

eti
ng

 
ca

mp
aig

n 

  
Se

xu
al 

Or
ien

tat
ion

 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e i
nv

olv
em

en
t o

f L
GB

T 
pa

ren
ts 

in 
the

ir c
hil

dre
n's

 ed
uc

ati
on

 
an

d w
ell

-be
ing

 
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
  

Sa
rah

 G
ale

, H
ea

d o
f E

qu
ali

tie
s a

nd
 

Pa
ren

tal
 En

ga
ge

me
nt,

 C
hil

dre
n's

 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s 
 

W
ork

 w
ith

 R
ain

bo
w 

Pa
ren

ts 
LG

BT
 

Pa
ren

ts 
Su

pp
ort

 G
rou

p t
o p

rov
ide

 
su

pp
ort

 to
 LG

BT
 pa

ren
ts 

in 
To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
  

 De
ve

lop
 an

d s
tre

ng
the

n e
xis

tin
g 

su
pp

ort
 ne

tw
ork

s f
or 

LG
BT

 pa
ren

ts 
   

Co
un

cil 
rep

res
en

tat
ive

 to
 

rou
tin

ely
 lia

ise
 w

ith
 R

ain
bo

w 
Pa

ren
ts 

LG
BT

 Su
pp

ort
 G

rou
p. 

 
  Ro

ll o
ut 

No
 O

uts
ide

rs 
Pr

oje
ct 

(P
roj

ec
t to

 ra
ise

 aw
are

ne
ss

 of
 

the
 di

ve
rsi

ty 
of 

fam
ily 

life
 th

rou
gh

 
ch

ild
ren

’s 
lite

rat
ure

) b
y M

arc
h 

20
09

. 
   

Page 403



 
48

 

  

Ag
e 

      AL
L 

En
su

re 
loc

al 
res

ide
nts

 be
ne

fit 
fro

m 
pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n a

cti
vit

ies
 av

ail
ab

le 
thr

ou
gh

 th
e O

lym
pic

s  
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er 

Ma
ry 

Du
rki

n, 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Yo

uth
 

Of
fen

din
g T

ea
m,

 C
hil

dre
n's

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
    

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
   

Pa
ul 

Ma
rtin

dil
l, S

erv
ice

 H
ea

d, 
Cu

ltu
ral

 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Oh

id 
Ah

me
d  

    
    

    
    

   

De
ve

lop
 an

 Ed
uc

ati
on

 O
lym

pic
 

Str
ate

gy
 to

 co
ntr

ibu
te 

to 
the

 pr
om

oti
on

 
& s

tee
rin

g o
f s

po
rtin

g &
 cu

ltu
ral

 
ac

tiv
itie

s a
va

ila
ble

 fo
r y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
in 

the
 ru

n u
p t

o t
he

 20
12

 O
lym

pic
 G

am
es

 
   Co

ntr
ibu

te 
to 

the
 de

ve
lop

me
nt 

an
d 

de
live

ry 
of 

the
 C

ult
ura

l O
lym

pia
d. 

 

Str
ate

gy
 in

 pl
ac

e b
y S

ep
tem

be
r 

20
08

 
 Co

re 
leg

ac
y a

cti
vit

ies
 

hig
hli

gh
ted

, in
clu

din
g a

 G
ifte

d 
an

d T
ale

nte
d p

rog
ram

me
 fo

r a
ll 

sp
ort

s, 
inc

lud
ing

 di
sa

bil
ity

 sp
ort

s 
by

 M
arc

h 0
9 

 A c
ult

ura
l p

rog
ram

me
 of

 
ac

tiv
itie

s, 
lin

ke
d t

o t
he

 na
tio

na
l 

fou
r-y

ea
r C

ult
ura

l O
lym

pia
d b

y 
Ma

rch
 09

 
  Pu

bli
ca

tio
n o

f 5
 Bo

rou
gh

 Fe
sti

va
l 

Br
oc

hu
re 

Ma
y 2

00
8 

Pr
oje

ct 
sc

op
ed

 by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

 5 B
oro

ug
h O

lym
pic

 Ar
t P

roj
ec

t 
co

mm
iss

ion
ed

 Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 
Dr

aft
 Fr

am
ew

ork
 co

mp
let

ed
 by

 
Ma

rch
 20

09
 

  
All

 
En

su
re 

tha
t th

e L
oc

al 
Inv

olv
em

en
t 

Ne
tw

ork
s (

LIN
KS

) a
re 

us
ed

 to
 

eff
ec

tiv
ely

 en
ga

ge
 al

l th
e e

qu
ali

ty 
Ho

st 
org

an
isa

tio
n s

pe
cif

ica
tio

n 
rec

og
nis

es
 th

e n
ee

d t
o e

ng
ag

e w
ith

 al
l 

six
 eq

ua
lity

 ta
rge

ts 
gro

up
s 

Pr
oje

ct 
sc

op
ed

 by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

Page 404



 
49

 

 
 

tar
ge

t g
rou

ps
 to

 be
tte

r u
nd

ers
tan

d 
an

d m
ee

t th
eir

 he
alt

h n
ee

ds
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

Sh
az

ia 
Hu

ss
ain

, In
ter

im
 D

ire
cto

r o
f 

To
we

r H
am

let
s P

art
ne

rsh
ip,

 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 C

ult
ure

 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
    

    
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r : 
Cll

r O
hid

 Ah
me

d  
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 de
ve

lop
ed

 to
 en

ga
ge

 w
ith

 
eq

ua
litie

s t
arg

et 
gro

up
s a

nd
 en

su
re 

the
ir i

nv
olv

em
en

t in
 th

e n
etw

ork
s 

 

Pr
od

uc
e P

art
icip

ati
on

 To
olk

it t
o 

su
pp

ort
 se

rvi
ce

s t
o i

nv
olv

e y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le 
in 

a m
ea

nin
gfu

l w
ay

 in
 se

rvi
ce

 
rev

iew
 an

d s
cru

tin
y 

 

Yo
uth

 Pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n T
oo

lkit
 

co
mp

let
ed

 an
d d

iss
em

ina
ted

 by
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 
   Re

de
ve

lop
ed

 AM
P w

eb
sit

e f
or 

ch
ild

ren
 an

d y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

lau
nc

he
d b

y J
un

e 2
00

8. 

Ov
er 

50
00

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 vo

te 
in 

the
 Yo

un
g M

ay
or 

ele
cti

on
s b

y 
Fe

bru
ary

 20
09

 
 

  
All

 

Im
pro

ve
 co

ns
ult

ati
on

 an
d 

en
ga

ge
me

nt 
wit

h y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

ac
ros

s C
ou

nc
il a

nd
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 

se
rvi

ce
s  

    
    

  
  Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 
Ma

ry 
Du

rki
n, 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Yo
uth

 
Of

fen
din

g T
ea

m,
 C

hil
dre

n's
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

Inc
rea

se
 th

e p
art

icip
ati

on
 of

 ch
ild

ren
 & 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 de
cis

ion
 m

ak
ing

 an
d 

co
mm

un
ity

 lif
e 

 

Ov
er 

18
0 y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
en

ga
ge

d 
in 

the
 To

we
r H

am
let

s Y
ou

th 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
, th

rou
gh

 ac
tiv

itie
s 

he
ld 

in 
ev

ery
 LA

P a
rea

 by
 M

arc
h 

20
09

 

Page 405



 
50

 

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 pl

an
 ag

ree
d b

y 
Ju

ne
 20

08
 

  
Dis

ab
ility

 
Se

xu
al 

Or
ien

tat
ion

  
Re

lig
ion

/Be
lie

f 

Im
pro

ve
 re

pre
se

nta
tio

n o
f e

qu
ali

ty 
tar

ge
t g

rou
ps

 in
 Yo

uth
 Pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n 

ac
tiv

itie
s, 

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

Ma
ry 

Du
rki

n, 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Yo

uth
 

Of
fen

din
g T

ea
m,

 C
hil

dre
n's

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

    
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

Un
de

rta
ke

 sp
ec

ific
 co

ns
ult

ati
on

 w
ith

 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 w
ith

 le
arn

ing
 di

sa
bil

itie
s, 

les
bia

n, 
ga

y a
nd

 bi
se

xu
al 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

an
d y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
fro

m 
dif

fer
en

t 
fai

th 
co

mm
un

itie
s o

n h
ow

 w
e c

an
 

en
su

re 
tha

t th
ey

 ca
n a

cc
es

s y
ou

th 
pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n a

cti
vit

ies
 

Ta
rge

ted
 co

ns
ult

ati
on

 
un

de
rta

ke
n a

lon
gs

ide
 ce

ns
us

 of
 

yo
uth

 se
rvi

ce
 us

ers
 

Page 406



 
51

 

 Su
pp

ort
 an

d p
rom

ote
 co
mm

un
ity
 co
he
sio
n, 

inc
lud

ing
: E

mb
ed

din
g c

oh
es

ion
 co

ns
ide

rat
ion

s i
nto

 pl
an

nin
g i

n k
ey

 po
licy

 ar
ea

s (
Ed

uc
ati

on
, 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y a
nd

 H
ou

sin
g);

 Su
pp

ort
 po

sit
ive

 ac
tiv

itie
s t

ha
t b

rin
g p

eo
ple

 to
ge

the
r a

nd
 bu

ild
 br

idg
es

 be
tw

ee
n c

om
mu

nit
ies

; S
up

po
rt 

int
era

cti
on

 be
tw

ee
n n

ew
 an

d e
xis

tin
g c

om
mu

nit
ies

 an
d; 

tac
kle

 al
l fo

rm
s o

f d
isc

rim
ina

tio
n a

nd
 ha

ras
sm

en
t  

Ac
tio

n P
lan

 in
 pl

ac
e b

y M
ay

 
20

08
 

 Qu
art

erl
y m

on
ito

rin
g m

ee
tin

g t
o 

tak
e p

lac
e f

rom
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

 
  

Ra
ce

  

Po
sit

ive
ly 

re-
int

eg
rat

e y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

wh
o o

ffe
nd

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Stu

art
 Jo

hn
so

n, 
Yo

uth
 O

ffe
nd

ing
 

Te
am

 M
an

ag
er,

 C
hil

dre
n's

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
 

Im
ple

me
nt 

the
 R

ac
e A

ud
it a

cti
on

 pl
an

 
ag

ree
d b

y t
he

 Po
lice

, C
PS

, Y
OT

 & 
the

 
Co

urt
 to

 m
on

ito
r th

e e
thn

ic 
co

mp
os

itio
n 

of 
off

en
de

rs.
 

 Re
vie

w 
pla

n b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

  
Ag

e 

Pr
om

ote
 an

d s
up

po
rt c

om
mu

nit
y 

co
he

sio
n a

mo
ng

 ch
ild

ren
 an

d y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le.
 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Ma

ry 
Du

rki
n, 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Yo
uth

 
Of

fen
din

g T
ea

m,
 C

hil
dre

n's
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
    

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   

“To
ler

an
ce

 in
 D

ive
rsi

ty”
 - f

ac
ilita

te 
sh

ort
 

ter
m 

pe
er 

led
 pr

oje
cts

 th
em

ed
 on

 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n &
 ha

te 
cri

me
s 

        De
live

r s
ch

oo
l, a

fte
r-s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 
co

mm
un

ity
 ba

se
d i

nte
rge

ne
rat

ion
al 

pro
jec

ts 
wh

ich
 re

du
ce

 m
ist

rus
t a

nd
 

an
im

os
ity

 be
tw

ee
n g

en
era

tio
ns

, 
bu

ild
ing

 po
sit

ive
 re

lat
ion

sh
ips

 an
d 

un
de

rst
an

din
g b

etw
ee

n p
eo

ple
 of

 
dif

fer
en

t g
en

era
tio

ns
, a

nd
 of

ten
 th

us
 

be
tw

ee
n c

ult
ure

s 

Fa
cili

tat
e p

roj
ec

ts 
the

me
d o

n 
dis

cri
mi

na
tio

n &
 ha

te 
cri

me
s, 

inv
olv

ing
 32

 pr
oje

cts
 w

ith
 16

8 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 su
cc

es
sfu

lly 
co

mp
let

ing
 Ti

D 
led

 pr
oje

cts
 an

d 
rec

eiv
ing

 a 
rec

ord
ed

 ou
tco

me
. 

18
 pe

er 
wo

rke
rs 

to 
co

mp
let

e 
OC

N 
lev

el 
2 -

 ac
cre

dit
ed

 
ou

tco
me

 by
 M

arc
h 2

00
9 

 De
sig

n a
nd

 ru
n 6

 
int

erg
en

era
tio

na
l p

roj
ec

ts 
to 

inc
lud

e a
t le

as
t 2

 se
co

nd
ary

 an
d 

2 p
rim

ary
 sc

ho
ols

 w
ith

in 
20

08
/09

 
 wo

rk 
wit

h a
 ta

rge
t g

rou
p o

f 5
0 

old
er 

pe
op

le 
55

+ a
nd

 60
 ch

ild
ren

 
an

d y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

by
 M

arc
h 

20
09
 

Page 407



 
52

 

   Im
pro

ve
 up

tak
e o

f o
ut 

of 
sc

ho
ol 

ac
tiv

itie
s b

y y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

to 
en

su
re 

cro
ss

 – 
co

mm
un

ity
 en

ga
ge

me
nt 

  

   Lin
k o

ut 
of 

sc
ho

ol 
ma

na
ge

me
nt 

inf
orm

ati
on

 sy
ste

ms
 w

ith
 yo

uth
 

se
rvi

ce
 to

 m
on

ito
r u

pta
ke

 by
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

. 
 

  
Ag

e D
isa

bil
ity

  

Re
du

ce
 th

e r
isk

 of
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
be

co
mi

ng
 vi

cti
ms

 of
 cr

im
e, 

an
d 

im
pro

ve
 th

eir
 pe

rce
pti

on
 of

 sa
fet

y i
n 

the
 lo

ca
l a

rea
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Ma
ry 

Du
rki

n, 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Yo

uth
 

Of
fen

din
g T

ea
m,

 C
hil

dre
n's

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

    
   

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

    
    

    
    

   

Inc
rea

se
 aw

are
ne

ss
 of

 th
e i

mp
ac

t o
f 

dis
ab

ility
 an

d d
isf

igu
rem

en
t b

ull
yin

g, 
cy

be
r b

ull
yin

g a
nd

 ho
mo

ph
ob

ic 
bu

llyi
ng

 
  

A t
rai

nin
g s

es
sio

n o
n c

yb
er 

bu
llyi

ng
 fo

r s
ch

oo
l g

ov
ern

ors
 to

 
tak

e p
lac

e b
y D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
8 

 A t
rai

nin
g s

es
sio

n o
n 

ho
mo

ph
ob

ic 
bu

llyi
ng

 fo
r s

ch
oo

l 
go

ve
rno

rs 
to 

tak
e p

lac
e b

y 
Ma

rch
 20

08
. 

  Au
dit

 of
 th

e a
nti

-bu
llyi

ng
 po

lici
es

 
of 

all
 sc

ho
ols

 by
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
8  

 Mo
de

l a
nti

-bu
llyi

ng
 po

licy
 fo

r 
yo

uth
 pr

ov
ide

rs 
in 

pla
ce

 by
 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
08

 
    

Page 408



 
53

 

Co
mm

iss
ion

 to
 be

 se
t u

p b
y 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 
 Co

mm
iss

ion
 co

nc
lud

ed
 by

 
De

ce
mb

er 
20

08
 

 

 
 

 
Se

t u
p a

 co
mm

iss
ion

 in
to 

the
 Pu

bli
c 

Sa
fet

y o
f c

hil
dre

n a
nd

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 
To

we
r H

am
let

s t
o a

dd
res

s t
he

 du
al 

iss
ue

s o
f v

iol
en

ce
 by

 gr
ou

ps
 of

 yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

an
d t

he
 sa

fet
y o

f th
e l

oc
al 

co
mm

un
ity

, p
art

icu
lar

ly 
of 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

the
ms

elv
es

 
Ac

tio
n p

lan
 ag

ree
d b

y M
arc

h 
20

09
 

 Ini
tia

l p
rop

os
als

 de
ve

lop
ed

 by
 

Ju
ly 

20
08

 

Dr
aft

 de
live

ry 
pla

n r
ev

iew
ed

 by
 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

 by
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 
 

  
All

 

De
ve

lop
 a 

de
live

ry 
pla

n t
o r

es
po

nd
 to

 
the

 re
po

rt o
f th

e C
om

mi
ss

ion
 on

 
Co

he
sio

n a
nd

 In
teg

rat
ion

 to
 in

clu
de

 a 
cro

ss
-bo

rou
gh

 br
idg

ing
 ac

tiv
itie

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g, 

Ac
tin

g A
ss

ist
an

t 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
, C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e's

 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
  

‘O
ne

 To
we

r H
am

let
s' 

de
live

ry 
pla

n 
de

ve
lop

ed
 by

 Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 

Fin
ali

se
d p

lan
 re

vie
we

d b
y 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 Bo
ard

 by
 O

cto
be

r 
20

08
 

 C
CI

A t
oo

l d
ev

elo
pe

d b
y 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 
  

  
All

 

Im
ple

me
nt 

Co
mm

un
ity

 C
oh

es
ion

 
Im

pa
ct 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
pro

ce
du

res
 w

ith
in 

se
rvi

ce
 pl

an
nin

g i
n p

rio
rity

 ar
ea

s  
    

    
    

    
    

  
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g, 
Ac

tin
g A

ss
ist

an
t 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

, C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e's
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Sr
aju

l Is
lam

  

Lo
ca

l C
om

mu
nit

y C
oh

es
ion

 Im
pa

ct 
As

se
ss

me
nt 

(C
CI

A)
 to

ol 
de

ve
lop

ed
 by

 
Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

CC
IA 

too
l p

ilo
ted

 in
 at

 le
as

t th
ree

 
po

licy
 ar

ea
s b

y M
arc

h 2
00

9 

Page 409



 
54

 

  
Ra

ce
 

En
ha

nc
e o

ur 
un

de
rst

an
din

g o
f th

e 
pro

file
 an

d n
ee

ds
 of

 ne
w 

co
mm

un
itie

s 
thr

ou
gh

 w
ork

 w
ith

 th
e R

efu
ge

e a
nd

 
Ne

w 
Re

sid
en

ts 
Fo

rum
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g, 

Ac
tin

g A
ss

ist
an

t 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
, C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e's

 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
    

  

De
ve

lop
 a 

wo
rk 

pro
gra

mm
e f

or 
the

 
Re

fug
ee

 an
d N

ew
 R

es
ide

nts
 Fo

rum
   

  Su
pp

ort
 th

e d
eli

ve
ry 

of 
the

 N
ew

 
Mi

gra
nts

 In
teg

rat
ion

 In
itia

tiv
e 

W
ork

 Pr
og

ram
me

 fo
r N

ew
 

Re
sid

en
ts 

& R
efu

ge
e F

oru
m 

ag
ree

d b
y A

ug
us

t 2
00

8  
 W

elc
om

e p
ac

ks
 fo

r n
ew

 
res

ide
nts

 ac
ce

ss
ibl

e a
cro

ss
 

fro
ntl

ine
 co

un
cil 

se
rvi

ce
s b

y 
No

ve
mb

er 
20

08
.  

 40
 fro

ntl
ine

 st
aff

 tra
ine

d o
n 

wo
rki

ng
 w

ith
 ne

w 
res

ide
nts

 by
 

Ma
rch

 20
08

 
CC

CP
TM

G 
me

mb
ers

 ta
ke

 pa
rt 

in 
IC

oC
o/M

etr
op

oli
tan

 Po
lice

 
Se

rvi
ce

 te
ns

ion
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

tra
ini

ng
 by

 M
ay

 20
08

  
 

  
AL

L 

De
ve

lop
 th

e a
bil

ity
 of

 th
e C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 
its

 pa
rtn

ers
 to

 m
on

ito
r c

om
mu

nit
y 

ten
sio

ns
    

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g, 

Ac
tin

g A
ss

ist
an

t 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
, C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e's

 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
    

  

Re
vie

w 
the

 ro
le 

of 
the

 C
om

mu
nit

y 
Co

he
sio

n C
on

tin
ge

nc
y P

lan
nin

g a
nd

 
Te

ns
ion

 M
on

ito
rin

g G
rou

p t
o e

ns
ure

 
eff

ec
tiv

e l
ink

s t
o o

the
r p

art
ne

rsh
ip 

gro
up

s 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

se
ss

ion
 he

ld 
for

 
CC

CP
TM

G 
me

mb
ers

 to
 su

pp
ort

 
the

m 
in 

the
ir r

ole
 as

 pr
oje

ct 
as

su
ran

ce
 gr

ou
p f

or 
PV

E 
pro

gra
mm

e b
y S

ep
tem

be
r 2

00
8 

  
All

 

En
ha

nc
e o

ur 
un

de
rst

an
din

g o
f th

e 
ne

ed
s o

f v
ict

im
s o

f h
ate

 cr
im

e 
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

An
dy

 Ba
mb

er,
 Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Co

mm
iss

ion
 H

ate
 C

rim
e V

ict
im

 N
ee

ds
 

An
aly

sis
 

Ad
vis

ory
 gr

ou
p e

sta
bli

sh
ed

 w
ith

 
rep

res
en

tat
ion

 fro
m 

ke
y 

pa
rtn

ers
, p

roj
ec

t s
co

pe
 an

d 
ten

de
r p

roc
es

s a
gre

ed
 an

d 
ten

de
r le

t b
y J

un
e 2

00
8 

 

Page 410



 
55

 

Pr
im

ary
 re

se
arc

h c
om

ple
ted

 by
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 

Pu
bli

sh
 fin

al 
rep

ort
 an

d 
dis

se
mi

na
te 

fin
din

gs
 th

rou
gh

 
ex

ist
ing

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

 ne
tw

ork
s b

y 
De

ce
mb

er 
20

08
  

 

 
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 C

ult
ure

 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Ab
da

l U
lla

h  

 

Re
co

mm
en

da
tio

ns
 re

vie
we

d b
y 

rel
ev

an
t s

erv
ice

s a
nd

 ac
tio

n p
lan

 
de

ve
lop

ed
 to

 ad
dre

ss
 id

en
tifi

ed
 

se
rvi

ce
 im

pro
ve

me
nts

 by
 M

arc
h 

20
09

 
10

 Yo
uth

 ha
te 

cri
me

 ch
am

pio
ns

 
ide

nti
fie

d a
nd

 tra
ine

d a
ge

d 1
6-1

9 
to 

de
live

r H
C 

aw
are

ne
ss

 
wo

rks
ho

ps
 w

ith
 

yo
uth

/ed
uc

ati
on

al 
an

d 
co

mm
un

ity
 gr

ou
ps

 by
 Ju

ne
 20

08
 

Tra
ine

r d
ev

elo
pm

en
t p

rog
ram

me
 

de
ve

lop
ed

 fo
r 1

0 e
xis

tin
g 

ch
am

pio
ns

 by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

 

  
All

 

Ex
ten

d '
No

 Pl
ac

e f
or 

Ha
te'

 
co

mm
un

ica
tio

ns
 ca

mp
aig

n t
o a

dd
res

s 
all

 si
x h

ate
 cr

im
e s

tra
nd

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g, 
Ac

tin
g A

ss
ist

an
t 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

, C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e's
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 

Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
    

Inc
orp

ora
te 

'No
 Pl

ac
e f

or 
Ha

te'
 

me
ss

ag
es

 in
 C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 

ma
rke

tin
g c

am
pa

ign
 

Ha
te 

cri
me

 ch
am

pio
ns

 to
 de

live
r 

3 a
wa

ren
es

s s
es

sio
ns

 ea
ch

, 
tot

al 
60

 se
ss

ion
s b

y D
ec

em
be

r 
20

08
 

Page 411



 
56

 

 
 

 
 

En
d o

f y
ea

r re
po

rt o
f p

roj
ec

t 
ou

tco
me

s b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9 

De
ve

lop
 an

d a
gre

e P
VE

 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 D

eli
ve

ry 
Pla

n b
y 

Ju
ly 

20
08

 

Co
mm

iss
ion

 PV
E p

roj
ec

ts 
for

 
20

08
-11

 by
 N

ov
em

be
r 2

00
8 

Ca
rry

 ou
t a

 Yo
un

g M
us

lim
’s 

Le
ad

ers
hip

 Ac
ad

em
y, 

for
 24

 
yo

un
g m

en
 an

d w
om

en
 dr

aw
n 

fro
m 

ac
ros

s t
he

 bo
rou

gh
, b

y 
Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
.  

 
All

 

De
ve

lop
 an

d d
eli

ve
r P

rev
en

tin
g 

Vio
len

t E
xtr

em
ism

 de
live

ry 
pla

n i
n l

ine
 

wit
h n

ati
on

al 
gu

ida
nc

e, 
dra

win
g o

n 
loc

al 
res

ea
rch

 an
d p

oli
cy

 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g, 
Ac

tin
g A

ss
ist

an
t 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

, C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e's
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 

Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Ab

da
l U

lla
h  

  

De
ve

lop
 an

d d
eli

ve
r P

rev
en

tin
g V

iol
en

t 
Ex

tre
mi

sm
 pr

og
ram

me
 in

 pa
rtn

ers
hip

 
wit

h c
oll

ea
gu

es
 in

 th
e P

oli
ce

, c
rim

ina
l 

jus
tic

e s
erv

ice
s a

nd
 vo

lun
tar

y s
ec

tor
 

Pu
bli

sh
 th

e P
EA

CE
 gu

ide
 to

 
Isl

am
 an

d y
ou

th 
W

ork
, b

y M
arc

h 
20

09
.  

Page 412



 
57

 

 Ac
ce
ss
 to
 se
rvi
ce
s: 

Ad
dre

ss
 ev

ide
nc

e o
f d

iffe
ren

tia
l a

cc
es

s t
o s

erv
ice

s f
or 

eq
ua

lity
 ta

rge
t g

rou
ps

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t s

erv
ice

s w
ith

in 
the

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d t

he
 w

ide
r p

art
ne

rsh
ip 

me
et 

the
 ne

ed
s o

f o
ur 

co
mm

un
itie

s e
ffe

cti
ve

ly 

  
All

 

 Su
pp

ort
 an

d i
mp

rov
e a

cc
es

s t
o o

pe
n 

sp
ac

es
 

     
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

Nic
k S

ma
les

, S
erv

ice
 H

ea
d, 

Ol
ym

pic
s 

an
d P

ara
lym

pic
 G

am
es

, D
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

an
d R

en
ew

al 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Oh

id 
Ah

me
d  

Pr
og

res
s t

he
 H

igh
 St

ree
t 2

01
2 

co
nc

ep
t, i

nc
lud

ing
 pu

bli
c r

ea
lm

 
im

pro
ve

me
nts

, im
pro

ve
d p

rov
isio

n f
or 

pe
de

str
ian

s, 
red

uc
tio

ns
 in

 st
ree

t c
lut

ter
 

an
d a

cc
es

sib
ility

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
 

Vis
ion

 st
ud

y c
om

ple
ted

 by
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08

 

  
All

 

Inc
rea

se
 le

ve
l o

f p
art

icip
ati

on
 in

 
lei

su
re 

ac
tiv

itie
s b

y u
nd

er-
rep

res
en

ted
 

gro
up

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Pa
ul 

Ma
rtin

dil
l, S

erv
ice

 H
ea

d, 
Cu

ltu
ral

 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
    

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Ro

fiq
ue

 U
. A

hm
ed

    
    

    
    

   

Un
de

rta
ke

 a 
str

ate
gic

 re
vie

w 
of 

ind
oo

r 
lei

su
re 

fac
ility

 pr
ov

isio
n t

o i
nfo

rm
 th

e 
bu

ild
ing

 sc
ho

ols
 fo

r th
e f

utu
re 

pro
gra

mm
e a

nd
 fu

tur
e d

ev
elo

pm
en

ts 
wit

hin
 th

e B
oro

ug
h 

  

De
ma

nd
 an

d s
up

ply
 m

ap
pin

g 
co

mp
let

ed
 ba

se
d o

n f
utu

re 
po

pu
lat

ion
 gr

ow
th 

by
 Ju

ne
 20

08
 

     

Page 413



 
58

 

Dr
aft

 EQ
IA 

to 
be

 re
vie

we
d b

y 
CE

SG
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

  
All

 

En
su

re 
tha

t C
ou

nc
il s

erv
ice

s a
re 

ac
ce

ss
ibl

e t
o a

ll e
qu

ali
ty 

tar
ge

t g
rou

ps
    

    
  

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
Cla

ire
 Sy

mo
nd

s, 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Cu

sto
me

r A
cc

es
s, 

Re
so

urc
es

 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Jo

sh
ua

 Pe
ck

  

Un
de

rta
ke

 St
rat

eg
ic 

lev
el 

EQ
IA 

of 
Cu

sto
me

r A
cc

es
s  

Fin
al 

EQ
IA 

ac
tio

n p
lan

 ag
ree

d 
De

ce
mb

er 
20

08
 

  
Ra

ce
 

Dis
ab

ility
 

En
su

re 
the

 C
ou

nc
il m

ak
es

 av
ail

ab
le 

hig
h q

ua
lity

 in
ter

pre
tin

g a
nd

 
tra

ns
lat

ion
 se

rvi
ce

s w
hic

h m
ee

t th
e 

ne
ed

s o
f a

ll s
erv

ice
 us

ers
 ho

we
ve

r 
the

y c
ho

se
 to

 ac
ce

ss
 ou

r s
erv

ice
s  

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g, 
Ac

tin
g A

ss
ist

an
t 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

, C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e's
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

    
 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Sir

aju
l Is

lam
  

Co
mp

let
e R

ev
iew

 of
 In

ter
pre

tin
g a

nd
 

Tra
ns

lat
ion

 se
rvi

ce
s, 

dra
win

g o
n 

na
tio

na
l g

uid
an

ce
 w

ith
 a 

pa
rtic

ula
r 

foc
us

 on
 ne

ed
s o

f d
isa

ble
d s

erv
ice

 
us

ers
  

Int
erp

ret
ing

  &
 Tr

an
sla

tio
n 

Re
vie

w 
co

mp
let

ed
 by

 Au
gu

st 
20

08
 

 Re
vis

ed
 in

ter
pre

tin
g a

nd
 

tra
ns

lat
ion

 po
licy

 an
d g

uid
an

ce
 

inc
lus

ive
 of

 di
sa

bil
ity

 
co

mm
un

ica
tio

ns
 gu

ide
lin

es
 an

d 
go

od
 pr

ac
tic

e p
rod

uc
ed

 by
 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
08

. 

Page 414



 
59

 

  
Ag

e  
Im

pro
ve

 th
e e

mo
tio

na
l w

ell
-be

ing
 an

d 
me

nta
l h

ea
lth

 of
 ch

ild
ren

 an
d y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le 

by
 in

cre
as

ing
 th

e f
oc

us
 on

 
ea

rly
 in

ter
ve

nti
on

 an
d i

mp
rov

ing
 

ac
ce

ss
 fo

r m
en

tal
 he

alt
h s

erv
ice

s f
or 

vu
lne

rab
le 

gro
up

s. 
    

    
    

    
  

     
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

He
len

 Je
nn

er,
 Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Ea

rly
 

Ye
ars

 C
hil

dre
n a

nd
 Le

arn
ing

, 
Ch

ild
ren

's 
Se

rvi
ce

s D
ire

cto
rat

e  
    

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

 

Su
pp

ort
 sc

ho
ols

 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t th

e 
em

oti
on

al 
we

ll-b
ein

g o
f p

up
ils 

is 
ad

dre
ss

ed
 ef

fec
tiv

ely
 th

rou
gh

 th
e 

cu
rric

ulu
m 

by
 co

nti
nu

ing
 to

 im
ple

me
nt 

the
 So

cia
l a

nd
 Em

oti
on

al 
As

pe
cts

 of
 

Le
arn

ing
 (S

EA
L) 

str
ate

gy
 ef

fec
tiv

ely
 

SE
AL

 im
ple

me
nte

d i
n a

ll P
rim

ary
 

sc
ho

ols
 by

 Ju
ly 

20
08

 
 Tra

ns
itio

n w
ork

er 
su

pp
ort

 
pro

gra
mm

e e
xte

nd
ed

 to
 su

pp
ort

 
20

% 
mo

re 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 by
 Ju

ne
 

20
08

 
 Ex

ten
d a

mo
un

t o
f e

arl
y 

int
erv

en
tio

n m
en

tal
 he

alt
h 

su
pp

ort
 de

live
red

 th
rou

gh
 

sc
ho

ols
 an

d C
hil

dre
n’s

 C
en

tre
s 

by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

  
  

Co
nti

nu
e t

o r
ed

uc
e t

ee
na

ge
 

pre
gn

an
cy

 in
 th

e b
oro

ug
h, 

pa
rtic

ula
rly

 
in 

hig
h i

nc
ide

nc
e a

rea
s, 

an
d r

ais
e 

aw
are

ne
ss

 of
 se

xu
al 

he
alt

h r
isk

s 
am

on
g c

hil
dre

n a
nd

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 

un
de

r th
e a

ge
 of

 19
. 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

 H
ele

n J
en

ne
r, 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d  

Ea
rly

 Ye
ars

 C
hil

dre
n 

an
d L

ea
rni

ng
, C

hil
dre

n’s
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s 

Im
ple

me
nt 

AS
PIR

E p
ilo

t p
roj

ec
t w

ith
  

ye
ar 

9 &
 10

 to
 pr

ev
en

t u
np

lan
ne

d 
pre

gn
an

cy
, d

oin
g t

arg
ete

d w
ork

 w
ith

 
gir

ls 
at 

ris
k, 

to 
im

pro
ve

 ed
uc

ati
on

al 
ac

hie
ve

me
nt 

an
d b

oo
st 

se
lf-e

ste
em

 

W
ork

 w
ith

 30
 gi

rls
 at

 ris
k  

by
 

Ma
rch

 20
09

 

Page 415



 
60

 

CY
PP

 
Ag

e  

Im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 an

d q
ua

lity
 of

 
su

pp
ort

 to
 ch

ild
ren

 an
d y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
wit

h d
isa

bil
itie

s a
nd

 th
eir

 fa
mi

lie
s. 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

 Ka
mi

ni 
Ra

mb
ell

as
, 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d C

hil
dre

ns
 So

cia
l C

are
, 

Ch
ild

ren
s S

erv
ice

s 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Cla
ir H

aw
kin

s 

Co
ns

ult
 w

ith
 ch

ild
ren

 w
ith

 di
sa

bil
itie

s t
o 

inf
orm

 th
e c

om
mi

ss
ion

ing
 pr

oc
es

s f
or 

pe
rso

na
l c

are
 pr

ov
ide

rs.
 

            

Im
ple

me
nt 

a p
os

itiv
e p

are
nti

ng
 

pro
gra

mm
e f

or 
pa

ren
ts 

of 
ch

ild
ren

 w
ith

 di
sa

bil
itie

s t
o a

ss
ist

 
in 

ac
hie

vin
g s

us
tai

na
ble

 ca
re 

in 
the

 ho
me

, w
ith

 SL
A i

n p
lac

e w
ith

 
CA

MH
S a

nd
 Ev

a A
rm

sb
y C

en
tre

 
by

 Ju
ly 

20
08

. 
 De

ve
lop

 el
igi

bil
ity

 cr
ite

ria
 fo

r 
sh

ort
 br

ea
ks

 by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
. 

 To
 pr

od
uc

e a
nd

 di
str

ibu
te 

lea
fle

ts 
to 

pro
mo

te 
dir

ec
t 

pa
ym

en
ts 

an
d c

om
ple

te 
sta

ff 
tra

ini
ng

 by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
 

 Re
cru

it t
ran

sit
ion

 w
ork

er 
to 

de
ve

lop
 pe

rso
n c

en
tre

d p
lan

nin
g 

for
 tra

ns
itio

n t
o A

du
lts

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

by
 Se

pte
mb

er 
20

08
. 

CY
PP

 
Ag

e  

Co
nti

nu
e t

o p
rot

ec
t c

hil
dre

n f
rom

 ris
k 

of 
ha

rm
 an

d n
eg

lec
t   

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

Ka
mi

ni 
Ra

mb
all

as
, S

erv
ice

 H
ea

d, 
So

cia
l C

are
, C

hil
dre

n's
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
  

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

 

Re
vie

w 
the

 w
ork

 ca
rrie

d o
ut 

wit
hin

 
fai

th,
 an

d o
the

r c
om

mu
nit

ies
 in

 To
we

r 
Ha

ml
ets

, a
nd

 to
 ta

rge
t in

pu
t in

to 
the

 
lea

de
rs 

of 
tho

se
 co

mm
un

itie
s, 

thr
ou

gh
 

tra
ini

ng
, c

oa
ch

ing
 an

d o
the

r fo
rm

s o
f 

su
pp

ort
, to

 fa
cili

tat
e t

he
ir d

ire
ct 

inv
olv

em
en

t in
 pr

ev
en

tat
ive

 w
ork

 w
ith

 
fam

ilie
s 

In 
co

nju
nc

tio
n w

ith
 th

e A
fric

an
 

Fa
mi

lie
s S

erv
ice

 Pa
sto

rs 
Gr

ou
p 

de
ve

lop
 To

we
r H

am
let

s 
Sa

feg
ua

rdi
ng

 H
an

db
oo

k f
or 

us
e 

in 
all

 bl
ac

k A
fric

an
/Af

ric
an

 
Ca

rib
be

an
 ch

urc
he

s b
y 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
08

. 
 Ov

era
rch

ing
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t re
vie

w 
of 

wo
rk 

wit
h f

ait
h/e

thn
ic 

co
mm

un
itie

s i
n T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 

by
 Ja

nu
ary

 20
09

. 

Page 416



 
61

 

De
live

ry 
of 

8 s
es

sio
ns

 of
 ch

ild
 

pro
tec

tio
n t

rai
nin

g t
o I

ma
ms

 an
d 

Isl
am

ic 
tea

ch
ers

 fo
cu

sin
g o

n t
he

 
im

ple
me

nta
tio

n o
f th

e M
os

qu
es

 
an

d M
ad

ras
sa

hs
 Sa

feg
ua

rdi
ng

 
Gu

ida
nc

e b
y M

arc
h 2

00
9. 

 Sp
ec

ific
 tra

ini
ng

 pr
ov

ide
d t

o s
ix 

Im
am

s t
o e

nh
an

ce
 th

eir
 

ex
pe

rtis
e a

nd
 ab

ility
 to

 su
pp

ort
 

oth
er 

Im
am

s a
nd

 co
mm

un
ity

 
lea

de
rs 

in 
de

ali
ng

 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 w
ith

 
do

me
sti

c v
iol

en
ce

 by
 M

arc
h 

20
09

. 
         

 Em
be

d t
he

 Fa
mi

ly 
Int

erv
en

tio
n 

Pr
og

ram
me

, fo
cu

sin
g o

n t
he

 ne
ed

s o
f 

fam
ilie

s o
f o

ffe
nd

ers
 an

d t
ho

se
 w

ith
 

co
mp

lex
 an

d m
ult

ipl
e p

rob
lem

s. 

 Fo
rm

al 
tra

ns
fer

 of
 re

sp
on

sib
ility

 
of 

se
nio

r p
are

nti
ng

 w
ork

er 
po

sts
 

for
m 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y t
o F

IP 
by

 en
d M

ay
 20

08
 

CY
PP

 
All

 
To

 de
ve

lop
 a 

co
nti

nu
um

 of
 pa

ren
tin

g 
su

pp
ort

 fro
m 

ea
rly

 in
ter

ve
nti

on
 

thr
ou

gh
 ta

rge
ted

 an
d s

pe
cia

list
 m

ult
i-

ag
en

cy
 se

rvi
ce

s t
o t

he
 us

e o
f 

en
for

ce
me

nt 
me

as
ure

s  
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

He
len

 Je
nn

er,
 Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Ea

rly
 

Ye
ars

 C
hil

dre
n a

nd
 Le

arn
ing

, 

En
su

re 
tha

t c
hil

dre
n a

nd
 fa

mi
lie

s 
aff

ec
ted

 by
 do

me
sti

c v
iol

en
ce

 ar
e 

ide
nti

fie
d, 

as
se

ss
ed

 an
d o

ffe
red

 
ap

pro
pri

ate
 pr

ote
cti

on
 an

d s
up

po
rt a

t 
the

 ea
rlie

st 
op

po
rtu

nit
y. 

Pr
ov

ide
 th

era
pe

uti
c s

up
po

rt f
or 

40
 m

oth
ers

 an
d c

hil
dre

n w
ho

se
 

live
s h

av
e b

ee
n s

eri
ou

sly
 

dis
rup

ted
 by

 do
me

sti
c v

iol
en

ce
 

by
 en

d M
arc

h 2
00

9 

Page 417



 
62

 

 
 

Ch
ild

ren
's 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e  

    
    

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

    
    

 
Re

vie
w 

co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 

the
rap

eu
tic

 se
rvi

ce
s f

am
ily 

su
pp

ort
 se

rvi
ce

s f
or 

mo
the

rs 
an

d 
ch

ild
ren

 by
 en

d M
arc

h 2
00

9 
Co

nti
nu

e t
o s

up
po

rt P
rim

ary
 

Na
tio

na
l S

tra
teg

y E
ng

lish
 as

 an
 

ad
dit

ion
al 

lan
gu

ag
e p

roj
ec

ts 
in 

26
 sc

ho
ols

 by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
 

 Ev
alu

ate
 Se

co
nd

ary
 N

ati
on

al 
Str

ate
gy

 M
ino

rity
 Et

hn
ic 

Ac
hie

ve
me

nt 
Pr

oje
ct 

in 
3 

sc
ho

ols
 by

 Ju
ne

 20
08

 
 

CY
PP

 
Ra

ce
 

Th
rou

gh
 pe

rso
na

lise
d l

ea
rni

ng
 

ac
ce

ler
ate

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
 in

 
att

ain
me

nt 
wit

h a
 pa

rtic
ula

r fo
cu

s o
n 

ke
y s

tag
es

 1 
an

d 3
 an

d G
CS

E 
En

gli
sh

 an
d M

ath
s 

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
He

len
 Je

nn
er,

 Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Ea
rly

 
Ye

ars
 C

hil
dre

n a
nd

 Le
arn

ing
, 

Ch
ild

ren
's 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

    
    

 Fo
cu

s o
n i

mp
rov

ing
 th

e a
tta

inm
en

t o
f 

pu
pil

s w
ith

 En
gli

sh
 as

 an
 ad

dit
ion

al 
lan

gu
ag

e i
n s

ch
oo

ls,
 th

rou
gh

 gu
ida

nc
e 

an
d a

dv
ice

 on
 de

ve
lop

ing
 ef

fec
tiv

e 
lea

de
rsh

ip 
& m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 qu
ali

ty 
firs

t te
ac

hin
g. 

Ho
ld 

ter
ml

y t
rai

nin
g f

or 
Eth

nic
 

Mi
no

rity
 Ac

hie
ve

me
nt 

su
bje

ct 
lea

de
rs 

 to
 de

ve
lop

 sk
ills

 

CY
PP

 
Ag

e  

Im
pro

ve
 tra

ns
itio

n a
t a

ll k
ey

 po
int

s, 
wit

h a
 pa

rtic
ula

r e
mp

ha
sis

 on
 th

e 
tra

ns
itio

n f
rom

 pr
im

ary
 to

 se
co

nd
ary

, 
sta

tut
ory

 to
 po

st 
16

 pr
ov

isio
n a

nd
 

fro
m 

ed
uc

ati
on

 to
 ad

ult
 lif

e. 
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
He

len
 Je

nn
er,

 Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Ea
rly

 
Ye

ars
 C

hil
dre

n a
nd

 Le
arn

ing
, 

Ch
ild

ren
's 

Se
rvi

ce
s D

ire
cto

rat
e 

 Le
ad

 M
em

be
r: C

llr 
Cla

ir H
aw

kin
s  

    

Im
pro

ve
 po

st-
16

 tra
ns

itio
n s

up
po

rt, 
pa

rtic
ula

rly
 fo

r v
uln

era
ble

 gr
ou

ps
. 

De
ve

lop
 pe

rso
n c

en
tre

d 
ap

pro
ac

he
s t

o Y
ea

r 9
 tra

ns
itio

n 
pla

nn
ing

 by
 en

d S
ep

tem
be

r 
20

08
 

Page 418



 
63

 

Re
vie

w 
an

d u
pd

ate
 D

DA
 au

dit
s o

f 
Co

un
cil 

bu
ild

ing
s t

o e
ns

ure
 ac

tio
n 

pla
ns

 ar
e i

n p
lac

e t
o a

dd
res

s 
ou

tst
an

din
g i

ss
ue

s i
n r

ela
tio

n t
o t

he
 

Dis
ab

ility
 D

isc
rim

ina
tio

n A
ct 

Qu
art

erl
y r

ep
ort

s m
on

ito
red

 by
 

DE
S M

on
ito

rin
g G

rou
p 

Pr
od

uc
e C

om
mu

nic
ati

on
s G

uid
an

ce
 

for
 al

l C
ou

nc
il p

ub
lica

tio
ns

 to
 en

su
re 

the
y m

ee
t b

es
t p

rac
tic

e g
uid

eli
ne

s 
Gu

ida
nc

e p
rod

uc
ed

 by
 Ju

ly 
20

08
 

an
d a

do
pte

d b
y S

ep
tem

be
r 2

00
8 

DE
S 

Dis
ab

ility
 

Cr
ea

te 
an

 in
clu

siv
e e

nv
iro

nm
en

t fo
r 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le 

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
 

 Co
nta

ct 
Of

fic
er:

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g, 
Ac

tin
g A

ss
ist

an
t 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

, C
hie

f E
xe

cu
tiv

e's
 

Dir
ec

tor
ate

  
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
llr 

Sir
aju

l Is
lam

    
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e c
ap

ac
ity

 of
 C

ou
nc

illo
rs 

to 
res

po
nd

 to
 th

e n
ee

ds
 an

d v
iew

s o
f 

dis
ab

led
 co

ns
titu

en
ts 

De
vis

e a
nd

 ro
ll o

ut 
pro

gra
mm

e 
of 

tra
ini

ng
 fo

r m
em

be
rs 

CY
PP

 
Ra

ce
  

Ge
nd

er 
Ag

e 
Dis

ab
ility

 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 of
 eq

ua
lity

 
tar

ge
t g

rou
ps

 ac
ce

ss
ing

 yo
uth

 
se

rvi
ce

s 
 Co

nta
ct 

Of
fic

er:
 M

ary
 D

urk
in,

 Se
rvi

ce
 

He
ad

 Yo
uth

 an
d C

om
mu

nit
y 

Le
arn

ing
, C

hil
dre

n’s
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
 Le

ad
 M

em
be

r: C
lai

r H
aw

kin
s 

All
 O

pe
n A

cc
es

s Y
ou

th 
Pr

ov
isio

n 
co

ntr
ac

ts 
he

ld 
by

 pr
inc

ipa
l c

on
tra

cto
rs 

to 
inc

lud
e f

ive
 ye

ar 
tar

ge
ts 

to 
inc

rea
se

 
pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n i

n r
ela

tio
n t

o a
ge

, g
en

de
r, 

dis
ab

ility
 an

d r
ac

e t
o m

atc
h t

he
 pr

ofi
le 

of 
the

 LA
P a

rea
 th

ey
 ar

e d
eli

ve
rin

g i
n 

All
 co

ntr
ac

ts 
to 

inc
lud

e e
qu

ali
ty 

gro
up

 ta
rge

ts 
by

 M
arc

h 2
00

9 

            

Page 419



 
64

 

          
    

EQ
UA

LI
TY

 IM
PA

CT
 A

SS
ES

SM
EN

T 
PR

OG
RA

M
M

E 
20

08
/9

Page 420



 
65

 

Ch
ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 
co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

1. 
Co

rpo
rat

e E
qu

ali
tie

s F
un

cti
on

  
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g 

Q3
 

2. 
Su

pp
ort

 Eq
ua

litie
s F

or 
um

s (
Int

ern
al 

& E
xte

rna
l) 

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g 
Q3

 
3. 

Pr
ev

en
tin

g V
iol

en
t E

xtr
em

ism
  

Mi
ch

ae
l K

ea
tin

g 
Q3

 
4. 

Co
mm

un
ity

 C
oh

es
ion

  
Mi

ch
ae

l K
ea

tin
g 

Q3
 

Sc
rut

iny
 & 

Eq
ua

lity
   

5. 
Ov

erv
iew

 & 
Sc

rut
iny

 Fu
nc

tio
n 

Afa
zu

l H
aq

ue
 

Q3
 

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
ns

  
6. 

Ea
st 

En
d L

ife
 

La
rai

ne
 C

lay
 

Q3
 

7. 
Na

tio
na

lity
 C

he
ck

ing
 Se

rvi
ce

 
Jo

hn
 S 

W
illia

ms
 

(C
ath

eri
ne

 Su
tto

n) 
Q3

 
De

mo
cra

tic
 Se

rvi
ce

s  
8. 

Ca
pit

al 
Am

bit
ion

 – 
Co

un
cill

ors
 of

 th
e F

utu
re 

Jo
hn

 S 
W

illia
ms

 
(B

ev
erl

ey
 M

cK
en

zie
 / 

Su
sa

n R
itc

hie
) 

Q3
 

Le
ga

l S
erv

ice
s 

9. 
Lo

ca
l a

nd
 N

ati
on

al 
Ele

cti
on

s 
Isa

be
lla

 Fr
ee

ma
n 

Q3
  

10
. C

om
mu

nit
y P

lan
 an

d L
AA

  
Ala

n S
tew

ard
 

Q2
 

Str
ate

gy
 & 

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
  

11
. S

tra
teg

ic 
Pla

n  
Lo

uis
e R

us
se

ll 
Q4

 
 

12
. A

wa
rds

 (S
cre

en
ing

) 
Ala

n S
tew

ard
  

Q3
 

 

Page 421



 
66

 

 C
hil
dr
en
’s 
Se
rvi
ce
s  

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 
co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

1. 
Co

nta
ct 

Po
int

 
Sio

bh
an

 G
ile

s 
Q3

 
2. 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 St
rat

eg
y 

Sio
bh

an
 G

ile
s 

Q4
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 
Se

rvi
ce

 
 

3. 
TH

IS 
Ch

ild
 Pr

og
ram

me
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Sio

bh
an

 G
ile

s 
Q3

 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Re

so
urc

es
 

4. 
Ad

ole
sc

en
ts 

res
ou

rce
 ce

ntr
e 

Hil
ary

 Bu
ll 

Q3
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

Re
vie

ws
 

5. 
Re

vie
win

g K
ey

 Ta
rge

ts 
Sim

on
 R

ea
 

Q3
 

Ea
rly

 Ye
ars

 
6. 

Ch
ild

ca
re 

Jo
 G

ree
n 

Q4
 

7. 
Ex

ter
na

l F
un

din
g 

An
ge

la 
Le

wis
 

Q4
 

8. 
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 
An

ge
la 

Le
wis

 
Q4

 
Ex

ter
na

l F
un

din
g a

nd
 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 

 
9. 

Co
mm

un
ity

 re
so

urc
es

 
An

ge
la 

Le
wis

 
Q4

 
10

. A
dv

ice
 an

d A
ss

es
sm

en
t T

ea
m 

Ur
me

e M
az

he
r 

Q4
 

Fie
ldw

ork
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
11

. F
am

ily 
Su

pp
ort

 an
d P

rot
ec

tio
n S

erv
ice

s 
Su

kri
ti S

en
 

Q4
 

Le
av

ing
 C

are
 Se

rvi
ce

 
12

. S
up

po
rt S

erv
ice

s f
or 

ca
re 

lea
ve

rs 
Je

nn
y B

oy
d 

Q4
 

Pa
ren

tal
 En

ga
ge

me
nt 

13
. F

am
ily 

Su
pp

ort
 an

d P
are

nta
l E

ng
ag

em
en

t S
tra

teg
y 

Sa
rah

 G
ale

 
Q3

 
Pa

ren
ts’

 Ad
vic

e C
en

tre
 

14
. P

are
nta

l P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
Se

rvi
ce

 (M
) 

Sa
rah

 G
ale

 
Q4

 
Pu

pil
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
15

. H
om

e t
o S

ch
oo

l T
rav

el 
Pa

ss
es

 
Ha

nia
 Fr

an
ek

 
Q3

 
16

. E
du

ca
tio

n B
uil

din
g D

ev
elo

pm
en

t (S
cre

en
ing

) 
Pa

t W
ats

on
 

Q3
 

17
. S

ch
oo

ls 
Fin

an
ce

 (S
cre

en
ing

) 
Ka

te 
Bin

gh
am

 
Q3

 
Re

so
urc

es
  

 
18

. T
ec

hn
ica

l S
erv

ice
s (

Sc
ree

nin
g) 

Pa
t W

ats
on

 
Q3

 
So

cia
l C

are
 IC

T 
19

. T
rai

nin
g a

nd
 Su

pp
ort

ing
 St

aff
  

An
tho

ny
 H

am
mo

nd
 

Q3
 

Sta
ke

ho
lde

r E
ng

ag
em

en
t 

an
d P

art
icip

ati
on

 
20

. C
om

mu
nic

ati
on

 Te
am

 
Su

kjin
de

r N
un

wa
 

Q3
 

Su
pp

ort
 fo

r L
ea

rni
ng

 
Se

rvi
ce

 
21

. M
on

ito
rin

g t
he

 im
pa

ct 
of 

 an
ti-b

ull
yin

g s
tra

teg
ies

 
(B

eh
av

iou
r S

up
po

rt T
ea

m)
 

Liz
 Vi

ck
eri

e/ 
Lia

m 
Mc

Qu
ad

e 
Q4

 
22

. A
rts

 an
d M

us
ic 

Ed
uc

ati
on

 Se
rvi

ce
 

Ka
ren

 Br
oc

k 
Q3

 
23

. E
du

ca
tio

n I
mp

rov
em

en
t P

art
ne

rsh
ip 

14
-19

 
W

en
dy

 Fo
rre

st 
Q3

 
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

 an
d 

Le
arn

ing
 

 
24

. E
-Le

arn
ing

 
Jo

hn
 W

oo
ds

 
Q4

 

Page 422



 
67

 

25
. H

um
an

itie
s E

du
ca

tio
n C

en
tre

 
Ma

rga
ret

 Bu
rr 

Q3
 

26
. P

hy
sic

al 
Ed

uc
ati

on
, S

ch
oo

l S
po

rt a
nd

 C
lub

 Li
nk

s S
tra

teg
y 

He
len

 Sp
ed

din
g 

Q4
 

 
27

. S
ec

on
da

ry 
Sc

ho
ol 

Im
pro

ve
me

nt 
Th

is 
co

uld
 be

 do
ne

 jo
int

ly 
wit

h P
rim

ary
 Sc

ho
ols

 se
e 7

0 
Di 

W
arn

e 
Q4

 
28

. T
rai

nin
g T

ea
m 

Ste
ve

 Si
pp

le 
Q4

 
Yo

uth
 an

d C
om

mu
nit

y 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
29

. R
ap

id 
res

po
ns

e t
ea

m 
Ste

ve
 Si

pp
le 

Q4
 

Page 423



 
68

 

Ad
ult
s H

ea
lth
 an

d W
ell
-B
ein
g  

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 

co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

Dis
ab

iliti
es

 an
d H

ea
lth

  
1.

 
He

ari
ng

 C
lin

ic 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-D
isa

bil
ity

 
an

d H
ea

lth
 

Q3
 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
2.

 
As

se
ss

me
nt 

an
d C

are
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-O
lde

r 
Pe

op
le 

an
d 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

Q3
 

3.
 

Me
nta

l H
ea

lth
 Ac

t 2
00

7 
Q3

 
Dis

ab
iliti

es
 an

d H
ea

lth
 

4.
 

De
pri

va
tio

n o
f L

ibe
rty

. 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-D
isa

bil
ity

 
an

d H
ea

lth
 

Q3
 

5.
 

Up
da

te 
Fa

ile
d V

isit
 Po

licy
 

Q3
 

6.
 

En
ab

lem
en

t 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-O
lde

r 
Pe

op
le 

an
d 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

Q3
 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
  

7.
 

Lin
ka

ge
 Pl

us
 

Se
rvi

ce
 M

an
ag

er-
 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
-O

lde
r 

Pe
op

le 
Q3

 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Str
ate

gy
 

8.
 

Co
nti

nu
ing

 H
ea

lth
 C

are
 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d-

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 an

d 
Str

ate
gy

 
Q3

 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
 

9.
 

Da
y C

are
 fo

r S
om

ali
 O

lde
r P

eo
ple

 
Se

rvi
ce

 M
an

ag
er-

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 O

lde
r 

Pe
op

le 
Q3

 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Str
ate

gy
 

10
. A

cc
om

mo
da

tio
n P

roj
ec

t 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 an
d 

Str
ate

gy
 

Q3
 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
 

11
. R

es
tru

ctu
re 

in-
ho

us
e H

om
ec

are
 Se

rvi
ce

 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d-O
lde

r 
Pe

op
le 

an
d 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

Q3
 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
12

. In
teg

rat
ion

 of
  

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d O

lde
r 

Q3
 

Page 424



 
69

 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Str
ate

gy
 

� 
Pr

ov
ide

r S
erv

ice
s 

� 
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 
Pe

op
le 

an
d 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s a

nd
 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 an

d 
Str

ate
gy

 
Ol

de
r P

eo
ple

 an
d 

Ho
me

les
sn

es
s 

 
13

. H
om

ele
ss

ne
ss

 St
rat

eg
y 

Str
ate

gy
 M

an
ag

er,
 

Str
ate

gy
 an

d 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 
Q3

 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
14

. P
rev

en
tio

n o
f h

om
ele

ss
ne

ss
 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
an

d A
dv

ice
 

Ma
na

ge
r 

Q3
 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s 
 

15
. A

llo
ca

tio
n o

f T
em

po
rar

y A
cc

om
mo

da
tio

n 
Ho

me
les

s 
Ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 

Bu
sin

es
s M

an
ag

er 
Q3

 

Page 425



 
70

 

Re
so
ur
ce
s 

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 
co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

1. 
W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e C
om

mu
nit

y S
tra

teg
y 

Q3
 

2. 
Fle

xib
le 

W
ork

ing
 H

ou
rs 

Pr
oc

ed
ure

  
Q3

 
3. 

Co
rpo

rat
e H

an
dli

ng
 O

rga
nis

ati
on

al 
Ch

an
ge

 
Pr

oc
ed

ure
 

Q3
 

4. 
Re

cru
itm

en
t &

 Se
lec

tio
n P

oli
cy

 
Q3

 
5. 

Le
arn

ing
 an

d D
ev

elo
pm

en
t P

oli
cy

 
Q3

 

Hu
ma

n R
es

ou
rce

s  

6. 
To

we
r H

am
let

s a
nd

 lo
ca

l G
rad

ua
te 

Tra
ini

ng
 

Sc
he

me
s 

De
b C

lar
ke

 
Jo

int
 D

ire
cto

r H
um

an
 

Re
so

urc
es

 
 Ca

trio
na

 H
un

t 
He

ad
 of

 H
R 

Op
era

tio
ns

 
Jo

int
 D

ire
cto

r 
Q3

 
IC

T 
7. 

IC
T S

erv
ice

 
Jim

 R
ob

ert
s  

Q3
 

8. 
Ap

pli
ca

tio
n d

es
ign

 st
an

da
rds

 
Q3

 
IC

T  
Se

rvi
ce

 D
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

9. 
Ele

ctr
on

ic 
Ma

il  
Int

ern
et 

& I
ntr

an
et 

  
Ac

ce
pta

ble
 U

se
 Po

licy
 

Ca
the

rin
e O

rtle
pp

 
Q3

 

10
. S

erv
ice

 D
es

k 
Q3

 
11

. E
nro

lm
en

t p
roc

es
s 

Q3
 

IC
T  

Se
rvi

ce
 D

eli
ve

ry 
12

. IC
T p

rov
isio

n o
f H

om
ew

ork
ing

 Po
licy

 
Ke

n B
ate

s  
Q3

 
13

. IC
T C

om
pe

ten
cy

 Fr
am

ew
ork

 
Q3

 
IC

T 
Bu

sin
es

s S
up

po
rt 

14
. S

up
pli

er 
Re

lat
ion

sh
ip 

Ma
na

ge
me

nt 
Kh

ale
d H

us
sa

in 
 

 
Q3

 
Q2

 
Q2

 
Cla

ire
 Sy

mo
nd

s 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Cu

sto
me

r 
Ac

ce
ss

  
Q2

 
Cu

sto
me

r A
cc

es
s 

 
15

. T
ele

ph
on

e c
on

tac
t 

Fa
ce

 to
 fa

ce
 co

nta
ct 

W
eb

 co
nta

ct 
Fa

cili
tie

s m
an

ag
em

en
t 

Ma
rtin

 O
 R

eg
an

 
Q3

  
Re

ve
nu

e s
erv

ice
s 

16
. C

ou
nc

il  
 Ta

x 
Bu

sin
es

s R
ate

s 
Inc

om
e 

Ca
sh

ier
s 

Pa
ym

en
ts 

Pa
ul 

Mc
De

rm
ott

  
Q3

  

Page 426



 
71

 

Co
rpo

rat
e F

ina
nc

e  
17

. T
rea

su
ry 

Ma
na

ge
me

nt 
(sc

ree
nin

g) 
Ala

n F
inc

h  
Q3

 

Page 427



 
72

 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult
ur
e  

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 
co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

1. 
Fe

sti
va

ls 
& E

ve
nts

 
Q4

 
Cu

ltu
ral

 Se
rvi

ce
s  

Ar
ts 

& E
ve

nts
 

2. 
Co

mm
un

ity
 Ar

ts 
Pr

oje
cts

 
S M

urr
ay

 
 

Q4
 

Mi
le 

En
d P

ark
 

3. 
Mi

le 
En

d P
ark

 
M 

Ro
wa

n 
Q2

 
4. 

Ide
a S

tor
es

 
Q3

 
5. 

Lib
rar

ies
 

Q4
 

6. 
Lo

ca
l H

ist
ory

 & 
Ar

ch
ive

s 
Q4

 
7. 

Ou
tre

ac
h 

Q4
 

8. 
Ch

ild
ren

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Q4
 

9. 
Re

fer
en

ce
 & 

inf
orm

ati
on

 se
rvi

ce
s 

Q4
 

10
. L

ife
 lo

ng
 le

arn
ing

 
Q4

 

Cu
ltu

ral
 Se

rvi
ce

s  
Ide

a S
tor

es
 & 

Lib
rar

ies
 

 

11
. IC

T S
erv

ice
s -

 pe
op

les
 ne

tw
ork

 

I M
cN

ico
l/ J

 St
 Jo

hn
 

 

Q4
 

12
. S

po
rts

 D
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

Q3
 

13
. A

cti
ve

 co
mm

un
itie

s 
Q3

 
14

. L
eis

ure
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Q3

 
15

. S
ch

oo
l s

po
rts

 
Q3

 
16

. H
ea

lth
y L

ife
sty

les
 

Q3
 

17
. S

um
me

r p
rog

ram
me

 
Q3

 

Cu
ltu

ral
 Se

rvi
ce

s 
Sp

ort
 & 

Ph
ys

ica
l A

cti
vit

y  
 

18
. L

eis
ure

 C
en

tre
s 

P M
art

ind
ill (

M 
Da

vie
s /

 P 
Du

nn
) 

 

Q3
 

En
vir

on
me

nta
l C

on
tro

l 
En

vir
on

me
nta

l P
rot

ec
tio

n 
19

. P
es

t c
on

tro
l 

D 
Fa

rre
ll /

 C
 Sh

ipm
an

 
Q2

 
20

. F
oo

d S
afe

ty 
Q3

 
21

. T
rad

ing
 St

an
da

rds
 En

for
ce

me
nt 

Q3
 

22
. H

ea
lth

 an
d S

afe
ty 

 
Q3

 
23

. C
on

su
me

r A
dv

ice
 

Q3
 

24
. L

ice
ns

ing
 ad

mi
nis

tra
tio

n 
Q3

 

En
vir

on
me

nta
l H

ea
lth

 & 
Tra

din
g S

tan
da

rds
 

(C
om

me
rci

al)
 

25
. P

oli
cy

 - L
ice

ns
ing

  

C 
Pe

rrin
s 

Q3
 

Pu
bli

c R
ea

lm
 

26
. P

ark
s &

 O
pe

n S
pa

ce
s M

an
ag

em
en

t  
C 

Stu
art

  
Q3

 

Page 428



 
73

 

27
. L

an
ds

ca
pe

 Ar
ch

ite
ctu

re 
 

C 
Stu

art
 

Q3
 

Pa
rks

 an
d P

lay
  

28
. A

rbo
ric

ult
ure

 Se
rvi

ce
s (

sc
ree

nin
g) 

C 
Stu

art
 

Q3
 

29
. D

rug
 an

d A
lco

ho
l A

cti
on

 Te
am

  
Gi

lly 
Co

tte
w 

Q2
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y 
Dr

ug
 an

d A
lco

ho
l A

cti
on

 
Te

am
 

30
. A

lco
ho

l S
tra

teg
y  

Gi
lle

s B
erg

ero
n 

Q2
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 an

d P
erf

orm
an

ce
 

Te
am

  
31

. R
ed

uc
ing

 R
e-O

ffe
nd

ing
 St

rat
eg

y 
Jo

n U
nd

erw
oo

d 
Q1

 

32
. A

SB
 In

ve
sti

ga
tio

n P
roc

es
s 

He
ath

er 
Ma

llid
er 

Q4
 

33
. A

SB
O 

Pu
bli

cit
y S

tra
teg

y 
He

ath
er 

Ma
lid

er 
Q3

 
Co

mm
un

ity
 Sa

fet
y 

Op
era

tio
ns

 Te
am

 
34

. C
CT

V S
tra

teg
y  

An
dy

 Ba
mb

er 
 

Q3
 

35
. C

on
su

lta
tio

n a
nd

 Pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n  
Q2

 
36

. L
oc

al 
Ma

na
ge

me
nt 

 
Q2

 
To

we
r H

am
let

s P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
  

37
. P

art
ne

rsh
ip 

Su
pp

ort
  

Sh
az

ia 
Hu

ss
ain

/ S
us

an
 

Rit
ch

ie 
 

Q2
 

 

Page 429



 
74

 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 
an
d R

en
ew
al 

 
Se
rvi
ce
 

Fu
nc
tio
n  

Le
ad
 O
ffic
er 

Ta
rg
et 
co
mp
let
ion
 

mo
nth
 

Le
ttin

gs
  

1. 
Ch

oic
e-b

as
ed

 le
ttin

gs
 fu

nc
tio

n 
Ra

fiq
ul 

Ha
qu

e 
Q2

 
Es

tat
e S

tra
teg

y  
 

  
2. 

Pr
ov

isio
n o

f C
om

mu
na

l E
sta

te 
Se

rvi
ce

s: 
 

� 
Es

tat
e c

are
tak

ing
 

� 
Co

nc
ier

ge
 se

rvi
ce

s 
� 

Pr
oc

ure
me

nt 
 

Bo
b G

oo
db

od
y 

Q3
 

Ho
me

 O
wn

ers
hip

 
3. 

Se
rvi

ce
 C

ha
rge

 & 
Ar

rea
rs 

Co
lle

cti
on

  
Ba

rrie
 Ty

so
n  

Q2
 

Ho
me

 O
wn

ers
hip

 
4. 

Le
as

eh
old

 Ad
vic

e  
W

um
ni 

Od
us

ina
 

Q2
 

Ho
me

 O
wn

ers
hip

 
5. 

Ma
jor

 w
ork

s f
un

cti
on

 (T
im

ing
 de

pe
nd

en
t o

n c
om

ple
tio

n o
f 

the
 Is

su
es

 an
d O

pti
on

s o
f th

e C
ore

 St
rat

eg
y) 

Mi
thu

 G
os

h 
Q4

  
(de
pe
nd
en
t o
n 

LD
F t
im
ing
) 

LH
O 

SE
RV

IC
ES

 
6. 

Ne
w 

Te
na

nt 
Se

rvi
ce

 
(si

gn
 up

, s
ett

lin
g i

n, 
Pr

ob
ati

on
ary

 te
na

nc
ies

) 
Te

rry
 D

am
ian

o  
Q2

 
RE

NT
S (

AL
MO

) 
7. 

Ar
rea

rs 
Re

co
ve

ry 
Be

ve
rle

y G
ree

nid
ge

 
Q2

 

RE
NT

S (
AL

MO
) 

8. 
Re

nts
 Po

licy
 

Be
ve

rle
y G

ree
nid

ge
 

Q2
 

RE
NT

S (
AL

MO
) 

9. 
Te

na
nc

y C
on

dit
ion

s 
Tim

 Sh
err

y 
Q4

 
RE

NT
S 

(A
LM

O)
 

10
. H

ou
sin

g P
oli

cy
 fu

nc
tio

n 
 

Tim
 Sh

err
y 

Q2
 

RE
NT

S 
(A

LM
O)

 
11

. O
lde

r P
eo

ple
’s 

De
co

rat
ing

 pr
og

ram
me

 
 

Su
e L

aw
ren

ce
 

Q2
 

TE
CH

NI
CA

L S
ER

VIC
ES

: 
RE

PA
IR

S (
AL

MO
) 

12
. R

ep
air

s H
elp

 C
en

tre
 

 
Ke

ith
 Pa

uli
n 

Q2
 

TE
CH

NI
CA

L 
SE

RV
IC

ES
:R

EP
AIR

S 
(A

LM
O)

 
13

. R
es

po
ns

ive
 R

ep
air

s f
un

cti
on

 
 

Pe
ter

 Al
len

 
Bo

b M
oo

rcr
aft

 
Q2

 

Page 430



 
75

 

TE
CH

NI
CA

L 
SE

RV
IC

ES
:R

EP
AIR

S 
(A

LM
O)

 
14

. R
ep

air
s p

art
ne

rin
g c

on
tra

cts
 

 
Pe

ter
 Al

len
 

Bo
b M

oo
rcr

aft
 

Q4
 

TE
CH

NI
CA

L S
ER

VIC
ES

: 
15

. R
es

ide
nt 

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 an

d S
ati

sfa
cti

on
 

Ric
ha

rd 
Ba

tch
elo

r 
Q2

 
 

16
. C

on
tra

ct 
Pr

oc
ure

me
nt 

Ric
ha

rd 
Ba

tch
elo

r 
Q4

 
 

17
. C

on
tra

ct 
Ma

na
ge

me
nt 

Ric
ha

rd 
Ba

tch
elo

r 
Q3

 
(A

LM
O)

 
18

. S
up

po
rt a

nd
 m

on
ito

r d
ev

elo
pm

en
t o

f n
ew

 & 
ex

ist
ing

 
TR

As
 (c

urr
en

tly
 in

clu
din

g s
ma

ll g
ran

ts)
 

� 
TR

As
 – 

sm
all

er 
gra

nt 
all

oc
ati

on
 

� 
Co

mm
un

ity
 gr

ou
ps

 – 
lar

ge
r g

ran
t a

llo
ca

tio
n 

Vic
ky

 Po
ttic

ary
 

Q2
 

AL
MO

: T
en

an
t P

art
icip

ati
on

 
Re

so
urc

es
:  

19
. M

an
ag

e t
he

 Te
na

nt 
Re

so
urc

e C
en

tre
 

Vic
ky

 Po
ttic

ary
 

Q2
 

Str
ate

gy
, R

eg
en

era
tio

n a
nd

 
Su

sta
ina

bil
ity

 
20

. S
tra

teg
ic 

Pla
nn

ing
 

(Ti
mi

ng
 de

pe
nd

en
t o

n c
om

ple
tio

n o
f th

e I
ss

ue
s a

nd
 O

pti
on

s 
of 

the
 C

ore
 St

rat
eg

y/L
DF

) 
Ja

mi
e O

un
an

 
Q2

* 

Str
ate

gy
, R

eg
en

era
tio

n a
nd

 
Su

sta
ina

bil
ity

 
21

. A
cc

es
s t

o E
mp

loy
me

nt 
(fu

nc
tio

n a
nd

 se
rvi

ce
) 

Sk
ills

ma
tch

 se
rvi

ce
 

Su
e H

ind
s 

Q3
 

Str
ate

gy
, R

eg
en

era
tio

n a
nd

 
Su

sta
ina

bil
ity

 
22

. S
tra

teg
ic 

Ho
us

ing
  

 
Ja

ck
ie 

Od
un

oy
e  

Q3
 

Ma
jor

 Pr
oje

ct 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

23
. S

us
tai

na
ble

 H
ou

sin
g D

ev
elo

pm
en

t  
 Ja

ck
ie 

Od
un

oy
e 

Q1
 

Ma
jor

 Pr
oje

ct 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

24
. D

ev
elo

pm
en

t Im
ple

me
nta

tio
n  

 
An

ne
-M

ari
e B

ern
i 

Q2
 

Ma
jor

 Pr
oje

ct 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

25
. S

tra
teg

ic 
Tra

ns
po

rt P
lan

nin
g 

Ric
ha

rd 
Fin

ch
 

Q2
 

Ma
jor

 Pr
oje

ct 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

26
. H

ou
sin

g R
eg

en
era

tio
n  

Nia
ll M

cG
ow

an
 

Q2
 

Ma
jor

 Pr
oje

ct 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

27
. P

riv
ate

 Se
cto

r a
nd

 Af
for

da
ble

 H
ou

sin
g  

 
Ali

so
n T

ho
ma

s 
Q2

 
Re

so
urc

es
 

28
. S

ec
tio

n 1
06

 fu
nd

ing
 (S
tra
teg
ic 
Le
ve
l E
QI
A)

 
Cla

re 
W

all
 

Q3
 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Co

ntr
ol 

an
d 

Bu
ild

ing
 C

on
tro

l 
29

. A
pp

lica
tio

ns
 (a

ll m
ajo

r a
pp

lica
tio

ns
 ar

e r
eq

uir
ed

 to
 su

bm
it 

EQ
IAs

 w
ith

 pl
an

s s
o t

he
se

 co
me

 up
 as

 ap
pli

ca
tio

ns
 ar

e 
su

bm
itte

d) 
Ste

ph
en

 Irv
ine

 
Sc

ree
nin

g b
y Q

2 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Co

ntr
ol 

an
d 

Bu
ild

ing
 C

on
tro

l 
30

. B
uil

din
g C

on
tro

l –
 En

for
ce

me
nt 

Pe
ter

 H
am

ilto
n 

Q2
 

Page 431



 
76

 

Bla
ck

wa
ll T

rus
t 

31
. F

un
cti

on
s  

Ma
tin

 M
iah

 
Q2

 

Page 432



 
77

 

EQ
IA
 B
RE
AK
DO
WN

 20
08
/9 

 
 

CE
 

CS
 

AS
 

R 
CL

C 
R 

TO
TA
L  

Q1
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

1 
1 

2 
Q2
 

1 
0 

0 
1 

7 
21

 
30
 

Q3
 

10
 

14
 

15
 

16
 

19
 

5 
79
 

Q4
 

1 
15

 
0 

0 
10

 
4 

30
 

TO
TA
L  

12
 

29
 

15
 

17
 

37
 

31
 

14
1 

 
 

Page 433



Page 434

This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEE 
Cabinet DATE 

30 JULY 
2008 
 

CLASSIFICATION 
 
Unrestricted 

REPORT NO 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
NO. 
 
 

REPORT OF  
CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 
 
ORIGINATING OFFICER(S) 
Claire Symonds, Service Head Customer 
Access 
 

TITLE:  
Award of the Corporate Catering Contract. 
 
 
WARDS AFFECTED:        All 

 
1. SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report deals with the award of the contract for the delivery of a 

comprehensive catering service for all of the Council’s core buildings. The 
service will provide staff catering to Mulberry Place and Anchorage House 
along with any hospitality services required. 
 

1.2 The successful Service Provider will have sole catering rights for employee 
catering and meeting room hospitality and will be added to the Council’s 
preferred supplier list. 
 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 That the Catering Contract be awarded to Pabulum commencing 15 September 

2008 for a period of three years with an option of a one year extension, on the 
basis of the conclusions of the tender evaluation on the grounds they meet the 
needs of the Council as set out throughout the tendering process and that they 
meet the “nil cost” arrangement for this service. 

  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 (AS AMENDED) SECTION 100D  
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of background paper 
NONE 
 Name and telephone number of 

holder and address where open to 
inspection 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10.7

Page 435



 
3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 As a result of the recently implemented Accommodation Strategy, a high 

proportion of the Council’s staff have been relocated to the East India Dock 
Complex. A catering service is currently provided to staff from the 9th floor of 
Anchorage House.  Catering for Members’ meetings and other events is 
undertaken by a variety of suppliers.  This piece meal approach to service 
delivery has given rise to concerns as to the quality of the service and has 
meant ineffective management. 
 

3.2 A new corporate contract is therefore required to replace the current add hoc 
and disjointed methods of delivering a catering service to the council’s core 
administration buildings, this includes the  East India Dock complex plus 62 
Albert Jacob House, Jack Dash House and Gladstone Place 
 

3.3 Corporate catering has been split into three main areas:- 
 

• Staff catering which is the provision of a staff restaurant from Anchorage 
House.  This would provide hot and cold meals and drinks, snacks, 
baguettes, sandwiches and healthy eating options including, seasonal 
organic and farm assured produce; 

 
• Hospitality and function catering which includes provision for meetings, 

functions and conferences. These will be served to professional 
standards. Promoting the council’s policy of using Fair Trade products, 
particularly refreshments (tea and coffee).  Buffet lunches for 
conferences, meetings or special occasions designed for various 
function types and giving seasonal, organic, farm assured, vegetarian, 
special dietary requirements including the provision of Halal food and 
Fair Trade options;  

 
• Trolley Services to the core buildings listed providing a range of 

sandwiches, soft drinks, fruit, yoghurts and confectionary.  
 

3.4 The proposal is to encompass all services under one contract to ensure 
consistency of service, improvement of cost, and control of quality. As well as 
providing a single point of contact for catering services. The service provider 
can use sub contractors to provide specialist services but would remain the 
sole point of contact.   
 

3.5 Part of the contract is to carry out improvements to the current catering areas 
via an investment programme from the successful company. This will improve 
both the canteen and surrounding areas and the infrastructure of the kitchen 
areas within Anchorage House. 
 

3.6 The new contract gives the opportunity to set clear objectives and requirements 
regarding catering as well as the opportunity to promote issues such as healthy 
eating, Fair Trade and the provision of alternative cuisine.  For example, the 
contractor will be required to use seasonal and locally produced fresh produce 
in preference to frozen, tinned, dried, or otherwise preserved foodstuff and 
ready made meals will be kept to the minimum.   
 

Page 436



3.7 In recognising the diverse nature of those using the services, the service 
provider has been asked to provide menus that reflect the needs of ethnic 
minority customers, whether for cultural or religious reasons, including halal 
dishes, in the planning and promotion of menus and selection of dishes. The 
service provider has also been instructed that the healthiest cooking methods 
should be employed in the preparation of all meals on site this means low salt, 
low fat and no hydrogenated fats. 
 

3.8 The contract is unusual in that it is classed as “nil cost”.  That is to say that no 
fee is paid but the service provider will have sole catering rights for employee 
catering and meeting room hospitality services and will automatically become a 
preferred supplier for any events held in core administration buildings. Their 
income derives from the spend by staff and the council on these services.  
Prices will be reviewed annually and will not increase by more than the 
Consumer Price Index or equivalent. 

  
THE TENDER PROCESS AND EVALUATION 

 
4.1 

 
The contract was advertised in national trade magazines and local press 
outlets. 15 declarations of interest were received.  Following the completion of 
pre qualification questionnaires and undertaking information interviews, at 
which prospective companies could orientate themselves with what the 
contract entailed,  question and answer sessions took place with the 
prospective companies to provide further clarification and to ensure that the 
scope of the contract was fully understood prior to commencement of formal 
tender. Following this process, six catering companies who met the required 
criterion, were selected to tender for the contract. 
 

4.2 A tender evaluation panel comprising of officers from Facilities Management 
and Procurement was established. They reviewed the returned tenders against 
a pre-determined and published set of tender evaluation criteria. The criteria 
included quality, hygiene, and business proposals. Within the tender 
documentation it was made clear to all companies that this contract would be at 
nil cost to the council and therefore all proposals should reflect that fact. The 
contractor would be given the facilities to run the catering function within the 
council e.g. use of kitchen and equipment.  They would be expected to invest in 
these facilities, and in return would receive income from being the sole catering 
provider via the customers to the canteen and those departments procuring 
catering for events / functions etc.  In the last full recorded year the amount 
spent on these services was over £300,000.  
 

4.3 Two final tenders were received and analysed by officers within Procurement 
and found to be accurate and numerically correct. These were evaluated using 
a matrix based on a number of elements including:- 
 

• Price of items provided 
• Business Plan / Projected Revenue  
• Quality / Menus including “Healthy Options”, Fair Trade Status, and 

Delivery Timescales  
• Established methods on quality audits, monitoring process and a 

framework for performance compliance  
• Method Statements, including to Health and Safety, Sustainability 
• References from previous and existing client base 

Page 437



 
 
Clarification discussions were then undertaken.  From this process it is 
proposed that Pabulum be awarded the contract because they have exhibited a 
greater commitment and flexibility to meet the aims of the contract and meet 
the needs of the council.  

 
5. COMMENTS OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
5.1 A “nil cost “ Contract  is proposed as detailed at Paragraph 3.8 which is the 

same as the current arrangements so there is no  extra cost or saving. The 
Council will not be liable to subsidise any contractor losses or receive any 
annual payment from the contractor. In return the Council is not expected to 
invest in the service but Pabulum are to invest £33,025 on new equipment at 
the start of the contract. The Council would be liable to repay the Contractor a 
depreciated sum for this equipment if the Contract is ended by the Council 
before the end of the 3 year contract period.  

  
5.2 The Council will meet the cost of the buildings space used by the catering 

contractor and utilities costs as it does now so there are no extra costs or 
saving. 

  
5..3 The Council will be entitled to receive 25% of any contractor profits but will not  

have to pay towards any contractor losses. The Council will have access to 
Pabulum’s accounts to  verify the amount due each year. The amount the 
Council will receive is unlikely to be significant especially in the first year. 
However this will allow the Council share in any future growth in the catering 
service and increasing profits. 

  
5.4 The tender from Pabulum does represent  value for  money to the Council as it 

best meets the tendering criteria set out in paragraph 4.3. 
  
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL 

SERVICES) 
  
6.1 The Council has power under s 111 Local Government Act 1972 to provide the 

catering and hospitality services. S 111 (1) states that a local authority shall 
have power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or 
incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions. The provision of catering and 
hospitality services to staff would fall within this provision.   

  
6.2  The Contract has been properly tendered in accordance with domestic and 

 EU statutory requirements and in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
 Regulations. 

 
6.3  Providing Members consider that Pabulum’s tender represents value for 

 money for the Council, there are no legal implications to awarding the 
 contract. The Contract is to be awarded on a nil subsidy arrangement and 
 para.4.3 sets out the reasons why Pabulum’s bid is the most advantageous. 

 
6.4 An award Notice should be placed in the Official Journal of the European 

Union within 48 days from the date of award.  

Page 438



 
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES CONSIDERATIONS 

 
7.1 Consideration has been taken to the high mix of cultural background in both 

Tower Hamlets staff and those individuals that attend both meetings and 
functions within the Borough. This is reflected in both the variance of menus 
proposed by both bidders and how those dishes are prepared. 
 

7.2 Each of the tender submissions included an equal opportunities statement in 
support of the organisations equal opportunities policies.  

  
 
8. ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no anti-poverty implications as a result of the award of this contract. 
  
 
9. 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 This proposal is a nil cost to the council and therefore is of no quantifiable 
financial risk.  
 

9.2 The contract has been developed to ensure quality contract monitoring takes 
place on a regular basis, thus reducing the risk of poor performance and quality 
issues. 

  
 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

 
10.1 The Council intends to manage its own sustainability impact and to use the 

most environmentally and socially responsible goods and services. Each 
Tenderer was expected to be familiar with environmental issues and the Green 
Charter approach.  They were specifically required, within their submission, to 
address issues such sustainable food purchasing and ordering plans, to 
include increasing sourcing from local producers, recycling and 
environmentally-friendly waste disposal arrangements. 

  
11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 

 
11.1 The award of a single catering contract for the services described above will 

facilitate effective management and value for money. 
 

Page 439



Page 440

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 16.1

Page 441

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 442

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 443

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 448

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 449

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 452

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 453

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 458

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 459

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 462

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 463

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 464

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 465

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 466

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	6.1 Recycling Improvement Plan For Tower Hamlets (CAB 018/089)
	Recycling  Improvement Plan 2008 to 2011 Appx A
	Recycling  Improvement Plan 2008 to 2011 Appx B

	6.2 Review of Public Footway Trading Fees and Charges 2008/2009 (CAB 019/089)
	6.3 Compulsory Purchase Action for 4 Long-Term Vacant Properties (CAB 020/089)
	6.4 Housing Priority Areas 2008/10 (CAB 021/089)
	7.2 Proposal to Establish the Cambridge Heath Sixth Form through a Prescribed Alteration under the School Organisation Regulations 2007 (CAB 023/089)
	Cambridge Heath Sixth Form Appx 1

	7.3 Constitution of the Schools Forum (CAB 024/089)
	8.1 Tower Hamlets Homelessness Strategy 2008 - 2013 (CAB 025/089)
	8.2 Strategic Review of Supporting People Floating Support Services (CAB 026/089)
	8.3 The Future of Telecare in Tower Hamlets (CAB 027/089)
	Future of Telecare in Tower Hamlets Appx 1

	9.1 Extension to Lifeline Contract for Substance Misuse Services for Children and Young People (CAB 028/089)
	Substance Misuse Contract Extension Appx

	9.2 Responses to the Recommendations of the Health Scrutiny Panel - Tobacco Cessation (CAB 029/089)
	10.1 Tower Hamlets Partnership Governance Refresh (CAB 030/089)
	Partnership Governance Structure Appx

	10.2 Working Neighbourhoods Fund (CAB 031/089)
	10.3 Resource Allocation and Budget Review 2009/10 - 2010/11  (CAB 033/089)
	Resource Allocation & Fin Review Appx A to D
	Resource Allocation & Budget Review 2009 10  2010 11 Appx E
	Resource Allocation & Budget Review 2009 10  2010 11 Appx F
	Resource Allocation & Fin Review Appx G & H
	Resource Allocation & Budget Review 2009 10  2010 11 Appx I

	10.4 Financial Review 2011/12 - 2013/14 (CAB 032/089)
	Finacial Review 2011 12 to 2013 14 Appx A

	10.5 Use of Consultants - Responses to the Recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group (CAB 034/089)
	10.6 Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09 (CAB 035/089)
	Diversity Equalities Action Plan08 09 Appx 1

	10.7 Award of the Corporate Catering Contract (CAB 036/089)
	16.1 Compulsory Purchase Action for 4 Long-Term Vacant Properties -  Exempt Confidential Appendices to Unrestricted Report (CAB 037/089)
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacan tDerelict Properties Exempt Appx 1
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacant Derelict Properties Exempt Appx 2
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacant Derelict Properties Exempt Appx 3
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacant Derelict Properties Exempt Appx 4
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacant Derelict Properties Exempt Appx 5
	CPA for 4 Long Term Vacant Derelict Properties Exempt Appx 6


